401748 428 P NASA Conference Publication 3286

): -

Second International Workshop on Harmonic Oscillators

Edited by

Daesoo Han Goddard Space Flight Center Greenbelt, Maryland

and

Kurt Bernardo Wolf Instituto de Investigaciones en Matematicas Aplicadas y en Sistemas Cuernavaca, Morelos, Mexico

Proceedings of the conference held at Cocoyoc, Morelos, Mexico March 23-25, 1994



National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Scientific and Technical Information Branch

1995

The Organizing Committee

Octavio Castaños Alejandro Frank Daesoo Han Luis F. Urrutia Kurt Bernardo Wolf ICN-UNAM ICN, IF-UNAM NASA/GODDARD ICN-UNAM IIMAS-UNAM for CIFMA ac

Organizing Institution

CIFMA Centro Internacional de Física y Matemáticas Aplicadas, AC

Supporting Institutions

UNAM	Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, incl.	:
CIC	Coordinación de la Investigación Científica	
DGAPA	Dirección General de Asuntos del Personal Acadé	mico
DGIA	Dirección General de Intercambio Académico	
ICN	Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares	
IF	Instituto de Física	
FC	Facultad de Ciencias	
IIMAS	Instituto de Investigaciones er	ndas y en Sistemas
FUNED	Fundación Mexicana par	la Ciencia, AC
CLAF	Centro Latino Ame-	
IAMP	International A-	
ISF	Internation?	
NASA	Nationa ¹	
	in the second seco	
	× len	

This publication is available from the NASA Cenu 800 Elkridge Landing Road, Linthicum Heights, ML .ation, ر 621-0390.

Preface

The Second International Workshop on Harmonic Oscillators was held at the Hotel Hacienda Cocoyoc from March 23 to 25, 1994. The Workshop gathered 67 participants; there were 10 invited lectures, 30 plenary oral presentations, 15 posters, and plenty of discussion divided into the five sessions of this volume.

The Organizing Committee was asked by the chairmen of several Mexican funding agencies what exactly was meant by *harmonic oscillators*, and for what purpose the new research could be useful. **Osciladores Armónicos** -as we explained—is a code name for a family of mathematical models based on the theory of Lie algebras and groups, with applications in a growing range of physical theories and technologies: molecular, atomic, nuclear and particle physics; quantum optics and communication theory. Yet it is true that the Workshop —and these Proceedings are not by/for front-line industrial soldiers, but by/for strategic planners in the staff room, where academic curiosity should be quite welcome. While in México we have no dearth of academic excelence (with tradition precisely in harmonic oscillators), local industry has yet to train the infantry to translate *applicable* science into *applied* research.

The Harmonic Oscillators II Workshop was funded and organized through the Centro Internacional de Física y Matemáticas Aplicadas (CIFMA). It is intended that CIFMA develop in México the manifold activities pioneered by the International Centre for Theoretical Physics, in Trieste, with special attention to the perceived scientific and technological needs and strong points of this country and the Latin American region. The Cuernavaca center adds to the existing networks initiated by the Centro Latino Americano de Física, in Brazil, and the Centro Internacional de Física, in Colombia. Through the great generosity of the Moshinsky family it was possible to announce at the Workshop Dinner that CIFMA is starting construction of it own installations at the campus of the National and State universities in Cuernavaca. It was very encouraging for our travails to see that our guests remarked the meeting's research atmosphere more than the excelent weather.

Indeed, on a lighter note, Professor Roy Glauber declared he was on a secret fact-finding mission for the US Congress, to see if after the NAFTA agreement all the harmonic oscillators would be rushing South ($-with \ a \ giant \ sucking \ sound$, as KBW recalling RP's one-time one-liner remarked) due to better conditions. Yes, they were. We see the motion as harmonic.

Professor Young S. Kim touched a sensitive chord in physics when convening the very successful first Harmonic Oscillators meeting at the College Park campus of the University of Maryland (March 25-28, 1992). [Proceedings: NASA Conference Publication 3197 (1993), Ed. by D. Han, Y.S. Kim and W.W. Zachary.] An informal harmonic oscillators 'network' now exists that is strengthened with these Proceedings. The Speakers of the Second Workshop will act as a Standing Committee for further meetings. It is now up to the local organizers of the Third Workshop to provide an attractive program for the Harmonic Oscillators community to gather again.

Timely technical help for the composition of this volume is gratefully acknowledged to Natig M. Atakishiyev, Mesuma K. Atakishiyeva, and Guillermo Krötzsch, at IIMAS-UNAM in Cuernavaca.

Invited Speakers and Lectures

ROY GLAUBER

Rotating magnetic quadrupole for atom cooling

Lyman Laboratory of Physics Harvard University Cambridge, Ma 02138 U.S.A.

glauber @ huhepl.harvard.edu

KARL T. HECHT

Coherent state constructions of bases for some physically relevant group chains Department of Physics University of Michigan Ann Arbor, MI 48109 U.S.A.

hecht @ uniphys

FRANCO IACHELLO Algebraic theory of molecules

YOUNG S. KIM

Covariant harmonic oscillators and coupled harmonic oscillators

Department of Physics Yale University New Haven, CT 06511 U.S.A.

Department of Physics University of Maryland College Park, MD 20742 U.S.A.

kim % umdhep.bitnet, kim @ vtvm2.cc.vt.edu

VLADIMIR I. MAN'KO

Multivariate Hermite polynomials and distributions for polymode Schrödiger cat states of the oscillator P.N. Lebedev Physical Institute 53 Leninsky Prospekt 117924 Moscow Russia

manko @ napoli.infn.it

PARCEDING PACE BLANK NOT FILMED

۷

Department of Applied Mathematics The Open University Milton Keynes MK7 6AA United Kingdom a.i.solomon @ open.ac.uk

Theoretical Division T8 U.S.A.

mmn @ pion.lanl.gov

Los Alamos National Laboratory Los Alamos, NM 87545

Instituto de Física

Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

Permanent address:

Physics Department

State University of Moscow

ALLAN I. SOLOMON Real lasers and other deformed objects

Harmonic oscillator representation

E.C.G. SUDARSHAN

Canonical symmetry group for correlated states

vi

Center for Particle Theory University of Texas U.S.A. Austin, Texas 78712

sudarshan @ utaphy.ph.utexas.edu

MICHAEL M. NIETO Exact E = 0 classical and quantum solutions for general power-law oscillators.

MARCOS MOSHINSKY

YURI F. SMIRNOV

in the theory of scattering

and nuclear reactions

The Dirac oscillator: origin, achievements and paradoxes Instituto de Física Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Apartado Postal 20-364 01000 México DF

México

Russia

México

Participants, Contributions and Addresses

UNAM = Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México CINVESTAV = Centro de Investigación y Estudios Avanzados

 Aldaya, Víctor Coherent states for the relativistic harmonic oscillator [V Aldaya and J Guerrero]
 Departamento de Física Teórica y del Cosmos, Universidad de Granada Granada 18002 España tel (34-58) 24-4152, fax (34-58) 24-4012, e-mail valdaya @ ugr.es

 Atakishiyev, Natig M. A Ramanujan-type measure for the Askey-Wilson polynomials Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas, UNAM Apdo. Postal 139-B, 62191 Cuernavaca Permanent address Institute of Physics, Academy of Sciences of Azerbaijan, Baku Azerbaijan tel (73) 17-3388, 17-0955, fax (73) 17-3388, e-mail bwolf @ redvax1.dgsca.unam.mx

Arroyo, Rubén
 Laboratorio de Dihámica No-lineal, Departamento de Matemáticas, Facultad de Ciencias, UNAM
 Ciudad Universitaria, México DF 04510
 tel (52-5) 622-4870, 622-4858, fax (52-5) 622-4859, e-mail car @ unamvm1.bitnet

- Beckers, Jules On pseudo-super-symmetric oscillators and reality of relativistic energies for vector mesons [J Beckers and N Debergh] Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, Institute of Physics B5, Université de Liége B-4000 Liége tel (32-41) 56-3633, fax (32-41) 56-3607, e-mail beckers % bliulg11
- Bohm, Arno
 Center for Particle Theory, University of Texas Austin, Texas 78712
 u.s.A.
 e-mail bohm @ utaphy, huskey @ utaphy.ph.utexas.edu
- Boya, Luis J. Classical and quantum oscillators as geometric space motions
 Departamento de Física Teórica, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Zaragoza
 España

fax (34-76) 56-7920, e-mail luisjo @ cc.unizar.es

Castaños, Octavio Shapes and stability of algebraic nuclear models
 [E López-Moreno and Octavio Castaños]
 Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF México
 tel (52-5) 622-4672, 622-4673, fax 616-2233

 Chumakov, Sergey M. Supersymmetric Oscillator in Optics [SM Chumakov and KB Wolf] Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas, UNAM Apdo. Postal 139-B, 62191 Cuernavaca, Morelos tel (73) 17-3388, fax (73) 17-3388, e-mail bwolf @ redvax1.dgsca.unam.mx

- Codriansky, Simón Localization in deformed quantum mechanics
 Instituto Venezolano de Investigaciones Científicas Apartado 21827, Caracas 1020 A Venezuela
 tel (032) 501-1111, fax (032) 571-3164, e-mail scodrian @ pion.ivic.ve
- □ Dankova, Tsetsa Tensorial structure of a q-deformed sp(4, ℜ) superalgebra Physics Department, Tulane University New Orleans, LA 70118 U.S.A. tel (504) 865-5522, fax (504) 862-8702, e-mail george @ gtr.phy.tulane.edu
- Del Sol, Antonio Pseudoclassical description of the Dirac oscillator and Relativistic oscillators and two-body problems Instituto de Física, UNAM, Apartado Postal 20-364, 01000 México DF tel (52-5) 622-5125, fax 616-1535, e-mail antonio @ sysul1.ifisicacu.unam.mx
- Debergh, Nathalie On parametric oscillators and relativistic vector mesons in constant magnetic fields[N Debergh and J Beckers]
 Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, Institute of Physics B5, Université de Liége
 B-4000 Liége

tel (32-41) 56-3640, fax (32-41) 56-3607, e-mail beckers % bliulg11

- Drigo Filho, Elso Supersymmetric family from harmonic oscillator simulating H-bond in DNA [E Drigo Filho and JR Ruggiero]
 Departamento de Fisica IBILCE, Universidade Estadual Paulista Campus de São Jose do Rio Preto, Rua Cristovão Colombo 2265, Caixa Postal 136, S.J. Rio Preto - S.P.
 Brasil e-mail elso @ minerva.ibilce.unesp.br
- Draayer, Jerry P. On the physics behind the SU(3) outer multiplicity problem
 Department of Physics and Astronomy, Louisiana State University
 Baton Rouge, LA 70803-4001
 tel (504) 388-2262, fax (504) 388-5855, e-mail phdryr @ suvm.sncc.lsu.edu
- Dvoeglazov, Valeri Notes on oscillatorlike interactions of various spin relativistic particles Escuela de Física, Ciudad Universitaria, Universidad de Zacatecas A Dovalí Jaime s/n, 98000 Zacatecas tel (492) 2-1999, fax (492) 2-6455, e-mail antonio @ sysul1.ifisicam.unam.mx
- Espinosa, Ismael Neurodynamic oscillators
 [I Espinosa, H González, J Quiza, JJ González, R Arroyo and R Lara]
 Laboratorio de Cibernética, Departamento de Matemáticas, Facultad de Ciencias, UNAM
 Ciudad Universitaria, México DF
 México
 tel (52-5) 622-4870, 622-4858, fax 622-4859, e-mail labciber @ redvax1.dgsca.unam.mx
- Fernández, David J. Geometric phases and evolution loops for the generalized quantum harmonic potentials
 Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV IPN Apartado Postal 14-740, 07000 México DF México tel (5) 754-6476, fax (5) 752-0590, e-mail david @ fis.cinvestav.mx
- Frank, Alejandro Algebraic approach to vibrational excitations in methane [R Lemus and A Frank] Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF México tel (52-5) 622-4672, 622-4673 fax 616-2233

- Gómez Castillo, Raúl
 Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF
 México tel (52-5) 622-4673 fax 616-2233
- González, J. Jesús Lyapunov exponents from Chua's circuit time series using artificial neural networks [JJ González, A Fuentes, and I Espinosa]
 Laboratorio de Cibernética, Departamento de Matemáticas, Facultad de Ciencias, UNAM Ciudad Universitaria, México DF
 tel (52-5) 622-4870, fax 622-4859, e-mail labciber @ redvax1.dgsca.unam.mx
- Guzmán, José Ramón Computational tools for the study of nonlinear oscillations [JR Guzmán, L Nava, and H Carrillo] Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF México tel (52-5) 622-4672, 622-4673 fax 616-2233
- □ Han, Daesoo TRMM Office, NASA/GSFC Greenbelt, Maryland 20771 U.S.A. tel (301) 286-9414, fax (301) 286-1626, e-mail han € echo.gsfc.nasa.gov
- Hess, Peter Otto Boson mapping applied to constant gluon fields
 Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF México tel (52-5) 622-4672, 622-4673 fax 616-2233 e-mail hess © roxanne.nuclecu.unam.mx
- Hirsch Ganievich, Jorge Gustavo
 Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV IPN Apartado Postal 14-740, 07000 México DF México
 tel (5) 754-6801, fax (5) 752-0590, e-mail hirsch @ fis.cinvestav.mx
- Hojman, Sergio Non-Nætherian symmetries for oscillators in classical mechanics and in field theory
 Departamento de Física, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Chile
 Casilla 653, Las Palmeras 3425, Santiago
 e-mail shojman @ abello.seci.uchile.cl
- Jáuregui, Rocío Quantum fields between moving plates a three-dimensional example [S Hacyan, R Jáuregui, and C Villareal] Instituto de Física, UNAM, Apdo. Postal 20-364, 01000 México DF tel (52-5) 622-5154

 Lang, Wolfdieter Fibonacci chain polynomials identitites from self-similarity Institut für Theoretische Physik, Universität Karlsruhe Physikhochhaus, Kaisertraße 12, Postfach 6380, D-76128 Karlsruhe tel (37-21) 608-2081, 608-3553, e-mail be06 @ dkauni2.bitnet □ Lara Vargas, Rita,Luz

Laboratorio de Dinámica No-lineal, Departamento de Matemáticas, Facultad de Ciencias, UNAM Ciudad Universitaria, México DF 04510 México

tel (52-5) 622-4870, 622-4858, fax 622-4859, e-mail car C unamvm1.bitnet

- Lemus, Renato Algebraic approach to vibrational excitations in methane [R Lemus and A Frank] Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF México tel (52-5) 622-4681, fax 616-2233, e-mail lemus @ redvax1.dgsca.unam.mx
- Lévai, Géza An algebraic cluster model based on the harmonic oscillator basis [G Lévai and J Cseh] and A possible generalization of the harmonic oscillator potential Institute of Nuclear Research, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Bem ter 18/c, H-4025 Debrecen tel (36-52) 31-7266, fax 31-6181, e-mail h1773lev @ huella.bitnet
- López-Moreno, Enrique Shapes and stability of algebraic nuclear models [E López-Moreno and Octavio Castaños] Laboratorio de Optica, Facultad de Ciencias, UNAM, Ciudad Universitaria, México DF México tel (52-5) 622-4936, fax 622-4841
- Man'ko, Margarita A. Nonclassical light in interferometric measurements [NA Ansari, L Difiore, R Romano, S Solimeno, F Zaccaria, MA Man'ko, and VI Man'ko]
 P.N. Lebedev Physical Institute, 53 Leninsky Prospekt, 117924 Moscow
 Russia tel (7095) 135-2250, telex 411479 NEOD SU, e-mail manko @ napoli.infn.it
- Maury, Juan Carlos A more systematic method of solving simple harmonic oscillator quantum differential equation
 Departamento de Física, Universidad Nacional, Heredia Costa Rica tel (506) 37-6363 Ext. 2344, fax (506) 37-4111, 37-6427
- Milton, Kimball A. The finite-element time evolution operator for the anharmonic oscillator Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Oklahoma 440 West Brooks, Norman, OK 73019 tel (405) 325-3961, fax (405) 325-7557, e-mail milton @ phyast.nhn.uoknor.edu
- Morales-Duarte, Noé The Cayley-Hamilton theorem for supermatrices [LF Urrutia and N Morales]
 Departamento de Física, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana
 Av. Michoacán y la Purísima, Iztapalapa, 09340 México, D.F.

México tel 724-4621, fax 724-4611

- Nedjadi, Youcef The relativistic Duffin-Kemmer-Petiau oscillator [Y Nedjadi an RC Barrett] Centre for Nuclear Physics, University of Surrey Guildford, GU2 5XH, Surrey England tel (44-483) 50-9405, fax (44-483) 50-9501, e-mail y.nedjadi @ ph.surrey.ac.uk
- Nelson, Charles A. q-analogues of harmonic oscillators and possible applications in quantum optics, field theory and high energy physics.
 Physics Department, SUNY Binghamton, NY 13902-6000 U.S.A. tel (607) 777-4317, fax 777-2546, e-mail cnelson @ bingvmb.cc.binhamton.edu

- Nemes, George General astigmatic optical systems within the context of laser beam shaping and phase-space optics

 and Wigner distribution function and entropy of the damped harmonic oscillator within the theory of open quantum systems
 [by A. Isar, Inst. Atomic Physics, Bucharest-Magurele, Romania; presented by G. Nemes]
 Laser Department, Institute of Atomic Physics, Bucharest
 Romania
 E.L. Ginzton Laboratory, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305-4085
 tel (415) 725-2156, fax (415) 725-7509, e-mail gnemes © sierra.stanford.edu
- Nieto-Calzada, Luis Miguel Oscillator-like coherent states for the Jaynes-Cummings model [V Hussin and LM Nieto-Calzada] and Coherent states for a generalization of the harmonic oscillator [DJ Fernández, V Hussin and LM Nieto] Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, Université de Montréal C.P. 6128, Succ. A Montréal, Québec H3C 1J7 Canada tel (514) 343-6111 ext 4730, fax (514) 343-2254, e-mail nieto @ ere.umontreal.ca

Ostrovsky, Valentin N. Angular electron correlations in the double photoionization understood via the non-stationary harmonic oscillators [AK Kazansky and VN Ostrovsky] and Harmonic Oscillators in the description of the planetary atom states [VN Ostrovsky and NV Prudov] Institute of Physics, The University of St. Petersburg 198904 St. Petersburg Russia fax (7-812) 428-6649, e-mail apver @ onti.phys.lgu.spb.su

- Pavlichenkov, Igor M. Harmonic oscillator in quantum rotational spectra molecules and nuclei Russian Research Center, Kurchatov Institute Moscow 123182
 Russia fax (007-095) 196-4546, e-mail pavi @ jbivn.kiae.su
- Prants, Sergey V. Coherent control in simple quantum systems
 Pacific Oceanological Institute, Russian Academy of Sciences
 43 Baltic St., Vladivostok 690041
 Russia
 tel (4232) 31-1400, fax (4232) 31-2573, e-mail ocean.poi © vlad.wood

Quesne, Christiane Covariant deformed oscillator algebras
 Physique Nucleaire Théoriqueet Physique Mathématique, Université Libre de Bruxelles
 Campus de la Plaine CP, 229, Bd. du Triomphe, B1050 Bruxelles
 tel (32-2) 650-5559, fax (32-2) 650-5045, e-mail cquesne @ ulb.ac.be

Quiza, Jorge
 Laboratorio de Dinámica No-lineal, Departamento de Matemáticas, Facultad de Ciencias, UNAM
 Ciudad Universitaria, México DF 04510
 tel (52-5) 622-4870, 622-4858, fax 622-4859, e-mail car @ unamvm1.bitnet

Récamier, José Time evolution of physical observables during a collision
 [J Recamier and R Jáuregui]
 Instituto de Física, UNAM, Apartado Postal 139-B, 62191 Cuernavaca, Morelos
 México
 tel (73) 17-5388, fax (73) 17-3077, e-mail pepe @ ce.ifisicam.unam.mx

Rivera, Ana Leonor Phase space transformations in anisotropic optics [S Chumakov, AL Rivera, and KB Wolf] Facultad de Ciencias and IIMAS-UNAM/Cuernavaca México Apdo. Postal 139-B, 62191 Cuernavaca, Morelos tel (73) 17-3388, fax (73) 17-3388, e-mail bwolf @ redvax1.dgsca.unam.mx □ **Roque**, Marco Antonio Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF México tel (52-5) 622-4673, fax 616-2233 □ Rosas Ortiz, José Oscar Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV - IPN Apartado Postal 14-740, 07000 México DF México tel (5) 754-6476, fax (5) 752-0590, e-mail david @ fis.cinvestav.mx □ **Rosensteel**, George Galactic oscillator symmetry Physics Department, Tulane University New Orleans, LA 70118 U.S.A. tel (504) 865-5522, fax (504) 862-8702, e-mail george @ gtr.phy.tulane.edu Shannon-Wehrl entropy for cosmological and black hole squeezing \square **Roşu**, Haret Instituto de Física, Universidad de Guanajuato México Apartado Postal E-143, 37150 León, Guanajuato tel (52-47) 18-3089, fax 18-7611, e-mail ifug @ vmtecleo.bitnet The eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform and its logarithm Santhanam, Thalanayar S. Dept. of Science and Mathematics, Saint Louis University U.S.A. Falling Springs Rd, Cahokia, Ill 62206 tel (618) 337-7500 ext 423, fax 332-6802 e-mail santhan @ shiva.slu.edu Turbiner, Alexander Hidden algebra of the N-body Calogero problem Instituto de Física, UNAM, Apartado Postal 20-364, 01000 México DF México tel (52-5) 622-5125, fax 616-1535, e-mail antonio @ sysul1.ifisicam.unam.mx □ Urrutia, Luis The Cayley-Hamilton theorem for supermatrices [LF Urrutia and N Morales] Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 México DF México tel (52-5) 622-4672, 622-4673, fax 616-2233 □ Villareal, Carlos México Instituto de Física, UNAM, Apartado Postal 20-364, 01000 México DF tel (52-5) 622-5125, fax 616-1535, e-mail antonio @ sysul1.ifisicacu.unam.mx U Vourdas, Apostolides Noisy bases in Hilbert space. A new class of thermal coherent states and their properties [A Vourdas and RF Bishop] Dept. of Electrical Engineering & Electronics, The University of Liverpool Bronlow Hill, P.O. Box 147, Liverpool, L69 3BX England tel (44-51) 794-4540, fax (44-51) 794-4540 □ Wolf, Kurt Bernardo Approximation on a finite set of points through Kravchuk functions [NM Atakishiyev and KB Wolf] Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas, UNAM México Apdo. Postal 139-B, 62191 Cuernavaca, Morelos tel/rec/fax (52-73) 17-3388, 17-0955, e-mail bwolf @ redvax1.dgsca.unam.mx

Author Index

Aldaya, V.	305
Ansari, N.A.	165
Arrovo, R.	255
Atakishiyev, N.M.	153, 403
Barrett, R. Beckers, J. Bérubé-Lauzière, Y.	$\begin{array}{r} 341 \\ 303,\ 319 \\ 381 \end{array}$
Bishop R.F.	195
Castaños, O. Chumakov, S.M. 375, Codriansky, S. Cseh, J.	145 387, 409 189 121
Daboul, J. Debergh, N. De La Jara, J. Del Sol Mesa, A. Di Fiore, L.	$ \begin{array}{r}13\\313,319\\173\\327,333\\165\\09\end{array} $
Draayer, J.P. D. Jan. Ellha, E	99 45
Drigo Filno, E. D. $V V$	40
Espinosa F.L.	255, 263
D (Jan C D I	207 215
Fernandez C., D.J.	207, 210
Frank, A.	20, 31
Fuentes M., A.	203
González, H.	255
González, J.J.	255, 263
Guerrero, J.	305
Hacyan, S.	61
Han, D.	293
Hess, P.O.	107
Hojman, S.A.	173
Hussin, V.	215, 381
Is shallo F	1
Isar A.	275
Jáuregui, R.	51,61
Kozonsky A K	340
Kazansky, A.N. Kim V S	903 203
Klimow A D	293
KIIIIIOV, A.D.	001
Lang, W.	39
Lara, R.	255
Lemus, R.	31, 39

Lévai, G.	113, 121
López, J.C.	107
López-Moreno, E.	145
Lurie, Yu.A.	83
Man'ko, M.A.	165
Man'ko, V.I.	165
Martínez Romero,	R.P. 327
Maury, J.C.	271
Milton, K.A. Mashingky M	223
WOSHINSKy, WI.	200
Nedjadi, N.	341
Nelson, C.A.	231
Nieto, L.M. Nieto, M.M.	210, 301
Noz. M.	293
Ostrovsky, V.N.	349
Paulichenkov I M	129
Peña L	173
Prants, S.V.	395
Quesno C	181
Quesne, O. Quiza J	255
Dí min A I	51
Recamier A., J.	359
Rivera A L	409
Romano, R.	165
Rosensteel, G.	137
Roşu, H.	359
Ruggiero, J.R.	45
Santhanam, B.	249
Santhanam, T.S.	239, 249
Santiago, R.D.	31
Shirokov, A.M.	83
Smirnov, Yu.G.	83
Solimeno, S.	100
Solomon, A.I.	000
Troltenier, D.	99
Villareal, C.	61 105
Vourdas, A.	190
Wolt, K.B.	315, 403, 409
Zaccaria, F.	165
Zaitsev, S.A.	83

Table of contents

Session 1 Atomic and molecular oscillators	page
Algebraic theory of molecules FRANCO IACHELLO	1)
Exact $E = 0$, classical and quantum solutions for general power-law oscillators MICHAEL MARTIN NIETO and JAMIL DABOUL	13 - 🧉
Algebraic approach to vibrational excitations in methane R. LEMUS and A. FRANK	25 👙
Algebraic description of atom-molecule interactions R.D. SANTIAGO, A. FRANK and R. LEMUS	31 - 4
Fibonacci chain polynomials: identities from self-similarity WOLFDIETER LANG	39
A supersymmetric family of harmonic oscillators simulating H-bond in DNA ELSO DRIGO FILHO and JOSE R. RUGGIERO	45 -6
Molecular vibrational states during a collision JOSÉ RÉCAMIER A. and ROCÍO JÁUREGUI	51 - 7
Quantum field between moving mirrors: a three-dimensional example S. HACYAN, R. JÁUREGUI and C. VILLAREAL	61 - 8

Session 2 Nuclear oscillators

Coherent state constructions of bases for some physically relevant group chains KARL T. HECHT	69-7
Harmonic oscillator representation in the theory of scattering and nuclear reactions YU.F. SMIRNOV, A.M. SHIROKOV, YU.A. LURIE and S.A. ZAITSEV	83-
Geometrical interpretation for the SU(3) outer multiplicity problem J.P. DRAAYER and D. TROLTENIER	99 -//
Boson mapping techniques applied to constant gauge fields in quantum chromodynamics P.O. HESS and J.C. LÓPEZ	.107 /
A possible generalization of the harmonic oscillator potential GÉZA LÉVAL	.113 7.2

PRESEDING PAGE BLANK NOT FREE ST

An algebraic cluster model based on the harmonic oscillator basis G. LÉVAI and J. CSEH	
Harmonic oscillator _l in quantum rotational spectra: molecules and nuclei IGOR M. PAVLICHENKOV	
Galactic oscillator symmetry GEORGE ROSENSTEEL	
Shapes and stability of algebraic nuclear models ENRIQUE LÓPEZ-MORENO and OCTAVIO CASTAÑOS	

Session 3 Mathematical oscillator methods

A Ramanujan-type measure for the Askey-Wilson polynomials NATIG M. ATAKISHIYEV	153- 🕉
Nonclassical light in interferometric measurements N.A. ANSARI, L. DI FIORE, R. ROMANO, S. SOLIMENO, F. ZACCARIA, M.A. MAN'KO and V.I. MAN'KO	165
Non-Nœtherian symmetries for oscillators in classical mechanics and in field theory SERGIO A. HOJMAN, JAIME DE LA JARA and LEDA PEÑA	173 0
Covariant deformed oscillator algebras CHRISTIANE QUESNE	181 ~
Localization in deformed quantum mechanics SIMÓN CODRIANSKY	189-
Noisy bases in Hilbert space: A new class of thermal coherent states and their properties A. VOURDAS and R.F. BISHOP	195-2 ⁷ 2
Geometric phases, evolution loops and generalized oscillator potentials DAVID J. FERNÁNDEZ C.	207
Coherent states for a generalization of the harmonic oscillator DAVID J. FERNÁNDEZ C., VÉRONIQUE HUSSIN and LUIS M. NIETO	215
Finite-element time evolution operator for the anharmonic oscillator KIMBALL A. MILTON	223
q-bosons and the q-analogue quantized field CHARLES A. NELSON	231
An algorithm for the basis of the finite Fourier transform THALANAYAR S. SANTHANAM	239
A note on the angular Fourier transformation BALU SANTHANAM and T.S. SANTHANAM	249 -

Neurodynamic oscillators	
Ismael Espinosa, Hortensia González, Jorge Quiza,	
J.JESÚS GONZÁLEZ, RUBÉN ARROYO and RITALUZ LARA	255 云う
Lyapunov exponents from Chua's circuit time series using artificial neural networks J.JESÚS GONZÁLEZ, F. ISMAEL ESPINOSA E. and ALBERTO FUENTES M.	263 -/
A method of solving simple harmonic oscillator Schrödinger equation JUAN CARLOS MAURY F	271
Wigner distribution function and entropy of the damped harmonic oscillator within the theory of open quantum systems [presented by G. Nemes]	
AURELIAN ISAR	275 🛫 😏

Session 4 Relativistic oscillators

The relativistic many body problem with an oscillator interaction MARCOS MOSHINSKY	283 - 🚁 📝
Covariant harmonic oscillators and coupled harmonic oscillators D. HAN, Y.S. KIM and MARILYN E. NOZ	293
Coherent states for the relativistic harmonic oscillator V. ALDAYA and J. GUERRERO	305
On pseudosupersymmetric oscillators and reality of relativistic energies for vector mesons J. BECKERS and N. DEBERGH	313 37
On parasupersymmetric oscillators and relativistic vector mesons in constant magnetic fields N. DEBERGH and J. BECKERS	319
Pseudoclassical description of the Dirac oscillator A. DEL SOL MESA and R.P. MARTÍNEZ Y ROMERO	327
Notes on oscillator-like interactions of various spin relativistic particles VALERI V. DVOEGLAZOV and ANTONIO DEL SOL MESA	333```
The Duffin–Kemmer–Petiau oscillator YOUCEF NEDJADI and ROGER BARRETT	341
Harmonic oscillators and resonance series generated by a periodic unstable classical orbit A.K. KAZANSKY and V.N. OSTROVSKY	349 - 72-
Shannon-Wehrl entropy for cosmological and black hole squeezing HARET ROSU and MARCO REYES	3 59 -H3

Session 5 Optical oscillators

Real lasers and other deformed objects ALLAN I. SOLOMON	363 -44
Supersymmetric oscillator in optics SERGEY M. CHUMAKOV and KURT BERNARDO WOLF	3 75-1 ¹¹
Oscillator-like coherent states for the Jaynes-Cummings model Y. BÉRUBÉ-LAUZIÈRE, V. HUSSIN and L.M. NIETO	3 81 ^{() ()}
Slightly anharmonic systems in quantum optics ANDREY B. KLIMOV and SERGEY M. CHUMAKOV	
Coherent control in simple quantum systems SERGEY V. PRANTS	395
Kravchuk functions for the finite oscillator approximation NATIG M. ATAKISHIYEV and KURT BERNARDO WOLF	403
Phase space analysis in anisotropic optical systems ANA LEONOR RIVERA, SERGEY M. CHUMAKOV and KURT BERNARDO WOLF	409

Our logo Two-headed water serpent

Turquoise and shell on wood Aztec, XV century

Representation of the living harmonic motion that weaves the symplectic fabric of space-time.

Museum of Humankind, London



199511654/ 401990 12p N95-22958

ALGEBRAIC THEORY OF MOLECULES

F. Iachello

Center for Theoretical Physics, Sloane Physics Laboratory, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06520-8120

Abstract

An algebraic formulation of quantum mechanics is presented. In this formulation, operators of interest are expanded onto elements of an algebra, \mathcal{G} . For bound state problems in ν dimensions the algebra \mathcal{G} is taken to be $U(\nu + 1)$. Applications to the structure of molecules are presented.

1 Introduction

The development of new experimental techniques is giving rise to a wealth of information on complex systems. This information needs to be understood in terms of theoretical models which can, on one side, describe the observations and, on the other side, make predictions for other experiments. In view of the accuracy of the experiments, one needs new and more accurate mathematical models. For quantum mechanical problems, a natural framework is provided by the Schrödinger equation. In complex systems, the direct solution of the multiparticle Schrödinger equation becomes rather difficult and one many seek alternative methods. In this note, an alternative method, called algebraic theory, will be introduced and discussed briefly. The method will then be applied to the study of the structure of molecules. Problems of current interest in this field are, among others, the substitution of atoms in a large molecule leading to a lowering of symmetry, the polymerization process in which dimers, trimers, ... are formed from the original molecule, the study of new molecules, such as the cage fullerene molecules, C_{60} ;..., and, particularly important, the study of molecules at high excitation energy. An example of the latter will be presented.

2 Algebraic Theory

The logic scheme of algebraic theory is as follows:

Quantum mechanical problem ↓ Algebraic Structure

> ↓ Experiment

In the first step, all quantum mechanical operators of interest are mapped onto the elements of an algebra, \mathcal{G} . For example, the Hamiltonian operator is written as

$$H = E_o + \sum_{\alpha} \epsilon_{\alpha} G_{\alpha} + \sum_{\alpha\beta} u_{\alpha\beta} G_{\alpha} G_{\beta} + \dots , \quad G_{\alpha} \epsilon \mathcal{G} \quad .$$
(1)

The algebra \mathcal{G} is called the spectrum generating algebra (SGA) and H is in the enveloping algebra of \mathcal{G} .

In some cases, it may happen that the Hamiltonian H contains only certain elements of \mathcal{G} , the invariant Casimir operators of \mathcal{G} and of one of its subalgebra chains, $\mathcal{G} \supset \mathcal{G}' \supset \mathcal{G}'' \supset \ldots$,

$$H = f(C_i) \quad . \tag{2}$$

This case, called a dynamic symmetry, plays a special role in algebraic theory, since then the eigenvalues of H can be obtained in closed analytic form in terms of the quantum numbers characterizing the representations of $\mathcal{G} \supset \mathcal{G}' \supset \ldots$.

Dynamic symmetries and spectrum generating algebras have been used in various contexts for more than 30 years [1]. As a result of the systematic investigation and use in the context of nuclear and molecular physics, initiated with the introduction of the interacting boson model [2] in 1974 and of the vibron model [3] in 1981, it has become clear that all quantum mechanical problems in ν space dimensions can be mapped onto the algebra $U(\nu + 1)$ and all its states assigned to the totally symmetric representation [N] of $U(\nu + 1)$ [4]. Examples of this mapping are given in the following section.

3 One dimensional problems

To begin with, consider the single case of one space dimension, $\nu = 1$. A trivial application of algebraic theory is provided here by the harmonic oscillator. The Schrödinger (differential) equation

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + x^2 \right) , \quad H\psi_n = E\psi_m$$
(3)

with eigenvalues $E_n = (n + \frac{1}{2})$, and eigenfunctions

•

$$u_n(x) = \left[\pi^{\frac{1}{2}} 2^n n!\right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(x - \frac{d}{dx}\right)^n e^{-\frac{1}{2}x^2}$$
(4)

(the Hermite polynomials), can be mapped into

$$H = \left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}
ight) \quad ,$$
 (5)

with the same eigenvalues $E_m = (n + \frac{1}{2})$ and eigenstates

$$|n\rangle = (n!)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (a^{\dagger})^{n} |0\rangle$$
 (6)



FIG. 1. The Morse potential V(r).

Here

$$a=rac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left(x+rac{d}{dx}
ight) \ , \ a^{\dagger}=rac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left(x-rac{d}{dx}
ight) \quad ; \quad [a,a^{\dagger}]=1 \quad .$$

The algebra is

$$H(2) = a, a^{\dagger}, 1, a^{\dagger}a \quad , \tag{8}$$

called the Heisenberg, quantum mechanical or oscillator algebras [5]. The mapping produces a great simplification both in the evaluation of the matrix elements of operators which are integrals in the differential formulation

$$I_{nn'} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u_{n'}(x) f\left(x, \frac{d}{dx}\right) u_n(x) dx \quad , \qquad (9)$$

and algebraic functions in the algebraic formulation

$$I_{nn'} = \langle n' \mid f(a, a^{\dagger}) \mid n \rangle \quad . \tag{10}$$

A slightly more complicated problem is provided by the anharmonic Morse oscillator [6], Fig.1. The Schrödinger equation with

$$H = -rac{\hbar^2}{2\mu}rac{d^2}{dx^2} + V(x) , \ V(x) = D[1 - exp(-eta x)]^2 \quad , \ (11)$$

with eigenfunctions

$$\psi_{v}(x) = N_{s} z^{\eta-v} e^{-\frac{z}{2}+\frac{1}{2}x\beta} L_{v}^{2\eta-2v-1}(z)$$

$$z = 2\eta e^{-\beta x}, \ \eta = \frac{1}{\hbar\beta} \sqrt{2\mu D}, \ v = 0, 1, \dots, \eta - \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (12)$$

and eigenenergies

$$E(v) = 2\hbar\beta \sqrt{\frac{D}{2\mu}} (v + \frac{1}{2}) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\hbar^2 \beta^2}{\mu} (v + \frac{1}{2})^2$$
(13)

can be mapped onto the algebra $\mathcal{G} = U(2)$ with elements F_+, F_-, F_0, N and corresponds to the dynamic symmetry $U(2) \supset 0(2)$ of this algebra. The Hamiltonian is

$$H = AC$$
 , $C = F_0^2 - N^2$ (14)

with eigenenergies

$$E(m) = A(m^2 - N^2); \ m = N, N - 2, \dots, \ 1 \text{ or } 0 \ (N = odd \text{ or } even) \ . \tag{15}$$

The eigenvalues can be brought into the standard vibrational form introducing v = (N - m)/2,

$$E(v) = -4A(Nv - v^{2}); v = 0, 1, ..., \frac{N}{2} \text{ or } \frac{N}{2} - \frac{1}{2}(N = even \text{ or } odd).$$
 (16)

With some small changes this is seen to correspond to Eq.(13). The eigenstates can be written as | N, v > and observables calculated as

$$\langle N, v' \mid \hat{T}(G) \mid N, v \rangle$$
 , (17)

where \hat{T} (G) is the appropriate operator built from the elements of \mathcal{G} . By making use of the algebraic method, all results of the anharmonic Morse oscillator can be found easily. (Note that in

the association of the Morse oscillator with $U(2) \supset O(2)$ only the positive branch of $O(2), m \ge 0$, has been used.)

As a third simple case, consider the anharmonic Pöshl-Teller oscillator

$$V(\boldsymbol{x}) = -\frac{D}{\cosh^2 \alpha \boldsymbol{x}} \quad . \tag{18}$$

This potential can also be associated with $U(2) \supset O(2)$ and Hamiltonian [7]

$$H = AC \tag{19}$$

with eigenvalaues

$$E(v) = -4A(Nv - v^2)$$
 (20)

One can see from (16) and (20) that the Morse and Pöshl-Teller potentials have the same bound state spectrum (isospectral potentials). (This statement is not true in $\nu = 2, 3, ...$ dimensions.) The Morse and Pöshl-Teller potentials in 1 dim belong to a class of potentials called exactly solvable since their eigenvalues can be written in explicit analytic form. All exactly solvable potentials in 1 dim have been classified.

The overall algebraic structure of 1 dim problems can be written as

In this equation, the arrow with a c denotes a contraction of the algebra of U(2). (In addition to the contraction $U(2) \vec{c} H(2)$, there is another one $U(2) \vec{c} E(2)$, where E(2) is the Euclidean algebra not discussed here.)

4 Multidimensional problems

In more than one dimension, the connection between the Schrödinger equation and the corresponding algebraic equation is not so straightforward, with the only exception of the harmonic oscillator and Coulomb problem. It is here that algebraic methods are particularly useful, since by formulating directly the problem in an algebraic framework one can construct the spectrum and calculate observables without reference to a specific form of the potential. The algebraic structure of three dimensional problems can be written as [4],[8]

The chain (I) corresponds to Schrödinger problems with Pöschl-Teller-like potentials, the chain (II) corresponds to Morse-like potentials, while the chain (III) corresponds to the harmonic oscillator in 3 dim.

In general, in ν dim one has

$$U(\nu) \supset \dots$$

$$V(\nu+1) \xrightarrow{\checkmark} \dots$$

$$c \Downarrow \qquad O(\nu+1) \supset \dots$$

$$H(\nu+1) \supset U(\nu) \supset \dots$$
(23)

where now additional chains may appear in the reduction of $U(\nu + 1)$. The five dimensional case, $\nu = 5$, has been extensively investigated in the context of nuclear physics [9]

5 Algebraic Theory of Large Molecules

The algebraic approach of Sect. 2 can be used to study molecular structure. For reasons that will be mentioned in the subsequent section, it is convenient to separate large molecules from small molecules (large here means molecules with more than 4 atoms). In large molecules each degree of freedom, x,y,z, is quantized with U(2) and the total spectrum generating algebra is taken to be $\mathcal{G} = \sum_i \oplus U_i(2)$ [10]. A calculation of spectral properties proceeds then as follows: In step 1, all atoms are numbered, \mathcal{N} ; in step 2, three coordinates are assigned to each atom for a total of 3 \mathcal{N} ; in step 3, each coordinate is quantized with $U(2) \supset O(2)$, thus being treated as an anharmonic oscillator; in step 4, the oscillators are coupled with Hamiltonians

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{3\mathcal{N}} h_i + \sum_{i \ge j=1}^{3\mathcal{N}} w_{ij} \quad .$$
 (24)

The structure of the Hamiltonian (24), when written in terms of the elements of the algebra $\mathcal G$ is

$$h_i = \epsilon_{oi} + A_i (\hat{F}_{oi} - N_i)^2 \quad , w_{ij} = \lambda_{ij} (\hat{F}_{+i} \hat{F}_{-j} + \hat{F}_{-i} \hat{F}_{+j})$$
 (25)

The h_i terms are diagonal in the basis $U_i(2) \supset O_i(2)$ characterized by the quantum numbers $|N_i, v_i\rangle$ discussed in Sect. 3, while the w_{ij} are given in Ref. [10],[11]. In the final step 5, the spurious species corresponding to overall rotations and vibrations, are identified and removed by diagonalizing the Hamiltonian

$$H' = H + \lambda \mathcal{P} \quad , \tag{26}$$

where \mathcal{P} is a projection operator into the spurious species and λ is taken to be a large number such that the spurious species are moved to a large energy. The removal of the spurious species leaves 3N - 6 non spurious vibrations. This procedure produces the vibrational spectrum of the molecule.



FIG. 2. Schematic representation of benzene (C_6H_6).

In a similar way one can compute intensities of transitions. There are two types of transitions of importance in molecules, infrared (IR) and Raman (R) transitions. For infrared transitions, the appropriate operator is a vector. Each component x,y,z of this vector is written in terms of elements of \mathcal{G} , i.e.

$$\hat{T}_x = \sum_{i=1}^{3\mathcal{N}} \alpha_{i,x} \hat{t}_i \quad , \quad \hat{t}_i = e^{-\beta_i (\hat{F}_{+i} + \hat{F}_{-i})} \quad , \quad \dots \qquad (27)$$

The matrix elements of the operator (27) (and \hat{T}_y , \hat{T}_z) are then evaluated algebraically. For Raman transitions, the appropriate operator is a symmetric quadrupole tensor. The six components of this tensor, x^2 , y^2 , z^2 , xy, xz, yz, are also written in terms of \mathcal{G} and their matrix elements evaluated algebraically.

As an example of vibrational analysis of large molecules, consider the case of benzene, C_6H_6 . The benzene molecule has the geometric structure shown in Fig. 2. A problem which arises in large molecules is that of the discrete symmetry of the molecule. In the case of benzene, the appropriate symmetry is \mathcal{D}_{6h} . The discrete symmetries of molecules can be simply implemented in the algebraic framework. For example, consider the six stretching vibrations of the hydrogen atoms in benzene. All hydrogen atoms are equivalent. The Hamiltonian (24) which describes those vibrations

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{6} A_i C_i + \sum_{i \le j=1}^{6} \lambda_{ij} M_{ij} , \qquad (28)$$

where C_i and M_{ij} are a short-hand notation for the terms in (25), must be such that one cannot distinguish the equivalent atoms. Thus, all A_i 's must be equal, $A_i = A$. In the interaction term, there are three contributions, first, second and third neighbor interactions. These too must be equal, $\lambda_{ij}^{(I)} = \lambda^{(I)}, \lambda_{ij}^{(II)} = \lambda^{(II)}$ and $\lambda_{ij}^{(III)} = \lambda^{(III)}$. The Hamiltonian H thus becomes

$$H = AC + \lambda^{(I)}S^{(I)} + \lambda^{(II)}S^{(II)} + \lambda^{(III)}S^{(III)}, \qquad (29)$$

and is characterized by a smaller set of parameters. The operators $C, S^{(I)}, S^{(II)}, S^{(III)}$ are appropriate linear combinations of the C_i 's and M_{ij} 's. A corollary of the algebraic method is that certain linear combinations of the operators M_{ij} are symmetry adapter operators of \mathcal{D}_{6h} and the irreducible representations of \mathcal{D}_{6h} are obtained automatically by diagonalizing them [10],[12].

Using the algebraic method discussed above it has been possible to study the complete spectroscopy of benzene [13]. This molecule has 12 atoms and thus 36 degrees of freedom, 6 of which are spurious. The 30 non spurious species are shown in Table I.

Coordinates	Number	Species	Spurious
CH stretch	6	$E_{2g} + B_{1u} + E_{1u} + A_{1g}$	1
CC stretch	6	$A_{1g} + B_{2u} + E_{1u} + E_{2g}$	1
CH in plane bend	6	$E_{1u} + B_{2u} + E_{2g} + A_{2g}$	
CH out of plane bend	6	$A_{2u} + B_{2g} + E_{1g} + E_{2u}$	
CC in plane bend	3+3	$B_{1u} + E_{2g}$	$A_{1g} + E_{1u}$
CC out of plane bend	3+3	$B_{2g} + E_{2g}$	$A_{1u} + E_{1g}$
		_	

TABLE I: Coordinates and symmetry species of benzene.

The calculation describes the observed vibrational states not only in the low excitation energy region, fundamental vibrations, but also in the high excitation energy region, overtones. An example is shown in Fig. 3. This region cannot be described in the harmonic approximation and thus the use of algebraic methods based on the anharmonic Morse or Pöschl-Teller oscillators are crucial for an accurate description of the observed spectra.



FIG. 3. (a) Opto-thermal spectrum in the region of the $\Delta v = 3$ overtone of the stretching CH mode of benzene. The full-line is a low-resolution experiment. (b) The spectrum calculated by means of algebraic theory. From Ref.[14].

6 Algebraic Theory of Small Molecules

For molecules with a number of atoms less or equal to four, it is possible to quantize each vector degree of freedom, $\vec{r} \equiv (x,y,z)$, directly in terms of U(4). When quantized in this way both rotations and vibrations are simultaneously included.



FIG. 4. Bond variables for small molecules.

It is also convenient to treat as vector variables the bond degrees of freedom, Fig.4, rather than the coordinates of the individual atoms, thus avoiding the problem of spurious states. The quantization scheme is thus here $\mathcal{G} = \sum_i \oplus U_i(4)$. This scheme has been extensively used to treat diatomic molecules with U(4), triatomic molecules with $U(4) \oplus U(4)$ [15] and four atomic molecules with $U(4) \oplus U(4)$ [16]. It has also been possible recently to study high order interactions such as rotation-vibration couplings.

7 Conclusions

Algebraic methods have been used in recent years in the study of molecular structure. When applied to this system, algebraic theory offers two main advantages: (i) The use of Lie algebras to describe the interaction (Morse, Pöschl-Teller, ...) allows one to extend the traditional harmonic analysis to anharmonic analysis. One can thus deal easily with highly excited states of molecules where anharmonicities play a crucial role (a subject of current experimental interest especially in connection with intramolecular relaxation and energy transfer.) (ii) The use of algebraic operators to couple the individual modes of a molecule allows one to construct symmetry adapted states in a simple way. One can thus deal with complex molecules where discrete symmetries play a crucial role.

The algebraic method can be used in molecules in two ways:

A) With rotation and vibrations treated separately. In this case the spectrum generating algebra is

$$\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_{ROT} \oplus \mathcal{G}_{VIB}$$
$$\mathcal{G}_{VIB} = \sum_{i} \oplus U_{i}(2) \quad . \tag{30}$$

B) With rotations and vibrations treated simultaneously. In this case the spectrum generating algebra is

$$\mathcal{G} = \sum_{i} \oplus U_i(4)$$
 . (31)

The latter case is more complete, but more difficult to treat than the former, since one has to deal with the Racah algebra of U(4).

In view of its simplicity, the method is particularly well suited for a study of complex systems such as macromolecules, clusters, polymers, Work in this direction is in progress. An account of the algebraic theory of molecules is given in Ref.[17] and the mathematical formalism of Sects. 5 and 6 is reviewed in Ref.[18].

Acknowledgements

.

This work is supported in part by D.O.E. Grant DE-FG02-91ER40608.

References

- Y. Dothan, M. Gell-Mann and, Y. Ne'eman, Phys.Lett. 17, 283 (1965); A.D. Barut and A. Böhm, Phys. Rev. 139, B1107 (1965).
- [2] A. Arima and F. Iachello, Phys. Rev. Lett. 35, 1069 (1975).
- [3] F. Iachello, Chem. Phys. Lett. 78, 581 (1981).
- [4] F. Iachello, Nucl. Phys. A560, 23 (1993).
- [5] B.G. Wybourne, 'Classical Groups for Physicists', J. Wiley and Sons, New York (1984), p. 286.
- [6] P. Cordero and S. Hojman, Lett. Nuovo Cimento 4, 1123 (1970); R.D. Levine and C.E. Wulfman, Chem. Phys. Lett. 60, 372 (1979); M. Berrondo and A. Palma, J. Phys. A13, 773 (1980).
- [7] Y. Alhassid, F. Gürsey and F. Iachello, Ann. Phys. (N.Y) 148, 346 (1983).
- [8] F. Iachello and R.D. Levine, J. Chem. Phys. 77, 3046 (1982).
- [9] F. Iachello and A. Arima, 'The Interacting Boson Model', Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1987).
- [10] F. Iachello and S. Oss, Phys. Rev. Lett. 66, 2976 (1991).
- [11] F. Iachello and S. Oss, Chem. Phys. Lett. 187, 500 (1991).
- [12] A. Frank and R. Lemus, Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 413 (1992).
- [13] F. Iachello and S. Oss, J. Chem. Phys. 99, 7337 (1993).
- [14] D. Bassi, L. Menegotti, S. Oss, M. Scotoni and F. Iachello, Chem. Phys. Lett. 207, 167 (1993).
- [15] O. van Roosmalen, F. Iachello, R.D. Levine, and A.E.L. Dieperink, J. Chem. Phys. 79, 2515 (1983).
- [16] F. Iachello, S. Oss and R. Lemus, J. Mol. Spectr. 149, 132 (1991).
- [17] F. Iachello and R.D. Levine, 'Algebraic Theory of Molecules', Oxford University Press, Oxford (1994).
- [18] A. Frank and P. van Isacker, 'Algebraic Methods in Molecular and Nuclear Structure Physics', J. Wiley and Sons, New York (1994).

1995116542 401912

N95-22959

EXACT, E = 0, CLASSICAL AND QUANTUM SOLUTIONS $^{i c \rho}$ FOR GENERAL POWER-LAW OSCILLATORS

Michael Martin Nieto¹ Theoretical Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory University of California Los Alamos, New Mexico 87545, U.S.A.

Jamil Daboul² Physics Department, Ben Gurion University of the Negev Beer Sheva, Israel

Abstract

For zero energy, E = 0, we derive exact, classical and quantum solutions for all power-law oscillators with potentials $V(r) = -\gamma/r^{\nu}$, $\gamma > 0$ and $-\infty < \nu < \infty$. When the angular momentum is non-zero, these solutions lead to the classical orbits $\rho(t) = [\cos \mu(\varphi(t) - \varphi_0(t))]^{1/\mu}$, with $\mu = \nu/2 - 1 \neq 0$. For $\nu > 2$, the orbits are bound and go through the origin. We calculate the periods and precessions of these bound orbits, and graph a number of specific examples. The unbound orbits are also discussed in detail. Quantum mechanically, this system is also exactly solvable. We find that when $\nu > 2$ the solutions are normalizable (bound), as in the classical case. Further, there are normalizable discrete, yet *unbound*, states. They correspond to unbound classical particles which reach infinity in a finite time. Finally, the number of space dimensions of the system can determine whether or not an E = 0 state is bound. These and other interesting comparisons to the classical system will be discussed.

1 Introduction

This all really started in Moscow, in 1992. That is where I met my colleague, Jamil Daboul, at the Second International Workshop on Squeezed States and Uncertainty Relations. It was held at the Conference Center-Hotel that the Russian Academy of Sciences uses. Late at night Jamil and I would get into sessions on life, physics, women, politics – you know, the usual stuff – while we drank his scotch.

The physics came around to musings about why certain problems can be solved exactly while others cannot, and the symmetries associated with such problems. There is a "folk-theorem" I often think of, which certainly is not exact but also certainly is intriguing. This theorem declares that if you can solve (or not solve) something classically the same is true quantum mechanically, and visa versa.

¹Email: mmn@pion.lanl.gov

²Email: daboul@bguvms.bgu.ac.il

Things stood there until Jamil visited me last year, and we took things up again. While wondering about the role of the Runge-Lenz vector in potential systems, a number of small observations started us down the line: a) the classical orbit for the attractive $-\gamma/r^4$ potential with centripetal potential barrier can be solved exactly; b) this type of quantum system is usually only discussed for $E \neq 0$; c) for E = 0, both the classical and quantum equations are simpler. Eventually we found out that all potentials of the form:

$$V(r) = -\frac{\gamma}{r^{\nu}} = -\frac{\gamma}{r^{2\mu+2}} , \qquad \gamma > 0 , \qquad -\infty < \nu < \infty , \qquad (1)$$

can be solved exactly, both classically and quantum mechanically, for zero binding energy, E = 0. – In what follows, it will be useful to switch back and forth between the variables ν and μ related by

$$\mu = (\nu - 2)/2, \qquad \nu = 2(\mu + 1).$$
 (2)

Therefore, contrary to the usual scenario of solving a particular potential for all energies, one could solve an infinite system of potentials for a particular energy. The physics that came out was most amusing. In this piece I will report on this work. For further details you can consult a letter on the new results for the quantum system [1], as well as longer articles on the classical and quantum physics involved [2, 3].

In Section 2 I will demonstrate the solution to the classical problem. Section 3 contains amusing specific examples of some of the classical trajectories. The quantum solution will be given in Section 4. Section 5 contains interesting aspects of the quantum solutions, and then I give a brief closing comment.

Before continuing, I wish to further parametrize the power-law potentials as

$$V(r) \equiv -\frac{\gamma}{r^{\nu}} \equiv -\mathcal{E}_0 \frac{g^2}{\rho^{\nu}} = -\frac{L_0^2}{2ma^2} \frac{g^2}{\rho^{\nu}} , \quad \rho \equiv r/a .$$
(3)

The dimensional coupling constant, γ , is more useful in classical physics. The dimensionless coupling constant, g^2 , is more useful in quantum physics. Note, in particular, that the constant L_0 becomes \hbar in quantum physics. Finally, the "effective potential," including the angular-momentum barrier, is

$$U(L,r) = \frac{L^2}{2mr^2} - \frac{\gamma}{r^{\nu}} .$$
 (4)

2 Classical Solution

Let us now obtain the classical solution. By substituting the angular-momentum conservation condition

$$\dot{\varphi} = L/(mr^2) \tag{5}$$

into the energy conservation condition

$$E - V = \frac{m}{2}\dot{\varphi}^2 \left[\left(\frac{dr}{d\varphi} \right)^2 + r^2 \right] , \qquad (6)$$

one obtains

$$\left(\frac{dr}{d\varphi}\right)^2 + r^2 = \frac{2m(E-V)\dot{r}^4}{L^2} . \tag{7}$$

This is essentially a first-order differential equation, which could be formally integrated. However, for E = 0, it is much more efficient to solve Eq. (7) directly. Converting to the dimensionless variable $\rho = r/a$ and substituting V into Eq. (7), we obtain

$$\left(\frac{d\rho}{d\varphi}\right)^2 + \rho^2 = \rho^{(4-\nu)} = \rho^{(2-2\mu)}.$$
(8)

For $\nu = 4$ the right-hand side of this equation is unity, so the solution is a cosine. This is the circular orbit $\rho = \cos \varphi$ which we will discuss in the next section. Guided by this we multiply Eq. (8) by $\rho^{2\mu-2}$ to yield

$$\left(\rho^{\mu-1}\frac{d\rho}{d\varphi}\right)^2 + \rho^{2\mu} = \left(\frac{d\rho^{\mu}}{\mu d\varphi}\right)^2 + (\rho^{\mu})^2 = 1.$$
(9)

Now, ρ^{μ} satisfies the differential equation for the trigonometric functions. Therefore, the *general* solution of Eq. (9) is given by

$$\rho^{\mu} = \cos \mu(\varphi - \varphi_0) = \cos \left[\frac{\nu - 2}{2} (\varphi - \varphi_0) \right] , \qquad (10)$$

or

$$\rho = \left[\cos \ \mu \left(\varphi - \varphi_0\right)\right]^{1/\mu} = \left[\cos\left(\frac{\nu - 2}{2}(\varphi - \varphi_0)\right)\right]^{\frac{2}{\nu - 2}} . \tag{11}$$

The phase, φ_0 , is the integration constant.

Actually, for bound trajectories, which are the case for $\nu > 2$, the angle φ and the phase φ_0 both change value at the origin. There a particle is both at the end of a particular orbit (which starts and ends at the origin) and also at the beginning of the next orbit. φ changes value because of the use of polar coordinates and φ_0 does because of the singular nature of the potentials. One has to be careful in matching solutions for bound orbits, and I refer you to Ref. [2] for the details. For now just note that this problem can be taken care of, and we set $\varphi_0 = 0$ for the first orbit.

3 Classical Trajectories

3.1 Bound trajectories: $2 < \nu$ or $1 < \mu$

For $2 < \nu$ or $1 < \mu$, the trajectories go out of and back in to the origin in a finite amount of time. The reason for this is that the dynamic potential dominates at the origin, but the centripetal barrier dominates at a finite distance. The effective potential then asymptotes to zero from above as $r \to \infty$. This is shown in Figure 1.

These bound orbits have an opening angle at the origin of

$$\Phi_{\nu} = \frac{2\pi}{\nu - 2} = \frac{\pi}{\mu} \ . \tag{12}$$



FIG. 1. The effective potential obtained from Eq. (4) for $\nu = 4$ in units of $\mathcal{E}_0/2$, as a function of $\rho = r/a$. The form is $U(\rho) = 4/\rho^2 - 1/\rho^4$.

The precession per orbit is

$$P_{\nu} = \left(\frac{1}{\mu} - 1\right)\pi = \left(\frac{4-\nu}{\nu-2}\right)\pi , \qquad (13)$$

which means that if ν is a rational fraction, the trajectory will close after a finite number of orbits. The classical period of an orbit is

$$\tau_{\nu} = \left[\frac{ma^2}{L}\right] \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{|\mu|} \frac{\Gamma(b)}{\Gamma(b+1/2)} , \qquad b \equiv \frac{1}{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{\nu+2}{2\nu-4} > 0 .$$
(14)

(Once again, see Ref. [2] for details.)

Starting with very large ν , the first orbit describes a very thin petal. The second orbit precesses by almost $-\pi$, being a thin petal almost on the opposite side of the first orbit. As ν gets smaller, the petals become larger and the precession per orbit becomes smaller.

For example, the $\nu = 8$ case, has three petals. Here a petal is $\pi/3$ wide and the precession per orbit is $-2\pi/3$. Thus, there are three orbits before the trajectory closes. Note that here the three petals in a closed trajectory cover only half of the opening angle from the origin. We show this in Figure 2.

The case $\nu = 6$ is very interesting. The width of a petal is $\pi/2$ and the precession is $-\pi/2$ per orbit. Here, the width of a petal and the precession are exactly such that there is no overlap and also no "empty angles." It takes four orbits to close a trajectory. This is shown in Figure 3. We see that the physical solution consists of two perpendicular lemniscates (figure-eight curves composed of two opposite petals).


FIG. 2. The first three orbits for $\nu = 8$. Each orbit is precessed $-2\pi/3$ from the previous one, so that by the end of the 3rd orbit, the trajectory closes. In this, and later orbits, we show cartesian coordinates for orientation.



FIG. 3. The first four orbits for $\nu = 6$. Each orbit is precessed $-\pi/2$ from the previous one, so that by the end of the 4th orbit, the trajectory closes.



FIG. 4. The orbit for $\nu = 4$. It is a circle, and repeats itself continually.



FIG 5. The first two orbits for $\nu = 3$. Each orbit is precessed π from the previous one, so that by the end of the 2nd orbit, the trajectory closes.

When we reach $\nu = 4$, the petals have widened so much that they form a circle. The circle starts at the origin, travels symmetrically about the positive x-axis, and returns to the origin. The precession is zero, so the orbit continually repeats itself. In Figure 4 we show this orbit.

As ν becomes less than 4, we can think of a petal obtaining a width greater than π , i.e., an orbit consists of two spirals, one out and one in, at opposite ends of the orbit.

Consider the special case $\nu = 3$. The width of the double-spiral orbit is still given by the formula for Φ_{ν} , and is 2π . Therefore, the first orbit begins and ends towards the negative x-axis. The precession is π , so the trajectory closes after two orbits. We show this case in Figure 5.

As ν approaches 2. the spirals become tighter and tighter and the precession (now clockwise) becomes larger. In fact, the spirals' angular variation as well as the orbit's precession both become infinite in magnitude as ν approaches 2.

3.2 Unbound trajectories: $\nu \leq 2$ or $\mu \leq 0$

When ν reaches 2, there is a singular change. First, the double spiral becomes infinite in angular width. But also, the joining of the two sides of the double spiral at $\rho = 1$ and $\varphi = 0$ breaks down. It is as if a tightly-wound double spring broke. The ends spiral out to infinity. This special case is a Cotes' (infinite) spiral. It takes an infinite time to reach infinity from the origin.

When the potential parameter ν just leaves that of the infinite spiral, that is, when one barely has $\nu < 2$ or $\mu < 0$, there is another change. Although the two ends of the entire trajectory still reach to infinity and the spirals in and out almost have infinite angular widths, the distance of closest approach jumps from $\rho = 0$ to $\rho = 1$.

As the value of ν decreases, the value of the angular width of the trajectory, now given by $\Phi_{\nu} = \pi/|\mu|$, also decreases accordingly. By the time $\nu = 1$, the angular width has decreased to 2π . Eventually it becomes less than π , meaning the orbit comes in and out in the same half plane. This happens for $\nu < 0$, i.e., when the force becomes repulsive.

When $0 < \nu < 2$, the repulsive centripetal barrier dominates at small r whereas the attractive potential $V = -\gamma/r^{\nu}$ dominates at large r. A typical shape is familiar from the Kepler problem. Therefore, for $0 < \nu < 2$, the E = 0 classical orbits are all unbounded. The distance, a, now has a completely different interpretation. It is now the distance of closest approach. Even so, the formal solution (10) remains valid for negative values of μ .

As a first example consider the case $\nu = 3/2$ or $\mu = -1/4$. This orbit has a total angular width of 4π . It is shown in the two drawings of Figure 6. The large-scale first drawing shows the trajectory coming in from the top, performing some gyration, and going out at the bottom. The small-scale second drawing shows the trajectory winding around twice near the origin, with the distance of closest approach being one.

A second example is the exact Kepler potential, $\nu = 1$ or $\mu = -1/2$. Eq. (10) gives

$$\rho^{-1/2} = \cos \varphi/2$$
, (15)

so that

$$\frac{1}{\rho} = (\cos \varphi/2)^2 = \frac{1 + \cos \varphi}{2} .$$
 (16)

This is the famous parabolic orbit for the Kepler problem with E = 0. This orbit is shown in the first drawing of Figure 7. The parabola yields an angular width of 2π , as it should.



FIG. 6. A large-scale view, and a small-scale view near the origin, of the trajectory for $\nu = 3/2$.



FIG 7. From left to right, he trajectories for the cases i) $\nu = 1$, ii) $\nu = 0$, iii) $\nu = -2$, and iv) $\nu = -4$. The curves are labeled by the numbers ν .

If we formally set $\nu = 0$ in the expression (3), we get a negative constant potential $V(r) = -\gamma$. Therefore, in this case the force vanishes and we have a free particle. Its orbit must be a straight line. However, Eq. (8) shows that one still has the same type of solution, Eq. (11). Here it is

$$\rho = [\cos \varphi]^{-1} , \qquad x = r \cos \varphi = a .$$
⁽¹⁷⁾

This is the equation for a vertical straight line that crosses the x-axis at x = a, as required by the initial conditions. This orbit is shown in the second drawing Figure 7, it subtending an angular width of π from the origin.

For $\nu < 0$ or $\mu < -1$ the potentials V(r) in Eq. (3) are repulsive and negative-valued for all r > 0, with V(r) going to $-\infty$ at large distances. Since both the potential, V(r), and the centripetal potential decrease monotonically, the effective potential has no minima or maxima. Even so, for E = 0 these unbounded orbits behave qualitatively like those for $0 \le \nu < 2$. The quantity *a* now labels the distance of closest approach and the solutions are given by the same expression (10), which is also valid for all $\mu < 0$:

$$\rho = [\cos \mu \varphi]^{1/\mu} = [\cos |\mu|\varphi]^{-1/|\mu|} , \qquad \mu < 0 .$$
(18)

The most famous special case of these potentials is the "inverted" harmonic-oscillator potential, with $\nu = \mu = -2$. The orbit is given by $\rho = [\cos 2\varphi]^{-1/2}$, so that

$$1 = \frac{r^2}{a^2} \cos 2\varphi = \frac{r^2}{a^2} (\cos^2 \varphi - \sin^2 \varphi) = \frac{x^2}{a^2} - \frac{y^2}{a^2} .$$
 (19)

Thus, the trajectory is a special hyperbolic orbit, whose minor and major axes are equal, $b^2 = a^2$. We show this orbit as the third drawing in Figure 7. Now the angular width has decreased to $\pi/2$.

As the last case, we consider the orbit for $\nu = -4$ or $\mu = -3$. This orbit is shown in the last drawing of Figure 7. The orbit subtends an angle of $\pi/3$, again as it should. One sees that as ν becomes more and more negative, the orbits will become narrower and narrower. This is just as in the bound case, where the petals became narrower and narrower as ν became more and more positive.

4 Quantum Solution

Consider the radial Schrödinger equation with angular-momentum quantum number l:

$$ER_{l} = \left[-\frac{\hbar^{2}}{2m} \left(\frac{d^{2}}{dr^{2}} + \frac{2}{r} \frac{d}{dr} - \frac{l(l+1)}{r^{2}} \right) + V(r) \right] R_{l} .$$
(20)

This Schrödinger equation is exactly solvable for the potential of Eq. (3) for all E = 0 and all $-\infty < \nu < \infty$. To see this, set E = 0 in Eq. (20), change variables to ρ , and then multiply by $-\rho^2$. One finds

$$0 = \left[\rho^2 \frac{d^2}{d\rho^2} + 2\rho \frac{d}{d\rho} - l(l+1) + \frac{g^2}{\rho^{2\mu}}\right] R_l(r) .$$
 (21)

This is a well-known differential equation of mathematical physics. For $\nu \neq 2$ or $\mu \neq 0$, the solution can be directly given as

$$R_{l}(r) = \frac{1}{\rho^{1/2}} \mathbf{J}_{\left(\frac{2l+1}{|\nu-2|}\right)} \left(\frac{2g}{|\nu-2|\rho^{\left(\frac{\nu-2}{2}\right)}}\right) = \frac{1}{\rho^{1/2}} \mathbf{J}_{\left(\frac{l+1/2}{|\mu|}\right)} \left(\frac{g}{|\mu|\rho^{\mu}}\right) , \quad \mu \neq 0 .$$
(22)

One actually has to be careful about when an absolute value of μ is called for in the labels of the solution, and whether the J Bessel functions are called for vs. the Y function. These details are given in Ref. [3].

5 Properties of the Quantum Solution

5.1 Normalizable bound states: $2 < \nu$ or $1 < \mu$

The normalization constants for the wave functions would have to be of the form

$$N_{l}^{-2} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r^{2} dr}{\rho} \mathbf{J}_{\left(\frac{l+1/2}{|\mu|}\right)}^{2} \left(\frac{g}{|\mu|\rho^{\mu}}\right) .$$
(23)

Changing variables first from r to ρ and then from ρ to $z = g/(|\mu|\rho^{\mu})$, and being careful about the limits of integration for all μ , one obtains

$$N_l^{-2} = \frac{a^3}{|\mu|} \left(\frac{g}{|\mu|}\right)^{2/\mu} I_l \quad , \tag{24}$$

where

$$I_{l} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dz}{z^{(1+2/\mu)}} \mathbf{J}_{\left(\frac{l+1/2}{|\mu|}\right)}^{2}(z) .$$
(25)

This integral is convergent and given by

$$I_{l} = \frac{1}{2\pi^{1/2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{\mu}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{1}{\mu}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{l+1/2}{|\mu|} - \frac{1}{\mu}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{l+1/2}{|\mu|} + \frac{1}{\mu}\right)} ,$$
(26)

if the following two conditions are satisfied:

$$\frac{2l+1}{|\mu|} + 1 > \frac{2}{\mu} + 1 > 0 .$$
(27)

Eqs. (26) and (27) lead to two sets of normalizable states. The first is when

$$\mu > 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \nu > 2 , \qquad l > 1/2 .$$
 (28)

These are ordinary bound states and result because the effective potential asymptotes to zero from above, as in Figure 1. In this case, for E = 0, the wave function can reach infinity only by tunneling through an infinite forbidden region. That takes forever, and so the state is bound.

Note that the condition on l in Eq. (28) is the minimum nonzero angular momentum allowed in quantum mechanics, $l_{min} = 1$. This agrees with the classical orbit solution which is bound for any nonzero angular momentum. Also, the above E = 0 solutions exist for all $g^2 > 0$, and not just for discrete values of the coupling constant.

5.2 Free states: $-2 \le \nu \le 2$ or $-2 \le \mu \le 0$

For $-2 \le \nu \le 2$ or $-2 \le \mu \le 0$ and $l \ge 1$ (as well as the solutions with l = 0 and $0 < \mu$ or $2 < \nu$) the solutions are free, continuum solutions. This is in analogy to the classical case, where the trajectories are normal and free.

5.3 Unbound yet normalizable states: $\nu < -2$ or $\mu < -2$

There is another class of normalizable solutions which is quite surprising. For any l and all $\nu < -2$ or $\mu < -2$, one can verify that the conditions of Eq. (27) are also satisfied. Thus, even though one here has a repulsive potential that falls off faster than the inverse-harmonic oscillator and the states are *not* bound, the solutions are *normalizable*!

The corresponding classical solutions yield infinite orbits, for which the particle needs only a finite time to reach infinity [2]. But it is known that a classical potential which yields trajectories with a finite travel time to infinity also yields a discrete spectrum in the quantum case. This discrete spectrum is obtained by imposing particular boundary conditions on the solutions, which defines a self-adjoint extension of the Hamiltonian. (See Ref. [1].)

5.4 Bound states in arbitrary dimensions

One can easily generalize the problem of the last section to arbitrary D space dimensions. Doing so yields another surprising physical result.

To obtain the *D*-dimensional analogue of Eq. (21), one simply has to replace 2ρ by $(D-1)\rho$ and l(l+1) by l(l+D-2). The solutions follow similarly as

$$R_{l,D} = \frac{1}{\rho^{D/2-1}} \mathbf{J}_{\left(\frac{2l+D-2}{|\nu-2|}\right)} \left(\frac{2g}{|\nu-2|\rho^{\left(\frac{\nu-2}{2}\right)}}\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\rho^{D/2-1}} \mathbf{J}_{\left(\frac{l+D/2-1}{|\mu|}\right)} \left(\frac{g}{|\mu|\rho^{\mu}}\right) .$$
(29)

To find out which states are now normalizable one first has to change the integration measure from $r^2 dr$ to $r^{D-1} dr$ and then continue as before. The end result is that if the wave functions are normalizable, the normalization constant is given by

$$N_{l,D}^{-2} = \frac{a^D}{|\mu|} \left(\frac{g}{|\mu|}\right)^{2/\mu} I_{l,D} \quad , \tag{30}$$

where

$$I_{l,D} = \frac{1}{2\pi^{1/2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{\mu}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{1}{\mu}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{l+D/2-1}{|\mu|} - \frac{1}{\mu}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{l+D/2-1}{|\mu|} + \frac{1}{\mu}\right)} ,$$
(31)

which is defined and convergent for

$$\frac{2l+D-2}{|\mu|} + 1 > \frac{2}{\mu} + 1 > 0 .$$
(32)

This yields the surprising result that there are bound states for all $\nu > 2$ or $\mu > 0$ when l > 2 - D/2. Explicitly this means that the minimum allowed l for there to be zero-energy bound states are:

$$D = 2, \quad l_{min} = 2, \\ D = 3, \quad l_{min} = 1, \\ D = 4, \quad l_{min} = 1, \\ D > 4, \quad l_{min} = 0.$$
(33)

This effect of dimensions is purely quantum mechanical, and exists for all central potentials. Classically, the number of dimensions involved in a central potential problem has no intrinsic effect on the dynamics. The orbit remains in two dimensions, and the problem is decided by the form of the effective potential, U, which contains only the angular momentum barrier and the dynamical potential.

In quantum mechanics there are two places where an effect of dimension appears. The first is in the factor l(l + D + 2) of the angular-momentum barrier. The second is more fundamental. It is due to the operator

$$U_{qm} = -\frac{(D-1)}{\rho} \frac{d}{d\rho} . \tag{34}$$

This is a new contribution to the "effective potential," and can be calculated [1]. The end result is that given in Eq. (33).

The dimensional effect produces what amounts to an additional centrifugal barrier which can bind the wave function at the threshold, even though the expectation value of the angular momentum vanishes.

6 Closing Comment

I hope you have found this discussion of anharmonic power potentials entertaining and enlightening. Jamil and I certainly have. The intuition obtained into the workings and relationships between classical and quantum physics has been delightful to us, to say the least.

Thank you very much.

References

- [1] J. Daboul and M. M. Nieto, Phys. Lett. A (submitted).
- [2] J. Daboul and M. M. Nieto, Am. J. Phys., in preparation, on the classical solutions of the E = 0, power-law system.
- [3] J. Daboul and M. M. Nieto, Am. J. Phys., in preparation, on the quantum solutions of the E = 0, power-law system.

1995-116543 401974 N95-22960

12

CP

ALGEBRAIC APPROACH TO THE VIBRATIONAL EXCITATIONS IN METHANE

R. Lemus¹ and A. Frank^{1,2} ¹ Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM Apdo. Postal 70-543, Circuito Exterior, C.U. 04510 México, D.F., México.

² Instituto de Física, Laboratorio de Cuernavaca, UNAM Apdo. Postal 139-B, Cuernavaca, Morelos, México

Abstract

We present a description of the vibrational excitations of methane by means of an algebraic analysis of a model of coupled anharmonic oscillators.

Introduction 1

Consider an AB_4 -like tetrahedral molecule and suppose we are interested in describing its vibrational degrees of freedom. This can be accomplished either in the framework of an integrodifferential scheme or by means of an algebraic approach. The former constitutes the traditional method, which consists in parametrizing the Hamiltonian in terms of internal coordinates [1], where the potential is modeled in terms of force field constants that can be obtained from theoretical calculations or from fits to spectroscopic data [2]. On the other hand, the algebraic approach represents an alternative to the traditional methods based on the use of Lie algebras to represent the interactions [3]. The algebra used to describe the vibrational degrees of freedom is not unique. Michelot and Leroy, for example, use a unitary group U(n) as the dynamical group of the system with n-1 vibrational degrees of freedom [4], while Iachello and Oss introduce an SU(2) algebra for each atomic degree of freedom [5]. In this work we carry out a complete description of the vibrational excitations of tetrahedral molecules by assigning a U(2) algebra to each interatomic potential.

Algebraic Model 2

The model is based on the isomorphism of the U(2) algebra with a one-dimensional Morse oscillator, whose eigenstates may be put into a one to one correspondence with a set of $U(2) \supset$ O(2) states, characterized by the quantum numbers |[N], m >, as long as the value of m is restricted to be non-negative. In this space the Morse Hamiltonian takes the simple form $\hat{\mathcal{H}} =$

 $A\hat{C}_{2O(2)}$, where A and N are related to the Morse potential parameters and $\hat{C}_{2O(2)}$ corresponds to the square of the O(2) invariant operator [3].



FIG. 1. Assignment of the $U^{i}(2)$ algebras to tetrahedral molecules.

For the description of a tetrahedral molecule we assign a $U^i(2)$ algebra to each interaction present, as shown in Fig. 1. The first four algebras have been chosen to correspond to the A-Binteractions, while the other six represent the B-B couplings. The molecular dynamical group is then given by the product $U^1(2) \times \ldots \times U^{10}(2)$, and the most general Hamiltonian, up to two body interactions, conserving the total number of quanta and invariant under the tetrahedral group \mathcal{T}_d , can be written as

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}} = \hat{\mathcal{H}}^S + \hat{\mathcal{H}}^B + \hat{V}^{S-B} \quad . \tag{1}$$

The term $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^S$ describes the stretching degrees of freedom and has the form

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}^{S} = A_{1} \sum_{i=1}^{4} \hat{C}_{2O^{i}(2)} + B_{12} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=i+1}^{4} C_{2O^{ij}(2)} + \lambda_{12} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=i+1}^{4} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{ij} ,$$

while $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^B$ is the bending contribution, given by

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\mathcal{H}}^{B} &= A_{5} \sum_{i=5}^{10} \hat{C}_{O^{i}(2)} + B_{5,6} \left\{ \sum_{j=6}^{9} \sum_{i=5,10} \hat{C}_{2O^{ij}(2)} + \sum_{j=7,9} \sum_{i=6,8} \hat{C}_{2O^{ij}(2)} \right\} \\ &+ B_{5,10} \left\{ \hat{C}_{2O^{5,10}(2)} + \hat{C}_{2O^{6,8}(2)} + \hat{C}_{2O^{7,9}(2)} \right\} \\ &+ \lambda_{5,6} \left\{ \sum_{j=6}^{9} \sum_{i=5,10} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{ij} + \sum_{j=7,9} \sum_{i=6,8} \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{ij} \right\} \\ &+ \lambda_{5,10} \left\{ \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{5,10} + \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{6,8} + \hat{\mathcal{M}}_{7,9} \right\} \quad . \end{aligned}$$

The last operator, $\hat{V}_{1}^{\beta-B}$, represents the stretching-bending interactions, which will be neglected as a first approximation. In these expressions $\hat{C}_{2O^{ij}(2)}$ corresponds to the $O^{ij}(2)$ Casimir invariant, while $\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{ij}$ is the Majorana operator, which is related to the $U^{ij}(2)$ Casimir operator [3].

The simplest basis to diagonalize the Hamiltonian is the one associated to the local-mode chain [3]

$$U^{(1)}(2) \times \ldots \times U^{(4)}(2) \times U^{(5)}(2) \times \ldots \times U^{(10)}(2) \supset O^{(1)}(2) \times \ldots \times O^{(10)}(2) \supset O(2)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \downarrow \qquad (2)$$

$$|[N_1] , \ldots [N_1] \quad [N_2] , \ldots , \qquad [N_2] \quad v_1 , \ldots , \quad v_{10}; \quad V > ,$$

where below each group we have indicated the quantum numbers characterizing the eigenvalue of the corresponding invariant operator. The two boson numbers N_1 and N_2 , are related to the two sets of physical modes (stretching and bending). The quantum numbers v_i correspond to the number of phonons in each oscillator $(v_i = \frac{N_i}{2} - m_i)$, while $V = \sum_{i=1}^{10} v_i$.

A simple analysis of an AB_4 tetrahedral molecule [6] shows that it presents 9 vibrational degrees of freedom, four of them corresponding to the fundamental stretching modes $(A_1 \oplus F_2)$ and the other five to the fundamental bending modes $(E \oplus F_2)$. Comparing this result with the local basis (2), we deduce that an unphysical bending mode is present in the algebraic formalism. We thus proceed to eliminate this spurious state both from the Hamiltonian and the basis.

To accomplish this goal we first transform, for the one phonon case, the local basis to a normal one, which carries the irreducible representations (irreps) of the \mathcal{T}_d group. With this change of basis we obtain the decomposition $A_1 \oplus F_2$ for the stretches and $A_1 \oplus E \oplus F_2$ for the bends. From this result we readily identify the A_1 bending mode as the spurious state. We now eliminate this spurious state from the space and proceed to construct the higher phonon basis from the physical one-phonon set by means of the coupling coefficients C(;)

$${}^{V_1+V_2}\Psi^{\Gamma}_{\gamma} = \sum_{\gamma_1\gamma_2} C(\Gamma_1\Gamma_2\Gamma;\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma) {}^{V_1}\Psi^{\Gamma_1}_{\gamma_1} {}^{V_2}\Psi^{\Gamma_2}_{\gamma_2} , \qquad (3)$$

where Γ and γ label the irreps of \mathcal{T}_d and its components, respectively.

To eliminate the spurious contributions from the Hamiltonian we demand its null expectation value with respect to the one-phonon spurious functions [7]

$$< {}^{1}\Psi_{\text{bending}}^{A_{1}} |\hat{\mathcal{H}}| {}^{1}\Psi_{\text{bending}}^{A_{1}} >= 0 \quad , \tag{4}$$

which leads to a constraint

$$4(1 - N_2)A_5 + 16(1 - 2N_2)B_{5,6} + 4(1 - 2N_2)B_{5,10} = 0$$

between the interaction parameters.

The vibrational energies are obtained by diagonalizing the Hamiltonian (1) with respect to the normal basis (3), constructed from the projected one-phonon functions (A_1, F_2) -stretching and (E, F_2) - bending, taking into account the constraint (4).

	Normal					Normal			
V	label	Г	Expt.	Calc.	V	label	Г	Expt.	Calc.
						I	1		
1	ν_4	F_2	1310.0	1303.7	3	$\nu_1+\nu_2+\nu_4$	F_1		5745.6
	$ u_2 $	\boldsymbol{E}	1533.0	1520.4			F_2	5775.0	5759.9
	ν_1	A_1	2916.5	2918.4			A_2		5854.4
	ν_3	F_2	3019.4	3027.2			E		5854.4
2		A_1		2474.5			F_1		5854.4
	$2\nu_4$	E		2476.4		$\nu_2+\nu_3+\nu_4$	$\langle F_2 \rangle$		5854.4
		F_2	2614.0	2610.5		i	A_1		5868.7
	$\nu_2 + \nu_4$	$\int F_1$		2827.2					5868.7
		F_2	2830.4	2841.5			F_1		5868.7
	$2\nu_2$	$\{A_1$		3003.7			F_2	5861.0	5868.7
		E		3026.3		$\nu_1 + 2\nu_2$	$\int A_1$		5922.0
	$\nu_1 + \nu_4$	F_2	4223.0	4222.0			LE		5944.7
		A_1		4330.9			(F_2)		6030.9
	$\nu_3 + \nu_4$	$\langle E \rangle$		4330.9		$2\nu_2 + \nu_3$	$\langle F_1 \rangle$		6053.5
		F_1		4330.9			F_2		6053.5
		F_2	4319.0	4330.9		$2\nu_1 + \nu_4$	F_2		7091.7
	$\nu_2 + \nu_3$	$\left(F_{1}\right)$		4547.7			A_1		7160.4
		F_2	4549.0	4547.7		$\nu_1+\nu_3+\nu_4$	E		7160.4
	$\nu_1 + \nu_2$	E		4438.8			F_1		7160.4
	$2\nu_1$	A_1		5788.0			F_2		7160.4
	$\nu_1 + \nu_3$	F_2	5861.0	5856.7			(F_2)		7278.1
		A_1		5974.4			E		7308.4
	$2\nu_3$	$\{F_2$	6004.7	6014.5			A_1		7318.2
_		LE	<u> </u>	6047.7		$2\nu_3 + \nu_4$	$\langle F_1 \rangle$		7318.2
3		(F_2)		3624.3			F_2		7318.2
	$3 u_4$	F_1		3778.3			F_2		7351.4
		F_2		3779.4			F_1		7351.4
		A_1		3920.4		$2\nu_1 + \nu_2$	Ĕ		7318.2
		(A_1)		3925.7		$\nu_1+\nu_2+\nu_3$	$\{F_1$		7377.1
				3935.6			F_2		7377.1
	$\nu_2 + 2\nu_4$	$\langle E$		3987.9			(E)		7494.8
		A_2		4017.6			F_1		7534.9
		F_2	4123.0	4123.9		$ u_2 + 2 u_3$	F_2	7514.0	7534.9
		$\int F_1$		4260.4			E		7568.1
		$\int F_1$		4425.5			A_2		7568.1
	$2\nu_2 + \nu_4$	F_2		4317.4			A_1		7568.1
		F_2		4387.6		$3\nu_1$	A_1		8581.1

TABLE I. Experimental [2,6,9] and calculated energies (cm^{-1}) for methane.

•

.	Normal			~ .		Normal	_		
V	label	Г	Expt.	Calc.	V	label	Г	$\mathbf{Expt.}$	Calc.
		(A_1)		4495.3		$2\nu_1 + \nu_3$	F_2	8604.0	8603.0
	$3 u_2$	$\langle E$		4510.9			A_1		8725.5
		A_2		4575.7		$\nu_1 + 2\nu_3$	$\langle F_2 \rangle$	8807	8794.1
		A_1		5392.8			LE		8838.5
	$\nu_1 + 2\nu_4$	E		5394.7			(F_2)	8900.0	8910.0
		F_2		5501.7		$3 u_3$	$\langle F_1 \rangle$		8944.8
		$\langle F_1 \rangle$		5503.6			A_1		8982.1
		F_2		5503.6			F_2	9045.0	9034.5
		F_2		5528.8					
	$\nu_3 + 2\nu_4$	$\langle F_2 \rangle$		5637.7					
	•	A_1		5637.7					
		E		5637.7					
		F_1		5637.7					

3 Methane

In this section we apply this algebraic approach to describe the vibrational levels of methane. According to the Hamiltonian (1) the number of parameters is eight, plus the boson numbers N_1 and N_2 . The vibron number N_1 can be fixed from the anharmonicity of the C - H bond, while for the bending vibrations we have taken N_2 from the H - H interaction in H₂O given in reference [8]. From these considerations, the number of free parameters is seven, taking into account the constraint (4).

TABLE II. Parameters of the Hamiltonian obtained in the least square fitting (cm^{-1}) . The numbers of bosons are taken to be $N_1=43$ and $N_2=28$.

rms			Bending			Stretching			
19.10	$\lambda_{5,10}$	$\lambda_{5,6}$	$B_{5,10}$	$B_{5,6}$	A_5	λ_{12}	B_{12}	A_1	
12.10	5.1799	9.0501	-28.0164	2.6492	35.4844	0.6328	-0.6850	-13.2125	

The Hamiltonian (1) is diagonalized in the normal basis, built by repeated couplings of the form (3). Since by construction this basis is symmetry adapted, the Hamiltonian matrix separates into blocks corresponding to the irreps of \mathcal{T}_d . In Table I we present the least square fit for methane up to three quanta. Following Herzberg's notation [6], the four fundamental energies for A_1 , F_2 (stretching) and E, F_2 (bending) have been denoted by ν_1 , ν_3 , ν_2 and ν_4 , respectively. The final parameters are given in Table II. The model in its simplest form (without including the V^{B-S} interaction or higher order terms) seems to provide a good description of 19 experimental energy levels with an rms deviation of 12.16 cm⁻¹.

4 Conclusions

We have presented a new method, which applied to an algebraic model of coupled anharmonic oscillators is able to describe the complete vibrational spectrum of polyatomic molecules. We emphasize that the method systematically incorporates group theoretical techniques which simplify the diagonalization of the Hamiltonian and provide a clear methodological procedure that can be applied to other molecules [10]. Although we have used the model in its simplest form, it can be improved in the following ways: a) Inclusion of the stretching-bending interactions \hat{V}^{S-B} , (b) Introduction in the Hamiltonian of higher order terms and (c) Addition of interactions which do not conserve the total number of quanta.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported in part by CONACyT, Mexico, under project 400340-5-3401E.

References

- E.B. Wilson, Jr., J.C. Decius and P. Cross, *Molecular Vibrations*. Dover Publications, INC. NY. 1980.
- [2] D.L. Gray and A.G. Robiette, Mol. Phys. 37, 1901 (1979).
- [3] F. Iachello, Int. J. Quant. Chem. 41, 77 (1992); A. Frank and P. Van Isacker, Algebraic Methods in Molecular and Nuclear Structure Physics, Wiley, 1994.
- [4] C. Leroy and F. Michelot, J. Mol. Spectry. 151, 71 (1992).
- [5] F. Iachello and S. Oss, Chem. Phys. 99, 7337 (1993).
- [6] G. Herzberg, Molecular Spectra and Molecular Structure II (Van Nostrand, NY, 1945).
- [7] R. Lemus and A. Frank, Phys. Rev. B. (1994) In press.
- [8] J.M. Arias, A. Frank, R. Lemus and F. Perez-Bernal, "Algebraic Description of Stretching and Bending Modes in non-Linear Triatomic Molecules", Phys. Rev. A. To be published.
- [9] J.C. Hilico, J. Phys. Paris 31, 289 (1970); B. Bobin and G. Guelachvili, J. Phys. Paris, 39, 33 (1978).
- [10] R. Lemus and A. Frank, J. Chem. Phys. To be published.

1995//6544 41)1916



ALGEBRAIC DESCRIPTION OF ATOM-MOLECULE INTERACTIONS

R.D. Santiago¹, A. Frank^{1,2)} and R. Lemus¹ ¹ Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM Apdo. Postal 70-543, Circuito Exterior, C.U. 04510 México, D.F., México.

² Instituto de Física, Laboratorio de Cuernavaca, UNAM Apdo. Postal 139-B, Cuernavaca, Morelos, México

Abstract

We describe a new method based on algebraic techniques, which leads to a model of atom-diatom collisions.

1 Introduction

One-dimensional atom-molecule collisions have been studied using a combination of differential and algebraic techniques in conjunction with time evolution operator methods for a variety of molecular potentials [1]. For three-dimensional systems, however, one needs to resort to a number of computational integro-differential techniques to describe such interactions [2,3]. In recent papers we have proposed an algebraic framework based on the vibron model [4], that leads to a three-dimensional scheme for such interactions [5], which starts from a $U(4) \times U(4)$ description of three-atomic molecules. We then apply a coherent state method to one of the U(4)'s, thus extracting a coordinate dependence for the interaction between one of the atoms and the remaining diatom, while the latter is still described algebraically. The resulting Hamiltonian is formally analogous to the ones used in one dimension [1] and can be solved in principle in the interaction picture [5]. This is a difficult task, however, particularly with respect to assessing the different degrees of approximation involved. For this reason we consider here a one-dimensional version of our model based on a $U(2) \times U(2)$ dynamical algebra, which is simpler to analyze and already incorporates much of the complexity of the full three-dimensional model.

2 One-Dimensional Model

In our one dimensional model, the stretching vibrations of triatomic molecules are described in terms of the dynamical algebra

$$U_1(2) \times U_2(2) \tag{1}$$

by means of the Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = E_0(N_1, N_2) + AJ_{z_1}^2 + BJ_{z_2}^2 + C\hat{J}_{z_1}\hat{J}_{z_2} + D\hat{J}_1 \cdot \hat{J}_2 + \dots,$$
(2)

where \hat{J}_{x_i} , \hat{J}_{y_i} and \hat{J}_{z_i} are the $SU_i(2)$ generators and \hat{N}_i the (fixed) total boson number associated to $U_i(2)$. The dots at the end of (2) indicate that we may also need other combinations of generators, such as $\hat{J}_{y_1} \cdot \hat{J}_{y_2}$. Such Hamiltonians are well suited to describe stretching vibrations, due to the connection that can be established between the U(2) algebra and the one-dimensional Morse oscillator Schrödinger equation [6]. We now introduce the coherent state basis associated to bond number 2 [7],

$$|[N]r\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N!(1+r^2)^N}} \quad (s^{\dagger} + rt^{\dagger})^N |0\rangle \quad , \tag{3}$$

where s^{\dagger} , t^{\dagger} are two scalar boson creation operators through which the U(2) algebras are realized [6]. Computing the expectation value of (2) in the basis (3) and carrying out the coordinate transformation

$$r = \sqrt{\frac{e^{-bx/a_0}}{2 - e^{-bx/a_0}}} \quad , \tag{4}$$

we arrive at a Hamiltonian of the form

$$H = \hat{H}_0 + \hat{V}_1 + \hat{V}_2 + \hat{V}_3 \quad , \tag{5}$$

where

$$\hat{H}_0 = A \hat{J}_{z_1}^2 \quad , \tag{6a}$$

$$\hat{V}_1 = -\hat{\alpha} e^{-bx/2a_0} (2 - e^{-bx/a_0})^{1/2} \quad , \tag{6b}$$

$$\hat{V}_2 = -\beta (2e^{-bx/a_0} - e^{-2bx_0/a_0}) \quad , \tag{6c}$$

$$\hat{V}_3 = \hat{\gamma} e^{-bx/a_0} \quad , \tag{6d}$$

and

$$\hat{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2}(C+D)N\hat{J}_{z_1}$$
, (7a)

$$\beta = -\frac{1}{4}BN(N-1) \quad , \tag{7b}$$

$$\hat{\gamma} = -\frac{1}{2}DN\hat{J}_{y_1} \quad . \tag{7c}$$

The potentials (6b) and (6c) generalize the typical interactions of exponential form (6d) used in previous works [1]. For collision energies high compared with the vibrational excitations, we may "freeze" the molecular coordinates and substitute \hat{J}_{z_1} and \hat{J}_{y_1} in (7a) and (7c) by their expectation values in the $|jm\rangle$ basis, leading to a well defined potential for which we evaluate classical trajectories, associated to a classical Lagrangian of the form

$$L = \frac{\mu}{2}\dot{x}^2 + V_1(x) + V_2(x) + V_3(x) \quad . \tag{8}$$

Substituting these trajectories x(t) back into (5) then leads to a time-dependent potential of the form

$$\hat{V}(t) = V_1(t)\hat{J}_{z_1} + V_2(t) + V_3(t)\hat{J}_{y_1} + V_4(t)\hat{J}_{x_1} \quad , \tag{9}$$

where $V_i(t)$ are obtained from (6), except for $V_4(t)$, which is identically zero.

We now use the interaction scheme, which is appropriate to determine time-dependent solutions for Hamiltonians of the form $\hat{H} = \hat{H}_0 + \hat{V}(t)$, as in (5). The evolution operator in this scheme satisfies the equation

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial \hat{U}(t)}{\partial t} = \hat{V}_{int} \hat{U}(t) \quad , \tag{10}$$

where

$$\hat{V}_{int}(t) = e^{i\hbar \hat{H}_0(t-t_1)} \hat{V}(t) e^{-i\hbar \hat{H}_0(t-t_1)} .$$
(11)

A great simplification arises when \hat{V}_{int} is a linear combination of a closed algebra. For the particular case of SU(2), $U(t_1, t)$ can be expressed in the form

$$\hat{U}(t) = e^{-i/\hbar g_1(t)\hat{J}_x} e^{-i/\hbar g_2(t)\hat{J}_y} e^{-i/\hbar g_3(t)\hat{J}_z} e^{-i/\hbar g_4(t)}$$
(12)

If this is the case, substitution of (12) into (10) gives rise to differential equations for $g_i(t)$ in terms of the (known) potentials $V_i(t)$. Once $\hat{U}(t_1,t)$ is known, the scattering matrix is defined in terms of it as

$$\hat{S} = \hat{U}(-\infty, \infty) \quad , \tag{13}$$

i.e., the transition probabilities can be obtained through

$$P(|jm > \rightarrow |jm' >) = | < jm |\hat{S}|jm' > |^{2} = |\sum_{\tau m_{2}} e^{-i\beta_{1}\tau} d^{j}_{\tau m'}(-\pi/2) d^{j}_{\tau m_{2}}(-\pi/2) d^{j}_{m_{2}m}(\beta_{2})|^{2} , \qquad (14)$$

where $\beta_i = g_i(-\infty, \infty)/\hbar$ and the d-functions are the usual Jacobi functions appearing in the definition of Wigner's D-functions [8].

3 Calculations

The main stumbling block for the evaluation of the evolution opperator is the calculation of $\hat{V}_{int}(t)$ through (11). We proceed to discuss briefly some approximations to carry out this task.

a) Sudden Approximation

In the sudden approximation, the interaction time is considered to be very short. A Taylor expansion of (11) along t_1 leads to

$$\hat{V}_{int}(t) = V(t) + \frac{i}{\hbar} [\hat{H}_0, V(t)] V(t - t_1) + \dots$$
(15)

which at zeroth order gives $\hat{V}_{int}(t) = V(t)$. This represents an approximation where all dynamical information of the molecular potential is lost in equation (10). We may then solve for the classical trajectories using (12), in some cases analytically, which generalize results known previously for the exponential interaction (6d) [9]. In this limit we are able to exactly reproduce the analysis of Levine and Wulfman [10,11] and extend them to the more general interactions in (6). We omit these results here for lack of space and refer the reader to reference [9].

b) Averaging Techniques for $\hat{V}_{int}(t)$

Since we are interested in comparing our algebraic methods with quantum mechanical *ab initio* calculations (when these are available), we should improve the evaluation of \tilde{V}_{int} so as to introduce the dynamical effects of the molecular potential. The sudden approximation of the previous subsection fails to account for the fine properties required. Fortunately, a quantum mechanical calculation for the transition probabilities in the scattering of an atom from a onedimensional Morse oscillator has been presented by Clark and Dickinson [12], so we may gauge our approximations by comparing with their results. Returning to eq. (11), we substitute (6a) and make use of the commutation relations

$$[J_{z}^{2}, \hat{J}_{y}] = -\hat{J}_{y} - 2i\hat{J}_{z}\hat{J}_{x} ,$$

$$[J_{z}^{2}, \hat{J}_{x}] = -\hat{J}_{x} + 2i\hat{J}_{z}\hat{J}_{y} .$$
(16)

After some algebra we find the expression

$$\hat{V}_{int}(t) = \left[\frac{-i}{2\sin(x_0\omega_0 t)} \left(-\cos(2x_0\omega_0 t\hat{J}_z)\hat{J}_y + \hat{J}_y\cos(2x_0\omega_0 t\hat{J}_z)\right) + \frac{1}{2\sin(x_0\omega_0 t)} \left(-\cos(2x_0\omega_0 t\hat{J}_z)\hat{J}_y + \hat{J}_y\cos(2x_0\omega_0 t\hat{J}_z)\right)\right] V_3(t) + V_1(t)\hat{J}_{z_1} + V_2(t) \quad ,$$
(17)

where $x_0\omega_0$ is the standard anharmonicity parameter, which can be expressed in terms of the Morse potential parameter through $x_0\omega_0 = \frac{-A}{\hbar}$. The problem with eq. (17) is that it no longer satisfies being linear in the SU(2) generators, so (12) is not valid. To deal with this problem, we proceed as follows. We apply $\hat{V}_{int}(t)$ to a Morse eigenfunction $|jm\rangle$ and insert a complete set of states $\sum_{\mu} |j\mu\rangle \langle j\mu|$ to the resulting expression. Taking into account the selection rules for \hat{J}_y , which imply, $\mu = m \pm 1$, we find a state-dependent potential:

$$\hat{V}_{m}(t) = \left(\frac{\cos(2x_{0}\omega_{0}tm)}{\cos(x_{0}\omega_{0}t)}V_{3}(t) + \frac{\cos(2x_{0}\omega_{0}t(m+1))}{\cos(x_{0}\omega_{0}t)}V_{3}(t)|jm+1\rangle < jm+1| + \frac{\cos(2x_{0}\omega_{0}t(m-1))}{\cos(x_{0}\omega_{0}t)}V_{3}(t)|jm-1\rangle < jm-1|)\right)\hat{J}_{y} + V_{1}(t)\hat{J}_{z} + V_{2}(t) \quad .$$
(18)

The *m*-dependent cosine functions, however, are practically the same for small values of the phonon number v = j - m (large *m* values), so we can simplify (18) by averaging the excitation to the two possible states $\mu = m \pm 1$, so we arrive at the simple *m*-dependent potential

$$\hat{V}_{m}(t) = (\cos(2x_{0}\omega_{0}tm)\cos(x_{0}\omega_{0}t)V_{3}(t)J_{y} + V_{1}(t)\hat{J}_{z} + V_{2}(t) , \qquad (19)$$

which is linear in the SU(2) generators, so (12) is valid. Since we are interested in comparing our approach with the calculations of ref. [12] where only $V_3(t) \neq 0$, the potential (19) simplifies further and only \hat{J}_y remains. The evolution operator is then given by

$$\hat{U}_m(t) = e^{-ig_2(m,t)\hat{J}_y/\hbar} \quad , \tag{20}$$

where

$$\dot{g}_2(m,t) = V_3 \cos(x_0 \omega_0 t) \cos(2x_0 \omega_0 m t)$$
 (21)

The differential equation for the evolution operator then lead to exactly solvable forms for the classical trajectories and to the asymptotic value of $g_2(m,t)$ (see below (14))

$$\beta_2(m) = \frac{E}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \cos(x_0 \omega_0 t) \cos(2mx_0 \omega_0) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\sqrt{\frac{E}{2\mu}} \frac{t}{a_0}\right) dt$$
(22)

where E is the collision energy. From (14) this leads to the simple expression for the transition probabilities

$$P(|jm \rangle \rightarrow |jm'\rangle) = d^{j}_{m,m'}(\beta_2(m')) \quad , \tag{23}$$

where

$$\beta_2(m') = \frac{\mu\omega_0 \pi a_0^2}{b^2 \hbar} \left[\frac{(2m'-1)x_0}{\sinh((2m'-1)x_0k_0)} + \frac{(2m'+1)x_0}{\sinh((2m'+1)x_0k_0)} \right] , \qquad (24)$$

with $k_0 = \frac{\omega_0 a_0 \pi}{b} \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{2E}}$. In Table I we compare the results of our calculation, using (23), (24), with those of Clark and

TABLE I. Comparison between the algebraic model and the Clark-Dickinson Model¹²⁾

Energy ($\hbar\omega_0$ /2 units): 16

	Initial St	ate = 0	Initial State $= 1$		
Final state	Clark-Dickinson Probability	Model Probability	Clark-Dickinson Probability	Model Probability	
1	0.245000	0.157837			
2	3.38000E(-02)	1.45652E(-02)	0.318000	0.253196	
3	2.72000E(-03)	8.65153E(-04)	5.72000 E(-02)	3.62444E(-02)	
4	1.61000E(-04)	3.71652E(-05)	5.16000 E(-03)	2.86219E(-03)	

7.44000E(-06) 1.22993E(-06)

3.24000E(-04)

1.50963E(-04)

Energy ($\hbar\omega_0/2$ units): 12

Initial State = 0

Initial State = 1

Final state	Clark-Dickinson	Model	Clark-Dickinson	Model	
	Probability	Probability	Probability	Probability	
1	0.129000	0.124019			
2	6.65000E(-03)	8.57432E(-03)	0.167000	0.208828	
3	1.49000E(-04)	3.81572E(-04)	8.41000E(-03)	2.19917E(-02)	
4	1.48000E(-06)	1.22807E(-05)	1.38000E(-04)	1.28983E(-03)	
5	4.95000E(-09)	3.04486E(-07)	7.01000E(-07)	5.07090E(-05)	
	En	ergy ($\hbar\omega_0/2$ units)): 10		
	Initial St	ate = 0	Initial Stat	te = 1	
1	7.39000E(-02)	0.105782			
2	1.66000E(-03)	6.09133E(-03)	8.15000E(-02)	0.182403	
3	1.17000E(-05)	2.25776E(-04)	1.22000E(-03)	1.58582E(-02)	
4	1.95000E(-08)	6.05219E(-06)	5.12000E(-06)	7.71373E(-04)	
5	0.	1.24982E(-07)	2.95000E(-10)	2.51949E(-05)	
	Er	nergy ($\hbar\omega_0/2$ units): 8		
	Initial St	ate = 0	Initial Stat	te = 1	

1 2 3 4	3.15000E(-02) 1.85000E(-04) 1.18000E(-07) 0.	8.66178E(-02) 3.98810E(-03) 1.18193E(-04) 2.53330E(-06)	2.28000E(-02) 3.07000E(-05) 1.37000E(-11)	0.152903 1.05375E(-02) 4.08112E(-04)
5	0.	4.18294E(-08)	0.	1.06318E(-05)
				. ,

Energy ($\hbar\omega_0/2$ units): 6

Initial State = 0

Init	tial	State	=	1

1	7.31000E(-03)	6.64920E(-02)		
2	2.30000E(-06)	2.29488E(-03)	1.25000E(-03)	0.120126
3	0.	5.09821E(-05)	0.	6.15327E(-03)
4	0.	8.1911 3 E(-07)	0.	1.77900E(-04)

5 0. 1.01384E(-08) 0. 3.46550E(-06)

Dickinson [12] for different collision energies and for two different initial states. Although our results differ from the exact ones, particularly for higher final states where the probabilities are very small, the general trend is reproduced remarkably well, taking into account our semiclassical method.

4 Conclusions

The algebraic model seems to provide an attractive alternative to integro-differential techniques for the description of atom-molecule collisions. The approximation methods developed for the one-dimensional test model can be readily extended to the three dimensional case and applied to real systems [2,3]. We are currently exploring the generalization of these techniques to include reaction channels, which would represent an important development because of the relevance of these processed in atmospheric interactions [13].

Acknowledgments

This work was supported in part by CONACyT, Mexico, under project 400340-5-3401E.

References

- J. Récamier, D. Micha, B. Gazdy, J. Chem. Phys. 85, 5093 (1986); J. Récamier and J. Ortega, Mol. Phys. 73, 635 (1991); H. K. Shin, J. Phys. Chem. 77, 2657 (1973); T. Ree, Y. H. Kim and H. K. Shin, Chem. Phys. Lett. 103, 149 (1983); B. Gazdy and D.A. Micha, J. Chem. Phys. 82, 4926 (1985).
- [2] L. Goubert, G. D. Billing, E. Desoppere and W. Wieme, Chem. Phys. Lett. 219, 360 (1994) and references therein.
- [3] S. K. Pogrebnya and D. C. Clary, Chem. Phys. Lett. 219, 366 (1994) and references therein.
- [4] F. Iachello, Chem. Phys. Lett. 78, 581 (1981).
- [5] A. Frank, R. Lemus, J. Récamier and A. Amaya, Chem. Phys. Lett. 193, 176 (1992).
- [6] A. Frank and P. Van Isacker, Algebraic Methods in Molecular and Nuclear Structure Physics, Wiley, New York, (1994).
- [7] O. S. van Roosmalen, Ph. D. Thesis, University of Groningen, The Netherlands (1982).
- [8] M. E. Rose, Elementary Theory of Angular Momentum, Wiley, New York, (1969).
- [9] R. D. Santiago, A. Frank and R. Lemus, J. Chem. Phys. to be published.

- [10] K. Wulfman and R. D. Levine, Chem. Phys. Lett. 97, 361 (1983).
- [11] R. D. Santiago, A. Frank and R. Lemus, Chem. Phys. Lett., to be published.
- [12] A. P. Clark and A. S. Dickinson, J. Phys. B: Atom. Molec. Phys. 16, 164 (1973).
- [13] M. J. D'Mello, D. E. Manolopoulos and R. E. Wyatt, Science 263, 102 (1994).

FIBONACCI CHAIN POLYNOMIALS: IDENTITIES FROM SELF-SIMILARITY

Wolfdieter L a n g E-mail: BE06@DKAUNI2.bitnet

Institut für Theoretische Physik Universität Karlsruhe Kaiserstrasse 12, D-76128 Karlsruhe, Germany

Abstract

Fibonacci chains are special diatomic, harmonic chains with uniform nearest neighbour interaction and two kinds of atoms (mass-ratio r) arranged according to the self-similar binary Fibonacci sequence ABAABABA..., which is obtained by repeated substitution of $A \to AB$ and $B \to A$.

The implications of the self-similarity of this sequence for the associated orthogonal polynomial systems which govern these Fibonacci chains with fixed mass-ratio r are studied.

1 Introduction

Fibonacci chains are linear diatomic chains with nearest neighbour harmonic interaction of uniform strength κ and the two masses (ratio $r = m_1/m_0$) follow the pattern of the binary sequence $\{h(n)\}_1^{\infty}$ obtained by repeated substitutions σ in the following way.

$$\sigma(1) = 10$$
 , $\sigma(0) = 1$, (1)

1995/16545 PU 401979 55-72

N95-22962

151

starting with 0. By definition $\sigma(uv) = \sigma(u)\sigma(v)$ for any two strings u and v. $\sigma^n(0) \equiv H_n$ is a string of length $|H_n| = F_{n+1}$, where $F_n = F_{n-1} + F_{n-2}$, $n = 2, 3, ..., F_0 = 0$, $F_1 = 1$ are the Fibonacci numbers. h(n) is defined to be the n'th entry of the half-infinite string $H_{\infty} := \lim_{n \to \infty} H_n$. E.g. $H_5 = \sigma^5(0) = 10110101$, h(1) = 1, h(2) = 0, etc. (1) is called the Fibonacci substitution rule, and the masses of the half-infinite chain are taken to be

$$m_n = m_{h(n)}$$
, $n = 1, 2, ...$ (2)

This sequence $\{h(n)\}_{1}^{\infty}$ is self-similar because the string H_{∞} satisfies $\sigma(H_{\infty}) = H_{\infty}$. Aperiodicity follows from this invariance, or fixed point, property. (This sequence is in fact also quasiperiodic, but this does not concern us here.)

Chains of this type have been considered as models of binary alloys [1]. For instance, one may consider chains with an elementary unit determined by the first N members of the $\{h(n)\}$ sequence and repeat it periodically, using certain boundary conditions. This then corresponds to $(AB)^{\infty}$ chains for N = 2, $(ABA)^{\infty}$ chains for N = 3, etc.

The dual of such chains (with equal masses but two spring constants κ_0 and κ_1 following the pattern of the Fibonacci substitution sequence) are related to one-dimensional quasicrystals [2]. One can also make contact to artificially manufactured superlattices [3].

Originally such Fibonacci chains were considered as models for the study of the regime in between periodic and random structures. [4, 5].

The purpose of this work is to write down the identities which are satisfied by the characteristic polynomials of these Fibonacci chains due to the self-similarity of the substituion sequence $\{h(n)\}$ which determines the pattern of the masses of the oscillators. These identities will be expressed in terms of the 2 × 2 transfer matrices M_n which are unimodular and real. The matrix elements are given by the characteristic polynomials $\{S_n^{(r)}(x)\}$, where r is the mass-ratio of the two types of atoms and x is a normalized frequency squared ($x \equiv \omega^2/2\omega_0^2$, $\omega_0^2 = \kappa/m_0$). The zeros of $S_N^{(r)}(x)$ determine the eigenfrequencies of finite Fibonacci chains with N atoms and both ends fixed. One also encounters so-called first associated polynomials $\{\hat{S}_n^{(r)}(x)\}$. They correspond to a right shift by one unit in the substitution sequence. Hence, the zeros of $\hat{S}_N^{(r)}(x)$ produce the eigenfrequencies of chains with masses $m_{h(2)} = m_0, \dots, m_{h(N+1)}$. Both r-families of polynomials generalize Chebyshev's $\{S_n(y)\}$ polynomials $(S_{-1} = 0, S_0 = 1, S_n = yS_{n-1} - S_{n-2})$ to two variables with the identification

$$S_n^{(1)}(x) = \hat{S}_n^{(1)}(x) = S_n(2(1-x)). \qquad (3)$$

They constitute, for fixed mass-ratio r, systems of orthogonal polynomials and have been studied in some detail in refs. [6, 7, 8, 9].

2 Fibonacci Chain Polynomials

For the Fibonacci chains $(\kappa, m_{h(n)})$ defined in section 1 the equation of motion for longitudinal, time-stationary vibrations $q_n(t) = q_n \exp(i\omega t)$ are

$$q_{n+1} + q_{n-1} - Y(n)q_n = 0, n = 1, 2, ...$$
 (4)

with

$$Y(n) \equiv 2(1 - \omega^2/(2\omega_n^2)) , \ \omega_n^2 \equiv \kappa/m_{h(n)} .$$
⁽⁵⁾

We use the two variables $r \equiv m_1/m_0$ and $x \equiv \omega^2/(2\omega_0^2)$. We put Y(n) = Y if h(n) = 1 and Y(n) = y if h(n) = 0. Hence

$$Y = 2(1-rx) , \quad y = 2(1-x) . \quad (6)$$

The equations of motion are rewritten with the help of the $SL(2, \mathbf{R})$ transfer matrix R_n :

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_{n+1} \\ q_n \end{pmatrix} = R_n \begin{pmatrix} q_n \\ q_{n-1} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} Y(n) & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} q_n \\ q_{n-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (7)

 R_n is either R_1 or R_0 depending on the Y(n) value, *i.e* $R_n = R_{h(n)}$. For the half-sided infinite chains considered here iteration leads to

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_{n+1} \\ q_n \end{pmatrix} = R_n R_{n-1} \cdots R_1 \begin{pmatrix} q_1 \\ q_0 \end{pmatrix} =: M_n \begin{pmatrix} q_1 \\ q_0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(8)

with the inputs q_1 and q_0 (the mass at site number 0 is irrelevant). M_n is real and unimodular. The recursion $M_n = R_n M_{n-1}$ with input $M_1 = R_1$ leads to

$$M_{n} = \begin{pmatrix} S_{n} & -\hat{S}_{n-1} \\ S_{n-1} & -\hat{S}_{n-2} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (9)$$

where the recursion formulae for the generalized two-variable Chebyshev polynomials are

$$S_n = Y(n)S_{n-1} - S_{n-2}$$
 , $S_{-1} = 0$, $S_0 = 1$, (10)

$$\hat{S}_n = Y(n+1)\hat{S}_{n-1} - \hat{S}_{n-2} , \quad \hat{S}_{-1} = 0, \quad \hat{S}_0 = 1 .$$
 (11)

These polynomials generate certain combinatorial numbers [10]. The meaning of these numbers can be understood if one uses the intimate connection of the Fibonacci substitution sequence with Wythoff's A and B sequences

$$A(n) = n + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} h(k) , \quad B(n) = n + A(n) . \quad (12)$$

These sequences $\{A(n)\}_{1}^{\infty}$ and $\{B(n)\}_{1}^{\infty}$ cover the positive integers in a complementary way: every number N > 0 is either an A- or a B-number. For an A-number n (*i.e.* n = A(m) for some m) h(n) = 1, and for a B-number n (*i.e* n = B(m) for some m) h(n) = 0. Wythoff's sequences are a special case of Beatty sequences: $A(n) = \lfloor n\varphi \rfloor$, $B(n) = \lfloor n\varphi^2 \rfloor$, with $\varphi^2 = \varphi + 1$, $\varphi > 0$, the golden mean.

The characteristic polynomials $\{S_n^{(r)}(x)\}$, obtained from $\{S_n(Y,y)\}$ by replacement of Y and y according to eq.(6), constitute, for fixed mass-ratio r, a system of orthogonal polynomials. $\{\hat{S}_n^{(r)}(x)\}$ are the first-associated orthogonal polynomials.

3 Self-Similarity Identities

The string, or 'word', H_{∞} defined in section 1 is invariant under the inverse substitution σ^{-1} , with $\sigma^{-1}(1) = 0$, $\sigma^{-1}(10) = 1$. This is equivalent to the self-similarity of the sequence $\{h(n)\}_{1}^{\infty}$ which is shown in the FIG.



FIG. Self-similarity of the sequence $\{h(n)\}_1^{\infty}$. Circles stand for the value 1 (A-numbers n), and disks stand for the value 0 (B-numbers n). $\sigma^{-1}(10) = 1$, $\sigma^{-1}(1) = 0$. Level (l) is mapped to level (l+1) by σ^{-1} .

The upper level, called (l) in the FIG., shows the numbers marked as A- and B- numbers. The h(n) value is 1 or 0, denoted by a circle or disk, respectively. When the substitution σ^{-1} is applied one reaches the next higher level, called (l+1) in the FIG., on which the same sequence is reproduced. Let the position of the n's number at level (l) be $x_n^{(l)}$ for l = 0, 1, ... Level l = 0 is assumed to correspond to the original sequence. Then one finds for $p \in N_0 \equiv N \cup \{0\}$

$$x_{A(p)}^{(l+1)} = x_{B(p)}^{(l)} , \qquad (13)$$

$$x_{B(p)}^{(l+1)} = x_{AB(p)}^{(l)} , \qquad (14)$$

where AB(p) stands for the composition A(B(p)) of Wythoff's sequences. E.g. The number A(4) = 6 at level (l + 1) occurs in the FIG. at the same position as B(4) = 10 at level (l), or B(2) = 5 at level (l + 1) corresponds to AB(2) = A(5) = 8 at level (l). Iteration, depending on the parity of the level number, leads to

$$x_{A(p)}^{(2k+1)} = x_{B^{k+1}(p)}^{(0)} , \quad x_{A(p)}^{(2k)} = x_{AB^{k}(p)}^{(0)} , \quad (15)$$

$$x_{B(p)}^{(2k+1)} = x_{AB^{k+1}(p)}^{(0)} , \quad x_{B(p)}^{(2k)} = x_{B^{k+1}(p)}^{(0)} .$$
 (16)

Consider the level (l+1) transfer matrix

$$M_n^{(l+1)} = R_{h(n)}^{(l+1)} \cdots R_{h(1)}^{(l+1)} , \qquad (17)$$

satisfying the recursion relation

$$R_1^{(l+1)} = R_0^{(l)} R_1^{(l)} , \quad R_0^{(0)} \equiv R_0 = \begin{pmatrix} y & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} ,$$
 (18)

$$R_0^{(l+1)} = R_1^{(l)}$$
, $R_1^{(0)} \equiv R_1 = \begin{pmatrix} Y & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. (19)

Iteration leads, with $M_n \equiv M_n^{(0)}$, to

$$R_1^{(l+1)} = M_{F_{(l+3)}}$$
, $R_0^{(l+1)} = M_{F_{(l+2)}}$, (20)

with the Fibonacci numbers F_n . Due to (15) and (16) one has

$$M_{A(p)}^{(2k+1)} = M_{B^{k+1}(p)} , \qquad M_{A(p)}^{(2k)} = M_{AB^{k}(p)} , \qquad (21)$$

$$M_{B(p)}^{(2k+1)} = M_{AB^{k+1}(p)} , \qquad M_{B(p)}^{(2k)} = M_{B^{k+1}(p)} . \qquad (22)$$

The recursion at each level is

$$M_n^{(l+1)} = R_{h(n)}^{(l+1)} M_{n-1}^{(l+1)} , \quad M_1^{(l+1)} = R_1^{(l+1)} .$$
 (23)

Combining iteration and recursion, in a systematic way, leads to transfer matrix identities for level (0), *i.e.* for the original matrices M_n of eq. (8). One finds alltogether six families of such

identities, depending on the parity of the level one starts with and the specification of the index. These identities are, for $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

(I), (IIa), (IIb) and (III) result from odd levels l = 2k + 1, with n put AB(m), AA(A(m) + 1), AA(B(m) + 1 and B(m), respectively. (III), (IVa) and (IVb) result from even levels l = 2k, with n put B(m), A(A(m) + 1) and A(B(m) + 1), respectively.

E.g. (I) and (III) produce for m = 1, due to A(1) = 1, $B^{k+1}(1) = F_{2k+3}$ and $AB^k(1) = F_{2(k+1)}$, identities which are the well-known recursion formula for transfer matrices with neighbouring Fibonacci number indices

$$M_{F_{n+1}} = M_{F_{n-1}} M_{F_n} . (25)$$

Not all eqs.(24) are independent. E.g. if one puts m = B(p) + 1 in (I), replaces k by k + 1 and combines it with eqs. (IVb), with $k \to k - 1$ and $m \to p$, one finds eqs. (IIa), due to the identity B(p) + 1 = A(A(p) + 1) and eq.(25) for even n. However, eqs.(IIa) provide identities for $M_{B^{k}A(p)}$ which complement those obtained from eqs. (IIb).

It is possible to combine (I) of eq.(24) with (III) specialized to $m \to A(m)$ and use (I) again with $k \to k-1$ and $m \to A^2(m)$. Continuing this process one finds for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$

$$(I') \qquad M_{B^{k+1}(m)} = M_{F_{2k+1}} M_{F_{2k}} \cdots M_{F_2} M_{BA^{2k}(m)}$$

(III')
$$M_{AB^{k}(m)} = M_{F_{2k}} M_{F_{2k-1}} \cdots M_{F_2} M_{BA^{2k-1}(m)}$$
 (26)

(I) and (III) in (24) can be replaced by both eqs. (26), and the other eqs. of (24) can be rewritten using (26).

The sum of the indices of the transfer matrices on the r.h.s. of eqs.(24) and (26) have to match the index of the l.h.s. This fact produces families of identities among iterated Wythoff A and B sequences. A detailed investigation of these Wythoff composites identities will be given elsewhere. All of these identities can be rederived as corollaries of a new theorem relating two seemingly different unique number systems: the Wythoff- and the Zeckendorf- (or Fibonacci-) representations. The transfer matrix identities (24) are equivalent to those for their matrix elements, *i.e.* the characteristic polynomials $\{S_n(Y,y)\}$ and $\{\hat{S}_n(Y,y)\}$. In order to derive them one rewrites the indices of all matrix elements as Wythoff composites. Consider, for example, (I). For the elements of $M_{B^{k+1}(m)}$ one employs the simple identities $B^{k+1}(m) - 1 = B(B^k(m)) - 1 = A^2B^k(m)$ and $B^{k+1}(m) - 2 = ABAB^{k-1}(m)$. The last identity can be proved for m = A(p) and m = B(p)separately. On the r.h.s. of (I) one rewrites the indices of the matrix elements with the help of the identities $F_{2k+1} = B^k(1), F_{2k+1} - 1 = A^2B^{k-1}(1), F_{2k+1} - 2 = ABAB^{k-2}(1)$ for k = 2, 3, ...,and $F_3 - 2 = 0$. Moreover, $AB^kA(m) - 1 = BAB^{k-1}A(m)$, $AB^kA(m) - 2 = A^3B^{k-1}A(m)$. Finally, (I) decomposes into the following four sets of eqs.

The last two sets of eqs. hold only for k = 2, 3, ... For k = 1 one has

$$S_{A^{2}B(m)} = Y S_{ABA(m)} - S_{BAA(m)} ,$$

$$\hat{S}_{ABA(m)} = Y \hat{S}_{BAA(m)} - \hat{S}_{A^{4}(m)} .$$
(28)

The other eqs. in (24) decompose in a similar way. The arguments of the polynomials is always (Y, y), which can be replaced using eq.(6).

This concludes the derivation of the self-similarity eqs. for the Fibonacci chain polynomials. It is clear that further work is needed in order to extract from this gamut of eqs. information pertaining to chain properties, like structure of spectra and displacements.

References

- F. Axel, J.P. Allouche, M. Kleman, M. Mendès -France, and J. Peyrière, J. Physique Coll. 47, C3 supppl. 7, 181 (1986)
- [2] D. Shechtman, I. Blech, D. Gratias, and J.W. Cahn, Phys. Rev. Lett. 53, 1951 (1984)
- [3] J.D. Axe, R. Clarke, R. Merlin, K.M. Mohanty, and J. Todd, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57, 1157 (1986)
- [4] M. Kohmoto, L.P. Kadanoff, and C. Tang, Phys. Rev. Lett. 50, 1870 (1983)
- [5] S. Ostlund, R. Pandit, D. Rank, H.J. Schellnhuber, and E.D. Siggia, Phys. Rev. Lett. 50, 1873 (1983)
- [6] W. Lang, J. Phys. A 25, 5395 (1992), *ibid.* A26, 1261 (1993)
- [7] W. Lang, in Applications of Fibonacci Numbers, Vol. 5, eds. G.E. Bergum, A. N. Philippou, and A.F. Horadam, (Kluwer Academic Publ./Dordrecht, 1993), pp 429-440
- [8] W. Lang, Proceedings of the Third International Wigner Symposium, Oxford, 1993, eds. L.L. Boyle and A.S. Solomon, to be published
- [9] W. Lang, "The Measure of the Orthogonal Polynomials Related to Fibonacci Chains: The Periodic Case", Karlsruhe preprint KA-THEP-1-1993, 1993
- [10] W. Lang, The Fibonacci Quarterly 30.3, 199 (1992)

A SUPERSYMMETRIC FAMILY OF HARMONIC OSCILLATORS

51

SIMULATING H-BONDS IN DNA **N9** 1995-116546

Elso Drigo Filho and Jose R. Ruggiero 40/982 IBILCE, UNESP - Campus de Sao Jose do Rio Preto Rua Cristovao Colombo 2265, Cx.P.136 CEP 15054-000 Sao Jose do Rio Preto, SP-Brazil

Abstract

We test an isospectral potential from harmonic oscillator simulating H-bond interation in DNA macromolecules.

1 Introduction

In the context of Supersymmetric Quantum Mechanics (SQM), several new potentials have been generated from shape invariant potentials[1]. In particular, with reference to the harmonic oscillator[2-4]. However, to date, none of these new potentials have been applied to real physical systems.

Peyrard and Bishop[5] have introduced a theoretical treatment of DNA. In this model, starting from the classical Hamiltonian and using the transfer integral operator, the partition functions follow from the eigenvalues of a Schrödinger-type equation.

We intend, in this communication, to demonstrate the feasability of using a new potential generated from the harmonic oscillator in the Schrödinger-type equation to describe H-bonds in DNA.

2 SQM

In SQM the nilpotent operators Q and Q^+ satisfy the algebra[6]

$$\{Q,Q^+\} = H_{SS}; Q^2 = Q^{+2} = 0 \tag{1}$$

which can be realized in a usual matrix form. In this case, the supersymmetric Halmitonian H_{ss} consists of two partners H_{+} and H_{-} which can be factorized in $H_{+} = a^{+}a^{-}$ and $H_{-} = a^{-}a^{+}$ (where a^{+} and a^{-} are bosonic operators), and they have the same spectra except for the ground state, where only H_{+} has an eigenvalue equal to zero $E_{+} = 0$. The eigenfunctions of H_{+} and H_{-} are related to one another by: $\Psi_{+} = a^{+}\Psi_{-}$ and $\Psi_{-} = a^{-}\Psi_{+}$, where the bosonic operators are defined by:

$$a^{\pm} = \left\{ \mp \frac{d}{dx} + W(x) \right\}.$$
⁽²⁾

Redefining the operators a^{\pm} , it is possible to obtain a family of Hamiltonians as shown by Sukumar[7], or the isoespectral potentials[2-4]. In this second case defining new operators:

$$A^{\pm} = \mp \frac{d}{dx} + F(x) \tag{3}$$

and imposing $H_{-} = A^{-} A^{+}$ yields a general form to get F(x). The new Hamiltonian is written as

$$\widetilde{H}_{+} = A^{-}A^{+} - 2\frac{d}{dx}F(x)$$
(4)

and the eigenfunctions of the new Hamiltonian are related to the original Hamiltonian ones . The missing ground state is obtained from $A^{-}\Psi_{+o} = 0$.

As an example, consider the original potential to be the harmonic oscillador, $V(x)=x^2$. It then follows[1-4]:

$$\widetilde{H}_{+} = -\frac{d^{2}}{dx^{2}} + x^{2} - 1 - 2\frac{d}{dx}\frac{\exp(-x^{2})}{\Gamma + \int_{0}^{x}\exp(-z^{2})dz}$$
(5)

$$\Psi_{+,0} = \exp\{-x^2 + \int_0^x \frac{\exp(-z^2)dz}{\Gamma + \int_0^z \exp(-y^2)dy}\}.$$
(6)

3 DNA Model

t

Bishop & Peyrard's DNA model includes two degrees of freedom (u_n, v_n) corresponding to displacements of the bases from their equilibrium positions along the direction of the H-bonds connecting them. A harmonic coupling due to the stacking interactions between neighboring bases is also assumed with the same coupling constant (k) for the two strands. Each base has the mass m.

The Hamiltonian for this model is

$$H = \sum_{n} \left\{ \frac{p_{n}^{2}}{2m} + \frac{k}{2} (x_{n} - x_{n-1})^{2} + \frac{q_{n}^{2}}{2m} + \frac{k}{2} (y_{n} - y_{n-1})^{2} + V(y_{n}) \right\},$$
(7)

where $x_n = (u_n + v_n)/\sqrt{2}$, $y_n = (u_n - v_n)/\sqrt{2}$, $p_n = m\dot{x}_n$, $q_n = m\dot{y}_n$ and $V(y_n)$ is the potential for the hydrogen bonds. Using the transfer integral operators to solve configuration integral energy the classical partition function can be obtained.

The temperature of denaturation of DNA can be monitored through the mean stretching $\langle y_n \rangle$ of the H-bond. Considering the limit of large N, only the ground state will be important, and

$$\langle y \rangle = \langle \Phi_0(y) | y | \Phi_0(y) \rangle = \int \Phi_0^2(y) y dy$$
, (8)

where $\Phi_0(y)$ is the ground state eigenfunction of a Schrödinger-type equation:

$$\{-\frac{1}{2\beta^{2}k}\frac{d^{2}}{dy^{2}} + V(y)\}\Phi_{i}(y) = \{\varepsilon_{i} + \frac{1}{2\beta}\ln\frac{2\pi}{\beta k}\}\Phi_{i}(y).$$
(9)

It is important to note the mean value $\langle y \rangle$ depends on the form of the eigenfunction $\Phi_0(y)$.

4 H-bond Potential

The Morse potential is usually used to simulate the H-bonds in DNA. However, we suggest here that the potential generated from the harmonic oscillator using the superalgebra can also be used. This potential has the form: which can be realized in a usual matrix form. In this case, the supersymmetric Halmitonian H_{SS} consists of two partners H_{+} and H_{-} which can be factorized in $H_{+} = a^{+}a^{-}$ and $H_{-} = a^{-}a^{+}$ (where a^{+} and a^{-} are bosonic operators), and they have the same spectra except for the ground state, where only H_{+} has an eigenvalue equal to zero $E_{+} = 0$. The eigenfunctions of H_{+} and H_{-} are related to one another by: $\Psi_{+} = a^{+}\Psi_{-}$ and $\Psi_{-} = a^{-}\Psi_{+}$, where the bosonic operators are defined by:

$$a^{\pm} = \left\{ \mp \frac{d}{dx} + W(x) \right\}.$$
⁽²⁾

Redefining the operators a^{\pm} , it is possible to obtain a family of Hamiltonians as shown by Sukumar[7], or the isoespectral potentials[2-4]. In this second case defining new operators:

$$A^{\pm} = \mp \frac{d}{dx} + F(x) \tag{3}$$

and imposing $H_{-} = A^{-} A^{+}$ yields a general form to get F(x). The new Hamiltonian is written as

$$\widetilde{H}_{+} = A^{-}A^{+} - 2\frac{d}{dx}F(x)$$
(4)

and the eigenfunctions of the new Hamiltonian are related to the original Hamiltonian ones . The missing ground state is obtained from $A^- \Psi_{+o} = 0$.

As an example, consider the original potential to be the harmonic oscillador, $V(x)=x^2$. It then follows[1-4]:

$$\widetilde{H}_{+} = -\frac{d^{2}}{dx^{2}} + x^{2} - 1 - 2\frac{d}{dx}\frac{\exp(-x^{2})}{\Gamma + \int_{0}^{x}\exp(-z^{2})dz}$$
(5)

$$\Psi_{+,0} = \exp\{-x^2 + \int_0^x \frac{\exp(-z^2)dz}{\Gamma + \int_0^2 \exp(-y^2)dy}\}.$$
 (6)

3 DNA Model

Acknowledgements

Partially supported by CNPq and FAPESP (Brazil). EDF acknowledges the Organizating Committee of the Meeting Harmonic Oscillator II and FUNDUNESP (Brazil) for financial support to attend the meeting.

References

[1] E. Drigo Filho, Rev. Brasil. Fis. 20, 258 (1990); B. Talukdar, U. Das, C. Bhattacharyya and P. K. Bera, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 25, 4073 (1992)

- [2] B. Mielnik, J. Math. Phys. 25, 3387 (1984)
- [3] M. M. Nieto, Phys. Lett. 145B, 208 (1984)
- [4] N. A. Alves & E.Drigo Filho J. Phys. A:Math. Gen. 21, 3215 (1988)
- [5] M. Peyrard & A. R. Bishop Phys. Lett. 62, 2755 (1989)
- [6] F. Cooper & B. Fredman Ann. Phys.(NY) 146, 262 (1986)
- [7] C. V. Sukumar, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 18, L57 (1985)
- [8] W. Saenger, Principles of Nucleic Acid Structure (Springer-Verlag, New York INC, 1984)
- [9] E. Drigo Filho & J. R. Ruggiero Phys. Rev. A44, 8435 (1991)
- [10] F. Pitici & S, Svirschevski Phys. Rev. A44, 8348 (1991)
- [11] L. L. van Zandt, Phys. Rev. A40, 6134 (1989)
- [12] V. I. Poltev & N.V.Schulyupina J. Biomolec. Struc. Dyn. 3, 739 (1986)

•

.

1995116547 101984



57-1/2-

101

MOLECULAR VIBRATIONAL STATES DURING A COLLISION

José Récamier A.¹

Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos Apdo. Postal 139-B, Cuernavaca, Morelos 62191 México

and

Rocío Jáuregui Instituto de Física, U. N. A. M. Apdo. Postal 20-364, México D.F. 01000 México

Abstract

Alternative algebraic techniques to approximate a given Hamiltonian by a harmonic oscillator are described both for time-independent and time-dependent systems. We apply them to the description of a one dimensional atom-diatom collision. From the resulting evolution operator, we evaluate vibrational transition probabilities as well as other time-dependent properties. As expected, the ground vibrational state becomes a squeezed state during the collision.

1 INTRODUCTION

Let us consider the problem of translation-vibration energy transfer in a colinear collision betweeen an atom A and a diatomic molecule BC. The system is described by a Hamiltonian H

$$\mathcal{H}=\mathcal{H}_0+\mathcal{V}_S(x,t),$$

with the molecule modeled by a Morse Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_0 = \frac{p^2}{2m} + D(e^{-Ax} - 1)^2$$

and we use a semiclassical approach [1] to construct an effective time-dependent interaction \mathcal{V}_S between the particle and the molecule.

A harmonic Hamiltonian is usually related to \mathcal{H}_0 just by making a Taylor series expansion of the potential around x = 0 and keeping up to second order terms. However, as we shall show here, this is not necessarily the best harmonic approximation to the Morse Hamiltonian.

In this work, we analyze the time evolution of several physical observables during the collision. To that end, we obtain an approximate time evolution operator by algebraic means. The resulting vibrational transition probabilities are compared with results obtained by other authors [2]. We also evaluate the occupancy of the ground state and the dispersion of the relative position and momentum of the atoms in the diatomic molecule during the collision.

¹Permanent Address: Instituto de Física, Laboratorio de Cuernavaca, U. N. A. M., Apdo. Postal 139-B Cuernavaca, Morelos 62191, México.

2 ALGEBRAIC TECHNIQUES

As usual in this type of problem, we shall work in the interaction picture where the behavior of the free molecule is separated from that of the total system. The observables \mathcal{O} evolve in time according to

$$\mathcal{O}_I(t) = \mathcal{U}_0^{\dagger} \mathcal{O} \mathcal{U}_0, \tag{1}$$

where \mathcal{U}_0 is the time evolution operator corresponding to the Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_0 , while the time evolution of states is determined by the operator \mathcal{U}_I associated with the interaction picture Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_I(t) = e^{i\mathcal{H}_0(t-t_0)/\hbar} \mathcal{V}_S(x,t) e^{-i\mathcal{H}_0(t-t_0)/\hbar}.$$
(2)

For both time evolution operators we shall make a harmonic approximation described in the following paragraphs.

a) On the harmonic approximation to the Morse Hamiltonian.

The harmonic approximation to the Morse Hamiltonian is usually carried out by just considering the second order Taylor series expansion to the Morse potential

$$D(e^{-Ax} - 1)^2 \approx DA^2 x^2.$$
 (3)

Let us consider the introduction of creation and annihilation operators with arbitrary scale parameter α and a translation parameter d:

$$a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\alpha x + \frac{i}{\alpha}p) - d \tag{4}$$

and

$$a^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\alpha x - \frac{i}{\alpha} p) - d.$$
 (5)

The usual commutation relation still holds and the position and momentum operators are given by

$$\dot{x} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\alpha}}(a + a^{\dagger} + 2d) \qquad p = \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{2i}}(a - a^{\dagger}).$$
(6)

In terms of a and a^{\dagger} the Morse Hamiltonian can be written as

$$\mathcal{H}_0 = \sum_{i,j=0}^{\infty} G_{ij} a^{\dagger i} a^j \tag{7}$$

as can be easily shown using the fact

$$e^{\alpha(a+a^{\dagger})} = e^{\alpha a^{\dagger}} e^{\alpha a} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\alpha^{2}}.$$
(8)

The coefficient G_{00} can be interpreted as an estimate of the ground state energy on the harmonic basis determined by the scale parameter α and the traslation parameter d. Invoking the variational principle we choose them such that

$$\frac{\partial G_{00}}{\partial d}|_{d=d_0} = 0 \tag{9}$$
and

$$\frac{\partial G_{00}}{\partial \alpha}|_{\alpha=\alpha_0} = 0. \tag{10}$$

By direct evaluation of these derivatives it can be shown that the variational conditions are equivalent to the diagonalization of the approximate Hamiltonian

$$H_0 = \sum_{0 \le i+j \le 2} G_{ij} a^{\dagger i} a^j \tag{11}$$

taking it to a form similar to the one of a harmonic oscillator

$$H_0 = G_{11}a^{\dagger}a + G_{00}, \tag{12}$$

but with a variationally optimized G_{00} .

b) Nonperturbative approximate solution for the time-dependent interaction Hamiltonian.

In many scattering problems, a perturbative technique is applied to obtain the major effects of the collision on the state of the system. In the case of a collision between an atom and a diatom, eventhough transition probabilities may be small, perturbative results differ significantly from exact numerical results. Besides, as is well known, there are several successful nonperturbative methods to deal with the parametric harmonic oscillator model. Taking this into account, harmonic approximations to the time-dependent interaction between an atom and a diatom have been studied [3] [4]. In this section, we describe an iterative procedure which has proven to take advantage of this fact in an optimized way [6]. This method has been applied to the calculation of vibrational transition probabilities when the molecule is described by the usual harmonic oscillator derived from a Morse potential.

Once the time-independent Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_0 has been approximated by the harmonic Hamiltonian H_0 the evolution operator is simply

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = e^{-i/\hbar G_{00} t} e^{-i/\hbar G_{11} t a^{\dagger} a} \tag{13}$$

thus, the interaction Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}_I(t)$, can be easily written in terms of the creation and anihilation operators a and a^{\dagger}

$$\mathcal{H}_{I}(t) = \sum_{i,j} \Phi_{ij}^{(0)}(t) a^{\dagger i} a^{j}$$
(14)

with the coefficients $\Phi_{ij}^{(0)}$ simple functions of time. Solving this problem corresponds to find an evolution operator $\mathcal{U}_I(t)$ solution of the equation

$$i\hbar\partial_t \mathcal{U}_I = \mathcal{H}_I \mathcal{U}_I,\tag{15}$$

with the initial condition $\mathcal{U}_I(t_0, t_0) = \mathcal{I}$.

In analogy with the time-independent problem we split \mathcal{H}_I as a sum of two terms [6]

$$\mathcal{H}_{I} = \mathcal{H}_{I_{0}}^{(I)} + \mathcal{H}_{I_{0}}^{(II)} \tag{16}$$

with

$$\mathcal{H}_{I_0}^{(I)} = \sum_{0 \le i+j \le 2} \Phi_{ij}^{(0)}(t) a^{\dagger i} a^j \tag{17}$$

and

$$\mathcal{H}_{I_0}^{(II)} = \sum_{3 \le i+j} \Phi_{ij}^{(0)}(t) a^{\dagger i} a^j.$$
(18)

Accordingly, the time evolution operator will be a product,

$$\mathcal{U}_I = \mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)} \mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(II)} \tag{19}$$

with $\mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)}$ such that

$$i\hbar\partial_t \mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)} = \mathcal{H}_{I_0}^{(I)} \mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)} \qquad \mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)}(t_0, t_0) = \mathcal{I},$$
 (20)

and $\mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(11)}$ an analogous solution for the effective Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_{I_1} = \mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)\dagger} \mathcal{H}_{I_0}^{(II)} \mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)}.$$
(21)

Due to the fact that the operators contained in $\mathcal{H}_{I_0}^{(I)}$ form a finite Lie algebra, the evolution operator $\mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)}$ can be expressed as a product of exponentials [7]

$$\mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)} = \prod_{0 \le i+j \le 2} e^{-\beta_{ij}^{(0)} a^{\dagger} a^{j}}$$
(22)

where the complex functions $\beta_{ij}^{(0)}(t)$ satisfy a set of coupled, first order differential equations which can be solved numerically. With this expression for $\mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)}$ we can construct the Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_{I_1} . It again comprises a part which forms a finite Lie algebra and a part which does not. The time evolution operator $\mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(II)}$ is then again written as the product of two evolution operators and we can proceed in a completely analogous manner as before. The evolution operator obtained after k-iterations \mathcal{U}_{I_k} would correspond to the product

$$\mathcal{U}_{I_k} = U_{I_0}^{(I)} \dots U_{I_k}^{(I)}.$$
(23)

To approximate \mathcal{U}_I by \mathcal{U}_{I_k} corresponds to neglect the Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}_{I_k}^{(II)}$ with respect to $\mathcal{H}_{I_k}^{(I)}$. We call this the time-dependent iterative Bogolubov transformation (TDITB) method in analogy with its quite efficient time-independent counterpart [8].

3 AN EXAMPLE

Let us consider, a colinear collision of an H_2 molecule with an H_e atom. For the H_2 molecule the parameters of the Morse potential are taken to be A = 0.183385 and D = 2.33509 so that comparison with the results of [2] can be done. To study how efficient is the TDITB method, consider first the H_2 molecule modeled by the *usual* harmonic oscillator. In Table I we show the transition probability from the ground to the first excited vibrational state for several values of the collision energy $E = NE_0$, $E_0 = \hbar\omega$ with ω as given by Secrest and Johnson [5] and for different levels of approximation [6].

TABLE I. Transition probabilities using a harmonic oscillator representing the diatomic molecule and one (P_{01}) or two (P_{02}) iterations for the time-dependent interaction. Results are shown for comparaison with the Basis Set (BS) and Exact Quantum Harmonic (UHA) of [5].

$E/\hbar\omega$	<i>P</i> ₀₁	P ₀₂	BS	UHA
4	9.20(-4)	9.73(-4)	9.84(-4)	7.20(-4)
6	3.50(-2)	3.76(-2)	3.89(-2)	2.95(-2)
8	1.38(-1)	1.47(-1)	1.55(-1)	1.33(-1)
10	2.61(-1)	2.73(-1)	2.87(-1)	2.92(-1)
12	3.45(-1)	3.49(-1)	3.59(-1)	4.28(-1)
16	3.44(-1)	3.29(-1)	2.96(-1)	4.07(-1)

The results obtained with a basis set expansion (BS) are *exact* numerical results within the semiclassical approximation. We also show in the table the exact quantum results of [5] (UHA). The transition probabilities using the TDITB method after one (P_{01}) or two transformations (P_{02}) are also reported. That is , P_{01} corresponds to approximating the time evolution operator in the interaction picture by

$$\mathcal{U}_I = \mathcal{U}_{I_0}$$

with \mathcal{U}_{I_0} the operator which evolves according to the Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}_{I_0}^{(I)}$. Meanwhile P_{02} corresponds to

$$\mathcal{U}_{I} = \mathcal{U}_{I_{0}}^{(I)} \mathcal{U}_{I_{1}}^{(I)}.$$
(24)

In the procedure for finding $\mathcal{U}_{I_0}^{(I)}$ and $\mathcal{U}_{I_1}^{(I)}$, up to quartic, $0 \leq i + j \leq 4$, terms were kept. Notice that for all the energies considered the transitions obtained after two transformations are closer to the (BS) results than those obtained after one transformation. We also see that if we compare our approximations with the exact quantum results (UHA) then for some energies the first iteration gives closer results than the second one. However this fact may be misleading since in our case the exact results are those obtained in the semiclassical approximation. Because the difference between the results obtained after two transformations and the exact ones is very small we did not pursue these transformations further. We believe that this example shows clearly that our method deals quite efficiently with the time-dependent anharmonicities.

Now, consider the H_2 molecule modeled by the alternative harmonic oscillator defined using the variationaly optimized displacement and scale parameters. In this case $d_0 = 0.17$ while α_0 differs from the usual α in less than two percent. In Table II, we show the results obtained for the transition probabilities from the lowest three states for several values of the collision energy. This table also shows the transition probabilities obtained numerically for the exact Morse potential (MP)[2] and the usual harmonic approximation (UHA)[5]. These results do not comprise the semiclassical approximation for the atom-molecule interaction and use is made of the full exponential function.

TABLE II. Transition probabilities using the modified harmonic oscillator for different energies and transitions. The upper value corresponds to Exact Quantum Morse Results (MP), the next corresponds to our's and the last to (UHA).

$\mathrm{E}/\hbar\omega$	• P(0-1)	P(1-2)	P(0-2)	P(1-3)	P(2-3)	P(0-3)
6	7.31(-3)	1.25(-3)	2.30(-6)			
	2.00(-2)	2.75(-4)	1.44(-6)			
	2.95(-2)	1.42(-3)	1.07(-5)			
10	7.39(-2)	8.15(-2)	1.66(-3)	1.22(-3)	5.47(-2)	1.17(-5)
	2.07(-1)	1.62(-1)	1.22(-2)	2.16(-3)	4.25(-2)	7.04(-5)
	2.92(-1)	2.17(-1)	2.25(-2)	5.39(-3)	7.70(-2)	2.31(-4)
16	2.45(-1)	3.18(-1)	3.38(-2)	5.72(-2)	3.34(-1)	2.72(-3)
	3.13(-1)	1.92(-1)	1.57(-1)	1.72(-1)	2.07(-1)	3.30(-2)
	4.07(-1)	1.56(-1)	3.30(-1)	2.85(-1)	1.89(-1)	9.88(-2)

We observe that our results are in general in better agreement with the exact quantal (MP) results than the (UHA). If we compare P_{02} in Table I with the corresponding results in Table II we see a large difference between them and this is due entirely to the slight change in frequency that we have done defining the frequency of the transformed oscillator. Though the difference in frequencies is rather small the differences in the values of the transition probabilities are rather large, for example, for a collision energy $E/\hbar\omega = 4$ we go from $P_{02} = 9.73 \times 10^{-4}$ to 2.51×10^{-4} which is very close to the (MP) value of 2.46×10^{-4} . This is an indication of the quality of the approximation made for the Morse oscillator.

Once we have constructed the matrix elements of the time evolution operator, we can calculate the survival probability, that is, the probability for the molecule to remain in the initial state. We have done that from a time long before the collision takes place up to a time where the collision is over.

We see that the collision lasts the order of 1.5 time units ($t_{col} \approx 3 \times 10^{-14}$ sec); the permanency probability is one long before the collision begins and starts to decrese around $t_0 = -0.75$ time units reaching an asymptotic value at approximately $t_{as} = 1$ time units. The frequency of the H_2 oscillator is $\omega_{H_2} = 8.054 \times 10^{14}$ /sec and the corresponding period is of the order of $T_{H_2} \approx 3/2t_{col}$ so that the molecule is able to make a couple of oscillations before the collision is over. From this figure it becomes evident why a perturbative treatment of the problem may lead to wrong results. Although the asymptotic transition probability may be small, in a short interval around t = 0 the state of the molecule highly differs from the initial state.

In the interaction picture, the creation-annihilation operators can be written in the form

$$a(t) = d_1(t)a^{\dagger} + d_2(t)a + d_3(t)$$

where $d_i(t)$ are functions of the time, and we have used the fact that the set of operators appearing in the time evolution operators is closed under the operation of commutation. We can now consider the time evolution of the expectation value of the momentum $\langle \mathbf{p} \rangle$, the coordinate $\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle$ and the dispersions Δx and Δp using the expressions for the momentum and the coordinate operators in terms of the creation-annihilation operators.



Figure 1: Time dependent survival probability for the ground state of an H_2 molecule colliding with a He atom for a collision energy $E = 4\hbar\omega$.

It can be seen in figure 2 that, when the atom is far apart from the molecule, the average value of the position operator in the ground state is zero as it should since we are dealing with an effective harmonic oscillator.

As the atom approaches the molecule, this one recedes, taking also negative values of the momentum, when $t \approx 0$ the momentum changes sign and the average value of the position initiates an increase towards the origin. Since the collision time is larger than the frequency of oscillation, the projectile is hit again and the oscillator's momentum changes sign, the position does not reach the origin and moves away from the origin. After that, the projectile leaves the range of the interaction and the molecule is left in an excited state as indicated by the oscillatory behavior of the position and momentum operators around the zero value.



Figure 2: Time evolution of the average values of \mathbf{P} (squares) and \mathbf{X} (continuous line) as the collision takes place.

Finally, in figure 3 we see that, since we begin with a minimum uncertainty state the dispersion in each coordinate is $\sqrt{1/2}$ and it remains being a minimum uncertainty state during the collision because we are dealing with an harmonic oscillator.

However, due to the time dependence of the parameters defining the oscillator, we can see that there is squeezing in the dispersions which become more pronounced as the energy increases. Notice that as the projectile approaches the molecule, the dispersion in the momentum decreases while that of the coordinate increases in such a way as to keep their product constant. The squeezing of the dispersion reaches its peak value at the time of the collision (t=0). The presence of squeezing is to be expected since the time dependence of the creation-annihilation operators which define our harmonic oscillator has the form of a generalized Bogoliubov transformation. Not long ago it was shown that states of light with nonclassical properties can be generated if the frequency of the harmonic oscillator is swept as a function of time [12]. In that work, the authors dealt with a simple time dependence for the frequency of the oscillator in order to obtain exact analytical results. As we have shown here, the presence of these nonclassical properties is due to the time dependence of the frequency irrespective of the functional form used to describe it.

4 CONCLUSIONS

In this work we have shown that a suitable harmonic approximation for the description of an anharmonic potential like, for instance, the Morse potential, can yield very good results when one is looking for properties like the transition probabilities between the vibrational states of the oscillator. We found that a slight change in the parameters defining the oscillator with respect to



Figure 3: Time evolution of the dispersion of the coordinate and momentum values for the ground state of the molecule during the collision for $E=4\hbar\omega$ (thin lines) and $E=12\hbar\omega$ (thik lines).

their original values, when no optimization is made, can have a great importance for the evaluation of transition probabilities. However, when we evaluate the dispersions and the average values of the position and momentum operators we get essentially the same results for the oscillator before and after the optimization, this leads us to believe that the non classical behavior that we have found, like the squeezing, is a property of the system and not of the particular model we are using for its description.

The method we have used can be taken as a starting point for more accurate calculations when anharmonic potentials are studied. Here, we are searching for the *best* harmonic potential to mimic the anharmonic one and at least part of the information coming from the anharmonic part of the potential is accounted for with the use of the generalized Bogoliubov transformations.

Acknowledgements

We aknowledge partial support from DGAPA-UNAM through project IN101491

References

- [1] M. S. Child, *Molecular Collision Theory* (Academic Press, London, 1974).
- [2] A. P. Clark, and A. S. Dickinson, J. Phys. B, 6, 164 (1973).
- [3] J. Récamier, D. A. Micha, and B. Gazdy, Chem. Phys. Lett. 119, 383 (1985);

- [4] R. Gilmore, and J. M. Yuan, J. Chem. Phys., 86, 130 (1987).
- [5] D. Secrest and B. R. Johnson, J. Chem. Phys. 45, 4556 (1966).
- [6] J. Récamier, and J. Ortega, Mol. Phys., 73, 635 (1991).
- [7] J. Wei and E. Norman, Proc. Am. Math. Soc., 15, 327 (1964).
- [8] R. Jáuregui and J. Récamier, Phys. Rev. A, 46, 2240 (1992).
- [9] H. K. Shin, Chem. Phys. Lett., 123, 507 (1986).
- [10] J. Récamier, A.I.P. Conference Proceedings, 225, 309 (1991).
- [11] D. Stoler, Phys. Rev. D 1, 3217 (1970); H. P. Yuen, Phys. Rev. A, 13, 2226 (1976).
- [12] G. S. Agarwal and S. Arun Kumar, Phys. Rev. Lett., 67, 3665 (1991).

4 02002 P 8 190511054S N95- 22965

71

QUANTUM FIELD BETWEEN MOVING MIRRORS: A THREE DIMENSIONAL EXAMPLE

S. Hacyan, <u>R. Jáuregui</u>, C. Villarreal Instituto de Física, U. N. A. M., Apdo. Postal 20-364, México D.F. 01000, México

Abstract

The scalar quantum field between uniformily moving plates in three dimensional space is studied. Field equations for Dirichlet boundary conditions are solved exactly. Comparison of the resulting wavefunctions with their instantaneous static counterpart is performed via Bogolubov coefficients. Unlike the one dimensional problem, "particle" creation as well as squeezing may occur. The time dependent Casimir energy is also evaluated.

1 Introduction.

During the last twenty five years, much effort has been devoted to the understanding of quantum phenomena in systems under the influence of external conditions. In particular, Moore [1] initiated the study of the quantization of the electromagnetic field in a cavity with perfectly reflecting movable boundaries. Nowadays, it is recognized that this kind of system has several interesting nonclassical properties. Among them, there is the possibility of producing a nonadiabatic distortion of vacuum state leading to a modification of the field (Casimir) energy [2], along with the "creation" of photons [3]. It is also possible to obtain nonclassical statistical properties of the photons inside such a cavity: squeezing [4] and nonthermal distributions [5] are expected.

In order to avoid technical complications, most investigations of the field between moving plates have been restricted to the one dimensional case. However, it is not obvious whether all the results can be extrapolated to the three dimensional space. In this article, we study the quantum mechanics of a scalar massless field propagating between two plates which approach or recede each other with constant speed. The main results which follow are that the boundary conditions on the moving plates produce squeezed states and a nonzero vacuum expectation value of the particle number operator. These effects vanish in the one dimensional case [6]. The nonstationary Casimir energy is also evaluated.

2 Quantum field between the plates

Consider two parallel plates which are moving with a constant relative velocity. The natural coordinates for this problem are

$$t = \tau \cosh \zeta, \quad z = \tau \sinh \zeta, \tag{1}$$

where z and t are the Minkowski coordinates. Taking $-\infty < \tau, \zeta < \infty$, the Milne coordinates cover the entire past and future quadrants of the (z, τ) plane.

The equation for a massless scalar field ψ is:

$$\Box \psi \equiv -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \left(\tau \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \psi \right) + \left[\frac{1}{\tau^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \zeta^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} \right] \psi = 0.$$
 (2)

Now, the world-line of each plate can be taken as $\zeta = \pm \zeta_0$, where ζ_0 is the speed of each plate as seen in their center of velocity frame. Dirichlet boundary conditions on the plates take the simple form $\psi(\pm \zeta_0) = 0$. (It is also straightforward to impose Neumann boundary conditions.) It will be convenient to normalize the field in a box with fixed walls with separation *a* and *b* in the *x* and *y* directions

The general solution of the wave equation with the above boundary conditions can be decomposed as the product of a function of ζ and τ , and a plane wave solution propagating in the $\mathbf{r} \equiv \{x, y\}$ plane with wave vector $\mathbf{k} \equiv \pi \{n_x/a, n_y/b\}$. Explicitly,

$$\psi_{n,\mathbf{k}} = N_{\psi} \sin(k_x x) \, \sin(k_y y) \sin\left[\nu(\zeta + \zeta_0)\right] H_{i\nu}^{(j)}(k\tau) \,, \tag{3}$$

where

$$N_{\psi^{\pm}} = \left(\frac{\pi}{ab\zeta_0}\right)^{1/2} e^{\pm\nu\pi/2} \,. \tag{4}$$

is a normalization factor, $H_{i\nu}^{(j)}$ are the standard Hankel functions (j = 1, 2), $k \equiv |\mathbf{k}|$, and we have defined $\nu \equiv n\pi/2\zeta_0$, *n* being a positive integer. In the future region, t > 0, $H_{i\nu}^{(2)}$ and $H_{i\nu}^{(1)}$ correspond to modes of positive and negative frequency respectively, while the opposite is true in the past region, t < 0 (see, e. g.: [7][8]). We will denote the positive (negative) frequency modes by ψ^+ (ψ^-).

At this point, we note that the field between plates separated a *fixed* distance L is given by

$$\phi_{n,\mathbf{k}} = N_{\phi} e^{i(\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} \sin\left[\frac{n\pi}{L}(z+L/2)\right],\tag{5}$$

where $\omega = [\mathbf{k}^2 + (n\pi/D)^2]^{1/2}$ and the normalization coefficient is now

$$N_{\phi} = \left(\frac{4}{\omega a b L}\right)^{1/2} \tag{6}$$

This coefficient follows from the scalar product in Minkowski coordinates:

$$(\phi_1, \phi_2)_{Ins} \equiv -i \int_{-L/2}^{L/2} dz \int dy \, dx (\phi_1^* \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial t} - \phi_2 \frac{\partial \phi_1^*}{\partial t}) , \qquad (7)$$

where the subindex Ins refers to the instantaneous frame: the integration is taken over the volume enclosed by the fixed box at an arbitrary time t.

Hereafter, the field modes between moving plates will be called dynamical modes, whereas the modes between fixed plates will be called instantaneous modes. The crucial point is that between moving plates, the positive frequency modes of the dynamical field are a sum of both positive and

negative frequency modes of the instantaneous field between fixed plates. In general, any field mode ϕ_n can be expanded in terms of ψ_m as

$$\psi_m = \sum_n \alpha_{mn} \phi_n + \sum_n \beta_{mn} \phi_n^* , \qquad (8)$$

where α_{mn} and β_{mn} are the Bogolubov coefficients, and the indices m and n describe the set of all parameters characterizing the modes. In the particular case we are interested in, take ϕ and ψ as the wave functions describing the fields between fixed and moving plates respectively. More precisely, consider a pair of plates of fixed separation $L = 2t \tanh \zeta_0$ which coincides instantaneously at Minkowski time t with a pair of plates moving with relative speed $v = \tanh(2\zeta_0)$ (Fig. 1). Now, the Bogolubov coefficients can be calculated taking the scalar product between the ψ_m and ϕ_n modes over the hypersurface t = const. between the plates, (Note that for definitiveness we are considering the future region t > 0 where the plates are separating but it is straighforward to adapt the analysis to the past region.) Thus,

$$\alpha_{m,n,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'} = (\phi_{n,\mathbf{k}}^+, \psi_{m,\mathbf{k}'}^+)_{Ins}$$
(9)

and

$$\beta_{m,n,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'} = (\phi_{n,\mathbf{k}}^-, \psi_{m,\mathbf{k}'}^+)_{Ins} \,. \tag{10}$$

The integration involved in Eqs. (9) and (10) is to be performed over the hypersurface t = const. bounded by the plates with separation $L = 2t \tanh \zeta_0$, with t interpreted as a parameter. At this point, we note that in any practical case, the velocities of the plates are non relativistic, that is $\zeta_0 \ll 1$. This permits to make a convenient approximation which, together with the change of variables $z = t \tanh \zeta$, simplifies Eq. (9) to the form:

$$\alpha_{m,n;\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'} \simeq i \frac{ab}{4} N_{\phi} N_{\psi} \delta_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} \delta_{m,n} \zeta_0 t \left[\frac{d}{dt} H_{i\nu}^{(2)}(kt) - i\omega H_{i\nu}^{(2)}(kt) \right]_{\iota} e^{i\omega t}$$
(11)

with an analogous equation for β . In this nonrelativistic approximation, it is very convenient to use the asymptotic forms of the Hankel functions which are valid for indices with large magnitudes[10]:

$$H_{i\nu}^{(2)}(kt) \simeq \sqrt{2/\pi} (\nu^2 + k^2 t^2)^{-1/4} \\ \exp\left[-\nu\pi/2 - i(\nu^2 + k^2 t^2)^{1/2} + i\nu \operatorname{Arsh}(\nu/kt) - i\pi/4\right].$$
(12)

It finally follows that the Bogolubov coefficients can be approximated as

$$\alpha_{m,n,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'} \simeq \delta_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} \,\delta_{m,n} \left[1 + \frac{-i(kt)^2}{4[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{3/2}} \right] e^{-\pi i/4 + i\nu \operatorname{Arsh}(\nu/kt)} \tag{13}$$

and

$$\beta_{m,n,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'} \simeq \delta_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} \,\delta_{m,n} \left[\frac{i(kt)^2}{4[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{3/2}} \right] e^{-\pi i/4 - 2i[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{1/2} + i\nu\operatorname{Arsh}(\nu/kt)}.$$
(14)

It is also worth mentioning that in the case when there are no plates, the β coefficient turns out to be null when evaluated as a scalar product over the entire $\tau = const$. hyperplane (the interested reader can check this point using the standard properties of the Hankel functions). This implies that the Milne vacuum is equivalent to the Minkowski vacuum (see ref.[8] for a discussion of this point).

However, unlike the one dimensional case, the coefficient β is not null when the field is rectricted between the moving plates; thus the Fock space defined by the dynamical modes $\{\psi_{n\mathbf{k}}\}$ is nontrivially related to the instantaneous Fock space specified by the fixed modes $\{\phi_{n\mathbf{k}}\}$. which, in principle, can be interpreted as the number of particles "created" by the motion of the plates; this point will be further discussed in the next section.

In particular, the dynamical vacuum state $|0\rangle_{Dyn}$ has a nonzero expectation value of the number of "instantaneous" particles. Thus, the dynamical vacuum is a nontrivial distortion of the instantaneous vacuum state $|0\rangle_{Ins}$. Explicitly, the "particle" number density is given by the distribution function

$$P_{\mathbf{k},n} = \sum_{\mathbf{k},n} |\beta_{\mathbf{k},n}|^2 = \frac{(kt)^4}{16[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^3},\tag{15}$$

Notice, however, that the real character of this particles is intrinsically related to its measurability.

The Bogolubov coefficients also relate coherent and squeezed sates. A state which is originally coherent according to a instantaneous configuration of the plates becomes a squeezed state with variances [2]:

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{x_i,x_j} \\ \sigma_{p_i,p_j} \end{cases} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{ij} + \operatorname{Re} \sum_{n} \left[\beta_{ni}^* \beta_{nj} \pm \frac{1}{2} (\alpha_{ni} \beta_{nj}^* + \alpha_{nj} \beta_{ni}^*) \right] \delta_{ij} ,$$

$$\sigma_{x_i,p_j} = \operatorname{Im} \sum_{n} \left[\beta_{ni}^* \beta_{nj} + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha_{ni} \beta_{nj}^* + \alpha_{nj} \beta_{ni}^*) \right] .$$
(16)

and

In our problem i denotes the set of variables \mathbf{k}, n . So that,

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{x_i,x_j} \\ \sigma_{p_i,p_j} \end{cases} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{ij} + \delta_{ij} \frac{(kt)^4}{16[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^3} \{ 1 \mp \cos(2[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{1/2}) \} \\ \pm \delta_{ij} \frac{(kt)^2}{4[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{3/2}} \sin(2[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{1/2}) \end{cases}$$
(17)

and

$$\sigma_{x_i,p_j} = - \delta_{ij} \frac{(kt)^4}{16[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^3} \sin(2[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{1/2}) - \delta_{ij} \frac{(kt)^2}{4[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{3/2}} \cos(2[\nu^2 + (kt)^2]^{1/2}).$$
(18)

Thus, the squeezed ellipse in phase space rotates with its ellipticity vanishing as an inverse power of time.

3 Casimir effect

Boundary conditions in any given system may alter its ground state. A well known example in quantum field theory is Casimir effect, i.e., the attractive force between two infinite conducting

plates in otherwise empty space. A direct consequence of the existence of Casimir forces is that mantaining even uniform relative motion of a pair of conducting plates requires external forces. It is also expected that the Casimir energy for nonstationary boundaries differs from the stationary case. In fact, one could think that the creation of particles with distribution (4.3) or the squeezing (4.5) of originally coherent states take place at the expense of the Casimir energy between the plates [2]. Notice, however, that such an interpretation is not obvious because the distribution of particles (4.3) diverges when integrated over all momenta. This is a consequence of dealing with idealized conducting plates.

The energy density for our nonstationary problem is given by [11]

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^\infty d\omega \omega^2 [\tilde{D}^+(\omega,\tau) + \tilde{D}^-(\omega,\tau)]$$
(19)

where \tilde{D}^{\pm} denotes the Fourier transform of Wightman D^{\pm} functions:

$$\tilde{D}^{\pm}(\omega,\tau) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\sigma e^{i\omega\sigma} D^{\pm}(\tau + \frac{1}{2}\sigma,\tau - \frac{1}{2}\sigma)$$
(20)

$$D^{\pm}(\tau + \frac{1}{2}\sigma, \tau - \frac{1}{2}\sigma) =_{Dyn} < 0|\psi(\tau \pm \frac{1}{2}\sigma, x, y, \zeta)\psi(\tau \mp \frac{1}{2}\sigma, x, y, \zeta)|0>_{Dyn}$$
(21)

The free Wightman function in Milne coordinates is given by

11

$$D_F^{\pm}(x,x') = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \frac{1}{-\tau^2 - \tau'^2 + 2\tau\tau'\cosh(\zeta \pm \zeta') + (y-y')^2 + (x-x')^2}$$
(22)

The boundary conditions in our problem can be easily imposed by image method. So that, for two infinite plates

$$D^{\pm}(x,x') = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{-\tau^2 - \tau'^2 + 2\tau\tau' \cosh(\zeta \pm \zeta' - 4\zeta_0 n) + (y-y')^2 + (x-x')^2}$$
(23)

The energy of the field between plates per unit area is

$$E = \frac{1}{ab} \int_{-\zeta_0}^{\zeta_0} d\zeta \ \tau \ \epsilon \tag{24}$$

When performing the ζ integration two different contributions in the energy density arise. The first one has terms independent of the ζ_0 value. It is formed by the D^+ term and by the zero mode term of D^- . The Fourier transform of the latter is the well known $\omega/2$ which gives rise to infinite vacuum expectation value in free space. The second kind of terms correspond to the Casimir energy per unit area, which is explicitly given by

$$E_C = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \frac{\zeta_0}{(2\tau)^3} \left[\sum_n \frac{1}{sh^4(2n\zeta_0)} + \sum_n \frac{1}{sh^2(2n\zeta_0)} \right].$$
 (25)

In the nonrelativistic limit:

$$E_C \simeq -\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \frac{\zeta_0}{(2\tau)^3} \left[\sum_n \frac{1}{(2\zeta_0 n)^4} + \sum_n \frac{1}{(2\zeta_0 n)^2} \right].$$
 (26)

and the instantaneous separation of the plates is

$$L \simeq 2\tau\zeta_0 - \frac{1}{3}\tau\zeta_0^3 \tag{27}$$

Thus, we recover the static Casimir energy and find the first order correction due to the movement of the plates.

4 Concluding remarks

From the results obtained above, it is clear that the three dimensional case contains many features which are not present in one dimension. Roughly speaking, the one dimensional case corresponds to the limit k = 0 of our formulas, that is, when there are no modes propagating parallel to the plates.

The first thing to notice is that there is a squeezing of quantum states between the moving plates, although with peculiar oscillating variances.

The other important result concerns the possibility of creating "photons". If one believes the standard interpretation of particle number (see, e. g. [3]), the motion of the plates creates new particles with a distribution function given by Eq. (4.3). This interpretation is *qualitatively* consistent with the change in Casimir energy due to the movement of the plates. In fact, whether real particles are created is a question which can be settled only when an operational definition of particle is given, for instance in terms of the interaction of the field with a well defined detector, e.g. an atom.

The results presented here are still preliminary since we have analized only a scalar field. The case of an electromagnetic field will be studied in a forthcoming publication. We expect that by considering a more realistic field, several problems will become clearer. Among them, the detectability of "created" particles by an incoming atom originally in an ordinary stationary state. In any case, the problem seems to be sufficiently rich to deserve further considerations.

References

- [1] G.T. Moore, J. Math. Phys. **11**,2979 (1970).
- [2] V. I. Man'ko, Symmetries in Physics, A. Frank and K.B. Wolf Editors, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992, p. 311.
- [3] N. Birrel and P. Davies, *Quantum Fields in Curved Space*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 1982.
- [4] V. V. Dodonov, A. B. Klimov and V.I. Man'ko, Phys. Lett. A 149, 225 (1990); J. Sov. Laser Research 12,439 (1991).
- [5] S.Sarkar, J. Phys. A21,971 (1988).
- [6] R. I. Baranov, Yu M. Shirokov, Soviet Phys. JETP 26 1199 (1968); S. A. Fulling and P. C. W. Davies Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 348,393 (1976).

- [7] A. di Sessa, J. Math. Phys. 15,1892 (1974); Padmanabhan, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64,2471 (1990).
- [8] R. C. Arcuri, B. F. Svaiter and N. F. Svaiter, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 9,19 (1994).
- [9] S. Hacyan, R. Jauregui, F. Soto and C. Villarreal J. Math. Phys. A 23, 2401 (1990).
- [10] W. A. Watson, A treatise on the Theory of Bessel Functions, 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 1944.
- [11] S. Hacyan, A. Sarmiento, G. Cocho and F. Soto, Phys. Rev. D32,914 (1985).

.

1995-116549 402017 14 P N95-22966

72

Coherent State Constructions of Bases for Some Physically Relevant Group Chains:

K. T. Hecht **Physics** Department University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109

Abstract

Rotor coherent state constructions are given for the Wigner supermultiplet $SU(4) \supset$ SU(2)xSU(2) and for the special irreducible representations [N0] of the $SO(5) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2)$ group chain in exact parallel with the rotor coherent state construction for the SU(3) $SO(3) \supset SO(2)$ case given by Rowe, LeBlanc, and Repka. Matrix elements of the coherent state realizations of the group generators are given in all cases by very simple expressions in terms of angular momentum Wigner coefficients involving intrinsic projection labels K. The \mathcal{K} -matrix technique of vector coherent state theory is used to effectively elevate these K labels to the status of good quantum numbers. Analytic expressions are given for the $(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})$ -matrices for many of the more important irreducible representations.

69

1 Introduction

In the past few years two types of coherent state constructions have been widely used to give very explicit matrix representations of many higher rank symmetry groups. In both, the irreducible representations of a larger group are constructed by an induction process from the irreducible representations of a simpler subgroup, hopefully with completely known Wigner-Racah calculus. In the more widely used first type of vector coherent state construction, [1], [2], [3], state vectors are mapped onto states of a multi-dimensional harmonic oscillator through a set of Bargmann variables, z. This VCS construction has been widely used for many of the mathematically natural group chains such as $U(n) \supset U(n-1) \times U(1) \supset U(n-2) \times U(1) \supset \ldots$ for which the subgroup chain gives a complete labelling of the state vectors. In the more recent second type of coherent state construction rotor expansions are used which are particularly effective for many of the physically relevant group chains for which an SO(3) or SU(2) subgroup related to a physically meaningful angular momentum is the important subgroup in the group chain.

In this talk I want to focus on three group chains with particular relevance for nuclear structure problems: 1) The SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) chain of the 3-dimensional harmonic oscillator of the nuclear shell model with good orbital angular momentum; 2) The SU(4) \supset SU(2) x SU(2) Wigner supermultiplet with good spin and isospin needed to complement the orbital functions of 1); and finally, the SO(5) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) chain needed e.g. for the 5-dimensional harmonic oscillator of the quadrupole phonon states of the Bohr-Mottelson collective model or for two of the important symmetry group chains of the interacting boson model of Iachello and Arima, [4]. Like all physically relevant group chains, all three suffer from a missing label problem. For all of them many solutions have been proposed for this problem, some of them highly practical, others quite elegant or numerically feasible; see e.g. the pioneering work of Moskinsky [5], [6], [7]. It is the purpose of this presentation to try to convince you that the new rotor coherent state constructions give a very elegant yet also very systematic and practical solution to the missing label problem. Moreover the solution is essentially exactly the same for all three examples.

2 The Rotor Coherent State Expansion for the $SU(3) \supset SO(3)$ Case

For the SU(3) scheme in a basis of good orbital angular momentum a coherent state rotor expansion has recently been given by Rowe, LeBlanc, and Repka, [8]. This construction is closely parallel to the seminal work of Elliott [9], [10], [11] in which an angular momentum projection label, K, the projection of the orbital angular momentum onto an intrinsic or body-fixed z'-axis is used in place of the missing quantum number in the SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) scheme. Only a brief synopsis of this work will be given, the details of the derivations being reserved for the second example.

In the rotor coherent state construction for SU(3) an arbitrary state vector, $|\Psi\rangle$, is transformed into its coherent state wave function, $\Psi(\Omega)$,

$$\Psi(\Omega) = \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | R(\Omega) | \Psi \rangle \tag{1}$$

where $|\phi_{(\lambda\mu)}\rangle$ is the highest weight state in the SU(3) \supset SU(2) x U(1) scheme. Here R(Ω) is a

standard rotation operator

$$R(\Omega) = e^{i\alpha L_x} e^{i\beta L_y} e^{i\gamma L_x}$$
(2)

where α , β , γ are Euler angles, L_i are space-fixed components of the orbital angular momentum operator, and where the scalar product is defined in terms of the standard angular measure

$$\int d\Omega = \int \int \int d\alpha \sin\beta d\beta d\gamma \tag{3}$$

(Note, however, that the conventions for the $R(\Omega)$ of ref [8] are somewhat different from the most widely used nuclear physics conventions [12].) If $|\Psi\rangle$ is expanded in angular momentum eigenvectors $|\nu;LM\rangle$, where ν is shorthand for all additional quantum numbers, these angular momentum base vectors are mapped into their coherent state realizations

$$\Psi_{\nu;LM}(\Omega) = \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | R(\Omega) | \nu; LM \rangle$$

= $\sum_{K} \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | \nu; LK \rangle D^{L}_{KM}(\Omega)$
= $\sum_{K} c_{K} \sqrt{\frac{2L+1}{8\pi^{2}}} D^{L}_{KM}(\Omega).$ (4)

That is, angular momentum eigenstates are mapped into a basis of (normalized) D-functions which form a simple orthonormal set with respect to the rotational measure of eq. (3). The symmetries of the c_K are such that the symmetrized, orthonormal rotor basis

$$\sqrt{\frac{(2L+1)}{16\pi^2(1+\delta_{K0})}} \{ D_{KM}^L(\Omega) + (-1)^{\lambda+\mu+L} D_{-KM}^L(\Omega) \}$$
(5)

is most convenient. Operators, O, are then mapped into their coherent state realizations, $\Gamma(O)$, through

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{O})\Psi(\Omega) = \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | R(\Omega) \mathbf{O} | \Psi \rangle.$$
(6)

It will of course be convenient to express all operators in terms of spherical tensors of rank, r, such that

$$\Gamma(O_m^r)\Psi(\Omega) = \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | R(\Omega) O_m^r | \Psi \rangle$$

= $\langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | R(\Omega) O_m^r R(\Omega)^{-1} R(\Omega) | \Psi \rangle$
= $\sum_k D_{km}^r(\Omega) \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | O_k^r R(\Omega) | \Psi \rangle.$ (7)

The SU(3) group generators are the 3 components of the orbital angular momentum operators, L_m^1 , and the 5 components of the Elliott ($\lambda\mu$ -preserving) quadrupole operator, Q_m^2 . The rotor realizations $\Gamma(L_m^1)$ are given in terms of their usual Euler angle realizations

$$\Gamma(L_0) = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma}, \qquad \Gamma(L_{\pm}) = e^{\pm i\gamma} \{ i \cot \beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma} \pm \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta} \}, \tag{8}$$

where $\Gamma(L_0)$ has eigenvalue M, while $\Gamma(L_+)$, $(\Gamma(L_-))$ are standard M-raising, (lowering) operators. Eq. (7) shows that we need both the standard (right-action) rotor realizations of operators, O_m^r , as well as their left-action version which will be denoted by a $\overline{\Gamma}$,

$$\Gamma(O_k^r)\Psi(\Omega) = \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | O_k^r R(\Omega) | \Psi \rangle.$$
(9)

The latter can be evaluated from the left action of the operator on the SU(3) highest weight state. For the angular momentum generators

$$\bar{\Gamma}(L_k^1)\Psi_{\nu;LM}(\Omega) = \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | L_k^1 R(\Omega) | \nu; LM \rangle$$

$$= \sum_K D_{KM}^L(\Omega) \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | L_k^1 | \nu; LK \rangle$$

$$= \sum_K D_{KM}^L(\Omega) \sqrt{L(L+1)} \langle LK1k | L(K+k) \rangle \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | \nu; L(K+k) \rangle$$

$$= \sum_K D_{(K-k)M}^L(\Omega) \sqrt{L(L+1)} \langle L(K-k)1k | LK \rangle \langle \phi_{(\lambda\mu)} | \nu; LK \rangle,$$
(10)

so that $\overline{\Gamma}(L_+)$, $(\overline{\Gamma}(L_-))$ are now K-lowering, (raising) operators, a well known property of the intrinsic (body-fixed) components of angular momentum operators. The $\overline{\Gamma}(L_k)$ can therefore be given in terms of their Euler angle realizations through the well known rotor expressions for intrinsic components,

$$\bar{\Gamma}(L_0) = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha}; \qquad \bar{\Gamma}(L_{\pm}) = e^{\pm i\alpha} \{ \frac{i}{\sin\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma} - i \cot\beta \frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha} \pm \frac{\partial}{\partial\beta} \}; \tag{11}$$

where $\overline{\Gamma}(L_0)$ has the simple eigenvalue K. The coherent state realizations of the quadrupole operator as given by Rowe, LeBlanc, and Repka [4] are

$$\Gamma(Q_m^2) = (2\lambda + \mu + 3)D_{0m}^2(\Omega) - \frac{1}{2}[\mathbf{L}^2, D_{0m}^2(\Omega)] + \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \{D_{2m}^2(\Omega)(\mu - \bar{\Gamma}(L_0)) + D_{-2m}^2(\Omega)(\mu + \bar{\Gamma}(L_0))\},$$
(12)

i.e., these are expressed in terms of the very simple operators, \mathbf{L}^2 , $\overline{\Gamma}(L_0)$, and simple D-functions. The well-known matrix elements of these D-functions in the orthonormal rotor basis of eq. (5) at once lead to the (standard) angular-momentum reduced matrix elements

$$\langle K; L'||\Gamma(Q^2)||K; L\rangle = \sqrt{(2L+1)} \{ \langle LK20|L'K\rangle [(2\lambda + \mu + 3) -\frac{1}{2}L'(L'+1) + \frac{1}{2}L(L+1)] + \delta_{K1} \langle L12 - 2|L'1\rangle \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}(-1)^{L+\lambda+1}(\mu+1), \}$$
(13)

$$\langle (K \pm 2); L' || \Gamma(Q^2) || K; L \rangle = \sqrt{(2L+1)} \langle LK2 \pm 2 | L'(K \pm 2) \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} (\mu \mp K) \sigma_{KK'}, \tag{14}$$

with $\sigma_{KK'} = \sqrt{2}$ for either K or K' = 0, and $\sigma_{KK'} = 1$ otherwise. The simplicity of this result is negated partly by the fact that the $\Gamma(Q_m^2)$ are nonunitary realizations of these operators. In order to translate the above nonhermitian matrix elements into the hermitian matrix elements of Q_m^2 in ordinary Hilbert space, the nonunitary realizations, $\Gamma(\mathbf{O})$, of coherent state constructions is converted to a unitary realization $\gamma(\mathbf{O})$ via the \mathcal{K} -operator equation

$$\gamma(\mathbf{O}) = \mathcal{K}^{-1} \Gamma(\mathbf{O}) \mathcal{K}.$$
 (15)

Matrix elements of the \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{K}^{-1} operators can then be used to convert the nonhermitian matrix elements of $\Gamma(\mathbf{O})$ to hermitian form $\gamma(\mathbf{O})$ and hence directly to hermitian form in ordinary Hilbert space. Thus

$$\langle \nu'; L' ||Q^2||\nu; L \rangle = \sum_{K,K'} (\mathcal{K}^{-1}(L'))_{\nu'K'} \langle K'; L' ||\Gamma(Q^2)||K; L \rangle (\mathcal{K}(L))_{K\nu}$$
(16)



where the new quantum numbers, ν , are defined through the eigenvalues of the hermitian matrix (\mathcal{KK}^{\dagger}) which can be calculated in coherent state theory by simple recursion techniques through the known matrix elements of the group generators $\Gamma(Q^2)$. The $(\mathcal{KK}^{\dagger})_{KK'}$ matrix elements, moreover, can be given in simple analytic form [13] as functions of λ, μ , and L. As a simple example, the (\mathcal{KK}^{\dagger}) matrix for the irreducible representations $(\lambda 2)$ with λ -L = even is 2-dimensional, with K=2 or 0, in the basis of eq. (5), with

$$(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})_{22} = \frac{1}{2}[2(\lambda+3)^2 - L(L+1)]C$$

$$(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})_{00} = [2(\lambda+2)^2 - L(L+1)]C$$

$$(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})_{20} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}(L-1)L(L+1)(L+2)}C,$$
(17)

with

$$C = N/(\lambda + 2 - L)!!(\lambda + L + 3)!!,$$
(18)

with

$$N = \frac{(\lambda - 1)!!(\lambda + 4)!!}{2(\lambda + 3)} \quad for \quad \lambda = odd; \quad N = \frac{\lambda!!(\lambda + 3)!!}{2(\lambda + 2)} \quad for \quad \lambda = even, \quad (19)$$

where $\lambda !! = \lambda$ (λ -2) ... 2 (or 1). The ($\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}$)-matrix can be converted into the needed matrix elements of \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{K}^{-1} through the unitary matrix, U, which diagonalizes the hermitian matrix $\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}$

$$(U(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})U^{\dagger})_{\nu'\nu} = \Lambda_{\nu}\delta_{\nu'\nu}$$
⁽²⁰⁾

with

$$(\mathcal{K})_{K\nu} = U_{K\nu}^{\dagger} \sqrt{\Lambda_{\nu}}; \qquad (\mathcal{K}^{-1})_{\nu K} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Lambda_{\nu}}} U_{\nu K}$$
(21)

defined for all states ν with non zero eigenvalue, Λ_{ν} . Note, that a zero eigenvalue Λ_{ν} signals a forbidden state. The matrix of eq. (17), e.g., has one zero eigenvalue for $L = \lambda + 2$; so that there is but a single allowed state for this maximum L-value. For $L > (\lambda+2)$ the matrix elements of $\Gamma(Q^2)$ insure that all matrix elements of \mathcal{KK}^{\dagger} are zero. The \mathcal{K} -matrix technique of coherent state theory thus effectively converts the Elliott K-projection label to the status of a good quantum number.

It should, however, be stressed that the coherent state construction outlined here is very closely related to the Elliott angular momentum projection technique [10]. The matrix elements of Q_m^2 in the form of eqs. 13) and 14) have essentially been given by Elliott in ref. [10]. Except for an overall normalization, (see eq. (19), which is related to the fact that the 1-dimensional (\mathcal{KK}^{\dagger}) for the minimum L-value of 0 (or 1) is chosen to be unity in the coherent state construction), the (\mathcal{KK}^{\dagger}) -matrix elements are given by the overlap matrix of Elliott (see e.g., eq. (A.3) for A(KLK')of ref. [11]; and the specific analytic functions given by Vergados for the lower μ -values in table 2A of ref. [14]).

What then are the advantages of the coherent state rotor construction? By mapping the SU(3) angular momentum eigenstates onto the orthonormal basis, eq. (5), of the rotor expansion the construction of matrix elements is split into two clearly separated simple steps: In step 1, matrix elements of $\Gamma(\mathbf{O})$ are given very simply in the orthonormal rotor basis where K defines the

orthonormal states. In step 2, which is the unitarization process, K is converted to the quantum number ν in ordinary Hilbert space. By relating ν to the non-zero eigenvalues of $(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})$ an essentially author-independent choice can be made for the quantum number ν . Although some numerical work is required in the determination of the U-matrix elements which diagonalize the multi-dimensional $(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})$ -matrices; no arbitrary choices are made in a Gram-Schmidt orthonormalization process, as in the Vergados basis [14], which is an attempt to make the Hilbert space quantum number, (the κ of ref. ([14]), as close as possible to the Elliott projection label K. (In this connection, it is interesting to note that both κ and ν tend to pure K-values in the limit λ >> L as a glance at the special example of eq. (17) will verify.

3 A Double Rotor Coherent State Expansion for the Wigner Supermultiplet $SU(4) \supset SU(2) \ge SU(2)$.

A complete labelling scheme for the Wigner supermultiplet has been achieved by Draayer [15] who used the Elliott angular momentum projection technique to augment the spin and isospin quantum numbers (SM_S) , (TM_T) with the projection labels K_S and K_T . In order to calculate the generator matrix elements and SU(4) reduced Wigner coefficients in this fully labelled but nonorthogonal basis, however, Draayer first calculates the transformation coefficients to the canonical fully specified orthonormal $U(4) \supset U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1)$ basis, leading to a somewhat laborious calculational algorithm. This example therefore will fully illustrate the power of the rotor coherent state construction which leads in a very simple and direct way to the desired results.

The supermultiplet scheme is based on the four spin-charge states of a single nucleon, $|m_s m_t\rangle$, with nucleon, $|m_s m_t \rangle$, with

$$\begin{aligned} |a\rangle &= |+\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} >, \qquad |b\rangle = |-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} >, \\ |c\rangle &= |+\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} >, \qquad |d\rangle = |-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} >. \end{aligned}$$
(22)

To gain the most convenient double rotor expansion it will be useful to define the basis states $|i\rangle$, i = 1, ..., 4, by

$$|a\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|1\rangle + |2\rangle), \qquad |b\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(-|1\rangle + |2\rangle),$$

$$|c\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|3\rangle + |4\rangle), \qquad |d\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(-|3\rangle + |4\rangle), \qquad (23)$$

and define the 15 supermultiplet generators [17], S,T, and $\mathbf{E} = \sigma \tau$ in terms of U(4) generators, C_{ij} ,

$$C_{ij} = \sum_{\alpha} a^{\dagger}_{\alpha i} a_{\alpha j}, \qquad i, j = 1, \dots, 4$$
(24)

where i, j give the spin, isospin quantum numbers and α stands for all additional (orbital) quantum numbers needed to specify the single nucleon creation and annihilation operators. In terms of the C_{ij} the generators are

$$S_0 = \frac{1}{2}(C_{12} + C_{21} + C_{34} + C_{43})$$

$$S_{+} = \frac{1}{2}(-C_{13} - C_{23} + C_{14} + C_{24} - C_{31} + C_{32} - C_{41} + C_{42})$$

$$S_{-} = \frac{1}{2}(-C_{31} - C_{32} + C_{41} + C_{42} - C_{13} + C_{23} - C_{14} + C_{24})$$

$$T_{0} = \frac{1}{2}(C_{12} + C_{21} - C_{34} - C_{43})$$

$$T_{+} = \frac{1}{2}(C_{13} + C_{23} + C_{14} + C_{24} + C_{31} - C_{32} - C_{41} + C_{42})$$

$$T_{-} = \frac{1}{2}(C_{31} + C_{32} + C_{41} + C_{42} + C_{13} - C_{23} - C_{14} + C_{24})$$

$$E_{00} = \frac{1}{2}(C_{11} + C_{22} - C_{33} - C_{44})$$

$$E_{10} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(C_{13} + C_{23} - C_{14} - C_{24} - C_{31} + C_{32} - C_{41} + C_{42}),$$

$$E_{-10} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(-C_{13} - C_{32} + C_{41} + C_{42} + C_{13} - C_{23} + C_{14} - C_{24}),$$

$$E_{01} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(-C_{13} - C_{23} - C_{14} - C_{24} + C_{31} - C_{32} + C_{42} - C_{41}),$$

$$E_{01} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(C_{31} + C_{32} + C_{41} + C_{42} - C_{13} + C_{23} - C_{24} + C_{14}),$$

$$E_{11} = \frac{1}{2}(-C_{11} + C_{22} + C_{12} - C_{21}),$$

$$E_{-1-1} = \frac{1}{2}(-C_{11} + C_{22} - C_{12} + C_{21}),$$

$$E_{1-1} = \frac{1}{2}(C_{33} - C_{44} - C_{34} + C_{43}),$$

$$E_{-11} = \frac{1}{2}(C_{33} - C_{44} + C_{34} - C_{43}).$$
(25)

The SU(4) irreducible representations are labelled by 4-rowed Young tableaux partition labels $[f_1, f_2, f_3, f_4]$, by the SU(4) labels $\{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3\}$, or by the Wigner supermultiplet (or standard Cartan SO(6) labels (P, P', P")), with

$$\lambda_{1} = f_{1} - f_{2}, \quad \lambda_{2} = f_{2} - f_{3}, \quad \lambda_{3} = f_{3} - f_{4}, P = \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_{1} + 2\lambda_{2} + \lambda_{3}), \quad P' = \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{3}), \quad P'' = \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{3}).$$
(26)

These characterize the highest weight state $|\phi\rangle$ with

$$C_{ij}|\phi\rangle = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i < j$$

$$C_{11}|\phi\rangle = (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3)|\phi\rangle, \qquad C_{22}|\phi\rangle = (\lambda_2 + \lambda_3)|\phi\rangle,$$

$$C_{33}|\phi\rangle = \lambda_3|\phi\rangle, \qquad C_{44}|\phi\rangle = 0.$$
(27)

The double rotor expansion uses the double rotation operator $R(\Omega) \equiv R(\Omega_S)R(\Omega_T)$, with Euler angles $\alpha_S, \beta_S, \gamma_S \equiv \Omega_S$ and $\alpha_T, \beta_T, \gamma_T \equiv \Omega_T$ in the spin and isospin space. Draayer [15] has shown that the set of states, $\{R(\Omega) | \phi \rangle\}$, obtained by rotation of the highest weight state through all possible angles $\alpha_S, \ldots, \gamma_T$ span the full SU(4) space. Arbitrary state vectors $|\Psi\rangle$ in this space are now tranformed into their coherent state realizations with coherent state wave function

$$\Psi(\Omega) = \langle \phi | R(\Omega) | \Psi \rangle. \tag{28}$$

A state $|\alpha SM_STM_T\rangle$ with definite spin and isospin quantum numbers is represented by

$$\Psi_{\alpha SM_STM_T}(\Omega) = \langle \phi | R(\Omega) | \alpha SM_STM_T \rangle = \sum_{K_S, K_T} \langle \phi | \alpha SK_STK_T \rangle D^S_{K_SM_S}(\Omega_S) D^T_{K_TM_T}(\Omega_T).$$
(29)

Draayer [15] has shown that the SU(4) irreducible representations $[f_1, f_2, f_3, f_4] \equiv \{\lambda_1 \lambda_2 \lambda_3\}$ are spanned by the double rotor wave functions with K_S, K_T -values restricted by

$$(K_S + K_T) = \pm \lambda_1, \pm (\lambda_1 - 2), \pm (\lambda_1 - 4), \dots, 0 (or \pm 1), (K_S - K_T) = \pm \lambda_3, \pm (\lambda_3 - 2), \pm (\lambda_3 - 4), \dots, 0 (or \pm 1).$$
 (30)

Again, it will be useful to introduce symmetrized combinations of the D-functions. The double rotor coherent state wave functions are then spanned by the symmetrized (normalized) double rotor functions

$$\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{(2S+1)(2T+1)}{2(1+\delta_{K_{S}0}\delta_{K_{T}0})} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \{ D_{K_{S}M_{S}}^{S}(\Omega_{S}) D_{K_{T}M_{T}}^{T}(\Omega_{T}) + (-1)^{\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3}+S+T} D_{-K_{S}M_{S}}^{S}(\Omega_{S}) D_{-K_{T}M_{T}}^{T}(\Omega_{T}) \},$$
(31)

and it will therefore be sufficient to choose $K_S \ge 0$, and for $K_S = 0$: $K_T \ge 0$. The requirement $S \ge 0$ $|K_S|, T \geq |K_T|$ together with the structure of the \mathcal{KK}^{\dagger} -matrices will determine the multiplicity of a given S, T value. For states with low values of S + T, for which the eigenvalues of \mathcal{KK}^{\dagger} are all nonzero (no redundant states), the number of occurrences of a given S, T will be determined by the number of possible K_S, K_T combinations. States with the maximum possible value of $S + T = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3 = f_1 - f_4$, and with $S(\text{or } T) \ge \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_1 + \lambda_3)$, always have an occurrence of 1. For these S, T-values the $\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}$ matrix always has only a single nonzero eigenvalue giving only a single nonredundant or physically allowed state. In general, the states with $S + T \ge \lambda_2 + 2$ will have $\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}$ -matrices with some zero eigenvalues and hence some physically forbidden states. Table 1 gives a specific example, the possible S, T-values for the irreducible representation [8620] with $\{\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3\} = \{242\}$. In this case there are five possible symmetrized states of the type of eq. (31), with $K_S K_T = 20, 11, 1 - 1, 02$, and 00. Note that states with $K_S K_T = 00$ must have S + T =even since $\lambda_2 + \lambda_3 =$ even. States with both S and $T \geq 2$ can thus have a 5-fold occurrence for S + T = even and a 4-fold occurrence for S + T = odd. The maximum S + T-value is 8 in this case. States with S + T = 8, $S(\text{or } T) \ge 2$, are all single as indicated in the first column of the table. The $\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}$ -matrix for this case has four eigenvalues of 0. In addition, it can be shown that the $\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}$ -matrices for states with S + T = 7 have two eigenvalues of 0, thus reducing the possible number of physical states by two, while states with S + T = 6 lead to \mathcal{KK}^{\dagger} -matrices with one eigenvalue of 0 reducing the possible number of physical states by one.

In the VCS rotor expansion operators, \mathbf{O} , are transformed into their VCS realizations, $\Gamma(\mathbf{O})$, through $\mathbf{O}|\Psi\rangle \rightarrow \Gamma(\mathbf{O})\Psi(\Omega)$, with (cf. eq. (6)),

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{O})\Psi(\Omega) = \langle \phi | R(\Omega)\mathbf{O} | \Psi \rangle. \tag{32}$$

The SU(4) generators, $\mathbf{O} = \mathbf{S}$, \mathbf{T} , \mathbf{E} are again of greatest interest. Again, both the left and right realizations of \mathbf{S} and \mathbf{T} can be expressed in terms of the Euler angles α_S , β_S , γ_S and α_T , β_T , γ_T as in eqs. (8) and (11). Now $\Gamma(S_0)$ has the simple eigenvalue M_S whereas $\overline{\Gamma}(S_0)$ has eigenvalue K_S ; while $\Gamma(S_+)$, ($\Gamma(S_-)$) are M_S -raising, (lowering) operators, whereas $\overline{\Gamma}(S_+)$, ($\overline{\Gamma}(S_-)$) are K_S -lowering, (raising) operators; with similar properties for the $\Gamma(\mathbf{T})$ and $\overline{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T})$. The generators E can be transformed into left-action operators via

$$\Gamma(E_{m_{S}m_{T}})\Psi(\Omega) = \langle \phi | R(\Omega) E_{m_{S}m_{T}} | \Psi \rangle$$

$$= \langle \phi | (R(\Omega) E_{m_{S}m_{T}} R^{-1}(\Omega)) R(\Omega) | \Psi \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{k_{S}k_{T}} \langle \phi | E_{k_{S}k_{T}} R(\Omega) | \Psi \rangle D^{1}_{k_{S}m_{S}}(\Omega_{S}) D^{1}_{k_{T}m_{T}}(\Omega_{T}).$$
(33)

Using the properties of the highest weight state, eq. (27), and the specific expressions of the generators, eqs. (25), it can be seen that

$$\langle \phi | E_{00} = \frac{1}{2} (\lambda_1 + 2\lambda_2 + \lambda_3) \langle \phi |, \langle \phi | E_{\pm 10} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \langle \phi | S_{\pm}, \qquad \langle \phi | E_{0\pm 1} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \langle \phi | T_{\pm}, \langle \phi | E_{\pm 1\pm 1} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \phi | (-\lambda_1 \pm S_0 \pm T_0), \qquad \langle \phi | E_{\pm 1\mp 1} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \phi | (\lambda_3 \mp S_0 \pm T_0)).$$
 (34)

At this stage the usefulness of the transformation (22) can be appreciated. Although it seemingly complicates the relations of the group generators in terms of the C_{ij} , it can now be seen that the transformation (22) makes it possible to express the operators $E_{k_Sk_T}$ in their left actions on the single highest weight state into equivalent left actions of components of **S** or **T** or the Cartan generators C_{ii} . The relations (34) lead to

$$\Gamma(E_{m_{S}m_{T}})\Psi(\Omega) = \{\frac{1}{2}(\lambda_{1}+2\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3})D_{0m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{0m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T}) \\
-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}[D_{1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})\bar{\Gamma}(S_{+}) + D_{-1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})\bar{\Gamma}(S_{-})]D_{0m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T}) \\
-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}D_{0m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})[D_{1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})\bar{\Gamma}(T_{+}) + D_{-1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})\bar{\Gamma}(T_{-})] \\
+\frac{1}{2}D_{1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(-\lambda_{1}+\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})+\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0})) \\
+\frac{1}{2}D_{-1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{-1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(-\lambda_{1}-\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})-\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0})) \\
+\frac{1}{2}D_{1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{-1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(\lambda_{3}-\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})+\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0})) \\
+\frac{1}{2}D_{-1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(\lambda_{3}+\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})-\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0}))\}\langle\phi|R(\Omega)|\Psi\rangle.$$
(35)

Finally, using the identity

$$[\mathbf{S}^{2}, D^{1}_{0m_{S}}(\Omega_{S})] = \sqrt{2}(D^{1}_{1m_{S}}(\Omega_{S})\bar{\Gamma}(S_{+}) + D^{1}_{-1m_{S}}(\Omega_{S})\bar{\Gamma}(S_{-})) + 2D^{1}_{0m_{S}}(\Omega_{S}),$$
(36)

and the similar relation for the isospin operators, we obtain

$$\Gamma(E_{m_{S}m_{T}}) = \{\frac{1}{2}(\lambda_{1}+2\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3})+2\}D_{0m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{0m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})
- \frac{1}{2}\{[\mathbf{S}^{2}, D_{0m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})]D_{0m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})+D_{0m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})[\mathbf{T}^{2}, D_{0m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})]\}
+ \frac{1}{2}D_{1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(-\lambda_{1}+\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})+\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0}))
+ \frac{1}{2}D_{-1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{-1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(-\lambda_{1}-\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})-\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0}))
+ \frac{1}{2}D_{1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{-1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(\lambda_{3}-\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})+\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0}))
+ \frac{1}{2}D_{-1m_{S}}^{1}(\Omega_{S})D_{1m_{T}}^{1}(\Omega_{T})(\lambda_{3}+\bar{\Gamma}(S_{0})-\bar{\Gamma}(T_{0})).$$
(37)

This is the analogue of eq. (12). Using the symmetrized (normalized) rotor basis states of eq. (31) the standard S and T-space rotational measure, and a standard definition of a spin, isospin reduced

double-barred matrix element, together with the well-known triple D-function integrals, we obtain (for the general $K_S K_T$ case with $K'_S + K_T > 1$) the result

$$\langle K_{S}K_{T}; S'T' || \Gamma(E) || K_{S}K_{T}; ST \rangle$$

$$= [(2S+1)(2T+1)]^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle SK_{S}10|S'; K_{S} \rangle \langle TK_{T}10|T'K_{T} \rangle$$

$$\times \{\frac{1}{2}(\lambda_{1}+2\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3})+2-\frac{1}{2}S'(S'+1)+\frac{1}{2}S(S+1)-\frac{1}{2}T'(T'+1)+\frac{1}{2}T(T+1)\},$$

$$\langle (K_{S}\pm1)(K_{T}\pm1); S'T' || \Gamma(E) || K_{S}K_{T}; ST \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}[(2S+1)(2T+1)]^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle SK_{S}1\pm1|S'(K_{S}\pm1) \rangle \langle TK_{T}1\pm1|T'(K_{T}\pm1) \rangle (-\lambda_{1}\pm K_{S}\pm K_{T}),$$

$$\langle (K_{S}\pm1)(K_{T}\mp1); S'T' || \Gamma(E) || K_{S}K_{T}; ST \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}[(2S+1)(2T+1)]^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle SK_{S}1\pm1|S'(K_{S}\pm1) \rangle \langle TK_{T}1\mp1|T'(K_{T}\mp1) \rangle (\lambda_{3}\mp K_{S}\pm K_{T}).$$

$$(38)$$

The special cases $K_S K_T = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2}$; $\frac{1}{2}$, $-\frac{1}{2}$; 10 and 01 will again require additional terms, (the analogues of the special case K = 1 for eq. (13)). The details can be found in ref. [16]. As for the SU(3) case, the reduced matrix elements of the $\Gamma(\mathbf{E})$ are given by very simple expressions involving ordinary spin (S) and isopin (T) Wigner coefficients with projection labels K_S and K_T . Since the $\Gamma(\mathbf{E})$ are nonunitary realizations of the generators \mathbf{E} these first have to be translated to unitary form via the \mathcal{K} -operators through the analogs of eq. (15) and (16). The $(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})$ -matrix elements are now calculated most easily through recursion relations such as

$$\sum_{K'_{S_{2}}K'_{T_{2}}} (\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}(S',T'))_{K'_{S_{1}}K'_{T_{1}};K'_{S_{2}}K'_{T_{2}}} \langle K_{S_{2}}K_{T_{2}};ST||\Gamma(E)||K'_{S_{2}}K'_{T_{2}};S'T'\rangle(-1)^{S+T-S'-T'}$$

$$= \sum_{K_{S_{1}}K_{T_{1}}} \langle K'_{S_{1}}K'_{T_{1}};S'T'||\Gamma(E)||K_{S_{1}}K_{T_{1}};ST\rangle(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}(S,T))_{K_{S_{1}}K_{T_{1}};K_{S_{2}}K_{T_{2}}}$$
(39)

If the quantum numbers $(\lambda_1 + \lambda_3)$ - are not too large, the dimensions of the (\mathcal{KK}^{\dagger}) matrices will be of manageable size so that analytic expressions can be given for the matrix elements as functions of S, T, and the SU(4) quantum numbers. As a special example, the irreducible representation $[f_1f_2f_3f_4] = [y + 2, y, 0, 0] = \{\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3\} = \{2y0\}$ has the simple (\mathcal{KK}^{\dagger}) -matrix elements

$$(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}(S,T))_{11,11} = \frac{1}{2}[(y+3)(y+4) - S(S+1) - T(T+1)]CF, (\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}(S,T))_{00,00} = [(y+3)(y+2) - S(S+1) - T(T+1)]CF, (\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}(S,T))_{11,00} = -[2S(S+1)T(T+1)]^{\frac{1}{2}}CF,$$
(40)

with common factor given by

$$CF = \frac{Num}{(y+4+S+T)!!(y+2-S-T)!!(y+3+S-T)!!(y+3-S+T)!!},$$
(41)

with Num given by

Num =
$$(y+4)!!y!!(y+3)!!(y+1)!!$$
 for y=even,
= $(y+5)!!(y-1)!!(y+2)!!(y+2)!!$ for y=odd. (42)

Similar $(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})$ -matrix elements are given in ref. [16] for most of the important SU(4) irreducible representations.

-

For the Wigner supermultiplet therefore, as for the $SU(3) \supset SO(3)$ scheme, the matrix elements of double (spin and isospin-space) spherical tensor operators, (not necessarily group generators), can be evaluated by a simple two-step process. By mapping the SU(4) states of good spin and isospin onto the symmetrized orthonormal basis states of the double rotor coherent state expansion, very simple expressions are gained for the reduced matrix elements of the $\Gamma(O^{r_{s}r_{T}})$. By converting the nonunitary $\Gamma(O^{r_{s}r_{T}})$ to unitary form via the \mathcal{K} -matrix technique, these can then be converted to standard Hilbert space matrix elements in which the labels $K_{s}K_{T}$ are replaced with the quantum numbers ν which enumerate the nonzero eigenvalues Λ_{ν} , of the $(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})$ -matrix. These Λ_{ν} again give an author-independent meaning to the quantum numbers, ν , where now

$$\langle \nu'; S'T' || O^{r_{S}r_{T}} || \nu, ST \rangle = \sum_{K_{S}K_{T}} \sum_{K'_{S}K'_{T}} (\mathcal{K}^{-1})_{\nu', K'_{S}K'_{T}} \langle K'_{S}K'_{T}; S'T' || \Gamma(O^{r_{S}r_{T}}) || K_{S}K_{T}; ST \rangle (\mathcal{K})_{K_{S}K_{T}, \nu}$$
(43)

The \mathcal{K} -matrix thus effectively elevates the Draayer (Elliott-type) projection labels K_S, K_T to the status of good quantum numbers.

4 A Rotor Coherent State Expansion for the $SO(5) \supset SO(3)$ Chain

Very recently, Rowe [18] has also given a vector coherent state rotor realization for the special irreducible representations [N0] and [NN] of SO(5). With a slight change of emphasis [19] this rotor construction can be put into exact parallel with that used for the SU(3) \supset SO(3) and SU(4) \supset SU(2) x SU(2) group chains. In the SO(5) basis of good orbital angular momentum, $|[N_1N_2],...,LM\rangle$, there are two missing quantum numbers, in contrast to the mathematically natural basis $|[N_1N_2] sm_s tm_t\rangle$ which exploits the local isomorphism between SO(5) and Sp(4) and labels the states with the quantum numbers of the SU(2) x SU(2) subgroup generated by two angular momentum generators s and t (not to be confused with the spin and isospin of the last section). For this reason it will be convenient to express the group generators in the Sp(4) notation in terms of the particle creation and annihilation operators for a family of spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ particles with states $m = +\frac{3}{2}, +\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{3}{2}$ to be denoted by labels a, b, c, d, respectively. In order to generate the rotor states in terms of a single intrinsic (maximal weight) state, it will be convenient to make a rotation in the $m = +\frac{3}{2}, -\frac{3}{2}$ subspace, viz.

$$|a\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|1\rangle + |4\rangle), \qquad |b\rangle = |2\rangle, ,$$

$$|d\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(-|1\rangle + |4\rangle), \qquad |c\rangle = |3\rangle; \qquad (44)$$

where this will achieve the same purpose as the analagous eq. (23).

Since the totally symmetric SO(5) irreducible representations, [N0], are of greatest interest in nuclear physics applications, we will focus on this case. The rotor coherent state can now again be given in terms of a single intrinsic state $|\phi\rangle$ via $\langle\phi|R(\Omega|\Psi\rangle)$. For the totally symmetric irreps,

[N0], $|\phi\rangle$ is now chosen such that

1

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \frac{1}{2}(C_{11} - C_{44})\\ \frac{1}{2}(C_{22} - C_{33}) \end{array} \right\} |\phi\rangle = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} +s_{max}\\ -s_{max} \end{array} \right\} |\phi\rangle = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} +\frac{1}{2}N\\ -\frac{1}{2}N \end{array} \right\} |\phi\rangle$$
(45)

with

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} C_{14} \\ C_{32} \end{array} \right\} |\phi\rangle = 0; \left\{ \begin{array}{c} (C_{12} + C_{34}) \\ (C_{13} - C_{24}) \\ (C_{31} - C_{42}) \end{array} \right\} |\phi\rangle = 0.$$
 (46)

The group generators are now given by the orbital angular momentum vector \mathbf{L} , (a spherical tensor of rank 1), and the 7 components of a spherical tensor of rank 3, O_m^3 . Eqs. (45) and (46) assure that the left action of these octupole generators can be replaced by operators $\overline{\Gamma}(L_k)$. In particular,

$$\langle \phi | O_0 = -\langle \phi | (\frac{L_0}{3} + \frac{5}{3}N), \langle \phi | O_{-1} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \langle \phi | L_{-}, \qquad \langle \phi | O_{+1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \langle \phi | L_{+}, \langle \phi | O_{+2} = 0, \qquad \langle \phi | O_{-2} = -\sqrt{\frac{5}{6}} \langle \phi | L_{+}, \langle \phi | O_{+3} = \frac{\sqrt{5}}{3} \langle \phi | (L_0 - N), \langle \phi | O_{-3} = \frac{\sqrt{5}}{3} \langle \phi | (L_0 + 2N),$$

$$(47)$$

leads to an expression for $\Gamma(O_m)$ in terms of the $\overline{\Gamma}(L_k)$ and $D^3_{km}(\Omega)$. Analogs of eq. (36) lead to the simplest form for $\Gamma(O_m)$

$$\Gamma(O_m) = -D^3_{0m}(\Omega)(\frac{1}{3}\bar{\Gamma}(L_0) + \frac{5}{3}N + 2) + \frac{1}{6}[\mathbf{L}^2, D^3_{0m}] + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}D^3_{-1m}(\Omega)\bar{\Gamma}(L_-) + \frac{\sqrt{5}}{3}D^3_{+3m}(\Omega)(\bar{\Gamma}(L_0) - N) + \sqrt{5}D^3_{-3m}(\Omega)(-\frac{2}{3}\bar{\Gamma}(L_0) + \frac{2}{3}N + 2) - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{6}[\mathbf{L}^2, D^3_{-3m}].$$
(48)

Note the parallels between this expression and the comparable eqs. (12) and (37) of sections 2 and 3; but also note that in this case it was now not possible to eliminate both $\overline{\Gamma}(L_{-})$ and $\overline{\Gamma}(L_{+})$. However, the K-raising matrix element of $\overline{\Gamma}(L_{-})$ in combination with the K-lowering of the $D_{-1m}^3(\Omega)$ operator leads to a simple contribution to the matrix element diagonal in K in the rotor basis, $D_{KM}^L(\Omega)$. The $\Gamma(O_m)$ of eq. (48) thus lead to very simple matrix elements in the rotor basis with K' = K, K + 3, and K - 3. Williams and Pursey [20] have shown that the allowed K sequences for the irreps [N0] are the following (with n = integer)

ForN = 3nK = \dots , -6, -3, 0, +3, +6, +9, \dots ForN = 3n+1K = \dots , -8, -5, -2, +1, +4, +7, \dots ForN = 3n+2K = \dots , -7, -4, -1, +2, +5, +8, \dots

Starting with the simplest state for [N0] = [10], with L = 2, with the normalized rotor state

$$\sqrt{\frac{5}{16\pi^2}} \{ D^2_{+1M}(\Omega) + D^2_{-2,M}(\Omega) \},$$
(49)

totally symmetric rotor states for N > 1 can be built up from simple products of D-functions.

In such a basis the reduced matrix elements of the $\Gamma(O_m^3)$ of eq. (48) are again given by very simple expressions involving ordinary Wigner coefficients with projection labels K. The \mathcal{K} -matrix technique of coherent state theory can again be used to convert these to the status of good quantum numbers, ν , through the eigenvalues Λ_{ν} of the $\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger}$ -matrix.

Table 1: The Possible ST-values for the Irrep. [8620]						
(61) $(62)^{1}$ (52) $(53)^{1}$ (43) $(44)^{1}$ (34) $(35)^{1}$ (25) $(26)^{1}$ (16)	$(60)^{1}$ $(51)^{3}$ $(42)^{4}$ $(33)^{4}$ $(24)^{4}$ $(15)^{3}$ $(06)^{1}$	$(50)^1$ $(41)^3$ $(32)^4$ $(23)^4$ $(14)^3$ $(05)^1$	$(40)^2$ $(31)^4$ $(22)^5$ $(13)^4$ $(04)^2$	$(30)^1$ $(21)^3$ $(12)^3$ $(03)^1$	(20) ² (11) ³ (02) ²	(00) ¹
4 2	1					

The numbers below the arrows give the number of zeros of the $(\mathcal{K}\mathcal{K}^{\dagger})$ -matrices in the columns indicated by the arrows.

References

D.J. Rowe, J. Math. Phys. 25, 2662 (1984) D. J. Rowe, G. Rosensteel, and R. Gilmore,
 J. Math. Phys. 26, 2787 (1985); R. LeBlanc and D.J. Rowe, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 18, 1891,
 1905 (1985); and 19, 1083 (1986).

[2] J. Deenen and C. Quesne, J. Math. Phys. 25, 1638, 2354 (1984); C. Quesne, J. Math Phys.
27, 869 (1986).

[3] K.T. Hecht The vector coherent state method and its applications to problems of higher symmetry, Lecture Notes in Physics Vol. 290 (Springer, New York 1987).

[4] F. Iachello and A. Arima, *The Interacting Boson Model*, (Cambridge University Press, New York, 1987).

[5] V. Bargmann and M. Moshinsky, Nucl. Phys. 23, 177 (1961).

- [6] M. Moshinsky and J. G. Nagel, Phys. Lett. 5, 173 (1963).
- [7] E. Chacon, M. Moshinsky, and R. T. Sharp, J. Math. Phys. 17, 669 (1976).
- [8] D.J. Rowe, R. LeBlanc, and J. Repka, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 22, L309 (1989).
- [9] J. P. Elliott, Proc. Roy. Soc. A245, 128 (1958).
- [10] J. P. Elliott, Proc. Roy. Soc. A245, 562 (1958).
- [11] J. P. Elliott and M. Harvey, Proc. Roy. Soc. A272, 557 (1963).
- [12] A. Bohr and B.R. Mottelson, Nuclear Structure, W. A. Benjamin (New York 1969).
- [13] K.T. Hecht, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 23, 407 (1990).
- [14] J. D. Vergados, Nucl. Phys. A111, 681 (1968).
- [15] J.P. Draayer, J. Math. Phys. 11, 3225 (1970).
- [16] K. T. Hecht, J. Phys. A: Math Gen. 27, (1994) to be publ.
- [17] K.T. Hecht and Sing Chin Pang, J. Math. Phys. 10, 1571 (1969).
- [18] D. J. Rowe, J. Math. Phys. 35, (1994) to be publ.
- [19] D. J. Rowe and K. T. Hecht, to be publ.
- [20] S. A. Williams and D. L. Pursey, J. Math. Phys. 9, 1230 (1968).

1995116550 402020 1995116550 N95-22967 10p HARMONIC OSCILLATOR REPRESENTATION IN THE THEORY OF SCATTERING AND NUCLEAR REACTIONS

Yu. F. Smirnov Instituto de Fisica, UNAM, Mexico D.F.

A. M. Shirokov, Yu. A. Lurie and S. A. Zaitsev Nuclear Physics Institute, Moscow State University Moscow 119899, Russia

Abstract

The following questions, concerning to the application of the harmonic oscillator representation (HOR) in the theory of scattering and reactions, are discussed: the formulation of the scattering theory in HOR; exact solutions of the free motion Schroedinger equation in HOR; separable expansion of the short range potentials and the calculation of the phase shifts: "isolated states" as generalization of the Wigner-von Neumann bound states embedded in continuum; a nuclear coupled channel problem in HOR; the description of true three body scattering in HOR. As an illustration the soft dipole mode in the ¹¹Li nucleus is considered in a frame of the ⁹Li+n+n cluster model with taking into account of three body continuum effects.

1 Introduction

٠

Usually harmonic oscillator wave functions are used for the description of bound states of quantum systems that belong to the discrete spectrum [1]. In this talk the application of the harmonic oscillator (HO) basis to the solution of the scattering problem, i.e. in *continuum*, will be discussed.

This line of investigations was begun in Refs. [2] (see also the papers cited there) and independently in the papers of Kiev [3] and Moscow [4] groups. The similar approach, also connected with an application of the HO basis to the scattering problem, was developed by the Hungarian group [5].

In order to illustrate the essence of the approach to the scattering problem in the harmonic oscillator basis, we shall consider at first the simplest problem of the scattering of a single particle by the central potential V(r) [4]. Thus, we come to the Schroedinger equation

$$\left(\frac{P^2}{2m} + V(r)\right)\psi_{lm}(\mathbf{r}) = \varepsilon\psi_{lm}(\mathbf{r}) .$$
(1)

Its solution $\psi_{lm}(\mathbf{r}) = \dot{R}_l(r)Y_{lm}(\Omega)$ will be sought in the form of an expansion in the eigenfunctions of the harmonic oscillator

$$R_l(r) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_{nl} R_{nl}(r)$$
⁽²⁾

where

$$R_e(r) = (-1)^n \left(\frac{2n!}{\Gamma(n+l+\frac{3}{2})}\right)^{1/2} r^l L_n^{l+1/2}(r^2) e^{-r^2/2}$$
(3)

is the radial wave function of three-dimensional harmonic oscillator. This wave function corresponds to the eigenvalues of the oscillator energy $E_n^{osc} = (2n + l + 3/2)\hbar\omega$ [1]. The value $r_o = (\hbar/m\omega)^{1/2}$ is selected as a length scale in relations (1) and (2). Here ω is the oscillator frequency; the energy $\varepsilon = q^2/2$ is measured in units $\hbar\omega$; the wave vector k is expressed in units r_0^{-1} , $q = kr_0$ is the dimensionless momentum. Substituting expansion (2) in (1) and multiplying (1) scalarly by $R_{nl}Y_{lm}$, we obtain the following equation determining the wave function ψ_{lm} in the harmonic oscillator representation (HOR):

$$\sum_{n'} (H_{nn'} - \delta_{nn'} \varepsilon) C_{n'l} = 0 , \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots .$$
(4)

Here, H = T + V and only the following matrix elements of the kinetic energy operator $T = P^2/2$ are nonvanishing:

$$T_{nn-1} = -\frac{1}{2} \left[n \left(n + l + \frac{1}{2} \right) \right]^{1/2},$$

$$T_{nn} = \frac{1}{2} \left(2n + l + \frac{3}{2} \right) ,$$

$$T_{nn+1} = -\frac{1}{2} \left[(n+1) \left(n + l + \frac{3}{2} \right) \right]^{1/2}.$$
(5)

As to behaviour of the coefficient C_{nl} for $n \ge N$, their asymptotics are similar to the asymptotic of the wave function in the coordinate representation [3] if r is substituted by $2n^{1/2}r_0$:

$$C_{nl} \sim 2n^{1/4} \psi_{lm}(2\sqrt{n}r_0) , \ n \to \infty .$$
(6)

this result can be obtained if the WKB expression for the oscillator function $R_{nl}(r)$ is substituted in the expression for the coefficients

$$C_{nl} = \langle \psi_{nlm}(\mathbf{r}) | \psi_{lm}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle \tag{7}$$

and the integral (7) is calculated by the stationary phase method. The result (6) follows also from the fact that the finite-difference equation

$$-\left[n\left(n+l+\frac{1}{2}\right) \right]^{1/2} C_{n-1l} + \left(2n+l+\frac{3}{2}-q^2\right) C_{nl}$$
$$-\left[(n+1)\left(n+l+\frac{3}{2}\right) \right]^{1/2} C_{n+1l} + 2\sum_{n'} < nl|V|n'l > C_{n'l} = 0$$
(8)

in the limit $n \gg \nu = l/2 + 3/4$ can be replaced by the following second-order differential equation [4]:

$$X_l'' - \frac{l(l+1)}{x^2} X_l - \int_0^\infty V(x, x') \sqrt{xx'} X_l(x') dx + q^2 X_l = 0 .$$
⁽⁹⁾

Here $x = 2(n + \nu)^{1/2}$, $X_l(x) = x^{1/2}C_{nl}$. The Eq. (9) should be solved at the boundary condition

$$X_l(2\sqrt{\nu-1}) = 0 . (10)$$

Thus, in the asymptotic limit for large n, the wave function of our system X_l for the partal wave with angular momentum l in the HOR obeys the conventional Schroedinger equation with nonlocal potential

$$V(x, x')\sqrt{xx'} \simeq 2 < nl|V|n'l > [(n+\nu)(n'+\nu)]^{1/4}$$
(11)

where the value $2(n + \nu)^{1/2} r_0$ plays the role of "coordinate". In actual calculations, the potential matrix has to be cut off by the condition $V_{nn'} = 0$, if n or (and) n' > N. Then a set of equations (4) can be splitted in two parts:

a)
$$n \leq N$$
, $\sum_{n'=0}^{N} (H_{nn'} - \varepsilon \delta_{nn'}) C_{n'l} = -\delta_{nN} T_{NN+1} C_{N+1l}$, (12a)

b)
$$n \ge N+1$$
, $T_{nn-1}C_{n-1l} + (T_{nn} - \varepsilon)C_{nl} + T_{nn+1}C_{n+1l} = 0$. (12b)

Thus, the coefficients C_{nl} with n > N obey the equation of free motion (12b) or, in the asymptotic limit of continuous n, the Schroedinger equation of free motion

$$X_l'' - \frac{l(l+1)}{x^2} X_l + q^2 X_l = 0 .$$
(12.)

It means that the condition

$$C_{nl} \sim 2n^{1/4} e^{-2\sqrt{nk}} \tag{13a}$$

(where $\varepsilon = -k^2/2$ is the binding energy) must be satisfied for the bound states. The coefficients C_{nl} for the scattering problem have the following asymptotic behaviour:

$$C_{nl} \sim 2n^{1/4} \sin(2q\sqrt{n} - l\pi/2 + \delta_l)$$
 (13b)

where $\varepsilon = q^2/2$. According to Eq.(6) the phase shift δ_l in Eq. (13b) coincides with the standard phase shift of the wave function in coordinate spase. For the decaying resonance states, we get (see in [3]):

$$C_{nl} \sim 2n^{1/4} e^{2iq\sqrt{n}}$$
 (13c)

If the calculations are made up to sufficiently high values of $N \gg 1$ it is possible to use the asymptotic expressions (13) [3]. At modest N it is necessary to use the exact, rather than approximate, solution for the equation of free motion (12b) which was found in Refs. [2, 4] in order to calculate the binding energy, the scattering phases etc. Before considering the solution for the equation of free motion, we shall note that the solution for the set (12) is equivalent to the

solution for the Schroedinger equation with Hamiltonian $H = T + V^N$ containing the many-term separable potential

$$V^{N} = \sum_{n,n'}^{N} < nl |V| n'l > |nl > < n'l|$$
(14)

with harmonic oscillator formactors. The technique of solving such an equation in the frame of the momentum representation was described in [5, 6]. Here we shall describe an alternative method for solving the same problem in HOR.

2 Solution for the equation of free motion in the harmonic oscillator representation

Consider first the case of positive energy $\varepsilon = q^2/2 > 0$. The Schroedinger equation of free motion in the coordinate space has two linear-independent solutions (regular and irregular) [4]:

$$R_l^{reg} = j_l(kr) \sim \frac{1}{kr} \sin\left(kr - \frac{l\pi}{2}\right) ,$$

$$R_l^{irreg} = n_l(kr) \sim \frac{1}{kr} \cos\left(kr - \frac{l\pi}{2}\right) .$$
(15)

In accordance with this, the finite difference equation of free motion (12b) will have also two fundamental solutions in the HOR [4] namely the regular solution

$$C_{nl}^{reg}(q) = \left(\frac{2\Gamma(n+l+\frac{3}{2})}{\Gamma(n+1)}\right)^{1/2} \frac{q^l}{\Gamma(l+\frac{3}{2})} e^{-q^2/2} M(-n,l+\frac{3}{2};q^2) =$$
$$= (-1)^n R_{nl}(q) \sim \frac{2^{3/2}}{\pi^{1/2}} n^{1/4} j_l(2\sqrt{nq})$$
(16)

satisfying the boundary condition (6) $C_{-1l}^{reg} = 0$, and the irregular solution

$$C_{nl}^{irreg}(q) = \left(\frac{2\Gamma(n+1)}{\Gamma(n+l+\frac{3}{2})}\right)^{1/2} \frac{(-1)^l q^{-l-1}}{\Gamma(-l+\frac{1}{2})} e^{-q^2/2} M(-n-l-\frac{1}{2},-l+\frac{1}{2};q^2) = \\ \sim \frac{2^{3/2}}{\pi^{1/2}} n^{1/4} n_l (2\sqrt{nq})$$
(17)

which is singular at the point n = -1.

The Casorati determinant K_{nl} for these two solutions which plays the same role for the difference equations as the Wronskian for the differential equations [7] is of the form:

$$K_{nl} = T_{n+1n} \begin{vmatrix} C_{nl}^{reg} & C_{nl}^{irreg} \\ C_{n+1l}^{reg} & C_{n+1l}^{irreg} \end{vmatrix} = \frac{-1}{\pi q} .$$
(18)

Since $K_{nl} \neq 0$ for any values of n and l, the expressions (16) and (17) constitute the fundamental set of solutions for equation (12b). An arbitrary solution for (12b) may be presented as a linear

combination of fundamental solutions. In particular, the solution for the set (12) for $n \ge N$ must be of the form

$$C_{nl}(q) = \cos \delta_l C_{nl}^{reg}(q) + \sin \delta_l C_{nl}^{irreg}(q)$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

whence it follows that

$$\tan \delta_l = -\frac{C_{nl}C_{n+1l}^{reg} - C_{n+1l}C_{nl}^{reg}}{C_{nl}C_{n+1l}^{irreg} - C_{n+1l}C_{nl}^{irreg}} \,.$$
(20)

The equivalent pair of fundamental solutions for the free motion equation has the asymptotic form of the type of Hankel functions

$$C_{nl}^{\pm}(q) = C_{nl}^{irreg}(q) \pm i C_{nl}^{reg}(q) .$$
(21)

These solutions are useful for the calculation of the S-matrix and analyzing the decaying Gamov states. If we are interested in bound states ($\varepsilon = -k^2/2, q = ik$) the solution for the equation of free motion with a corresponding asymptotic

$$C_{nl}^{bound}(k) = i^l \left[C_{nl}^{irreg}(ik) + i C_{nl}^{reg}(ik) \right]$$
(22)

must be used. The numerical values of solutions (16), (17) can be obtained by using the book [8], where the function M(a, b; z) is tabulated. Similarly to the regular and irregular solutions of the free motion Schroedinger equation the functions C_{nl}^{reg} and C_{nl}^{irreg} are oscillating functions of n and the period of oscillations decreases with increasing energy ε .

3 The solution of the scattering problem in HOR

Consider now the solution for set (12). It follows from equations (12) that the coefficient C_{nl} for $n \ge N + 1$ obey the equation of free motion with an appropriate asymptotic, i.e. $C_{nl} = C_{nl}^{0}$, where C_{nl}^{0} is the solution for the equation of free motion with asymptotic (19), (21) or (22). The coefficients $C_{nl}(n \ge N+1)$ form the "external" part of the wave function in HOR. The coefficients $C_{nl}(n \le N)$ belong to the "internal" part of this function. The equation

$$C_{Nl}^{intern} = C_{Nl}^{extern} \tag{23}$$

plays a role of "fitting" condition of "internal" and "external" parts of the wave function. The r.h.s. of this equation has one of the form (19), (21) or (22). Into the left hand side of Eq. (23) the solution of the set (12a) must be substituted. The last one can be found in the following manner [2]. At first we shall diagonalize the truncated Hamiltonian matrix $||H_{nn'}||$ using the unitary transformation Γ , i.e. turn from C_{nl} to the new coefficients

$$C'_{\lambda l} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \Gamma_{\lambda n} C_{nl} , \ \lambda = 0, 1, ..., N .$$
(24)

As a result of this transformation, equation (12a) takes the form

$$(E_{\lambda} - \varepsilon)C'_{\lambda l} = -\Gamma_{\lambda N}T_{NN+1}C_{N+1l} , \ \lambda = 0, 1, ..., N$$

i.e.

$$C_{\lambda l}' = -\frac{\Gamma_{\lambda N} T_{NN+1}}{E_{\lambda} - \varepsilon} C_{N+1l}$$
(25a)

and

$$C_{nl} = -\sum_{\lambda=0}^{N} \frac{\Gamma_{\lambda n}^{*} \Gamma_{\lambda N}}{E_{\lambda} - \varepsilon} T_{NN+1} C_{N+1l}$$
(25b)

where E_{λ} - is the eigenvalues of the matrix $||H_{nn'}||$ $(n, n' \leq N)$.

Substituting the "internal" solution (25b) at n = N into Eq. (23) we obtain

$$P_{NN+1} C_{N+1l}^{0} = -C_{Nl}^{0}, \ P_{nN+1} = \sum_{\lambda=0}^{N} \frac{\Gamma_{\lambda n}^{*} \Gamma_{\lambda N}}{E_{\lambda} - \varepsilon} T_{NN+1} .$$

$$(26)$$

If we deal with bound states of Gamov resonances, C_{nl}^0 and C_{N+1l}^0 are the known functions of energy (see (21) and (22)). In such cases the condition (26) is the transcendent equation which may be used to find the energies ε_i of the bound or resonant states. For the scattering problem, we get in accordance with (19):

$$C_{Nl}^{0} = C_{Nl}^{reg} + \tan \delta_l \ C_{Nl}^{irreg} ,$$

$$C_{N+1l}^{0} = C_{N+1l}^{reg} + \tan \delta_l \ C_{N+1l}^{irreg} .$$
(27)

Substituting these expressions in (26), we find in accordance with Refs. [2]:

$$\tan \delta_l = -\frac{C_{Nl}^{reg} + P_{NN+1} C_{N+1l}^{reg}}{C_{Nl}^{irreg} + P_{NN+1} C_{N+1l}^{irreg}}.$$
(28)

It can be seen now that the scattering phase at an arbitrary energy ε can be obtained by diagonalizing the Hamiltonian matrix $||H_{nn'}||$ $(n, n' \leq N)$ but one time.

In agreement with the Ritz variational principle, the negative eigenvalues $E_{\lambda} < 0$ of the Hamiltonian matrix $||H_{nn'}||$ $(n, n' \leq N)$ may be treated as approximate values of the energies of discrete levels of a particle in the studied potential. In this case the approximation accuracy improves with increasing the size of the matrix N. The question arises, what is the sense of the matrix positive eigenvalues and of the respective wave functions? The question was answered in works [2, 4, 9] as follows. In the limit $\varepsilon \to E_{\lambda}$ expression (28) takes on the form

$$\tan \delta_l (E_\lambda) = -\frac{C_{N+1l}^{reg}}{C_{N+1l}^{irreg}}.$$
(29)

By comparing this result with formula (19) we get the coefficient $C_{N+1l}^{reg}(E_{\lambda}) = 0$ for E_{λ} . Thus, by diagonalizing the Hamiltonian matrix $||H_{nn'}||$ $(n, n' \leq N)$, we find the solutions for equations (12) in the region of the continuum at such discrete energies $E_{\lambda} > 0$ which correspond to the vanishing of the HOR wave function $C_{nl}(E\lambda)$ at the point n = N + 1. The scattering phase can be calculated at such energies using simple formula (29). In the asymptotic limit of high N, the diagonalization of the Hamiltonian matrix on the cutoff basis $n \leq N$ means the solution for the Schroedinger equation (9) with the additional condition $X_l(b) = 0$, where $b = 2(N + \nu)^{1/2}$, i.e. when the system is placed within a rigid box of radius b. In this case the energy spectrum
for equation (9) gets discrete and the energy of any level becomes a function of the position of the boundary point $b = 2[(N + \nu)\hbar/m\omega]^{1/2}$. The condition $X_l(b) = 0$ is nothing other than the equation for the *P*-matrix poles in the system of radius *b* described by the Schroedinger equation (9) [10]. Thus the eigenvalues E_{λ} of the Hamiltonian matrix $||H_{nn'}||$ are poles of the discrete analogue of the *P*-matrix. The important point is a convergency of this approach. The practical calculations [3, 4] show that for rather smooth potentials V(r) it is sufficient to use a number of terms $N \sim 20 - 30$ in the expansion (2) in order to calculate phase shifts and other scattering characteristics in reasonable accuracy. Therefore the using of HOR, or *J*-matrix approach [2], is a rather effective and practicable method for the study of continuum problems. Some additional example of application of this method will be discussed in section 6.

4 Multichannel case

Let us consider the case of two open (binary, spinless) channel for simplicity. The wave function has the form of a column

$$\psi(r) = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1(r) \\ \psi_2(r) \end{pmatrix}$$
(30)

and the Hamiltonian is the operator matrix of a size 2×2 :

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} H_{11} & H_{12} \\ H_{21} & H_{22} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(31)

Let us assume that the wave function of the entrance channel $\psi_1(r)$ is characterized by the following asymptotic behaviour

$$\psi_1(r) \sim (e^{-ik_1r} - S_{11}e^{ik_1r})/r \tag{32a}$$

while in the second channel only the outgoing wave presents

$$\psi_2(r) \sim -\left((v_1/v_2)^{1/2} S_{21} e^{ik_2 r} \right) / r$$
 (32b)

The transition into n-representation consists in the expansion of both channel wave functions

$$\psi_1(r) = \sum_n C_{1n} |n, r_{01} > ,$$

$$\psi_2(r) = \sum_m C_{2m} |m, r_{02} > ,$$
 (33)

in terms of harmonic oscillator wave functions $|n, r_{01} \rangle$, $|m, r_{02} \rangle$ with a unique frequency $\hbar \omega$ while the linear scale parameters $r_{0i} = (\hbar/\mu_i \omega)^{1/2}$ can be different for the channels 1 and 2 if the reduced masses μ_1 and μ_2 of two fragments in these channels are different. Assuming that it is possible to restrict ourselves to a truncated matrix of the potential energy

$$V_{1n,1n'} (0 \le n, n' \le N_1), \quad V_{2m,2m'} (0 \le m, m' \le N_2),$$
$$V_{1n,2m}, \quad V_{2m,1n} (0 \le n \le N_1, 0 \le m \le N_2)$$

(generally speaking $N_1 \neq N_2$) we obtain the following set of equations for C_{1n} , C_{2m} coefficients instead of Eqs., (12), (23), (27)

$$(H - E)C = -TC^{0} ,$$

$$C_{1N_{1}} = C_{1N_{1}}^{0} , C_{2N_{2}} = C_{2N_{2}}^{0} ,$$

$$C_{1n}^{0} = C_{1n}^{-} - S_{11}C_{1n}^{+} , n \ge N_{1} ,$$

$$C_{2m}^{0} = -(q_{2}/q_{1})^{1/2}S_{21}C_{2m}^{+} , m \ge N_{2} .$$
(34)

Here C is a column of $N_1 + N_2 + 2$ coefficients $C_{10}C_{11}...C_{1N1}C_{20}...C_{2N2}$, H is the matrix of Hamiltonian in a truncated basis $|n, r_{01} \rangle$, $|m, r_{02} \rangle$ $(n \leq N_1, m \leq N_2)$. The column TC contains only two nonvanishing elements, namely $T_{N_1,N_1+1}C_{1N_1+1}^0$ in the $N_1 + 1$ -th row and $T_{N_2N_2+1}C_{2N_2+1}^0$ in the last row. The functions $C_{ik}^{\pm} = C_{ik}^{reg} \pm iC_{ik}^{irreg}$ are the same ones as in Eq. (21). As it was shown in Ref. [2, 11] the asymptotic of the function $\psi^{\pm} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n^{\pm} |n\rangle$ is of the form $k \exp(\pm ikr)$ for $\rightarrow \infty$. This fact and the difference of r_{0i} in various channels are the origin of the factor $(q_2/q_1)^{1/2}$ in Eq. (34) instead of the usual velocities ratio $(v_2/v_1)^{1/2}$ in Eq. (32). Solving the Eq. (34) similarly to Eq. (12) we obtain the following results instead of Eq. (26)

$$C_{1N_{1}} = C_{1N_{1}}^{-} - S_{11}C_{1N_{1}}^{+} = P_{11}(C_{1N_{1}+1}^{-} - S_{11}C_{1N_{1}+1}^{+}) + P_{12}\left(-(q_{2}/q_{1})^{1/2}S_{21}C_{2N_{2}+1}^{+}\right) ,$$

$$C_{2N_{2}} = -S_{21}C_{2N_{2}}^{+}(q_{2}/q_{1})^{1/2} = P_{21}\left(C_{1N_{1}+1}^{-} - S_{11}C_{1N_{1}+1}^{+} + P_{22}\left(-(q_{2}/q_{1})^{1/2}S_{21}C_{2N_{2}+1}^{+}\right)\right)$$
(35)

where

$$P_{ij} = \sum_{\lambda} \frac{\Gamma_{\lambda N_i} \Gamma_{\lambda N_j}}{E_{\lambda} - E} T_{N_j N_j + 1} .$$

 E_{λ} is the eigenvalue of the truncated matrix H, $(\Gamma_{\lambda 0}...\Gamma_{\lambda N_1}...\Gamma_{\lambda N_2})$ is the corresponding eigenvector of this matrix.

The relations (35) should be considered as the equations for elements of the S-matrix. The solutions of these equations are of the form

$$S_{11} = \frac{1}{D} \left[(C_{1N_1}^- + P_{11}C_{1N_1+1}^-)(C_{2N_2}^- + P_{22}C_{2N_2+1}^-) - P_{21}P_{12}C_{1N_1+1}^-C_{2N_2+1}^- \right]$$

$$S_{21} = \frac{1}{D} \frac{2iP_{12}P_{21}}{\sqrt{\pi q_1 q_2}} , \qquad (36)$$

$$D_{21} = \left[(C_{1}^+ + P_{21}C_{1N_1+1}^+)(C_{2N_2}^+ + P_{22}C_{2N_2+1}^-) - P_{21}P_{21}C_{1N_1+1}^-C_{2N_2+1}^- \right]$$

ŧ

$$D = \left[(C_{1N_1}^+ + P_{11}C_{1N_1+1}^+)(C_{2N_2}^+ + P_{22}C_{2N_2+1}^+) - P_{12}P_{21}C_{1N_1+1}^+C_{2N_2+1}^+ \right]$$

Here the property of the Casorati determinant

$$T_{NN+1} \begin{vmatrix} C_N^- & C_N^+ \\ C_{N+1}^- & C_{N+1}^+ \end{vmatrix} = \frac{2i}{\pi q}$$

was used. The elements S_{22} , S_{12} of the S-matrix can be obtained from (36) by substitution of indices 1 and 2. Obviously the S-matrix is symmetrical in accordance with the time reflection

symmetry of the Hamiltonian. As in the previous section, the eigenvalues E_{λ} are the poles of the discrete analogue of the *P*-matrix.

The eigenfunctions $\psi_{\lambda} = \sum_{n} \Gamma_{\lambda n} | n \rangle$ are discrete analogs of "primitives" (in terms of the paper [10]).

The expressions (36) allow us to find the numerical values of the S-matrix elements and then to calculate the cross-sections of elastic scattering and reactions

$$\sigma_{el} = \frac{\pi}{k_1^2} |S_{11} - 1|^2 , \qquad (37)$$

$$\sigma_r = \frac{\pi}{k_1^2} |S_{21}|^2 , \qquad (38)$$

the differential cross-sections, various polarization characteristics (taking into account the spin degree of freedom) etc. If we want to describe the reaction with three-four fragments in the final states it is necessary to extend the above developed formalism, which is valid only for two body (binary) channels, to three, four body collisions.

5 The description of "true" many body scattering in a hyperspherical HOR

We restrict ourselves by the case of the so called "true" many body scattering (TMBS) when the wave function of an A body system is in the asymptotic region of the form

$$\psi_{K}(\rho,\Omega) = \delta_{K\gamma,K_{0}\gamma_{0}} e^{-ik\rho} Y_{K_{0}\gamma_{0}}(\Omega) - \sum_{K'\gamma'} S_{K'\gamma',K_{0}\gamma_{0}} e^{ik\rho} Y_{K'\gamma'}(\Omega) \ , \ \rho \to \infty \ . \tag{39}$$

 $\rho^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{A} (\mathbf{r}_i - \mathbf{R})^2$ is a global radius in 3(A - 1) dimensional space, the angles Ω are hyperspherical coordinates in this space. **R** is the center-of-mass of the system, $Y_{K\gamma}(\Omega)$ is a hyperspecial harmonic with a global momentum K, γ substitutes all the rest quantum numbers labelling this harmonic. The approximation taking into account only the contribution of TMBS is valid if there is a "democracy" in the A body system i.e. there is no pair of particles with dominating interaction between them in comparison with the rest of the interactions. The TMBS - approximation is applicable to a lot of processes of three, four body decay of light nuclei and hypernuclei [17] (for example disintegration ${}^{12}C \rightarrow 3\alpha$ etc.).

For the description of TMBS we shall use the expansion of the A-body wave function $\psi(\vec{r_1}...\vec{r_A})$ in terms of A-1 body oscillator wave function (the center of mass variable **R** is excluded)

$$|nK\gamma\rangle = R_{nK}(\rho)Y_{K\gamma}(\Omega) \tag{40}$$

depending on hyperspherical coordinates ρ, Ω :

$$\psi = \sum_{nK\gamma} \langle nK\gamma | \psi \rangle | nK\gamma \rangle \quad . \tag{41}$$

Further consideration is totally parallel to sections 1-4 and we represent the result in very short form. Instead of Eq. (3) we have for the many body case

$$R_{NK}(\rho) = \rho^{-(3A-4)/2} \phi_n^{\mathcal{L}}(\rho) , \qquad (42)$$

$$\phi_n^{\mathcal{L}}(\rho) = (-1)^n \sqrt{\frac{2n!}{\Gamma(n+\mathcal{L}+\frac{3}{2})}} \rho^{\mathcal{L}+1} e^{-\rho^2/2} L_n^{\mathcal{L}+1/2}(\rho^2)$$
(43)

 $\mathcal{L} = K + (3A - 6)/2$, ρ is taken in units of r_0 . The Eq. (4) takes on the form

$$\sum_{n'K'\gamma'} \langle nK\gamma|H - E|n'K'\gamma'\rangle \langle n'K'\gamma'|\psi\rangle = 0.$$
⁽⁴⁴⁾

The kinetic term T in the Hamiltonian H = T + V is diagonal in the quantum numbers K and γ . As for the main quantum number, n, the matrix is three diagonal with respect to n and its matrix elements coincide with Eq. (5) except for substitution of l by \pounds . We also truncate the matrix of potential energy $V = \sum_{i < j}^{A} V_{ij}$ to $n \leq N$, $K \leq K_{max}$. Then for $n \geq N$ the expansion coefficients $\langle nK\gamma | \psi \rangle \equiv C_{nl}$ obey the three-term recurrent relation similar to Eq. (12b)

$$\sqrt{n(n+\mathcal{L}+\frac{1}{2})} < n-1K\gamma|\psi\rangle - \left(2n+\mathcal{L}+\frac{3}{2}-q^2\right) < nK\gamma|\psi\rangle + \sqrt{(n+1)(n+\mathcal{L}+\frac{1}{2})} < n+1K\gamma|\psi\rangle = 0 , \ q = \sqrt{2E} .$$

$$(45)$$

This difference equation has two fundamental solutions

l

$$C_{n\mathcal{L}}^{reg} = \sqrt{\frac{2n!}{\Gamma(n+\mathcal{L}+\frac{3}{2})}} q^{\mathcal{L}+1} e^{-q^2/2} L_n^{\mathcal{L}+1/2}(q^2)$$
(46)

and

$$C_{n\ell}^{irreg} = -\frac{2q}{\pi C_{0\ell}^{reg}(q)} v.p. \int_0^\infty \frac{C_{0\ell}^{reg}(q') C_{n\ell}^{reg}(q')}{q^2 - q'^2} dq'$$
(47)

or the equivalent pair of solutions

$$C_{n\pounds}^{\pm} = -\frac{2q}{\pi C_{0\pounds}^{reg}(q)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{C_{0\pounds}^{reg}(q') C_{nl}^{reg}(q')}{q^2 - q'^2 \pm i0} dq' .$$
(48)

The problem of TMBS is similar to the multichannel problem described in section 4. Thus the wave function (39) with ingoing wave in some channel $K_0\gamma_0$ and outgoing waves in each channels $K'\gamma'$ under consideration takes on the form at n > N (in principle the truncation boundary N may be different in the various channels $K\gamma$):

$$< nK\gamma|\psi> = \delta_{K\gamma,K_0\gamma_0}C^-_{n\pounds}(q) - \sum_{K'\gamma'}S_{K\gamma,K'\gamma'}C^+_{n\pounds'}(q) .$$
⁽⁴⁹⁾

In analogy with Eq. (36) we can obtain

$$S = A^{-1}B \tag{50}$$

where

$$(A)_{K'\gamma',K\gamma} = P_{K'\gamma',K\gamma}C^{+}_{N+1\pounds}(q) - \delta_{K\gamma,K'\gamma'}C^{+}_{N\pounds}(q) ,$$

$$(B)_{K'\gamma',K\gamma} = P_{K'\gamma',K\gamma}C^{-}_{N+1\pounds}(q) - \delta_{K\gamma,K'\gamma'}C^{-}_{N\pounds}(q) ,$$
(51)

$$P_{K\gamma,K'\gamma'} = \sum_{\lambda} \frac{\langle NK\gamma | \lambda \rangle \langle \lambda | NK'\gamma' \rangle}{E - E_{\lambda}} T_{NK',N+1K'} .$$

 E_{λ} and $\langle NK\gamma|\lambda \rangle$ are eigenvalues and eigenvector components of the truncated Hamoltonian matrix $\langle nK\gamma|H|n'K'\gamma' \rangle$ $(n,n' \leq N)$. The poles of the S-matrix (i.e. bound states and Gamov resonance states) can be found from the equation

$$det \ A = 0 \ . \tag{52}$$

Thus we have all expressions that are necessary for the construction of the wave function for few body states belonging to continuum or discrete spectrum in the frame of TMBS approximation.

6 Soft dipole mode in ¹¹Li and three body continuum

In order to demonstrate the effectiveness of the HOR in an analysis of concrete nuclear processes the calculations of the properties of the low energy E1 excitations in the ¹¹Li nucleus were done. The remarkable feature of this nucleus is a presence of a large neutron halo formed by two neutrons weakly bound with the ⁹Li core. In this connection the following model was used for the description of this nucleus.

6.1 The model

It was assumed that the ¹¹Li ground and continuum states can be interpreted in the framework of the three-body cluster structure ${}^{9}\text{Li}+n+n$.

1) The cluster ⁹Li is supposed to be structureless and the excitations of its internal degrees of freedom are not considered.

2) We don't account for non-central components of the interaction between two valence neutrons and between valence neutron and the cluster ⁹Li. Therefore, the wave function can be characterized by the three-body orbital angular momentum L, spin S = 3/2, total angular momentum J and its projection M.

3) The states with the total spin of the valence neutron pair S = 0 are only considered, and the ground state three-body orbital angular momentum is supposed to be equal to zero: L = 0.

4) n^{-9} Li interaction is described by the shallow potential of Johansen et al [13]. NN-interaction is described by the Gaussian potential [13].

5) Only democratic decay channels are allowed for.

The wave function of the system ${}^{9}\text{Li}+n+n$, $\psi_{JM}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$, is expanded in three-body hyperspherical functions, $\Phi^{l_x l_y JM}(\hat{\Omega})$ (including the internal wave function of ${}^{9}\text{Li}$ with a spin S = 3/2)

$$\psi_{JM}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \sum_{K \, l_x \, l_y} \psi_{K \, l_x \, l_y}^{(J)}(\rho) \, \Phi_K^{l_x \, l_y \, J \, M}(\hat{\rho}) \,, \qquad (53)$$

where K is hypermomentum, l_x and l_y are the angular momenta corresponding to the Jacobi coordinates

$$\mathbf{x} = \sqrt{\frac{m\omega}{2\hbar}} (\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2), \qquad \mathbf{y} = \sqrt{\frac{18}{11}} \frac{m\omega}{\hbar} (\frac{\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}_2}{2} - \mathbf{r}_3), \qquad (54)$$

respectively, m is the neutron mass, \mathbf{r}_i are coordinates of the valence neutrons (i = 1, 2) and the cluster ⁹Li (i = 3), $\rho = (\mathbf{x}^2 + \mathbf{y}^2)^{1/2}$ is a three-body hyperradius.

In the c.m. frame the Hamiltonian is of the form:

$$H = T + V_{12} + V_{13} + V_{23} , (55)$$

where T is the three-body relative motion kinetic energy operator, and V_{ij} are the two-body potentials. For the radial wave functions $\psi_{Kl_x l_y}^{(J)}(\rho)$ we have the usual set of the K-harmonic method coupled equations (see, e.g., [12]). The equations are solved by expanding the radial wave function.

$$\psi_{K \, l_x \, l_y}^{(J)}(\rho) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D_{n \, K \, l_x \, l_y}^{(J)}(E) \, \varphi_{n \, K}(\rho) \,, \tag{56}$$

in the six-dimensional harmonic oscillator eigenfunctions. To calculate the bound state energy, i.e. to locate the corresponding S-matrix pole, one should solve the nonlinear equation [11]

$$\det A^{(+)} = 0 , (57)$$

where the matrix A is given by the Eq. (51).

For the continuum spectrum states we calculate S-matrix for any positive energy E using (50)

The interactions of the valence neutrons with each other and with the cluster ⁹Li are described by the potentials $V_{12}(r_{12})$ and $V_{13}(r_{13}) = V_{23}(r_{23})$, respectively. We use the following parametrization of the potentials [13]:

$$V_{ij}(r) = V_{ij}^{(1)} \exp\left[-(r/b_{ij}^{(1)})^2\right] + V_{ij}^{(2)} \exp\left[-(r/b_{ij}^{(1)})^2\right],$$

$$V_{12}^{(1)} = -31 \text{ MeV}, \qquad V_{12}^{(2)} = 0, \qquad b_{12}^{(1)} = 1.8 \text{ fm};$$

$$V_{13}^{(1)} = -7 \text{ MeV}, \qquad V_{13}^{(2)} = -1 \text{ MeV}, \qquad b_{13}^{(1)} = 2.4 \text{ fm}, \qquad b_{13}^{(2)} = 3.0 \text{ fm}.$$

In the external asymptotic region $n \ge N$ we consequently allow for channels Γ characterized by $K = K_{min}, K_{min} + 2, \ldots, (K_{min}$ is the minimal possible value of K for a given J) until the convergence for all physical properties under consideration is achieved. The convergence is found to be very good, and the allowance for the decay channels with $K > K_{min} + 2$ do not yield any visual variation of the results. So, we consider in the external asymptotic region n > N the channels with $K \le K_{min} + 2$ only. Note, that components with all possible values of $K \le N$ are accounted for in the calculation of the wave function in the inner region $n \le N$.

The parameter $\hbar \omega$ is set to be equal to 7.1 MeV in our calculations. This value corresponds approximately to the minimum of ground state energy E_0 .

6.2 The ground state

The results for the ¹¹Li ground state for different values of the truncation parameter N are presented in the table 1. The variational ground state energies, $E_0^{(d)}$, obtained by the pure diagonalization of the truncated Hamiltonian matrix are listed in the second column, while the *J*-matrix results, E_0 , which are the solutions of the eq. (57), are listed in the third column. It is seen, that by locating the *S*-matrix pole using eq. (57) that is equivalent to the allowance for the

	Ground state energy,		Neutron halo	
Truncation	MeV		mean square radius	
boundary N			$< r^2 >_{11}^{1/2}$, fm	
	$E_0^{(d)}$	E_0	$ < r^2 >_{11}^{1/2} (d)$	$< r^2 >_{11}^{1/2}$
12	-0.012	-0.150	2.83	3.31
16	-0.116	-0.199	2.91	3.29
20	-0.171	-0.225	2.98	3.31
24	-0.202	-0.240	3.04	3.32
Experiment	-0.247 ± 0.080		3.16 ± 0.11	

Table 1: ¹¹Li ground state properties (see text for details).

long asymptotic tail of the wave function, we improve essentially the convergence for the binding energy.

The results presented in the table 1 have been obtained using Lanczos smoothing of the threebody potential energy matrix [5, 14].

The ¹¹Li r.m.s. radius, $\langle r^2 \rangle_{11}^{1/2}$, can be calculated by the following equation:

$$< r^{2} >_{11} = \frac{9}{11} < r^{2} >_{9} + \frac{\hbar}{11 \, m \, \omega} < \rho^{2} > ,$$
 (58)

where $\langle r^2 \rangle_9^{1/2}$ is the ⁹Li r.m.s. radius and the mean square value of the hyperradius, $\langle \rho^2 \rangle$, can be easily calculated using the ground state wave function. The values of $\langle r^2 \rangle^{1/2}$ (d) and $\langle r^2 \rangle^{1/2}$ obtained by the pure diagonalization of the truncated Hamiltonian matrix and with the allowance for the asymptotic tail of the wave function, respectively, are presented in the 4-th and the 5-th columns of the table 1.

It is seen that in calculation of the ground state, the allowance for the wave function asymptotics is very important for a weakly-bound system like ¹¹Li. The terms of expansion (56) with the number of total oscillator quanta $N \simeq 100$ that cannot be obtained in the usual oscillatorbasis variational calculations, play an essential role in the description of the transverse momentum distribution, r.m.s. radius, etc. The convergence of $\langle r^2 \rangle^{1/2}$, transverse momentum distribution and other properties of the wave function in the full *J*-matrix calculation is rather good. Nevertheless, it is seen that the r.m.s. radius converges to a value that is somewhat larger than the experimental one, and the calculated transverse momentum distribution appeares narrower than the experimental one. These shortcomings can be overcome by the adjustment of n^{-9} Li potential. We have not aimed to fit the potential to the ¹¹Li properties, we have just take its parameters from ref. [13].

6.3 The soft dipole mode

The dipole transition operator in our model is of the form

$$\mathcal{M}(E1\,\mu) = -\frac{N_v Z}{A} \, e \, y \, Y_{1\,\mu}(\hat{y}) \,\,, \tag{59}$$

where e is the proton charge, A = 11, Z = 3 and the number of valence neutrons, $N_v = 2$. The operator (59) corresponds to the excitation of the three-body cluster modes only. The excitation energy of the first excited state of ⁹Li is relatively high (~4 MeV). So, low-energy E1-transitions correspond to the excitation of the cluster degrees of freedom only and should be described by the operator (59).



Figure 1: Comparison of our results for $\mathcal{B}(E1; g.s. \rightarrow continuum)$ in ¹¹Li with results of other authors. 1 this work (*J*-matrix method), 2 - ref. [15]., 3 - ref. [16], 4 - experimental data parametrization of ref. [17].

The cluster reduced probability of the E1-transition, $\mathcal{B}(E1; E_f - E_0)$, associated with the operator (59), is displayed on the figure 1.

This figure shows the comparison of the results of our calculations of cluster $\mathcal{B}(E1; E_f - E_0)$ with the parametrization of experimental data of ref. [17]. The agreement is reasonable. The form of the $\mathcal{B}(E1; E_f - E_0)$ peak is well reproduced, the discrepancy in the position of the $\mathcal{B}(E1; E_f - E_0)$ maximum is supposed to be eliminated by the adjustment of the potentials. The results of the $\mathcal{B}(E1; E_f - E_0)$ calculations of refs. [15, 16] are also depicted. All these colculations give a low energy peak which can be associated with the soft dipole mode.

The soft dipole mode exhausts about 90% of the cluster sum rule (EWSR) associated with the operator (59). The contribution from the soft dipole mode to the total EWSR is relatively small. In the vicinity of the sharp $\mathcal{B}(E1; E_f - E_0)$ maximum at the excitation energy $E \approx 1-2$ MeV only ~8% fraction of the total EWSR is exhausted. Nevertheless, the account for the soft dipole mode results in an essential increase of the electromagnetic dissociation cross section of 0.8 GeV/nucleon ¹¹Li beams on Pb and Cu targets. Using the sums of the ¹¹Li and target nucleus charge radii as impact parameter we obtain for the electromagnetic dissociation cross sections the values of 0.966 barn for the Pb target and 0.132 barn for the Cu target; the corresponding experimental values

are 0.890 ± 0.110 barn and 0.21 ± 0.04 barn, respectively [18]. E0- and E2-transitions give only 1.2% contribution in the cross sections.

Thuse, it is shown, that cluster model ${}^{9}\text{Li}+n+n$ yields a good description of the ground state properties and E1-transitions in the ${}^{11}\text{Li}$ nucleus. The HOR may be used successfully in the studies of weakly-bound systems with long-tailed wave functions, e.g., in the study of neutron halo properties. For both bound and continuum states the correct account of the wave function asymptotics in the framework of the oscillator representation of scattering theory is very important in such studies. Low-energy E1-transitions in ${}^{11}\text{Li}$ are of the cluster nature. The widths and the position of resonant states calculated in the democratic decay approximation are in a reasonable agreement with experiment.

Appendix. Isolated States. The scattering problem with nonlocal separable potential V^N can display some peculiarities which we explain here using a simple example when the Hamiltonian H is approximated by the matrix of a size 2×2 (i.e. N = 1). In specific situation when $T_{01} = -V_{01}$, i.e. the nondiagonal matrix elements of the kinetic and potential energies cancellate each other $H_{01} = 0$, we obtain that the Harmonic oscillator wave function $R_{00}(r)$ is an eigenfunction of this Hamiltonian corresponding to the eigenvalue $E_0 = T_{00} + V_{00}$. If $E_0 > 0$ we find an example of the bound state embedded in continuum [19]. It is clear that the eigenfunction $R_{00}(r)$ is not connected with the rest basis states $R_{n0}(r)$. Thus it is isolated from continuum states and can be called an *isolated states*. The phase shift $\delta_0(k)$ displays a narrow resonance near energy E_0 at small value of h_{01} . It transforms into the resonance of zero width when $H_{01} \rightarrow 0$.

Acknowledgments

.

We are thankful to Profs. J.Bang, B.Danilin, M.Moshinsky, I.Thompson and J.Vaagen for valuable discussions.

References

- M. Moshinsky Harmonic Oscillator in Modern Physics: From Atoms to Quarks (Gordon and Breach, 1969)
- [2] A.U.Hazi and H.S.Taylor, Phys. Rev. A 1, 1109 (1970); E. J. Heller, H. A. Yamani, Phys. Rev. A 9 1201 (1974); H. A. Yamani, L. Fishman, J.Math. Phys. 16 410 (1975); J. T. Broad, Phys. Rev. A 18 1012 (1978).
- [3] G. F. Filippov, Yad. Fiz. (Sov. J. Nucl. Phys.) 33 928 (1980); G. F. Filippov, V. S. Vasilevsky,
 L. L. Chopovsky, Part. and Nucl. 16 349 (1985); G. F. Filippov, Riv. Nuovo Cim. 12 1 (1989).
- [4] Yu. I. Nechaev, Yu. F. Smirnov, Yad. Fiz. (Sov. J. Nucl. Phys.) 35 1385 (1982); Yu. F. Smirnov, in Symmetries in Sciences III, eds B.Gruber and F.Iachello, (Plenum Press) 349 (1989).
- [5] J. Révai, Preprint of JINR, (Dubna) E 4-9429 (1975); B. Gyarmati, A. I. Kruppa, Nucl. Phys. A 378 407 (1982); J. Révai, M. Sotona, J. J. Žofka, Phys. G11 745 (1985); A. I. Kruppa, Z. Papp, Comput. Phys. Commun. 36 59 (1985).
- [6] L. M. Kuznetsova, V. I. Kukulin and V. G. Neudatchin, Yad. Fiz. 13 694 (1971).

- [7] A. A. Mirolyubov and M. A. Soldatov, Linear Homogeneous Difference Equations (Nauka, Moscow, 1981)
- [8] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun, Handbook of Mathematical Functions (National Bureau of Standard, Applied Math. Series, 55, 1964)
- [9] F. E. Harris, Phys. Rev. Lett. 19 173 (1967).
- [10] R. L. Jaffe and F. E. Low, Phys. Rev. D 19 2105 (1979).
- Yu. F. Smirnov, A. M. Shirokov, Preprint ITP-88-47P, (Kiev), (1988). T. Ya. Mikhelashvili,
 A. M. Shirokov, Yu. F. Smirnov, J. Phys. G 16, 1241 (1990)
- [12] R. I. Jibuti, N. B. Krupennikova, Hyperspherical harmonics method in quantum mechanics of few bodies (Tbilisi, Metsniereba, 1984 (in Russian)).
- [13] L. Johansen et al., Phys. Lett. B 244, 357 (1990).
- [14] J. Mareš, Czech. J. Phys., B 37, 665 (1987).
- [15] J. M. Bang, B. V. Danilin, I. J. Thompson, J. S. Vaagen, M. V. Zhukov, Private communication.
- [16] G. F. Bertsch, H. Esbensen, Ann of Phys. 209, 327 (1991); H. Esbensen, G. F. Bertsch, Nucl. Phys. A 542, 310 (1992);
- [17] D. Sackett et al., Preprint MSUCL, Michigan State University, (1993).
- [18] T.Kobayashi et al. Phys. Lett. B 232 51 (1989).
- [19] J. V. Von Neuman, E. Wigner, Phys. Z. 30 465 (1929).

1995116551 402023 1P

N95-22968

- 12

GEOMETRICAL INTERPRETATION FOR THE SU(3) OUTER MULTIPLICITY LABEL

J.P. Draayer and D. Troltenier Department of Physics and Astronomy Louisiana State University Baton Rouge, LA 70803-4001, U.S.A.

Abstract

A geometrical interpretation for the outer multiplicity ρ that occurs in a reduction of the product of two SU(3) representations, $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi}) \times (\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu}) \rightarrow \sum_{\rho} (\lambda, \mu)_{\rho}$, is introduced. This coupling of proton (π) and neutron (ν) representations arises, for example, in both boson and fermion descriptions of heavy deformed nuclei. Attributing a geometry to the coupling raises the possibility of introducing a simple interaction that provides a physically meaningful way for distinguishing multiple occurrences of (λ, μ) values that can arise in such products.

1 Introduction

The objective of our program in nuclear structure physics has been to bridge the gap that exists between collective and shell-model descriptions of observed nuclear phenomena. Progress has been slow because of the difficulty in making realistic shell-model calculations, at least when measured against the background of the success of simpler collective models. Algebraic shell-model theories come closest to realizing this objective. Regarding the latter, there are two basic types of algebraic theories: those based on a boson description of the dynamics, such as the Interacting Boson Model (IBM) [1], and those which treat the nucleons as fermions.

(IBM) [1], and those which treat the indecome as indecome as indecome as SU(3) scheme. It is known The first and most familiar algebraic fermion model is the Elliott SU(3) scheme. It is known to work well for light $(A \le 28)$ nuclei [2]. Another is the Sp(3, R) (denoted Sp(6, R) sometimes) or symplectic model which is a natural multi- $\hbar\omega$ extension of the Elliott scheme [3]. For heavier systems $(A \ge 150)$ there are currently two algebraic models being employed: the so-called Fermion Dynamical Symmetry Model (FDSM) which identifies s and d fermion pair operators that form an algebra which closes under commutation (the SO(8) group for the n = 4 shell and Sp(6) for n = 5 and n = 6, which has SU(3) as a subgroup) and gives a possible microscopic interpretation of the IBM [4], and the pseudo-SU(3) model and its pseudo-symplectic extension which builds on the concept of good pseudo-spin symmetry in heavy nuclei [5, 6, 7].

the concept of good pseudo-spin symmetry in nearly index gravity is group. This is understandable The common algebraic structure in these theories is the SU(3) group. This is understandable because the angular momentum L and the deformation generating quadrupole operator Q – when restricted to a single major oscillator shell – are generators of SU(3). In particular, large irreducible representations (irreps) of SU(3) correspond to configurations of constant deformation. In

the next section we expand on the SU(3) - rotor connection, and in so doing establish a basis for the geometrical picture of the SU(3) outer multiplicity that is presented in the subsequent section. While no proofs are given, it should be clear from the discussion that the proposed scheme has potentially far reaching consequences regarding a physically motivated interpretation of the outer multiplicity whenever there is an applicable group contraction-expansion procedure, which is $SU(3) \leftrightarrow T_5 \wedge SO(3)$ in the present case. Here $T_5 \wedge SO(3)$ is the symmetry group of the rotor.

SU(3) - Rotor Connection 2

A geometrical interpretation for SU(3) can be achieved by looking at a shell-model interpretation of collective quadrupole motion as depicted in terms of a triaxial quantum rotor. The trick that we apply is to first express the Hamiltonian for the rotor in a frame-independent form because that expression can then be rewritten in terms of its corresponding microscopic operators. The rotor is a particularly elegant example because this prescription is easy to apply and leads immediately to the sought after shell-model representation. Furthermore, the operators that enter into the expression have historical significance, dating back to Racah's pioneering work on the $SU(3) \supset SO(3)$ symmetry group [8]. Since the argument is illustrative it bears repeating, but in an abbreviated form. A more complete description can be found in the book by Casten [9].

The triaxial rotor Hamiltonian is given by

$$H_{ROT} = A_1 I_1^2 + A_2 I_2^2 + A_3 I_3^2 \tag{1}$$

٠.,

where I_{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2, 3$) is the projection of the total angular momentum on the α -th body-fixed symmetry axis and A_{α} is the corresponding inertia parameter: $A_{\alpha} = 1/(2\mathcal{J}_{\alpha})$ where \mathcal{J}_{α} is the moment of inertia about the α -th principal axis. This familiar principal-axis form can be rewritten in a frame-independent representation by introducing three special scalar operators:

$$L^{2} = \sum_{\alpha} L_{\alpha} L_{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha} I_{\alpha}^{2},$$

$$X_{3}^{c} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} L_{\alpha} Q_{\alpha\beta}^{c} L_{\beta} = \sum_{\alpha} \lambda_{\alpha} I_{\alpha}^{2},$$

$$X_{4}^{c} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma} L_{\alpha} Q_{\alpha\beta}^{c} Q_{\beta\gamma}^{c} L_{\gamma} = \sum_{\alpha} \lambda_{\alpha}^{2} I_{\alpha}^{2}.$$
(2)

The L_{α} and $Q^{c}_{\alpha\beta}$ in this equation are Cartesian forms for the total angular momentum and collective quadrupole operators, respectively. (The superscript c appended to the Q denotes the collective quadrupole operator which has non-vanishing matrix elements between major shells $(n' = n, n \pm 2)$, in contrast with the *algebraic* quadrupole operators, $Q^a_{\alpha\beta}$, which have nonvanishing matrix elements only within a major shell, n' = n.) The last expression given for each scalar in eq.(2) is the form these operators take in the body-fixed, principal-axis system where the eigenvalues of the $Q_{\alpha\beta}^c$ are presumed to be sharp: $\langle Q_{\alpha\beta}^c \rangle = \lambda_{\alpha} \delta_{\alpha,\beta}$. These equations can be inverted to yield the I_{α}^2 in terms of L^2 , X_3^c , and X_4^c :

$$I_{\alpha}^{2} = \left[(\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}\lambda_{3})L^{2} + (\lambda_{\alpha}^{2})X_{3}^{c} + (\lambda_{\alpha})X_{4}^{c} \right] / D_{\alpha} \text{ where } D_{\alpha} \equiv 2\lambda_{\alpha}^{3} + \lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}\lambda_{3}.$$
(3)

Substituting this result for the I_{α}^2 into eq.(1) yields

$$H_{ROT} = aL^2 + bX_3^c + cX_4^c ; (4)$$

where a, b and c depend on the inertia parameters and the eigenvalues of $Q^{c}_{\alpha\beta}$:

$$a = \sum_{\alpha} a_{\alpha} A_{\alpha} , \quad b = \sum_{\alpha} b_{\alpha} A_{\alpha} , \quad c = \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} A_{\alpha} ,$$

$$a_{\alpha} = \frac{\lambda_{\beta} \lambda_{\gamma}}{2\lambda_{\alpha}^{2} + \lambda_{\beta} \lambda_{\gamma}} , \quad b_{\alpha} = \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}}{2\lambda_{\alpha}^{2} + \lambda_{\beta} \lambda_{\gamma}} , \quad c_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2\lambda_{\alpha}^{2} + \lambda_{\beta} \lambda_{\gamma}}$$
(5)

where $\alpha \neq \beta \neq \gamma \neq \alpha$.

A shell-model image of the rotor Hamiltonian can be obtained by substituting single-particle forms for the collective L_{α} and $Q_{\alpha\beta}^{c}$ operators: $L_{\alpha} = \sum_{i} l_{\alpha}(i)$ and $Q_{\alpha\beta}^{c} = \sum_{i} q_{\alpha\beta}^{c}(i)$. However, this ignores the shell structure and the fermion character of the many-body system. It is important to remember that while the L_{α} have non-vanishing matrix elements only within a major oscillator shell, the $Q^c_{\alpha\beta}$ couple shells differing by two quanta $(n' = n, n \pm 2)$. Indeed, the off-diagonal $(n' = n \pm 2)$ couplings are about equal in magnitude to the diagonal (n' = n) ones. It follows from this that operators like $Q^c \cdot Q^c$ and the X_3^c and X_4^c (even if used only as residual interactions) can destroy the shell structure. This catastrophe can be avoided easily by simply setting all offdiagonal couplings between major shells to zero, an action which corresponds to replacing the $Q^{c}_{\alpha\beta}$ operators by their algebraic counterparts, $Q^{a}_{\alpha\beta}$. Elliott was the first person to recognize that the $Q^{a}_{\alpha\beta}$ operators, along with the L_{α} , generate SU(3), the symmetry algebra of the isotropic harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian. The appropriate shell-model image of the rotor Hamiltonian, eqs.(1) and (4), is thus given by

$$H_{SU3} = H_0 + aL^2 + bX_3^c + cX_4^c, (6)$$

where H_0 is the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian.

Shell-model values for the λ_{α} are required to complete the mapping. This follows by equating invariants of the two theories, a very natural thing to do since constants of the motion relate to the important physics, which in turn should be independent of the particular description. Because SU(3) is a rank two group it has two invariants: C_2 with eigenvalue $[\lambda^2 + \lambda\mu + \mu^2 + 3(\lambda + \mu)]$, and C_3 with eigenvalue $[(\lambda - \mu)(\lambda + 2\mu + 3)(2\lambda + \mu + 3)/2]$, where λ and μ are SU(3) representation labels with $(\lambda + \mu)$ and μ , respectively, specifying the number of boxes in the first and second rows in a standard Young diagram labeling of irreps of the SU(3) group. Note that C_2 is of degree two in the generators of SU(3) while C_3 is of degree three. The symmetry group of the rotor $[T_5 \land SO(3)]$ also has two invariants: traces of the square $\{Trace[(Q_2)^2]\}\$ and cube $\{Trace[(Q_2)^3]\}$ of the collective quadrupole matrix. The eigenvalues of these two invariant operator forms are $\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^2 \to (k\beta)^2 \text{ and } \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \lambda_3 \to (k\beta)^3 \cos(3\gamma), \text{ respectively, where } (\beta, \gamma) \text{ are the shape variables}$ of the collective model and $k^2 = \frac{5}{9\pi} (Ar^2)^2$. The requirement of a linear correspondence between these two sets of invariants leads to the following relations,

$$\lambda_1 = -(\lambda - \mu)/3, \quad \lambda_2 = -(\lambda + 2\mu + 3)/3, \quad \lambda_3 = +(2\lambda + \mu + 3)/3.$$
 (7)

 $\langle - \rangle$

This correspondence, in turn, sets up a direct relationship between the (β, γ) shape variables of the collective model and the (λ, μ) irrep labels of SU(3),

$$\beta^{2} = \frac{4\pi}{5(A\bar{r}^{2})^{2}} \left[\lambda^{2} + \lambda\mu + \mu^{2} + 3(\lambda + \mu) + 3 \right], \quad \gamma = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3(\mu + 1)}}{2\lambda + \mu + 3} \right)$$
(8)

Since λ and μ are positive integers, this translates into a regular grid when superimposed on a traditional (β, γ) plot, with β the radius vector and γ the azimuthal angle:

$$k\beta_x = k\beta\cos(\gamma) = \frac{2\lambda + \mu + 3}{3}, \quad k\beta_y = k\beta\sin(\gamma) = \frac{\mu + 1}{\sqrt{3}}.$$
(9)

Each (λ, μ) -irrep corresponds to a unique value for the (β, γ) -pair. In the limit of large (λ, μ) values the constant +3 factor in λ_2 and λ_3 can be dropped and in so doing one arrives at the asymptotic results [3]. The +3 and +1 factors in β^2 and γ as well as those in β_x and β_y also disappear in this limit.

3 SU(3) - Outer Mulitiplicity

Having established the SU(3) - rotor connection, it is instructive to push the $(\beta, \gamma) \leftrightarrow (\lambda, \mu)$ connection to a consideration of a coupled double-rotor picture which is commonly used to describe heavy nuclei in a collective model framework, see Figure 1 ahead, with one rotor representing the protons (π) and another the neutrons (ν) . This associates physics with the SU(3) coupling picture and, as we will see in greater detail later, it also leads naturally to a geometrical interpretation for the SU(3) outer multiplicity label. This picture also suggests a natural way for parameterizing the proton-neutron interaction in terms of the geometry of this simple scheme, for example, one with final states of the same (λ, μ) but different multiplicity energetically separated from one another due to a simple interaction that senses the relative orientation of the parent proton-neutron configurations. We will return to this matter after making the geometrical picture quantitative for the special case of prolate proton-neutron $(\pi - \nu)$ parent configurations.

To get a feeling for the proposed scheme, consider the special case of prolate $\pi - \nu$ factors ($\gamma_{\pi} = 0$ and $\gamma_{\nu} = 0$) in the parent configuration. In this case it is sufficient to introduce a single angle θ which measures the relative orientation of the principal axes of the two distributions; rotations about either the proton or neutron symmetry axis effect no change, only rotations about an axis that is perpendicular to the plane defined by the principal axes are distinguishable. (The scissors mode used to describe B(M1) strengths gets its name from this simple picture ... θ measures the angle between the two blades of the scissors. Also note that the Exclusion Principle, which applies because the nucleons are considered to be fermions, is not violated by the coupling because the two distributions are made up of different particle types.) For $\theta = 0^{\circ}$ the two axially symmetric ellipsoids overlap maximally (aligned principal axes) whereas when $\theta = 90^{\circ}$ the principal axes are perpendicular to one another and the resulting overlap is a minimum.

The (β, γ) value of the product can be determined once β_{π} , β_{ν} and θ are specified. Recall that β and γ are determined respectively by the trace of the square and cube of the quadrupole matrix, see eq.(8), and that the quadrupole matrix of the joint distribution is just the sum of the separate proton and neutron distributions, with the second (Q_{ν}) rotated by an angle θ relative to the first (Q_{π}) : $Q = Q_{\pi} + RQ_{\nu}R^{-1}$ where $R = \exp(i\theta \cdot \hat{n})$ and \hat{n} points in the direction of $\hat{n}_{\pi} \times \hat{n}_{\nu}$ with \hat{n}_{π} and \hat{n}_{ν} defined to be unit vectors that point respectively along the proton and neutron symmetry axes. Or vice-versa, given β_{ν} , β_{π} and (β, γ) one can clearly deduce the relative orientation angle θ . This construction corresponds to the $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi} = 0) \otimes (\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu} = 0) \rightarrow \Sigma \oplus (\lambda, \mu)$ coupling in the SU(3) case which is known to be simply reducible, that is, each of the allowed (λ, μ) irreps in the product $[(\lambda, \mu) = (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu}, 0), (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 2, 1), (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 4, 2), \dots, (\lambda_{>} - \lambda_{<}, \lambda_{<})$, where

 $\lambda_{>} = \max(\lambda_{\pi}, \lambda_{\nu})$ and $\lambda_{<} = \min(\lambda_{\pi}, \lambda_{\nu})$], occurs once and only once. Arguing by analogy with the collective model picture, it is relatively easy to see that a discrete orientation angle θ_n can be associated with the $(\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 2n, n)$ irrep in the product $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi} = 0) \otimes (\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu} = 0)$ where n is an integer given by n = 0 ($\theta = 0^{\circ} \rightarrow ||$), 1, ..., $\min(\lambda_{\pi}, \lambda_{\nu})$ ($\theta = 90^{\circ} \rightarrow \perp$).



Figure 1: Schematic representation for the expansion of a product of two quadrupole mass distributions in terms of other quadrupole mass distributions. The upper product is for triaxial quantum rotors, which are characterized by the (β, γ) shape variables of the collective model and have a $[T_5 \land SO(3)]$ symmetry; the lower coupling is for (λ, μ) irreps of SU(3). The overlap function f_{Ω} is the inner product $\langle (\beta'', \gamma'') | (\beta, \gamma); (\beta', \gamma') \rangle_{\Omega}$ where $\Omega = (\psi, \theta, \phi)$ specifies the Euler angles giving the relative orientation of the principal axes of the unprimed $(|(\beta, \gamma)\rangle)$ and primed $\langle |(\beta', \gamma')\rangle\rangle$ systems. In the SU(3) case, the decomposition is a sum of SU(3) irreps with integer multiplicity ρ which can be determined by the Littlewood rules for coupling Young diagrams. The multiplicity ρ_{Ω} , like f_{Ω} , can be related to the number of distinguishable orientations of the two initial distributions that yield the final one.

Finding an expression for θ_n in terms of $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi} = 0)$, $(\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu} = 0)$, and the final (λ, μ) illustrates a prescription that can also be applied to the case of general shapes when the μ values of the factors $(\mu_{\alpha} \neq 0; \alpha = \pi, \nu)$ are non-zero. First of all note that the various (λ, μ) values that enter determine the eigenvalues of the corresponding quadrupole matrix, see eq.(7). It follows from this that an analytic form for θ_n can be derived by requiring that the roots of the characteristic equations for $Q_{\pi} + RQ_{\nu}R^{-1}$ and Q coincide: $|Q_{\pi} + RQ_{\nu}R^{-1}| \Leftrightarrow |Q|$. The solution to the set of equations that this condition generates, yields the following general result for θ_n as a function of λ_{π} and λ_{ν} :

$$\theta_n = \sin^{-1}([n(\lambda_\pi + \lambda_\nu - n)/(\lambda_\pi \lambda_\nu)]^{1/2}), \tag{10}$$

where the integer index $n = 0, 1, ..., \min(\lambda_{\pi}, \lambda_{\nu}) = \lambda_{<}$. Although this expression is symmetric in λ_{π} and λ_{ν} and goes respectively to 0° and 90° for n = 0 and $n = \lambda_{<}$ as required, it has no other obvious symmetry properties, and in particular, note that the allowed θ values are not distributed symmetrically about the $\theta = 45^{\circ}$ plane, a result that is related to the occurrence of the square root in the argument of the inverse sine function.

When one of the two factor distributions is triaxial ($\gamma_{\pi} \neq 0$ and $\gamma_{\nu} = 0$ or $\gamma_{\pi} = 0$ and $\gamma_{\nu} \neq 0$) the situation is only slightly more complicated. In this case two angles rather than one are required to specify the relative orientation of the two distributions: θ as introduced above to specify the relative orientation of the major axes, and another angle φ that specifies the rotation of the minor axes of the triaxial shape relative to an axis that is perpendicular to the plane defined by the principal axes of the two factor distributions. Only values of θ and φ that lie between 0° and 90° lead to distinguishable configurations. In the SU(3) case this construction corresponds to the $(\lambda_{\pi},\mu_{\pi}) \otimes (\lambda_{\nu},\mu_{\nu}) \rightarrow \Sigma \oplus (\lambda,\mu)$ coupling, where $\mu_{\pi} \neq 0$ and $\mu_{\nu} = 0$ or $\mu_{\pi} = 0$ and $\mu_{\nu} \neq 0$, respectively. While this SU(3) coupling is more complicated than the previous case, it remains simply reducible, that is, each of the allowed (λ, μ) irreps in the product occurs just one time. However, because one of the two μ values is now nonzero, the pattern of allowed final (λ, μ) values is considerably richer than in the previous case: $(\lambda, \mu) = (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{>}), (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 2, \mu_{>} + 1), \dots,$ $(\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 1, \mu_{>} - 1), (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 3, \mu_{>}), \dots, (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 2, \mu_{>} - 2), (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 4, \mu_{>} - 1), \dots, \text{ where } \mu_{>}$ $= \max(\mu_{\pi}, \mu_{\nu})$. The general result, $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi}) \otimes (\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu}) \rightarrow \sum_{m,n} \oplus (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\nu} - 2n - m, \mu_{>} + n - m)$, requires one additional non-negative integer (m) that specifies the number of completed (three box) columns in the final Young diagram.

In general one must deal with two triaxial shapes ($\gamma_{\pi} \neq 0$ and $\gamma_{\nu} \neq 0$) and the corresponding product distribution: $(\beta_{\pi}, \gamma_{\pi}) \times (\beta_{\nu}, \gamma_{\nu}) \rightarrow (\beta, \gamma)$. The geometrical interpretation is considerably more complicated in this case because three Euler angles (φ, θ, ϕ) are required to specify the relative orientation of the factor distributions. For $(\varphi, \theta, \phi) = (0^o, 0^o, 0^o)$ the major and minor axes of the sub-distributions coincide (maximum alignment) whereas if $(\varphi, \theta, \phi) = (0^{\circ}, 90^{\circ}, 0^{\circ})$ the semi-axes (y) remain aligned but the major (z) and minor (x) axes of the two systems are perpendicular to one another, etc. In the corresponding SU(3) case the allowed product configurations are again determined by the Littlewood Rules but now for the coupling of two two-rowed Young diagrams. There is a need for three $(\varphi, \theta, \phi) \leftrightarrow (m, n, \rho)$ rather than one [prolate shapes: $(\theta) \leftrightarrow (n)$] or two [one prolate and one triaxial shape: $(\theta, \phi) \leftrightarrow (m, n)$] quantum labels in this general case: $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi}) \otimes (\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu}) \rightarrow (\lambda_{\pi} + \lambda_{\mu} + m, \mu_{\pi} + \mu_{\nu} + n)_{\rho}$, where ρ is a non-negative integer index $(\rho = 1, 2, \ldots, \rho_{max})$ labeling distinct occurrences of the same (λ, μ) in the $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi}) \otimes (\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu})$ product. Working backwards, it should also be clear that the $(\beta, \gamma) \leftrightarrow (\lambda, \mu)$ correspondence can be used to give a geometrical interpretation to the abstract group theoretical concept of the outer multiplicity – at least for the SU(3) case – which has up until now escaped a simple physical interpretation. Specifically, the multiplicity ρ , together with m and n, can be considered to be a measure of the relative orientation of the two factor distributions. In this way the first $(\rho = 1)$ occurrence of (λ, μ) corresponds to a parent configuration oriented with one set of angles $(\varphi_1, \theta_1, \phi_1)$ while the second $(\rho = 2)$ solution corresponds to another set $(\varphi_2, \theta_2, \phi_2)$, and so on.

If $\rho_{max} = 1$, the corresponding (λ, μ) distribution can only be realized in one way. With this interpretation in hand the evaluation of reduced matrix elements and especially SU(3) coupling and recoupling coefficients should be revisited, looking for asymptotic solutions that exploit the geometrical concept of overlapping ellipsoidal mass distributions.

It is instructive to view the relationship between the rotor and SU(3) theories at a more fundamental level. This can be achieved by comparing the algebras of their symmetry groups. The symmetry group of the quantum rotor is the semi-direct product $T_5 \wedge SO(3)$ where T_5 is generated by the five independent components of the (spherical) collective quadrupole operator (Q^c_{μ}) and SO(3) is generated by the angular momentum operators (L_{μ}) . The generators of SU(3), on the other hand, are the Q^a_{μ} [see the discussion following eq.(1)] and the L_{μ} operators. If Q^x denotes a generic quadrupole operator, the commutation relations of the L_{μ} and the Q^x_{μ} are

$$\begin{bmatrix} L_{\mu}, L_{\nu} \end{bmatrix} = -\sqrt{2} < 1\mu, 1\nu | 1, \mu + \nu > L_{\mu+\nu} , \begin{bmatrix} L_{\mu}, Q_{\nu}^{x} \end{bmatrix} = -\sqrt{6} < 1\mu, 2\nu | 2, \mu + \nu > Q_{\mu+\nu}^{x} , \begin{bmatrix} Q_{\mu}^{x}, Q_{\nu}^{x} \end{bmatrix} = c < 2\mu, 2\nu | 1, \mu + \nu > L_{\mu+\nu} ,$$
 (11)

where c = 0 for $T_5 \wedge SO(3)$, $(Q^x = Q^c)$, $c = +3\sqrt{10}$ for SU(3) $(Q^x = Q^a)$, and $c = -3\sqrt{10}$ for a heretofore not mentioned group Sl(3,R) $[Q^x = Q^b \sim (x_i p_j + p_j x_i)]$ which is associated with shear degrees of freedom. In eq.(11) the $\langle -, -|-\rangle$ symbol denotes an ordinary SO(3) Clebsch-Gordan coefficient. [All three of these groups, $T_5 \wedge SO(3)$, SU(3), and Sl(3, R), are subgroups of the symplectic group Sp(3,R).] From these commutation relations it is easy to see how the SU(3) algebra reduces to that of $T_5 \wedge SO(3)$: if Q^a is divided by the square root of the second order invariant of SU(3) $(Q^a \leftarrow Q^a/\sqrt{C_2}$ where by definition the invariant $C_2 = (Q^a \cdot Q^a + 3L^2)/4$ commutes with the Q^a and L_{μ} operators), the first and second commutators in eq.(11) remain unchanged, while the $L_{\mu+\nu}$ on the right-hand-side of the third goes over into $L_{\mu+\nu}/C_2$ and for low L values in large SU(3) irreps, $L_{\mu+\nu}/C_2 \rightarrow 0$. This renormalization of the Q^a operator is a group contraction process and the arguments presented show the SU(3) algebra reduces to that of the quantum rotor. Differences between observables of the two theories occur because SU(3)is a compact group with finite dimensional irreps while $T_5 \wedge SO(3)$ is non-compact with infinite dimensional representations. Band termination and a fall-off in B(E2) strengths are examples.

4 Conclusion

A geometrical interpretation for the outer multiplicity ρ that occurs in a reduction of the product of two SU(3) representations, $(\lambda_{\pi}, \mu_{\pi}) \times (\lambda_{\nu}, \mu_{\nu}) \rightarrow \sum_{\rho} (\lambda, \mu)_{\rho}$, has been introduced. This structure arises, for example, in the coupling of proton (π) and neutron (ν) representations that occur in both boson and fermion descriptions of heavy deformed (rare earth and actinide) nuclei. Attributing a geometry to the proton-neutron coupling, raises the possibility of introducing a simple phenomenological interaction that provides a physically meaningful way for distinguishing among different (λ, μ) and multiple occurrences of the same (λ, μ) values that arise, for example, when coupling deformed proton and neutron configurations in heavy deformed nuclei.

Acknowledgments

Supported in part by the U.S. National Science Foundation. The work reported here was done largely while the author enjoyed a guest professorship with Professor Amand Fässler at the Institut für Theoretische Physik, Universität Tübingen, D-72076 Tübingen, FRG. Discussions with Chairul Bahri, Thomas Beuschel, Andrey Blokhin, and Jutta Escher are also gratefully acknowledged.

References

- [1] F. Iachello and A. Arima *The Interacting Boson Model* (Cambridge University Press, New York, 1987).
- [2] J. P. Elliott, Proc. Roy. Soc. London A245, 128, 562 (1958).
- [3] D. J. Rowe, Rep. Prog. Phys. 48, 1419 (1985).
- [4] C.-L. Wu, D. H. Feng, X.-G. Chen, J.-Q. Chen and M. W. Guidry, Phys. Rev. C 36, 1157 (1987).
- [5] A. Arima, M. Harvey and K. Shimizu, Phys. Lett. **30B**, 517 (1969).
- [6] K. T. Hecht and A. Adler, Nucl. Phys. A137, 129 (1969).
- [7] C. Bahri, J. P. Draayer, and S. A. Moszkowski, Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 1419 (1992).
- [8] G. Racah Group Theoretical Concepts ed. by F. Gursey (Gordon and Breach, NY 1964).
- [9] J.P. Draayer in: R. F. Casten, P. O. Lipas, D. D. Warner, T. Otskuka, K. Heyde, and J. P. Draayer Algebraic Approaches to Nuclear Structure ed. by R. F. Casten (Harwood, Singapore 1993).
- [10] D. Troltenier, J. A. Maruhn, W. Greiner, and P. O. Hess, Z Phys. A343, 25 (1992).
- [11] J. P. Draayer, Y. Leschber, S. C. Park, and R. Lopez, Compt. Phys. Com. 56, 279 (1989).
- [12] O. Castanos, J. G. Hirsch, O. Civitarese, and P. O. Hess (1993 preprint, UNAM, Mexico)
- [13] J. P. Draayer, S. C. Park, and O. Castanos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 62, 20 (1989).
- [14] O. Castanos O and J. P. Draayer, Nucl. Phys. A491, 349 (1989).

19951165524

512-12

N95- 22969

Boson Mapping Techniques applied to Constant Gauge Fields in QCD

¹ P.O.Hess, J.C.López² Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM, Circuito Exterior, A.P. 70-543, 04510 México D.F., Mexico

Abstract

Pairs of coordinates and derivatives of the constant gluon modes are mapped to new gluonpair fields and their derivatives. Applying this mapping to the Hamiltonian of constant gluon fields results for large coupling constants into an effective Hamiltonian which separates into a one describing a scalar field and another one for a field with spin two. The ground state is dominated by pairs of gluons coupled to color and spin zero with slight admixtures of color zero and spin two pairs. As color group we used SU(2).

1 Introduction

In this contribution we report on a possible non- perturbative treatment of Quantum- Chromo-Dynamics (QCD). As the color group we use SU(2). We further restrict to gluons only because due to their larger color charge, compared to quarks and anti- quarks, they will dominate at low energy, e.g., in the vacuum state. As has been indicated by several previous contributions [1, 2] the coupling to color, and spin zero pairs are dominating the low energy structure of QCD, at least in perturbative calculations. This leads to assume that pair correlations play an important role in the lowest energy state (the vacuum) and that boson mapping techniques may help to make more transparent the physical structure. Combined with many body techniques of nuclear physics this can represent a possibility to solve non-perturbatively QCD. The method presented in this contribution can, e.g., be applied to the Hamiltonian as proposed in ref. [3]. There the complete Hilbert space in a finite universe (radius of several fm) is mapped to a model space of constants modes only. The non- constant modes are taken perturbatively into account, leading to renormalized interaction constants.

In section 2 we discuss the boson mapping after having introduced the Hamiltonian of constant modes. Furthermore, we give the result of the mapped effective Hamiltonian in the limit of large coupling constant g. Finally in section 3 conclusions are given and future applications are mentioned.

¹work supported by Departamento General de Asuntos del Personal Académico (DGAPA-UNAM)

²present address: Institut für Theoretische Kernphysik, Universität Bonn, Nussallee 14-16, 53115 Bonn, Germany

2 A Boson Mapping of Pair Fields

Confinement properties of QCD are considered to be related to the infrared limit (large wave lengths) of the QCD. Therefore, in order to get a first idea one may just restrict to constant modes of gluons, i.e. the vector fields A_{ia} are approximated by constant fields denoted by c_{ia} . Here *i* is the space and *a* the color index, both ranging from 1 to 3 (in SU(2)- color the gluons are in the color T=1 representation). With this the Hamiltonian of gluonic QCD aquires the form[4]

$$\hat{H} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{ia} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial C_{ia} \partial C_{ia}} + \frac{1}{4} g^2 [(\sum_{1a} C_{ia} C_{ia})^2 - \sum_{ij} (\sum_{a} C_{ia} C_{ja}) (\sum_{b} C_{ib} C_{jb})]$$
(1)

where g is the coupling constant. If the non constant modes are included perturbatively higher terms will appear but the general pair structure, pairwise coupling to color zero (contraction over the indices a or b), remains. In equ. (1), having contracted over the color index, only spin zero and two pairs appear and therefore suggests to apply a boson mapping to the paired expressions. One often redefines $C_{ia} \rightarrow g^{-\frac{1}{3}}C_{ia}$ which as a result produces an overall factor $g^{\frac{2}{3}}$ in front of the Hamiltonian.

Normally boson mappings are related to boson creation and annihilation operators. For an excellent review see ref.[5]. One distinguishes between two types of boson mappings: (i) the Dyson (D) and the (ii) Holstein- Primakoff mapping (HP). The first one results into a non- hermitian Hamiltonian and the latter into a hermitian one. Both are equivalent and the problem is well defined but of course the HP gives a more pleasent hermitian structure of the Hamiltonian. Instead of using boson creation and annihilation operators we will use coordinates C_{ia} and derivatives $P^{ia} = \frac{\partial}{\partial C_{ia}}$ (for convnience we will use cartesian components, i.e. $P^{ia} = P_{ia}$). The reason for this is the more simpler and transparent structure of the Hamiltonian which would be very complicate in terms of the creation and annihilation operators. First we will give the Dyson mapping which is completely analog to the one using creation and annihilation operators. Then we go from there to the HP mapping which will be very different to the one in terms of creation and annihilation operators.

The boson- pair mapping is given by

$$(\sum_{a} C_{ia} C_{ja})_{D} = q_{ij}$$

$$(\sum_{a} P_{ia} P_{ja})_{D} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,k'} (p_{k'i} q_{k'k} p_{kj} + p_{kj} q_{kk'} p_{k'i}) - p_{ij}$$

$$(\sum_{a} C_{ia} P_{ja} + \frac{3}{2} \delta_{ij})_{D} = \sum_{k} q_{ik} p_{kj} + \frac{3}{2} \delta_{ij} \qquad (2)$$

with

$$[p_{ij}, q_{nm}] = \delta_{in}\delta_{jm} + \delta_{im}\delta_{jn} \tag{3}$$

In equation (2) the index D refers to "Dyson mapping". As can be seen the pair of derivatives does not preserve their hermitian structure under the D- mapping. Also the operator in the last line, which is introduced in order to obtain a closed algebra and is anti- hermitian in the original

space, does also not preserve the anti-hermitian property in the mapped space. The q_{ij} and p_{ij} are not yet normalized as can be seen from equ. (3).

That the hermitian properties are not preserved has to do with an additional assumption, namely that the volume element is of the simple form $d\mathbf{q} (=\prod_{i\leq j} q_{ij})$. However, if one assumes a more complicate volume element $d\mathbf{q}K^2(\mathbf{q})$ (in the argument of K the notation \mathbf{q} refers to the dependence on all q_{ij}) we can choose then $K(\mathbf{q})$ such that all hermitian properties are conserved. In order to recover the simple volume element we have to redefine all operators of equ. (2) (denoted now collectively by \hat{O}) and the wave functions Ψ by

$$(\hat{O})_{HP} = K(\mathbf{q})(\hat{O})_D K^{-1}(\mathbf{q})$$

$$(\Psi)_{HP} = K(\mathbf{q})(\psi)_D$$

$$(4)$$

where the index $HP_{|}$ now refers to the Holstein- Primakoff mapping.

The difference to the HP mapping using creation and annihilation operators becomes obvious when one remembers that in the latter the K is an operator depending on the Casimir operators of the unitary group U(3)[5, 6] (the generators are given in the last line of equ. (2) when C_{ia} is substituted by a creation and P_{ia} by an annihilation operator) while in our proposal the K is a function in the coordinates q_{ij} only. The equivalent in the other case would be a function in pairs of creation operators. Besides this essential difference the HP mapping results always into a nonpolynomial function in the operators, except this does not represent a difficulty when we deal with coordinates. Even if the function K is complicate we always can integrate numerically!

In order to determine the function K we require that the anti- hermitian property of $(\sum_{a} C_{ia} P_{ia} + \frac{3}{2}\delta_{ij})$ is preserved, i.e.

$$(K(\mathbf{q})(\sum_{a} C_{ia} P_{ja} + \frac{3}{2}\delta_{ij})_D K^{-1}(\mathbf{q}))^{\dagger} = -K(\mathbf{q})(\sum_{a} C_{ia} P_{ja} + \frac{3}{2}\delta_{ij})_D K^{-1}(\mathbf{q})$$
(5)

which results into the condition

$$\sum_{ik} (q_{ik} p_{ki} K(\mathbf{q})) = -\frac{3}{2} K(\mathbf{q})$$

$$\sum_{k} (q_{ik} p_{kj} K(\mathbf{q})) = 0 \quad \text{, for} \quad i \neq j \qquad (6)$$

This implies that $K(\mathbf{q})$ is a spin scalar and K^{-4} a sum of monomials of order 3 (note that $\sum_{ik}(q_{ik}p_{ki}q_{nn})=2q_{nn}$).

Because of lack of space we cannot go into details here but merely give a rough description of the results. The detailed analysis is given elsewhere[7]. The $K(\mathbf{q})$ is a function in the pair coordinates q_{ij} . Instead of using decoupled indices we can introduce coordinates of a given spin, i.e. $q_m^{[l]}$ with l = 0, 2. The exact dependence is obtained by using a linear combination of all possible monomials of order three with total spin zero. After that we made a change of variables by transforming $q_m^{[2]}$ to an intrinsic system very similar to what is done in the collective model of a nucleus where one transforms from the deformation quadrupole coordinate (which has also angular momentum 2) to a system where the quadrupole operator is diagonal[8]. Also here appear some kind of "deformation" coordinates β and γ . The physical interpretation is that they describe the deformation (distribution) of the wave function in coordinate space. Also we have transformed the coordinate $q_0^{[0]}$ to $\sqrt{2}q_0^{[0]} = q + \sqrt{2}\beta \cos(\gamma + \frac{\pi}{3})$. With this we obtain the final expression of the exact mapping of the Hamiltonian. However, this expression appears complicate at first sight. It gets more transparent when one developes around the minimum values of the potential. One finds that in lowest order the Hamiltonian can be separated in a sum of a pure q and $q_m^{[2]}$ dependent part:

$$\hat{H}_{q} = 2\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}g^{\frac{2}{3}} \left\{ -\frac{d}{dq}q\frac{d}{dq} + \frac{9}{4q} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}q^{2} \right\}$$

$$\hat{H}_{\beta} = 2\sqrt{5}g^{\frac{2}{3}} \left\{ -\left[\frac{d}{dq^{[2]}} \times \frac{d}{dq^{[2]}}\right]_{0}^{[0]} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{5}}\beta^{2}\left[4\cos^{2}(\gamma + \frac{\pi}{3}) + \frac{1}{2}\right] \right\}$$
(7)

where the square bracket with the cross (\times) inbetween means standart angular momentum couling. This result is only a good approximation when the coupling constant is large! Nevertheless we can construct a basis of functions with which we can also diagonalize the general expression. The interesting part of the above result is that we have a Hamiltonian in q which has a minimum in its potential for values of $q \neq 0$! This has as a consequence that the ground state will contain a q-condensate. The Hamiltonian in β is just an anharmonic oscillator, i.e., the ground state will contain small admixtures in the spin two pair. Within a rough approximation, and taking into account the relation of q with $q_0^{[0]}$ and β, γ , we can state that within the model of constant modes in QCD the vacuum state is dominated by a spin and color zero condensate.

3 Conclusions

We have applied a boson mapping technique to the model of constant modes of QCD. Instead of using creation and annihilation operators we used coordinates and derivatives. The non-hermitian Dyson mapping works very similar to the standart boson mapping[5, 6]. However, going from there to the Holstein- Primakoff mapping is quite different! The mapped Hamiltonian of the model of constant modes separates for large coupling constant into a part depending on q (essential the spin and color zero gluon pair) and the other depending on the color zero and spin two gluon pair. The spin zero part shows a minimum in the potential at values different from zero and thus produces a spin and color zero condensate for the vacuum state. The spin two part is an anharmonic oscillator and indicates slight admixtures of those bosons to the vacuum state. For large coupling constant the Hamiltonian separates into a sum of a pure (q, p) and a pure $(q_m^{[2]}, p_m^{[2]})$

The model used is of course very simple. Nevertheless, using the more realistic Hamiltonian of ref.[3] the principal qualitative results will not change. This contribution has to be seen as a further step towards the non- perturbative description of QCD. The detailed analysis of the results presented here are given in ref.[7].

References

.

,

- T.H.Hansson, K.Johnson, C.Peterson; Phys. Rev. D26 (1982), 2069
 C.E.Carlson, T.H.Hansson, C.Peterson; Phys. Rev. D30 (1984), 1594
- [2] P.O.Hess, R.D.Viollier; Nucl. Phys. A468 (1987), 414
- [3] M.Lüscher, G.Münster; Nucl. Phys. B232 (1984), 445
 P.van Baal, J.Koller; Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 174 (1987), 299
 P.van Baal, J.Koller; Nucl. Phys. B302 (1988), 1
- [4] G.K.Savvidy; Phys. Lett. **B159** (1985), 325
- [5] A.Klein, E.R.Marshalek; Rev. of Mod. Phys. 63 (1991), 375
- [6] K.T.Hecht; "The Vector Coherent State Method and its Application to problems of higher symmetries", Lecture Notes in Physics, Spinger, Heidelberg, Germany (1987)
- [7] J.C.López, P.O.Hess, "On the possible structure of the QCD vacuum for pure gauge fields and the method of boson mapping", sent for publication
- [8] J.M.Eisenberg, W.Greiner; "Nuclear Theory I: Nuclear Models", 3rd edition, North-Holland, Amsterdam, (1987)

•

1995116553

N95-22970

81

A POSSIBLE GENERALIZATION OF THE HARMONIC OSCILLATOR POTENTIAL

G. Lévai

Institute of Nuclear Research of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences Debrecen, PO Box 51, Hungary 4001

Abstract

A four-parameter potential is analyzed, which contains the three-dimensional harmonic oscillator as a special case. This potential is exactly solvable and retains several characteristics of the harmonic oscillator, and also of the Coulomb problem. The possibility of similar generalizations of other potentials is also pointed out.

1 Introduction

Searching for exact solutions of the Schrödinger equation has been an interesting challenge since the early period of quantum mechanics. This classic area has gained new momentum from the recent introduction of supersymmetric quantum mechanics (SUSYQM) [1], which relates pairs of essentially isospectral potentials to each other by means of (super)algebraic manipulations. (See, for example [2] for a recent review on SUSYQM, and [3] and references for its relation to other methods of analyzing isospectral potentials.) This new approach helped to view old problems from a new angle, and allowed unified, systematic treatment of previously unrelated results. New solutions of the Schrödinger equation have been described and classified, together with already known ones. The most well-known potentials have been shown to have the property of shape invariance [4], a concept introduced in SUSYQM. Much less is known, however, about the more general Natanzon potentials [5], which are, in principle, solvable, nevertheless their practical use is hindered by their complicated mathematical structure. The techniques inspired by SUSYQM allow a straightforward generalization of the simplest shape-invariant potentials, while avoiding most of the mathematical complications characterizing the general Natanzon potentials.

Here I discuss a potential which can be considered the simultaneous generalization of the threedimensional harmonic oscillator and Coulomb potentials: these two shape-invariant potentials can be obtained from it by tuning one of its four parameters. Its Coulomb limit has already been described [6], and here I discuss its connection with the harmonic oscillator. In contrast with other anharmonic oscillators, this potential converges to a finite value in the $r \to \infty$ limit. It also inherited several characteristics from its two "parent potentials", which may enable its applications to physical problems, where deviations from these two fundamental potentials are relevant.

In Section 2. I give a brief account of a simple procedure which can be used to derive exactly solvable potentials. Section 3. contains the main results of this contribution, while in Section 4. a summary is given and directions towards further investigations are pointed out.

2 Transformations of the Schrödinger Equation

Here I describe an old method of solving the Schrödinger equation to demonstrate how a wide range of solvable potentials can be derived in a relatively straightforward way. Originally this procedure was used [7] to derive only some well-known potentials, but it can be shown that the general Natanzon potentials can also be derived from it. This procedure was also connected to the formalism of SUSYQM [8].

The solutions of the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation (with $\hbar = 2m = 1$)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\Psi}{\mathrm{d}x^2} + (E - V(x))\Psi(x) = 0 \tag{1}$$

are generally written as

$$\Psi(x) = f(x)F(g(x)), \tag{2}$$

where F(g) is a special function which satisfies a second-order differential equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 F}{\mathrm{d}g^2} + Q(g)\frac{\mathrm{d}F}{\mathrm{d}g} + R(g)F(g) = 0.$$
(3)

Here Q(g) and R(g) are well-known for any specified special function F(g), while f(x) and g(x) are some functions to be determined. Substituting (2) in (1) and comparing the results with (3) we arrive at the following expression [8] after some straightforward algebra:

$$E - V(x) = \frac{g'''(x)}{2g'(x)} - \frac{3}{4} \left(\frac{g''(x)}{g'(x)}\right)^2 + (g'(x))^2 \left(R(g(x)) - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}Q(g)}{\mathrm{d}g} - \frac{1}{4}Q^2(g(x))\right).$$
(4)

Eq. (4) relates the only undetermined function g(x) to the difference of the energy E and the potential V(x). Observing that the energy term E on the left-handside of Eq. (4) represents a constant, the authors of Ref. [7] equated certain terms of the right-handside with a constant to account for it. This results simple differential equations for g(x). The authors in Ref. [7] applied this method to the hypergeometric and confluent hypergeometric function and obtained the solutions of some simple potentials.

Considering the particular example of the confluent hypergeometric function $F(-n,\beta;g(x))$ and introducing the simple $g(x) = \rho h(x)$ substitution we get

$$E_n - V(x) = \frac{h'''(x)}{2h'(x)} - \frac{3}{4} \left(\frac{h''(x)}{h'(x)}\right)^2 + \frac{(h'(x))^2}{h(x)} \rho \left(n + \frac{\beta}{2}\right) - (h'(x))^2 \frac{\rho^2}{4} + \frac{(h'(x))^2}{(h(x))^2} \frac{\beta}{2} \left(1 - \frac{\beta}{2}\right).$$
(5)

Identifying one of the last three terms on the right-hand side of Eq. (5) with a constant, the three shape-invariant potentials of the confluent hypergeometric case, the three-dimensional harmonic oscillator, the Coulomb problem and the Morse potential, are recovered. These potentials appear in the radial Schrödinger equation, therefore in what follows I shall replace x with r.

3 Generalization of the Harmonic Oscillator Potential

A straightforward way of generalizing the simplest possible solvable potentials to more general ones is identifying combinations of several terms on the right-hand side of (5) with a constant. This procedure recovers the Natanzon confluent potentials [5], the solutions of which contain confluent hypergeometric functions. The most general six-parameter version of these potentials can be obtained by considering the combination of all three terms on the right-hand side of (5), which explicitly contain parameters, however, the technical difficulties increase considerably in this case. The problem remains relatively easy to handle if we take the combination of two such terms only. Considering the differential equation

$$(h'(x))^2 \left(1 + \frac{\theta}{h(x)}\right) = C \tag{6}$$

corresponds to "mixing" the harmonic oscillator and the Coulomb potentials: $\theta \to 0$ recovers the latter one [6], while $\theta \to \infty$ combined with $C = \tilde{C}\theta$ yields the former one. (See Eq. (5)). The Coulomb limit has been discussed in detail in Ref. [6], and here we focus on the harmonic oscillator limit. The potential described here and in Ref. [6] is essentially the same for any finite value of θ , nevertheless, it is more convenient to use different notations when we discuss its connection to the two limiting case. In order to make the formalism of the two limits compatible with each other, here we follow the notations of Ref. [6] as closely as possible.

As described in [6], the differential equation (6) can be solved explicitly for the inverse r(h) function only:

$$r = \tilde{C}^{-1/2} \left(\theta^{1/2} \tanh^{-1} \left(\left(\frac{h}{h+\theta} \right)^{1/2} \right) + \left(h \left(1 + \frac{h}{\theta} \right) \right)^{1/2} \right).$$
(7)

This function, of course, can be used to determine h(r) as well to any desired accuracy.



FIG. 1. The h(r) function defined by Eq. (7), displayed for $\theta = 0.1, 1, 10, 100, \infty$ and $\tilde{C} = 1$. (Curves lying higher correspond to higher value of θ .)

We have plotted h(r) in Fig. 1. for several values of the parameter θ . As discussed in Ref. [6], h(r) can be approximated by $\tilde{C}r^2/4$ near the origin, and asymptotically follows $h(r) \to (\tilde{C}\theta)^{1/2}r$ in the $r \to \infty$ limit, which correspond to the h(r) functions characterizing the harmonic oscillator and Coulomb problems, respectively. (See e.g. Ref. [8].) The range of the transition between these two regions is governed by the θ parameter: it moves towards larger values of r as θ increases (see Fig. 1.), and disappears completely in the $\theta \to \infty$ (harmonic oscillator) limit.

Substituting h(r) into (5) and removing the *n*-dependence from the potential terms by introducing the constant

$$\widetilde{D} = \frac{\rho^2}{4} + \frac{\rho}{\theta} \left(n + \frac{\beta}{2} \right) \tag{8}$$

(which amounts to a specific choice of $\rho \equiv \rho_n$,) we arrive at the following potential

$$V(r) = \tilde{C}\tilde{D}\frac{h(r)}{1 + \frac{h(r)}{\theta}} + \left(\beta - \frac{3}{2}\right)\left(\beta - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\tilde{C}}{4h(r)\left(1 + \frac{h(r)}{\theta}\right)} - \frac{3\tilde{C}}{16\theta\left(1 + \frac{h(r)}{\theta}\right)^2} + \frac{5\tilde{C}}{16\theta\left(1 + \frac{h(r)}{\theta}\right)^3}$$
(9)

and energy eigenvalues

$$E_n = \tilde{C}(2n+\beta) \left(\left(\frac{1}{\theta^2} \left(n + \frac{\beta}{2} \right)^2 + \widetilde{D} \right)^{1/2} - \frac{1}{\theta} \left(n + \frac{\beta}{2} \right) \right).$$
(10)

These formulas differ from the corresponding ones in Ref. [6] only in a shift of the energy scale and in the usage of slightly different parameters. The changes reflect the difference between the Coulomb and harmonic oscillator limits of the general problem containing both potentials as a special case. These differences, however, do not essentially influence the form of the wavefunctions:

$$\Psi_{n}(r) = \frac{\tilde{C}^{1/4} \rho_{n}^{\frac{\beta+1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\beta)} \left(\frac{\Gamma(n+\beta)}{n!((\beta+2n)\theta^{-1}+\rho_{n})} \right)^{1/2} \times (1+h(r)/\theta)^{1/4}(h(r))^{\frac{2\beta-1}{4}} \exp\left(-\frac{\rho_{n}}{2}h(r)\right) F(-n,\beta;\rho_{n}h(r)).$$
(11)

(Here and in Eq. (10) n denotes the number of nodes in the radial wavefunction.)

As we can expect from (6), these formulas reduce to the corresponding ones for the harmonic oscillator in the $\theta \to \infty$ limit, if we introduce the notation $\omega = \tilde{C}\tilde{D}^{1/2}$ and $l = \beta - 3/2$. In particular, the two last terms in (9) vanish and the first and second terms transform into the harmonic oscillator and centrifugal terms, respectively. We have displayed V(r) and the position of some of the lowest-lying energy eigenvalues in Fig. 2. for some values of parameter θ . As it can be seen there, the oscillator character of the potential strenghtens with increasing θ . V(r) is oscillatorlike near the origin, and approximates the Coulomb potential (with $Ze^2 = \tilde{C}^{1/2}\tilde{D}\theta^{3/2}$) for large r. The domain of oscillator-like behavior expands with increasing θ : this is related to the structure of h(r) discussed previously. (See also Fig. 1.) Also, the energy spectrum is oscillator-like for small values of n, and Coulomb-like for large n: E_n converges to $E_{n\to\infty} = V(r \to \infty) = \tilde{C}\tilde{D}\theta$. See Ref. [6] for a more detailed description of V(r) in terms of powers of r.



FIG. 2. Potential V(r) in Eq. (9) displayed together with the lowest-lying energy levels for $\theta = 1, 10, 100$ and ∞ . The other parameters are $\tilde{C} = 1, \tilde{D} = 5$ and $\beta = 1.5$ in all cases. $V(r \to \infty) = \tilde{C}\tilde{D}\theta$ in each case.

Similarly to the Coulomb limit discussed in [6], this potential can be rewritten into the sum of a central, centrifugal and l-dependent part:

$$V(r) = V_0(r) + V_l(r) + \frac{l(l+1)}{r^2},$$
(12)

where

$$V_0(r) = \tilde{C}\tilde{D}\frac{h(r)}{1+h(r)/\theta} - \frac{3\tilde{C}}{16\theta(1+h(r)/\theta)^2} + \frac{5\tilde{C}}{16\theta(1+h(r)/\theta)^3},$$
(13)

and

$$V_l(r) = \frac{l(l+1)}{r^2} \left(\frac{\tilde{C}r^2}{4h(r)(1+h(r)/\theta)} - 1 \right) \equiv \frac{l(l+1)}{r^2} v(r).$$
(14)

The definition of l is, however, different in the two limits: $l = \beta/2 - 1$ for the Coulomb [6], and $l = \beta - 3/2$ for the oscillator limit. (Fig. 2. displays potentials with l = 0 only.) Also in contrast with the Coulomb limit, v(r) in Eq. (14) does not vanish for large values of r, rather it goes to the value -3/4. This, again, is the consequence of the asymptotical Coulomb-like character of V(r).

It is remarkable, that E_n depends on the combination $2n + \beta$ only (i.e. on 2n + l + 3/2 in the oscillator limit), therefore the generalized harmonic oscillator potential has a degeneracy pattern similar to that of the harmonic oscillator. In other words, the terms representing the anharmonicity do not remove the degeneracy of the energy levels.

This generalization of the harmonic oscillator potential could be applied to physical problems, where an attractive Coulomb potential is distorted by an oscillator-like potential component for small values of r. This is the case, for example, for a finite, homogenous, spherical charge distribution, but in that case the resulting potential can strictly be separated into two domains, where it *exactly* follows r^2 -like and r^{-1} -like behavour. The potential discussed here can be considered a deviation from this simple model problem. An example for a similar situation is discussed in Ref. [9] in connection with a potential experienced by electrons in certain crystal environments.

Finally, there are some other potentials occupying a similar intermediate position between the simple shape-invariant potentials and the general Natanzon potentials. Some of these, like the Woods-Saxon [10] and Ginocchio [11] potentials have been found earlier, while some others, the "PIII" [12] potential and those in Refs. [13,14,15] have been identified only recently, mainly in SUSYQM-related studies. See Ref. [6] for more details.

4 Summary

Here I have analyzed a four-parameter potential, which contains both the harmonic oscillator and the Coulomb potential as special cases. I have interpreted this potential as the generalization of the harmonic oscillator potential, and have established that it is a special admixture of a longrange attractive Coulomb term, and an oscillator-like term near the origin. This is also reflected in the structure of the energy spectrum.

Exact analytical solution of the radial Schrödinger equation can be obtained for any partial wave, however, an angular-momentum-dependent term appears for $l \neq 0$. A remarkable finding is that the anharmonicity appearing in the general form of the potential does not remove the degeneracy of the energy levels.

Similar generalizations of the harmonic oscillator and other well-known potentials are also possible by considering further simple differential equations similar to that in Eq. (6). These subclasses of the Natanzon potentials seem to be suitable for applications, because they have more flexible shape than the simplest solvable potentials, but may still remain relatively simple to handle mathematically.

Acknowledgments

The author is grateful to I. Nagy for pointing out Ref. [9]. This work has been supported by the OTKA Grant No F4303.

References

- [1] E. Witten, Nucl. Phys. B **188**, 513 (1981).
- [2] A. Lahiri, P. K. Roy and B. Bagchi, J. Mod. Phys. A 5, 1383 (1990).
- [3] G. Lévai, in Proc. "International Symposium on Quantum Inversion Theory and Applications", Bad Honnef, Germany, 1993, Ed. II. V. von Geramb, Springer–Verlag (Berlin), Lecture Notes in Physics 427, 107 (1993).
- [4] L. E. Gendenshtein, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. Pis. Red. 38, 299 (1983); (Engl. Transl. JETP Lett. 38, 356 (1983).
- [5] G. A. Natanzon, Teor. Mat. Fiz. **38**, 146 (1979).
- [6] G. Lévai and B. W. Williams, J. Phys. A **26**, 3301 (1993).
- [7] A. Bhattacharjie and E. C. G. Sudarshan, Nuovo Cimento 25, 864 (1962).
- [8] G. Lévai, J. Phys. A **22**, 689 (1989).
- [9] K. Moulopoulos and N. W. Ashcroft, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 2555 (1992).
- [10] S. Flügge, Practical Quantum Mechanics (Springer, Berlin, 1971).
- [11] J. N. Ginocchio, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) **152**, 203 (1984).
- [12] G. Lévai, J. Phys. A 24, 131 (1991).
- [13] S. Brajamani and C. A. Singh, J. Phys. A 23, 3421 (1990).
- [14] C. A. Singh and T. H. Devi, Phys. Lett. A 171, 249 (1992).
- [15] B. W. Williams and D. P. Poulios, Eur. J. Phys. 14, 222 (1993).

1995116554

314-12 N95-22971

AN ALGEBRAIC CLUSTER MODEL BASED ON THE 7/ HARMONIC OSCILLATOR BASIS

G. Lévai and J. Cseh

Institute of Nuclear Research of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences Debrecen, PO Box 51, Hungary 4001

Abstract

We discuss the semimicroscopic algebraic cluster model introduced recently, in which the internal structure of the nuclear clusters is described by the harmonic oscillator shell model, while their relative motion is accounted for by the Vibron model. The algebraic formulation of the model makes extensive use of techniques associated with harmonic oscillators and their symmetry group, SU(3). The model is applied to some cluster systems and is found to reproduce important characteristics of nuclei in the *sd*-shell region. An approximate SU(3) dynamical symmetry is also found to hold for the ${}^{12}C + {}^{12}C$ system.

1 Introduction

The harmonic oscillator and the SU(3) group have proven to be invaluable tools of nuclear physics. (See, e.g. Ref. [1].) These concepts can be used to describe complex physical systems in a relatively straightforward way by utilizing the advantages of the group theoretical description. The harmonic oscillator picture has been found to be a suitable approach to various nuclear excitations, which sometimes could also be related to each other in terms of it.

Clustering can be considered a special collective excitation of certain nuclei. The structure of these (mainly light) nuclei can be interpreted in terms of a picture based on the relative motion of two (or more) nuclear clusters. In order to describe these nuclear systems cluster models have to take into account the relative motion, as well as the internal structure of the clusters. These models generally differ in their basic model assumptions, mathematical formulation and, consequently, also in the range of their applicability. Microscopic cluster models apply effective two-nucleon forces and rigorously take into account the effect of the Pauli principle by using antisymmetrized wavefunctions. However, fully microscopic calculations may turn out to be prohibitively difficult for a large number of realistic cluster systems. Phenomenologic cluster models, which are based on less strict model₁ assumptions may have a wider range of applicability, and are generally used to describe a large amount of experimental data in a systematic way. Semimicroscopic cluster models by combining the microscopic (antisymmetrized) basis with phenomenologic cluster-cluster interactions. This allows calculations in a wider range of nuclei without forgetting about the fermionic nature of the nucleons, i.e. without abandoning the Pauli principle.

From the technical point of view, most of the cluster models apply the geometric description, i.e. they use (nucleon-nucleon or cluster-cluster) potentials and work in the geometric space, while

some others prefer the algebraic description in terms of creation and annihilation operators and the second quantized formalism. Harmonic oscillators appear in a natural way in both approaches and offer a convenient way of interrelating them.

Recently we have intoduced a semimicroscopic algebraic cluster model [2,3] which makes extensive use of the harmonic oscillator picture in describing the relative motion as well as the internal structure of the clusters. In the first applications of the model we tested its ability of reproducing certain features of realistic cluster systems and tried to estimate the validity of the harmonic oscillator picture it is based on.

2 The Semimicroscopic Algebraic Cluster Model

Our earlier attempts of describing various nuclear cluster systems in terms of a pheonomenologic cluster model, the Vibron model [4] and its extensions have revealed [5,6] that these models can not distinguish between Pauli-forbidden and allowed states: complete forbidden shells can be excluded by a simple rule, the Wildermuth condition, but no such distinction can be made within allowed shells. These studies, however, have also pointed out the importance of the SU(3) group as a possible of tool combining the relative motion and the internal structure of the clusters. This group appears in a special limit of the Vibron model accounting for the relative motion sector, and it can also be used to describe the internal excitations of the individual clusters. These preliminaries have paved the way to the introduction of the semimicroscopic algebraic cluster model [2,3].

In this model the internal structure of a cluster is described in terms of the SU(3) (harmonic oscillator) shell model [7], therefore its wavefunction is characterized by the $U_C^{ST}(4) \otimes U_C(3)$ symmetry, where C refers to cluster, and $U^{ST}(4)$ is Wigner's spin-isospin group [8]. The relative motion of the clusters is accounted for by the vibron model with $U_R(4)$ group structure [4]. The representation labels of the group chain

$$U_{C_{1}}^{ST}(4) \otimes U_{C_{1}}(3) \otimes U_{C_{2}}^{ST}(4) \otimes U_{C_{2}}(3) \otimes U_{R}(4)$$

$$\supset U_{C}^{ST}(4) \otimes U_{C}(3) \otimes U_{R}(3) \supset U_{C}^{S}(2) \otimes U(3)$$

$$\supset U_{C}^{S}(2) \otimes O(3) \supset U(2) \supset O(2)$$
(1)

provide us with the quantum numbers for the basis states of a two-cluster system. From this set we have to skip those states, which are Pauli forbidden, or which correspond to spurious excitations of the center of mass. A simple recipe for eliminating these states is applying a matching requirement between the quantum numbers of the shell model basis of the whole nucleus and its cluster model basis [2,3]. This recipe is based on the connection between the harmonic oscillator shell model and harmonic oscillator cluster model [10]. This procedure corresponds to a special truncation of the extensive shell model basis in the sense, that only those states survive, which are Pauli-allowed, and are relevant to the cluster structure under study.

When the internal structure of each cluster is described by a single $U_C^{ST}(4) \otimes U_C(3)$ representation, then the physical operators of the system can be obtained in terms of the generators of the $U_{C_1}^{ST}(4) \otimes U_{C_1}(3) \otimes U_{C_2}^{ST}(4) \otimes U_{C_2}(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ group. In such a case the description is algebraically closed, i.e. the matrix elements can be deduced by means of group theoretical techniques. In the limiting case when the Hamiltonian is given by the invariant operators of (1), then the eigenvalue problem has an analytical solution, and a U(3) dynamical symmetry is said to hold.

The problem can be simplified further if one or both of the clusters are even-even nuclei (i.e. they consist of even number of protons and neutrons). In this case the clusters are said to be $U_C^{ST}(4)$ scalars, furthermore, if the clusters are closed shell nuclei, then they are also $U_C(3)$ scalars. In this case these groups and the quantum numbers associated with them do not appear explicitly in the formulas. In Ref. [3] the formalism is presented in detail for the $U_C(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ and $U_{C_1}(3) \otimes U_{C_2}(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ models, as well as for the restricted $U_C^{ST}(4) \otimes U_C(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ model. In this latter case the restriction implies that only spin and isospin free interactions and a single $U_C^{ST}(4)$ representation are considered. If both of the clusters are $U_C^{ST}(4)$ and $U_C(3)$ scalars, the model reduces to that of the simple vibron model with a basis truncation corresponding to the Wildermuth condition [5].

Here we give a brief account of the $U_C(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ model, which is able to describe twocluster systems in which one of the clusters is a closed-shell nucleus (e.g. ${}^{4}He$, ${}^{16}O$, or ${}^{40}Ca$), while the other one is an even-even nucleus. In this simple case the basis states can be labeled without explicit reference to the $U^{ST}(4)$ group, (unless some higher excitations of the non-closedshell nucleus are also considered), and the cluster model basis states are characterized by the representation labels of the group chain:

$$U_{C}(3) \otimes U_{R}(4) \supset U_{C}(3) \otimes U_{R}(3) \supset SU_{C}(3) \otimes SU_{R}(3) \supset SU(3) \supset O(3) \supset O(2)$$

$$[[n_{1}^{C}, n_{2}^{C}, n_{3}^{C}], [N, 0, 0, 0], \qquad [n_{\pi}, 0, 0,], \ (\lambda_{C}, \mu_{C}), \ (n_{\pi}, 0), \ (\lambda, \mu), K_{L}, L, M \rangle.$$
(2)

The irreducible representations (λ, μ) of SU(3) are obtained by taking the outer product of $(\lambda_C, \mu_C) \otimes (n_{\pi}, 0)$. N stands for the maximal number of the excitation quanta assigned to the relative motion, and it determines the size of the model space. The angular momentum content of a (λ, μ) representation is given by the usual relations of the Elliott model [7]. For technical reasons, however, it is more convenient to use the orthonormal SU(3) basis of Draayer and Akiyama [11], rather than the Elliott basis, which is not orthogonal. The parity of the basis states is determined by the parity assigned to the relative motion: $P_R = (-1)^{n_{\pi}}$. (The internal states of the non-U(3)-scalar cluster carry positive parity $P_C = (-1)^{n_1^C + n_2^C + n_3^C}$, unless major shell excitations of the clusters are also considered.)

The coupled wavefunction can be expressed in terms of $SU(3) \supset O(3)$ Wigner coefficients:

$$\begin{aligned} &|(\lambda_C, \mu_C), N(n_{\pi}, 0); (\lambda, \mu)\chi LM \rangle \\ &= \sum_{\chi_C L_C M_C} \sum_{L_R M_R} \langle (\lambda_C, \mu_C) \chi_C L_C M_C; N(n_{\pi}, 0) L_R M_R | (\lambda, \mu) \chi LM \rangle \\ &\times |(\lambda_C, \mu_C) \chi_C L_C M_C \rangle |N(n_{\pi}, 0) L_R M_R \rangle. \end{aligned}$$
(3)

The physical operators can be constructed from the generators of the groups present in group chain (2). In particular, the most general form of the Hamiltonian can be obtained in terms of a series expansion of these generators. In the simplest case, however, when we use the SU(3)dynamical symmetry approximation, and consider only one $U_C(3)$ representation to describe the structure of the non-closed-shell even-even cluster, the energy eigenvalues can be obtained in a closed form:

$$E = \epsilon + \gamma n_{\pi} + \delta n_{\pi}^2 + \eta C_2(\lambda, \mu) + \beta L(L+1).$$
(4)

In this approximation the energy levels can easily be assigned to rotational bands labeled by the quantum numbers $n_{\pi}(\lambda, \mu)\chi$. (See Eqs. (3) and (4).) Bands following an approximate rotational pattern usually appear in the energy spectrum of nuclear cluster systems.

The electromagnetic transition operators are also constructed from the group generators, which automatically implies selection rules in the dynamical symmetry approximation. The electric quadrupole transition operator, for example, is written as the sum of the rank-2 generators of the $U_C(3)$ and the $U_R(3)$ groups:

$$T^{(E2)} = q_R Q_R^{(2)} + q_C Q_C^{(2)}.$$
 (5)

The matrix elements of the operators with the basis states (3) are calculated using tensor algebraic techniques [12].

The formulation of the $U_{C_1}(3) \otimes U_{C_2}(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ and $U_C^{ST}(4) \otimes U_C(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ models can be done via a straightforward generalization of the results presented here. These models can also be used away from the SU(3) dynamical symmetry limit: in this case the diagonalization of the Hamiltonian becomes necessary. Although the interactions applied in this approach are phenomenological ones, they can be related to the effective two-nucleon forces, due to the use of the microscopic SU(3) cluster model basis. See Ref. [13] for the details.

3 Applications

The applications of the semimicroscopic algebraic cluster model have been carried out so far within the SU(3) dynamical symmetry approximation. This approximation allows exact analytical expression of the energy eigenvalues and electromagnetic transition rates in terms of reduced matrix elements, Clebsch-Gordan coefficients, etc. obtained from the algebraic description. Its validity, and also that of the underlying oscillator picture can be estimated¹ from the comparison of the results with the corresponding experimental data.

As an illustrative example we present here the description of the T = 0 states of the ${}^{24}Mg$ nucleus in terms of a ${}^{12}C + {}^{12}C$ cluster model [14]. The structure of this nucleus has been studied carefully via various reactions both in the ground-state region and in the ragion of molecular resonances observed in ${}^{12}C + {}^{12}C$ heavy ion collisions. These experiments have resulted a large amount of experimental information on the structure of the ${}^{24}Mg$ nucleus. Most of the theoretical investigations have focused only on one of the two regions mentioned above, and relatively little effort has been put into their simultaneous investigation.

Our aim was to give a unified description of these two domains in terms of the $U_{C_1}(3) \otimes U_{C_2}(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ model. In this description the internal structure of the ¹²C clusters is accounted for by the $(\lambda_C, \mu_C) = (0, 4) U_C(3)$ representation, which corresponds to an oblate deformation in the geometric picture. We have analyzed about 150 experimental levels in the energy range of 0 to 40 MeV (see Fig. 1.), and nearly 100 electric quadrupole transition probability data in our study, which is a more complete account of the energy spectrum and E2 transitions of the ²⁴Mg nucleus than any previous model calculation. We have displayed the B(E2) values for the in-band transitions in Table I. Our results for interband E2 transitions are also satisfactory. The fact that most of the transitions forbidden by the selection rules due to the SU(3) dynamical symmetry have very weak experimental counterparts seems to indicate that the SU(3) dynamical symmetry approach is a realistic approximation of the actual physical situation here. The model
was able to describe the general features of the moleular resonance spectrum as well. E2 transition probabilities calculated for in-band transitions within this region were significantly smaller than most of the corresponding results of other models. The example of the ${}^{12}C + {}^{12}C$ system demonstrated that a large number of experimental data, including the ground-state region as well as the highly excited molecular resonances can be reconciled in terms of relatively straightforward calculations, which is one of the major advantages of the semimicroscopic algebraic cluster model.



FIG. 1. Positive- and negative-parity T = 0 energy levels of the ²⁴Mg nucleus displayed separately in rotational diagram form [14]. Circles (\circ) stand for states with uncertain J^{π} assignment. The lines denote the position of the calculated model bands. (Dashed lines indicate bands with $\chi = 0$, which contain only every second possible J value.)

Similar conclusions have been drawn from another application of the model to the ${}^{14}C + \alpha$ system in terms of the restricted $U_C^{ST}(3) \otimes U_C(3) \otimes U_R(4)$ model, describing the T = 1 states of the ${}^{18}O$ nucleus [15]. Being a considerably less complex nuclear system than ${}^{12}C + {}^{12}C$, this example also allowed comparison of our results with those of microscopic calculations. We have found strong correlation between these two data sets, which seems to indicate, that the semimicroscopic algebraic cluster model approximates certain microscopic features reasonably well.

The model has been applied in other areas of nuclear physics as well, where the cluster picture may be relevant. In particular, the link between superdeformed and cluster states of α -like (N = Z = even) nuclei has been discussed [16]; the allowed and forbidden binary fission modes

of ground-state-like configurations in sd-shell nuclei have been studied [17]; and the possibility of describing exotic cluster radioactivity has been pointed out via the example of $^{210}Pb + {}^{14}C$ clusterization of the ${}^{224}Ra$ nucleus [18]. In this latter case the model has to be adapted to heavy nuclei by introducing the pseudo-SU(3) scheme.

$J_i^{\pi}(E_{xi})$	$J_f^{\pi}(E_x f)$	$B(E2)_{Exp}$	$B(E2)_{Th}$	$n_{\pi}(\lambda,\mu)\chi$
$2^+(1.37)$	$0^+(0.0)$	21.0 ± 0.4^{a}	21.0ª	12(8,4)0
$4^+(4.12)$	$2^{+}(1.37)$	37.8 ± 3.0	28.0	
$6^+(8.11)$	$4^{+}(4.12)$	38 ± 13	27.1	
8+(13.21)	$6^+(8.11)$	30 ± 14	23.1	
$3^{+}(5.24)$	$2^{+}(4.24)$	38.0 ± 5.5	37.5	12(8,4)2
$4^+(6.01)$	$2^{+}(4.24)$	18.7 ± 2.4	11.4	
$5^+(7.81)$	$3^{+}(5.24)$	35.0 ± 4.9	17.5	
$5^+(7.81)$	$4^{+}(6.01)$	24 ± 10	19.5	
$6^+(9.53)$	$4^+(6.01)$	18 ± 8	18.0	
$7^+(12.35)$	$5^{+}(7.81)$	21 ± 14	19.7	
8+(14.15)	$6^+(9.53)$	9.1 ± 2.4	13.7	
$2^{+}(8.65)$	$0^{+}(6.43)$	14.0 ± 4.3	12.4	12(6,2)0
$6^+(12.86)$	$4^+(9.30)$	11.2 ± 2.1	12.2	
$5^{-}(10.03)$	$3^{-}(8.36)$	20^{+8}_{-5}	34.7	13(9,4)0
$7^{-}(12.44)$	$5^{-}(10.03)$	51 ± 10	32.3	
$5^{-}(13.06)$	$3^{-}(10.33)$	22 ± 4	28.1	13(8,3)1
$4^{-}(9 30)$	$3^{-}(7.62)$	29 ± 6	35.1	13(8.3)3
$5^{-}(11.60)$	$3^{-}(7.62)$	4.6 ± 1.4	7.3	
$5^{-}(11.60)$	$4^{-}(9.30)$	37 ± 11	31.8	

TABLE I. In-band transitions for the ²⁴Mg nucleus. See Ref. [14] for the sources of the experimental data. The quantum numbers $n_{\pi}(\lambda,\mu)\chi$ assigned to the bands are also displayed.

^a Used to fit model parameters.

4 Summary and Outlook

We have discussed the new semimicroscopic algebraic cluster model, in which a harmonic oscillator picture is used to account for the internal structure and the relative motion of nuclear clusters. The model combines a microscopic harmonic oscillator basis with phenomenologic interactions formulated in algebraic terms. Its first applications to realistic nuclear systems have shown, that it is able to describe a large amount of experimental data in a coherent way, and also seems to reproduce certain microscopic effects reasonably well. The SU(3) dynamical symmetry limit of the model was found to be a realistic approximation for several sd-shell nuclei. The model can be developed further along several lines. First, the treatment of cluster systems with arbitrary open-shell structure can be considered by introducing spin and isospin degrees of freedom. The formalism of the model can also be extended to incorporate several internal configurations, including major shell excitations. Furthermore, by considering symmetry breaking terms in the Hamiltonian a more realistic description of nuclei can be given, relaxing, for example the selection rules imposed by the SU(3) dynamical symmetry.

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported by the OTKA Grant No 3008.

References

- [1] P. Kramer and M. Moshinsky, in *Group Theory and its Applications*, (Ed. E. M. Loebl; Academic Press, New York, 1968) p.339.
- [2] J. Cseh, Phys. Lett. B 281, 173 (1992).
- [3] J. Cseh and G. Lévai, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.), 230, 165 (1994).
- [4] F. Iachello and R.D. Levine, J. Chem. Phys. 77, 3046 (1982).
- [5] J. Cseh, and G. Lévai, Phys. Rev. C 38, 972 (1988).
- [6] G. Lévai and J. Cseh, Phys. Rev. C 44, 152 and 166 (1991).
- [7] J. P. Elliott, Proc. Roy. Soc. A 245, 128 and 562 (1958).
- [8] E.P. Wigner, Phys. Rev. 51, 106 (1937).
- [9] H. Horiuchi and K. Ikeda, Cluster Models and Other Topics, (World Scientific, Singapore, 1986).
- [10] K. Wildermuth and Th. Kanellopoulos, Nucl. Phys. 7, 150 (1958).
- [11] J. P. Draayer, and Y. Akiyama, J. Math. Phys. 14, 1904 (1973).
- [12] B. G. Wybourne, Classical Groups for Physicists, (Wiley, New York, 1974).
- [13] K. Varga and J. Cseh, Phys. Rev. C 48, 602 (1993).
- [14] J. Cseh, G. Lévai, and W. Scheid, Phys. Rev. C 48, 1724 (1993).
- [15] G. Lévai, J. Cseh, and W. Scheid, Phys. Rev. C 46, 548 (1992).
- [16] J. Cseh and W. Scheid, J. Phys. G 18, 1419 (1992).
- [17] J. Cseh, J. Phys. G 19, L97 (1993).
- [18] J. Cseh, R.K. Gupta, and W. Scheid, Phys. Lett. B 299, 205 (1993).

1995116555

N95-22972

HARMONIC OSCILLATOR IN QUANTUM ROTATIONAL SPECTRA: MOLECULES AND NUCLEI

I. M. Pavlichenkov

Russian Research Center "Kurchatov Institute", Moscow, 123182, Russia

Abstract

The mapping of a rotational dynamics on a harmonic oscillator one is considered. The method is used for studying the stabilization of the rigid top rotation around the intermediate moment of inertia axis by orbiting particle.

1 Introduction

The quantum rotation is a specific type of excitation of microscopic system: hadrons, nuclei, molecules, and even atoms. The rotational excitations of molecules and nuclei have been studied in more detail. Electronic excitations are much higher than vibrational ones for most so-called "normal" molecules. Therefore they may be described adequately in the Born-Oppenheimer approximation. There is no analog of the Born-Oppenheimer approximation for atomic nuclei. Yet the occurrence of the rotational bands with strong (nearly 100 single particles) E2-transitions between neighboring states shows the existence of the collective rotation. All nucleons participate cooperatively into this collective motion with internal degrees of freedom being frozen completely or partly. The rotational excitations are grouped into rotational bands having states characterized in simplest case of a rigid axially-symmetric top by the energy ($\hbar = 1$)

$$E = I(I+1)/2\Im,\tag{1}$$

and quantum number I of the total angular momentum. \Im is a moment of inertia. A simplest non-axial system is a rigid asymmetric top with the Hamiltonian

$$H = A_1 I_1^2 + A_2 I_2^2 + A_3 I_3^2, (2)$$

where I_{α} are the projections of the total angular momentum operator on the BFF (body-fixed frame) axes $\alpha = 1, 2, 3$. The rotational constants $A_{\alpha} = 1/(2\Im_{\alpha})$ depend on the principal moments of inertia \Im_{α} . The rotational band of an asymmetric top consists of rotational multiplets, i.e., of the levels with the same value of the quantum number *I*. Besides *I*, these levels are characterized by the irreducible representations of the group $D_2 = \{1, \Re_1, \Re_2, \Re_3\}$, which contains the identity operator and three 180° rotations around the BFF axes $\Re_{\alpha}(\pi) = exp(-i\pi I_{\alpha})$. The irreducible representations of D_2 are labeled a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2 . They correspond to the eigenvalues $r_{\alpha} = \pm 1$ of the operators \Re_{α} . The subscripts 1 and 2 label even and odd symmetry levels with respect to the \Re_2 rotation, *a* and *b* label even and odd symmetry levels with respect to the \Re_3 rotation. Note that $r_1r_2r_3 = 1$ is true for each four representations.

Different methods are used to solve the Hamiltonian (2). As the first step we will calculate the classical rotation energy E as the function defined in the system phase space (a rotational energy surface). The phase space of a rotational motion is formed by three Euler angles ϕ, ϑ, ψ and three conjugated momenta $p_{\phi}, p_{\vartheta}, p_{\psi}$. The absolute value of the angular momentum I and its projection $I_z = p_{\phi}$ on the z-axis of the space-fixed frame are the integrals of motion. It is suitable to do the canonical transformation [1] to new conjugated variables I and q_I , I_z and q_z , I_3 and q. Since q_I and q_z are cyclic variables, the phase space of a rotational motion is two-dimensional. It is convenient to map it on the surface of the sphere of the I radius with a center in the origin of the BFF. The point on the sphere with coordinates θ and φ determines the orientation of the vector I in the BFF. The canonical transformation enables us to relate the conjugated variables I_3 and q to the angles θ and φ . For $I_z = q_I = 0$ and an arbitrary q, we have $\cos \theta = I_3/I$, $\varphi = \frac{\pi}{2} - q$. Thus, the trajectories of the tip of I on the phase sphere are classical trajectories of the system in its rotational phase space. When the rotational energy is close to A_1I^2 or A_3I^2 , where A_1 and A_3 correspond to the smallest or the largest moment of inertia, the classical trajectories are small ellipses around axes 1 or 3. They represent precession motion around these axes. The trajectories close to axis 2 with the intermediate moment of inertia are unclosed. They represent unstable motion. A small deviation from this axis takes a top away from it.

2 Precession motion

Let us begin with classical precession. It is described by the Euler equations

$$\dot{I}_{\alpha} = \{H, I_{\alpha}\}, \ \alpha = 1, 2, 3,$$
(3)

for the projections of the vector **I** on the BFF axes. In this equation $\{\ldots\}$ are the Poisson brackets. Let us introduce the classical concept of stationary rotation axis defined by the three equations $\{H, I_{0\alpha}\} = 0$. The stationary states I_0 are identical with the fixed points of the energy surface. There are three stationary axes coinciding with the principal axes of a rigid top. For small precession around axis 1 $(I_1 \approx I; I_2, I_3 \ll I)$ Eqs. (3) have the form

$$\dot{I}_2 = -(A_3 - A_1)II_3, (4) \dot{I}_3 = (A_2 - A_1)II_2. (4)$$

They describe a harmonic oscillation motion

$$I_2(t) = i_0 \sqrt{A_3/A_1 - 1} \cos \omega_{11} t, \quad I_3(t) = -i_0 \sqrt{A_2/A_1 - 1} \sin \omega_{11} t, \tag{5}$$

with small amplitude i_0 and frequency

$$\omega_{11} = 2I\sqrt{(A_2 - A_1)(A_3 - A_1)}.$$
(6)

In the BFF, the I vector precess around axis 1 and, in the laboratory frame, the top precess around the angular momentum I. It follows from the stability condition $\omega^2 > 0$ that the precession motion around the axis with the smallest or the largest moment of inertia is stable and around the axis with the intermediate one is unstable.

To obtain the energy level structure of a rotational band corresponding to a precession motion one must quantize this motion. It can be done by different methods. Holstein-Primakoff Representation of Angular Momentum Operators. The method developed by Marshalek for a quantized rotator [2] is based on the one boson realization of angular momentum operators [3]

$$I_1 = I - b^+ b, \quad I_+ = I_2 + iI_3 = b^+ \sqrt{2I - b^+ b} = (I_-)^+,$$
(7)

in the space of wavefunctions

$$\varphi_{I\nu} = \sum_{K=-I}^{I} a_{K\nu} \frac{(b^+)^{I-K}}{[(I-K)!]^{1/2}} \mid 0\rangle,$$
(8)

where ν is the quantum number of a state in a rotational multiplet. The state $|0\rangle$ corresponding to K = I is a vacuum state of the boson creation and annihilation operators b^+ , b. For describing precession motion we expand the square-root operator in I_+ and I_- in the series of a small quantity \hat{n}/I , where $\hat{n} = b^+b$ is the boson number operator. In the harmonic approximation $(n \ll I)$, the Hamiltonian (2) is quadratic in boson operators

$$H = A_1 I^2 + \frac{I}{2} (A_2 + A_3) + I(A_2 + A_3 - 2A_1)b^+b + \frac{I}{2} (A_2 + A_3)(b^+b + bb).$$
(9)

The Hamiltonian (9) can be diagonalized by a canonical transformation

$$b = u\beta + v\beta^+, |u|^2 - |v|^2 = 1,$$
 (10)

to new boson operators β and β^+ . The energy of the lowest levels is given by

$$E_{In} = A_1 I(I+1) + \omega_{11}(n+1/2), \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (11)

The quantum number n describes the precession motion. For the state with n = 0 the wave function

$$\varphi_{I0} = |u|^{-1/2} \exp\left(\frac{v}{2u}b^+b^+\right) |0\rangle, \qquad (12)$$

localizes near rotational axis 1. It corresponds to the sharply localized orientation of the angular momentum I along the positive direction of axis 1. Eq. (12) is not the eigenfunction of D_2 symmetries. Thus, the harmonic approximation is a "symmetry-breaking approximation." Being a linear theory it cannot describe tunneling the vector I through a potential barrier separating two degenerate minima.

Bargmann Representation [4]. Let us consider the complex variable

$$\zeta = x + iy = e^{i\varphi} \cot \frac{\theta}{2},\tag{13}$$

which is the stereographic projection of a point on the phase sphere with polar angles θ and φ on the plane passing through the south pole. As shown in Ref. [5], it is possible to construct the SU(2) group representation in the space of the polynomials

$$\varphi(\zeta) = \sum_{K=-I}^{I} a_K \zeta^{I+K}.$$
(14)

The angular momentum operators in this representation have the form

$$I_1 = I\zeta + \frac{1}{2}(1-\zeta^2)\frac{d}{d\zeta}, \ I_2 = -iI\zeta + \frac{i}{2}(1+\zeta^2)\frac{d}{d\zeta}, \ I_3 = -I + \zeta\frac{d}{d\zeta}.$$
 (15)

Many problems in nuclear and molecular physics can be treated by this approach [6]. With the operators (15), the Schrödinger equation for a top is reduced to the Heine equation [7]. To describe for example the precession motion around axis 3 we should consider the approximation $|\zeta| \ll 1$.

Approximate Solution of Reccurence Relations. This method is based on the approximation of recurrence relations by a second-order differential equation for high-I values [8]. The eigenfunction of the Hamiltonian (2) can be written in the form

$$\Psi_{IM\nu} = \sum_{K=-I}^{I} a_{IK\nu} D^{I}_{MK}(\vartheta), \qquad (16)$$

where M and K are the quantum numbers of the operators I_z and I_3 respectively. D_{MK}^I is the Wigner function depending on the Euler angles ϑ . For the coefficients $a_{IK\nu}$, the three-term recurrence relation is obtained

$$P_{K}a_{I,K-2,\nu} + (H_{KK} - E_{I\nu})a_{IK\nu} + P_{K+2}a_{I,K+2,\nu} = 0,$$
(17)

where

$$H_{K} = H_{KK} = \frac{1}{2}(A_{1} + A_{2}) + \frac{1}{2}(2A_{3} - A_{1} - A_{2})K^{2},$$

$$P_{K} = H_{KK-2} = \frac{1}{4}(A_{1} - A_{2})[(I - K + 2)(I + K - 1)(I - K + 1)(I + K)]^{1/2}.$$
(18)

By using the small parameter $\delta = [I(I+1)]^{-1/2}$ let us introduce the continuous variable $k = K\delta$. We will treat the coefficients P and H as the smooth functions of this variable. As a result, the recurrence relation (17) may be rewritten in the form of the Schrödinger equation

$$I(I+1)\mathbf{H}a_{I\nu}(k) = E_{I\nu}a_{I\nu}(k),$$
(19)

. . . .

with the Hamiltonian

$$\mathbf{H} = [P(k+2\delta) + P(k)]\cos 2\hat{p}\delta + i[P(k+2\delta) - P(k)]\sin 2\hat{p}\delta + H(k),$$
(20)

where $\hat{p} = -id/dk$ is the canonically conjugated momentum to the coordinate k.

In the harmonic approximation $K \ll I$, Eq. (19) is reduced to the second-order differential equation

$$\frac{d^2 a_{I\nu}}{dK^2} + 2m[E - A_1 I(I+1) - V(K)]a_{I\nu} = 0,$$
(21)

in the space of quantum numbers K. The equation describes the motion of the angular momentum I with effective mass $m = 1/[2(A_2 - A_1)I(I+1)]$ in potential $V(K) = (A_3 - A_1)K^2$. This harmonic oscillator has the energy spectrum (11) and the wave function

$$a_{In} = \left[\frac{2}{2^n n!} \sqrt{\frac{2w}{\pi(2I+1)}}\right]^{1/2} H_n\left(K\sqrt{\frac{2w}{2I+1}}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{wK^2}{2I+1}\right),\tag{22}$$

where $w = [(A_3 - A_1)/(A_2 - A_1)]^{1/2}$, and H_n is the Hermite polynomial. We have again a sharp localized state with broken symmetry.

The rotational dynamics of real many-body systems is more complicated than that of a rigid top because of the centrifugal and Coriolis forces. However the harmonic approximation can be used in this chase to understand the physical nature of the phenomenon under study. The example is bifurcations in quantum rotational spectra considered in Ref. [9]. In the next section we consider another problem having a bearing on a precessional motion.

3 Precession Motion around Intermediate Moment of Inertia Axis

As we proved above, the rotation of a rigid top around the intermediate axis is unstable. This is not a case if a system has additional degrees of freedom apart from rotational ones. We are going to consider a particle coupled with an asymmetric rigid top. This is the situation of one-electron Rydberg states in triatomic molecules, such as H_2O [10], and rotational bands in odd deformed nuclei [11].

The Born-Oppenheimer approximation breaks down in the molecular Rydberg spectra. As the total angular momentum I increases, the rotational levels pass from Hund's case (a) or (b) (the strong-coupling scheme), where the electronic splitting is large compared with the rotational one, to the Hund's case (d) (the weak-coupling scheme), where it is small. The model of an isolated j-complex is widely used for the description of the transition from strong to weak coupling in nuclear [11] and molecular [12] physics. This approximation is valid if coupling the states of a j-complex with other Rydberg states is small compared to the Coriolis coupling. The assumption means that one-particle angular momentum \mathbf{j} is an integral of motion. As I increases, the momentum \mathbf{j} decouples from the molecular ion core and couples to the axis of rotation with the maximal moment of inertia.

Let us consider the effective Hamiltonian describing the two degrees of freedom: rotational and one-particle. The rotational part of the Hamiltonian is the kinetic energy of a rigid top. We will use the self-consistent field approximation for describing one-particle motion. The non-spherical part of this field can be written in terms of the particle multipole momenta $q_{\lambda\mu}(\mathbf{r})$ as follows: $V = \sum_{\lambda\mu} Q_{\lambda\mu} q_{\lambda\mu}(\mathbf{r})$, where λ -values are even for the reflection symmetric field. For an isolated *j*-complex, the one-particle part of the Hamiltonian can be expressed in terms of the spherical tensor operators $T_{\lambda\mu}(\mathbf{j})$. Thus, the effective Hamiltonian of the system for an isolated *j*-complex is algebraic with symmetry $SU(2) \otimes SU(2)$. We consider this Hamiltonian in the quadrupole approximation when the components of mean field V with $\lambda > 2$ are smaller than the ones with $\lambda = 2$. It is convenient to write the Hamiltonian in the coordinate system fixed by the principal inertia axes:

$$H = \sum_{\alpha} [A_{\alpha}(I_{\alpha} - j_{\alpha})^2 + g_{\alpha}j_{\alpha}^2], \qquad (23)$$

where $g_1 = -g_2 = (g_0 \sin \gamma)/\sqrt{3}$, $g_3 = g_0 \cos \gamma$ ($-\infty < g_0 < +\infty$, $0^\circ < \gamma < 60^\circ$) are the parameters of the quadroupole part of the self-consistent field, which is diagonal in the considered frame. In

classical mechanics, the system dynamics is described by the equations of motion:

$$\dot{I}_{\alpha} = -2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}A_{\beta}(I_{\beta} - j_{\beta})I_{\gamma}
\dot{j}_{\alpha} = 2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}[-A_{\beta}(I_{\beta} - j_{\beta}) + g_{\beta}l_{\beta}]j_{\gamma},$$
(24)

where repeated indexes are summed.

The stationary state I_0 and j_0 of Eqs. (24) is determined by the eight algebraic equations since the two integrals of motion I^2 and j^2 exist. Therefore, the stationary state with an arbitrary orientation does not exist. There are two types of stationary states of Eqs. (24), corresponding to the lowest level of the rotational multiplets. The three aligned states $S_{\alpha}: I_{\alpha} = I, j_{\alpha} = j, \alpha = 1, 2, 3$ with the energy

$$E_{\alpha} = A_{\alpha}(I-j)^2 + g_{\alpha}j^2, \qquad (25)$$

have the parallel vectors \mathbf{I}_0 and \mathbf{j}_0 aligned along axis α . In the three plane stationary states $S_{\alpha\beta}$, these vectors are placed in the $(\alpha\beta)$ -plane. As I increases the sequence of stationary states S_{α} and $S_{\alpha\beta}$ with the minimal energy for given I leads to the aligned state with the maximal moment of inertia. The transition from aligned state S_{α} to plane one $S_{\alpha\beta}$ is accompanied by the bifurcation of the $C_{2\nu}$ -type [9] at the critical angular momentum

$$I_{\alpha\beta} = j \left\{ 1 + \frac{g_{\alpha} - g_{\beta}}{2A_{\alpha}} + \left[\left(\frac{g_{\alpha} - g_{\beta}}{2A_{\alpha}} \right)^2 - \frac{(g_{\alpha} - g_{\beta})A_{\beta}}{A_{\alpha}(A_{\alpha} - A_{\beta})} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\}.$$
 (26)

The index α denotes the axis from which the angular momenta \mathbf{I}_0 and \mathbf{j}_0 decouple, while index β denotes the axis to which they approach. Both indexes $(\alpha\beta)$ denote the plane, in which these vectors move for $j < I_{\alpha\beta} < I < I_{\beta\alpha}$. Another pair of critical momenta determines the similar bifurcation points in the region I < j. The expression for these values is the same as Eq. (26) except the sign before a square root. We will consider below only the region I > j in the case when $A_1 < A_2 < A_3$, $g_0 > 0$.

The precessional motion near the stable stationary state is described by linearized set of Eqs. (24). Four linear differential equations describe two normal modes corresponding to the small harmonic oscillations of vectors I and j. The frequencies of these modes are obtained as the roots of a biquadratic equation. We begin our consideration with the precession near the S_1 -state in the weak-coupling limit $A_{\alpha}I >> g_{\alpha}j$. To simplify expressions let us use assumption I >> j. The precessional mode with smaller frequency ω_{11} (6) represents the precession of the vectors I and j with different amplitudes. While the I vector circumscribes according to Eqs. (5) an elliptical cone around axis 1 with the amplitude i_0 , the amplitude of the j vector is j/I times smaller that of the I one. Thus, this mode involves the precession of core angular momentum vector $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{j}$, which coincides, in considered approximation, to rigid top precession. Another normal mode with the frequency $\omega_{12} = 2IA_1$, which is equal to the core angular velocity around axis 1, involves the uniform rotation of the angular momentum vectors around this axis with identical amplitudes:

$$I_2(t) = j_2(t) = i_0 \cos \omega_{12} t, \quad I_3(t) = j_3(t) = i_0 \sin \omega_{12} t.$$
(27)

Consequently the momentum \mathbf{R} does not participate in this motion.

Now we consider precession near the stationary state S_2 , corresponding to the central axis. An orbiting particle stabilizes this state due to the anisotropic (quadrupole) interaction with a top.

The small values of $(A_2 - A_1)/A_2$ favors stability of the aligned state S_2 lowering its energy E_2 relative to E_1 (see Eq.(25)). To clarify the physical picture we will use the approximations I >> j and $(A_2 - A_1)/A_1 << 1$ in describing precessional motion. The smaller frequency

$$\omega_{21} = 2 \left[(A_2 - A_1)(A_3 - A_2)(I_{21}^2 - I^2) \right]^{1/2}$$
(28)

vanishes at the critical momentum I_{21} (26). The time-dependence of the angular momentum components for this mode is defined by

$$I_{1}(t) = i_{0} [A_{3}/A_{2} - 1]^{1/2} \cos \omega_{21} t,$$

$$I_{3}(t) = -i_{0} [(A_{2}/A_{1} - 1)(I_{21}^{2}/I^{2} - 1)]^{1/2} \sin \omega_{21} t,$$
(29)

and $\mathbf{j}(t) = (j/I)\mathbf{I}(t)$. The interpretation of this result is straightforward. Since the amplitude of the **j**-vector is small compared to that of the **I** ones, the considered mode represents the precession of the core angular momentum **R** similar to the rigid top precession (5). Yet unlike the latter, the tips of vectors **I** and **j** move on elliptic orbits stretched along axis 1 if the angular momentum *I* is close to I_{21} . This is just a consequence of the bifurcation, which shifts the angular momentum vectors into the (12)-plane. For another normal mode of frequency $\omega_{22} = 2IA_2$, the time-dependence of angular momentum components has the same form as in Eq. (27).

Thus, we have shown that the precession motion around the axis with intermediate moment of inertia is possible for a system consisting of a particle anisotropically coupled with an asymmetric top. The isolated *j*-complex approximation is used in considering this phenomenon. To examine it one can solve the classical equation of motion for a particle coupled with an asymmetric top without this restriction. The equations involve two different time scales: fast particle motion and slow core rotational motion. After averaging on the fast motion, one can obtain the closed set of nine equations for components of I and particle angular and quadrupole momenta. The averaged equations can describe the stabilization phenomenon and the precession around intermediate axis. This insight into the problem reveals the close relationship of our stabilization effect with that of the Kapitza pendulum [13]. Another intriguing analogy is the new discovery in planetary science where it has been shown recently [14] that the Moon stabilizes the chaotic wobble of the Earth's rotational axis, which is unstable due to orbital coupling with other planets. Thus, without the Moon, large variations in obliquity resulting from the chaotic wobble might have driven dramatic changes in the Earth's climate. There are two fundamental distinctions of our problem from considered above: we deal with the *isolated and quantum* system.

The above found precessional frequencies are associated with the splitting between the lowest levels of a multiplet. To obtain this result one must quantize the precession motion. It can be done by using the Holstein-Primakoff representation. The result for lowest multiplet levels corresponding to the stationary state S_{α} is

$$E_{In} = E_{\alpha}(I) + \omega_{\alpha 1}(n_1 + 1/2) + \omega_{\alpha 2}(n_2 + 1/2)$$
(30)

where E_{α} is given by Eq. (25), and n_1 and n_2 are the numbers of bosons in corresponding mode. The boson operators b_k^+ and b_k connect the odd and even with respect to the C_2^{α} -transformation states inside a rotational multiplet. Consider, for example, the precession around axis 1 in the weak-coupling limit. In this approximation, any rotational multiplet (*I*-multiplet) consists of *R*-multiplets with the quantum numbers R = I - j + m, m = 0, 1, ..., 2j. The levels in *R*-multiplets with the same quantum number R but different I are degenerated. The frequency (6) describing the precession of the **R**-vector is equal to the splitting between the lowest levels a_1 and b_1 (or a_2 and b_2) in a R-multiplet. Another frequency $\omega_{12} = 2IA_1$ is equal to the splitting between the lowest levels of adjacent R-multiplets belonging to the same I-multiplet. The situation for the precession around the intermediate axis is more complicated. According to the precessional approximation, the lowest states of a multiplet involve two groups of roughly equidistant levels, which are described by Eq. (30). But a smaller frequency vanishes in a critical point and the precessional approximation becomes inappropriate in this region. This means the redistribution of multiplet levels, which provides a method for the identification of the intermediate axis precession in an experiment.

Acknowledgments

I gratefully acknowledge the International Science Foundation for support and IIMAS-UNAM for hospitality in Mexico.

References

- [1] S. D. Augustin, and W. H. Miller, J. Chem. Phys. 61, 3155 (1974).
- [2] E. R. Marshalek, Phys. Rev. C 11, 1426 (1975).
- [3] T. Holstein and H. Primakoff, Phys. Rev. 58, 1098 (1940).
- [4] V. Bargmann, Rev. Mod. Phys. 34, 896 (1962).
- [5] N. Ya. Vilenkin, Special Functions and the Theory of Group Representations (Am. Math. Soc. Translation, Providence, Rhode Island, 1968).
- [6] I. M. Pavlichenkov, in: Classical and Quantum Systems. Foundations and Symmetries. Proceedings of the II International Wigner Symposium, Goslar, 1991. (World Scientific, Singapure, 1992), p. 357.
- [7] I. M. Pavlichenkov, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 33, 52 (1981).
- [8] P. A. Braun, A. M. Shirokov, and Yu. F. Smirnov, Molec. Phys. 56, 573 (1985).
- [9] I. M. Pavlichenkov, Physics Reports 226, 175 (1993).
- [10] R. H. Page, R. J. Larkin, Y. R. Shen, and Y. T. Lee, J. Chem. Phys. 88, 2249 (1988).
- [11] G. B. Hagemann and I. Hamamoto, Phys. Rev. C 40, 2862 (1989).
- [12] G. Herzberg, J. T. Hougen, and J. K. G. Watson, Can. J. Phys. 60, 1261 (1982); R. D. Gilbert, M. S. Child, and J. W. C. Johns, Molec. Phys. 74, 473 (1991).

ţ

- [13] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Mechanics (Pergamon, Oxford, 1962).
- [14] J. Laskar, F. Joutel, and P. Robutel, Nature 361, 615 (1993).

1995116556

N95-22973

GALACTIC OSCILLATOR SYMMETRY

G. Rosensteel

Physics Department, Tulane University New Orleans, Louisiana 70118 USA

Abstract

Riemann ellipsoids model rotating galaxies when the galactic velocity field is a linear function of the Cartesian coordinates of the galactic masses. In nuclear physics, the kinetic energy in the linear velocity field approximation is known as the collective kinetic energy. But, the linear approximation neglects intrinsic degrees of freedom associated with nonlinear velocity fields. To remove this limitation, the theory of symplectic dynamical symmetry is developed for classical systems. A classical phase space for a self-gravitating symplectic system is a co-adjoint orbit of the noncompact group Sp(3,R). The degenerate co-adjoint orbit is the 12 dimensional homogeneous space Sp(3,R)/U(3), where the maximal compact subgroup U(3) is the symmetry group of the harmonic oscillator. The Hamiltonian equations of motion on each orbit form a Lax system X = [X, F], where X and F are elements of the symplectic Lie algebra. The elements of the matrix X are the generators of the symplectic Lie algebra, viz., the one-body collective quadratic functions of the positions and momenta of the galactic masses. The matrix F is composed from the self-gravitating potential energy, the angular velocity, and the hydostatic pressure. Solutions to the Hamiltonian dynamical system on Sp(3,R)/U(3) are given by symplectic isospectral deformations. The Casimirs of Sp(3,R), equal to the traces of powers of X, are conserved quantities.

1 Riemann Ellipsoids

A remarkably unified picture of rotating systems is attained by adopting an algebraic perspective. Classical rotating bodies such as galaxies (period= 10^{15} s), stars (10^{6} s), and fluid droplets (1s), and quantum rotating nuclei (10^{-20} s) may be described in terms of a single subgroup GCM(3) (for general collective motion in 3 dimensions) of the noncompact symplectic Lie group Sp(3,R). In classical physics, the GCM(3) theory is identical to the Riemann ellipsoidal model [1, 2, 3].

A Riemann ellipsoid is a uniform density fluid with an ellipsoidal boundary whose velocity field is a linear function of the inertial frame Cartesian position coordinates \vec{X} . The isodensity surfaces of elliptical galaxies are very nearly ellipsoidal [4]. Linear velocity fields \vec{U}^L (the superscript Lindicates a laboratory inertial frame quantity) span the dynamical continuum from rigid rotation, $\vec{U}^L(\vec{X}) = \vec{\omega}^L \times \vec{X}$, to irrotational flow, $\vec{\nabla} \times \vec{U}^L = 0$. Thus, Riemann ellipsoids can model a wide class of rotating systems.

The principal aim of this paper is to present the classical symplectic model with particular emphasis upon its relationship with the Riemann ellipsoidal model [5]. But first the Riemann model and its equivalence to the algebraic GCM(3) theory will be reviewed. To describe a linear velocity field, the dynamical group GCM(3) contains the general linear group $GL(3, \mathbb{R})$ as a subgroup. In addition, to characterize the size, deformation, and orientation of an ellipsoid, the GCM(3) Lie algebra includes the inertia tensor.

There are several advantages to adopting the powerful dynamical group method. First, the Euler fluid equations of motion for a Riemann ellipsoid can be proven to form a Hamiltonian dynamical system [3, 6]. A Riemann ellipsoid phase space is a co-adjoint orbit of GCM(3), and its Poisson bracket is inherited from the Lie algebra structure of GCM(3). Moreover, this Hamiltonian system is a special Lax pair system [7]. Second, the group method is not restricted to continuum fluids. GCM(3) dynamical symmetry applies equally well to discrete systems of particles. Third, GCM(3) dynamical symmetry also applies to some quantum rotating bodies. For example, the Bohr-Mottelson irrotational surface wave model of collective rotational and vibrational states forms an irreducible unitary representation of GCM(3) [8, 9, 10]. Finally, GCM(3) symmetry suggests a natural extension to symplectic Sp(3,R) dynamical symmetry [11]. The latter replaces the collective kinetic energy of the GCM(3) theory by its exact microscopic expression.

The hydrodynamic Riemann ellipsoidal model provides a physical interpretation to the abstract GCM(3) theory: The length C of the Kelvin circulation vector, a constant of the motion for a frictionless, homoentropic fluid flow, is the Casimir invariant for GCM(3) [6].

The velocity fields of rigid rotors and irrotational droplets have very different Kelvin circulation vectors \vec{C} . Suppose the rotating system has an ellipsoidal boundary with semi-axes lengths a_k . The inertial frame Kelvin circulation vector, projected onto the kth body-fixed axis, is defined as the line integral of the velocity field \vec{U} around the boundary of the ellipse D_k in the i - j principal plane for i, j, k cyclic. According to Stoke's theorem, these line integrals equal the surface integrals of the velocity field,

$$C_{k} = \frac{M}{5\pi} \oint_{\partial D_{k}} \vec{U} \cdot d\vec{l} = \frac{M}{5\pi} \iint_{D_{k}} \vec{\nabla} \times \vec{U} \cdot d\vec{S}, \tag{1}$$

where \vec{U} denotes the projection of the inertial frame velocity field onto the body-fixed axes, and M is the fluid's mass.

By definition, the curl of the velocity field of an irrotational droplet is zero, and, hence, the Kelvin circulation of an irrotational fluid vanishes, $\vec{C} = 0$. For a rigid rotor velocity field, $\vec{\nabla} \times \vec{U} = 2\vec{\omega}$. Because $\pi a_i a_j$ is the area of the ellipse D_k , the rigid rotor circulation components equal $C_k = (2M/5)a_i a_j \omega_k$. For a general linear velocity field, the curl is a constant vectorfield $\vec{\nabla} \times \vec{U} = \vec{\zeta} + 2\vec{\omega}$, where $\vec{\zeta}$ is called the uniform vorticity. As the uniform vorticity ranges continuously from zero to the negative of twice the angular velocity, the complete Riemann sequence from rigid rotation to irrotational flow is traversed.

2 GCM(3) Dynamical Symmetry

The symplectic algebra Sp(3,R) consists of the inertia, virial momentum, and kinetic tensors [11]:

$$Q_{ij}^{L} = \sum m_{\alpha} X_{\alpha i} X_{\alpha j},$$

$$N_{ij}^{L} = \sum X_{\alpha i} P_{\alpha j},$$

$$T_{ij}^{L} = \sum m_{\alpha}^{-1} P_{\alpha i} P_{\alpha j},$$
(2)

where the sums are carried over the particle index $\alpha = 1, \ldots, A$, m_{α} denotes the mass of particle α , and \vec{X}_{α} , \vec{P}_{α} are the inertial frame vector Cartesian position and momentum of particle α . In fluid dynamics, the sums over particles are replaced by integrals over the density distribution, e.g., $Q_{ij}^{L} = \int \rho(X) X_i X_j d^3 X$. The Poisson brackets close to form the symplectic algebra:

$$\begin{cases} N_{ij}^{\mathrm{L}}, N_{kl}^{\mathrm{L}} \end{pmatrix} = \delta_{il} N_{kj}^{\mathrm{L}} - \delta_{jk} N_{il}^{\mathrm{L}}, \\ \begin{cases} Q_{ij}^{\mathrm{L}}, \dot{Q}_{kl}^{\mathrm{L}} \end{pmatrix} = 0, \\ \begin{cases} Q_{ij}^{\mathrm{L}}, N_{kl}^{\mathrm{L}} \end{pmatrix} = \delta_{il} Q_{jk}^{\mathrm{L}} + \delta_{jl} Q_{ik}^{\mathrm{L}} \\ \begin{cases} T_{ij}^{\mathrm{L}}, T_{kl}^{\mathrm{L}} \end{pmatrix} = 0, \\ \begin{cases} N_{ij}^{\mathrm{L}}, T_{kl}^{\mathrm{L}} \end{pmatrix} = \delta_{il} T_{jk}^{\mathrm{L}} + \delta_{ik} T_{jl}^{\mathrm{L}} \\ \begin{cases} Q_{ij}^{\mathrm{L}}, T_{kl}^{\mathrm{L}} \end{pmatrix} = \delta_{il} N_{jk}^{\mathrm{L}} + \delta_{il} N_{il}^{\mathrm{L}} + \delta_{jk} N_{il}^{\mathrm{L}} + \delta_{jl} N_{ik}^{\mathrm{L}}. \end{cases}$$

The general collective motion GCM(3) subalgebra includes only the inertia tensor $Q_{ij}^{\rm L}$ and the virial momentum tensor $N_{ij}^{\rm L}$. The rotational ROT(3) subalgebra is spanned by just the inertia tensor and the antisymmetric part of the viral momentum tensor, viz., the angular momentum $L_k^{\rm L} = \epsilon_{ijk} N_{ij}^{\rm L}$. The Lie algebra GL(3,R) of the general linear group is generated by the virial momentum tensor, and the Lie algebra SO(3) of the rotation group is generated by the angular momentum. The inertia tensor generates a 6 dimensional R^6 abelian Lie algebra. GCM(3) and ROT(3) are semidirect sum Lie algebras of the abelian ideal R^6 with GL(3,R) and SO(3), respectively.

In the principal axis frame, the inertia tensor Q is, by definition, diagonal, and its eigenvalues are proportional to the squared axis lengths a_i^2 of the inertia ellipsoid.

Although the exact kinetic tensor T_{ij} is not an element of GCM(3), its linear velocity field value, the collective kinetic tensor, is a function of the algebra generators, [12] $t = {}^{t}N \cdot Q^{-1} \cdot N$. The Kelvin circulation of a linear velocity field may be expressed in terms of the GCM(3) generators as $C_k = \epsilon_{kij}(Q^{-1/2} \cdot N \cdot Q^{1/2})_{ij}$.

Time evolution in the classical collective models based upon ROT(3), GCM(3), and Sp(3,R) is governed by Hamiltonian dynamics of a special type known as a Lax system. Consider first the simple case of ROT(3) for which the dynamics corresponds to Euler rigid body rotation. If the inertia ellipsoid is rotating with an angular velocity $\Omega_{ij} = \epsilon_{ijk}\omega_k$ and $L_{ij} = N_{ij} - N_{ji}$ is the angular momentum tensor, then Hamiltonian dynamics is given by

$$L = [\Omega, L]. \tag{3}$$

In terms of vectors, this equation is the familiar law $\vec{L} = -\vec{\omega} \times \vec{L}$ that determines the precession of the angular momentum vector in the body-fixed frame.

A matrix equation of the form $\dot{X} = [F, X]$ is called a Lax equation and X - F are referred to as a Lax pair [13, 14]. A useful property of any Lax equation is that the trace of any power of X is conserved. Let I_p denote the trace of the *p*th power of the matrix X.

$$I_p = \frac{1}{p} \operatorname{Tr}(X)^p.$$
(4)

For any Lax equation, it is evident that every I_p is a constant of the motion,

$$\dot{I}_{p} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(X^{p-1} \cdot \dot{X}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(X^{p-1} \cdot [F, X]\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(X^{p-1}FX - X^{p}F\right) = 0.$$
(5)

In the case of the Euler equation, $I_2 = -\vec{L} \cdot \vec{L}$ is the negative of the squared length of the angular momentum vector. If p is odd, then I_p is zero. If p > 2 is even, then I_p is a function of the squared length of the angular momentum vector. Thus, there is only one independent invariant among the Lax invariants.

Suppose that X(t) is a solution to the Lax equation, $\dot{X} = [F, X]$, corresponding to the initial condition $X = X_0$. If g(t) is a smooth curve of invertible matrices satisfying the matrix differential equation $\dot{g} = F \cdot g$ with the initial condition g = I, then the solution to the Lax equation is just the isospectral deformation,

$$X(t) = g(t) \cdot X_0 \cdot g(t)^{-1}.$$
 (6)

This is proven using the identity $dg^{-1}/dt = -g^{-1}\dot{g}g^{-1}$. If Ω is constant, the matrix differential equation $\dot{g} = \Omega \cdot g$ for the Euler equation has the unique solution $g(t) = \exp(\Omega t)$ for the initial condition g(0) = I. Thus, g(t) is a curve in the rotation group SO(3), and the isospectral deformation $L(t) = g(t)L_0 g(t)^{-1}$ describes explicitly the precession of the angular momentum in the body-fixed frame resulting from the rotation g(t) of the intrinsic frame relative to the laboratory frame. Because of the choice of initial conditions for g, L_0 represents the constant angular momentum vector in the inertial laboratory frame.

To present the time evolution for Riemann ellipsoids as a Lax system, suppose the potential energy in the body-fixed frame $V = V(a_1, a_2, a_3)$ is a smooth function of the axes lengths. For a star or galaxy, V is the attractive gravitational self- energy. For a nucleus, V may be approximated by the sum of the attractive surface energy and the repulsive Coulomb energy. Define the Chandrasekhar potential energy tensor W in the rotating frame to be the diagonal matrix,

$$W_{ij} = -\delta_{ij}a_i \frac{\partial V}{\partial a_i},\tag{7}$$

and, to impose a constraint to constant volume, define the pressure tensor $\Pi = pv$ to be the product of the hydrostatic pressure p times the ellipsoid's volume $v = 4\pi a_1 a_2 a_3/3$. Hamiltonian dynamics for Riemann ellipsoids is given as follows [7]:

Theorem. If the inertia ellipsoid is rotating with an angular velocity $\Omega_{ij} = \epsilon_{ijk}\omega_k$, then the Riemann ellipsoid Hamiltonian dynamical system is equivalent to the Lax system, X = [F, X], where the 6 × 6 real matrices X and F in the body-fixed frame are given by

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} N & -Q \\ t & -{}^{c}N \end{pmatrix}, \ F = \begin{pmatrix} \Omega & I \\ (W + \Pi) \cdot Q^{-1} & \Omega \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (8)

The quadratic Lax invariant equals the negative of the squared length of the Kelvin circulation vector, $I_2 = \text{Tr}(N^2 - t \cdot Q) = -C^2$. The higher order Lax invariants are either zero (odd powers) or are functions of the circulation vector's squared length.

The phase space for a Riemann ellipsoid obeying the Lax equation is a co-adjoint orbit of GCM(3):

Theorem. Each Riemann ellipsoid orbit is diffeomorphic to some coset space of GCM(3). The coset depends upon the value of the circulation C:

$$\mathcal{O}_C = \begin{cases} GCM(3)/SO(2) \cong R^{12} \times S_2, & C \neq 0, & \dim = 14 \\ GCM(3)/SO(3) \cong R^{12}, & C = 0, & \dim = 12 \end{cases}$$
(9)

The degenerate orbit is diffeomorphic to 12-dimensional Euclidean space. This irrotational flow phase space, coordinatized by $\alpha_{2\mu}, \pi_{2\mu}, \alpha_0, \pi_0$ for the quadrupole and monopole degrees of freedom, was quantized by A. Bohr. The generic orbits $C \neq 0$ were undiscovered for many years because the significant role of Lie groups in this problem was not appreciated by the Copenhagen school. The generic orbits are diffeomorphic to the Cartesian product $R^{12} \times S_2$ of Euclidean space with the two-dimensional sphere. The topology of the sphere forces the circulation to be quantized to integer multiples of \hbar in a way parallel to the usual angular momentum quantization. Thus, the spectrum of the squared length of the quantum circulation operator is quantized to $C(C+1)\hbar^2$, where C is a nonnegative integer.

3 Sp(3,R) Dynamical Symmetry

Classical symplectic Sp(3,R) time evolution in the rotating frame is given by the Lax equation, $\dot{X} = [F, X]$, if, in the Lax matrix X, the linear approximation t to the kinetic energy is replaced by its exact expression T. In this way, the restriction to linear velocity fields of the Riemann GCM(3) model is removed in the symplectic Sp(3,R) theory.

The symplectic conservation laws are provided by the Lax invariants I_p . The quadratic Casmir invariant of the symplectic algebra is the quadratic Lax invariant, $C^{(2)} = \text{Tr}(N^2 - Q \cdot T)$. Note that for a linear velocity field, the quadratic symplectic invariant simplifies to the negative of the squared length of the Kelvin circulation vector. The odd order invariants vanish. The quartic symplectic Casimir invariant is the quartic Lax invariant,

$$\mathcal{C}^{(4)} = \text{Tr}\left[(NQ - Q^{t}N)(TN - {}^{t}NT)\right] - 1/2 \text{Tr}\left[(N^{2} - QT)^{2}\right].$$
 (10)

There is only one more independent Casimir and Lax invariant $C^{(6)} = I_6$; the higher order invariants are functionally dependent upon the three independent Casimirs $C^{(p)} = I_p$ for p = 2, 4, 6.

Since the matrices X and F are elements of the symplectic Lie algebra, the following theorem may be proved:

Theorem. Every solution to the classical symplectic Lax system is given by a isospectral transformation $g(t) \in Sp(3,R)$ applied to the initial state

$$X(t) = g(t) \cdot X_0 \cdot g(t)^{-1},$$
(11)

where X_0 and X are elements of the symplectic Lie algebra sp(3,R). The group element g(t) is a solution to the matrix differential equation $\dot{g} = Fg$ with the initial condition g = I if and only if X is a solution to the Lax equation with the initial condition $X = X_0$.

Consider the co-adjoint orbit of the symplectic group through the point X,

$$\mathcal{O}_X = \left\{ g \cdot X \cdot g^{-1} \mid g \in \operatorname{Sp}(3, \mathbb{R}) \right\}.$$
(12)

The co-adjoint orbit is regarded as a surface in the Euclidean symplectic dual space, $sp(3, R)^*$. A manifold that intersect each co-adjoint orbit exactly once is called a "transversal." A transversal T for the symplectic co-adjoint group action is provided by a three-dimensional surface [15, 16]

$$\mathcal{T} = \left\{ \hat{S} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -S \\ S & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in sp(3, R)^* \mid S = \operatorname{diag}(s_1, s_2, s_3) \right\}.$$
 (13)

Transversal points correspond to elementary systems for which the virial momentum tensor vanishes, N = 0, and the inertia and kinetic tensors are equal and diagonal, Q = T = S. Since the inertia and kinetic tensors are positive-definite, the physically relevant transversal consists of only those points for which S is positive-definite, $s_i > 0$.

An orbit of the transversal point $\hat{S} \in \mathcal{T}$ is diffeomorphic to a coset space of the symplectic group modulo the isotropy subgroup. These isotropy subgroups may be proven to be subgroups of the unitary group,

$$U(3) \simeq \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} U & -V \\ V & U \end{pmatrix} \in Sp(3, R) \mid U + iV \in U(3) \right\},\tag{14}$$

and, thereby, the coset spaces are given explicitly as follows [15, 16, 5]:

Theorem. The symplectic phase spaces are diffeomorphic to coset spaces of Sp(3,R):

$$\mathcal{O}_{S} = \begin{cases} Sp(3, R) / [U(1) \times U(1) \times U(1)], & s_{i} \text{ distinct,} & \dim = 18\\ Sp(3, R) / [U(2) \times U(1)], & s_{1} = s_{2} \neq s_{3}, & \dim = 16\\ Sp(3, R) / U(3), & s_{1} = s_{2} = s_{3}, & \dim = 12 \end{cases}$$
(15)

The degenerate orbit Sp(3,R)/U(3) is diffeomorphic to the complex Siegel half-plane. In future work, the dynamical system on the Siegel half-plane will be reported.

Acknowledgments

This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. PHY-9212231.

References

- [1] S. Chandrasekhar, Ellipsoidal Figures of Equilibrium (Yale Univ., New Haven, 1969).
- [2] J. Binney and S. Tremaine, Galactic Dynamics (Princeton Univ., Princeton, 1987), Section 2.3.
- [3] G. Rosensteel and Huy Q. Tran, Astrophys. J. 366, 30 (1991).
- [4] D. Mihalas and J. Binney, Galactic Astronomy (Freeman, San Francisco, 1981), Section 5.2.
- [5] G. Rosensteel, Astrophys. J. **416**, 291 (1993).
- [6] G. Rosensteel, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) **186**, 230 (1988).
- [7] G. Rosensteel, Appl. Math. Lett. 6, 55 (1993).
- [8] A. Bohr and B. Mottelson, Nuclear Structure (Benjamin, Reading, Mass., 1975), Vol. II.
- [9] G. Rosensteel and D.J. Rowe, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 96, 1 (1976).
- [10] O.L. Weaver, R.Y. Cusson, and L.C. Biedenharn, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 102, 493 (1976).
- [11] D.J. Rowe, Rep. Prog. Phys. 48, 1419 (1985).
- [12] R.Y. Cusson, Nucl. Phys. A114, 289 (1968).
- [13] P. Lax, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 21, 467 (1968).
- [14] Ju. Moser, Adv. Math. 16, 197 (1975).
- [15] T.A. Springer and R. Steinberg, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 131 (Springer, Berlin, 1970).
- [16] P. Kramer, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 141, 254, 269 (1982)

1995116557



SHAPES AND STABILITY OF **ALGEBRAIC NUCLEAR MODELS**¹

Enrique López-Moreno Departamento de Física, Facultad de Ciencias UNAM

Octavio Castaños Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM Apdo. Postal 70-543, 04510 México, D. F., México

Abstract

A generalization of the procedure to study shapes and stability of algebraic nuclear models introduced by Gilmore is presented. One calculates the expectation value of the hamiltonian with respect to the coherent states of the algebraic structure of the system. Then equilibrium configurations of the resulting energy surface, which depends in general on state variables and a set of parameters, are classified through the Catastrophe theory. For one and twobody interactions in the hamiltonian of the interacting boson model-1, the critical points are organized through the Cusp catastrophe. As an example, we apply this Separatrix to describe the energy surfaces associated to the Rutenium and Samarium isotopes.

Introduction 1

The geometry of algebraic nuclear models can be studied by means of the time-dependent variational principle [1], [2]. This formalism provides us with a classical limit of the nuclear model, in particular we are mainly concerned with the static properties of the hamiltonian function (energy surface) associated to the considered algebraic nuclear model. In general these hamiltonian functions depend on state variables and a set of parameters, then the appropriate mathematical tool to determine the most general behaviour of their equilibrium configurations is the Catastrophe formalism [3].

A connection between the interacting boson model-1(IBM-1) [4] and the geometrical approach of Bohr-Mottelson [5] was done by expressing the IBM-1 hamiltonian in terms of shape variables. This can be achieved by means of the intrinsic boson states defined by [6] or by the corresponding coherent states [2]. Analysis of shape and phase transitions in this model have been done by [7], [8]. In this work we apply the procedure introduced in Ref. [2] to the interacting boson model, but for the general hamiltonian of one and two-body central interactions involving s and d bosons [4] and determining its associated *Separatrix*. We show that the equilibrium configurations can be

¹Work supported in part by project UNAM-DGAPA IN103091.

classified through the Cusp catastrophe, this means that two parameters are enough to describe the most general energy surface. Therefore this analysis generalize those presented previously [4], in which only transitions between pairs of exact SU(5), O(6) and SU(3) symmetries are considered. In the last decade, effective hamiltonians of the IBM-1 have been used to describe energy spectra and transition probabilities of chains of isotopes and isotones [9], [10]. In particular, the effective hamiltonians for Ru [11] and Sm [12] isotopes were determined, *i.e.*, the best choice of the parameters of the general IBM-1 hamiltonian that reproduced the corresponding experimental data. Using these effective hamiltonians we construct their energy surfaces and show that their critical points follow a curve in the parameters space organized by the Cusp Separatrix. This let us to know: i) How many equilibrium configurations yield the system and ii) If the behaviour of the model around the critical points may or may not be approximated by an harmonic oscillator.

In the Second Section we review how the energy surfaces can be determined considering a hamiltonian constructed in terms of the generators of a Heisenberg-Weyl algebra. In the Third Section a brief summary of the IBM-1 is presented. In the Fourth Section, an analysis of the shape and stability of the most general energy surfaces of the IBM-1 is made, also the curves associated to the Ru and Sm isotopes are plotted in the parameters space. Finally some remarks are indicated in the last section.

2 Energy Surfaces of Algebraic Models

The energy surfaces (ES) of algebraic models can be determined by means of the coherent states of the associated algebraic structure of the hamiltonian. As an example, a hamiltonian written in terms of the generators of a Heisenberg-Weyl algebra is considered, *i.e.*,

$$H = c_0 \ b^{\dagger} \ b + c_2 \ (b^{\dagger 2} + b^2) + c_1 \ (b^{\dagger} + b) \ , \tag{1}$$

where the operators b^{\dagger} and b satisfy standard creation and annihilation commutation relations. Although this hamiltonian can be solved analytically by means of a Bogoliubov transformation, we use it to illustrate the procedure to construct the coherent states and the ES of an algebraic model.

The coherent state is defined by the action of the raising generator on the vacuum state [1]

$$|\alpha\rangle = \exp(\alpha^* b^{\dagger})|0\rangle . \tag{2}$$

The Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formulas can be used to calculate the overlap of two coherent states and the coherent state representation of the creation and annihilation boson operators

$$\langle \alpha' | \alpha \rangle = \exp\left(\alpha' \alpha^*\right) \,, \tag{3}$$

$$\langle \alpha | b = \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha} \langle \alpha | , \qquad \langle \alpha | b^{\dagger} = \alpha \langle \alpha | .$$
 (4)

Then the energy surface is given by

$$E(\alpha) = \lim_{\alpha' \to \alpha} \frac{\langle \alpha' | H | \alpha \rangle}{\langle \alpha' | \alpha \rangle} .$$
 (5)

Substituting the expressions (1), (3) and (4) into the previous one, one gets the result

$$E(\rho) = (c_0 + 2c_2)\rho^2 + 2c_1\rho , \qquad (6)$$

where the reality condition $\alpha = \alpha^* = \rho$ was also used.

3 The Interacting Boson Model

In 1975 this model [4] was introduced to describe collective properties of even-even nuclei far from closed shells through the interactions between two kinds of bosons, one with angular momentum L = 0 (the s-boson) and another with angular momentum L = 2 (the d-boson). The six possible boson states give rise to a U(6) group structure. The bosons represent pairs of fermions, the s-boson reflects the strong pairing attraction of identical nucleons whereas the d-boson is a result of the weaker $J = 2^+$ attraction [4]. Therefore nuclei are pictured as systems of s and d bosons, whose number is equal to half the number of the valence nucleons, the core being considered inert. When a shell is more than half full, hole-pairs are counted instead of particle-pairs.

The most general one and two body hamiltonian that conserves the total number of bosons is

$$H_{IBM} = \varepsilon_{s} N_{s} + \varepsilon_{d} N_{d} + \sum_{L=0,2,4} \frac{c_{L}}{2} \sqrt{2L+1} \left[\left[\mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \times \mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \right]^{[L]} \times \left[\tilde{\mathbf{d}} \times \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \right]^{[L]} \right]^{[0]} \\ + \frac{v_{0}}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\left[\left[\mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \times \mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \right]^{[2]} \times \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \right]^{[0]} s + s^{\dagger} \left[\mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \times \left[\tilde{\mathbf{d}} \times \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \right]^{[2]} \right]^{[0]} \right) \\ + \frac{v_{2}}{2} \left(\left[\left[\mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \times \mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \right]^{[0]} s^{2} + s^{\dagger 2} \left[\tilde{\mathbf{d}} \times \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \right]^{[0]} \right) \\ + \sqrt{5}u_{0} s^{\dagger} s \left[\mathbf{d}^{\dagger} \times \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \right]^{[0]} + u_{2} s^{\dagger 2} s^{2} ,$$
(7)

where the sets of boson operators s, s^{\dagger} and $d^{\dagger}_{\mu}, d_{\mu}$ satisfy the following, different from zero, commutators

$$[s, s^{\dagger}] = 1$$
, $[d_{\mu}, d_{\mu'}^{\dagger}] = \delta_{\mu, \mu'}$. (8)

Now, we construct the coherent state of a six dimensional harmonic oscillator, following the procedure indicated in the previous section. However in this case the associated group is compact and then we restrict the exponential to only one term of the Taylor series expansion,

$$|N, \vec{\alpha}\rangle = A_N (s^{\dagger} + \sum_{\mu} \alpha_{\mu} d^{\dagger}_{\mu})^N |0\rangle , \qquad (9)$$

where A_N is the normalization constant. Evaluating the corresponding Eq.(5) one arrives to the formulae for the energy surface of the model [8], *i.e.*,

$$E(\beta, \gamma) = N \epsilon \frac{\beta^2}{(1+\beta^2)} + \frac{N(N-1)}{(1+\beta^2)^2} \left(a_1 \beta^4 + a_2 \beta^3 \cos 3\gamma + a_3 \beta^2 + u_2\right), \tag{10}$$

where it was used that the laboratory variables α_{μ} can be expressed in terms of two intrinsic parameters β and γ plus three Euler angles. Besides as the energy surface is a rotational invariant all the dependence in the Euler angles disappear. The parameters a_1 , a_2 , a_3 , and ϵ of the Eq.(10) are combinations of those that appear in the IBM-1 hamiltonian (7)

$$a_1 = \frac{c_0}{10} + \frac{c_2}{7} + \frac{9c_4}{35} , \qquad (11)$$

$$a_2 = -\sqrt{\frac{8}{35}}v_0 , \qquad (12)$$

$$a_3 = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{5}}v_2 + u_0 , \qquad (13)$$

$$\epsilon' = \epsilon_d - \epsilon_s . \tag{14}$$

4 Shapes and Stability of Energy Surfaces

The energy surfaces define functions of state variables and a set of parameters, and the Catastrophe theory is used to analize their equilibrium configurations. This formalism let us organize all the possible shapes of the ES into well defined separated regions of the parameters space.

To illustrate how this is done, we consider the potential energy surfaces (PES) of the simplest version of the Generalized Collective Model [5], *i.e.*,

$$V(\beta, \gamma; C_2, C_3) = \beta^4 - C_3 \beta^3 \cos^3\gamma + C_2 \beta^2 .$$
(15)

The equilibrium or critical points are determined by solving the equation $\nabla V(\beta, \gamma) = 0$. The results are given by (0, 0) and (β_0, γ_0) , with

$$\beta_0 = \frac{3C_3 \pm \sqrt{9C_3^2 - 32C_2}}{8} , \quad \gamma_0 = 0, \ \pi/3 . \tag{16}$$

The set of degenerated critical points defines a locus in the parameters space which is called the *Separatrix*. This can be obtained through the determinant of the Hessian matrix or by other procedures, in this case it is immediate that the critical points are double degenerated if the parameters satisfy the expressions

$$9 C_3^2 - 32 C_2 = 0 , \qquad (17)$$

$$C_2 = 0 , \quad C_3 \neq 0 .$$
 (18)

For the expression (17) the critical points are localized in $\beta_0 = 3C_3/8$ while for (18) in $\beta_0 = 0$. Besides, it is straight to prove that if $C_2 = 0$ and $C_3 = 0$ the critical point is triple degenerated and localized at $\beta_0 = 0$. The *Separatrix* of the system is shown in Fig.1. It divides the space in regions each characterizing a typical shape yield by the model. By means of the transformation $\beta = y + C_3/4$ the *Separatrix* is taken to the canonical form of the Cusp catastrophe.

Now we study the equilibrium configurations of the energy surface associated to the IBM-1, which is given in Eq.(10). Then we calculate the critical points by taking the derivatives with respect to β and γ variables. It is straightforward to see that the critical points correspond only to $\gamma = 0$ (prolate case) or $\gamma = \pi/3$ (oblate case). Therefore we can restrict to the prolate case,

without losing generality. The energy surface (10), with $\gamma = 0$, can be re-written in terms of the following parameters

$$r_1 = -\frac{2u_2(N-1) - (N-1)a_3 - \epsilon}{2a_1(N-1) - (N-1)a_3 + \epsilon}, \qquad (19)$$

$$r_2 = -\frac{2a_2(N-1)}{2a_1(N-1) - (N-1)a_3 + \epsilon}, \qquad (20)$$

and it takes the form

$$E(\beta) = \frac{1}{(1+\beta^2)^2} \left\{ \beta^4 + r_1 \beta^2 (\beta^2 + 2) - r_2 \beta^3 \right\} , \qquad (21)$$

where $E(\beta) = E(\beta, \gamma = 0)/N - \epsilon_s - u_2(N-1)$. One has to notice that the oblate case can be regained by interchanging r_2 by $-r_2$ or equivalently a_2 by $-a_2$.



FIG. 1. Separatrix for the Bohr Mottelson Hamiltonian

To find the extrema in β of the Eq.(21) one needs to solve the equation

$$\beta \left(r_2 \beta^3 + 4 \beta^2 - 3 r_2 \beta + 4 r_1 \right) = 0 .$$
⁽²²⁾

From this expression, one determines the locus in the parameters space (r_2, r_1) of degenerated critical points. Then the *Separatrix* of the model is defined by the curves

$$r_1 = \pm \frac{(16 + 9r_2^2)^{3/2}}{54r_2^2} - \frac{32}{27r_2^2} - 1 , \qquad (23)$$

$$r_1 = 0$$
. (24)

This Separatrix is shown in Fig.2 and it corresponds to the Cusp catastrophe although it does not has the canonical form.



FIG. 2. Separatrix for the IBM-1 Hamiltonian

Now we applied the results to find the shapes and stability of the Ru and Sm isotopes. For the Ru case, one has the number of valence protons pairs, $N_{\pi} = 3$. As we consider isotopes with a mass number varying from A = 98 - 110, the corresponding number of neutron bosons runs from $N_{\nu} = 2$ to $N_{\nu} = 8$. Thus the size of the space in the IBM-1 is determined by the total number of bosons, which is the sum of the numbers of proton and neutron bosons. In the Sm case, one has the number of proton bosons, $N_{\pi} = 6$, and as we take into account A = 148 - 160, the number of neutron bosons runs from $N_{\nu} = 2$ to $N_{\nu} = 8$. An analysis of their energy spectra and electromagnetic transitions using the hamiltonian (7) is made in [11] and [12]. For both isotope chains, the parameters used are presented in the first eight columns of Table I. Substituting these parameters into the equations (11) to (13) we get the values of a_1 , a_2 and a_3 . These are given in the last three columns of Table I, by means of which one can easily construct the corresponding energy surface of each nucleus.

To find the region of the Separatrix, Fig. 2, where the different isotopes are localized one calculates the parameters r_1 and r_2 through the equations (19) and (20), as functions of the total number of bosons. For the Ru, one gets the expressions

$$r_1 = \frac{990.2 + 146.2(N-1)}{990.2 + 40.2(N-1)} , \qquad r_2 = 0 , \qquad (25)$$

while for the Sm isotopes the parameters are

$$r_1 = \frac{2171.2 + 258.3(N-1)}{2171.2 + 151.2(N-1)}, \qquad r_2 = \frac{86(N-1)}{2175 - 151(N-1)}.$$
 (26)

The localization of the points (25) and (26) are shown in Fig. 3 and Fig 4, respectively.

TABLE I. Parameters	, in KeV	ʻunits, us	ed to de	escribe the	Ru and	Sm	isotope c	hains
		,						

	E	c_0	<i>c</i> ₂	C4	u_0	u_2	v_0	v_2	a_1	a_2	<i>a</i> 3
Ru	990.2	-185.4	-77.4	0.4	-53.0	23.3	0	-52.1	-29.7	0	-52.1
Sm	2170.6	-613.7	-318.8	-377.6	227.4	0.4	89.9	-33.0	-204.1	-43.0	-256.9



FIG. 3. Plot of the points (25) associated to the Ru isotopes chain.



FIG. 4. Plot of the points (26) associated to the Sm isotopes chain.

5 Conclusions

For the Bohr-Mottelson model the yielded shapes and equilibrium configurations are classified by the Separatrix of Fig.1. One can identify four regions: (i) Above the parabola, the PES have one minimum at $\beta = 0$. ii) Between the parabola and the C_2 axis, in the PES appear additionally a second minumum at $\beta \neq 0$. iii) Below the C_3 axis the PES have two mimima at $\beta \neq 0$ and the maximum occurs at $\beta = 0$. The PES around these critical points can be approximated by an harmonic oscillator. iv) On the locus of points that define the *Separatrix*, we have shape transitions and in the vecinity of the critical points (16) the PES cannot be approximated by quadratic functions. It is important to remark that the PES have a mirror symmetry along the C_3 axis, which physically represents transitions from prolate to oblate shapes.

For the IBM-1 hamiltonian one gets (see Fig. 2): (i) For positive values of r_1 one has two regions, above the curve the ES present one minimum at $\beta = 0$ and below the curve they have a second minumum at $\beta \neq 0$. ii) For negative values of r_1 one has again two regions, above the curve the ES are built with two minima at $\beta \neq 0$ and a maximum at $\beta = 0$ and below of it, the ES have one minimum point at $\beta \neq 0$ and a maximum at $\beta = 0$. For the critical points mentioned above the energy surfaces can be approximated by an harmonic oscillator. iii) Finally on the Separatrix, there are shape transitions, and in the vecinity of their critical points the ES cannot be approximated by quadratic functions. It is important to remark that these ES have also a mirror symmetry along the r_2 axis, representing transitions from prolate to oblate shapes.

References

- [1] K. T. Hecht, The Vector Coherent State Method and Its Application to Problems of Higher Symmetries, (Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1987).
- [2] R. Gilmore, J. Math. Phys. 20, 891 (1979).
- [3] R. Gilmore. Catastrophe Theory for Scientist and Engineers, (John Wiley and Sons, 1981).
- [4] F. Iachello and A. Arima. The Interacting Boson Model, (Cambridge University Press, 1987).
- [5] J. M. Eisenberg and W. Greiner, Nuclear Theory, Vol 1, Nuclear Models (North-Holland, 1987).
- [6] J. N. Ginocchio and M. W. Kirson, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44, 1744 (1980).
- [7] D. H Feng, R. Gilmore and S. R. Deans, Phys. Rev. C23,1254 (1981).
- [8] A. E. L. Dieperink and O. Scholten, Interacting Bose-Fermi Systems in Nuclei, (Plenum Press, New York, 1981)
- [9] O. Castaños, P. Federman, A. Frank and S. Pittel, Nucl. Phys. A379, 61 (1982).
- [10] H. C. Chiang, S. T. Hsieh and T. T. S. Kuo, Phys. Rev. C38, 5 (1988).
- [11] A. Frank, Phys. Rev. C39, 652 (1989).
- [12] E. L. González, El Modelo de Bosones Interactuantes y su Aplicación a Cadenas de Isótopos e Isótonos Par-Par, (Bachelor thesis, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, 1990).

1995116558



N95-22975

A RAMANUJAN-TYPE MEASURE FOR THE ASKEY-WILSON POLYNOMIALS

Natig M.Atakishiyev¹

Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas - Cuernavaca Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Apartado Postal 139-B 62191 Cuernavaca, Morelos, México e-mail: natig@ce.ifisicam.unam.mx

Abstract

A Ramanujan-type representation for the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral, admitting the transformation $q \rightarrow q^{-1}$, is obtained. Orthogonality of the Askey-Wilson polynomials with respect to a measure, entering into this representation, is proved. A simple way of evaluating the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral is also given.

1 Introduction.

The Askey-Wilson polynomials $p_n(x; a, b, c, d|q)$ [1], which have already become classical, represent a five-parameter system of polynomials. They satisfy the orthogonality relation

$$\int_{-1}^{1} p_m(x;a,|b,c,d|q) p_n(x;a,b,c,d|q) w(x;a,b,c,d|q) dx = \delta_{mn} I_n(a,b,c,d|q)$$
(1.1)

with respect to the absolutely continuous measure $d\alpha(x) = w(x)dx$, with the weight function

$$w(x; a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{1}{\sin \theta} \frac{h(\cos 2\theta, 1; q)}{\prod_{\nu=a, b, c, d} h(\cos \theta, \nu; q)}, \quad x = \cos \theta,$$
(1.2)

$$h(a,b;q) = \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1 - 2abq^j + b^2 q^{2j}).$$

As special and limiting cases, the Askey-Wilson polynomials contain many known systems of polynomials (see, for example, [2]). In particular, the choice of the parameters $a = -b = \sqrt{\beta}$, $c = -d = \sqrt{q\beta}$, leads to the continuous q-ultraspherical polynomials $C_n(x;\beta|q)$ [3], *i.e.*,

$$p_n(x;\sqrt{\beta},-\sqrt{\beta},\sqrt{q\beta},-\sqrt{q\beta}|q) = \frac{(\beta^2;q)_{2n}(q;q)_n}{(\beta,\beta^2;q)_n}C_n(x;\beta|q),$$
(1.3)

¹Permanent Address: Institute of Physics, Academy of Sciences of Azerbaijan, Baku 370143, Azerbaijan. Visiting Scientist at IIMAS-UNAM/Cuernavaca with Cátedra Patrimonial CONACYT, México.

where we have used the standard notation of the theory of q-special functions

$$(a;q)_n = \prod_{j=0}^{n-1} (1 - aq^j), \qquad (a_1, \dots, a_k;q)_n = \prod_{j=1}^k (a_j;q)_n. \tag{1.4}$$

In turn, from $C_n(x;\beta|q)$ one can obtain the continuous q-Hermite polynomials $H_n(x|q) = (q;q)_n C_n(x;0|q)$, the Gegenbauer (ultraspherical) polynomials $C_n^{\lambda}(x) = \lim_{q \to 1} C_n(x;q^{\lambda}|q)$, and also the Chebyshev polynomials of the first and second kinds, $T_n(x)$ and $U_n(x)$, by taking the limit $\beta \to 1$ or by putting $\beta = q$ in $C_n(x;\beta|q)$, respectively.

The key ingredient of the original proof of the orthogonality (1.1), which led to the discovery of the Askey-Wilson system of polynomials (see the discussion of this point in [4]), was the evaluation of the Askey-Wilson *q*-beta integral:

$$I_{0}(a, b, c, d|q) \equiv \int_{-1}^{1} w(x; a, b, c, d|q) dx = \frac{2\pi (abcd; q)_{\infty}}{(q, ab, ac, ad, bc, bd, cd; q)_{\infty}},$$
(1.5)

 $max_{v=a,b,c,d}|v| < 1, |q| < 1.$

The integral (1.5) has acquired its name because in a special case, when the parameters $a = q^{\alpha+1/2}$, $b = -q^{\beta+1/2}$, and $c = -d = q^{1/2}$, the $q \to 1^-$ limit of $I_0(a, b, c, d|q)$ is the beta function (or Euler's integral of the first kind)

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1-x)^{\alpha} (1+x)^{\beta} dx = 2^{\alpha+\beta+1} B(\alpha+1,\beta+1) = 2^{\alpha+\beta+1} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+2)}.$$
 (1.6)

A nonstandard form of the orthogonality on the full real line for the continuous q-Hermite polynomials $H_n(\sin \kappa x | q)$, $q = \exp(-2\kappa^2)$, was considered in [5]. It turned out that if one uses the modular transformation and the periodicity property of the ϑ -function appearing in the weight function for these polynomials, the finite interval of orthogonality can be transformed into an infinite one. This technique is of interest both from a mathematical point of view and from the point of view of possible applications in theoretical physics, beginning with a number of problems, related with q-oscillators (see the review [6]).

The purpose of this article is to discuss the applicability of this idea to the more general case, i.e. to the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral (1.5) [7, 8]. To simplify consideration it will be assumed in Sections 2-4 that |v| < 1, v = a, b, c, d, and that the parameter $q = \exp(-2\kappa^2)$ satisfies the requirement 0 < q < 1. The possibility of extending these results to other values of the parameters is discussed in Section 5.

2 A Ramanujan-type representation for the *q*-beta integral.

From the point of view of symmetry the parametrization $x = \sin \varphi$ is most convenient; it corresponds to the change of variable $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2} - \varphi$, $-\frac{\pi}{2} \le \varphi \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ in formula (1.2). Consequently, the left

side of (1.5) is equal to

$$I_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} \frac{h(-\cos 2\varphi, 1; q)}{\prod_{\nu=a,d,c,d} h(\sin \varphi, \nu; q)} \, d\varphi \,.$$
(2.1)

Comparison of the numerator

$$h(-\cos 2\varphi, 1; q) = \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} (1 + 2q^j \cos 2\varphi + q^{2j})$$

of the integral (2.1) with Jacobi's expression for the theta-function $\vartheta_2(z,q) \equiv \vartheta_2(z|\tau), q = \exp(\pi i \tau)$ as an infinite product [9]

$$\vartheta_2(z,q) = 2q^{1/4}(q^2;q^2)_{\infty} \cos z \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} (1 + 2q^{2j} \cos 2z + q^{4j}),$$
(2.2)

shows that

$$h(-\cos 2\varphi, 1; q) = \frac{2\cos\varphi}{q^{1/8}(q;q)_{\infty}} \vartheta_2(\varphi, q^{1/2})$$
(2.3)

and therefore

$$I_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{2}{q^{1/8}(q; q)_{\infty}} \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} \frac{\vartheta_2(\varphi, q^{1/2}) \cos \varphi}{\prod_{\nu=a, b, c, d} h(\sin \varphi, \nu; q)} d\varphi \,.$$
(2.4)

With the aid of the modular transformation [9]

$$\vartheta_2(z|\tau) = \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{iz^2}{\pi\tau}\right)}{(-i\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \vartheta_4(z\tau^{-1}|-\tau^{-1}), \qquad \tau = \frac{i\kappa^2}{\pi}, \qquad (2.5)$$

and the change of variable $\varphi = \kappa x$, the integral (2.4) can be written as

$$I_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{q^{1/8}(q; q)_{\infty}} \int_{-\pi/2\kappa}^{\pi/2\kappa} \frac{\vartheta_4(\frac{\pi i}{\kappa}x, e^{-\pi^2/\kappa^2}) e^{-x^2} \cos \kappa x}{\prod_{v=a,b,c,d} h(\sin \kappa x, v; q)} \, dx.$$
(2.6)

Using the expansion

$$\vartheta_4(z,q) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} (-1)^k q^{k^2} e^{2ikz}$$
(2.7)

and taking into account the uniform convergence of the series (2.7) in any bounded domain of values of z [9], we substitute (2.7) into (2.6) and integrate this series termwise, *i.e.*,

$$I_0(a,b,c,d|q) = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{q^{1/8}(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} (-1)^k \int_{-\pi/2\kappa}^{\pi/2\kappa} \frac{e^{-(x+\pi/\kappa k)^2} \cos \kappa x dx}{\prod_{\nu=a,b,c,d} h(\sin \kappa x,\nu;q)}.$$
 (2.8)

The change of variable $x_k = x + \frac{\pi}{\kappa}k$, $x_k^{min} = \frac{\pi}{\kappa}(k - \frac{1}{2}) \le x_k \le \frac{\pi}{\kappa}(k + \frac{1}{2}) = x_k^{max}$ and an account for the relation $x_{k-1}^{max} = x_k^{min}$ allows to sum the right-hand side of (2.8) with respect to k and represent (2.8) in the form

$$I_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{q^{1/8}(q; q)_{\infty}} \tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{q^{1/8}(q; q)_{\infty}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-x^2} \cos \kappa x dx}{\prod_{\nu=a,b,c,d} h(\sin \kappa x, \nu; q)}.$$
 (2.9)

Thus, combining formulas (1.5) and (2.9) yields the following representation for the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral [7]

$$\tilde{I}_0(a,b,c,d|q) \equiv \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(\kappa x; a,b,c,d|q) e^{-x^2} \cos \kappa x dx = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} q^{\frac{1}{6}} (abcd;q)_{\infty}}{(ab,ac,ad,bc,bd,cd;q)_{\infty}},$$
(2.10)

where, in accordance with the definition (1.2),

$$\rho(x;a,b,c,d|q) = \prod_{v=a,b,c,d} h^{-1}(\sin x,v;q) = \prod_{v=a,b,c,d} e_q(ive^{-ix})e_q(-ive^{ix}), \quad (2.11)$$

and $e_q(z) = (z;q)_{\infty}^{-1}$ is the q-exponential function [2].

We note that each factor $h^{-1}(\sin \kappa x, v; q), v = a, b, c, d$, in the integrand (2.10) is represented as

$$h^{-1}(\sin\kappa x, v; q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (iv)^n \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{(-1)^k \exp[-i(n-2k)\kappa x]}{(q;q)_k (q;q)_{n-k}},$$
(2.12)

if one uses the generating function for the continuous q-Hermite polynomials $H_n(x|q)$

$$(te^{i\theta}, te^{-i\theta}; q)_{\infty}^{-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{H_n(\cos\theta|q)}{(q;q)_n} t^n \qquad |t| < 1,$$
(2.13)

and their explicit representation [2]

$$H_n(\cos\theta|q) = \sum_{k=0}^n {n \brack k}_q e^{i(n-2k)\theta},$$
(2.14)

where the symbol $\binom{n}{k}_{q}$ denotes the q-binomial coefficient [2]. Therefore the integration over x in (2.10) is reduced to the Fourier transformation formula for the ground state of the linear harmonic oscillator

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\exp(-x^2/2+ixy)dx = \exp(-y^2/2).$$
 (2.15)

An explicit evaluation of the nonstandard form of the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral (2.10) will be discussed in greater detail in Section 4.

As mentioned above, the weight function (1.2) with the parameters $a = -b = \beta^{1/2}$, c = -d = $aq^{1/2}$, corresponds to the continuous q-ultraspherical polynomials $C_n(x;\beta|q)$. The relations [2]

$$(a;q)_{\infty} = (a,aq;q^2)_{\infty}, \qquad (a,-a;q)_{\infty} = (a^2;q^2)_{\infty},$$

enable the representation (2.10) for this particular case to be simplified to

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(-x^2 + i\kappa x\right) dx}{(-\beta \exp\left(2i\kappa x\right), -\beta \exp\left(-2i\kappa x\right); q\right)_{\infty}} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} q^{1/8} (\beta, q\beta; q)_{\infty}}{(\beta^2; q)_{\infty}}.$$
(2.16)

If one compares (2.16) with the Ramanujan integral ($q = \exp(-2k^2)$, |q| < 1) [10, 11]

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-x^2 + 2mx} e_q(aq^{1/2}e^{2ikx}) e_q(bq^{1/2}e^{-2ikx}) dx = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}e^{m^2}}{(qab;q)_{\infty}} E_q(aqe^{2imk}) E_q(bqe^{-2imk}), \quad (2.17)$$

it is easy to verify that (2.16) agrees with (2.17) if one sets $2m = ik = i\kappa$ and $a = b = -\beta q^{1/2}$.

3 Orthogonality of the Askey-Wilson polynomials with respect to the measure $\rho(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q)$.

A direct proof of the orthogonality for the Askey-Wilson polynomials

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} p_m(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) p_n(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) \rho(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) \exp(-x^2) \cos \kappa x dx =$$

$$=\delta_{mn}\tilde{I}_n(a,b,c,d|q) \tag{3.1}$$

with respect to the weight function appearing in the nonstandard integral representation (2.10), is analogous to the proof of eigenfunctions orthogonality for the Sturm-Liouville differential equation [12]. Indeed, the difference differentiation formula for the Askey-Wilson polynomials [1]

$$\sin \kappa \partial_x p_n(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) =$$

$$= q^{-n/2} (1 - q^n) (1 - abcdq^{n-1}) \cos \kappa x p_{n-1}(\sin \kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q)$$
(3.2)

provides a lowering operator for these polynomials. To find a raising operator one can use the relation

$$w(\sin\varphi;a,b,c,d|q) = \frac{2\vartheta_2(\varphi,q^{1/2})}{q^{1/8}(q;q)_{\infty}} \rho(\varphi;a,b,c,d|q),$$
(3.3)

which follows from (1.2), (2.3) and (2.11), and write the difference equation for the Askey-Wilson polynomials [1] in the form

$$\sin \kappa \partial_x \left[\frac{\vartheta_2(\kappa x, q^{1/2})}{\cos \kappa x} \rho(\kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q) \sin \kappa \partial_x p_n(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) \right] =$$

$$= (1 - q^{-n})(1 - abcdq^{n-1}) \cos \kappa x \, \vartheta_2(\kappa x, q^{1/2}) \rho(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) \, p_n(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q).$$
(3.4)

Now, using the difference differentiation formula (3.2) in the left-hand side of (3.4) and the periodicity property of the ϑ_2 -function [9],

$$\vartheta_2(z \pm \pi\tau, q) = q^{-1} \exp\left(\mp 2iz\right) \vartheta_2(z, q), \qquad q = \exp\left(\pi i\tau\right), \tag{3.5}$$

we arrive at the raising operator

$$(\sin 2\kappa x \cos \kappa \partial_x - \cos 2\kappa x \sin \kappa \partial_x)
ho(\kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q)$$

 $p_{n-1}(\sin\kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q) = q^{\frac{1-n}{2}}\cos\kappa x \,\rho(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) p_n(\sin\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q). \tag{3.6}$

We are now in a position to give a direct proof of the orthogonality relation (3.1). We multiply both sides of the equality (3.6) by $p_m(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) \exp(-x^2)$ and integrate in x over the full real line. As a result we obtain in the right-hand side.

$$q^{\frac{1-n}{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} p_m(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) p_n(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d, q) \rho(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) e^{-x^2} \cos \kappa x \, dx \equiv q^{\frac{1-n}{2}} I_{mn}(a, b, c, d|q).$$

$$(3.7)$$

The left-hand side

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx p_m(\sin \kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) e^{-x^2}(\sin 2\kappa x \cos \kappa \partial_x - \cos 2\kappa x \sin \kappa \partial_x)$$
(3.8)

$$\rho(\kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q) p_{n-1}(\sin \kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q),$$

can be integrated by parts with the aid of (3.2) and the evident relations

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx f(x) \cos \kappa \partial_x \varphi(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \, \varphi(x) \cos \kappa \partial_x f(x),$$
(3.9)

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx f(x) \sin \kappa \partial_x \varphi(x) = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \varphi(x) \sin \kappa \partial_x f(x),$$

which apply to (3.8) because the function $\rho(\kappa z; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q)$ has no singularities inside of the strip $-\kappa \leq y \leq \kappa$, $-\infty < x < \infty$ in the complex plane z = x + iy. This leads to

$$q^{\frac{1-m}{2}}(1-q^m)(1-abcdq^{m-1})I_{m-1n-1}(aq^{1/2},bq^{1/2},cq^{1/2},dq^{1/2}|q).$$
(3.10)

Equating the right-hand (3.7) and left-hand (3.10) sides thus yields

$$q^{\frac{m-n}{2}}I_{mn}(a,b,c,d|q) = (1-q^m)(1-abcdq^{m-1})I_{m-1n-1}(aq^{1/2},bq^{1/2},cq^{1/2},dq^{1/2}|q).$$
(3.11)

We now interchange m and n in (3.11) and take into account that the integral $I_{mn}(a, b, c, d|q)$ is symmetric in m and n due to the definition (3.7), *i.e.*,

$$q^{\frac{n-m}{2}}I_{mn}(a,b,c,d|q) = (1-q^n)(1-abcdq^{n-1})I_{m-1n-1}(aq^{1/2},bq^{1/2},cq^{1/2},dq^{1/2}|q).$$
(3.11')

Finally, multiplying both sides of (3.11) by $(1-q^n)(1-abcdq^{n-1})$ and of (3.11') by $(1-q^m)(1-abcdq^{m-1})$ and subtracting the second expression from the first, we get

$$\left(q^{\frac{m-n}{2}} - q^{\frac{n-m}{2}}\right)\left(1 - abcdq^{m+n-1}\right)I_{mn}(a, b, c, d|q) = 0.$$
(3.12)

From (3.12) it follows that $I_{mn}(a, b, c, d|q) = \delta_{mn} \tilde{I}_n(a, b, c, d|q)$, confirming the orthogonality (3.1) of the Askey-Wilson polynomials for $m \neq n$ [8].

We note that as special and limiting cases, (3.1) contains the orthogonality relations for other known sets of polynomials, such as the continuous q-ultraspherical polynomials $C_n(x;\beta|q)$, the continuous q-Hermite polynomials $H_n(x;q) = (q;q)_n C_n(x;0|q)$ (the corresponding special case of (3.1), when the all parameters a, b, c, d are equal to zero, is considered in [5]), the Chebyshev polynomials of the first and second kinds, $T_n(x)$ and $U_n(x)$, and so on.

4 Evaluation of the integrals $\tilde{I}_n(a, b, c, d|q)$.

Iterating the recurrence relation

$$\tilde{I}_n(a,b,c,d|q) = (1-q^n)(1-abcdq^{n-1})\tilde{I}_{n-1}(aq^{1/2},bq^{1/2},cq^{1/2},dq^{1/2}|q),$$
(4.1)

which follows from (3.11) or (3.11') when m = n, allows to express the normalization integrals $\tilde{I}_n(a, b, c, d|q)$, n = 1, 2, ..., through a known value of the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral $\tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q)$, i.e.

$$\tilde{I}_n(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{(q, ab, ac, ad, bc, bd, cd; q)_n}{(1 - abcdq^{2n-1})(abcd; q)_{n-1}} \tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q).$$
(4.2)

It only remains to evaluate the integral $\tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q)$ itself. To this end, having defined the symmetrical $\rho_+(x)$ and antisymmetrical $\rho_-(x)$ combinations with respect to the inversion $x \to -x$,

$$\rho_{\pm}(x;a,b,c,d|q) = \frac{1}{2} [\rho(x;a,b,c,d|q) \pm \rho(-x;a,b,c,d|q)],$$
(4.3)

it is convenient to rewrite (2.10) as

$$\tilde{I}_0(a,b,c,d|q) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \exp\left(-x^2 + i\kappa x\right) \rho_+(\kappa x;a,b,c,d|q).$$
(4.4)

Let us carry out the replacements $v \to v\sqrt{q}$, v = a, b, c, d, and the subsequent shift of the variable of integration $x \to x + i\kappa$ in (4.4). (We remind that the function $\rho(\kappa z; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q)$ does not have singularities in the strip $-\kappa \leq y \leq \kappa$, $-\infty < x < \infty$ of the complex plane z = x + iy). Then, taking into account that in accordance with the definitions (1.2) and (2.11)

$$\rho(\kappa(x+i\kappa);aq^{1/2},bq^{1/2},cq^{1/2},dq^{1/2}|q) = \rho(\kappa x;a,b,c,d|q) \prod_{\nu=a,b,c,d} (1+i\nu\exp{(i\kappa x)}),$$
(4.5)

we obtain

$$\tilde{I}_0(aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q) = (1 - s_2)\tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q) +$$
(4.6)

$$+s_4\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}dx\exp\left(-x^2+3i\kappa x\right)\rho_+(\kappa x;a,b,c,d|q)-is_3\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}dx\exp\left(-x^2+2i\kappa x\right)\rho_-(\kappa x;a,b,c,d|q),$$

where

$$s_2 = ab + ac + ad + bc + bd + cd,$$
(4.7)

$$s_3 = abc + abd + acd + bcd, \quad s_4 = abcd$$

It remains only to express the second and third integrals in the right-hand side of (4.6) in terms of $\tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q)$. To that end one can use the n = 1 case of (3.6)

$$(\sin 2\kappa x \cos \kappa \partial_x - \cos 2\kappa x \sin \kappa \partial_x)\rho(\kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q) =$$
(4.8)

$$= [(1-s_4)\sin 2\kappa x + (s_3-s_1)\cos \kappa x]\rho(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q)$$

taking into account that $p_0(x; a, b, c, d|q) = 1$, $p_1(x; a, b, c, d|q) = 2(1 - s_4)x + s_3 - s_1$ and $s_1 = a + b + c + d$. The symmetrization of (4.8) leads to the relations

$$(\sin 2\kappa x \cos \kappa \partial_x - \cos 2\kappa x \sin \kappa \partial_x)\rho_{\pm}(\kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, c q^{1/2}, d q^{1/2}|q) =$$
(4.9)

$$= (1 - s_4) \sin 2\kappa x \,\rho_{\pm}(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) + (s_3 - s_1) \cos \kappa x \,\rho_{\mp}(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q).$$

Multiplying both sides of the equality (4.9) for the antisymmetrical combination $\rho_{-}(\kappa x)$ by $\exp(-x^2)$ and integrating over the variable x yields

$$(1-s_4)\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \exp(-x^2+2i\kappa x)\rho_{-}(\kappa x;a,b,c,d|q) = i(s_1-s_3)\tilde{I}_0(a,b,c,d|q).$$
(4.10)

Now we multiply both sides of (4.9) for $\rho_+(\kappa x; aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q)$ by $\exp(-x^2 + i\kappa x)$ and integrate over x. Using (4.10), the result can be written as

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \exp(-x^2 + 3i\kappa x)\rho_+(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q) =$$
(4.11)

$$= \left[1 - \frac{(s_3 - s_1)^2}{(1 - s_4)^2}\right] \tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q) - \frac{1 - q}{1 - s_4} \tilde{I}_0(aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q).$$
Substituting (4.10) and (4.11) into (4.6), we find

$$(1 - abcd)(1 - qabcd) \tilde{I}_0(aq^{1/2}, bq^{1/2}, cq^{1/2}, dq^{1/2}|q) =$$

$$(4.12)$$

$$= (1 - ab)(1 - ac)(1 - ad)(1 - bc)(1 - bd)(1 - cd) \tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q).$$

Since 0 < q < 1, by iterating equation (4.12) one can express the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral (2.10) with arbitrary parameters in terms of its value for vanishing parameters a, b, c, d, i.e.,

$$\tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{(abcd; q)_{\infty}}{(ab, ac, ad, bc, bd, cd; q)_{\infty}} \tilde{I}_0(0, 0, 0, 0|q).$$
(4.13)

The value of $\tilde{I}_0(0,0,0,0|q)$ is easily found from (2.10) and (3.1) with the aid of the Fourier transformation formula (2.15) for the quadratically decreasing exponential function, *i.e.*,

$$\tilde{I}_0(0,0,0,0|q) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \exp\left(-x^2 + i\kappa x\right) = \sqrt{\pi} q^{1/8}.$$
(4.14)

Combining formulas (4.13) and (4.14) leads to

$$\tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}q^{1/8}(abcd; q)_{\infty}}{(ab, ac, ad, bc, bd, cd; q)_{\infty}},$$
(4.15)

which is the known value of the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral [1]

$$I_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{q^{1/8}(q; q)_{\infty}} \tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q) = \frac{2\pi (abcd; q)_{\infty}}{(q, ab, ac, ad, bc, bd, cd; q)_{\infty}}.$$
 (4.15')

Substituting (4.15) into (4.2), we finally obtain the explicit form for the normalization integral

$$\tilde{I}_n(a,d,c,d|q) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}q^{1/8}(q;q)_n(abcdq^{n-1};q)_\infty}{(1-abcdq^{2n-1})(abq^n,acq^n,adq^n,bcq^n,bdq^n,cdq^n;q)_\infty}.$$
(4.16)

The complications arising in the evaluation of the standard form of the Askey-Wilson q-beta integral (1.5) can be illustrated by the following short quotation from reference [4]: "This was surprisingly hard, and it has taken over five years before relatively simple ways of evaluating this integral were found".

5 The transformation $q \rightarrow q^{-1}$.

It is necessary to emphasize that the nonstandard orthogonality relation (3.1) admits the transformation $q \to q^{-1}$ [7, 8]. The standard form of the Askey-Willson integral (1.5) does not in general have this property. Even in the simplest case of vanishing parameters a, b, c and d, which corresponds to the continuous q-Hermite polynomials $H_n(x|q)$, the definition of a weight function for the system of polynomials $h_n(x;q) = i^{-n}H_n(ix|q^{-1})$ requires a special analysis [13, 14]. Since

$$(z;q^{-1})_{\infty} = (qz;q)_{\infty}^{-1}, \tag{5.1}$$

the change $q \to q^{-1}$ (i.e. $\kappa \to i\kappa$) in the function $\rho(\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q)$ appearing in (2.10) and (3.1), transforms it into

$$\rho(i\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q^{-1}) = \prod_{\nu=a,b,c,d} (i\nu q e^{\kappa x}, -i\nu q e^{-\kappa x}; q)_{\infty} = \prod_{\nu=a,b,c,d} E_q(i\nu q e^{-\kappa x}) E_q(-i\nu q e^{\kappa x}), \quad (5.2)$$

where $E_q(z) = e_q^{-1}(-z) = (-z;q)_{\infty}$ [2]. Therefore, under the transformation $q \rightarrow q^{-1}$, the orthogonality relation (3.1) for the Askey-Wilson polynomials with the parameter q < 1 converts into the following orthogonality relation for the Askey-Wilson polynomials with q > 1:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} p_m(i\sinh\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q^{-1}) p_n(i\sinh\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q^{-1}) \rho(i\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q^{-1}) e^{-x^2} \cosh\kappa x dx = \delta_{mn} \tilde{I}_n(a, b, c, d|q^{-1})$$
(5.3)

The explicit form of $\tilde{I}_n(a, b, c, d|q^{-1})$ is readily obtained from (4.16), upon making use of the formulas (5.1) and $(a; q^{-1})_n = (a^{-1}; q)_n (-a)^n q^{-n(n-1)/2}$ [2].

On the other hand, with the aid of the explicit representation for the Askey-Wilson polynomials [1, 2]

$$p_n(\sin\varphi;a,b,c,d|q) = (ab,ac,ad;q)_n a^{-n} {}_4\phi_3 \begin{bmatrix} q^{-n}, abcdq^{n-1}, iae^{i\varphi}, -iae^{-i\varphi}\\ ab, ac, ad \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.4)

and the inversion formula (with respect to the transformation $q \rightarrow q^{-1}$) for the basic hypergeometric series $_4\phi_3$ (see [2], p.21, exercise 1.4(i)), it is easy to show that

$$p_n(x;a,b,c,d|q^{-1}) = (-1)^n (abcd)^n q^{-\frac{3}{2}n(n-1)} p_n(x;a^{-1},b^{-1},c^{-1},d^{-1}|q).$$
(5.5)

(5.6)

Consequently, from (5.3) and (5.5) it follows the orthogonality relation

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} p_m(i\sinh\kappa x; a^{-1}, b^{-1}, c^{-1}, d^{-1}|q) p_n(i\sinh\kappa x; a^{-1}, b^{-1}, c^{-1}, d^{-1}|q) \rho(i\kappa x; a, b, c, d|q^{-1}) *$$

$$e^{-x^2} \cosh \kappa x dx = \frac{(q, 1/ab, 1/ac, 1/ad, 1/bc, 1/bd, 1/cd; q)_n}{(1 - q^{2n-1}/abcd)(1/abcd; q)_{n-1}} \tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q^{-1}) \,\delta_{mn}$$

for the Askey-Wilson polynomials with the parameters |v| > 1, v = a, b, c, d and 0 < q < 1. The value of the integral $\tilde{I}_0(a, b, c, d|q^{-1})$ is simple to obtain from (4.15) by means of the formula (5.1).

6 Concluding remarks.

The orthogonality relations (3.1) and (5.6) are bound to be related by the Fourier transformation for the Askey-Wilson functions, analogous to the well-known transformation for the harmonic oscillator wave functions $H_n(x) \exp(-x^2/2)$ (or Hermite functions in the terminology of mathematicians [15, 16]) connecting the coordinate and momentum realizations in quantum mechanics. It should be interesting to compare this Fourier transformation with the qtransformations, that reproduce the Askey-Wilson polynomials [17, 18]. For the q-Hermite functions $H_n(\sin \kappa x | q) \exp(-x^2/2)$, $q = \exp(-2\kappa^2)$, which are the simplest case of the Askey-Wilson functions with vanishing parameters a, b, c, and d, such Fourier transformation has the form [5]

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\exp{(ixy-x^2/2)}H_n(\sin\kappa x|q)dx=i^nq^{n^2/4}h_n(\sinh\kappa y|q)\exp{(-y^2/2)}.$$

The general case needs to be analyzed in greater detail.

7 Acknowledgments.

Discussions with A.Frank, V.I.Man'ko, and K.B.Wolf and the hospitality of the Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas, UNAM in Cuernavaca are gratefully acknowledged. This work is partially supported by the DGAPA Project IN 104293.

References

- [1] R.Askey and J.A.Wilson, Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, **319**. (AMS, Providence RI, 1985).
- [2] G.Gasper and M.Rahman, Basic Hypergeometric Series. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990).
- [3] R.Askey and M.E.H.Ismail, in *Studies in Pure Mathematics*, edited by P.Erdös, pp.55-78. (Birkhäuser, Boston, Massachusetts, 1983).
- [4] G.E. Andrews and R.Askey, Lect. Notes in Math. 1171, pp.36-62. (Springer-Verlag, Berlin and New York, 1985).
- [5] N.M.Atakishiyev and Sh.M.Nagiyev, Teor. i Matem. Fiz. 98, 241 (1994).
- [6] E.V.Damaskinsky and P.P.Kulish, in Zapiski Nauchnykh Seminarov POMI, 199, pp.81-90. (Nauka, Sankt-Peterburg, 1992).
- [7] N.M.Atakishiyev, Teor. i Matem. Fiz. 99, 155(1994) .
- [8] N.M.Atakishiyev, Orthogonality of the Askey-Wilson polynomials with respect to a Ramanujan-type measure, Teor. i Matem. Fiz., to appear.

- [9] E.T.Whittaker and G.N.Watson, A Course of Modern Analysis, 4th edition. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990).
- [10] S.Ramanujan, The lost notebook and other unpublished papers. (Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi, 1988).
- [11] R.Askey, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 85, 192 (1982).
- [12] F.M.Morse and H.Feshbach, Methods of Theoretical Physics, Part 1. (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1953).
- [13] R.Askey, in q-series and Partitions, IMA Volumes in Mathematics and Its Applications, edited by D.Stanton, pp.151-158. (Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989).
- [14] N.M.Atakishiyev, A.Frank, and K.B.Wolf, J.Math. Phys. 35, 3253 (1994).
- [15] N.Wiener, The Fourier Integral and Certain of Its Applications. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1933).
- [16] R.Courant and D.Hilbert, Methods of Mathematical Physics, Vol.1. (John Wiley, New York, 1989).
- [17] R.Askey, N.M.Atakishiyev, and S.K.Suslov, An analog of the Fourier transformation for a q-harmonic oscillator, Preprint IAE-5611/1. (Kurchatov Institute, Moscow, 1993); In Symmetries in Science, VI, edited by B.Gruber, pp.57-63. (Plenum Press, New York, 1993).
- [18] M.Rahman and S.K.Suslov, Singular analogue of the Fourier transformation for the Askey-Wilson polynomials, Preprint CRM-1915. (Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, Montréal, 1993).



1995116559

N95- 22976

NONCLASSICAL LIGHT IN INTERFEROMETRIC MEASUREMENTS

 \mathcal{M}

N. A. Ansari, L. Di Fiore, R. Romano, S. Solimeno and F. Zaccaria Dipartimento di Scienze Fisiche, Universita di Napoli "Federico II", Istituto Nazionale di Fisiche Nucleare, Sezione di Napoli, Mostra d'Oltremare, Pad. 20-80125 Napoli, Italy

and

M. A. Man'ko and V. I. Man'ko Lebedev Physics Institute, Leninsky pr.,53, 117924 Moscow, Russia

Abstract

It is shown that the even and odd coherent light and other nonclassical states of light like superposition of coherent states with different phases may replace the squeezed light in interferometric gravitational wave detector to increase its sensitivity.

1 Introduction

The problem of detecting gravitational wave has been a subject of interest for many years [1]. Specially the quantum sensitivity of Michelson interferometric gravitational wave detection (GWD) has been discussed by Caves [2]. In Michelson interferometer, the light from an input laser beam splits through a 50-50 beam splitter (BS), bounces back and forth between two end mirrors of interferometer and recombines again at the BS. The intensity at one or both output ports of the interferometer provides informations about the difference between the two displacements of the end mirrors. The quantum mechanical treatment of the system shows that the vacuum fluctuations enter in to the interferometer from the unused port and result in a limit on the optimum power of the input laser, which comes out to be quite large and of no experimental interest. Caves [2] suggested that by squeezing the vacuum, the optimum power of the laser can be reduced considerably. Squeezed states [3] of an electromagnetic field are non-classical states in which the quantum fluctuations in one quadrature can be reduced below the standard quantum limit at the expanse of the increased fluctuations in the other quadrature such that the Heisenberg uncertainty principle remains valid.

It is also interesting to try to use the other non-classical light in the place of squeezed light and study its effect on the better sensitivity of the interferometer in GWD. The different superpositions of coherent states because of their non-classical nature are of our particular interest. Yurke and Stoler [4], have predicted that a coherent state propagating in a dispersive medium evolves into a superposition of two coherent states 180° out of phase. Another type of superposition of coherent states, namely, even and odd coherent states was introduced by Dodonov, Malkin, and Man'ko [5]. Even coherent states are closely related to the squeezed vacuum states because they too are the superposition of even number of photons but with different coefficients. The non-classical properties of Yurke-Stoler coherent states and even and odd coherent states have been discussed in [6]. In Refs.[7] -[10], different theoretical possibilities regarding the generations of even and odd coherent states have been discussed. The properties of even and odd coherent states as a representatives of a set of nonclassical light states have been considered recently by Nieto and Truax [11].

In the following sections we will study the effects of the non-classical light on the optimal power of the input laser for interferometric GWD. The most general analysis of non-classical states in interferometry was done by Yurke, McCall and Klauder [12]. We will following the approach adopted by Ansari et al.[13], in which the noise error can be expressed as a product of two factors with tensorial-like structure, each of the factors being related to the geometry of an interferometer and light states correspondingly.

2 Nonclassical Light

In this section we will briefly discuss the properties of three types of superposition of coherent states, Yurke-Stoler coherent states (YS), even (ECS) and odd (OCS) coherent states.

2.1 Even and Odd Coherent States

The even and odd coherent states may be defined in the form [5]

$$|\beta_{\pm}\rangle = N_{\pm}(|\beta\rangle \pm |-\beta\rangle), \tag{1}$$

where + sign is for ECS and - sign is for OCS. $|\beta\rangle$ is a coherent state and the normalizing constants N_{\pm} are

$$N_{+} = \frac{e^{|\beta|^{2}/2}}{2\sqrt{\cosh |\beta|^{2}}},$$

$$N_{-} = \frac{e^{|\beta|^{2}/2}}{2\sqrt{\sinh |\beta|^{2}}}.$$
(2)

Also from Eq.(1), we can define the relations

$$a | \beta_{+} \rangle = \beta \sqrt{tanh |\beta|^{2}} |\beta_{-} \rangle,$$

$$a |\beta_{-} \rangle = \beta \sqrt{coth |\beta|^{2}} |\beta_{+} \rangle.$$
(3)

With the help of above equations we can easily evaluate the expectation values of first and higher order moments of annihilation and creation operators of even and odd coherent states. For example,

$$< a >_{+} = < \beta_{+} \mid a \mid \beta_{+} > = \beta \sqrt{tanh \mid \beta \mid^{2}} < \beta_{+} \mid \beta_{-} > = 0,$$
 (4)

as even and odd coherent states are orthogonal states. Similarly,

$$\langle a^{\dagger}a \rangle_{+} = |\beta|^{2} \tanh |\beta|^{2},$$

$$\langle a^{\dagger}a \rangle_{-} = |\beta|^{2} \coth |\beta|^{2},$$

$$\langle a^{2} \rangle_{\pm} = \beta^{2},$$

$$\langle a^{\dagger 2} \rangle_{\pm} = \beta^{*2}.$$

$$(5)$$

2.2 Yurke-Stoler Coherent States

Yurke-Stoler (YS) coherent states are defined as [4],[6]

$$|\beta\rangle_{YS} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\beta\rangle + e^{i\pi/2} |-\beta\rangle).$$
 (6)

In terms of number states these states can be defined as

$$|\beta\rangle_{YS} = \frac{e^{-|\beta|^2/2}}{\sqrt{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\beta^n}{\sqrt{n!}} (1+i(-1)^n) |n\rangle.$$
(7)

The first order moments of YS coherent states are not equal to zero as in the case of ECS or OCS

$$\langle a \rangle_{YS} = -i\beta e^{-2|\beta|^2},\tag{8}$$

and second order moments are

We will use different first and second order moments as given in Eqs.(4-9) in the following section, when we will discuss the important rcle played by nonclassical light for GWD.

3 Michelson Interferometer for GWD

Michelson interferometer is a two arms device at the end of which two mirrors are attached to strings, thus behaving as two pendula. The positions of the mirrors are controlled by the joint action of the restoring force and the radiation pressure [14]. We will suppose that in all process the dissipative and active effects are negligible and the conservation of energy is ensured.

There are two input field modes described by the operators (a_i, a_i^{\dagger}) at the two ports of the interferometer. At the end mirrors M_i , the fields are defined by (b_i, b_i^{\dagger}) . The output fields at the two ports P_i are described by (c_i, c_i^{\dagger}) . The input fields are related with the fields at the mirrors through the relations

$$b = Va,$$

$$b^{\dagger} = a^{\dagger}V,$$
(10)

where

$$a = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$b = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$a^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1^{\dagger} & a_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$b^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} b_1^{\dagger} & b_2^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(11)

Also

$$V = \Phi K, \tag{12}$$

with

$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\phi_1} & 0\\ 0 & e^{i\phi_2} \end{pmatrix},
K = \begin{pmatrix} \zeta_1 & \xi_2\\ \xi_1 & \zeta_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(13)

In Eq.(13) ζ and ξ are the complex transitivity and reflectivity parameters of the BS arbitrarily oriented for the *i*-th field mode respectively and ϕC_i is the phase distance between BS and M_i .

The relations between the input field and the output fields at the two interferometric ports are of the form

$$c = Ua,$$

$$c^{\dagger} = a^{\dagger}U^{\dagger}$$
(14)

with

$$U = -K^T \Phi^2 K = -V^T V, \tag{15}$$

where - sign in Eq.(15) corresponds to the phase change on reflection at the mirrors. Thus from the above equations we can define the relations between different fields by including all the informations about influence of the BS and the end mirrors M_i .

3.1 Sources of Noise

The accuracy with which the difference in displacement z can be measured is limited by the Heisenberg uncertainty principle. Following [2], we have two sources of errors namely radiation pressure error and photon counting noise. The standard quantum limit for a Michelson interferometer can be obtained by balancing these two sources of error. Radiation pressure error (PR) is due to the pressure exerted by the field on the mirrors and the photon counting noise (PC) is due to the fluctuations in the number of photons in the input field. So,

$$\Delta z = \sqrt{(\Delta z_{RP})^2 + (\Delta z_{PC})^2},\tag{16}$$

where

$$(\Delta z_{RP})^2 = \sigma_{RP}^2 \left(\frac{\hbar\omega\tau}{mc}\right)^2,$$

$$(\Delta Z_{PC})^2 = \sigma_{PC}^2 \left(\frac{\partial(c^{\dagger}\sigma_3 c)}{\partial(\phi_2 - \phi_1)}\right)^{-2}.$$
(17)

Also

$$\sigma_{RP}^{2} = \langle b^{\dagger} \sigma_{3} b \rangle^{2} > - \langle b^{\dagger} \sigma_{3} b \rangle^{2},$$

$$\sigma_{PC}^{2} = \langle (c^{\dagger} \sigma_{3} c)^{2} > - \langle c^{\dagger} \sigma_{3} c \rangle^{2}.$$
(18)

In Eq.(17), τ is the observation time and m is the mass of the end mirrors. Here we consider that BS is attached to a large mass M (M >> m), which remained fixed during the observation time. By using Eqs.(10-15), we can write

$$\sigma_{RP}^{2} = (V^{\dagger}\sigma_{3}V)_{ik}(V^{\dagger}\sigma_{3}V)_{mn}T_{ikmn},$$

$$\sigma_{PC}^{2} = (U^{\dagger}\sigma_{3}U)_{ik}(U^{\dagger}\sigma_{3}U)_{mn}T_{ikmn},$$
(19)

with the summation over the repeated indices taken from 1 to 2 and

$$T_{ikmn} = \langle a_i^{\dagger} a_k a_m^{\dagger} a_n \rangle - \langle a_i^{\dagger} a_k \rangle \langle a_m^{\dagger} a_n \rangle .$$

$$\tag{20}$$

Eq.(20) allows us to study the use of different field modes from the input port. By using Eqs.(16-20), we can write

$$\Delta z = X_{ikmn} T_{ikmn} \qquad (ikmn = 1, 2), \tag{21}$$

where X_{ikmn} contains the geometrical and physical properties of the interferometer.

If we consider a 50-50 ideally thin BS which introduces a phase difference of $\pi/2$ between the reflected and the transmitted waves, then from Eq.(10) and (13), we can write

$$V^{\dagger}\sigma_{3}V = \begin{pmatrix} o & i \\ -i & o \end{pmatrix}$$
(22)

and

$$U^{\dagger}\sigma_{3}U = \begin{pmatrix} -\cos\phi & -\sin\phi \\ -\sin\phi & \cos\phi \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (23)$$

where $\phi = \phi_2 - \phi_1$. Also if the interferometer is operated in the dark fringe, then two arms of the interferometer can be adjusted such that $\phi = (2n+1)\pi/2$. For dark fringe operation we get

$$X_{1212} = X_{2121} = -A^2 + B^2,$$

$$X_{1221} = X_{2112} = A^2 + B^2.$$
(24)

Also

$$A = \left(\frac{\hbar\omega\tau}{mc}\right),$$

$$B = \left(\frac{\partial I}{\partial Z}\right)^{-1}$$
(25)

and

$$I = \langle c^{\dagger} \sigma_{3} c \rangle, Z = \phi \frac{c}{2\omega}.$$
(26)

The variable Z corresponds to the difference between the displacement of two end mirrors with respect to their mean position due to radiation pressure exerted by the input laser.

(i) The corresponding field contributions can be found from Eq.(20). If we consider that the input field at port P_1 is a coherent light and from the second port is in even or odd coherent states, then the two fields are anticorrelated and the states of these fields can be written as

$$|\psi\rangle = |\alpha, \beta_{\pm}\rangle. \tag{27}$$

For the case of even coherent light we can write the coefficients T_{ikmn} as

$$T_{1111} = \alpha^{2}$$

$$T_{1122} = 0$$

$$T_{1212} = \alpha^{2} |\beta|^{2} e^{2i\theta_{1}}$$

$$T_{1221} = \alpha^{2} |\beta|^{2} tanh |\beta|^{2} + \alpha^{2}$$

$$T_{2112} = \alpha^{2} |\beta|^{2} tanh |\beta|^{2} + |\beta|^{2} tanh |\beta|^{2}$$

$$T_{2121} = \alpha^{2} |\beta|^{2} e^{-2i\theta_{1}}$$

$$T_{2211} = 0$$

$$T_{2222} = |\beta|^{4} - |\beta|^{4} tanh^{2} |\beta|^{2} + |\beta|^{2} tanh |\beta|^{2}, \qquad (28)$$

where θ_1 is the phase of β and we have consider α to be real. Also for OCS we will get the same expressions as in the above equation except $tanh |\beta|^2$ should be replace by $coth |\beta|^2$.

(ii) For the case of Yurke-Stoler coherent states from the second port and the coherent state from the first port we can define the states as

$$|\psi\rangle = |\alpha, \beta_{YS}\rangle, \tag{29}$$

and the new expressions for T_{ikmn} are

$$T_{1111} = \alpha^{2}$$

$$T_{1122} = 0$$

$$T_{1212} = \alpha^{2} |\beta|^{2} e^{2i\theta_{2}}(1 + e^{-4|\beta|^{2}})$$

$$T_{1221} = \alpha^{2} [|\beta|^{2} (1 - e^{-4|\beta|^{2}}) + 1]$$

$$T_{2112} = |\beta|^{2} [\alpha^{2} (1 - e^{-4|\beta|^{2}}) + 1]$$

$$T_{2121} = \alpha^{2} |\beta|^{2} e^{-2i\theta_{2}}(1 + e^{-4|\beta|^{2}})$$

$$T_{2211} = 0$$

$$T_{2222} = |\beta|^{2},$$
(30)

where θ_2 is the phase of β in the case of YS coherent states. A comparison of Eqs.(29) and (31) shows the difference between different order correlations between the two types of the input fields from port P_2 .

3.2 Optimum Input Laser Power

The general expression for $(\Delta z)^2$ by using Eqs.(21) and (25) becomes

$$(\Delta z)^2 = A^2 (T_{1221} + T_{2112} - T_{1212} - T_{2121}) + B^2 (T_{1221} + T_{2112} + T_{1212} + T_{2121}).$$
(31)

Minimizing the total error with respect to α^2 gives optimal value of α^2 (coherent field intensity from port P_1). In the presence of ordinary vacuum fluctuations from the second port, the optimum intensity of the input laser becomes [2]

$$(\alpha_{opt}^2)^o = \frac{mc^2}{2\hbar\omega^2\tau}.$$
(32)

Caves [2] showed that the optimal laser intensity can be reduced considerably if we squeezed the vacuum from the second port. We will analyze the situation when the squeezed vacuum is replaced by the nonclassical light as discussed before.

In the first case, we will study the effect of even and odd coherent states on the optimum value of α^2 . Under the condition of $\alpha^2 >> |\beta|^2 tanh |\beta|^2$, we get

$$(\alpha_{opt}^{2})^{ev} = \sqrt{\frac{2 |\beta|^{2} \tanh |\beta|^{2} + 2 |\beta|^{2} \cos 2\theta_{1} + 1}{2 |\beta|^{2} \tan h |\beta|^{2} - 2 |\beta|^{2} \cos 2\theta_{1} + 1}} (\alpha_{opt}^{2})^{o},$$
(33)

and for OCS

$$(\alpha_{opt}^{2})^{od} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \mid \beta \mid^{2} \coth \mid \beta \mid^{2} + 2 \mid \beta \mid^{2} \cos 2\theta_{1} + 1}{2 \mid \beta \mid^{2} \coth \mid \beta \mid^{2} - 2 \mid \beta \mid^{2} \cos 2\theta_{1} + 1}} (\alpha_{opt}^{2})^{o}.$$
(34)

Thus for $\theta_1 = \pi/2$ and under the limit $1 << |\beta|^2 << \alpha^2$, we get

$$(\alpha_{opt}^2)^{ev} = \frac{(\alpha_{opt}^2)^o}{2|\beta|}.$$
(35)

Eq. (35) allows us an alternative way to reduce the optimum input laser power or to increase the sensitivity of interferometer by using even or odd coherent states from the second port of the interferoeter. As $|\beta| >> 1$, from Eq.(35), we predict that the optimum value of the input laser intensity can be reduced considerably if we apply even or odd coherent state from the second port.

When we apply Yurke-Stoler coherent states and for the choices of $\alpha^2 >> |\beta|^2$ and $\theta_2 = \pi/2$, we get the relation

$$(\alpha_{opt}^2)^{YS} = \sqrt{\frac{-2|\beta|^2 e^{-4|\beta|^2} + 1}{4|\beta|^2 + 1}} (\alpha_{opt}^2)^o.$$
(36)

Also in the limit of $1 \ll |\beta|^2 \ll \alpha^2$, we will get the same expression as we get in the case of ECS or OCS, i.e.,

$$(\alpha_{opt}^2)^{YS} = \frac{(\alpha_{opt}^2)^o}{2|\beta|}.$$
(37)

Eqs.(35) and (37) show that we get the same expressions for the optimum power of input laser for large $|\beta|$. Thus we predict an important property of the superposition of coherent states that differet superpositions of coherent states may play an important role in reducing the optimum power of input laser. In other words by applying these coherent states, better quantum sensitivity of interferometer can be achieved as compare to no field contribution from the second port.

References

- [1] The Detection of Gravitational Waves, edited by D.G. Blair (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 1991), and the references therein.
- [2] C.M. Caves, Phys. Rev. D 23, 1693 (1981); Phys. Rev. Lett. 45, 75 (1980).
- [3] D. Stoler, Phys. Rev. D 4, 2309 (1971); J.N. Hollenhorst, Phys. Rev. D 19, 1669 (1979); E.Y. Lu, Lett. Nuovo Cimento 3, 585 (1972); P.P. Bertrand, K. Moy, and E.A. Mishkin, Phys. Rev. D 4, 1909 (1971); H.P. Yuen, Phys. Rev. A 13, 2226 (1976); D.F. Walls, Nature 301, 141 (1983).
- [4] B. Yurke and D. Stoler, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57, 13 (1986).
- [5] V.V. Dodonov, I.A. Malkin, and V.I. Man'ko, Physica 72, 597 (1974).
- [6] V. Buzik, A. Vidiella-Barranco, and P.L. Knight, Phys. Rev. A 45, 6570 (1992).
- [7] J. Gea-Banacloche, Phys. Rev. Lett. 65, 3385 (1990); Phys. Rev. A 44, 5913 (1991).
- [8] C.C. Gerry and E.E. Hasch III, Phys. Lett. A 174, 185 (1993).
- [9] J. Janszky, P. Adam, and I. Földesi, Phys. Lett. A 174, 368 (1993).
- [10] J. Perina, Quantum Statistics of Linear and Nonlinear Optical Phenomena (Reidel, Dordrecht, 1984) p. 78.
- [11] M.M. Nieto and D.R. Truax, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 2843 (1993).
- [12] B. Yurke, S.L. McCall, and J.R. Klauder, Phys. Rev. A 33, 4033 (1986).
- [13] N.A. Ansari, L. Di Fiore, M.A. Man'ko, V.I. Man'ko, S. Solimeno, and F. Zaccaria, Phys. Rev. A 49, 2151 (1994).
- [14] S. Solimeno, F. Barone, C. De Lisio, L. Di Fiore, L. Milano, and G. Russo, Phys. Rev. A 43, 6227 (1991).

1995116560

N95-22977

Non-Noetherian Symmetries for Oscillators in Classical Mechanics and in Field Theory

Sergio A. Hojman¹, Jaime De La Jara^{1,2} and Leda Peña¹ ¹Departamento de Física, Facultad de Ciencias, Casilla 653, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile

²Departamento de Física, Facultad de Ciencias Físicas y Matemáticas, Casilla 487-3, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Abstract

Infinitely many new conservation laws both for free fields as well as for test fields evolving on a given gravitational background are presented. The conserved currents are constructed using the field theoretical counterpart of a recently discovered non-Noetherian symmetry which gives rise to a new way of solving the classical small oscillations problem. Several examples are discussed.

1 Introduction

Noether's theorem plays a fundamental role in field theory [1]. Besides Noetherian symmetries there are, however, other kinds of symmetry transformations for the field equations which, loosely speaking, do not preserve the variational principle, i.e., they do not satisfy Noether's theorem [2,3,4]. They are non-Noetherian symmetries. Noether theorem gives rise to a conservation law associated to each Noetherian symmetry transformation of a system. On the other hand, non-Noetherian symmetries provide several (and sometimes infinitely many) conservation laws associated to <u>one</u> transformation [3,4,5,6]. In some instances one non-Noetherian symmetry transformation provides enough information to solve completely an n degrees of freedom problem [4]. In order to be more precise let us turn our attention to the small oscillations problem in classical mechanics. The Lagrangian is

$$L = \frac{1}{2} T_{ij} \dot{q}^{i} \dot{q}^{j} - \frac{1}{2} V_{ij} q^{i} q^{j} \quad i, j = 1, 2, ..., n$$
⁽¹⁾

with

$$T_{ij} = T_{ji} , \qquad V_{ij} = V_{ji}$$

and

$$det \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial \dot{q}^i \partial \dot{q}^j} = det T_{ij} \neq 0$$
(3)

Consider the transformation

$$q^{,i} = q^i + \delta q^i, \quad t' = t \tag{4}$$

with

$$\delta q^i = \epsilon \left(T^{-1} V \right)^i{}_i q^j \tag{5}$$

It is straightforward to prove that (4)-(5) is a non-Noetherian symmetry transformation for Lagrangian (1) as it maps the space of solutions of its equations of motion into itself (for details, see [4]). As it is well known, energy is conserved for Lagrangian (1) and therefore

$$H_0 = \frac{1}{2} T_{ij} \dot{q}^i \dot{q}^j + \frac{1}{2} V_{ij} q^i q^j \tag{6}$$

is a constant of motion. It may be easily proved [2,3,4] that the deformation δH_0 of H_0 along a symmetry transformation δq^i ,

$$\delta H_0 = \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial q^i} \delta q^i + \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial \dot{q}^i} \frac{\bar{d}}{dt} (\delta q^i) \tag{7}$$

is also a constant of motion. Thus, we get for the symmetry transformation given by Eqs. (4)-(5) that

$$H_1 = \frac{1}{2} V_{ij} \dot{q}^i \dot{q}^j + \frac{1}{2} (V T^{-1} V)_{ij} q^i q^j \tag{8}$$

is a constant of motion. Deforming H_1 , so on and so forth we get that, in general,

$$H_s = \frac{1}{2} ((VT^{-1})^{s-1}V)_{ij} \dot{q}^i \dot{q}^j + \frac{1}{2} ((VT^{-1})^s V)_{ij} q^i q^j$$
(9)

is a constant of motion for $s \ge 1$. At most n of these constants of motion are functionally independent due to the Cayley-Hamilton theorem. Note that this restriction dissappears in field theory. Furthermore, it may be proved that all these constants are in involution. In the next sections we will obtain the counterpart of these results for different examples in field theory.

2 Free Scalar Field

Consider the scalar field Lagrangian [7]

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \varphi \partial^{\mu} \varphi - \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{m}^{2} \varphi^{2}$$
(10)

where $\varphi = \varphi(x^{\mu})$ is a real scalar field. The equation of motion is

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\varphi + m^{2}\varphi = 0 \tag{11}$$

which written in detail reads

$$\frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial t^2} = (\nabla^2 - \mathbf{m}^2)\varphi \tag{12}$$

Consider the transformation

$$\delta_1 \varphi = \epsilon (\nabla^2 - \mathbf{m}^2) \varphi \equiv \epsilon \mathbf{D} \varphi \tag{13}$$

It is straightforward to prove that $\delta_1 \varphi$ satisfies Eq. (12), i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} \delta_1 \varphi = \mathrm{D} \delta_1 \varphi \tag{14}$$

Therefore, if φ is a solution of Eq. (12), then, φ' given by

$$\varphi' = \varphi + \delta_1 \varphi \tag{15}$$

also solves it. The energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}_{(0)}$

$$T^{\mu\nu}_{(0)} = \varphi^{,\mu}\varphi^{,\nu} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{L}$$
(16)

is conserved for the scalar field. It is easy to prove that its first deformation given by

$$T^{\mu\nu}_{(t)} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\varphi^{,\mu} (D\varphi)^{,\nu} + \varphi^{,\nu} (D\varphi)^{,\mu} - \eta^{\mu\nu} (\varphi^{,\alpha} (D\varphi)_{,\alpha} - m^2 \varphi D\varphi) \right],$$
(17)

is also conserved (the factor $\frac{1}{2}$ has been introduced for convenience). The transformations

$$\delta_n \varphi = \epsilon \, \mathcal{D}^n \varphi \quad n = 1, 2, \dots \tag{18}$$

are also symmetry transformations for Eq. (11). Therefore, in general,

$$T^{\mu\nu}_{(n)} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\varphi^{,\mu} (D^n \varphi)^{,\nu} + \varphi^{,\nu} (D^n \varphi)^{,\mu} - \eta^{\mu\nu} (\varphi^{,\alpha} (D^n \varphi)_{,\alpha} - m^2 \varphi D^n \varphi) \right],$$
(19)

is conserved for any n, as it can be readily checked. To understand the physical meaning of $T_{(n)}^{\mu\nu}$ it is interesting to consider its expression in terms of the Fourier transform of $\varphi(x)$. The solution $\varphi(x)$ of Eq. (11) may be written in terms of $\varphi(k)$ as

$$\varphi(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int d^4k \ \delta(k^2 - m^2) \theta(k^0) (e^{ikx} \varphi(k) + e^{-ikx} \varphi^*(k))$$
(20)

where $kx = k_{\mu}x^{\mu}$ and the star denotes complex conjugation, then one gets that the energy is

$$P_{(0)}^{0} = \int d^{3}x \ T_{(0)}^{00} = \int d^{3}k \ k^{0} \ \varphi^{*}(\vec{k})\varphi(\vec{k})$$
(21)

where $\varphi(\vec{k}) = (2k^0)^{-1/2}\varphi(k)$, with $k^0 = +\sqrt{\vec{k}^2 + m^2}$ and

$$P^{0}_{(n)} = \int d^{3}x \ T^{00}_{(n)} = (-1)^{n} \int d^{3}k \ (k^{0})^{2n+1} \ \varphi^{*}(\vec{k})\varphi(\vec{k})$$
(22)

which is a result very similar to the one obtained for the small oscillations problem [4]. We have, therefore obtained infinitely many conservation laws for the free scalar field. Of course, getting infinitely many conserved quantities for the free scalar field is no surprise since the general solution to the problem has been known for a long time. The purpose of discussing the free scalar field is to get a better understanding of the meaning of the non-Noetherian charges, in the next section we will obtain similar conservation laws for a test scalar field evolving on a given static gravitational background which constitutes a more powerful result.

3 Test Scalar Field on a Static Gravitational Background

Consider the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{-g} (g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \varphi \partial_{\nu} \varphi - \mathrm{m}^2 \varphi^2)$$
(23)

where the gravitational field is described by the static metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, with determinant g, which satisfies

$$\frac{\partial g_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^0} = 0 \tag{24}$$

and

$$g_{0i} = 0 \tag{25}$$

and g is the determinant of the metric. The equation of motion for the scalar field is

$$\partial_{\mu}(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\varphi) + \sqrt{-g}m^{2}\varphi = 0$$
⁽²⁶⁾

or, in full detail

$$\ddot{\varphi} = \frac{-g_{00}}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_i (\sqrt{-g} g^{ij} \partial_j \varphi) - m^2 g_{00} \varphi$$
⁽²⁷⁾

where $\dot{\varphi} = \partial \varphi / \partial x^0$. The Lagrangian is time independent

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x^0} = 0 \tag{28}$$

and therefore energy is conserved

$$\partial_{\mu} T^{\mu}_{(0)0} = 0 \tag{29}$$

with

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{(0)0} = \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{2} \left(2g^{\mu\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \varphi \dot{\varphi} - \delta^{\mu}_{0} (g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \varphi \partial_{\beta} \varphi - m^{2} \varphi^{2}) \right)$$
(30)

Again we may prove that

$$\delta_1 \varphi = \epsilon \, \mathcal{D} \varphi \tag{31}$$

is a symmetry transformation for Eq. (27) with

$$\mathcal{D} \equiv \frac{-g_{00}}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_i (\sqrt{-g} g^{ij} \partial_j) - \mathbf{m}^2 g_{00}$$
(32)

Therefore, we find that

$$\mathbf{T}^{\mu}_{(n)0} = \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{2} \left(g^{\mu\lambda} \dot{\varphi} \partial_{\lambda} \mathcal{D}^{n} \varphi + g^{\mu\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} \varphi \mathcal{D}^{n} \dot{\varphi} - \delta^{\mu}_{0} (g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \varphi \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{D}^{n} \varphi - \mathbf{m}^{2} \varphi \mathcal{D}^{n} \varphi) \right)$$
(33)

is conserved for any n as it can be readily checked. We have thus found infinitely many independent new conservation laws for a scalar field evolving on a static gravitational background. Note that the general solution for Eq. (27) on a Schwarzschild background metric is not known at present.

Consider the Schwarzschild metric [8]

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(1 - \frac{2M}{r}, \frac{-1}{1 - \frac{2M}{r}}, -r^2, -r^2 \sin^2 \theta)$$
 (34)

in units such that G=c=1. In this case,

$$\mathcal{D} = \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\lambda}}{\mathrm{r}^{2}\mathrm{sin}\,\theta} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial r} (\mathrm{r}^{2}\mathrm{sin}\,\theta\mathrm{e}^{\lambda}\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathrm{r}}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial\theta} (\mathrm{sin}\,\theta\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta}) + \frac{1}{\mathrm{sin}\,\theta}\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial\phi^{2}} - \mathrm{m}^{2}\mathrm{r}^{2}\mathrm{sin}\,\theta \right)$$
(35)

with $e^{\lambda} = 1 - 2M/r$. We get that

$$T^{0}_{(0)0} = \frac{r^{2} \sin \theta}{2} (e^{-\lambda} (\dot{\varphi})^{2} + e^{\lambda} (\varphi_{,r})^{2} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} (\varphi_{,\theta})^{2} + \frac{1}{r^{2} \sin^{2} \theta} (\varphi_{,\phi})^{2} + m^{2} \varphi^{2})$$
(36)

and

$$T^{0}_{(n)0} = \frac{r^{2} \sin \theta}{2} \left(e^{-\lambda} \dot{\varphi} \mathcal{D}^{n} \dot{\varphi} + e^{\lambda} \varphi_{,r} (\mathcal{D}^{n} \varphi)_{,r} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \varphi_{,\theta} (\mathcal{D}^{n} \varphi)_{,\theta} + \frac{1}{r^{2} \sin^{2} \theta} \varphi_{,\phi} (\mathcal{D}^{n} \varphi)_{,\phi} + m^{2} \varphi \mathcal{D}^{n} \varphi \right)$$
(37)

are conserved for all n. Thus we have infinitely many new conservation laws for the scalar field evolving on a gravitational background. In regard to the convergence of the integrals which define the conserved charges associated to $T^0_{(n)0}$, it is straightforward to realize that $\mathcal{D}^n \varphi$ behaves no worse than φ in the limit $r \to \infty$, for the massive case, while it vanishes faster than φ for the massless case. In other words, the new conserved charges behave (at worst) in the same fashion as the usual conserved energy does (and much better in the massless case). This fact may be explicitly verified for the particular case of a massless scalar field of angular momentum and frequency equal to 0. The explicit solution to Eq. (27) is [9]

$$\varphi(r) = \ln\left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right) \tag{38}$$

as it can be readily verified. From Eq. (37) we have that T_0^0 and $T_{(1)0}^0$ behave as r^{-2} and r^{-5} . For n > 1, $T_{(n)0}^0$ converges faster than r^{-5} when $r \to \infty$. As another example, consider the following metric [10]

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \operatorname{diag}(\mathbf{r}^{2\alpha}, -\beta, -\mathbf{r}^2, -\mathbf{r}^2 \sin^2 \theta)$$
(39)

which has been considered as a model for galactic dark matter dynamics. In Eq. (38) α and β are constants with $\alpha = 2(\gamma - 1)/\gamma$ and $\beta = (\gamma^2 + 4\gamma - 4)/\gamma$, where $2 > \gamma > 1$. The Klein-Gordon equation for a massless scalar field evolving on this metric is separable and its solutions are known [11]. The radial part of $\varphi(x^{\mu})$ is

$$\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{r}^{\frac{2-3\gamma}{2\gamma}} (A \mathbf{J}_{\nu}(\omega z) + B \mathbf{N}_{\nu}(\omega z))$$
(40)

where $J_{\nu}(x)$ and $N_{\nu}(x)$ are the Bessel and Neumann functions, ω is the frequency and

$$\nu^{2} = \frac{(3\gamma - 2)^{2}/4 + l(l+1)(\gamma^{2} + 4\gamma - 4)}{(2 - \gamma)^{2}} , \quad z = \frac{\sqrt{(\gamma^{2} + 4\gamma - 4)}}{2 - \gamma} \mathbf{r}^{\frac{2 - \gamma}{\gamma}}$$
(41)

Since the metric (38) satisfies Eqs. (24) and (25) we have that (36) and (37) are conserved. The interesting fact in this case, is that if one studies the asymptotic behaviour of solution (39), one finds that T_0^0 and $T_{(n)0}^0$ when $r \to \infty$ behave as

$$T_{0}^{0} \approx \frac{1}{r^{\alpha}} , \quad T_{(n)0}^{0} \approx \frac{1}{r^{2n(1-\alpha)+\alpha}}$$
 (42)

Since $1 > \alpha > 0$ this implies that $2n(1 - \alpha) + \alpha > 1$ for $n \ge 1$. It is straightforward to realize that the conserved charge associated to T_0^0 diverges, while the ones linked to $T_{(n)0}^0$ do exist, for $n \ge 1$. Of course the metric is not asymptotically flat, so there is no Poincaré invariance (at infinity). Nevertheless the new conservation laws provide relevant information for the problem at hand.

4 Non-Linear Systems: Burgers Equation

The results we have presented above hold, in general, for linear differential systems. Nevertheless, there are some physically relevant non-linear equations to which our findings may be applied. Burgers equation is one such example. It has been known for some time [12,13] that (the non-linear) Burgers equation may be, in fact, related to a linear equation, which is, of course, tractable using our method. Therefore, even though in an indirect way, we will use our methods to deal with physically relevant non-linear evolution equations. These results may prove, in the future, to be applicable to other non-linear systems.

Consider the linear equation

$$u_t + u_{ss} = 0, \tag{43}$$

for the field u(x,t). Here, u_t means partial differentiation of the field u with respect to t, and similarly for the other suffixes. Define the new field v(x,t) by the transformation

$$v \equiv \frac{u_x}{u}.\tag{44}$$

It is a straightforward matter to prove that v satisfies Burgers equation

$$v_t + v_{xx} + (v^2)_x = 0. (45)$$

We have already seen a general algorithm to generate symmetry transformations for linear differential equations. We find that δu defined by

$$\delta u = u_{xxxx},\tag{46}$$

is a symmetry transformation for Eq. (43). A symmetry transformation δv based on (46) can now be found for Burgers equation (45),

$$\delta v = (v^4 + 6v^2 v_x + 4v v_{xx} + 3v_x^2 + v_{xxx})_x.$$
(47)

Of course, simpler transformations can also be constructed, but they will usually produce vanishing deformations of the conserved quantities already obtained.

We are not aware of the existence of a Lagrangian for Eq. (43) by itself, i.e., without considering it together with its time reversed counterpart, in which case the construction of the Lagrangian is trivial. Under these considerations, all the symmetry transformations presented in this Section are non-Noetherian.

5 Summary and Conclusions

We have presented non-Noetherian symmetry transformations for oscillators in classical mechanics as well as in field theory which give rise to many conservation laws by deformation of a given conserved quantity. For the classical mechanical case, the symmetry transformation produced enough constants of the motion to completely solve the small oscillations problem. In the case of field theory, we have found infinitely many conserved quantities even for fields interacting with a given background gravitational field. In some cases, this procedure can be extended to physically relevant non-linear equations such as Burgers equation. These results may also be helpful to deal with Eckhaus equation [13]. The method presented here could be used as an alternative way to diagonalize matrices using the procedure described in the classical mechanical case [4], and it also affords a different procedure to deal with differential equations such as the kind which give rise to special functions, for instance. Finally, we should mention that the results presented in this note may be generalized to include electromagnetic like forces linear in the velocities for the classical mechanical oscillators and the corresponding changes can be introduced in the partial differential equations for the field oscillators.

Acknowledgments

Enlightning discussions with Roberto Hojman, Romualdo Tabensky and Nelson Zamorano have been most useful in developing some of the ideas of this note. This work has been partially supported by Fondo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (Chile), grants N° 91-0857, N° 93-0883 and N° 91-0858. S.A.H. sincerely thanks Fundación Andes for a fellowship. The support of a bi-national grant funded by Comisión Nacional de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica-Fundación Andes (Chile) and Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (México) is gratefully acknowledged.

References

- [1] E.L.Hill, Rev.Mod.Phys. <u>23</u>, 253 (1951).
- [2] S.Hojman, J.Phys.A: Math.Gen.<u>17</u>, 2399 (1984).
- [3] S.Hojman, L.Núñez, A.Patiño and H.Rago, J.Math.Phys. 27, 281(1986).
- [4] S.A.Hojman, J.Math.Phys. <u>34</u>, 2968 (1993).
- [5] S.Hojman and H.Harleston, J.Math.Phys. <u>22</u>, 1414 (1981).
- [6] S.Hojman and L.C.Shepley, Foundations of Physics 16, 465 (1986).
- [7] P.Ramond, *Field Theory: A Modern Primer*, (The Benjamin Cummings Publishing Company, Inc.; MA 1981).
- [8] S.Weinberg, Gravitation and Cosmology, (Wiley, New York, 1972).

[9] R.Price, Phys.Rev.<u>D5</u>, 2419, (1972).

- [10] R.Hojman, L.Peña and N.Zamorano, Ap.J. <u>451</u>, 541 (1993).
- [11] R.Hojman, private communication.
- [12] J.D Cole, Q. App. Math., IX, 225 (1951).
- [13] F. Calogero, J.Math.Phys. <u>33</u>, 1257 (1992).

1995116570 N95-22978

COVARIANT DEFORMED OSCILLATOR ALGEBRAS

C. Quesne¹

Physique Nucléaire Théorique et Physique Mathématique, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Campus de la Plaine CP229, Bd. du Triomphe, B1050 Brussels, Belgium

Abstract

The general form and associativity conditions of deformed oscillator algebras are reviewed. It is shown how the latter can be fulfilled in terms of a solution of the Yang-Baxter equation when this solution has three distinct eigenvalues and satisfies a Birman-Wenzl-Murakami condition. As an example, an $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$ -covariant q-bosonic algebra is discussed in some details.

1 Introduction

Since the advent of quantum groups and q-algebras (see e.g. [1] and references quoted therein), much attention has been paid to deformations of the algebras of bosonic and fermionic creation and annihilation operators [2]-[6]. Different deformations of the latter arise depending on which property of the undeformed operators is preserved.

In the simple case of the su(2) Lie algebra, two pairs of bosonic creation and annihilation operators a_i^{\dagger} , a_i , i = 1, 2, give rise to the Jordan-Schwinger realization

$$J_{+} = a_{1}^{\dagger}a_{2}, \qquad J_{-} = a_{2}^{\dagger}a_{1}, \qquad J_{0} = \frac{1}{2}(N_{1} - N_{2}), \tag{1}$$

where $N_i = a_i^{\dagger}a_i$, i = 1, 2, are number operators. In addition, the creation operators a_1^{\dagger} , a_2^{\dagger} (as well as the modified annihilation operators $\tilde{a}_1 = a_2$, $\tilde{a}_2 = -a_1$) are the components $\pm 1/2$ and $\pm 1/2$ of an su(2) spinor, respectively. When extending these two properties to the corresponding q-algebra $su_q(2)$ (where q is real and positive), one gets two different sets of q-bosonic operators.

On the one hand, those first considered by Biedenharn [2], Macfarlane [3], Sun and Fu [4], give rise to a Jordan-Schwinger realization of $su_q(2)$ of the same type as (1), where a_i^{\dagger} , a_i , i = 1, 2, now satisfy the relations

$$a_i a_i^{\dagger} - q^{\pm 1} a_i^{\dagger} a_i = q^{\mp N_i}, \tag{2}$$

while operators with different indices do still commute, and $a_i^{\dagger}a_i = [N_i]_q \equiv (q^{N_i} - q^{-N_i})/(q - q^{-1})$. However, the operators a_1^{\dagger} , a_2^{\dagger} do not transform any more under a definite representation of the algebra.

¹Directeur de recherches FNRS

On the other hand, the operators A_i^{\dagger} , A_i , i = 1, 2, introduced by Pusz and Woronowicz [5], satisfy different relations

$$\begin{aligned} A_{i}^{\dagger}A_{j}^{\dagger} - q^{-1}A_{j}^{\dagger}A_{i}^{\dagger} &= A_{i}A_{j} - qA_{j}A_{i} = 0, \qquad i < j, \\ A_{i}A_{j}^{\dagger} - qA_{j}^{\dagger}A_{i} &= 0, \qquad i \neq j, \\ A_{i}A_{i}^{\dagger} - q^{2}A_{i}^{\dagger}A_{i} &= I + (q^{2} - 1)\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}A_{j}^{\dagger}A_{j}, \end{aligned}$$
(3)

where the two modes are not independent any more. As a result of this coupling, the operators A_1^{\dagger} , A_2^{\dagger} (as well as $\tilde{A}_1 = q^{1/2}A_2$, $\tilde{A}_2 = -q^{-1/2}A_1$) are the components +1/2 and -1/2 of an $su_q(2)$ spinor respectively, but yield an $su_q(2)$ realization that is substantially more complicated than (1). The algebra (3) has also important covariance properties under the quantum group $SU_q(2)$, dual to $su_q(2)$.

The present communication is concerned with the construction of covariant deformed oscillator algebras that generalize the Pusz-Woronowicz algebra for other quantum groups than $SU_q(2)$ (or more generally $SU_q(n)$). The method used will be based on an *R*-matrix approach similar to that applied in noncommutative differential geometry [7,8]. In Sec. 2, after reviewing the general form and associativity conditions of deformed oscillator algebras, we will show how to fulfil the latter in terms of a solution of the Yang-Baxter equation with three distinct eigenvalues. The example of an $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$ -covariant *q*-bosonic algebra $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$ will be treated in some details in Sec. 3. Finally, in Sec. 4, an alternative derivation of the same algebra, based upon the *q*-algebra $u_q(n) + u_q(m)$ will be presented.

2 Deformed Oscillator Algebras

Let us consider the complex algebras generated by $I, A_i^{\dagger} A_i = (A_i^{\dagger})^{\dagger}, i = 1, ..., N$, subject to the relations [9,10]

$$A_{i}^{\dagger}A_{j}^{\dagger} = X_{ij,kl}A_{k}^{\dagger}A_{l}^{\dagger},$$

$$A_{i}A_{j} = X_{ji,lk}^{*}A_{k}A_{l},$$

$$A_{i}A_{j}^{\dagger} = \delta_{ij} + Z_{jl,ik}A_{k}^{\dagger}A_{l},$$
(4)

where X and Z are some complex $N^2 \times N^2$ matrices, and there are summations over dummy indices. As a consequence of the Hermiticity properties of the generators, X^* is the complex conjugate of X, and Z is a Hermitian matrix.

For these algebras to be associative, it is sufficient to require the braid transposition schemes for triples of generators. The braid scheme for $A_i^{\dagger}A_j^{\dagger}A_k^{\dagger}$ yields the condition

$$X_{ij,ab}X_{bk,cz}X_{ac,xy} = X_{jk,ab}X_{ia,xc}X_{cb,yz},$$
(5)

i.e., in compact tensor notation, the Yang-Baxter equation for X (in the "braid" version)

$$X_{12}X_{23}X_{12} = X_{23}X_{12}X_{23}.$$
 (6)

Similarly, for $A_i A_j^{\dagger} A_k^{\dagger}$, one gets the two conditions

$$\delta_{ji}\delta_{kx} - X_{jk,ix} + Z_{jk,ix} - X_{jk,ab}Z_{ab,ix} = 0,$$
(7)

and

$$Z_{kz,ac}Z_{ja,ib}X_{bc,xy} = X_{jk,ab}Z_{bz,cy}Z_{ac,ix},$$
(8)

which may be written in compact form as

$$(I_{12} - X_{12})(I_{12} + Z_{12}) = 0, (9)$$

and

$$Z_{23}Z_{12}X_{23} = X_{12}Z_{23}Z_{12}. (10)$$

From the Hermiticity properties of the generators, it follows that the remaining two triple products $A_i A_j A_k$ and $A_i A_j A_k^{\dagger}$ will be associative if $A_i^{\dagger} A_j^{\dagger} A_k^{\dagger}$ and $A_i A_j^{\dagger} A_k^{\dagger}$ are so. Hence, eqs. (6), (9), and (10) are the only associativity conditions of algebra (4).

Let now R be any $N^2 \times N^2$ solution of the Yang-Baxter equation

$$R_{12}R_{13}R_{23} = R_{23}R_{13}R_{12}.$$
(11)

Then the corresponding braid matrix $\hat{R} = \tau R$, where τ is the twist operator (i.e., $\tau_{ij,kl} = \delta_{il}\delta_{jk}$), satisfies an equation similar to (6).

If R has three distinct eigenvalues λ_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2, 3$, and satisfies a Birman-Wenzl-Murakami (BWM) condition²

$$(\hat{R} - \lambda_1 I)(\hat{R} - \lambda_2 I)(\hat{R} - \lambda_3 I) = 0, \qquad (12)$$

then with each eigenspace of \hat{R} , one can associate two solutions of the set of associativity conditions (6), (9), and (10). In terms of the projector

$$\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} = \prod_{\beta \neq \alpha} \frac{(\hat{R} - \lambda_{\beta}I)}{(\lambda_{\alpha} - \lambda_{\beta})}$$
(13)

onto the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue λ_{α} , these two solutions can be written as

$$I - X \simeq \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$$
 and $Z = -\lambda_{\alpha}^{-1} \hat{R}$ or $Z = -\lambda_{\alpha} \hat{R}^{-1}$. (14)

Considering for instance $Z = -\lambda_{\alpha}^{-1} \hat{R}$ leads to the following deformed oscillator algebra (written in compact tensor form)

$$A_{2}^{\dagger}A_{1}^{\dagger} = SA_{1}^{\dagger}A_{2}^{\dagger}, \qquad A_{1}A_{2} = S^{*}A_{2}A_{1}, \qquad A_{1}A_{2}^{\dagger} = I_{12} - \lambda_{\alpha}^{-1}R^{t_{1}}A_{2}^{\dagger}A_{1}, \tag{15}$$

where $S = \tau X$ is found from (13) and (14), and t_1 means transposition with respect to the first space in the tensor product.

Several examples of such deformed oscillator algebras have been worked out so far [9]–[11]. In all cases, the solution of the Yang-Baxter equation that has been considered is the fundamental R-matrix of some classical quantum group. In such circumstances, the deformed oscillator algebras

²The $SU_q(n)$ -covariant algebra constructed by Pusz and Woronowicz [5] corresponds to the simpler case where \hat{R} has only two distinct eigenvalues, and satisfies a Hecke condition (see Sec. 3).

are left invariant under the transformations induced by the quantum group. The construction presented here is not restricted however to such a choice, and any solution of (11) and (12) might actually be used. In a similar way, deformed oscillator algebras differing from that of Pusz-Woronowicz have been built by considering non-standard solutions of the Yang-Baxter equation and the Hecke condition [12].

The algebras constructed in refs. [9]-[11] include both standard and non-standard ones. The former [9,10] are either of q-bosonic or q-fermionic type, meaning that whenever $q \rightarrow 1$, they go over smoothly into ordinary bosonic or fermionic algebras, respectively. The latter [11], on the contrary, do not have such a smooth behaviour, but share instead some features with the quon algebra [13]. In the next section, we shall consider in more details a covariant q-bosonic algebra generalizing that of Pusz-Woronowicz.

3 An $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$ -Covariant q-Bosonic Algebra

The $SU_q(n)$ quantum group [1] is a complex associative algebra generated by I and the noncommutative elements T_{ij} , i, j = 1, ..., n of an $n \times n$ matrix T, subject to the relations

$$RT_1T_2 = T_2T_1R, \quad \det_q T = 1,$$
 (16)

and the *-involution condition

$$T^* = (T^{-1})^t, (17)$$

with q real. In (16), \det_q denotes the quantum determinant, and R is the fundamental R-matrix associated with the A_{n-1} series of Lie algebras,

$$R = q \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_{ii} \otimes e_{ii} + \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} e_{ii} \otimes e_{jj} + (q - q^{-1}) \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i < j}}^{n} e_{ij} \otimes e_{ji},$$
(18)

where $(e_{ij})_{kl} = \delta_{ik}\delta_{jl}$. The coproduct, counit and antipode are defined by

$$\Delta(T) = T_1 \dot{\otimes} T_2, \qquad \epsilon(T) = 1, \qquad S(T) = T^{-1}, \tag{19}$$

where $\Delta(T_{ij}) = T_{ik} \otimes T_{kj}$.

The braid matrix \hat{R} , corresponding to (18), is a real symmetric matrix with two distinct eigenvalues, q and $-q^{-1}$. Their respective multiplicities are $\frac{1}{2}n(n+1)$ and $\frac{1}{2}n(n-1)$, i.e., the dimensions of the symmetric and antisymmetric irreps $[2\dot{0}]_n$ and $[1^2\dot{0}]_n$ of $SU_q(n)$. The \hat{R} -matrix satisfies the Hecke condition

$$(\hat{R} - qI)(\hat{R} + q^{-1}I) = 0.$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Similar relations are valid for $SU_q(m)$. Its generators and fundamental *R*-matrix will be denoted by \mathcal{T}_{st} , s, $t = 1, \ldots, m$, and \mathcal{R} , respectively, to distinguish them from the corresponding quantities for $SU_q(n)$. Note that T_{ij} and \mathcal{T}_{st} are assumed to commute with one another.

For the product $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$, one can introduce a "large" *R*-matrix, $\mathbf{R} = q^{-1}R\mathcal{R}$, of dimension $(nm)^2 \times (nm)^2$ [10]. Its matrix elements are defined by

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{(is)(jt),(ku)(lv)} = q^{-1} R_{ij,kl} \mathcal{R}_{st,uv}.$$
(21)

From the properties of the two "small" braid matrices \hat{R} and $\hat{\mathcal{R}}$, it follows that $\hat{\mathbf{R}} = q^{-1}\hat{R}\hat{\mathcal{R}}$ has three distinct eigenvalues q, $-q^{-1}$, and q^{-3} , with respective multiplicities corresponding to the dimensions of the representations $[2\dot{0}]_n[2\dot{0}]_m$, $[2\dot{0}]_n[1^2\dot{0}]_m + [1^2\dot{0}]_n[2\dot{0}]_m$, and $[1^2\dot{0}]_n[1^2\dot{0}]_m$ of $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$, and satisfies the BWM condition (12).

By applying the results of the previous section to the antisymmetric (reducible) eigenspace of \hat{R} associated with the eigenvalue $-q^{-1}$, one gets a deformed oscillator algebra of type (15), which will be denoted by $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$, and whose defining relations are [10]

$$A_{2}^{\dagger}A_{1}^{\dagger} = SA_{1}^{\dagger}A_{2}^{\dagger}, \qquad A_{2}A_{1} = A_{1}A_{2}S, \qquad A_{2}A_{1}^{\dagger} = I_{21} + qR^{t_{1}}A_{1}^{\dagger}A_{2},$$
 (22)

where

$$\boldsymbol{S} = \tau (\boldsymbol{I} - (q + q^{-1})\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_A), \qquad \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_A = \frac{(\hat{\boldsymbol{R}} - q\boldsymbol{I})(\hat{\boldsymbol{R}} - q^{-3}\boldsymbol{I})}{(q + q^{-1})(q^{-1} + q^{-3})},$$
(23)

and the creation and annihilation openators A_{is}^{\dagger} , A_{is} now have two indices, i = 1, 2, ..., n, and s = 1, 2, ..., m. Whenever $q \to 1$, R and S go over into I, so that (22) becomes an ordinary bosonic algebra.

The defining relations (22) of the q-bosonic algebra $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$ may be rewritten in terms of the two "small" R-matrices as

$$R\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{A}_{2}^{\dagger} = \boldsymbol{A}_{2}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}, \qquad R\boldsymbol{A}_{2}\boldsymbol{A}_{1} = \boldsymbol{A}_{1}\boldsymbol{A}_{2}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}, \qquad \boldsymbol{A}_{2}\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger} = I_{21}\mathcal{I}_{21} + R^{t_{1}}\mathcal{R}^{t_{1}}\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{A}_{2}, \qquad (24)$$

or, in a more explicit form, as

$$R_{ij,kl} A_{ks}^{\dagger} A_{lt}^{\dagger} = A_{jv}^{\dagger} A_{iu}^{\dagger} \mathcal{R}_{uv,st},$$

$$R_{ij,kl} A_{lt} A_{ks} = A_{iu} A_{jv} \mathcal{R}_{uv,st},$$

$$A_{is} A_{jt}^{\dagger} = \delta_{ij} \delta_{st} + R_{ki,jl} \mathcal{R}_{us,tv} A_{ku}^{\dagger} A_{lv}.$$
(25)

Let us consider the map $\varphi: \mathcal{A}_q(n,m) \to \mathcal{A}_q(n,m) \otimes (SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m))$, defined by

$$A_{is}^{\prime\dagger} = \varphi(A_{is}^{\dagger}) = A_{jt}^{\dagger} T_{ji} T_{ts},$$

$$\begin{vmatrix} A_{is}^{\prime} = \varphi(A_{is}) = A_{jt} T_{ji}^{*} T_{ts}^{*} = T_{ij}^{-1} T_{st}^{-1} A_{jt},$$
(26)

where the elements T_{ij} and \mathcal{T}_{st} of $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$ are assumed to commute with A_{is}^{\dagger} and A_{is} . As a consequence of (16) and its counterpart for $SU_q(m)$, this map leaves the defining relations (25) of $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$ invariant. Hence, the latter is an $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$ -covariant algebra.

In the next section, an important part will be played by the modified annihilation operators

$$\tilde{A}_{is} = A_{jt}C_{ji}C_{ts}, \qquad C_{ji} = (-1)^{n-j}q^{-(n-2j+1)/2}\delta_{j,i'}, \qquad C_{ts} = (-1)^{m-t}q^{-(m-2t+1)/2}\delta_{t,s'}, \qquad (27)$$

where $i' \equiv n + 1 - i$, $s' \equiv m + 1 - s$. Eq. (24) can be rewritten in terms of A_{is}^{\dagger} , \tilde{A}_{is} as

$$R\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{A}_{2}^{\dagger} = \boldsymbol{A}_{2}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}, \qquad R\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{1}\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{2} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{2}\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{1}\boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}, \qquad \tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{2}\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger} = C_{12}C_{12} + q^{2}\boldsymbol{A}_{1}^{\dagger}\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{2}\tilde{\boldsymbol{R}}^{-1}\tilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}}^{-1}, \qquad (28)$$

where R is defined by

$$\tilde{R} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_{ii} \otimes e_{i'i'} + q \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j'}}^{n} e_{ii} \otimes e_{jj} + (q - q^{-1}) \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i < j}}^{n} (-q)^{i-j+1} e_{ij} \otimes e_{i'j'},$$
(29)

and a similar definition holds for $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$. Under map φ of eq. (26), \tilde{A}_{is} is transformed into

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{is}' = \varphi(\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{is}) = \tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{jt} \tilde{T}_{ji} \tilde{T}_{ts}, \qquad \tilde{T} \equiv C^{-1} (T^{-1})^t C, \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{T}} \equiv \mathcal{C}^{-1} (\mathcal{T}^{-1})^t \mathcal{C}.$$
(30)

Finally, combining eqs. (18) and (25) yields the detailed form of the $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$ defining relations

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{it}^{\dagger} - q^{-1} \mathbf{A}_{it}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} &= 0, \quad s < t, \\
\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{js}^{\dagger} - q^{-1} \mathbf{A}_{js}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} &= 0, \quad i < j, \\
\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger} - \mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} &= 0, \quad i > j, \quad s < t, \\
\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger} - \mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} &= -(q - q^{-1}) \mathbf{A}_{js}^{\dagger} \mathbf{A}_{it}^{\dagger}, \quad i < j, \quad s < t,
\end{aligned} \tag{31}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A}_{is}\mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger} - \mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{is} &= 0, \quad i \neq j, \quad s \neq t, \\ \mathbf{A}_{is}\mathbf{A}_{js}^{\dagger} - q\mathbf{A}_{js}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{is} &= (q - q^{-1})\sum_{t=1}^{s-1}\mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{it}, \quad i \neq j, \\ \mathbf{A}_{is}\mathbf{A}_{it}^{\dagger} - q\mathbf{A}_{it}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{is} &= (q - q^{-1})\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\mathbf{A}_{jt}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{js}, \quad s \neq t, \\ \mathbf{A}_{is}\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} - q^{2}\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{is} &= I + (q^{2} - 1)\left(\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\mathbf{A}_{js}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{js} + \sum_{t=1}^{s-1}\mathbf{A}_{it}^{\dagger}\mathbf{A}_{it}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(32)

together with the Hermitian conjugates of (31). Whenever m = 1, substituting A_i^{\dagger} , A_i for A_{i1}^{\dagger} , A_{i1} in (31) and (32) yields the Pusz-Woronowicz relations (3) for arbitrary *n* values. Hence, the covariant *q*-bosonic algebra $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$ is a generalization of that of Pusz-Woronowicz for values of *m* greater than 1.

4 Alternative Derivation in Terms of $u_q(n) + u_q(m)$

An alternative approach to the construction of covariant deformed oscillator algebras, based upon q-algebras, has been developed elsewhere [14,15]. In the case of the algebra $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$ introduced in the previous section, one considers the q-algebra $u_q(n) + u_q(m)$. The Cartan-Chevalley generators of $u_q(n)$ are denoted by $E_{ii} = (E_{ii})^{\dagger}$, i = 1, 2, ..., n, $E_{i,i+1}$, $E_{i+1,i} = (E_{i,i+1})^{\dagger}$, i = 1, 2, ..., n-1, and satisfy the commutation relations

$$[E_{ii}, E_{jj}] = 0, \qquad [E_{ii}, E_{j,j+1}] = (\delta_{ij} - \delta_{i,j+1})E_{j,j+1}, [E_{ii}, E_{j+1,j}] = (\delta_{i,j+1} - \delta_{ij})E_{j+1,j}, \qquad [E_{i,i+1}, E_{j+1,j}] = \delta_{ij}[H_i]_q,$$

$$(33)$$

together with the quadratic and cubic q-Serre relations. In (33), $H_i \equiv E_{ii} - E_{i+1,i+1}$. The algebra is endowed with a Hopf algebra structure with coproduct Δ , counit ϵ , and antipode S, defined by

$$\Delta(E_{ii}) = E_{ii} \otimes I + I \otimes E_{ii}, \qquad \Delta(E_{i,i+1}) = E_{i,i+1} \otimes q^{H_i/2} + q^{-H_i/2} \otimes E_{i,i+1},$$

$$\Delta(E_{i+1,i}) = E_{i+1,i} \otimes q^{H_i/2} + q^{-H_i/2} \otimes E_{i+1,i},$$
(34)

$$\epsilon(E_{ii}) = \epsilon(E_{i,i+1}) = \epsilon(E_{i+1,i}) = 0, \qquad (35)$$

$$S(E_{ii}) = - E_{ii}, \qquad S(E_{i,i+1}) = -qE_{i,i+1}, \qquad S(E_{i+1,i}) = -q^{-1}E_{i+1,i}.$$
(36)

The Cartan-Chevalley generators of $u_q(m)$ are denoted by \mathcal{E}_{ss} , $s = 1, 2, \ldots, m$, $\mathcal{E}_{s,s+1}$, $\mathcal{E}_{s+1,s}$, $s = 1, 2, \ldots, m-1$, and satisfy relations similar to (33)-(36), while commuting with the generators of $u_q(n)$.

In the approach based upon $u_q(n)+u_q(m)$, the q-bosonic creation operators A_{is}^{\dagger} , i=1, 2, ..., n, s=1, 2, ..., m, belonging to $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$, are defined as the components of a double irreducible tensor $T^{[10]_n[10]_m}$ with respect to this q-algebra. This means that they fulfil the relations

$$E_{jj}(\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}) = \delta_{ji}\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}, \qquad E_{j,j+1}(\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}) = \delta_{j,i-1}\boldsymbol{A}_{i-1,s}^{\dagger}, \qquad E_{j+1,j}(\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}) = \delta_{ji}\boldsymbol{A}_{i+1,s}^{\dagger}, \qquad (37)$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{tt}(\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}) = \delta_{ts}\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}, \qquad \mathcal{E}_{t,t+1}(\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}) = \delta_{t,s-1}\boldsymbol{A}_{i,s-1}^{\dagger}, \qquad \mathcal{E}_{t+1,t}(\boldsymbol{A}_{is}^{\dagger}) = \delta_{ts}\boldsymbol{A}_{i,s+1}^{\dagger}, \qquad (38)$$

where, for any $u_q(n) + u_q(m)$ generator X, $X(\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger})$ denotes the quantum adjoint action $X(\mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger}) = \sum_r X_r^1 \mathbf{A}_{is}^{\dagger} S(X_r^2)$, with $\Delta(X) = \sum_r X_r^1 \otimes X_r^2$. The modified annihilation operators $\tilde{\mathbf{A}}_{is}$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n, s = 1, 2, \ldots, m$, of eq. (27), are similarly defined as the components of a double irreducible tensor $T^{[0-1]_n[0-1]_m}$ with respect to $u_q(n) + u_q(m)$, and satisfy the relations

$$E_{jj}(\tilde{A}_{is}) = -\delta_{ji'}|\tilde{A}_{is}, \qquad E_{j,j+1}(\tilde{A}_{is}) = \delta_{ji'}\tilde{A}_{i-1,s}, \qquad E_{j+1,j}(\tilde{A}_{is}) = \delta_{j,i'-1}\tilde{A}_{i+1,s}, \quad (39)$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{tt}(\boldsymbol{A}_{is}) = -\delta_{ts'} \dot{\boldsymbol{A}}_{is}, \qquad \mathcal{E}_{t,t+1}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{is}) = \delta_{ts'} \tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{i,s-1}, \qquad \mathcal{E}_{t+1,t}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{is}) = \delta_{t,s'-1} \tilde{\boldsymbol{A}}_{i,s+1}. \tag{40}$$

The operators A_{is}^{\dagger} and \tilde{A}_{is} can be explicitly written down in terms of *m* independent copies of the Pusz-Woronowicz operators [14]. By using such expressions and exploiting the tensorial character of the operators, it is straightforward to prove that their *q*-commutation relations are given in coupled form by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[2\dot{0}]_{n}[1^{2\dot{0}}]_{m}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}^{\dagger}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[1^{2}\dot{0}]_{n}[2\dot{0}]_{m}} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \tilde{\mathbf{A}} \end{bmatrix}^{[\dot{0}-2]_{n}[\dot{0}(-1)^{2}]_{m}} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \tilde{\mathbf{A}} \end{bmatrix}^{[\dot{0}(-1)^{2}]_{n}[\dot{0}-2]_{m}} = 0,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[1\dot{0}-1]_{n}[1\dot{0}-1]_{m}} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[1\dot{0}-1]_{n}[\dot{0}]_{m}} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[\dot{0}]_{n}[1\dot{0}-1]_{m}} = 0,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[\dot{0}]_{n}[\dot{0}]_{m}}_{q^{n+m}} = \sqrt{[n]_{q}[m]_{q}},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[\dot{0}]_{n}[\dot{0}]_{m}}_{q^{n+m}} = \sqrt{[n]_{q}[m]_{q}},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mathbf{A}}, \mathbf{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}^{[\dot{0}]_{n}[\dot{0}]_{m}}_{q^{n+m}} = \sqrt{[n]_{q}[m]_{q}},$$

where, for simplicity's sake, the row labels of the coupled $u_q(n) + u_q(m)$ irreps have been dropped. In (41), the coupled q-commutator of two double irreducible tensors $T^{[\lambda_1]_n[\lambda_2]_m}$ and $U^{[\lambda'_1]_n[\lambda'_2]_m}$ is defined by [14]

$$\begin{bmatrix} T^{[\lambda_1]_n[\lambda_2]_m}, U^{[\lambda_1']_n[\lambda_2']_m} \end{bmatrix}_{(M_1)_n(M_2)_m q^{\alpha}}^{[\Lambda_1]_n[\Lambda_2]_m} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} T^{[\lambda_1]_n[\lambda_2]_m} \times U^{[\lambda_1']_n[\lambda_2']_m} \end{bmatrix}_{(M_1)_n(M_2)_m}^{[\Lambda_1]_n[\Lambda_2]_m} - (-1)^{\epsilon} q^{\alpha} \begin{bmatrix} U^{[\lambda_1']_n[\lambda_2']_m} \times T^{[\lambda_1]_n[\lambda_2]_m} \end{bmatrix}_{(M_1)_n(M_2)_m}^{[\Lambda_1]_n[\Lambda_2]_m}.$$
(42)

Here

$$\epsilon = \phi([\lambda_1]_n) + \phi([\lambda'_1]_n) - \phi([\Lambda_1]_n) + \phi([\lambda_2]_m) + \phi([\lambda'_2]_m) - \phi([\Lambda_2]_m),$$

$$\phi([\lambda_1]_n) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n (n+1-2i)\lambda_{1i}, \qquad \phi([\lambda_2]_m) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{s=1}^m (m+1-2s)\lambda_{2s}, \qquad (43)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left[T^{[\lambda_{1}]_{n}[\lambda_{2}]_{m}} \times U^{[\lambda_{1}']_{n}[\lambda_{2}']_{m}} \right]_{(M_{1})_{n}(M_{2})_{m}}^{[\Lambda_{1}]_{n}[\Lambda_{2}]_{m}} \\ &= \sum_{(\mu_{1})_{n}(\mu_{2})_{m}(\mu_{1}')_{n}\mu_{2}')_{m}} \langle [\lambda_{1}]_{n}(\mu_{1})_{n}, [\lambda_{1}']_{n}(\mu_{1}')_{n} | [\Lambda_{1}]_{n}(M_{1})_{n} \rangle_{q} \langle [\lambda_{2}]_{m}(\mu_{2})_{m}, [\lambda_{2}']_{m}(\mu_{2}')_{m} | [\Lambda_{2}]_{m}(M_{2})_{m} \rangle_{q} \\ &\times T^{[\lambda_{1}]_{n}[\lambda_{2}]_{m}}_{(\mu_{1})_{n}(\mu_{2})_{m}} U^{[\lambda_{1}']_{n}[\lambda_{2}']_{m}}_{(\mu_{1}')_{n}(\mu_{2}')_{m}}, \end{split}$$

$$\tag{44}$$

where $\langle , | \rangle_q$ denotes a $u_q(n)$ or $u_q(m)$ Wigner coefficient.

By using the values of the latter, eq. (41) can be written in an explicit form [14]. The resulting relations coincide with eqs. (31) and (32), thereby proving the equivalence of the two constructions of $\mathcal{A}_q(n,m)$ based upon $SU_q(n) \times SU_q(m)$ and $u_q(n) + u_q(m)$, respectively.

References

- [1] S. Majid, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 5, 1 (1990).
- [2] L. C. Biedenharn, J. Phys. A 22, L873 (1989).
- [3] A. J. Macfarlane, J. Phys. A 22, 4581 (1989).
- [4] C.-P. Sun and H.-C. Fu, J. Phys. A 22, L983 (1989).
- [5] W. Pusz and S. L. Woronowicz, Rep. Math. Phys. 27, 231 (1989).
- [6] T. Hayashi, Commun. Math. Phys. 127, 129 (1990).
- [7] L. Hlavatý, J. Phys. A 25, 485 (1992).
- [8] B. Zumino, in Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, Proceedings of the XIX International Colloquium, Salamanca, Spain, 1992, edited by M. A. del Olmo, M. Santander and J. Mateos Guilarte, Anales de Física, Monografías, Vol. 1 (CIEMAT/RSEF, Madrid, 1993) p. 41.
- [9] C. Quesne, "Covariant q-bosonic or q-fermionic operators and deformed u(N) algebras", Université Libre de Bruxelles preprint, 1993; "Covariant q-bosonic and q-fermionic operators, quadratic algebras, and the q-deformation of algebraic models", in Proceedings of the 3rd Wigner Symposium, Oxford, 1993 (in press).
- [10] C. Quesne, Phys. Lett. B 322, 344 (1994).
- [11] C. Quesne, "Non-standard covariant deformed oscillator algebras", Université Libre de Bruxelles preprint, 1994.
- [12] J. Van der Jeugt, J. Phys. A 26, L405 (1993).
- [13] O. W. Greenberg, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64, 705 (1990); Phys. Rev. D 43, 4111 (1991).
- [14] C. Quesne, Phys. Lett. B 298, 344 (1993).
- [15] C. Quesne, Phys. Lett. B 304, 81 (1993).

1995116562

N95-22979

LOCALIZATION IN DEFORMED QUANTUM MECHANICS

Simón Codriansky

Centro de Física, Instituto Venezolano de Investigaciones Científicas (IVIC), Apdo 21827, Caracas 1020-A Departamento de Matemáticas y Física, Instituto Pedagógico de Caracas, UPEL, Venezuela

Abstract

In this talk it is shown that in one version of q-algebras there exists states -a subset of the coherent states- that have negligible dispersion in energy, position and momentum.

1 General remarks

This talk is devoted to the construction of localized states in deformed quantum mechanics. These states will be exhibited explicitly. A localized state is defined as one whose dispersion vanishes or that is at least near zero. To start with I will say that the version of q-algebras [1, 2, 3, 4, 5] that will be used in the sequel is $AA^{\dagger} - qA^{\dagger}A = I$ where $q: 0 \rightarrow 1$. The operators A and A^{\dagger} are realized as operators on a space of analytic functions of a complex variable z as follows

$$Af(z) = \frac{f(z) - f(qz)}{(1 - q)z} \equiv Df(z)$$
⁽¹⁾

$$A^{\dagger}f(z) = zf(z) \tag{2}$$

The space of functions -denoted H_{q} - has an inner product (f, g) defined by [10, 1, 4] see also [6, 9, 7, 8]

$$(f,g) = \int D^2 z f^*(z) m(|z|^2) g(z) = \pi^{-1} \int_0^{\infty} D(|z|^2) \int_0^{2\pi} d\phi f^*(z) m(|z|^2) g(z)$$
(3)

where the kernel $m(|z|^2)$ is fixed by the requirement that A has to be the hermitian conjugate of A^{\dagger} . The explicit form of the kernel $m(|z|^2)$ is

$$m(|z|^2) = \frac{1}{exp_q(q|z|^2)}$$
(4)

where the deformed exponential $exp_q(z)$ is defined as the solution to the equation Df(z) = f(z)and has the explicit expression

$$exp_q(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{[n]!}$$
(5)

The box symbol [n] is defined as $[n] = \frac{1-q^n}{1-q}$; the special value with $n = \infty$ is given by $[\infty] = \frac{1}{1-q}$ and the deformed factorial is defined as $[n]! = [1] \cdots [n]$ and [1]! = 1. At this point it is convenient to remark that the form of the box symbol is intimately related to the particular version of the q-algebra that is being used while the realization 1 and 2 is not. See [11].

Under the inner product 3 the set of functions $u_n(z) = \frac{z^n}{[n]!^{\frac{1}{2}}}$, $n = 0, \ldots, \infty$ are orthonormal. It is clear that $u_n(z)$ is an eigenfunction of the operator $z \frac{d}{dz}$ with eigenvalue n; in fact $z \frac{d}{dz}$ is the number operator. To each function $u_n(z)$ there corresponds a ket $|n\rangle$ which is an eigenket of the number operator. As a further remark, it is clear from the definition of the deformed exponential function that its series expansion converges in a finite region of the complex z-plane; this region is defined by $|z| < [\infty]$.

2 Coherent states

Coherent states are defined as eigenfunctions of the anihilation operator. Each function will be labelled with a complex number β so that the function $f_{\beta}(z)$ represents the coherent state $|\beta\rangle$ in the ket notation. The explicit expression for the coherent state $f_{\beta}(z)$ is

$$f_{\beta}(z) = C(\beta)exp_{q}(\beta z) = C(\beta)\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\beta^{n}u_{n}(z)}{[n]!^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(6)

where the normalization constant $C(\beta)$ is given by

$$C(\beta)^2 = \frac{1}{exp_q(\mid \beta \mid^2)}$$
(7)

The set of all coherent states is overcomplete as seen by the fact that the functions $f_{\beta}(z)$ are not orthogonal to one another and that a resolution of the identity can be constructed with them. This construction requires that the identity be resolved both in terms of the orthonormal set of functions $u_n(z)$ defined above and in terms of coherent states. This leads to the equation

$$I = \sum_{0}^{\infty} u_{n}^{*}(z) u_{n}(z) = \int D^{2} \beta M(|\beta|^{2}) f^{*}(z) f(z)$$
(8)

where the kernel $M(|\beta|^2)$ is obtained by requiring that the above equation be satisfied. Its explicit expression is [5]

$$M(|\beta|^2) = \frac{exp_q(|\beta|^2)}{exp_q(q|\beta|^2)}$$
(9)

At this point it is convenient to reconsider the convergence question. The coherent states are constructed so as to be normalized. This implies that the region in the β -complex plane allowed for the label of the coherent states is $|\beta|^2 < [\infty]$. The same upper bound is found for $|z|^2$ to have a convergent power series. As a result it is found that the functions that belong to the Hilbert space H_q are analytic in a finite region of the complex z-plane. This region extends to the whole complex z-plane when q goes to 1 and reduces to the unit circle when q goes to zero.

3 Localization

To study localization two hermitian operators Q and P will be introduced in such a way that their relation to the creation and anihilation operators A and A^{\dagger} resembles closely the relation valid for q=1. Then Q and P are written in the form [12]

$$Q = sA + s^*A^{\dagger}, P = rA + r^*A^{\dagger}$$
⁽¹⁰⁾

From the commutation relations for A and A^{\dagger} it is found that Q and P satisfy

$$[Q, P] = (rs^* - r^*s)[1 + (q-1)A^{\dagger}A]$$
(11)

which reduces to the usual commutation relation for the position and momentum operators when q=1 after a particular selection of the constants r and s that appear in equation (10). This justifies calling Q the deformed position operator and P the deformed momentum operator.

From the commutation relation equation (11) for Q and P it follows the uncertainty relation

$$(\Delta Q)_f^2 (\Delta P)_f^2 \ge \frac{|\langle [Q, P] \rangle_f|^2}{4}$$
(12)

In equation (12) $(\Delta Q)_f^2 = \langle Q^2 \rangle_f - \langle Q \rangle_f^2$ and $\langle Q \rangle_f = (f, Qf)$; f is any function in H_q . Now the expectation values and dispersions will be computed using the coherent state basis (that means that f(z) is taken as $f_{\beta}(z)$). The results are

$$(\Delta Q)_{\beta}^{2} = |s|^{2} [1 + (q-1) |\beta|^{2}]$$
(13)

$$(\Delta P)^{2}_{\beta} = |r|^{2} [1 + (q-1) |\beta|^{2}]$$
(14)

$$\langle PQ \rangle_{\beta} - \langle QP \rangle_{\beta} = (rs^* - r^*s)[1 + (q-1) \mid \beta \mid^2]$$
 (15)

From these results it follows that, unlike the non-deformed (q=1) case, the uncertainties depend on the label β of the particular coherent state used to compute them. Notice that if q=1 then all uncertainties are constant. The fact that the uncertainties depend on β is the crucial result to exhibit localization; in fact, if $|\beta|^2$ has a value near $\frac{1}{1-q}$ which is an annulus near the boundary of the convergence region then all uncertainties in equations(13), ('14) and (15) are negligible. So those coherent states whose labels are near the boundary show localization according to the definition stated above. Moreover, near the boundary the operators Q and P are commuting, at least in the weak sense that $\langle PQ \rangle_{\beta} - \langle QP \rangle_{\beta}$ tends to 0. Those coherent states that are localized behave as classical states in a much closer way than the usual (q=1) coherent states which exhibit minimum non-vanishing uncertainty. The deformed coherent states are in this sense a better answer to the original Schroedinger question of finding those states that resemble classical states than the ordinary coherent states.

Now I will show that the deformed coherent states are minimum uncertainty states and that they can be generated by the action of a shifting operator acting on the vacuum. To start with, the right-hand side of 12 (T denotes the right-hand side of 11) is found to be

$$|\langle T \rangle_{\beta}|^{2} = |r|^{2} |s|^{2} \left[2 - exp2i(\phi_{r} - \phi_{s}) - exp2i(\phi_{s} - \phi_{r})\right] \left[1 + (q-1) |\beta|^{2}\right]$$
(16)

which tends to zero when $|\beta|^2$ tends to $\frac{1}{1-q}$; in the above equation ϕ_r and ϕ_s denote the phases of the complex numbers r and s, respectively. If $exp2i(\phi_r - \phi_s) = -1$ then the equality sign is valid in equation (12) so that for any fixed value of β the corresponding coherent state has minimum uncertainty; on the other hand, if the boundary of the convergence region is approached both sides of 12 tend to zero.

4 Shifting operator

Next, turn to the shifting operator. Notice that the function $f_{\beta}(z)$ representing the coherent state labelled by β can be written

$$f_{\beta}(z) = C(\beta) exp_q(\beta A^{\dagger}) f_0(z)$$
(17)

where $f_0(z) = 1$ represents the vacuum state. Then

$$f_{\beta} = C(\beta)D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta)f_0 \tag{18}$$

where

$$D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta) = exp_q(\beta A^{\dagger}) \frac{1}{exp_q(\beta^* A)}$$
(19)

 $D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta)$ is the shifting operator. It follows that $D_q^{-1} \neq D_q^{\dagger}$ so that D_q is non-unitary. The action of $D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta)$ on $f_0(z)$ generates unnormalized coherent states; that is why the factor $C(\beta)$ appears in an explicit way. Finally, it is easy to verify that $D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta)$ satisfies

$$D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta) A D_q^{-1}(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta) = \frac{exp_q(\beta A^{\dagger})}{exp_q(q\beta A^{\dagger})} [A - \beta I]$$
(20)

which gives the usual result when q = 1. For labels α , β and γ

$$D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \alpha) D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \beta) \neq D_q(A, A^{\dagger}; \gamma)$$
(21)

5 Hamiltonian

The last point concerns the hamiltonian of the system. This is constructed from the commutation relation for Q and P and has the form

$$h_q = AA^{\dagger} + A^{\dagger}A = \frac{Q^2}{2|s|^2} + \frac{P^2}{s|r|^2}$$
(22)

whose uncertainty is

$$(\Delta h_q)^2_{\beta} = |\beta|^2 [1 + (q-1) |\beta|^2]$$
(23)

which tends to zero when $|\beta|^2$ approaches $\frac{1}{1-q}$. This is another indication that the system described by the coherent states near the boundary of the convergence region resembles a classical system.

To summarize: when $|\beta|^2$ is near $\frac{1}{1-q}$ then $(\Delta Q)^2_{\beta}$, $(\Delta P)^2_{\beta}$), $(\Delta h_q)^2_{\beta}$ and $\langle PQ \rangle_{\beta} - \langle QP \rangle_{\beta}$ all tend to zero. This corresponds closely to the behavior of a classical system.

Acknowledgments

Financial support from Vicerrectorado de Investigación y Postgrado of Universidad Pedagógica Experimental Libertador and CONICIT, Venezuela are greatfully acknowledged.

References

- [1] M. Arik and D.D. Coon, J. Math. Phys., 17, 524 (1976)
- [2] V. Kuryshkin, Ann. Fond. Louis de Broglie 5, 111 (1980)
- [3] S. Codriansky, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 30, 59 (1991)
- [4] S. Codriansky, Int. J. Theor. Phys. **31**, 907 (1992)
- [5] S. Codriansky, Phys. Lett A 184, 381 (1994)
- [6] R. W. Gray and C. A. Nelson, J. Phys.A: Math and Gen 23, L945 (1990).
- [7] See C. A. Nelson, these Proceedings.
- [8] See A. I. Solomon, these Proceedings.
- [9] A. J. Bracken, D. S. McAnally, R. B. Zhang and M. D. Gould, J, Phys. A: Math and Gen 24, 1379 (1991)
- [10] V. Bargmann, Rev. Mod. Phys. 34, 829 (1962)
- [11] N. M. Atakishiyev, A. Franf and K. B. Wolf, Reportes de Investigación UNAM, 3(24), (1993)
- [12] H. P. Yuen, Phys. Rev. D13, 2226 (1976)

1999116563 N95-22980 17

120

Noisy bases in Hilbert space: A new class of thermal coherent states and their properties

A. Vourdas¹ and R. F. Bishop²

¹Department of Electrical Engineering and Electronics University of Liverpool P.O. Box 147 Liverpool, L69 3BX, UK.

²Department of Mathematics University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology (UMIST), P.O. Box 88 Manchester, M60 1QD, UK.

Abstract

Coherent mixed states (or thermal coherent states) associated with the displaced harmonic oscillator at finite temperature, are introduced as a "random" (or "thermal" or "noisy") basis in Hilbert space. A resolution of the identity for these states is proved and used to generalise the usual coherent state formalism for the finite temperature case. The Bargmann representation of an operator is introduced and its relation to the P and Q representations, is studied. Generalised P and Q representations for the finite temperature case are also considered and several interesting relations among them are derived.

1. Introduction

Coherent states have played an important role in various areas of physics. They provide a non-orthonormal, over-complete basis in the Hilbert space, which however is very useful in many problems. In spite of the non-orthonormal nature of this basis, the resolution of the identity makes it practically usable in the sense that it can be used for the expansion of an arbitrary state in the coherent state basis.

In a previous publication [1] we have considered a generalisation of the ordinary coherent states into the so-called "coherent mixed states" or "thermal coherent states". They describe displaced harmonic oscillators at finite temperature T; or alternatively, mixtures of coherent states in thermal noise [2]. In contrast to the various types of coherent states considered in the literature which are pure states, our coherent mixed states are, as the name indicates, mixed states in general; and they are pure states only in the special case of zero temperature. They can be considered as a "noisy" or "random" basis in the Hilbert space. We prove that there exists a resolution of the identity for these states, and this makes possible an expansion of an arbitrary state in the coherent mixed state basis. The Q and P representations which are usually defined in terms of ordinary coherent states are generalised within our formalism.

The purpose of this paper is to expand our previous work and express it within the Bargmann representation [3]. This representation makes possible

the exploitation of the powerful theory of analytic functions in the complex plane, within a quantum mechanical context. In section 2, we define the coherent mixed states in the Bargmann representation. For example, we derive a transformation which connects the Bargmann representation with the usual x- an p- representations. We also explain how an operator can be expressed in a differential form or in an integral form (i.e. as the kernel of an integral) in the Bargmann formalism. In section 3 we explain how our mixed coherent states can be considered as a "random" or "noisy" basis in the Hilbert space. In section 4 we explain the relation between the Bargmann representation of on operator and its P, Q, W (Wigner) representations. In section 5 we introduce generalised (finite temperature) P and Q representations and examine various relations among them. Known results [4, 5, 6] on P and Q representations are in this section generalised for the finite temperature P and Q representations. We conclude in section 6 with a discussion of our results.

2. <u>Displaced oscillator at finite temperature in the Bargmann</u> representation

We consider the Glauber coherent states

$$F|z = D(z)|0 = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}|z|^{2}\right]\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} z^{N}(N!)^{-\frac{1}{2}}|N > D(z) = \exp\left[za^{+} - z^{*}a\right]; [a,a^{+}] = I$$

$$< z|z' > = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}|z|^{2} - \frac{1}{2}|z'|^{2} + z^{*}z'\right]$$
(1)

We introduce the Bargmann analytic representation by considering an arbitrary state

$$|f_{N} - \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} f_{N} |N_{N} - \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} f_{N} (N!)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (a^{+})^{N} |0_{N}|$$

$$\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} |f_{N}|^{2} - 1$$

$$< f^{*}| - (|f^{*}_{N}|^{+} - \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} f_{N}^{-} |N|)$$
(2)

and representing it with the analytical function

$$|f \rightarrow f_{B}(z) - F_{B}(|f >; z - exp\left[\frac{1}{2}|z|^{2}\right] < z^{*}|f > -\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} f_{N} \cdot z^{N}(N!)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
 (3)

Using the resolution of the identity

-

$$\int \frac{d^2 z}{\pi} |z > \langle z| = I; \ d^2 z = d(\text{Re}z) \ d \ (\text{Im}z) = \frac{1}{2i} \ dz dz^*$$
(4)
we easily prove that the scalar product of two states $|f\rangle$, $|g\rangle$ can be expressed as

$$<\mathbf{f}^{\star}|\mathbf{g}> - \int \mathbf{f}_{B}(z) \mathbf{g}_{B}(z^{\star}) \exp(-|z|^{2}) \frac{d^{2}z}{\pi}$$
 (5)

The creation and annihilation operators are represented as

$$a \longrightarrow \frac{d}{dz}$$
 (6)
 $a^+ \longrightarrow z$

As an example we consider the coherent states |A> and the number eigenstates N> which in the Bargmann representation are represented by the analytical functions:

$$|A \rightarrow F_{B}(|A \rangle; z) = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}|A|^{2} + Az\right]$$

$$|N \rightarrow F_{B}(|N \rangle; z) = z^{N}(N!)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(7)

-

We next introduce transformations that connect the Bargmann representation with the usual position and momentum representations denoted here with the indices x,p correspondingly

$$f_{x}(z_{R}) = \pi^{-3/4} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} z_{R}^{2}\right] \int_{\infty}^{\infty} dz_{I} \exp(-z_{I}^{2}) f_{B}(2^{\frac{1}{2}}z)$$
(8)

$$f_{p}(z_{I}) = \pi^{-3/4} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}z_{I}^{2}\right] \int_{\infty}^{\infty} dz_{R} \exp(-z_{R}^{2}) f_{B}(2^{\frac{1}{2}}z^{*})$$
 (9)

where $z_R = \text{Rez}$ and $z_I = \text{Imz}$. The proof is based on equ (3) and the integral representations of the Hermite Polynomials:

$$H_{N}(x) = 2^{N} \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{\infty}^{\infty} (x + it)^{N} \exp(-t^{2}) dt$$
(10)

An operator θ

$$\Theta - \sum \Theta_{\rm NM} |N > < M| \tag{11}$$

.

can be represented by the analytic function of two variables:

$$\Theta \longrightarrow \Theta_{B}(z_{1}, z_{2}^{\dagger}) = B(\Theta; z_{1}, z_{2}^{\star}) = \exp\left[\frac{|z_{1}|^{2} + |z_{2}|^{2}}{|z_{1}|^{2} + |z_{2}|^{2}}\right] \langle z_{1}^{\star} |\Theta| z_{2}^{\star} \rangle$$

$$-\sum_{N,M} \Theta_{NM} z_1^{N} (z_2^{\star})^{M} \left[(N!) (M!) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(12)

We refer to this as the B-representation. It provides an "integral" representation of an operator in the Bargmann formalism. The operator is here represented by a kernel of an integral. The action of this operator on the (arbitrary) state $|f\rangle$ of equ (2) can be described by the integral

$$\theta | f > ---> \int B (\theta; z_1, z'^*) f_B (z') \exp(-|z'|^2) \frac{d^2 z'}{\pi}$$
 (13)

The B - representation of the product of two operators is given by

$$B (\theta_1 \theta_2; z_1, z_2^*) = \int B (\theta_1; z_1, z_3^*) B (\theta_2; z_3, z_2^*) \exp((-|z_3|^2) \frac{d^2 z_3}{\pi}$$
(14)

The creation and annihilation operators (already given in equ (6)) are here represented by the functions:

.

$$B (a;z_1,z_2^*) = z_2^* \exp(z_1 z_2^*)$$

$$B (a^+;z_1,z_2^*) = z_1 \exp(z_1 z_2^*)$$
(15)

The representations of equ (15) are consistent with these of equ (6). Indeed

$$\int z_{2}^{*} \exp(z_{1}z_{2}^{*}) \exp(-|z_{2}|^{2}) f(z_{2}) \frac{d^{2}z_{2}}{\pi} - \frac{d}{dz_{1}} f_{B}(z_{1})$$

$$\int z_{1} \exp(z_{1}z_{2}^{*}) \exp(-|z_{2}|^{2}) f(z_{2}) \frac{d^{2}z_{2}}{\pi} - z_{1}f_{B}(z_{1})$$
(16)

Both equations can be proved using the fact that f(z) is a holomorphic function therefore

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int \frac{f(z_2)}{z_2 - z_1} dz_2 - f_B(z_1)$$
(17)

Where the integral is taken around some suitable contour enclosing the point z_1 in an anticlockwise direction. Note that the trace of an operator can be expressed as

$$Tr(\Theta) = \int \frac{d^2z}{\pi} \exp(-|z|^2) B(\Theta;z,z^*)$$
(18)

and that the trace of the product of two operators can be expressed as:

$$Tr (\theta_{1}\theta_{2}) = \int B (\theta_{1};z_{1},z_{2}^{*}) B (\theta_{2};z_{2},z_{1}^{*}) \exp(-|z_{1}|^{2} - |z_{2}|^{2}) \\ \frac{d^{2}z_{1}}{\pi} \frac{d^{2}z_{2}}{\pi}$$
(19)

For later use we mention that the unit operator I is represented by the function

B (I;
$$z_1, z_2^*$$
) = exp ($z_1 z_2^*$) (20)

and that the displacement operator is represented by the function

$$B (D(A);z_1,z_2^*) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}|A|^2 - \frac{1}{2}|a_2^* + z_1^* + z_1^* + z_1^* + z_1^* + z_1^* \right)$$
(21)

A density matrix ρ with eigenvalues p_N , eigenstates $|e^{(N)}\rangle$ and matrix elements with respect to the number eigenstates p_{NM}

$$\rho = \sum P_{N} |e^{(N)} > \langle e^{(N)} | = \sum P_{NM} |N \rangle \langle M|$$

$$0 \leq P_{N}^{\leq 1}$$

$$\sum P_{N} = 1$$
(22)

can be represented by the analytical function of two variables (equ (12)):

$$\rho_{B}(z_{1}, z_{2}^{*}) = \exp\left[\frac{|z_{1}|^{2} + |z_{2}|^{2}}{|z_{2}|^{2}}\right] < z_{1}^{*} |\rho| z_{2}^{*} >$$

$$= \sum P_{N} e^{(N)}{}_{B}(z_{1}) \left[e^{(N)}{}_{B}(z_{2})\right]^{*} = \sum P_{NM}(z_{1})^{N} (z_{2}^{*})^{M} \left[(N!)(M!)\right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(23)

The displaced oscillator of finite temperature is represented by the density matrix $(k_{\rm R} = h = \omega = 1)$:

$$\rho(A;\beta) = D(A) \exp [-\beta a^{+}a]D^{+} (A) (1-e^{-\beta})$$

= exp $\left[-\beta(a^{+}-A^{*})(a - A)\right] (1 - e^{-\beta})$

where β is the inverse temperature. We can easily prove that in limit $\beta \longrightarrow \infty$ $(T \longrightarrow > o)$

$$\lim_{\beta \to \infty} \rho (A;\beta) - |A\rangle \langle A|$$
(25)

The Bargmann representation of this density matrix can be found from equ (23). We prove:

$$\rho_{B}(A;\beta;z_{1},z_{2}^{*}) = (1 - e^{-\beta})$$

x exp
$$\left[(1 - e^{-\beta}) (A^{*}z_{2}^{*} + z_{1}A - |A|^{2}) + z_{1}z_{2}^{*}e^{-\beta} \right]$$

3. Mixed states as "noisy bases" in Hilbert space:

The simplest type of basis in a Hilbert space is the orthonormal $\{|u_N^{}\rangle\}$ for which

$$\pi_{N} - |u_{N} > \langle u_{N}| \tag{27}$$

(26)

$$\pi_{\rm N}\pi_{\rm M} - \delta_{\rm NM}\pi_{\rm N} \tag{28}$$

$$\sum \pi_{N} = 1 \tag{29}$$

The π_N are orthonormal projection operators. Equ (29) is important for two reasons. First, it is a proof of the completeness of the basis. And second, it can be used to expand an arbitrary state $|s\rangle$ as:

$$|s\rangle = \sum s_{N} |u_{N}\rangle$$
(30)

$$s_{N} - \langle u_{N} | s \rangle$$
(31)

This second point is very important from a practical point of view, because for some bases we might have an abstract proof of completeness, but not a resolution of the identity like (29); and then we do not know how to use this basis, in practice.

Another type of basis is provided by the coherent states, which is overcomplete and non-orthonormal:

$$\pi(A) - |A \rangle \langle A |$$
 (32)

$$\pi^2(A) = \pi(A) \tag{33}$$

$$\int_{\pi}^{d^2 A} \pi(A) = 1 \tag{34}$$

The $\pi(A)$ are still projection operators (describing pure states); but in this case they are non-orthonormal. And yet, the resolution of the identity (34) allows us to express an arbitrary state |s> as

$$|s\rangle - \int \frac{d^2 A}{\pi} s(A) |A\rangle$$
(35)

$$s(A) = \langle A | s \rangle \tag{36}$$

Our proposal in this and in our previous work [1] is to use a set of mixed states as a basis in a Hilbert space. A mixed state described by a

density matrix ρ with eigenstates $|e_N\rangle$ and eigenvalues p_N

$$\rho - \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} p_N |e_N > \langle e_N |, \qquad (37)$$

$$\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} p_N - 1; \ 0 \le p_N \le 1, \qquad (38)$$

represents a set of states $\{|e_N\rangle\}$ with a probability distribution $\{p_N\}$. Therefore the idea of using mixed states as a basis replaces the "fixed" vectors which are usually used in a basis with "noisy vectors" (i.e. "random vectors").

The basis used in this paper is the set of all density matrices $\rho(A;\beta)$ of equ (24) for all complex values A and fixed (but arbitrary) value of β . In this case equ (37) becomes

$$\rho (\mathbf{A}; \boldsymbol{\beta}) = \sum \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{N}} (\boldsymbol{\beta}) |\mathbf{N}; \mathbf{A} \rangle < \mathbf{N}; \mathbf{A}|$$
(39)

$$|N;A\rangle = D(A) |N\rangle$$
(40)

$$p_{N}(\beta) = \left[1 - \exp(-\beta)\right] \exp(-\beta N)$$
(41)

We have proved in [1] that the $\rho(A;\beta)$ obey the resolution of the identity

$$\int \frac{d^2 A}{\pi} \rho (A;\beta) = |I|$$
(42)

This is a significant relation for our purposes because it can be used to expand an arbitrary state $|s\rangle$ as

$$|s\rangle - \int \frac{d^2 A}{\pi} \rho (A,\beta) |s\rangle$$
(43)

The density matrices $\rho(A;\beta)$ have been expressed in the Bargmann representation in equ (26). The resolution of the identity (42) can be written in the Bargmann representation as:

$$\int \rho_{\rm B} (A;\beta;z_1,z_2^{*}) \frac{d^2 A}{\pi} = \exp((z_1 z_2^{*}))$$
(44)

where as explained in equ (18) the right hand side is the unit operator in this formalism.

4. B- representation and its relationship to P. Q. W representations:

There has been a lot of discussion in the literature (reviewed in [4, 5, 6]) on the Q, P and Weyl representations and the relationships among them. The purpose of this section is to examine the relationship of the

B-representation with the others; and also to present some basic material which will be used in the next section, where all these quantities will be generalised into their finite temperature equivalents.

The Q and P representations of an operator Θ are defined as

$$Q(\Theta; A) = \langle A | \Theta | A \rangle$$
(45)

$$\Theta = \int P(\Theta; A) \pi(A) \frac{d^2 A}{\pi}$$
(46)

where the $\pi(A)$ have been defined in (32).

The Q and P-representations are related with the Bargmann representation of equ (12) as follows:

$$Q(\boldsymbol{\Theta}; z) = \left[\exp\left(-\left|z\right|^{2}\right) B(\boldsymbol{\Theta}; z^{\star}, z) \right]$$
(47)

$$P(\Theta;A) = \exp(|A|^2) \int_{-\pi}^{d^2 z} B(\Theta; -z^*, z) \exp(Az^* - A^* z) \right]$$
(48)

Equ (47) can be easily proved with the use of the definition (12); equ (48) is similar to the result given by Mehta [7].

We introduce the notation $\tilde{f}(w)$ for the two-dimensional Fourier transform of the function f(z) defined as:

$$\tilde{f}(w) - \int d^2 z \exp\left[i(w_R^2 r_R + w_I^2 r_I)\right] f(z)$$
(49)

where the indices R,I indicate the real and imaginary parts correspondingly. We can prove the following relations that express the Bargmann representation in terms of the P and Q representations:

$$B(\theta;z_1,z_2^*) = \int P(\theta;z) \exp(|zz_1 + z^* z_2^* - |z|^2) \frac{d^2 z}{\pi}$$
(50)

$$B(\Theta; z_1, z_2^*) = e^{z_1 z_2^*} \int_{\frac{1}{(2\pi)}}^{\frac{1}{2}} d^2 w \exp\left[-i\frac{1}{2}(wz_1 + w^* z_2^*)\right]$$
(51)

We next use the relation

$$\int \frac{d^{2}A}{\pi} f (A^{*}, A) k \exp (-k|A - B|^{2}) = \exp \left(\frac{1}{4k} \Delta_{B}\right) f (B^{*}, B)$$

$$\Delta_{B} = 4 \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial B \partial B^{*}}, k > 0$$
(52)

which can be proved with a Fourier transform of both sides. Δ_B is the Laplacian in a two-dimensional space.

We next consider the Wigner function corresponding to an operator θ .

$$\Theta_{W}(A) - Tr\left[\Theta D(A)\right]$$
 (53)

It is known [4] that

$$\Theta = \int \frac{d^2 A}{\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left[D^+(A) \Theta \right] D(A) = \int \frac{d^2 A}{\pi} \Theta_{W} (-A) D(A)$$
(54)

For a density matrix ρ the definition (53) leads to the more familiar expression

$$\rho_{W}(A) = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho_{I}^{D}(A)\right] = \int dx \langle 2^{-\frac{1}{2}}A_{R} + x | \rho | 2^{-\frac{1}{2}}A_{R} + x \rangle \exp\left[i x (2^{\frac{1}{2}}A_{I})\right]$$
(55)

It is convenient for later purposes to make a trivial change of variables from A to $\forall iw$ and denote the resulting function by $W(\Theta;w)$

$$\widetilde{W} (\Theta; w) = \pi \operatorname{Tr} \left[\Theta D(^{1}_{2}iw) \right] = \pi \Theta_{W}^{(1)}(^{1}_{2}iw)$$
(56)

We shall also use its Fourier transform $W(z; \theta)$ defined as the inverse of the transform given in equ (36). Using equs (54), (21) we prove:

$$B(\Theta;z_{1},z_{2}^{*}) = \int \frac{d^{2}A}{\pi^{2}} \widetilde{W} (\Theta;2iA) \exp \left[-\frac{1}{2}|A|^{2} + Az_{1} - A^{*}z_{2}^{*} + z_{1}z_{2}^{*}\right]$$
(57)

Using equs (19), (21), (56) we prove the inverse of this transform:

$$\widetilde{W} (\Theta; 2iA) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int d^{2}z_{1} d^{2}z_{2} B (\Theta; z_{1}, z_{2}^{*})$$

$$\exp \left[-\frac{1}{2} |A|^{2} - |z_{1}|^{2} - |z_{2}|^{2} - A^{*}z_{1}^{*} + z_{2}A + z_{2}z_{1}^{*} \right]$$
(58)

5. <u>Generalized P and Q representations for finite temperature</u>

The formalism of P and Q representations is based on coherent states. Although they form an overcomplete basis, it is the fact that a resolution of the identity (equ(4)) is available, that makes them practically usable. The density matrices $\rho(A;\beta)$ provide a generalization of the coherent states and they also obey the resolution of the identity (42). It seems therefore natural to define generalized P and Q representations based on $\rho(A;B)$. More specifically we introduce:

$$Q (\Theta; A; \beta) = Tr \left(\rho(A; \beta) \Theta \right)$$

$$\Theta = \int \frac{d^2 A}{\pi} \rho (A; \beta) P (\Theta; A; \beta)$$
(60)

It is clear from equ (25) that in the limit $T \longrightarrow 0$ ($\beta \longrightarrow \infty$) they reduce to the ordinary Q and P representations.

From equs (59), (60) we easily get

$$Q(\Theta;A;\beta) = \int_{-\pi}^{d^2B} P(\Theta,B;\beta') \operatorname{Tr} \left(\rho(B,\beta') \ \rho \ (A,\beta)\right)$$
(61)

We next show

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho(\mathbf{B},\beta') \ \rho \ (\mathbf{A},\beta)\right] = 2 \left[g(\beta,\beta')\right]^{-1} \exp\left[-2 \frac{1}{g(\beta,\beta')} |\mathbf{A}-\mathbf{B}|^2\right]$$
(62)

where

$$g(\beta,\beta') = \frac{\sinh \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\beta + \beta'\right)\right]}{\sinh \left(\frac{1}{2} \beta\right) \sinh \left(\frac{1}{2} \beta'\right)}$$
(63)

Combining equs (61), (62), (63) and taking into account equ (52) we get:

$$Q (\Theta; z; \beta) - \exp \left[\frac{1}{8} g (\beta, \beta') \Delta_{z} \right] P (\Theta; z; \beta')$$
(64)

Fourier transform of this equation gives

$$\widetilde{Q}(\Theta;w;\beta) = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{8}g(\beta,\beta')|w|^2\right]\widetilde{P}(\Theta;w;\beta')$$
(65)

In the special case $\beta = \beta'$ equs (63), (64), (65) give

$$g(\beta,\beta) = 2 \operatorname{coth} (\frac{1}{2}\beta)$$
(66)

$$Q (\Theta; z; \beta) = \exp \left[\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{coth} (\frac{1}{2}\beta) \Delta_{z} \right] P (\Theta; z; \beta)$$
(67)

$$\widetilde{Q} (\Theta; w; \beta) = \exp \left[-\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{coth} (\frac{1}{2}\beta) |w|^2 \right] \widetilde{P} (\Theta; w; \beta)$$
(68)

In the zero temperature limit

$$\lim g (\beta, \beta) = 2 \tag{69}$$

 $\beta \longrightarrow \infty$ and equs (67), (68) reduce to

$$Q(\theta;z) = \exp \left(\frac{1}{4} \Delta_{z}\right) P(\theta_{z})$$
(70)

$$\widetilde{Q}(\Theta; w) = \exp(-\frac{1}{4} |w|^2) \widetilde{P}(\Theta; w)$$
(71)

Equs (70), (71) are known in the literature [4, 5, 6]. Our contribution is to generalize them into equs (64), (65).

We next relate the P and Q representations to the Wigner function introduced in the previous section. Using equs (54), (55), (59), (60) we prove

$$Q (\Theta; A; \beta) = \int \frac{d^{2}B}{(2\pi)^{2}} \widetilde{W} (\Theta; B) \exp \left[-\frac{1}{8} |B|^{2} \coth (\frac{1}{3}\beta) \right]$$

$$x \exp \left[-i(A_{R}B_{R} + A_{I}B_{I}) \right] = \exp \left[\frac{1}{8} \coth (\frac{1}{3}\beta) \Delta_{A} \right] W (\Theta; A)$$
(72)
$$P (\Theta; A; \beta) = \int \frac{d^{2}B}{(2\pi)^{2}} \widetilde{W} (\Theta; B) \exp \left[\frac{1}{8} |B|^{2} \coth (\frac{1}{3}\beta) \right] x$$

$$x \exp \left[-i(A_{R}B_{R} + A_{I}B_{I}) \right] = \exp \left[-\frac{1}{8} \coth (\frac{1}{3}\beta) \Delta_{A} \right] W (\Theta; A)$$
(73)

Note that from equs (72), (73) we can derive equ (67). The expressions (72), (73) are identical, apart from a minus sign. In this sense the Q-representation can be considered as the analytic continuation of the P-representation at "negative temperatures". In the zero temperature limit (β —>>>>) the above equations reduce to

$$Q(\Theta;A) = \exp \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{8} & \Delta_A \end{bmatrix} W(\Theta;A)$$
(74)

$$P(\Theta;A) = \exp \left[-\frac{1}{8}\Delta_{A}\right] \Psi(\Theta;A)$$
(75)

6. <u>Conclusions</u>

_

Generalizations of the original coherent states are usually based on replacing the Weyl group with another one (e.g. SU(2), SU(1,1) etc.). All these coherent states are pure states. In this paper and in ref [1] we have studied coherent mixed states associated with the displaced oscillator at finite temperature. We have shown that these states can be viewed as consisting a "random" (or "noisy" or "thermal") basis in the Hilbert Space. The fact that we were able to prove a resolution of the identity for these states, makes them practically usable.

All the calculations in this paper have been presented in the Bargmann

representation. Relations between the Bargmann and the P, Q representations of an operator have been studied. A generalization of the P and Q representations for the finite temperature case, has been proposed and various relations among them have been studied.

From a practical point of view our coherent mixed states can be used for the description of coherent signals in thermal noise. There is a lot of activity in this area [8] and our work provides theoretical support to such studies.

<u>Acknowledgement</u>: AV acknowledges support from the British Council and the Royal Society in the form of a travel grant. RFB acknowledges the support of a research grant from the Science and Engineering Research Council (SERC) of Great Britain.

<u>References</u>

- 1. R.F. Bishop and A. Vourdas, J. Phys. A.20, 3743 (1987)
- B.R. Mollow and R.J. Glauber, Phys. Rev. 160, 1076 (1967)
 G. Lachs, Phys. Rev. 138 B1012 (1965)
 B. Saleh "Photoelectron statistics" (Springer, Berlin, 1978)
 J. Perina "Coherence of light" (Van Nostrand, New York 1972)
- 3. V. Bargmann Commun. Pure Appl. Math 14, 187 (1961)
- 4. J. E. Moyal Proc. Cambridge. Phil. Soc. 45, 99 (1949)
- 5. M. Hillery, R.F. O'Connell, M.O. Scully and E.P. Wigner Phys. Rep. 106, 121 (1984) N.L. Balazs and B.K. Jennings Phys Rep. 104, 347 (1984)
- F.A. Berezin Commun. Math. Phys. 40, 153 (1975), Math. USSR Izv. 8, 1109 (1974); 9, 341 (1975)
- 7. C.L. Mehta Phys. Rev. Let, 18, 752 (1967)
- 8. H. Fearn and M.J. Collett J. Mod. Opt. 35,553 (1988)
 A. Vourdas Phys. Rev. A39, 206 (1989); Phys. Rev. A37, 3890 (1988)
 M.S. Kim, F.A.M. Oliveira, P.L. Knight Phys. Rev. A40, 2492 (1989)
 H. Ezawa, A. Mann, K. Nakamura, M. Revzen, Ann. Phys. 209, 216 (1991)
 P. Marian, Phys. Rev. A45, 2044 (1992)
 P. Marian and T.A. Marian Phys. Rev. A47, 4474 (1993); Phys Rev. A47, 4487 (1993)
 M.J.W. Hall and M.J. O'Rourke, Quantum Optics 5, 161 (1993)
 V.V. Dodonov, V.I. Man'ko, V.V. Semyonov in Group theoretical methods in Physics Vol. 1 Ed. M.A. Markov, V.I. Man'ko, A.E. Shabad (Harwood, New York, 1985); Nuovo Cimento B83,145 (1984)
 D. Han, Y.S. Kim, M.E. Noz, L. Yeh, J. Maths. Phys. 34, 5493 (1993).

1995116564

N95-22981

GEOMETRIC PHASES, EVOLUTION LOOPS AND GENERALIZED OSCILLATOR POTENTIALS

David J. Fernández C. Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV A.P. 14-740, 07000 México D.F., MEXICO

Abstract

The geometric phases for dynamical processes where the evolution operator becomes the identity (evolution loops) are studied. The case of time-independent Hamiltonians with equally spaced energy levels is considered; special emphasis is made on the potentials having the same spectrum as the harmonic oscillator potential (the generalized oscillator potentials) and their recently found coherent states.

1 Introduction

Departing from Berry's work [1], a geometric phase β has been associated to the cyclic evolution of a vector state $|\psi(t)\rangle$, i.e., $|\psi(\tau)\rangle = e^{i\phi}|\psi(0)\rangle$, where τ is the period, $\langle \psi(t)|\psi(t)\rangle = 1$, and $\phi \in \mathbf{R}$. For a non-relativistic system with Hamiltonian H(t), β takes the form [2]:

$$\beta = \phi + i \int_0^\tau \langle \psi(t) | \frac{d}{dt} | \psi(t) \rangle dt = \phi + \hbar^{-1} \int_0^\tau \langle \psi(t) | H(t) | \psi(t) \rangle dt.$$
(1)

The geometric phase describes some curvature effects arising on the projective space \mathcal{P} associated to the system's Hilbert space \mathcal{H} : β turns out to be the holonomy of the horizontal lifting of the closed trajectory $|\psi(t)\rangle\langle\psi(t)| \in \mathcal{P}$ to \mathcal{H} .

Eq.(1) is valid for any cyclic evolution, regardless of whether or not it is induced by a timedependent Hamiltonian. There is a widespread believing, however, that β becomes non-null just when the Hamiltonian inducing the cyclic evolution is time-dependent. This could be understood if one realizes the great influence of Berry's article; so one could think of Eq.(1) as applied to the cyclic evolutions of the eigenstates of a cyclic H(t) changing adiabatically in time [1]. Making use of this idea, $\beta = 0$ for the eigenstates of a time-independent Hamiltonian H. In this paper we are going to show that for any H having at least two bounded states there are a lot of cyclic evolutions for which $\beta \neq 0$.

On the other hand, some developments in the analysis of the dynamics of a quantum system led to the concept of *evolution loop* (EL) [3, 4]. An evolution loop is a specific dynamical process, induced by time-dependent [3, 4] or time-independent Hamiltonians [5], whose evolution operator becomes the identity 1 (modulo phase) for a certain time $\tau > 0$ (the loop period):

$$U(\tau) = e^{i\phi} \mathbf{1},\tag{2}$$

where U(0) = 1. The EL is interesting because, if perturbed by some additional external fields, it can induce any unitary transformation of \mathcal{H} as the result of the small precessions of the distorted loop [6]. There is, moreover, an obvious interelation between the evolution loops and the geometric phases.

2 Geometric phases and evolution loops

In this work, we restrict the discussion to systems with a time-independent Hamiltonian whose evolution operator performs an evolution loop. The main property of these systems is that any state evolves cyclically from t = 0 until $t = \tau$:

$$|\psi(\tau)\rangle = e^{i\phi}|\psi(0)\rangle. \tag{3}$$

According to (1), $|\psi(t)\rangle$ will have associated, in general, a non-null geometric phase. Indeed, because $U(t) = e^{-iHt/\hbar}$ commutes with H we have:

$$\beta = \phi + \hbar^{-1} \int_0^\tau \langle \psi(0) | U^{\dagger}(t) H U(t) | \psi(0) \rangle dt = \phi + \hbar^{-1} \tau \langle H \rangle, \tag{4}$$

where $\langle H \rangle = \langle \psi(0) | H | \psi(0) \rangle$. In terms of the basis $\{ | E_m \rangle \}$ of eigenstates of H, $| \psi(0) \rangle = \sum_m c_m | E_m \rangle$ with $c_m = \langle E_m | \psi(0) \rangle$, and Eq.(4) becomes:

$$\beta = \phi + \hbar^{-1} \tau \sum_{\boldsymbol{m}} |c_{\boldsymbol{m}}|^2 E_{\boldsymbol{m}}.$$
(5)

There are some interesting systems whose time-independent Hamiltonian induces evolution loops (see, e.g., [7, 5, 8, 9]). We will illustrate this assertion with the simplest generic case. Suppose that H has an equally spaced spectrum of the form:

$$E_n = E_0 + n\Delta E, \tag{6}$$

where ΔE is the level's spacing, E_0 is the ground state energy and $n = 0, 1, \dots, N$, being N either finite or infinite. The evolution operator reads:

$$U(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} e^{-iE_n t/\hbar} |E_n\rangle \langle E_n|.$$
(7)

As can be seen, an evolution loop is present at $\tau = 2\pi\hbar/\Delta E$:

$$U(\tau) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} e^{-i2\pi (E_0 + n\Delta E)/\Delta E} |E_n\rangle \langle E_n| = e^{-i2\pi E_0/\Delta E} \mathbf{1}.$$
(8)

By comparing with (2), $\phi = -2\pi E_0/\Delta E$, and according with (4-5) the geometric phase for the cyclic state $|\psi(t)\rangle$ is:

$$\beta = 2\pi \frac{(\langle H \rangle - E_0)}{\Delta E} = 2\pi \sum_{n=1}^{N} n |c_n|^2 \ge 0.$$
(9)

By restricting β (modulo 2π) to the interval $[0, 2\pi)$ one can interpret (9) in the following way: β measures the energy excess in dimensionless units of $\langle H \rangle$ with respect to its nearest energy level E_k (see Fig.1).



FIG. 1. Schematic representation of the N + 1 energy levels and the geometric phase for a system with equally spaced spectrum.

Suppose now that, due to some physical reasons, we are faced with a situation involving just two energy levels of H. Restricting considerations to the subspace \mathcal{E}_2 generated by the two eigenstates $|E_0\rangle$ and $|E_1\rangle$ it can be shown that the evolution operator performs an evolution loop. Formulae (6-9) are valid in this situation with N = 1 and $\tau = 2\pi\hbar/\Delta E$. In particular, (9) becomes $\beta = 2\pi |c_1|^2$, where c_1 is the component along $|E_1\rangle$. As there are an infinite number of linear combinations $c_0|E_0\rangle + c_1|E_1\rangle$ such that $|c_0|^2 + |c_1|^2 = 1$, $c_0 \neq 0$ and $c_1 \neq 1$, we have shown the following: for any H having at least two bounded states there are an infinity of cyclic evolutions for which $\beta \neq 0$ (see also [10]).

Other examples for which formulae (6-9) can be applied are the following: a spin-j system interacting with a constant homogeneous magnetic field **B**; the harmonic oscillator potential and all the Hamiltonians having the same spectrum as the harmonic oscillator (generalized oscillators). Next, we will derive the geometric phases for a family of generalized oscillator Hamiltonians.

3 The generalized oscillator potentials

The simplest method to derive a family of generalized oscillator potentials was introduced by Mielnik by means of a modification of the well known factorization method [11]. Consider the

classical factorization of the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian in dimensionless coordinates $m = \omega = \hbar = 1$:

$$H = rac{1}{2} \left(-rac{d^2}{dx^2} + x^2
ight), \quad aa^{\dagger} = H + rac{1}{2}, \quad a^{\dagger}a = H - rac{1}{2}, \quad (10)$$

where $a = (d/dx + x)/\sqrt{2}$, and $a^{\dagger} = (-d/dx + x)/\sqrt{2}$ are the ordinary ladder operators with $[a, a^{\dagger}] = 1$. The eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of the harmonic oscillator can be constructed using the relations

$$Ha^{\dagger} = a^{\dagger}(H+1), \quad Ha = a(H-1).$$
 (11)

The ground state $\psi_0(x)$ has eigenvalue $E_0 = 1/2$ and satisfies $a\psi_0(x) = 0 \Rightarrow \psi_0(x) \propto e^{-x^2/2}$, while the $\psi_n(x)$'s associated to $E_n = n + 1/2$ are:

$$\psi_n(x) = \frac{(a^{\dagger})^n}{\sqrt{n!}} \psi_0(x). \tag{12}$$

The generalized factorization method [11] consists in looking for more general operators

$$b = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{d}{dx} + \beta(x) \right), \quad b^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(-\frac{d}{dx} + \beta(x) \right), \tag{13}$$

satisfying just one of relations (10):

$$bb^{\dagger} = H + \frac{1}{2}.\tag{14}$$

Hence, the unknown function $\beta(x)$ obeys the Riccati equation

$$\beta' + \beta^2 = 1 + x^2, \tag{15}$$

whose general solution is

$$\beta(x) = x + \frac{e^{-x^2}}{\lambda + \int_0^x e^{-y^2} dy}, \quad \lambda \in \mathbf{R}.$$
 (16)

Now, the point is that $b^{\dagger}b$ is not related with the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian, but it leads to a new operator H_{λ} :

$$\pm b^{\dagger}b = H_{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}, \tag{17}$$

where

$$H_{\lambda} = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + V_{\lambda}(x), \qquad (18)$$

with

$$V_{\lambda}(x) = \frac{x^2}{2} - \frac{d}{dx} \left(\frac{e^{-x^2}}{\lambda + \int_0^x e^{-y^2} dy} \right) = \left(x + \frac{e^{-x^2}}{\lambda + \int_0^x e^{-y^2} dy} \right)^2 - \frac{x^2}{2}, \quad |\lambda| > \sqrt{\pi}/2.$$
(19)

The relationships analogous to (11) provide now the way to obtaining the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of H_{λ} :

$$H_{\lambda}b^{\dagger} = b^{\dagger}(H+1), \quad Hb = b(H_{\lambda}-1).$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Hence, the states $\theta_n(x) = b^{\dagger} \psi_{n-1}(x) / \sqrt{n}$, $n = 1, 2, \cdots$ form an orthonormal set of eigenfunctions of H_{λ} with eigenvalues $E_n = n + 1/2$. However, $\{\theta_n(x), n = 1, 2, \cdots\}$ is not a basis of $L^2(\mathbf{R})$. There is a missing vector $\theta_0(x)$, orthogonal to $\theta_n(x)$, $n = 1, 2, \cdots$. It turns out to be an eigenfunction of H_{λ} with eigenvalue $E_0 = 1/2$ satisfying $b\theta_0(x) = 0$, and taking the form:

$$\theta_0(x) \propto \exp\left(-\int_0^x \beta(y) dy\right).$$
(21)

The set $\{\theta_n(x), n = 0, 1, 2, \dots\}$ forms an orthonormal basis in $L^2(\mathbf{R})$; then $\{H_{\lambda} : |\lambda| > \sqrt{\pi/2}\}$ is a family of Hamiltonians distinct of the harmonic oscillator one but having exactly the same spectrum as the oscillator. In the limit $|\lambda| \to \infty$, the harmonic oscillator potential is recovered, $V_{\lambda}(x) \to x^2/2$.

We return now to our original subject. Due to the kind of spectrum of H_{λ} , relations (6-9) involving the evolution loops and the geometric phases can be applied here with $E_0 = 1/2$, $\Delta E = 1$, $\tau = 2\pi$, $\phi = -\pi$ and $N = \infty$. In particular, $\beta = 2\pi(\langle H_{\lambda} \rangle - 1/2)$, and when applied to the cyclic states $\{\theta_n(x), n = 0, 1, 2\cdots\}$ we recover again $\beta = 2n\pi$. Is there any other set of generic states for which we can evaluate explicitly the geometric phase?

The answer turns out positive if we consider the recently found coherent states of H_{λ} (the generalized coherent states GCS) [12]. Let's denote them as $|z\rangle$ with $z \in \mathbb{C}$. The annihilation and creation operators of the system can be identified as:

$$A = b^{\dagger}ab, \quad A^{\dagger} = b^{\dagger}a^{\dagger}b. \tag{22}$$

Define now $|z\rangle$ by $A|z\rangle = z|z\rangle$. A direct calculation leads to:

$$|z\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n}}{n!\sqrt{(n+1)!}} |\theta_{n+1}\rangle,$$
(23)

where $|\theta_n\rangle$ represents to $\theta_n(x)$ and ${}_0F_2(1,2;y)$ is a generalized hypergeometric function [13]. Each $z \neq 0$ is a non-degenerate eigenvalue. However, z = 0 is a double degenerate eigenvalue of A with eigenvectors $|\theta_0\rangle$ and $|z = 0\rangle = |\theta_1\rangle$. It is possible to find a measure in the complex plane such that $\{|\theta_0\rangle, |z\rangle\}$ is complete in \mathcal{H} .

To evaluate the geometric phase β_{GCS} , $\langle z | H_{\lambda} | z \rangle$ is needed. A direct calculation leads to:

$$\langle H_{\lambda} \rangle = \langle z | H_{\lambda} | z \rangle = 1/2 + \frac{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,1;|z|^{2})}{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})}.$$
(24)

Finally:

$$\beta_{GCS} = 2\pi \frac{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,1;|z|^{2})}{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})}.$$
(25)

The behaviour of β_{GCS} , is shown in Fig.2. Notice that β_{GCS} is independent of λ . Moreover, its behaviour is quite different compared with the standard coherent state (SCS) of the harmonic oscillator for which $\beta_{SCS} = 2\pi |z|^2$ (see Fig.2). The difference rests on the fact that the GCS do not tend to the SCS when $\lambda \to \infty$ and $A_{\infty} \equiv \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} A = a^{\dagger}a^2 \neq a$ even though $V_{\lambda}(x) \to x^2/2$ in this limit.



FIG. 2. The geometric phases versus z for the standard coherent states of the harmonic oscillator (β_{SCS}) and the coherent states of the generalized oscillator (β_{GCS}).

Acknowledgments

The author acknowledges CONACYT (México) for financial support.

References

- [1] M.V. Berry, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 392, 45 (1984).
- [2] Y. Aharonov and J. Anandan, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58, 1593 (1987).
- [3] B. Mielnik, Rep. Math. Phys. 12, 331 (1977).
- [4] B. Mielnik, J. Math. Phys. 27, 2290 (1986).
- [5] D.J. Fernández C., Il Nuovo Cimento 107 B, 885 (1992).
- [6] D.J. Fernández C. and B. Mielnik, *Controlling Quantum Motion*, to be published J. Math. Phys. (1994).

- [7] M.M. Nieto and V.P. Gutschick, Phys. Rev. D 23, 922 (1981).
- [8] A.N. Seleznyova, J. Phys. A 26, 981 (1993).
- [9] M.G. Benedict and W. Schleich, Found. Phys. 23, 389 (1993).
- [10] D.J. Moore, Phys. Rep. 210, 1 (1991).
- [11] B. Mielnik, J. Math. Phys. 25, 3387 (1984).
- [12] D.J. Fernández C., V. Hussin and L.M. Nieto, Coherent States for Isospectral Oscillator Hamiltonians, to be published J. Phys. A (1994).
- [13] H. Bateman, Higher Transcendental Functions, vol.1, A. Erdélyi ed. (McGraw Hill, New York, 1953).

1995116565

N95-22982

COHERENT STATES FOR A GENERALIZATION OF THE HARMONIC OSCILLATOR

David J. Fernández C. Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV-IPN, A.P. 14-740, 07000, México D.F., Mexico

Véronique Hussin and Luis M. Nieto CRM, Université de Montréal, C.P. 6128, succ. Centre Ville Montréal (Québec), H3C 3J7, Canada

Abstract

Coherent states for a family of isospectral oscillator Hamiltonians are derived from a suitable choice of annihilation and creation operators. The Fock-Bargmann representation is also obtained.

1 Generalized Oscillator

Let us consider the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian and its annihilation and creation operators

$$H = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \frac{1}{2}x^2, \quad a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left(\frac{d}{dx} + x\right), \quad a^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left(-\frac{d}{dx} + x\right), \quad [a, b^{\dagger}] = 1.$$
(1)

We obviously have $a^{\dagger}a = H - \frac{1}{2}$, $aa^{\dagger} = H + \frac{1}{2}$, $Ha^{\dagger} = a^{\dagger}(H + 1)$ and Ha = a(H - 1). The eigenstates verify

$$|\psi_n\rangle = \frac{(a^{\dagger})^n |\psi_0\rangle}{\sqrt{n!}}; \qquad a^{\dagger} |\psi_n\rangle = \sqrt{n+1} |\psi_{n+1}\rangle, \qquad a|\psi_n\rangle = \sqrt{n} |\psi_{n-1}\rangle. \tag{2}$$

In his paper of 1984, Mielnik [1] (see also [2]) looked for operators b and b^{\dagger} such that $bb^{\dagger} = H + \frac{1}{2}$ and taking the following form:

$$b = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{d}{dx} + \beta(x) \right), \qquad b^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(-\frac{d}{dx} + \beta(x) \right). \tag{3}$$

Hence, $\beta(x)$ must verify the Riccati equation

$$\beta' + \beta^2 = 1 + x^2$$
, whose general solution is $\beta(x) = x + \frac{e^{-x^2}}{\lambda + \int_0^x e^{-y^2} dy}, \quad \lambda \in \mathbf{R}.$ (4)

PRECEDING PAGE SECTOR PAGE SECTOR 215

The inverted product of the new operators is not related to the oscillator Hamiltonian, but gives a one-parametric family of operators:

$$H_{\lambda} = b^{\dagger}b + \frac{1}{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + V_{\lambda}(x) = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \frac{x^2}{2} - \frac{d}{dx}\left[\frac{e^{-x^2}}{\lambda + \int_0^x e^{-y^2}dy}\right].$$
 (5)



FIG. 1. The potentials $V_{\lambda}(x)$ associated to H_{λ} .

The operator b^{\dagger} connects H and H_{λ} : $H_{\lambda}b^{\dagger} = b^{\dagger}(H+1)$. Therefore, the normalized eigenstates and eigenvalues of H_{λ} are

$$|\theta_n\rangle = \frac{b^{\dagger}|\psi_{n-1}\rangle}{\sqrt{n}}, \qquad E_n = n + \frac{1}{2}, \qquad n = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (6)

They do not generate all $L^2(\mathbf{R})$. There is a missing vector $|\theta_0\rangle$ verifying $b|\theta_0\rangle = 0$ and given by

$$\theta_0(x) = \frac{C_0 e^{-x^2/2}}{\lambda + \int_0^x e^{-y^2} dy}.$$
(7)

It is an eigenvector of H_{λ} with eigenvalue 1/2; then H_{λ} is a Hamiltonian with spectrum equal to that of the harmonic oscillator. The annihilation and creation operators for H_{λ} can be chosen

$$A = b^{\dagger}ab, \qquad A^{\dagger} = b^{\dagger}a^{\dagger}b. \tag{8}$$

2 New Coherent States

It is well-known that there are several non-equivalent definitions of coherent states [3, 4]. One of the possibilities is to look for eigenstates of an annihilation operator. We have seen that A is such an operator. Hence, the states $|z\rangle$ we are looking for must verify

$$A|z\rangle = z|z\rangle, \qquad |z\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n |\theta_n\rangle.$$
 (9)

After normalizing, we get

$$|z\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n}}{n!\sqrt{(n+1)!}} |\theta_{n+1}\rangle,$$
(10)

where the generalized hypergeometric function is defined as [5]

$${}_{0}F_{2}(\alpha,\beta;x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha+n)\Gamma(\beta+n)} \frac{x^{n}}{n!}.$$
(11)

We see that z = 0 is a doubly degenerated eigenvalue for A, with eigenvectors $|0\rangle \equiv |\theta_1\rangle$ and $|\theta_0\rangle$. We analyze now the overcompleteness. The resolution of the identity must take the form

$$I_{\mathcal{H}} = |\theta_0\rangle \langle \theta_0| + \int |z\rangle \langle z| d\mu(z), \qquad (12)$$

where the measure $d\mu(z)$ can be determined as in [6] (see [7] for details). This measure is positive and non-singular. Some other interesting results are the form of the reproducing kernel $\langle z|z'\rangle$

$$\langle z | z' \rangle = \frac{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;\bar{z}z')}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})} {}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z'|^{2})},$$
(13)

the dynamical evolution of the coherent states

$$U(t)|z\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2,|z|^{2})}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n}}{n!\sqrt{(n+1)!}} e^{-itH_{\lambda}}|\theta_{n+1}\rangle = e^{-i3t/2}|e^{-it}z\rangle,$$
(14)

and the expected value of the Hamiltonian H_{λ} in a coherent state

$$\langle z | H_{\lambda} | z \rangle = \frac{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,1;|z|^{2})}{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})} + \frac{1}{2}.$$
(15)

3 The harmonic oscillator limit

Notice that H_{λ} tends to the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian when $|\lambda| \to \infty$. Let us consider this limit to see if there is a relationship between the coherent states we have computed and the harmonic oscillator ones. In the limit, $\beta(x) \to x$; therefore, $b \to a$ and $b^{\dagger} \to a^{\dagger}$. Then, we get $|\theta_n\rangle \to |\psi_n\rangle$. Nevertheless, $A \to A_o = a^{\dagger}a^2$; as a consequence, the coherent states (10) become

$$|z\rangle_{o} \equiv \lim_{|\lambda| \to \infty} |z\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n}}{n!\sqrt{(n+1)!}} |\psi_{n+1}\rangle,$$
(16)

which are not the usual coherent states. For $|z\rangle$ it is difficult to compute the expectation values of the position and momentum operators, but for $|z\rangle_o$ the problem can be easily solved using

$$\hat{x} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (a^{\dagger} + a), \qquad \hat{p} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} (a^{\dagger} - a).$$
 (17)

For the position operator we get

$${}_{o}\langle z|\hat{x}|z\rangle_{o} = \frac{\dot{z} + \bar{z}}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{{}_{0}F_{2}(2,2;|z|^{2})}{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})};$$
(18)

$${}_{o}\langle z|\hat{x}^{2}|z\rangle_{o} = \frac{1}{2{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})} \left(3{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2}) + \frac{(z+\bar{z})^{2}}{2} {}_{o}F_{2}(2,3;|z|^{2}) \right).$$
(19)

For the momentum operator we obtain similar results. The uncertainty product is then

$$(\Delta \hat{x})(\Delta \hat{p}) = \sqrt{\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^2 + \frac{3}{2}|z|^2 \rho(|z|) + \left[\operatorname{Re}(z)\operatorname{Im}(z)\rho(|z|)\right]^2},\tag{20}$$

where

$$\varrho(|z|) = \frac{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2}){}_{0}F_{2}(2,3;|z|^{2}) - 2[{}_{0}F_{2}(2,2;|z|^{2})]^{2}}{[{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})]^{2}}.$$
(21)

A plot of $(\Delta \hat{x})(\Delta \hat{p})$ is shown in Figure 2. It can be rigorously proved that $1/2 \leq (\Delta \hat{x})(\Delta \hat{p}) \leq 3/2$.



FIG. 2. The uncertainty product $(\Delta \hat{x})(\Delta \hat{p})$ as a function of z.

4 The Fock-Bargmann representation

For the harmonic oscillator it is possible to find a realization of the Hilbert space in terms of entire functions [4, 8]. The same is true for the coherent states of the Lie algebra su(1, 1) [6, 9]. We will show next that we can construct a similar realization for the problem under study. The Hilbert space \mathcal{H} is generated by the basis vectors $\{|\theta_0\rangle, |\theta_1\rangle, |\theta_2\rangle, \ldots\}$; the state $|\theta_0\rangle$ is isolated from the others, in the sense that it is an atypical coherent state. Let us call \mathcal{H}_0 the onedimensional subspace generated by $|\theta_0\rangle$ and \mathcal{H}_1 the Hilbert space generated by $\{|\theta_1\rangle, |\theta_2\rangle, \ldots\}$, so that $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1$. From now on, we are going to concentrate on \mathcal{H}_1 . A vector $|g\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_1$, is

$$|g\rangle = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} c_m |\theta_m\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_1; \qquad c_m = \langle \theta_m | g \rangle; \qquad \langle g | g \rangle = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} |c_m|^2 < \infty.$$
(22)

Using (10)

$$\langle z|g\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\bar{z}^{n}}{n!\sqrt{(n+1)!}} \langle \theta_{n+1}|g\rangle.$$
(23)

A realization of \mathcal{H}_1 as a space \mathcal{F} of entire analytic functions is obtained by associating to every $|g\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_1$ the entire function

$$g(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\langle \theta_{n+1} | g \rangle}{n! \sqrt{(n+1)!}} z^n; \qquad \langle z | g \rangle = \frac{g(\bar{z})}{\sqrt{{}_0F_2(1,2;|z|^2)}}.$$
 (24)

From the relation $|g(z)| \leq ||g|| \sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|z|^{2})}$, $\forall g(z) \in \mathcal{F}$ (issued from the Schwarz inequality), we can show that g(z) is an entire function of order 2/3 and type 3/2 (see [7]). This characterizes completely the space \mathcal{F} (the usual coherent states are related to the Segal-Bargmann space of entire functions of growth (1/2, 2)). In particular, the entire function corresponding to a coherent state $|\alpha\rangle$ is

$$\alpha(z) = \frac{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;\alpha z)}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|\alpha|^{2})}}.$$
(25)

The functions

$$\theta_{n+1}(z) = \frac{z^n}{n!\sqrt{(n+1)!}}, \ n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$
(26)

form an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{F} so that g(z) may be written

$$g(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_{n+1} \theta_{n+1}(z).$$
 (27)

Notice that the function $\delta(z, z') = {}_0F_2(1, 2; z\bar{z}')$ plays the role of the delta function in \mathcal{F} .

Finally, we want to know what is the abstract realization of the operators acting on \mathcal{F} as a multiplication by z and as a derivation $\partial/\partial z$. Let us consider the function

$$zg(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_{n+1} \frac{z^{n+1}}{n! \sqrt{(n+1)!}} = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} m \sqrt{m+1} c_m \theta_{m+1}(z).$$
(28)

On the other hand, the action of the operator A^{\dagger} on $|g\rangle$ is

$$A^{\dagger}|g\rangle \Big| = b^{\dagger}a^{\dagger}b \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c_{m+1}|\theta_{m+1}\rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n n \sqrt{n+1} |\theta_{n+1}\rangle.$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Then, A^{\dagger} is the operator whose realization in \mathcal{F} is a multiplication by z. Let us consider now the function

$$\frac{\partial g(z)}{\partial z} = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} c_{m+1} \frac{z^{m-1}}{(m-1)! \sqrt{(m+1)!}} = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_{m+1}}{\sqrt{m+1}} \theta_m(z).$$
(30)

As $[A, A^{\dagger}] \neq I$, the abstract operator corresponding to the derivative is not A. Therefore, we have to find an operator B such that

$$B|g\rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c_{m+1}B|\theta_{m+1}\rangle = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_{m+1}}{\sqrt{m+1}}|\theta_m\rangle.$$
(31)

We suppose it has the form

$$B = b^{\dagger} a f(N) b, \quad N = a^{\dagger} a, \tag{32}$$

and the function f becomes

$$f(N) = \frac{1}{N(1+N)}.$$
 (33)

It is easy to see that

$$[B, A^{\dagger}] = I, \qquad [A, B^{\dagger}] = I, \tag{34}$$

and therefore, up to normalization,

$$|z\rangle = \exp(zB^{\dagger})|\theta_1\rangle. \tag{35}$$

However, it is not possible to obtain $|z\rangle$ as the action of a unitary representation of the algebras in (34).

Acknowledgments

D.J. Fernández C. is supported by CONACYT (Mexico). The research of V. Hussin is partially supported by grants from NSERC of Canada and FCAR du Gouverment du Québec. L.M. Nieto acknowledges a fellowship from Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia (Spain) and kind hospitality at CINVESTAV (México).

References

- [1] B. Mielnik, J. Math. Phys. 25, 3387 (1984).
- [2] M.M. Nieto, Phys. Lett. 145B, 208 (1984).
- [3] J.R. Klauder and B.S. Skagerstam, Coherent states-Applications in Physics and Mathematical Physics (World Scientific, Singapore, 1985).
- [4] A. Perelomov, Generalized Coherent States and their Applications, Texts and Monographs in Physics (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986).
- [5] H. Bateman, *Higher transcendental functions*, vol. 1, A. Erdélyi ed. (McGraw Hill, New York, 1953).
- [6] A.O. Barut and L. Girardello, Commun. Math. Phys. 21, 41 (1971).
- [7] D.J. Fernández C., V. Hussin and L.M. Nieto, *Coherent States for Isospectral Oscillator Hamil*tonians, to appear in J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. (1994).
- [8] V. Bargmann, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 14, 187 (1961).
- [9] J. Beckers and N. Debergh, J. Math. Phys. 30, 1732 (1989).

1995716566

N95-22983

6.1

FINITE-ELEMENT TIME EVOLUTION OPERATOR FOR THE ANHARMONIC OSCILLATOR

Kimball A. Milton

Department of Physics and Astronomy The University of Oklahoma, Norman OK 73019, USA

Abstract

The finite-element approach to lattice field theory is both highly accurate (relative errors $\sim 1/N^2$, where N is the number of lattice points) and exactly unitary (in the sense that canonical commutation relations are exactly preserved at the lattice sites). In this talk I construct matrix elements for dynamical variables and for the time evolution operator for the anharmonic oscillator, for which the continuum Hamiltonian is $H = p^2/2 + \lambda q^4/4$. Construction of such matrix elements does not require solving the implicit equations of motion. Low order approximations turn out to be extremely accurate. For example, the matrix element of the time evolution operator in the harmonic oscillator ground state gives a result for the anharmonic oscillator ground state energy accurate to better than 1%, while a two-state approximation reduces the error to less than 0.1%.

1 Introduction

For over a decade now, the finite-element method has been developed for application to quantum systems. (For a review of the program see [1].) The essence of the approach is to put the Heisenberg equations of motion for the quantum system on a Minkowski space-time lattice in such a way as to preserve exactly the canonical commutation relations at each lattice site. Doing so corresponds precisely to the classical finite-element prescription of requiring continuity at the lattice sites while imposing the equations of motion at the Gaussian knots, a prescription chosen to minimize numerical error. We have applied this technique to examples in quantum mechanics and to quantum field theories in two and four space-time dimensions. In particular, recent work has concentrated on Abelian and non-Abelian gauge theories [2, 3, 4].

Because it is the equations of motion that are discretized, a lattice Lagrangian does not exist in Minkowski space. This is because the equations of motion are in general nonlocal, involving fields at all previous (but not later) times. Similarly, a lattice Hamiltonian does not exist, in the sense of an operator from which the equations of motion can be derived.

However, because the formulation is unitary, a unitary time-evolution operator must exist which carries fields from one lattice time to the next. For linear finite elements this operator in quantum mechanics has been explicitly constructed [5]. Construction of this operator requires solving the equations of motion, which are implicit. Therefore, it is most useful, and perhaps surprising, that when matrix elements of the time evolution operator are constructed in a harmonic oscillator basis, they do not require the solution of the equations of motion [6]. Although these general formulas were derived some years ago, it seems they have not been exploited. My purpose here is to study, in a simple context, the matrix elements of the evolution operator, and see how accurately spectral information may be extracted. My goal, of course, is to apply similar techniques in gauge theories, for example, to study chiral symmetry breaking in QCD.

2 Review of the Finite-Element Method

Let us consider a quantum mechanical system with one degree of freedom governed by the continuum Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{p^2}{2} + V(q),$$
 (1)

from which follow the Heisenberg equations

$$\dot{p} = -V'(q), \quad \dot{q} = p. \tag{2}$$

These equations are to be solved subject to the initial condition

$$[q(0), p(0)] = i. (3)$$

It immediately follows from (2) that the same relation holds at any later time

$$[q(t), p(t)] = i. \tag{4}$$

Now suppose we introduce a time lattice by subdividing the interval (0,T) into N subintervals each of length h. On each subinterval ("finite element") we express the dynamical variables as rth degree polynomials

$$p(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{r} a_k (t/h)^k, \quad q(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{r} b_k (t/h)^k, \tag{5}$$

where t is a local variable ranging from 0 to h. We determine the 2(r+1) operator coefficients a_k, b_k , as follows:

1. On the first finite element let

$$a_0 = p_0 = p(0), \quad b_0 = q_0 = q(0).$$
 (6)

2. Impose the equations of motion (2) at r points within the finite element, at $\alpha_i h$, i = 1, 2, ..., r, where $0 < \alpha_1 < \alpha_2 < \cdots < \alpha_r < 1$. This then gives

$$p(h) \approx p_1 = \sum_{k=0}^{r} a_k, \quad q(k) \approx q_1 = \sum_{k=0}^{r} b_k.$$
 (7)

3. Proceed to the next finite element by requiring continuity (but not continuity of derivatives) at the lattice sites, that is, on the second finite element, set

$$a_0 = p_1, \quad b_0 = q_1,$$
 (8)

and again impose the equations of motion at $\alpha_i h$, and so on.

How are the α_i 's determined? By requiring preservation of the canonical commutation relations at each lattice site,

$$[q_1, p_1] = [q_0, p_0] = i, (9)$$

one finds

$$r = 1$$
 (linear finite elements) $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ (10)

$$r = 2$$
 (quadratic finite elements) $\alpha_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}$ (11)

$$r = 3$$
 (cubic finite elements) $\alpha_{1,3} = \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2\sqrt{5}}, \quad \alpha_2 = \frac{1}{2}$ (12)

These points are exactly the Gaussian knots, that is, the roots of the rth Legendre polynomial,

$$P_r(2\alpha - 1) = 0. (13)$$

Amazingly, these are precisely the points at which the numerical error is minimized. It is known for classical equations that if one uses N rth degree finite elements the relative error goes like N^{-2r} , while imposing the equations at any other points would give errors like N^{-r} .

Let us consider a simple example. The quartic anharmonic oscillator has continuum Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{1}{2}p^2 + \frac{1}{4}\lambda q^4,$$
 (14)

for which the equations of motion are

$$\dot{q} = p \quad \dot{p} = -\lambda q^3. \tag{15}$$

If we use the linear (r = 1) finite-element prescription given above, the corresponding discrete lattice equations are

$$\frac{q_1 - q_0}{h} = \frac{p_1 + p_0}{2}, \quad \frac{p_1 - p_0}{h} = -\frac{\lambda}{8}(q_1 + q_0)^3.$$
(16)

(Notice the easily remembered mnemonic for linear finite elements: Derivatives are replaced by forward differences, while undifferentiated operators are replaced by forward averages.) By commuting the first of these equations with $p_1 + p_0$ and the second with $q_1 + q_0$ the unitarity condition (9) follows immediately. These equations are implicit, in the sense that we must solve a nonlinear equation to find q_1 and p_1 in terms of q_0 and p_0 . Although such a solution can be given, let use make a simple approximation, by expanding the dynamical operators at time 1 in powers of h, with operator coefficients at time 0. Those coefficients are determined by (16), and a very simple calculation yields

$$q_{1} = q_{0} + hp_{0} - \frac{\lambda}{2}h^{2}q_{0}^{3} + \dots,$$

$$p_{1} = p_{0} - \lambda hq_{0}^{3} - \frac{3}{2}\lambda h^{2}q_{0}p_{0}q_{0} + \dots$$
(17)

We can define Fock space creation and annihilation operators in terms of the initial-time operators

$$q_0 = \gamma \frac{(a+a^{\dagger})}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad p_0 = \frac{(a-a^{\dagger})}{i\sqrt{2}\gamma},$$
 (18)

which satisfy

$$[a, a^{\dagger}] = 1. \tag{19}$$

Here we have introduced an arbitrary variational parameter γ . The Fock-space states (harmonic oscillator states) are created and destroyed by these operators:

$$|n\rangle = \frac{(a^{\dagger})^n}{\sqrt{n!}}|0\rangle, \qquad (20)$$

which states are not energy eigenstates of the anharmonic oscillator. We can now take matrix elements in these states of the dynamical operators at lattice site 1, using (17):

$$\langle 1|p_1|0\rangle \approx \langle 1|p_0|0\rangle(1+i\frac{3}{2}h\lambda\gamma^4 - \frac{3}{4}h^2\lambda\gamma^2 + \ldots)$$
$$\approx \langle 1|p_0|0\rangle(1+i\omega h - \frac{1}{2}\omega^2 h^2 + \ldots), \qquad (21)$$

and

$$\langle 1|q_1|0\rangle \approx \langle 1|q_0|0\rangle (1+i\frac{h}{\gamma^2} - \frac{3}{4}h^2\lambda\gamma^2 + \dots) \approx \langle 1|q_0|0\rangle (1+i\omega h - \frac{1}{2}\omega^2 h^2 + \dots),$$

$$(22)$$

where we have assumed approximately exponential dependence on the energy difference ω . Equating the coefficients of the terms through order h^2 constitutes four equations in two unknowns. These equations are consistent and yield

$$\omega = \frac{3}{2}\lambda\gamma^4 = \frac{1}{\gamma^2},\tag{23}$$

so the energy difference between the ground state and the first excited state is approximately

$$\omega = \left(\frac{3}{2}\lambda\right)^{1/3} \approx 1.145\lambda^{1/3} \tag{24}$$

which is only 5% higher than the exact result $E_{01} = 1.08845\lambda^{1/3}$. A similar calculation using quadratic finite elements (r = 2) reduces the error to 0.5%.

3 The Time-Evolution Operator

Because the canonical commutation relations are preserved at each lattice site, we know that there is a unitary time evolution operator that carries dynamical variable forward in time:

$$q_{n+1} = Uq_n U^{\dagger}, \quad p_{n+1} = Up_n U^{\dagger},$$
 (25)

For the system described by the continuum Hamiltonian (1) in the linear finite-element scheme, we have found [5] the following formula for U:

$$U = e^{ihp_n^2/4} e^{ihA(q_n)} e^{ihp_n^2/4},$$
(26)

where

$$A(x) = \frac{2}{h^2} [x - g^{-1}(4x/h^2)]^2 + V(g^{-1}(4x/h^2)), \qquad (27)$$

$$g(x) = \frac{4}{h^2}x + V'(x).$$
 (28)

The implicit nature of the finite-element prescription is evident in the appearance of the inverse of the function g.

Given the time evolution operator, a lattice Hamiltonian may be defined by $U = \exp(ih\mathcal{H})$. For linear finite elements \mathcal{H} differs from the continuum Hamiltonian by terms of order h^2 . For example,

$$V = \frac{1}{2}m^2 q^2 : \quad \mathcal{H} = \frac{2}{mh} \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{mh}{2}\right) \left[\frac{1}{2}p^2 + \frac{1}{2}m^2 q^2\right], \tag{29}$$

$$V = \frac{\lambda}{3}q^3: \quad \mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2}p^2 + \frac{1}{3}\lambda q^3 + h^2 \left[\frac{\lambda}{12}pqp + p^3\right] + \dots,$$
(30)

$$V = \frac{\lambda}{4}q^4: \quad \mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2}p^2 + \frac{1}{4}\lambda q^4 + h^2 \left[-\frac{\lambda^2}{24}q^6 - \frac{\lambda}{8}qp^2q \right] + \dots$$
(31)

If one uses quadratic finite elements \mathcal{H} differs from the continuum Hamiltonian by terms of order h^4 , etc.

4 Matrix Elements of Dynamical Variables

Remarkably, it is not necessary to solve the equations of motion to compute matrix elements of the dynamical variable. Introduce creation and annihilation operators as in (18). Then, in terms of harmonic oscillator states (20) the following formula is easily derived [6] for a general matrix element of q_1 :

$$\langle m|q_1|n\rangle = -\frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{2}}(\sqrt{m}\delta_{n,m-1} + \sqrt{n}\delta_{m,n-1}) + \frac{e^{-i\theta(m-n)}}{R\sqrt{\pi 2^{n+m}n!m!}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dz \, z e^{-g^2(z)/4R^2} g'(z) H_n(g(z)/2R) H_m(g(z)/2R),$$
(32)

where g is given by (28), $H_n(x)$ is the nth Hermite polynomial, and we have introduced the abbreviations

$$R^{2} = \frac{4\gamma^{2}}{h^{4}} + \frac{1}{h^{2}\gamma^{2}}, \quad e^{-i\theta} = \frac{2\gamma}{Rh^{2}} + \frac{i}{Rh\gamma}.$$
 (33)

For the example of the harmonic oscillator, this formula gives for the ground state-first excited state energy difference $\omega = (2/h) \tan^{-1}(h/2)$, consistent with (29), while for the anharmonic oscillator if we expand in h we obtain precisely the expansion (22).

5 Matrix Elements of the Time Evolution Operator

A similar formula can be derived for the harmonic oscillator matrix elements of the time evolution operator. (There is an error in the formula printed in [6].)

$$\langle m|U|n\rangle = \frac{1}{2R} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi 2^{n+m} n!m!}} e^{-i(n+m+1)\theta} \\ \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dz \, g'(z) H_n(g(z)/2R) H_m(g(z)/2R) e^{[ihV(z)+ih^3V'(z)^2/8-h^2g(z)^2e^{-i\theta}/8\gamma R]},$$
(34)

which again is expressed in terms of g not g^{-1} .

For the harmonic oscillator, where $V = q^2/2$, (34) gives for the ground-state energy

$$\langle 0|U|0\rangle = e^{i\omega_0 h}, \quad \omega_0 = \frac{1}{h} \tan^{-1} \frac{h}{2}, \tag{35}$$

which follows from (29). For the anharmonic oscillator, $V = \lambda q^4/4$, again, for a first look, we expand in powers of h, with the result, for the harmonic oscillator ground state,

$$\langle 0|U|0\rangle = 1 + h\left(\frac{i}{4\gamma^2} + \frac{3i}{16}\lambda\gamma^4\right) + h^2\left(-\frac{3}{32\gamma^4} + \frac{9}{64}\lambda\gamma^2 - \frac{105}{512}\lambda^2\gamma^8\right) + \dots$$

 $\approx 1 + i\omega_0h - \frac{1}{2}\omega_0^2h^2 + \dots,$ (36)

which is also derivable from (31). Equating powers of h gives us two equations, which are to be solved first for the dimensionless number $\lambda \gamma^6 = \alpha$. Once the number α is determined, the value of ω_0 is expressed as

$$\omega_0 = \lambda^{1/3} f(\alpha), \quad f(\alpha) = \frac{1}{4\alpha^{1/3}} \left(1 + \frac{3}{4} \alpha \right).$$
(37)

For a first estimate, we use the "principle of minimum sensitivity", that is, use the stationary value of α ,

$$f'(\alpha) = 0 \Rightarrow \alpha = \frac{2}{3} \Rightarrow f(\alpha) = 0.4293,$$
(38)

which is about 2% higher than the exact value of 0.42081 [7]. In fact, when we solve (36) for α we find a complex value

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{i}{2\sqrt{3}} \Rightarrow f(\alpha) = 0.4178 \mp 0.0077i.$$
 (39)

The imaginary part is small, and the real part is only 0.7% low. The failure of (39) to be real does not indicate any breakdown of unitarity, but only that the one state approximation is not exact. We do much better by making a two-state approximation, where we must diagonalize the 2×2 matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} U_{00} & U_{02} \\ U_{20} & U_{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (40)

We then find the following relation between $\omega_{0,2}$ and $\alpha = \lambda \gamma^6$:

$$\omega_{0,2} = \frac{\lambda^{1/3}}{16} \alpha^{-1/3} [12 + 21\alpha \mp 2\sqrt{3}(8 + 16\alpha + 33\alpha^2)^{1/2}], \tag{41}$$

which, for the - sign, is plotted in Fig. 1:



FIG. 1. Ground-state energy for the anharmonic oscillator as a function of $\alpha = \lambda \gamma^6$, in the second approximation. Here $\omega_0 = \lambda^{1/3} f(\alpha)$, $f(\alpha)$ given by (41).

This graph shows that the ground-state energy is very insensitive to the value of α . The principle of minimum sensitivity give spectacular agreement with the exact result,

$$\omega_0 = 0.421235\lambda^{1/3},\tag{42}$$

being only 0.1% high, while it gives a good value for the third state, $\omega_2 = 2.992\lambda^{1/3}$. Solving for α from the eigenvalues of (40) gives even better results:

$$\omega_0 = \lambda^{1/3} (0.42054 + 2 \times 10^{-6}i), \quad \omega_2 = \lambda^{1/3} (2.94328 - .022029i), \tag{43}$$

where the ground state energy is now low by 0.06%, the imaginary part being negligible.

6 Conclusions

The simple calculations given here for the quantum-mechanical anharmonic oscillator are the beginning of a program to develop use of lattice Hamiltonian techniques to explore gauge theories in the finite-element context. The astute reader will note that the numerical results presented in Sec. 5 also hold in the continuum, by virtue of (31). It is in two or more space-time dimensions that the essential nature of the lattice in such calculations comes into play [3, 4, 8]. The high accuracy contrasted with the simplicity of the approach leads us to expect that we can extract spectral information, anomalies, and symmetry breaking from an examination of the time-evolution operator.

Acknowledgments

I thank the US Department of Energy for partial financial support of this research. I am grateful to Carl Bender, Pankaj Jain, and Dean Miller for useful conversations.

References

- C. M. Bender, L. R. Mead, and K. A. Milton, "Discrete Time Quantum Mechanics," preprint OKHEP-93-07, hep-ph/9305246, to be published in the Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics.
- K. A. Milton, in Proceedings of the XXVth International Conference on High-Energy Physics, Singapore, 1990, edited by K. K. Phua and Y. Yamaguchi (World Scientific, Singapore, 1991), p. 432.
- [3] D. Miller, K. A. Milton, and S. Siegemund-Broka, Phys. Rev. D 46, 806 (1993).
- [4] D. Miller, K. A. Milton, and S. Siegemund-Broka, "Finite-Element Quantum Electrodynamics. II. Lattice Propagators, Current Commutators, and Axial-Vector Anomalies," preprint OKHEP-93-11, hep-ph/9401205, submitted to Phys. Rev. D.
- [5] C. M. Bender, K. A. Milton, D. H. Sharp, L. M. Simmons, Jr., and R. Stong, Phys. Rev. D 32, 1476 (1985).
- [6] C. M. Bender, L. M. Simmons, Jr., and R. Stong, Phys. Rev. D 33, 2362 (1986).
- [7] J. F. Barnes, H. J. Brascamp, and E. H. Lieb, in *Studies in Mathematical Physics*, edited by E. H. Lieb, B. Simon, and A. S. Wightman (Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1976).
- [8] C. M. Bender and K. A. Milton, Phys. Rev. D 34, 3149 (1986).

1995116567

N95-22984

q-BOSONS

and the q-ANALOGUE QUANTIZED FIELD

Charles A. Nelson¹ Department of Physics State University of New York at Binghamton Binghamton, N.Y. 13902-6000

Abstract

The q-analogue coherent states $|z\rangle_q$ are used to identify physical signatures for the presence of a q-analogue quantized radiation field in the $|z\rangle_q$ classical limit where |z| is large. In this quantum-optics-like limit, the fractional uncertainties of most physical quantities (momentum, position, amplitude, phase) which characterize the quantum field are O(1). They only vanish as O(1/|z|) when q = 1. However, for the number operator, N, and the N-Hamiltonian for a free q-boson gas, $H_N = \hbar\omega(N + 1/2)$, the fractional uncertainties do still approach zero. A signature for q-boson counting statistics is that $(\Delta N)^2 / \langle N \rangle \rightarrow 0$ as $|z| \rightarrow \infty$. Except for its O(1) fractional uncertainty, the q-generalization of the Hermitian phase operator of Pegg and Barnett, $\hat{\phi}_q$, still exhibits normal classical behavior. The standard number-phase uncertainty-relation, $\Delta N \Delta \hat{\phi}_q = 1/2$, and the approximate commutation relation, $[N, \hat{\phi}_q] = i$, still hold for the single-mode q-analogue quantized field. So, N and $\hat{\phi}_q$ are almost canonically conjugate operators in the $|z\rangle_q$ classical limit. The $|z\rangle_q$ CS's minimize this uncertainty relation for moderate $|z|^2$.

1 Motivation and Introduction

In considering the potential importance of quantum algebras to quantum field theory and to physics[1], I am reminded of the twenty year development of Yang-Mills theory and the strong interactions (now called QCD or quantum chromodynamics):

- 1954: YM theory was proposed to generalize U(1) QED to an $SU(2)_{Isospin}$ theory for the strong interactions with the ρ meson as the analogue of the photon.
- 1966: Nambu suggested that YM theory may be relevant to the color degree of freedom of constituent quarks.

cnelson@bingvmb.cc.binghamton.edu

¹CNELSON@BINGVMB.BITNET

- 1968: Experiments at SLAC discovered scaling of the strong interactions at short-distances.
- 1972-3: Asymptotic freedom was discovered for $SU(3)_{Color}$ YM theory (i.e. the weak coupling of the strong interactions at short distances).

In 1954, both the ultra-violet and infra-red(if the ρ were taken massless) properties of YM theory were regarded as *complicated*. But inspite of the theory's mathematical beauty, it took 20 years for theorists to discover its important physical property of asymptotic freedom; and, in fact, this occurred only after the hint provided by a Nobel prize winning experiment!

For comparison, the recent history of quantum algebras is

- 1979-87: q-algebra symmetries investigated in quantum and statistical mechanical models [1].
- 1989: q-oscillators introduced to realize the new symmetries of q-algebras [2].
- ????: ???

If this historical parallel is of significance, we need to know the physical implications of these novel symmetry structures. If there are q-oscillators in nature which realize these new algebras, it seems reasonable to expect that there will also exist a q-analogue quantum field which has such q-oscillators as its normal modes[4]. We need to know its canonical physical properties—what are its number and phase signatures? Since the usual quasi-classical coherent states (CS) approximately characterize many types of cooperative behavior in the q=1 case, it is natural to use the q-CS's to investigate and identify empirical signatures[4,6] of a generic q-field for cooperative phenomena, whether in quantum optics, many body physics, particle physics

The q-analogue coherent states $|z\rangle_q$ satisfy $a|z\rangle_q = z|z\rangle_q$ where the q-oscillator algebra is $(q \rightarrow 1, \text{ usual bosons})$

$$aa^{\dagger} - q^{\pm 1/2}a^{\dagger}a = q^{\mp N/2} \tag{1}$$

with $[N, a^{\dagger}] = a^{\dagger}$, [N, a] = -a, and the physically important bosonic [a, a] = 0. We take q real, and 0 < q < 1.

In the $|n>_q$ basis, $< m|n> = \delta_{mn}$ and²

$$a^{\dagger}|n\rangle = \sqrt{[n+1]}|n+1\rangle$$
 $a|n\rangle = \sqrt{[n]}|n-1\rangle$ $a|0\rangle = 0$ (2)

where $[x]_q = [x] \equiv (q^{x/2} - q^{-x/2})/(q^{1/2} - q^{-1/2})$ is the "q-deformation" of x. More simply $[x] = \sinh(sx/2)/\sinh(s/2)$ where $q = \exp s$. Note that

$$a^{\dagger}a|n >= [N]|n >= [n]|n > N|n >= n|n > a|0 >= 0$$
 (3)

It follows that with $\langle z | z \rangle = 1$ the q-CS's are

$$|z\rangle_{q} = N(z) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{n}}{\sqrt{[n]!}} |n\rangle, \qquad N(z) = e_{q}(|z|^{2})^{-1/2}$$
(4)

²From now on the sub-q's are usually implicit!
in terms of the "q-exponential function"

$$e_q(z) \equiv \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{[n]!}, \qquad [n]! \equiv [n][n-1]\cdots[1], \qquad [0]! = 1$$
(5)

which is an order zero entire function [5], and $|e_q(z)| \le e_q(|z|) \le exp(|z|)$. For x > 0, it's positive, but for x < 0 and $q < (q_1^* \sim 0.14)$ there are an infinite number of increasing amplitude oscillations of decreasing frequency as $x \to (-\infty)$. The infinite number of real zeros are approximately at $\tilde{\mu}_n = -q^{(1-n)/2}/(1-q)$; $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ As q increases, these zeros collide in pairs and move off the real axis as a complex conjugate pair. In this manner, $e_q(z) \to exp(z)$ as $q \to 1$.

In analyzing the q-boson field in the $|z\rangle_q$ classical limit, we use the Heisenberg representation, consider a specific mode, and suppress the \vec{k} mode and $\hat{\epsilon}$ polarization indices for the generic electric and magnetic fields, etc. . Notice that the q-analogue coherent states $|z\rangle_q$ are good candidates for studying the classical limit of the q-analogue quantized radiation field because they are minimum uncertainty states. They minimize the fundamental commutation relation

$$U_{Q,P} \equiv \frac{2\Delta Q \Delta P - |<[Q,P]>|}{|<[Q,P]>|} \ge 0$$
(6)

with $U|_{|z\rangle} = 0$, but $U|_{|n\rangle\neq|0\rangle} = \frac{(3[n]+[n+1])}{([n+1]-[n])}$. Also, the n^{th} order correlation function factorizes, i.e.

$$Tr(\rho E^{-}(x)E^{+}(y)) = \mathcal{E}^{-}(x)\mathcal{E}^{+}(y), \dots$$
(7)

In addition, there exists a resolution of unity[3-5] for the q-CS's

$$\int |z\rangle \langle z| d\mu(z) + \int |\tilde{z}\rangle \langle \tilde{z}| d\tilde{\mu} = I$$
(8)

with, respectively, a continuous (q-integration) measure

$$d\mu(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi} e_q(|z|^2) e_q(-|z|^2) d_q |z|^2 \, d\theta \tag{9}$$

and a discrete measure

$$d\tilde{\mu}_{k} = \frac{1}{2\pi} e_{q}(q^{1/2} |\tilde{z}_{k}|^{2}) e_{q}(-|\tilde{z}_{k}|^{2}) d\theta.$$
(10)

Note that $|\tilde{z}_k|^2 = q^{k/2}\zeta_i$ with k = 0, 1, ... and $\zeta_i = \text{minus the } i^{th} \text{ zero of } e_q(z)$. The q-discrete auxiliary states, [4], $|\tilde{z}_k|_q$ satisfy

$$\tilde{a}_{k}|\tilde{z}_{k}\rangle_{q} = (q^{1/4}\tilde{z}_{k})|\tilde{z}_{k}\rangle_{q}$$
(11)

The \tilde{a}_k obey the q-commutation relations, (1).

Consequently the q-CS's are non-orthogogonal and overcomplete. There are q-analogue generalizations [4,6] of the P-, Q-, and W-phase space representations of quantum optics. However, as we next discuss, there also are important differences in the $|z>_q$ basis for other coherence and uncertainty properties of the q-analogue quantized field³.

³For more details see [6].

2 Fractional Uncertainties in the $|z>_q$ Classical Limit

With the usual definitions $\hat{P} = -i(\hbar\omega/2)^{1/2}(a-a^{\dagger})$, $\hat{Q} = (\hbar/2\omega)^{1/2}(a+a^{\dagger})$, the fractional uncertainties $\frac{\Delta\hat{Q}}{|\langle\hat{Q}\rangle|}$ and $\frac{\Delta\hat{P}}{|\langle\hat{P}\rangle|}$ are of O(1) for $|z| \to \infty$ and

$$< z|[Q,P]|z >= i\hbar < z|[a,a^{\dagger}]|z >= i\hbar < z|\hat{\Lambda}|z >= i\hbar\lambda(z) \ge i\hbar$$
(12)

This defines the resolution operator $\hat{\Lambda} \equiv [a, a^{\dagger}]$. The q-boson "resolution function" ($q = \exp s$, and N(z) is the CS norm.)

$$\lambda(z) \equiv N(z)^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|z|^{2n} \cosh(s(2n+1)/4)}{[n]! \cosh(s/4)}$$
(13)

goes as $(q^{-1/2}-1)|z|^2+1$ as $|z|\to\infty$. This follows because

$$\lambda(z) \equiv \langle z|[N+1]|z\rangle - \langle z|[N]|z\rangle = \left((q^{-1/2} - 1)|z|^2 + (e_q(q^{1/2}|z|^2)/e_q(|z|^2))\right)$$
(14)

Note that $\lambda(z)$ is bounded from above and below.

For the generic q-electromagnetic field, the fractional uncertainties in amp \hat{E} , in amp \hat{B} , and in the "Hermitian" Pegg-Barnett phase operator, $\hat{\phi}_q$, are also of O(1) [7,4,6].

Note⁴ that the quadratic \hat{P}, \hat{Q} single-mode hamiltonian, which has an O(1) fractional uncertainty,

$$H_{\hat{P},\hat{Q}} = (1/2)\hbar\omega(a^{\dagger}a + aa^{\dagger}) = (1/2)(\hat{P}^2 + \omega^2 \hat{Q}^2).$$
(15)

is proportional to the anti-commutator. Hence for $q \neq 1$, $H_{\hat{P},\hat{Q}}$ is not mathematically independent of the basic commutator $\hat{\Lambda} \equiv [a, a^{\dagger}]$ because of the fundamental operator identity

$$(-(i/\hbar)[Q,P]\cosh(s/4))^2 - ((2/\hbar\omega)H_{\hat{P},\hat{Q}}\sinh(s/4))^2 = 1.$$
 (16)

In striking contrast to these O(1) fractional uncertainties, both the usual N operator and the elementary N-Hamiltonian operator

$$H_N = \hbar\omega(N+1/2) \tag{17}$$

possess zero fractional uncertainties as $|z| \to \infty$. Also, H_N does indeed possess the conventional field-theoretic properties of the classic q = 1 Hamiltonian operator.

⁴For $H_{\hat{P},\hat{Q}}$, the energy is not additive for two widely separated systems, violating the usual cluster decomposition "axiom" in quantum field theory. For q-quanta this is not so surprising since the fractional uncertainty in the energy based on $H_{\hat{P},\hat{Q}}$ is O(1) in the $|z\rangle$ basis and the quanta by (1) are compelled to be always interacting, i.e. by exclusion-principle-like q-forces! So it is doubtful that $H_{\hat{P},\hat{Q}}$ permits the usual physical interpretation based on a smooth limit to a conventional, free quantized field.

3 q-Boson Counting Statistics

The physically important [a, a] = 0 implies that the usual Bose-Einstein energy distribution still follows for a free q-boson gas. Note that (9) above does imply a non-degenerate equally-spaced spectrum. On the other hand, the q-CS's do not give a Poisson number distribution for $q \neq 1$ since [2,8]

$$P_n^{q}(z) = |\langle n|z\rangle|^2 = \frac{|z|^{2n}}{[n]!e_q(|z|^2)}.$$
(18)

Note that for $q \neq 1$, $|z|^2$ is the eigenvalue of the deformed number operator, [N], in the $|z\rangle_q$ basis. The mean value of usual number operator N goes as $\langle N \rangle = 2\alpha_q \log |z| + \beta_q$ for $1 < |z|^2 < few100$, where α_q and β_q are q-dependent constants. For fixed $|z|^2$, as q decreases the peak of $P_n^q(z)$ narrows and shifts to smaller n. Therefore, the behavior of the fractional uncertainty $(\Delta N)/\langle N \rangle$ is not very q-dependent.

However, since $\Delta N \to \eta_q$ as $|z| \to \infty$, where η_q is a q-dependent constant for $q \neq 1$, there is the very important signature for q-boson counting statistics that

$$(\Delta N)^2 / < N > \to 0 \tag{19}$$

as $|z| \to \infty$. This is in contrast to a thermal source where the "rhs" of (19) equals $\langle N + 1 \rangle$ for all |z|, and for laser light (and q=1 CS's) where the "rhs" equals "one" as $|z| \to \infty$. So in principle it is possible by q-boson counting experiments to very simply identify a q-boson gas in this limit in spite of the ordinary Bose-Einstein frequency distribution.

4 The q-Analogue of the Pegg-Barnett Phase Operator, ϕ_q

Recall $z = |z| \exp(i\theta)$. While mathematically a hermitian phase operator conjugate to N, or to $[N] \equiv a^{\dagger}a$ does not exist [9], q-generalizations of the phase operators of Susskind-Glogower [9,10] and of Pegg-Barnett [7] have been constructed [4,6]. The q-generalization of the Pegg and Barnett operator⁵ is obtained by introducing a complete, orthonormal basis of (s+1) phase states $|\theta_m >_q = (s+1)^{-1/2} \sum_{m=0}^s \exp(in\theta_m)|n>_q, \theta_m = \theta_0 + 2m\pi/(s+1)$, with $m = 0, 1, \ldots, s$, . These are eigenstates of the respectively hermitian and unitary

$$\hat{\phi}_q \equiv \sum_{m=0}^s \theta_m |\theta_m \rangle < \theta_m| \tag{20}$$

$$\exp(i\hat{\phi}_g) \equiv |0><1|+\dots+|s-1><0|$$
(21)

which is manifestly q-independent and unitary. In the analysis of $SU(2)_q$ Chaichian and Ellinas[11] introduce a polar decomposition operator that is the same as $\exp(i\hat{\phi})_q$ when the reference phase is chosen to be $\phi_R = (s+1)\theta_0$.

For arbitrary q, it still follows that

$$[\cos\hat{\phi}_q, \sin\hat{\phi}_q] = 0 \qquad \cos^2\hat{\phi}_q + \sin^2\hat{\phi}_q = 1 \tag{22}$$

⁵The number-phase properties of the q-generalized SG operators are treated in [6]. For research prior to PB on phase operators in spaces of finite dimension see T.S. Santhanam (*this conference*) and see the two recent general reviews of phase operators [12].

and that $\langle n|\cos^2 \hat{\phi}_q|n \rangle = \langle n|\sin^2 \hat{\phi}_q|n \rangle = 1/2$ for n = 1, 2, ... In particular, the q-boson vacuum state $|0\rangle_q$ has a random phase.

The mean-value of $\hat{\phi}_q$ in the $|z>_q$ basis is

$$\langle \hat{\phi}_q \rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \theta_m \bar{P}_q(\theta_m) d\theta_m = \theta = Arg(z)(23)$$

in terms of the q-boson phase distribution (the conjugate distribution to $P_n^{q}(z)$)

$$\bar{P}_q(\theta_m) = \lim_{s \to \infty} (s+1) | < \theta_m |z >_q |^2$$
(24)

with the normalization $\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \bar{P}_q(\theta_m) d\theta_m = 1$. The variance of the phase operator

$$(\Delta \hat{\phi}_q)^2 \to 1/(2\eta_q)^2 \tag{25}$$

as $|z| \to \infty$, where η_q is the same q-dependent constant found for ΔN as $|z| \to \infty$.

5 Approximate $[N, \hat{\phi}_q] = i$ in $|z >_q$ Classical Limit

Thus, from the reciprocal-dependencies on η_q of ΔN and $\Delta \hat{\phi}_q$, it follows that there are the usual (though approximate) number-phase and energy-phase uncertainty relations

$$\Delta N \,\Delta \hat{\phi}_q \ge 1/2 \qquad \Delta H_N \,\Delta \hat{\phi}_q \ge \hbar \omega/2 \tag{26}$$

In the $|z\rangle_q$ basis, the q-boson phase distribution $\bar{P}_q(\theta_m)$ function also appears in Dirac's approximate number-phase commutation relation

$$\langle z|[N,\hat{\phi}_q]|z\rangle = i - i\,\tilde{P}_q(\theta_0) \tag{27}$$

where θ_0 is the Pegg-Barnett indicial angle used above in (20). So for large |z|, for $q \neq 1$,

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \langle z | [N, \hat{\phi}_q] | z \rangle = i - i \, 2\pi \, \delta_q(\theta - \theta_0) \tag{28}$$

for $\hat{\phi}_q$ eigenvalues from the indicial θ_0 to $(\theta_0 + 2\pi)$. This extra δ_q term is a "bell-shaped" function. This term serves a physical role analogous to that of a smeared "magnetic monopole" string in that it appears in the classical limit to uniquely specify the classical physe angle. For q = 1, the smearing is absent and δ_q is replace by a Dirac-delta-function distribution. This smearing is in agreement with the greater fractional uncertainty of $\hat{\phi}_q$ for $q \neq 1$.

So, neglecting the indicial-referencing term, we conclude that the $|z\rangle_q$ coherent states both give and minimize Dirac's commutation relation, i.e. in $|z\rangle_q$ basis for |z| large

$$[N, \hat{\phi}_q] = i \tag{29}$$

Hence, for the q-boson quantum field the operators N and $\hat{\phi}_q$ are almost canonically conjugate in the $|z\rangle_q$ classical limit. This is in contrast to the extra $\lambda(z)$ "resolution factor" in the commutation relation for the position and momentum operators. Given the physical importance of Dirac's commutation relation to cooperative phenomena in many different fields of physics, it is very encouraging that for arbitrary q values Eq.(29) still holds for the q-boson quantum field [13].

This is based on work with M. Fields. We thank C. Zachos for discussions; R. Lynch and D.T. Pegg for correspondence; the Argonne, Cornell, and Fermilab theory groups for intellectual stimulation; and U.S. Dept. of Energy Contract No. DE-FG 02-86ER40291 for support.

References

- 1. See papers of Faddeev, Kulish, Reshetikhin, Sklyanin, Takhtajan, Drinfeld, and Jimbo; and books on Hopf algebras.
- A. Macfarlane, J. Phys. A22, 4581(1989); L. Biedenharn, J. Phys. A222, L873(1989);
 C.-P. Sun and H.-C. Fu, J. Phys. A22, L983(1989); M. Chaichian and P. Kulish, Phys. Lett. B234, 72(1990); and see M. Arik and D. D. Coon, J. Math. Phys. 17, 4(1976).
- R. W. Gray and C. A. Nelson, J. Phys. A23, L945(1990); A. J. Bracken, D. S. McAnally, R. B. Zhang and M. D. Gould, J. Phys. A24, 1379(1991); B. Jurco, Lett. Math. Phys. 21, 51(1991).
- S.-H. Chiu, R. W. Gray, C. A. Nelson, Phys. Lett. A164, 237(1992); C. A. Nelson, SUNY BING 9/7/92 (to appear in "Sym. in Sci. VI", ed. B. Gruber).
- 5. C. A. Nelson and M. G. Gartley, J. Phys. A27,(1990).
- 6. C. A. Nelson and M. H. Fields, SUNY BING 12/15/93(submitted to Phys. Rev. A).
- 7. D. T. Pegg and S. M. Barnett, Europhys. Lett. 6, 483(1988); J. Mod. Opt. 36, 7(1989).
- 8. V. Buzek, J. Mod. Optics 38, 801(1991).
- 9. L. Susskind and J. Glogower, Physics 1, 49,(1964). W. H. Louisell, Phys. Lett. 7, 60(1963).
- 10. P. Carruthers and M. M. Nieto, Phys. Rev. Lett. 14, 387(1965); Rev. Mod. Phys.40, 411(1968).
- 11. M. Chaichian and D. Ellinas, J. Phys. A23, L291(1990).
- 12. R. Lynch, The Quantum Phase Problem: A Critical Review, (submitted to Phys. Reports); and Phys. Scripta **T48** (1993), eds. W. P. Schleich and S. M. Barnett.
- 13. See related talks by A. Solomon, C. Quesne, V.I. Manko, S. Codriansky, and T.S. Santhanam.

199151

N95-22985

15-21

1.28

AN ALGORITHM FOR THE BASIS OF THE FINITE FOURIER TRANSFORM

T. S. Santhanam Parks College of Saint Louis University Cahokia, Illinois, 62206, U.S.A.

Abstract

The Finite Fourier Transformation matrix (F.F.T.) plays a central role in the formulation of quantum mechanics in a finite dimensional space studied by the author over the past couple of decades. An outstanding problem which still remains open is to find a complete basis for F.F.T. In this paper we suggest a simple algorithm to find the eigenvectors of F.F.T.

Talk presented in the Second International Workshop on Harmonic Oscillators held in Cocoyoc, Mexico during 23-25 March, 1994, to appear in the Proceedings.

I. INTRODUCTION

The finite Fourier transform matrix (F.F.T.) plays a fundamental role in many contexts and has been studied extensively [1-3]. It is central in the discussions on finite dimensional quantum mechanics based on Weyl's commutation relations [4] studied by the author in a series of publications [5]. The eigenvalues of this matrix were determined by Schur [1] and a simple argument to recover this result has been given earlier [6]. The calculation of the eigenvectors is not straightforward and many methods have been given in particular, by Mehta [7]. In Section IV, we present a new algorithm to find the eigenvectors.

11. EIGENVALUES OF S

The F.F.T. matrix S, which is unitary, is defined by

$$S_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \exp\left[\frac{2\pi i}{n} \alpha \beta\right]$$
,

$$\alpha, \beta = 0, 1, 2, \dots n-1$$
 (2.1)

$$i = \sqrt{-1}$$

and has many interesting properties

1)
$$(s^2)_{\alpha\beta} \stackrel{\Xi}{=} I'_{\alpha\beta} \stackrel{=}{=} \delta_{\alpha} + \beta, o$$
 (2.2)
(mod n)

Since $S^2 f_{\alpha} = f_{-\alpha \mod n}$, for a vector f_{α} with n components, S^2 is

called the parity operator

2)
$$(s^4)_{\alpha\beta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$$
 (2.3)

like the usual Fourier transform.

3) The matrix S, which is by definition a symmetric matrix will diagonalize any circulant matrix.

From Equation (?-3), it is clear that the eigenvalues of S are simply ± 1 and $\pm i$. There is then a degeneracy of the eigenvalues. The first problem will be to determine this. Luckily, Equations (2.1)-(2.3) can be repeatedly used to fix this [6]. If k_1 , k_2 , k_3 and k_4 denote the multiplicity of the eigenvalues taken in the order (1, -1, i, -i), Equation (2.1) implies that

Tr S =
$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \left[\exp \frac{2\pi i}{n} \right]^{\ell^2}$$

= $\frac{1}{2} (1 + i) \left[1 + \exp \left(\frac{-i\pi n}{2} \right) \right],$ (2.4)

and hence

Tr S =
$$(k_1 - k_2) + i(k_3 - k_4)$$

= 1 for n = 4k + 1,
= 0 for n = 4k + 2,
= i for n = 4k + 3,
= (1 + i) for n = 4k,
k = 0,1,2,... (2.5)

From Equation (2) we infer that

Tr
$$s^2 = (k_1 + k_2) - (k_3 +$$

= 1 for n odd,
= 2 for n even.

We also have

$$\operatorname{Tr} S^4 = n = k_1 + k_2 + k_3 + k_4.$$

Equations (2.5), (2.6) and (2.7) can be used to solve for k_1 , k_2 , k_3 and k_4 and one finds that

k,)

	n = 4k + 1	n = 4k + 2	n = 4k + 3	n = 4k
^k 1	k + 1	k + 1	k + 1	k + 1
^k 2	k	k + 1	k + 1	k
k ₃	k	k	k + 1	k
k_	k	k	k	k - 1

III. EIGENVECTORS OF S

Let us decompose S into its primitive idempotents as $S = \sum_{j=1}^{4} i^{j} B(j),$

where

$$B(1) = \frac{1}{2}s + \frac{1}{4}(I - I')$$

$$B(2) = -\frac{1}{2}c + \frac{1}{4}(I + I'),$$

$$B(3) = -\frac{1}{2}s + \frac{1}{4}(I - I'),$$

$$B(4) = \frac{1}{2}c + \frac{1}{4}(I + I'),$$

$$(3.2)$$

 $C_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{n} \alpha\beta\right)$

$$s_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{n} \alpha\beta\right),$$

$$\alpha, \beta = 0, 1, 2, \dots n - 1 \tag{3.3}$$

It is easily verified that

$$S B(j) = i^{j} B(j),$$
 (3.4)

thus the nonzero columnus of B(j) yield the eigenvectors of S with eigenvalue i^{j} . Also, in analogy with the standard case, Mehta [7] has been able to express these eigenvectors in terms of Hermite functions with

discrete arguments.

IV. EIGENVECTORS OF S; AN ALTERNATE METHOD

Since the F.F.T. matrix S satisfies Equation (2.1) we construct the matrix [10]

$$T = s^{3} + s^{2} s_{d}^{2} + s s_{d}^{2} + s_{d}^{3}$$
$$= I' (s + s_{d}) + (s + s_{d}) s_{d}^{2}, \qquad (4.1)$$

where

$$S_d = diagonal S.$$
 (4.2)

We find that

$$S T = S (S^{3} + S^{2} S_{d} + S S_{d}^{2} + S_{d}^{3})$$

$$= (I + S^{3} S_{d} + S^{2} S_{d}^{2} + S S_{d}^{3})$$

$$= (S_{d}^{3} + S^{3} + S^{2} S_{d} + S S_{d}^{2}) S_{d}$$

$$= T S_{d}.$$
(4.3)

If T is nonsingular,

.

$$\mathbf{T}^+ \quad \mathbf{S} \ \mathbf{T} \ = \ \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{d}} \tag{4.4}$$

Therefore, the columns of T automatically provide the eigenvectors of S. The degenerate eigenvectors of S corresponding to the repeated eigenvalues can be made orthonormal by using Gram-Schmidt process. This will render T unitary. While the process is quite general, we shall illustrate this for some special cases

$$\frac{\text{case of } |n| = 2}{S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}}, \qquad (4.5)$$

and

$$S_{d} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.6)$$

Since
$$s^2 = s_d^2 = I$$
, (4.7)

We get from Equation (4.1)

$$T = 2 (S + S_d),$$

$$= 2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -1 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.8)

We unitarized matrix of the eigenvectors of S is therefore

$$U_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\sqrt{2}} (\sqrt{2} + 1)} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2} + 1 & 1 \\ & & \\ & & \\ 1 & - (\sqrt{2} + 1) \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.9)

case of n = 3

$$S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & \varepsilon & \varepsilon^{2} \\ 1 & \varepsilon^{2} & \varepsilon \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\varepsilon = \exp \frac{2\pi i}{3} \qquad (4.10)$$

From Equation (2.8) we see that

$$S_{d} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & i \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.11)

one finds from Equation (4.1) that the unitarized matrix of the eigenvectors of S is

$$U_{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2} \sqrt{3} (\sqrt{3} + 1)} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{3} + 1 & \sqrt{2} & 0 \\ 1 & \frac{1 + \sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} & i\sqrt{3} + \sqrt{3} \\ 1 & \frac{1 + \sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} & -i\sqrt{3} + \sqrt{3} \\ 1 & \frac{1 + \sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} & -i\sqrt{3} + \sqrt{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.12)

case of n = 4

In this case we have

se we have

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & i & -1 & -i \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & -i \\ 1 & -i & -1 & i \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.13)

and

$$\mathbf{s}_{d} = \left(\begin{array}{cccccc} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array} \right)$$
(4.14)

It is easily calculated that

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & -1 & 2i \\ 1 & -1 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & -1 & -2i \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.15)

The first two column vectors correspond to the eigenvalue = +1, the third one to -1 and the last to -i.

By a simple use of Gram-Schmidt orthogonalization procedure one can find the unitarized matrix corresponding to the eigenvectors of S as

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is my pleasure to thank Professor Bernardo Wolf for inviting me to the harmonic oscillator conference and the organizers of the conference for their hospitality.

REFERENCES

- [1] I. Schur, Nachr K. Gesell, Wiss. Gobbingen, Math. Phys. <u>K1</u>, 1921,
 147; E. Landau, <u>Elementary Number Theory</u> (Chelsea, New York, 1966),
 p. 207-212.
- [2] B. C. Berndt and R. J. Evans, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. <u>5</u>, 1981, 107;
 see also, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. <u>7</u>, 1982, 441.
- [3] I. J. Good, Am. Math. Month. <u>69</u>, 1962, 259; L. Anslander and R. Tolimieri, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. <u>1</u>, 1979, 847; P. Morton, J. Num. Th., <u>12</u>, 1980, 122; R. Tolimieri, Adv. Appl. Math. <u>5</u>, 1984, 56; Allad. Ramakrishnon, 1972, <u>L. Matrix Theory and the Grammar of Dirac Matrices</u> (Tata McGraw Hill Publishing Co.).
- [4] H. Weyl, <u>Theory of Groups and Quantum Mechanics</u>, (Dover, New York)
 1931, p. 272-280.
- [5] T. S. Santhanam and A. R. Tekumalla, Found. Phys. <u>6</u>, 1976; T. S. Santhanam, <u>Uncertainty Principle and Foundations of Qunatum Mechanics</u>, Eds. W. C. Price and S. S. Chissick; (John Wiley and Sons) 1982, p. 227-243, Physica <u>114A</u>, 445; R. Jagannalthan, T. S. Santhanam and R. Vasudevan, Int. J. Theor. Phys. <u>20</u>, 1981, p. 755.
- [6] T. S. Santhanam and S. Madivanane, preprint IC/82/12, ICTP, Trieste, Italy (unpublished).
- [7] M. L. Mehta, J. Math Phys. 7, 1987, p. 781.
- [8] J. M. Jauch, <u>Foundations of Quantum Mechanics</u> (Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA), Sec. 13.7. See also, K. B. Wolf, 1972, <u>Integral Transforms in</u> <u>Science and Engineering</u>, (Plenum Press, NY).
- [9] See, for instance, F. R. Gantmacher, <u>Matrix Theory</u> (Chelsea, New York, 1959), Vol. I, p. 239.
- [10] This can be easily generalized to $A^{n-1} + A^{n-2} A_d + A^{n-3} A_d^2 + \dots$ + $A A_d^{n-2} + A_d^{n-1}$ for the case of a general involution matrix satisfying the relation $A^n = I$. 248

1995116569

N95-22986

A NOTE ON THE ANGULAR FOURIER TRANSFORMATION

Balu Santhanam The DSP Laboratory School of Electrical Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, Georgia, 30332, U.S.A.

and

T. S. Santhanam Parks College of Saint Louis University Cahokia, Illinois, 62206, U.S.A.

ABSTRACT

It is demonstrated that an angular Fourier transformation is obtained by making a rotation around the non-compact axis of So(2,1), the Lorentz group in three dimensions.

Talk presented by the second author in the Interworkshop on 'Harmonic oscillators' held in Cocoyoc, Mexica during 23-25 March, 1994. To appear in the Proceedings.

I. INTRODUCTION

The conventional fourier transformation has been at the root of quantum mechanics. If \hat{q} , \hat{p} represent the position and momentum self adjoint operators of quantum mechancis, they satisfy the commutation relation *[1]

$$[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = \hat{q} \hat{p} - \hat{p} \hat{q} = i$$
 (1)

It is also well known that this relation implies that

$$(\Delta p)^2 (\Delta q)^2 \geq \frac{1}{4}$$
, (2)

where

$$(\Delta \mathbf{x})_{\mathbf{x}}^2 = \langle \mathbf{x}^2 \rangle - \langle \mathbf{x} \rangle^2 . \tag{3}$$

Equation (1) is known to imply that

$$|p\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp(ipq) |q\rangle dq$$
.

i.e. the basis $|q\rangle$ in which the operator \hat{q} is diagonal is related to the basis in which the operator \hat{p} is diagonal through the Fourier Transform operator \hat{S}

*We use the unit where units $\frac{h}{2\pi}$ = 1, where he is the plank constant

It is also known [2] that the classical fourier transform operator S can be represented as,

$$\hat{S} = \exp\{i \prod\{(\hat{p}^2 + \hat{q}^2)/4 - \frac{1}{4}\}\}, \qquad (5)$$

where \hat{S} is defined as

$$\langle q | \hat{S} \Psi \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp(iqq') \langle q' | \Psi \rangle dq' ,$$
 (6)

where Ψ is the wave function which satisfies the Schröedinger wave euqation [1].

In this paper we show that the conventional fourier transform operator \hat{S} when rotated by an angle θ through the non compact generator Γ_4 of the Lorentz group SO(2,1) yields the Angular Fourier Transformation (AFT). We also analyze the properties of the AFT from this perspective and relate it to the recent work of L. B. Almeida [23] who has derived the AFT from a different point of view.

In Section 2 we summarize the properties of the group SO(2,1). In section 3, we study some properties of the AFT from this perspective and relate this to the work of Almeida. In the last section we offer some conclusions on the discretization of the transform.

II. THE LORENTZ GROUP SO(2,1)

We define the three operators by Γ_4 , Γ_0 , T as

$$\Gamma_{0} = (1/4) \times \{\hat{p}^{2} + \hat{q}^{2}\},$$

$$\Gamma_{4} = (-1/4) \times \{\hat{p}^{2} - \hat{q}^{2}\},$$

$$T = (-1/4) \times \{\hat{q} \ \hat{p} + \hat{p} \ \hat{q}\} = (-1/2) \times \{\hat{p} \ \hat{q} + \frac{i}{2}\}.$$
(7)

It is easily verified that Γ_4 , Γ_0 , T satisfy the following commutation relations.

$$[\Gamma_0, \Gamma_4] = iT , \qquad (8)$$

$$[T, \Gamma_0] = i\Gamma_4 , \qquad (9)$$

$$[\mathbf{T}, \mathbf{\Gamma}_4] = \mathbf{i}\mathbf{\Gamma}_0, \qquad (10)$$

and the Lie algebra so obtained is that of the Lorentz group SO(2,1) in (2+1) dimensions [4]. It is recognized that the classical Fourier Transform operator in Equation (5) can be rewritten as

$$\hat{S} = \exp\{i\Pi(\Gamma_0 - \frac{1}{4})\}$$
 (11)

The generator Γ_4 is called the non compact generator of the Lorentz group SO(2,1), reflecting the fact that it is not bounded in support. From the commutation relations we can verify using Equations (8, 9, 10) that

$$\hat{\kappa}_{\theta}(\hat{p}, \hat{q}) = \exp(i\theta\Gamma_{4}).(\hat{s}).\exp(i\theta\Gamma_{4}), \qquad (12)$$

$$\hat{\kappa}_{\theta}(\hat{p}, \hat{q}) = \exp(-i\frac{\pi}{4}).\exp(\frac{\pi}{4}\sinh\theta).\exp(i\pi\{\{\frac{\hat{p}^{2}+\hat{q}^{2}}{4}\cosh\theta-\{\hat{p},\hat{q}\}\sinh\theta\})$$
(13)

It may also be verified that

$$\langle q | \hat{K}_{\theta} \Psi \rangle = N_{\theta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp(i\{\{\frac{q^2 + q'^2}{2}\} \sinh\theta - \{qq'\}\cosh\theta\}) \langle q' | \Psi \rangle dq', (14)$$

Where N $_{\theta}$ is a normalization constant that is dependent on $\theta.$

If we now set $\sinh\theta = \cot\alpha$ and $\cosh\theta = \csc\alpha$ then we obtain the kernel of L. B. Almeida where the variables are (t,u) instead of (q,q'). Thus the kernel of the AFT gets a meaning as a rotation in the (t,w) plane. The variables (q,q') are the canonical variables and can be substituted with any pair of variables that satisfy equation (1). III. PROPERTIES OF THE ANGULAR FOURIER TRANSFORM

It becomes clear after substituting $\sinh\theta$ = $\cot\alpha$ and $\cosh\theta$ = $\csc\alpha$ that

$$\theta = \ln(\cot(\frac{\alpha}{2})) , \qquad (15)$$

which implies that as $\theta \to \infty$, $\alpha \to 2n\Pi$ and $\theta \to -\infty$, $\alpha \to (2n + 1)\Pi$. With the above identifications our kernel in Equation (13) is identical to that of Almeida who has shown that the kernel exhibits the following properties

(1)
$$K\alpha(t,u) = K\alpha(u,t)$$
, (16)

(2)
$$\int K\alpha(t,u)K^*\alpha(t,u')dt = \delta(u-u'), \qquad (17)$$

(3)
$$\operatorname{Ko}(t,\omega) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\{-it\omega\}$$
 (18)

For further properties use reference [3]. As envisaged in reference [3] the AFT can be applied to the study of frequency swept filters.

IV. CONCLUSIONS

œ

In this paper we have used the properties of the group SO(2,1) to define the AFT as a rotation of the fourier transform operator \hat{S} by an angle 0 through the non compact generator Γ_4 of the group, which will reduce to the conventional Fourier Transform as $\theta \neq \infty$.

The study of a discrete version of this transform and fast algorithms for it's computation is of great interest and has been carried out [5].

253

REFERENCES

- P.A.M. Dirac, The Principles of Quantum Mechanics, Oxford University Press, London (1930).
- [2] See for example,

J. M. Jauch, Foundations of Quantum Mechanics, Addison-Wesley,
Reading, MA. See also,
K. B. Wolf, Integral Transforms in Science and Engineering,
Plenum Press, NY, (1972).

- [3] L. B. Almeida, An Introduction to the Angular Fourier Transform, IEEE III, (1993), p. 253-260.
- [4] See for example,
 A. O. Barut and R. Raczka, Theory of Group Representations and
 Applications, Plan-Polish Scientific Publishers, Warszawa, 1977.
- [5] Balu. Santhanam and J. H. McClellan, preprint, Georgia Institute of Technology, 1994.

254

N95-22987

NEURODYNAMIC OSCILLATORS

1995116570

Ismael Espinosa[†], Hortensia González[‡], Jorge Quiza[†], J.Jesús González[†], Rubén Arroyo[†], and Ritaluz Lara[§]

> †Lab. de Cibernética, Depto. de Física, Fac. de Ciencias, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

‡Lab. de Biofísica, Depto. de Física, Fac. de Ciencias, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

§Instituto Politécnico Nacional, ESIME-Culhuacán

Abstract

Oscillation of electrical activity has been found in many nervous systems, from invertebrates to vertebrates including man. There exists experimental evidence of very simple circuits with the capability of oscillation. Neurons with intrinsic oscillation have been found and also neural circuits where oscillation is a property of the network. These two types of oscillations coexist in many instances. It is nowadays hypothesized that behind synchronization and oscillation there is a system of coupled oscillators responsible for activities that range from locomotion and feature binding in vision to control of sleep and circadian rhythms.

The huge knowledge that has been acquired on oscillators from the times of Lord Rayleigh has made the simulation of neural oscillators a very active endeavor. This has been enhanced with more recent physiological findings about small neural circuits by means of intracellular and extracellular recordings as well as imaging methods. The future of this interdisciplinary field looks very promising; some researchers are going into quantum mechanics with the idea of trying to provide a quantum description of the brain.

In this work we describe some simulations using neuron models by means of which we form simple neural networks that have the capability of oscillation. We analyze the oscillatory activity with root locus method, cross- correlation histograms, and phase planes. In the more complicated neural network models there is the possibility of chaotic oscillatory activity and we study that by means of Lyapunov exponents. The companion paper shows an example of that kind.

1 Introduction

Recent advances in nonlinear dynamics; chaos and fractals have been of great benefit not only in Physics and Mathematics but as well as in the study of the dynamic activity of the brain. These tools allow to characterize neural phenomena that are usually described by means of graphical methods as it is the case of electroencephalography (EEG) and some other similar recordings.

A topic that has pervaded neurophysiology along decades of this century has been the observation of oscillations in external (scalp) EEG. Likewise, oscillations of neuronal activity have been found in extracellular and intracellular electrical recordings in cortical and subcortical areas of the brain of man and animals. These observations of oscillating electrical activity have been described since the works of Mayer, Carlson, and Sherrington in 1906, as well as in the studies of Gray and Lissman in 1950 and in the work of Wilson in 1961 [1]. From then to the eighties there exist many other descriptions in the literature about oscillatory behavior. The common feature of these observations is the lack of a theoretical framework where to place them and the ignorance about the mechanisms and function of oscillatory activity.

In recent years the study of neural oscillation has been renewed applying analytical and computational tools. Among them the more notorious are nonlinear dynamics, spectral analysis, signal processing methods, chaos, and artificial neural networks. On the one hand, these tools allow to characterize neural oscillation in a manner not possible before and, on the other hand, they also allow to model and simulate oscillating phenomena in such a way that it is possible to make inferences about the mechanisms that at the level of neuronal circuits could be responsible of producing, modulating and using the oscillatory capabilities of neurons, neural networks, and neural systems.

It has been said that we do not know what could be the use of oscillations and chaos in the brain [2], but we have the tools to detect and quantify them in such a way that could lead us towards new knowledge and new tools.

2 **Biological Oscillation**

It is well known that oscillatory activity can be detected in the EEG. According to the brain state different oscillatory bands can be defined, namely: delta(1-4 Hz), theta(5-8 Hz), alpha(10 Hz), beta(20-30 Hz) and gamma(30-50 Hz). Beta and gamma bands are related to very active states. If at the same time the activity of neurons is recorded, it is possible to find rhythmic firing that is coherent with the beta or gamma oscillations. The most prominent example of this fact is the discovery by Singer, Gray and others [3] of oscillations of 40 Hz in the cat visual cortex. They recorded the EEG in two different places and found strong coherence between them. At the same time, the firing of neurons recorded in the same locations is rhythmically synchronized with the EEG. Since there is evidence that the features of an object are processed in parallel channels along the visual pathway they think that response synchronization of cortical neurons is a possible mechanism for feature binding in the visual system. This is probably the most important role that has been given to neural oscillation. However, it has to be realized that feature binding is not equivalent to perception.

The hippocampus is another example of oscillation where three different components can be discriminated in the hippocampal EEG: A rhythmic slow activity (RSA) or theta rhythm (with harmonics), an irregular slow activity (ISA) that may be high-amplitude (large irregular activity, LIA) or small-amplitude (small irregular activity, SIA), and fast waves or beta rhythms. It is not known what role, if any, these components play in the hippocampal functioning.

One important question is what neuronal circuits underlie both the generation of rhythmic firing and the oscillations in the EEG. There are single neurons that have the machinery for rhythmic firing and others fire rhythmically due to the properties of the network which they belong to. According to Getting [4] some simple biological circuits employ one of the following arrangements: mutual excitation, recurrent inhibition, reciprocal inhibition, and feedback inhibition. It has been shown that in biological neural systems both ways of producing rhythmic firing are used, even in combination.

3 Models of Oscillation

Modeling is an important tool for understanding biological phenomena. There are several approaches to simulate oscillatory activity. Here we show several examples. In one of them oscillation is produced by the intrinsic properties of a dynamic linear system and in the other two examples the firing pattern depends on the connectivity properties of a simple neural network where single neurons have increasing complexity in their mathematical modeling.



FIG. 1. Model of linear oscillator with complex dynamics. The behavior is dependent on the gain.

For the model in FIG. 1, the upper plot shows the root locus for a fifth order linear model of a dynamic system which in open loop practically behaves as a linear harmonic oscillator due to the dominance of the imaginary poles. Due to its intrinsic characteristics, the open loop response of the model produces a periodic oscillation as shown in the middle plot in FIG. 1. When negative feedback is added to the model, new properties appear, for one, the possibility of two different

types of oscillation. One transient oscillation (continuous curve in lower plot of FIG. 1) when a given gain produces complex poles in the left-hand side of the complex plane, and periodic oscillation (dotted curve in lower plot of FIG. 1) when another gain produces imaginary poles. Notice that the frequency of periodic oscillation is different between the open loop and the closed loop responses. The complexity of responses of a simple model like this can be enriched by adding a nonlinear element in the forward path and a delay in the feedback path. A system like this has been proposed to model the fast rhythm generation in the hippocampus [5].

For the first case of the second example, Net 1, Net 2, and Net 3 shown in FIG. 2 are simple neural networks in which we study the conditions to achieve periodic firing patterns. The neuron models (circles) are not endogenous units: to initiate their activity it is necessary one activating element (fiber).



FIG. 2. Neural networks with periodic firing patterns.

The firing patterns shown in FIG. 3 were obtained by varying the synaptic intensity (weight) in each connection of the network and keeping unaltered other biological parameters. The cross-correlation histograms are useful for inferring functional connectivity and for assessing temporal relations between the firing patterns. In the histograms shown we see an increasing degree of synchronous activity in the firing patterns from Net 1 to Net 3. Actually, in Net 3 we observe a rhythmic oscillation.

For the second case of the second example, the electrical properties of individual neurons are described with Hodgkin-Huxley type voltage and time-dependent ionic currents. Neurotransmitter fluxes are additional state variables in such networks and the action of chemical synapses is modeled by additional kinetic equations. In FIG. 4 and FIG. 5 we show in the left column the firing activity of the neurons and in the right column the phase planes. A single neuron model can fire rhythmically, as exhibited by type 1 neuron in the upper part of FIG. 4, or it can display the apparently chaotic activity seen at the bottom of the figure. The difference between the two models is simply the value of a time-dependent sodium current variable.

We formed a network with recurrent inhibition like the one in Net 3 (see FIG. 2). In FIG. 5 we show the activity of the neurons in the ring-network. When type 1 neurons are used, the individual activities remain rhythmic, By contrast, when type 2 neurons are used in the network the activity becomes rhythmic in all three neurons, which is made more evident in the corresponding phase plane plots. The overall behavior of the second network is different from the behavior of the single components.



FIG. 3. Firing patterns and cross-correlation histograms for nets of Fig.2. From left to right, the histograms show the cross-correlation between neurons 1-2, 2-3, and 3-1, respectively. The weights between neurons 1-2, 2-3, and 3-1 are: 10, 4, 5 for Net 1; 5/-6, 12/-6, 5/-6 for Net 2; and -12, -16, -24 for Net 3. Negative weights indicate inhibitory connections.



FIG 4. Examples of activity in single neurons. Type 1 neuron shows a periodic attractor while type 2 neuron exhibits an apparently chaotic attractor.



FIG. 5. Neuron activity in a ring-net similar to Net 3 of FIG. 2. Type 1 neurons were used for the first net and type 2 for the second one. Type of neuron notwith-standing all neurons display a rhythmic activity in the net.

4 Concluding Remarks

As it happens in High-Energy Physics where powerful colliders allow to look for new elementary particles, in Neuroscience, instruments like Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and Positron-Emitted Toniography (PET), allow to look for unknown mechanisms involved in normal brain functioning. However, unlike Physics, Neuroscience does not possess theoretical frameworks with the power of Quantum Theory and Classical Mechanics, that is, there is not a brain theory which could embrace the evidence provided by experiments at the molecular level as well as at the system level.

Many neuroscientists think that understanding of the mechanisms underlying perception, memory, learning and consciousness will require a quantum theory framework which would include nonlinear dynamics and chaos [6].

For example, brain waves and neuromuscular systems have attracted the use of harmonic analysis and feedback control theory since the times of Wiener [7] and Ashby [8]. In the same line but in a different field was Hebb with his reberveratory circuits [9]. They were using these tools as a mathematical characterization of macro-events in physiological systems. More recently, in trying to understand special mechanisms in the organization of Elelogical neural networks, the theory of feedback has been brought to light again, namely by Humphrey [10] and by Edelman [11] with his idea of reentrant loops. In including negative or positive feedback in a system the conditions for oscillation are highly likely.

On the other hand, Penrose [12] has argumented that consciousness will not be understood on a computational basis, but it will require a fuller understanding of quantum mechanics, specifically the application of micro quantum mechanics to macro events [13]. However, Crick remarks that Penrose considers physics incomplete because there is as yet no theory of quantum gravity and hopes that an adequate theory of it might explain consciousness but he is very vague as to how it might do so [14]. On the side of perception, Pribram describes works which propose a quantum neurodynamics based on the Schröedinger equation and also a neural wave equation akin to Schröedinger's. He also mentions that Heisenberg matrices have been identified as instruments for the evolution of group structures, a process shown capable of accounting for the neural processes entailed in the perception of objects [6]. It is agreed at this time that all the hypotheses on consciousness are very vague as to exactly what is crucial for it and the same can be said about perception.

It is important to notice that a single neuron has a great molecular complexity [15]. However, it is in neural nets and systems of nets where higher brain functions are supposed to take place [14]. Moreover, advances in molecular neurobiology point to the place where two neurons communicate -called the synapse- as very important for higher brain functions, mainly the events that occur at the dendritic tree and the dendritic spines which are the sites that have the molecular machinery (receptors and channels) for receiving the molecules of neurotransmitter coming from the sending neuron. These phenomena could be studied by means of coupled harmonic oscillators as it has been done for finding soluble models in molecular physics [16]. After all, it was the great quantum theorist Schröedinger whose lectures in Dublin, when published in 1944 with the title "What Is Life?", had a major influence on the development of molecular biology [13]. In that book Schröedinger had one question and one answer: "How can the events in space and time which take place within the spatial boundary of a living organism be accounted for by physics and chemistry? The obvious inability of present-day physics and chemistry to account for such events is no reason at all for doubting that they can be accounted for by those sciences." [17].

Acknowledgments

This project is being supported by DGAPA IN-100593 UNAM.

References

- [1] T. H. Bullock, History of Neuroscience Lecture, Society for Neuroscience 23th. Annual Meeting, Washington, D. C. (1993).
- [2] W. J. Freeman, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 2, 451 (1992).
- [3] W. Singer, Ann. Rev. Physiol. 55, 349 (1993).
- [4] P. Getting, Neural Control of Rhythmic Movements in Vertebrates (Wiley, 1988).
- [5] L. S. Leung, J. Neurophysiol. 47, 845 (1982).
- [6] K. Pribram, IBRO News 21, 10 (1993).
- [7] N. Wiener, Cybernetics or Control and Communication in the Animal and the Machine (MIT Press, 1948).
- [8] W. R. Ashby, Design for a Brain (Chapman and Hall Ltd, 1952).
- [9] D. O. Hebb, Organization of Behavior (Wiley, 1949).
- [10] N. Humphrey, A History of the Mind: Evolution and the Birth of Consciousness (Simon & Schuster, 1992).
- [11] G. M. Edelman, The Remembered Present: A Biological Theory of Consciousness (Basic Books, 1989).
- [12] R. Penrose, The Emperor's New Mind (Oxford University Press, 1989).
- [13] L. O'Neill, M. Murphy, and R. B. Gallagher, Science 263, 181 (1994).
- [14] F. Crick, The Astonishing Hypothesis (Charles Scribner's Sons, 1994).
- [15] I. B. Levitan, L. K. Kaczmarek, *The Neuron: Cell and Molecular Biology* (Oxford University Press, 1991).
- [16] D. Han, Y. S. Kim, M. E. Noz, and L. Yeh, J. Math. Phys. 34, 5493 (1993).
- [17] E. Schröedinger, What Is Life? (Cambridge Univ. Press, 1944).

1995116571

N95-22988

11F

LYAPUNOV EXPONENTS FROM CHUA'S CIRCUIT TIME SERIES USING ARTIFICIAL NEURAL NETWORKS

J.Jesús González F., Ismael Espinosa E., and Lab. de Cibernética, Depto. de Física, Fac. de Ciencias Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

> Alberto Fuentes M. Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

Abstract

In this paper we present the general problem of identifying if a nonlinear dynamic system has a chaotic behavior. If the answer is positive the system will be sensitive to small perturbations in the initial conditions which will imply that there is a chaotic attractor in its state space. A particular problem would be that of identifying a chaotic oscillator. We present an example of three well known different chaotic oscillators where we have knowledge of the equations that govern the dynamical systems and from there we can obtain the corresponding time series. In a similar example we assume that we only know the time series and, finally, in another example we have to take measurements in the Chua's circuit to obtain sample points of the time series. With the knowledge about the time series the phase plane portraits are plotted and from them, by visual inspection, it is concluded whether or not the system is chaotic. This method has the problem of uncertainty and subjectivity and for that reason a different approach is needed. A quantitative approach is the computation of the Lyapunov exponents. We describe several methods for obtaining them and apply a little known method of artificial neural networks to the different examples mentioned above. We end the paper discussing the importance of the Lyapunov exponents in the interpretation of the dynamic behavior of biological neurons and biological neural networks.

1 Introduction

In the companion paper [1] we described some findings about biological oscillators that have been presented in the recent literature. We also showed some examples of oscillator models. Here we want to review some models of chaotic oscillators with the goal of extending the analysis to time series (trains of action potentials) coming from biological oscillators where there are some hints that they are chaotic.

There are many experimental situations where there is no idea of what the mathematical model of a system could be or where the form of the equations is known but the parameters are unknown. There is an extensive literature about methods for systems identification but they are

ORIGINAL PAGE IS OF POOR QUALITY usually limited to linear models. Since the conditions for chaotic behavior arise from the presence of nonlinear elements, the use of linear methods is limited.

In recent years there have been many advances in the understanding of nonlinear dynamic systems and that has produced many methods for identifying whether or not a given system is chaotic. For testing these methods various simple chaotic systems have been discovered or invented. In some of them the equations that govern the system are well known but in others only some sort of approximation is known. In the former case, it is possible to generate the corresponding time series with very high approximation, in the latter case, the measurements yield a sampled version of the corresponding time series. Having at hand the equations and the time series, or at least the time series, it is possible, in very different ways, to compute the asymptotic properties of the system. Two measures are used for this: the Lyapunov exponents in which a positive one indicates chaotic dynamics, and the attractor's topological dimension which indicates topological characteristics and is directly related to the number of non-negative Lyapunov exponents [2].

It is usual to ascertain the existence of chaotic dynamic by means of visual inspection of the phase plane portrait. However, such method presents a considerable amount of uncertainty and subjectiveness. Taking that into account, it is important to have a quantitative method like the one provided by the computation of the Lyapunov exponents.

2 Lyapunov Exponents

To determine if a system possess chaotic dynamics it is necessary to know if it is sensitive to small perturbations on the initial conditions. When this occurs it is then impossible to predict the final state of the system after a finite time. To be able of characterizing a chaotic attractor it is necessary to establish quantitative measures concerning the sensitivity to initial conditions. The spectrum of Lyapunov exponents gives a method of quantifying the dynamics. The Lyapunov exponents describe the average rate of growing or shrinking of small perturbations in different directions in the state space. When the attractor has at least one positive exponent then it has the property of being sensitive to the initial conditions and it is called a chaotic attractor.

There are several methods for computing the Lyapunov exponents. Wolf *et al.* [3] were the first in suggesting a method to compute them directly from the time series, without knowing the equations that govern the system's dynamics. Kurths and Herzel [4] proposed another algorithm. However, in these algorithms the estimations are sensitive to the number of observations, to the sampling frequency and to the noise in the observations [3]. Trying to avoid these problems, Gencay and Dechert [5] designed an algorithm that computes the *m* Lyapunov exponents from an unknown *m*-dimensional dynamic system directly from a few observations on the attractor, in such a way that the estimation is robust even for certain amount of noise. This algorithm is based on a result by Hornik *et al.* [6] in which they show that the *m* Lyapunov exponents of a diffeomorphism that is topologically conjugate to the process that generates the data, are also the *m* Lyapunov exponents of that process. To obtain a robust estimation considering both few observations on the attractor and the presence of noise, Gencay and Dechert [5] applied artificial neural networks with a cascade architecture. Such procedure is a non-parametric estimation that Hornik *et al.* [6] [7] have shown to be universal approximators, that is, they can asymptotically approximate a function and its derivatives.

3 Computation of the Lyapunov Exponents

The Lyapunov exponents are constants, except for a zero-measure set, and describe the direction of nearby paths that converge or diverge in the state space of a dynamic system. The Lyapunov exponents λ_i are defined as the logarithm of the eigenvalues $\mu_i \forall i = 1, 2, \dots, m$ of the symmetric positive matrix

$$\Lambda_x = \lim_{t \to \infty} \left[Y(\mathbf{x}; t)^{tr} Y(\mathbf{x}; t) \right]^{1/2t},\tag{1}$$

where the matrix Y is dependent on the differential equation that characterizes the dynamical system. A direct application of the above definition is not practical since the Y matrix grows exponentially due to the fast convergence of the columns in the direction of greater expansion. Using topological properties and an appropriate QR decomposition, the Lyapunov exponents are found by computing

$$\lambda_{i} = \frac{1}{\Delta t} \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \ln\left(R_{ii}^{j}\right), \qquad (2)$$

where R_{ii} are the diagonal elements of the triangular matrix R.

An alternative to the aforementioned algorithm is the use of neural networks which are capable of recovering a nonlinear map from a time series of iterates [8]. Here an unknown function is estimated and then it is possible to compute the Lyapunov exponents using the properties of the dynamic system [5].



FIG. 1. Phase Plane Portraits for the Logistic Map, the Hénon Map, and the Lorenz System.

4 Examples of chaotic oscillators

To be able of testing the effectiveness of the Lyapunov exponents one has to have at hand dynamical systems with proved chaotic behavior. Many mathematical model systems are known, for instance: Hénon, Rossler-chaos, Lorenz, Rossler- hyperchaos, Mackey-Glass, and others [3]. Physical model systems are more difficult to produce, however we have the Belousov-Zhabotinsky chemical reaction [9] and Chua's nonlinear circuit family [10]. Obviously, there are real physical chaotic systems but they are extremely complex as it is the case of atmospheric turbulence.

True Lyapunov Exponents				
Logistic map	Hénon map	Lorenz system		
0.673	0.440	1.51		
	-1.620	0.00		
		-22.5		
$x_{t+1} = \mu x_t (1 - x_t)$	$x_t = 1 - ax_t^2 + y_t$	$\dot{x} = a(x - y)$		
	$y_t = bx_t$	$\dot{y} = x(b-z) - y$		
		$\dot{z} = xy - cz$		
$x_0 = 0.3, \mu = 4.0$	$x_0 = 0.1, y_0 = 0.0$	$x_0 = 0.0, y_0 = 1.1, z_0 = 0.0$		
	a = 1.4, b = 0.3	a = 16.0, b = 45.92, c = 4.0		

TABLE I. True Lyapunov Exponents, equations representing the chaotic systems, initial conditions and parameters.

TABLE II. Estimated Lyapunov Exponents. Logistic Map (q = 5, T = 100). Hénon Map (q = 10, T = 200). Lorenz System (q = 15, T = 1000). The error is less than 1×10^{-3} . The non-spurious Lyapunov exponents are shown in boldface.

Estimated Lyapunov Exponents					
p	Logistic map	Hénon map	Lorenz system		
1	0.6794				
2	0.6401	0.3670			
	-6.7823	-1.5673			
3	0.6350	0.4502	1.7285		
	-2.4378	-1.7331	0.0411		
	-2.4930	-2.8164	-23.72		
4	0.6434	0.4119	1.5910		
	-1.61106	-1.4803	-0.0710		
	-1.7342	-3.3658	-20.973		
	-5.0200	-5.2263	-80.325		
5	0.6790	0.4385	1.4799		
	-0.9073	-1.5473	0.0067		
	-1.3544	-1.4859	-20.977		
	-1.8468	-1.7651	-60.702		
	-3.2313	-2.5605	-92.584		

We divided this section of examples in three parts. In the first part the ordinary differential equations for the Lorenz model were integrated using the SDRIV2 subroutines form Kahaner *et al.* [12]. For the QR decomposition use used the subroutines in [13]. In the second and third parts we computed the Lyapunov exponents by means of the neural networks approach [5].

For the first part of the section we show the results of computing the Lyapunov exponents for mathematical model systems with well known chaotic dynamics [3] [5] [8]. We computed the Lyapunov exponents for the Logistic Map, for the Hénon map and for the Lorenz system [3] [5]. The corresponding phase plane portraits are shown in FIG. 1, and the equations, parameters and computed true values of the Lyapunov exponents are shown in TABLE I above.

For the second part of the section we show the results when we assume that for the same chaotic systems than above, the equations are not known, only the time series. In TABLE II we show the computed Lyapunov exponents where the presence of one positive exponent indicates that the system is chaotic.

According to the established notation for neural network architectures [11], p represents the number of nodes in the input layer and q represents the number of nodes in the hidden layer. The output layer has one node. The error is the quadratic average summation of the differences between the real and the estimated values for the time series, being T the total number of sample points in the sequence.

For the third part of the section we show the results obtained when we used a nonlinear circuit of the Chua's family with the parameters, components and initial conditions shown in FIG. 2. The temporal series was acquired by means of a digital storage scope, the x-coordinate is the voltage in the linear capacitor C1 and the y-coordinate is the voltage in the linear capacitor C2. A part of the phase plane portrait is also shown in FIG. 2, from it the temporal series was obtained using a sampling frequency of 500 Hz.



FIG. 2. Nonlinear Circuit of the Chua's Family and a part of its phase plane portrait that was plotted using as state variables the voltages in the capacitors C1 and C2. The phase plane portrait changes when the parameters in the circuit are varied between the limits denoted in the diagram.

The estimated Lyapunov exponents for the Chua's circuit are shown in TABLE III, when using the estimation for q = 15 and T = 2500. The error was less than 5×10^{-2} . Notice that λ_1 is a positive exponent which means that the dynamic behavior of the circuit is chaotic, as expected.

Es	Estimated Lyapunov Exponents		
p	Chua's Circuit		
$\frac{1}{3}$	$\lambda_1 = +4.07216$		
	$\lambda_2 = -0.32160$		
	$\lambda_3 = -3.58462$		

TABLE III. Estimated Lyapunov Exponents for the Chua's Circuit.

5 Concluding Remarks

We have shown well known examples of mathematical models of chaotic attractors: Logistic, Hénon, and Lorenz. We also showed an electronic model of a chaotic attractor: a circuit of the Chua's family. In all these examples we computed the Lyapunov exponents as a measure of the system's sensitivity to small perturbations in the initial conditions. For the example where we know the equations we used the standard method; for the other two examples, we used the method of Gencay and Dechert [5] that applies a neuronal network algorithm. We went from the easier examples to the difficult one, that is, the Chua's circuit where the time series is obtained from direct measurements in the circuit. In the former examples the true values of the Lyapunov exponents are known whereas in the Chua's circuit the Lyapunov exponents are estimated and to this has to be added the differences or variations, for any reason, in the parameters for the circuit's components. The justification for such trouble is that in a real chaotic system there is a complexity even worse that in the electronic model. Therefore, the circuit provides a very valuable experience that afterwards can benefit the understanding of the real chaotic attractor.

Recent experimental evidence points to biological neurons and biological neural networks as very likely sources of chaotic attractors. As in the case of chaotic chemical reactions the biological significance given to such behavior is speculative [9] [14]. Nevertheless, the application of the techniques described in this paper might be very useful for interpreting data from neurophysiological experiments where the electrical activity from many neurons is recorded simultaneously.

Similar to Chua's circuit situation, due to the usual difficult conditions of neurophysiological experimentation, in a biological neural network we can only obtain a short duration record of the compound time series (train of action potentials). The individual time series have to be separated and that procedure produces and additional source of uncertainty and every tool available for interpreting the results is welcomed [15].

As a very simple example (for details see companion paper [1]) let us consider the rhythmic firing single neuron (1) shown in the upper plot in FIG. 3. This time series was obtained from the simulation of a mathematical model for a single neuron and two of its phase plane portraits for two different physiological parameters (V - f, V - h) chosen as state variables show very clearly the possibility of chaotic behavior. In the lower plot in FIG. 3 we show another simulation of the rhythmic firing of a neuron (2) that belongs to a recurrent-ring network composed of single neurons like the ones given in (1). From the two phase plane portraits we cannot conclude that the neuron (2) in the network is chaotic and the conclusion about neuron (1) required of an expert. This ambiguity can be surmounted if the Lyapunov exponents are computed for these
time series and from there the importance of making such calculations and having experimental testing circuits for improving the confidence in the results.



FIG. 3. (1) Rhytmically firing single neuron. (2) Rhytmically firing neuron belonging to a network formed with type (1) neurons.

On the other hand, in biological experiments there are problems similar to the ones present when making measurements in the Chua's circuit. When doing an extracellular recording, the duration of it is limited to a few minutes and afterwards a considerable amount of preprocessing is required to get to the individual contribution of each neuron recorded [16] [17]. The calculation of the Lyapunov exponents for these individual contributions could be added to help understanding the functional role of oscillatory neurons and oscillatory networks. That is the work that we are about to pursue.

Acknowledgments

We thank Jorge Quiza for reading and making suggestions for improving this paper. A scholarship granted by CONACYT to J.Jesús González is gratefully acknowledged. This work is being supported by DGAPA Project IN100593-UNAM.

References

- I. Espinosa, H. González, J. Quiza, J.J. González, R. Arroyo, and R. Lara, Proc. 2nd Harmonic Oscillators Workshop, (1994).
- [2] N. H. Packard, J. P. Crutchfield, J. D. Farmer, and R. S. Shaw, Phys. Rev. Lett. 45, 712 (1980).
- [3] A. Wolf, B. Swift, J. Swinney, and J. Vastano, Phys. D 16, 285 (1985).
- [4] J. Kurths and H. Herzel, Phys. D 25, 165 (1987).
- [5] R. Gencay and W. D. Dechert, Phys. D 59, 142 (1992).

- [6] K. Hornik, M. Stinchcombe, and H. White, Neural Networks 3, 551 (1990).
- [7] K. Hornik, M. Stinchcombe, and H. White, Neural Networks 2, 359 (1989).
- [8] A. R. Gallant and H. White, Neural Networks 5, 129 (1992).
- [9] D. Ruelle, in T. Kapitaniak (Ed.), Chaotic Oscillators: Theory and Applications (World Scientific, 1992).
- [10] S. Wu, Proc. IEEE 75, 1022 (1987).
- [11] R. P. Lippmann, IEEE ASSP Magazine 4(2), 4 (1987).
- [12] D. Kahaner, C. Moler, and S. Nash, Numerical Methods and Software (Prentice Hall, 1989).
- [13] J. J. Dongarra, J. R. Bunch, C. B. Moler, and G. W. Stewart, LINPACK User's Guide (SIAM, Philadelphia, 1979).
- [14] W. J. Freeman, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 2, 451 (1992).
- [15] I. Espinosa and G. L. Gerstein, Brain Res. 450, 39 (1988).
- [16] G. L. Gerstein and A. Aertsen, J. Neurophysiol. 54, 1513 (1985).
- [17] G. L. Gerstein, D. H. Perkel, and J. E. Dayhoff, J. Neurosci. 5, 881 (1985).

145116572

N95-22989

122-07

A METHOD OF SOLVING SIMPLE HARMONIC OSCILLATOR SCHRÖDINGER EQUATION.

Juan Carlos Maury F. Departamento de Física, Universidad Nacional. Heredia, Costa Rica.

Abstract

A usual step in solving totally Schrödinger equation is to try first the case when dimensionless position independent variable w is large. In this case the Harmonic Oscillator equation takes the form $(d^2/dw^2 - w^2)F = 0$, and following W.K.B. method, it gives the intermediate corresponding solution $F = \exp(-w^2/2)$, which actually satisfies exactly another equation, $(d^2/dw^2 + 1 - w^2)F = 0$.

We apply a different method, useful in anharmonic oscillator equations, similar to that of Rampal and Datta [1], and although it is slightly more complicated however it is also more general and systematic.

After some arrangements Schrödinger equation for a simple harmonic oscillator is set as in (1):

$$(d^2/du^2 + c_0 - c_2 u^2)N(u) = 0$$
⁽¹⁾

$$\hbar^2 c_0 = 2mE \qquad \hbar^2 c_2 = (m\omega_0)^2$$
 (2)

where c_0 and c_2 are the parameters of the differential equation, u = x - a is the distance from the particle to the point where potential energy is a minimum, ω_0 is the classical angular frequency of the movement, E is the total energy and N is the probability amplitude for the particle to be found at u. In a very common procedure, (1) is first transformed to equation (3), in which w is a dimensionless independent variable, obtained by the mathematical manipulation (4):

$$(d^2/dw^2 + b - w^2)f(w) = o$$
(3)

$$w^2\hbar = m\omega_0 u^2 \qquad \hbar\omega_0 b = 2E \tag{4}$$

Some authors [2] get the solution of (3) for large w as a decaying exponential function of w/2, by means of the W.K.B. method, which is a factor in the total wave function.

But others [3] simply propose the change of dependent variable (5) without mentioning the W.K.B. method:

$$f = \exp(-w^2/2)P(w) \tag{5}$$

And a few ones [4] consider that the dominant term, when w is large, is w^2 and they write (6) with b = 0 as an approximation of (3); and assert that (7) are its solutions:

$$(d^2/dw^2 - w^2)F = 0 (6)$$

$$F = \exp(\pm w^2/2) \tag{7}$$

But after choosing the negative sign in (7), for the good behaviour of F, it is easy to demonstrate that (7) does not satisfy (6), and rather satisfies (3) when b = 1. We will use a method whose intermediate steps at all stages are correct.

Starting with (1), the Ansatz ($\overline{8}$) is composed of two factors: P that gives information of the zeros of N, and G:

$$N = \exp(-G)P \tag{8}$$

Non linear equation (9) is obtained from (8) and (1), with unknowns P and G:

$$[P'' - 2P'G'] + [(G')^2 - G'']P = [-c_0 + c_2 u^2]P$$
(9)

$$[(G')^2 - G''] = -c_0(0) + c_2 u^2$$
⁽¹⁰⁾

(' means derivative with respect to u).

If P is an n degree polynomial P_n , then for n = 0, P_0 is a constant, and (10) is a non-linear equation with only one unknown. By watching (10) it is noticed that (11) is the solution of (10) if constraints (12) hold:

$$G = \beta u^2 \tag{11}$$

$$4\beta^2 = c_2 \qquad 2\beta = c_0(0) \tag{12}$$

The first eigenvalue E(0) can be obtained from (2) and (12). Consequently, (13) is the solution of the Schrödinger equation for n = 0; βu^2 as the argument of the exponential function must be dimensionless:

$$N = f_0 = P_0 \exp(-\beta u^2)$$
(13)

Therefore w becomes a dimensionless variable and (1) is transformed into (7), and taking into account (12):

$$w^2 = \alpha \beta u^2 \tag{14}$$

$$[d^2/dw^2 + c_0(n)/\alpha\beta - 4w^2/\alpha^2]f_n(w) = 0$$
⁽¹⁵⁾

(15) is precisely (3), with $b(n) = c_0(n)/\alpha\beta$, and $b(0) = c_0(o)/\alpha\beta = 2/\alpha$.(16) is the correct solution of (15) and (17) is the differential equation of the polynomial P_n :

$$N_n = P_n \exp(-w^2/2)$$
(16)

$$[d^2/dw^2 - (4w/\alpha)d/dw + 2(b-1)/\alpha]P_n = 0$$
⁽¹⁷⁾

For $\alpha = 2$ and b(n) = 2n + 1, (17) is the equation of Hermite, and $P_n = H_n$ are Hermite's polynomials. The energy eigenvalues can easily be obtained.

The Simple Harmonic Oscillator Schrödinger equation is perhaps the known differential equation with the most accurate solution. It would not be worthy to obtain that solution again, if methodological aspects are not taken into account. If a physicist plans to work in problems related to differential equations, it is useful to give her (him) general and powerful methods. As the Simple Harmonic Oscillator is the first approximation to many physical models, and one of the first problems with which the students are put into contact, it is good to take advantage of methods that can be used in better approximations to more complex physical models, and more exact formulations, as relativistic ones for instance. The author has made a review of the relativistic and non-relativistic isotropic harmonic oscillators, and uniform magnetic fields [5], using this method. With polar coordinates and centrifugal potentials, other polynomials depending on two quantum numbers, and one extra factor are the solutions of the radial equations. First the author had used the method in solving anharmonic rectilinear oscillators, and anharmonic isotropic oscillator equations [6], and continues working further these topics. In all those cases mentioned, and here, we consider that writing equations (9) and (10), is the most important step that permits to find the solution for large w, and the independent dimensionless variable.

References

- [1] A. Rampal and K. Datta, J.Math.Phys. 24, 860 (1983).
- [2] D. Bohm, Quantum Theory(Prentice-Hall, 1961)
- [3] E. Merzbacher, Quantum Mechanics (John Wiley and Sons, 1970)
- [4] E. Anderson, Modern Physics and Quantum Mechanics (W.B. Saunders Co., 1971)
- [5] J. Maury, Comparación Sistemática de Ecuaciones Diferenciales de Osciladores Armónicos y Acoples Mínimos. (To be sent for publication).
- [6] J. Maury and J. Páez, Sobre Algunas Ecuaciones Para Osciladores Cuánticos (Memorias del Tercer Congreso Nacional de Matemáticas, Costa Rica, Editor Angel Ruiz, 1990)

1995116573

N95-22990

80

WIGNER DISTRIBUTION FUNCTION AND ENTROPY OF THE DAMPED HARMONIC OSCILLATOR WITHIN THE THEORY OF OPEN QUANTUM SYSTEMS

A. Isar

Department of Theoretical Physics, Institute of Atomic Physics Bucharest-Magurele, POB MG-6, Romania e-mail address: isar@ifa.ro

(Presented by G. Nemes)

Abstract

The harmonic oscillator with dissipation is studied within the framework of the Lindblad theory for open quantum systems. By using the Wang-Uhlenbeck method, the Fokker-Planck equation, obtained from the master equation for the density operator, is solved for the Wigner distribution function, subject to either the Gaussian type or the δ -function type of initial conditions. The obtained Wigner functions are two-dimensional Gaussians with different widths. Then a closed expression for the density operator is extracted. The entropy of the system is subsequently calculated and its temporal behaviour shows that this quantity relaxes to its equilibrium value.

1 Introduction

In the last two decades, the problem of dissipation in quantum mechanics, i.e. the consistent description of open quantum systems, was investigated by various authors [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]. Because dissipative processes imply irreversibility and, therefore, a preferred direction in time, it is generally thought that quantum dynamical semigroups are the basic tools to introduce dissipation in quantum mechanics. In the Markov approximation the most general form of the generators of such semigroups was given by Lindblad [6]. This formalism has been studied for the case of damped harmonic oscillators [7, 8, 9] and applied to various physical phenomena, for instance, the damping of collective modes in deep inelastic collisions in nuclear physics [10] and the interaction of a two-level atom with the electromagnetic field [11].

In the present work, also dealing with the damping of the harmonic oscillator within the Lindblad theory for open quantum systems, we will explore the physical aspects of the Fokker-Planck equation which is the *c*-number equivalent equation to the master equation for the density operator. Generally the master equation gains considerably in clarity if it is represented in terms of the Wigner distribution function which satisfies the Fokker-Planck equation. It is worth mentioning that these master and Fokker-Planck equations agree in form with the corresponding equations formulated in quantum optics [12, 13, 14, 15, 16]. The content of the paper is arranged as follows. In Sec. 2 we review the derivation of the master equation of the harmonic oscillator. In Sec. 3 we transform the master equation into the Fokker-Planck equation by means of the well-known methods [17, 18, 19]. Then the Fokker-Planck equation for the Wigner distribution, subject to either the Gaussian type or the δ -function type of initial conditions, is solved by the Wang-Uhlenbeck method. Sec. 4 derives an explicit form of the density operator involved in the Lindblad master equation, formulates the entropy using the explicit form of the density operator and discusses its temporal behaviour. Finally, concluding remarks are given in Sec. 5.

2 Master equation for the damped harmonic oscillator

The rigorous formulation for introducing the dissipation into a quantum mechanical system is that of quantum dynamical semigroups [2, 3, 6]. According to the axiomatic theory of Lindblad [6], the usual von Neumann-Liouville equation ruling the time evolution of closed quantum systems is replaced in the case of open systems by the following equation for the density operator ρ :

$$\frac{d\Phi_t(\rho)}{dt} = L(\Phi_t(\rho)). \tag{1}$$

Here, Φ_t denotes the dynamical semigroup describing the irreversible time evolution of the open system in the Schrödinger representation and L the infinitesimal generator of the dynamical semigroup Φ_t . Using the structural theorem of Lindblad [6] which gives the most general form of the bounded, completely dissipative Liouville operator L, we obtain the explicit form of the most general time-homogeneous quantum mechanical Markovian master equation:

$$\frac{d\rho(t)}{dt} = L(\rho(t)) = -\frac{i}{\hbar} [H, \rho(t)] + \frac{1}{2\hbar} \sum_{j} ([V_j \rho(t), V_j^+] + [V_j, \rho(t)V_j^+]).$$
(2)

Here H is the Hamiltonian of the system and the operators V_j and V_j^+ are bounded operators on the Hilbert space of the Hamiltonian.

We should like to mention that the Markovian master equations found in the literature are of this form after some rearrangement of terms, even for unbounded Liouville operators. In this connection we assume that the general form of the master equation given by (2) is also valid for unbounded Liouville operators.

In this paper we impose a simple condition to the operators H, V_j, V_j^+ that they are functions of the basic observables \hat{q} and \hat{p} of the one-dimensional quantum mechanical system (with $[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar$) of such kind that the obtained model is exactly solvable. A precise version for this last condition is that linear spaces spanned by first degree (respectively second degree) noncommutative polynomials in \hat{q} and \hat{p} are invariant to the action of the completely dissipative mapping L. This condition implies [7] that V_j are at most first degree polynomials in \hat{q} and \hat{p} and H is at most a second degree polynomial in \hat{q} and \hat{p} . Then the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian H is chosen of the form

$$H = H_0 + \frac{\mu}{2}(\hat{q}\hat{p} + \hat{p}\hat{q}), \quad H_0 = \frac{1}{2m}\hat{p}^2 + \frac{m\omega^2}{2}\hat{q}^2.$$
(3)

With these choices the Markovian master equation can be written [8]:

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = -\frac{i}{\hbar} [H_0, \rho] - \frac{i}{2\hbar} (\lambda + \mu) [\hat{q}, \rho \hat{p} + \hat{p} \rho] + \frac{i}{2\hbar} (\lambda - \mu) [\hat{p}, \rho \hat{q} + \hat{q} \rho]
- \frac{D_{pp}}{\hbar^2} [\hat{q}, [\hat{q}, \rho]] - \frac{D_{qq}}{\hbar^2} [\hat{p}, [\hat{p}, \rho]] + \frac{D_{pq}}{\hbar^2} ([\hat{q}, [\hat{p}, \rho]] + [\hat{p}, [\hat{q}, \rho]]),$$
(4)

where D_{pp} , D_{qq} and D_{pq} are the diffusion coefficients and λ the friction constant. They satisfy the following fundamental constraints [8]:

i)
$$D_{pp} > 0$$
, ii) $D_{qq} > 0$, iii) $D_{pp}D_{qq} - D_{pq}^2 \ge \frac{\lambda^2 \hbar^2}{4}$. (5)

In the particular case when the asymptotic state is a Gibbs state

$$\rho_G(\infty) = e^{-\frac{H_0}{kT}} / \mathrm{Tr} e^{-\frac{H_0}{kT}},\tag{6}$$

these coefficients reduce to

$$D_{pp} = \frac{\lambda + \mu}{2} \hbar m \omega \coth \frac{\hbar \omega}{2kT}, \quad D_{qq} = \frac{\lambda - \mu}{2} \frac{\hbar}{m\omega} \coth \frac{\hbar \omega}{2kT}, \quad D_{pq} = 0, \tag{7}$$

where T is the temperature of the thermal bath.

3 Wigner distribution function

One useful way to study the consequences of the master equation (4) for the density operator of the one-dimensional damped harmonic oscillator is to transform it into more familiar forms, such as the equations for the *c*-number quasiprobability distributions Glauber P, antinormal ordering Q and Wigner W associated with the density operator [20]. In this case the resulting differential equations of the Fokker-Planck type for the distribution functions can be solved by standard methods [17, 19, 21] employed in quantum optics and observables directly calculated as correlations of these distribution functions.

The Fokker-Planck equation, obtained from the master equation and satisfied by the Wigner distribution function $W(x_1, x_2, t)$ of real variables x_1, x_2 corresponding to the operators \hat{q}, \hat{p}

$$x_1 = \sqrt{\frac{m\omega}{2\hbar}}q, \quad x_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\hbar m\omega}}p,$$
 (8)

has the form [20]:

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial t} = \sum_{i,j=1,2} A_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} (x_j W) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1,2} Q_{ij}^W \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} W, \tag{9}$$

where

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda - \mu & -\omega \\ \omega & \lambda + \mu \end{pmatrix}, \quad Q^{W} = \frac{1}{\hbar} \begin{pmatrix} m\omega D_{qq} & D_{pq} \\ D_{pq'} & D_{pp}/m\omega \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (10)

Since the drift coefficients are linear in the variables x_1 and x_2 and the diffusion coefficients are constant with respect to x_1 and x_2 , Eq. (9) describes an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process [22, 23]. Following the method developed by Wang and Uhlenbeck [23], we shall solve this Fokker-Planck equation, subject to either the wave-packet type or the δ -function type of initial conditions.

1) When the Fokker-Planck equation is subject to a Gaussian (wave-packet) type of the initial condition $(x_{10} \text{ and } x_{20} \text{ are the initial values of } x_1 \text{ and } x_2 \text{ at } t = 0$, respectively)

$$W_w(x_1, x_2, 0) = \frac{1}{\pi \hbar} \exp\{-2[(x_1 - x_{10})^2 + (x_2 - x_{20})^2]\},\tag{11}$$

the solution is found to be

$$W_w(x_1, x_2, t) = \frac{\Omega}{\pi \hbar \omega \sqrt{|B_w|}} \exp\{-\frac{1}{B_w} [\phi_w(x_1 - \bar{x}_1)^2 + \psi_w(x_2 - \bar{x}_2)^2 + \chi_w(x_1 - \bar{x}_1)(x_2 - \bar{x}_2)]\}, (12)$$

where

$$B_{\omega} = g_1 g_2 - \frac{1}{4} g_3^2, \quad g_1 = g_2^* = \frac{\mu a}{\omega} e^{2\Lambda t} + \frac{d_1}{\Lambda} (e^{2\Lambda t} - 1), \quad g_3 = 2[e^{-2\lambda t} + \frac{d_2}{\lambda} (1 - e^{-2\lambda t})], \tag{13}$$

$$\phi_w = g_1 a^{*2} + g_2 a^2 - g_3, \ \psi_w = g_1 + g_2 - g_3, \ \chi_w = 2(g_1 a^* + g_2 a) - g_3(a + a^*).$$
(14)

We have put $a = (\mu - i\Omega)/\omega$, $\Lambda = -\lambda - i\Omega$ and $d_1 = (a^2 m \omega D_{qq} + 2a D_{pq} + D_{pp}/m\omega)/\hbar$, $d_2 = (m \omega D_{qq} + 2\mu D_{pq}/\omega + D_{pp}/m\omega)/\hbar$ and $\Omega^2 = \omega^2 - \mu^2$. The functions \bar{x}_1 and \bar{x}_2 , which are also oscillating functions, are given by

$$\bar{x}_1 \stackrel{!}{=} e^{-\lambda t} [x_{10}(\cos\Omega t + \frac{\mu}{\Omega}\sin\Omega t) + x_{20}\frac{\omega}{\Omega}\sin\Omega t], \tag{15}$$

$$\bar{x}_2 = e^{-\lambda t} [x_{20}(\cos\Omega t - \frac{\mu}{\Omega}\sin\Omega t) - x_{10}\frac{\omega}{\Omega}\sin\Omega t].$$
(16)

2) If the Fokker-Planck equation (9) is subject to the δ -function type of initial condition, the Wigner distribution function is given by

$$W(x_1, x_2, t) = \frac{\Omega}{\pi \hbar \omega \sqrt{|B|}} \exp\{-\frac{1}{B} [\phi_d(x_1 - \bar{x}_1)^2 + \psi_d(x_2 - \bar{x}_2)^2 + \chi_d(x_1 - \bar{x}_1)(x_2 - \bar{x}_2)]\}, \quad (17)$$

where

$$B = f_1 f_2 - f_3^2, \quad f_1 = f_2^* = \frac{d_1}{\Lambda} (e^{2\Lambda t} - 1), \quad f_3 = \frac{d_2}{\lambda} (1 - e^{-2\lambda t}), \tag{18}$$

$$\phi_d = f_1 a^{*2} + f_2 a^2 - 2f_3, \quad \psi_d = f_1 + f_2 - 2f_3, \quad \chi_d = 2[f_1 a^* + f_2 a - f_3 (a + a^*)]. \tag{19}$$

So, the Wigner functions are 2-dimensional Gaussian distributions with the average values \bar{x}_1 and \bar{x}_2 and different widths.

When time $t \to \infty$, \bar{x}_1 and \bar{x}_2 vanish and we obtain the steady state solution:

$$W(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\det\sigma^W(\infty)}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1,2} (\sigma^W)_{ij}^{-1}(\infty) x_i x_j\right].$$
 (20)

The stationary covariance matrix $\sigma^{W}(\infty)$ can be determined from the algebraic equation

$$A\sigma^{W}(\infty) + \sigma^{W}(\infty)A^{\mathrm{T}} = Q^{W}.$$
(21)

4 Entropy and effective temperature

Entropy is a quantity which may be visualized physically as a measure of the lack of knowledge of the system. When we denote by $\rho(t)$ the density operator in the Schrödinger picture for the harmonic oscillator, the entropy S(t) is given by

$$S(t) = -k \operatorname{Tr}(\rho \ln \rho). \tag{22}$$

For calculating the entropy we shall compute straightway the expectation value of the logarithmic operator $\langle \ln \rho \rangle = \text{Tr}(\rho \ln \rho)$. Accordingly, the problem amounts to derive the explicit form of the density operator for the damped harmonic oscillator.

To get the explicit expression for the density operator, we use the relation $\rho = 2\pi\hbar N\{W_s(q,p)\}$, where W_s is the Wigner distribution function in the form of standard rule of association and Nis the normal ordering operator [17, 24] which acting on the function $W_s(q,p)$ moves all p to the right of the q. By the standard rule of association is meant the correspondence $p^m q^n \rightarrow \hat{q}^n \hat{p}^m$ between functions of two classical variables (q, p) and functions of two quantum mechanical canonical operators (\hat{q}, \hat{p}) . The calculation of the density operator is then reduced to a problem of transformation of the Wigner distribution function by the N operator, provided that W_s is known. A special care is necessary for the N operation when the Wigner function is in the exponential form of a second order polynomial of q and p. The Wigner distribution function previously obtained corresponds however to the form of the Weyl rule of association [25]. The solution (12) of the Fokker-Planck equation (9), subject to the wave-packet type of initial condition (11) can be written in terms of the coordinate and momentum as:

$$W(q, p, t) = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\delta}} \exp\{-\frac{1}{2\delta} [\phi(q - \langle \hat{q} \rangle)^2 + \psi(p - \langle \hat{p} \rangle)^2 - 2\chi(q - \langle \hat{q} \rangle)(p - \langle \hat{p} \rangle)]\}, \quad (23)$$

where

$$\langle \hat{q} \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{2\hbar}{m\omega}} \tilde{x}_1, \quad \langle \hat{p} \rangle = \sqrt{2\hbar m\omega} \tilde{x}_2, \quad (24)$$

$$\phi \equiv \sigma_{pp} = \langle \hat{q}^2 \rangle - \langle \hat{q} \rangle^2 = -\frac{\hbar\omega^2}{4\Omega^2} \frac{1}{m\omega} \psi_w,, \qquad (25)$$

$$\psi \equiv \sigma_{qq} = \langle \hat{p}^2 \rangle - \langle \hat{p} \rangle^2 = -\frac{\hbar\omega^2}{4\Omega^2} m\omega\phi_w, \qquad (26)$$

$$\chi \equiv \sigma_{pq}(t) = \frac{1}{2} < \hat{q}\hat{p} + \hat{p}\hat{q} > - < \hat{q} > < \hat{p} > = \frac{\hbar\omega^2}{8\Omega^2}\chi_w, \quad \delta = \phi\psi - \chi^2$$
(27)

and $\langle \hat{A} \rangle = \text{Tr}(\rho \hat{A})$ denotes the expectation value of an operator \hat{A} . The Wigner distribution function (23) can be transformed into the form of standard rule of association [26] by

$$W_s(q,p) = \exp(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\frac{\partial^2}{\partial p\partial q})W(q,p).$$
(28)

Upon performing the operation on the right-hand side, we get the Wigner distribution function W_s , which has the same form as the original W multiplied by \hbar but with $\chi - i\hbar/2$ in place of χ . The normal ordering operation of the Wigner function W_s in Gaussian form can be carried out by applying McCoy theorem [24, 27, 28]. The explicit form of the density operator is the following:

$$\rho = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{\xi}} \exp\left[\frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{\xi}{\xi - i\hbar\chi'} - \frac{1}{2\hbar\sqrt{\xi - i\hbar\chi' + \frac{1}{4}\hbar^2}} \cosh^{-1}(1 + \frac{\hbar^2}{2(\xi - i\hbar\chi')}) \times \left\{\phi(\hat{q} - \langle \hat{q} \rangle)^2 + \psi(\hat{p} - \langle \hat{p} \rangle)^2 - (\chi' + i\frac{\hbar}{2})[2(\hat{q} - \langle \hat{q} \rangle)(\hat{p} - \langle \hat{p} \rangle) - i\hbar]\right\}\right],$$
(29)

where

$$\xi = \phi \psi - \chi^{\prime 2}, \quad \chi^{\prime} = \chi - i \frac{\hbar}{2}. \tag{30}$$

The density operator (29) is in a Gaussian form, as was expected from the initial form of the Wigner distribution function. While the density operator is expressed in terms of operators \hat{q} and \hat{p} , the Wigner distribution is a function of real variables q and p. When time t goes to infinity, the density operator approaches to

$$\rho(\infty) = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{\sigma - \frac{\hbar^2}{4}}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2\hbar\sqrt{\sigma}} \ln\frac{2\sqrt{\sigma} + \hbar}{2\sqrt{\sigma} - \hbar} [\sigma_{pp}(\infty)\hat{q}^2 + \sigma_{qq}(\infty)\hat{p}^2 - \sigma_{pq}(\infty)(\hat{q}\hat{p} + \hat{p}\hat{q})]\right], \quad (31)$$

where $\sigma = \sigma_{pp}(\infty)\sigma_{qq}(\infty) - \sigma_{pq}^2(\infty)$ and [8]:

$$\sigma_{pp}(\infty) = \frac{1}{2\lambda(\lambda^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2)} ((m\omega)^2 \omega^2 D_{qq} + (2\lambda(\lambda - \mu) + \omega^2) D_{pp} - 2m\omega^2(\lambda - \mu) D_{pq}), \quad (32)$$

$$\sigma_{qq}(\infty) = \frac{1}{2(m\omega)^2 \lambda (\lambda^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2)} ((m\omega)^2 (2\lambda(\lambda + \mu) + \omega^2) D_{qq} + \omega^2 D_{pp} + 2m\omega^2 (\lambda + \mu) D_{pq}), (33)$$

$$\sigma_{pq}(\infty) = \frac{1}{2m\lambda(\lambda^2 + \omega^2 - \mu^2)} (-(\lambda + \mu)(m\omega)^2 D_{qq} + (\lambda - \mu)D_{pp} + 2m(\lambda^2 - \mu^2)D_{pq}).$$
(34)

In the particular case (7)

$$\sigma_{qq}(\infty) = \frac{\hbar}{2m\omega} \coth \frac{\hbar\omega}{2kT}, \ \sigma_{pp}(\infty) = \frac{\hbar m\omega}{2} \coth \frac{\hbar\omega}{2kT}, \ \sigma_{pq}(\infty) = 0$$
(35)

and the asymptotic state is a Gibbs state (6):

$$\rho_G(\infty) = 2\sinh\frac{\hbar\omega}{2kT}\exp[-\frac{1}{kT}(\frac{1}{2m}\hat{p}^2 + \frac{m\omega^2}{2}\hat{q}^2)].$$
(36)

Because of the presence of the exponential form in the density operator, the construction of the logarithmic density is straightforward. In view of the relations (25-27), the expectation value of the logarithmic density becomes

$$<\ln\rho> = \ln\hbar - \frac{1}{2}\ln(\delta - \frac{\hbar^2}{4}) - \frac{\sqrt{\delta}}{\hbar}\ln\frac{2\sqrt{\sigma} + \hbar}{2\sqrt{\sigma} - \hbar}.$$
(37)

By putting $\hbar \nu = \sqrt{\delta} - \hbar/2$, we finally get the entropy in a closed form:

$$S(t) = k[(\nu+1)\ln(\nu+1) - \nu\ln\nu].$$
(38)

It is worth noting that the entropy depends only upon the variance of the Wigner distribution. When time $t \to \infty$, the function ν goes to $s = \omega (d_2^2/\lambda^2 - |d_1|^2/(\lambda^2 + \Omega^2))^{1/2}/2\Omega - 1/2$ and the entropy relaxes to its equilibrium value $S(\infty) = k[(s+1)\ln(s+1) - s\ln s]$. It should also be noted that the expression (38) has the same form as the entropy of a system of harmonic oscillators in thermal equilibrium. In the later case ν represents, of course, the average of the number operator [29]. While the formal expression (38) for the entropy has a well-known appearance, the form of the function ν displays clearly a specific feature of the present entropy. We see that the time dependence of the entropy is represented by the damping factor $\exp(-2\lambda t)$ and also by the oscillating function $\sin^2(\Omega t)$. The entropy relaxes to its equilibrium value $S(\infty)$.

5 Concluding remarks

Recently we assist to a revival of interest in quantum Brownian motion as a paradigm of quantum open systems. There are many motivations. The possibility of preparing systems in macroscopic quantum states led to the problems of dissipation in tunneling and of loss of quantum coherence (decoherence). These problems are intimately related to the issue of quantum-to-classical transition. All of them point the necessity of a better understanding of open quantum systems and all requires the extension of the model of quantum Brownian motion. The Lindblad theory provides a selfconsistent treatment of damping as a possible extension of quantum mechanics to open systems. In the present paper we have studied the one-dimensional harmonic oscillator with dissipation within the framework of this theory. From the master equation of the damped quantum oscillator we have derived the corresponding Fokker-Planck equation in the Wigner Wrepresentation. The obtained equation describes an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process. By using the Wang-Uhlenbeck method we have solved this equation for the Wigner function, subject to either the Gaussian type or the δ -function type of initial conditions and showed that the Wigner functions are two-dimensional Gaussians with different widths. Then we have obtained the density operator. The density operator in a Gaussian form is a function of \hat{q}, \hat{p} in addition to several time dependent factors. The explicit form of the density operator has been subsequently used to calculate the entropy. It relaxes to its equilibrium value.

References

[1] R. W. Hasse, J. Math. Phys. 16, 2005 (1975)

- [2] E. B. Davies, Quantum Theory of Open Systems (Academic Press, New York, 1976)
- [3] H. Spohn, Rev. Mod. Phys. 52, 569 (1980)
- [4] H. Dekker, Phys. Rep. 80, 1 (1981)
- [5] K. H. Li, Phys. Rep. 134, 1 (1986)
- [6] G. Lindblad, Commun. Math. Phys. 48, 119 (1976)
- [7] G. Lindblad, Rep. Math. Phys. 10, 393 (1976)
- [8] A. Sandulescu and H. Scutaru, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 173, 277 (1987)
- [9] A. Sandulescu, H. Scutaru and W. Scheid, J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 20, 2121 (1987)
- [10] A. Isar, A. Sandulescu and W. Scheid, J. Phys. G Nucl. Part. Phys. 17, 385 (1991)
- [11] A. Sandulescu and E. Stefanescu, Physica A 161, 525 (1989)
- [12] G. S. Agarwal, Phys. Rev. A 4, 739 (1971)
- [13] C. W. Gardiner and M. J. Collet, Phys. Rev. A 31, 3761 (1985)
- [14] C. M. Savage and D. F. Walls, Phys. Rev. A 32, 2316 (1985)
- [15] T. A. B. Kennedy and D. F. Walls, Phys. Rev. A 37, 152 (1988)
- [16] N. Lu, S. Y. Zhu and G. S. Agarwal, Phys. Rev. A 40, 258 (1989)
- [17] W. H. Louisell, Quantum Statistical Properties of Radiation (Wiley, New York, 1973)
- [18] H. Haken, Rev. Mod. Phys. 47, 67 (1975)
- [19] C. W. Gardiner, Handbook of Stochastic Methods (Springer, Berlin, 1982)
- [20] A. Isar, W. Scheid and A. Sandulescu, J. Math. Phys. 32, 2128 (1991)
- [21] H. Risken, The Fokker-Planck Equation (Springer, Berlin, 1984)
- [22] G. E. Uhlenbeck and L. S. Ornstein, Phys. Rev. 36, 823 (1930)
- [23] M. C. Wang and G. E. Uhlenbeck, Rev. Mod. Phys. 17, 323 (1945)
- [24] R. M. Wilcox, J. Math. Phys. 8, 962 (1967)
- [25] H. Weyl, The Theory of Group and Quantum Mechanics (Dover, New York, 1950)
- [26] C. L. Mehta, J. Math. Phys. 5, 677 (1964)
- [27] J. E. Moyal, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 45, 99 (1949)
- [28] S. Jang, Physica A 175, 420 (1991)
- [29] G. S. Agarwal, Phys. Rev. A 3, 828 (1971)

199916574

2:2-17

10P

N95- 22991

The relativistic many body problem with an oscillator interaction

M. Moshinsky *

Instituto de Física,

Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Mexico, Apdo. Postal 20 364, México 1000, D.F., México.

Abstract

We start with the total energy E for a system of three scalar relativistic particles that, because of Einstein's relation, will have square roots of functions of the momenta. By taking powers of this relation, we finally get a fourth degree polynomial in E^2 , where the square roots have disappeared, and which we can convert into a type of Schroedinger equation. To be in the center of mass frame we pass to Jacobi momenta and then replace them by creation and annihilation operators. We thus get an equation in terms of the generators of a U(2) group, which, in principle, we can solve in an elementary way. Finally we rewrite our equation in a Poincaré invariant form.

1 Introduction

In the II Harmonic Oscillator Conference I presented a paper dealing with systems of relativistic particles interacting through Dirac oscillators. The results were later applied to the mass spectra of baryons and mesons [1,2,3].

As all the results presented had already been published I prefer to deal in this paper with a new approach, restricted here to scalar particles, that seems to me a systematic way to attack many body problems with oscillator interactions.

^{*}Member of El Colegio Nacional

I will start by considering a non relativistic problem of n free particles and indicate the steps by which later it can be reduced to a system with oscillator interactions, which will serve as a model for the relativistic problem we wish to analyze.

2 The non-relativistic problem

Let us first start with a system of n free non-relativistic particles of the same mass m, and take units

$$\hbar = m = c = 1, \tag{2.1},$$

where the velocity of light will appear only in the next section, but we want to start from the beginning with units in which everything is dimensionless.

The classical total energy is then

$$E = (1/2) \sum_{s=1}^{n} \mathbf{p}_s \cdot \mathbf{p}_s$$
(2.2)

where \mathbf{p}_s are the three dimensional classical momentum vectors of particle s.

From the beginning we would like to work in the center of mass frame, because our interest will be the internal energy of the system and not the contribution from its center of mass motion. The best way to achieve this is to pass to Jacobi coordinates [4] defined by the orthogonal transformation

$$\mathbf{p}'_{s} = [s(s+1)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[\sum_{t=1}^{s} \mathbf{p}_{t} - s\mathbf{p}_{s+1} \right], s = 1, 2, \dots n - 1,$$
(2.3*a*)

$$\mathbf{p}'_{n} = n^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{t=1}^{s} \mathbf{p}_{s}, \tag{2.3b}$$

Clearly \mathbf{p}'_n is proportional to the total momentum and in the center of mass system it will vanish, so Eq. (2.2) reduces to

$$E = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{s=1}^{n-1} \mathbf{p}'_s \cdot \mathbf{p}'_s$$
(2.4)

The Schroedinger equations corresponding to (2.4) is obtained when we replace \mathbf{p}'_s by the operator

$$\mathbf{p}'_{s} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}'_{s}},\tag{2.5}$$

with \mathbf{x}'_s being the corresponding Jacobi coordinate vector. As the \mathbf{p}'_s are hermitian operators we can also write Schroedinger equation as

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{s=1}^{n-1} \left(\mathbf{p}_s^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_s^{\prime} \right) \psi = E\psi$$
(2.6)

We can easily transform this into an hermitian oscillator operator equation if we make the replacement

$$\mathbf{p}'_{s} \to \mathbf{p}'_{s} - i\omega \mathbf{x}'_{s}, \qquad (2.7a)$$

$$\mathbf{p}_s^{\prime\dagger} \to \mathbf{p}_s^\prime + i\omega \mathbf{x}_s^\prime, \tag{2.7b}$$

where the second equation follows from the first as both $\mathbf{p}'_s, \mathbf{x}'_s$ are hermitian operators.

Thus we now get a Schroedinger equation of the form

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{s=1}^{n-1} \left[p_s^{\prime 2} + \omega^2 x_s^{\prime 2} - (3/2)\omega(n-1) \right] \psi = E\psi, \qquad (2.8)$$

whose eigenvalue for the energy E will be

$$E = \omega N, \tag{2.9}$$

with N being the total number of quanta *i.e.*

$$N = \sum_{s=1}^{n-1} \nu_s.$$
 (2.10)

The previous analysis is standard except for the fact that we start from a system of n free particles. Furthermore our notation in terms of three vectors and Jacobi coordinates, avoids the worry about the Galilean invariance of the whole procedure. We will now consider a similar set of steps for a relativistic problem.

3 The system of three relativistic particles

Rather than discuss the system of n relativistic particles, we shall restrict ourselves to n = 3, as we will see that the case is general enough, with only the algebraic steps becoming more complicated as n increases.

In our units the total energy for a system of three free relativistic particles can be written as

$$E = \pm \Pi_1 \pm \Pi_2 \pm \Pi_3,$$
285
(3.1)

where $\Pi_s, s = 1, 2, 3$ is defined as

$$\Pi_s = (p_s^2 + 1)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.2)

It is very important to note that, in our units, Einstein relation is $E^2 = p^2 + 1$, and when reduced to the *E* itself gives both the square root in (3.2) and the \pm signs in (3.1).

Obviously we can not get a Schroedinger equation from the relation (3.1), but we can take $\pm \Pi_3$ to the right hand side and square both sides. Then we can square again and again appropriately, and we easily arrive at the fact that (3.1) becomes an eight degree equation in E (actually of fourth degree in E^2) of the form

$$\Phi(E^2, \Pi_s^2) \equiv E^8 - 4AE^6 + (4A^2 + 2B)E^4 - (4C^2 + 4AB)E^2 + B^2 = 0$$
(3.3)

where A, B, C are functions of $\Pi_s^2, s = 1, 2, 3$ given by

$$A \equiv \Pi_1^2 + \Pi_2^2 + \Pi_3^2, \tag{3.4a}$$

$$B \equiv \Pi_1^4 + \Pi_2^4 + \Pi_3^4 - 2\Pi_1^2 \Pi_2^2 - 2\Pi_2^2 \Pi_3^2 - 2\Pi_1^2 \Pi_3^2, \qquad (3.4b)$$

$$C^2 \equiv 16\Pi_1^2 \Pi_2^2 \Pi_3^2. \tag{3.4c}$$

Now we can write an equation that does not have E as an eigenvalue, but in which it appears as a parameter, if we replace \mathbf{p}_s by $-i\partial/\partial \mathbf{x}_s$ as in (2.5), so that Π_s^2 become the operators

$$\hat{\Pi}_{s}^{2} = (-\nabla_{s}^{2} + 1), \tag{3.5}$$

and we get

$$\Phi(E^2, \hat{\Pi}_s^2)\psi = 0 \tag{3.6}$$

Thus far we have obtained nothing useful because $\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2, \mathbf{p}_3$ considered as operators of the form (2.5), commute with the operator Φ and so are integrals of motion, so that ψ can be written as

$$\psi = \exp[i(\mathbf{p}_i \cdot \mathbf{x}_1 + \mathbf{p}_2 \cdot \mathbf{x}_2 + \mathbf{p}_3 \cdot \mathbf{x}_3)], \qquad (3.7)$$

where now $\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{p}_2, \mathbf{p}_3$ are ordinary numbers and we are returned to equation (3.3) whose eight roots for the energy E are obviously given by (3.1) with all the possible combination of the signs \pm .

Before proceeding further, along the lines of the previous section, we again remark that we would like to work in the center of mass frame, as our interest is restricted to the internal energy of the system. Thus we go, as in section 2, to the Jacobi momenta $\mathbf{p}'_s, s = 1, 2, 3$ which from (2.3) are given now by the matrix relation

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{p}_{1}' \\ \mathbf{p}_{2}' \\ \mathbf{p}_{3}' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} & -\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{p}_{1} \\ \mathbf{p}_{2} \\ \mathbf{p}_{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.8)

As the matrix is orthogonal, transposing it we get \mathbf{p}_s in terms of \mathbf{p}'_s , and as we want to be in the center of mass frame $\mathbf{p}'_3 = 0$, so we get finally

$$\mathbf{p}_{1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\mathbf{p}_{1}' + \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\mathbf{p}_{2}', \mathbf{p}_{2}' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\mathbf{p}_{1}' - \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\mathbf{p}_{2}', \mathbf{p}_{3} = -\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\mathbf{p}_{2}', \quad (3.9)$$

As Eq. (3.6) contains only powers of $\hat{\Pi}_s^2$, s = 1, 2, 3, we can write the latter using the hermitian property of \mathbf{p}'_s , now considered as operators of the type (2.6), as

$$\hat{\Pi}_{1}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime} + \frac{1}{6}\mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}(\mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime} + \mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime}) + 1, \qquad (3.10a)$$

$$\hat{\Pi}_{2}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime} + \frac{1}{6}\mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime} - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}(\mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime} + \mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{1}^{\prime}) + 1, \qquad (3.10b)$$

$$\hat{\Pi}_{3}^{2} = \frac{2}{3}\mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{2}^{\prime} + 1$$
(3.10c)

The interesting point is to introduce the oscillator interaction, exactly as in the replacement we made in (2.7) in the non-relativistic problem. For notational purposes we introduce the creation and annihilation operators

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}_{s} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\omega^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{x}_{s}^{\prime} - i \omega^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{p}_{s}^{\prime} \right), s = 1, 2, \qquad (3.11a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}_{s} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\omega^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{x}_{s}' + i \omega^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{p}_{s}' \right), s = 1, 2, \qquad (3.11b)$$

so that the relations (2.7) can be written as

$$\mathbf{p}'_{s} \to -i\omega^{\frac{1}{2}}\sqrt{2}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{s}, \qquad (3.12a)$$

$$\mathbf{p}_{s}^{\prime\dagger} \to i\omega^{\frac{1}{2}}\sqrt{2}\boldsymbol{\eta}_{s}, \qquad (3.12b)$$

Under this replacement the $\hat{\Pi}_s^2$ operators become then

$$\hat{\Pi}_{1}^{2} = \omega [C_{11} + \frac{1}{3}C_{22} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(C_{12} + C_{21})] + 1$$
(3.13a)
287

$$\hat{\Pi}_2^2 = \omega [C_{11} + \frac{1}{3}C_{22} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(C_{12} + C_{21})] + 1$$
(3.13b)

$$\hat{\Pi}_3^2 = \frac{4}{3}\omega C_{22} + 1, \tag{3.13c}$$

where the operator C_{st} , s, t = 1, 2 are defined by

$$C_{st} = \boldsymbol{\eta}_s \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_t \tag{3.14}$$

From the fact that

$$[\xi_{it},\eta_{js}] = \delta_{ij}\delta_{st} ; \ i,j = 1,2,3 ; \ s = 1,2,$$
(3.15)

we have the commutation relations

$$[C_{st}, C_{s't'}] = C_{st'}\delta_{s't} - C_{s't}\delta_{st'}, \qquad (3.16)$$

and thus they are generators [5] of a U(2) group. Therefore the operators $\hat{\Pi}_1^2$, $\hat{\Pi}_2^2$, $\hat{\Pi}_3^2$, appearing in the equation (3.6), are linear functions of the generators of this group.

To obtain from Eq.(3.6) the eigenvalues of the energy for this relativistic oscillator problem we can proceed as follows: First we note that the first order Casimir operator of U(2) group is

$$\hat{N} = C_{11} + C_{22},\tag{3.17}$$

and that it has an SU(2) subgroup whose generators are

$$\hat{F}_{+} \equiv C_{12},$$
 (3.18*a*)

$$\hat{F}_o \equiv (\frac{1}{2})(C_{11} - C_{22}), \tag{3.18b}$$

$$\hat{F}_{-} \equiv C_{21}, \tag{3.18c}$$

with a corresponding Casimir operator of the form

$$\hat{F}^2 \equiv \hat{F}_- \hat{F}_+ + \hat{F}_o(\hat{F}_o + 1). \tag{3.19}$$

The \hat{N} , \hat{F}^2 by definition commute with all C_{st} and among themselves, so from (3.13), they will be integrals of motion of the operator $\Phi(E^2, \Pi_s^2)$. Thus the eigenstates of the Eq. (3.6) can be characterized by the eigenvalues of \hat{N} , \hat{F}^2 which we denote respectively by

$$N, f(f+1)$$
 (3.20)

with f taking the values (N/2, (N/2) - 1), down to 1/2 or 0 depending on whether N is odd or even.

Another operator that commutes with \hat{N}, \hat{F}^2 is obviously \hat{F}_o and we shall designate its eigenvalue by

$$\nu = f, f - 1, \dots, -f, \tag{3.21}$$

so the eigenstates associated with $\hat{N}, \hat{F}^2, \hat{F}_o$ could be represented by the ket

$$|Nf\nu\rangle, \tag{3.22}$$

and the solution ψ of Eq. (3.6) is necessarily a linear combination of these kets *i.e.*

$$\psi = \sum_{\nu = -f}^{f} a_{\nu} | Nf\nu >, \qquad (3.23)$$

as \hat{N}, \hat{F}^2 are integrals of motion.

To obtain the eigenvalues of the internal energy E as function of N, f we need first to consider the matrix elements of the operator Φ of (3.6) in the basis (3.22) *i.e.*

$$< Nf\nu' |\Phi(E^2, \hat{\Pi}_s^2)| Nf\nu >, \qquad (3.24)$$

which from (3.13), (3.17), (3.18) is a straightforward, but laborious, calculation of the type familiar in angular momentum theory, as the group there is also SU(2).

To get the internal energy

$$E(N, f, \alpha), \tag{3.25}$$

with α indicating the rest of the indices, we need to evaluate the determinant of the $(2f + 1) \times (2f + 1)$ matrix whose elements are (3.24) and equate it to zero. This gives us a numerical equation of degree 4(2f + 1) in the variable E^2 and its solution provides us with values indicated symbolically in (3.25).

As our purpose is to provide the *method* of solution for the internal energy of relativistic three body oscillator problem, we will only carry the calculation of (3.24) for the single case when

$$N = f = \nu = 0 \tag{3.26}$$

which implies that

$$<000|\hat{\Pi}_{s}^{2}|000>=1, s=1,2,3$$
(3.27)

and so A, B, C^2 in (3.4) become respectively

$$A = 3, \qquad B = -3, \qquad C^2 = 16,$$
 (3.28)
289

and the equation for the energy is given by

$$E^8 - 12E^6 + 30E^4 - 28E^2 + 9 = 0, (3.29)$$

whose four roots for E^2 are $E^2 = 1$, repeated three times, and $E^2 = 9$, with $E = \pm 3$ and ± 1 as we expect from (3.1).

So far we have discussed, and given a method for solving, the equation related with a three body relativistic problem with an oscillator interaction. In the next section we proceed to show that we can formulate it in a Poincaré invariant form.

4 Poincaré invariance of the three body relativistic equation with oscillator interactions

To express Eq. (3.6) in a Poincaré invariant form we start with definition of the total four momentum for the three particle problem *i.e.*

$$P_{\mu} = p_{\mu 1} + p_{\mu 2} + p_{\mu 3}, \tag{4.1}$$

where $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ with $p_{os}, s = 1, 2, 3$, being the time like component while $p_{is}, i = 1, 2, 3$, are the space like components of the vector \mathbf{p}_s of the previous section.

We shall require also a unit time like four vector u_{μ} which we shall define as

$$u_{\mu} = P_{\mu} (-g^{\sigma\tau} P_{\sigma} P_{\tau})^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where repeated indices σ, τ are summed over 0,1,2,3 and our metric tensor is taken as

$$g^{\sigma\tau} = 0$$
 if $\sigma \neq \tau$, $g_{11} = g_{22} = g_{33} = -g_{oo} = 1$ (4.3)

Clearly in the center of mass frame where $P_i = 0, i = 1, 2, 3, u_{\mu}$ takes the value

$$(u_{\mu}) = (1, 0, 0, 0) \tag{4.4}$$

The operators $\eta_s, \xi_s, s = 1, 2$, defined in (3.11) are space like three component vectors which could be denoted by $\eta_{is}, \xi_{is}, i = 1, 2, 3$. A time like component could be added through the definition (3.11) just by putting p'_{os}, x'_{os} instead of p'_{is}, x'_{is} and thus we would get η_{os}, ξ_{os} which, together with η_{is}, ξ_{is} , form the four vectors

$$\eta_{\mu s}, \xi_{\mu s}; \ \mu = 0, 1, 2, 3; \ s = 1, 2.$$

$$(4.5)$$

$$290$$

We do not want to use these operators directly in the definition of the C_{st} of (3.14), but rather utilize their transversal parts defined by

$$\eta_{\mu s}^{\perp} \equiv \eta_{\mu s} + (g^{\sigma \tau} \eta_{\sigma s} u_{\tau}) u_{\mu}, \qquad (4.6a)$$

$$\xi_{\mu s}^{\perp} \equiv \xi_{\mu s} + (g^{\sigma \tau} \xi_{\sigma s} u_{\tau}) u_{\mu}. \tag{4.6b}$$

These transverse operators have the property that in the center of mass frame where $(u_{\mu}) = (1000)$ we have, because of the matrix (4.3), that

$$\eta_{os}^{\perp} = 0, \ \xi_{os}^{\perp} = 0, \ \eta_{is}^{\perp} = \eta_{is}, \ \xi_{is}^{\perp} = \xi_{is}.$$
 (4.7)

Thus now the generator $C_{st}, s, t = 1, 2$, appearing in the definitions (3.13) of $\hat{\Pi}_1^2, \hat{\Pi}_2^2, \hat{\Pi}_3^2$ can be expressed in a Lorentz invariant way by

$$C_{st} = g^{\sigma\tau} \eta^{\perp}_{\sigma s} \xi^{\perp}_{\tau t}, \qquad (4.8)$$

as in the center of mass frame it takes the form (3.14) *i.e.* $C_{st} = \eta_s \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi}_t$.

As for the energy E^2 appearing in Eq. (3.6) it can be substituted by the operator

$$E^2 \to (-g^{\sigma\tau} P_{\sigma} P_{\tau}), \tag{4.9}$$

because in the center of mass frame $P_i = 0$, i = 1, 2, 3, and from the metric tensor (4.3), we see that the parenthesis in (4.9) reduces to P_o^2 , which is the time like component of the four momentum vector squared and thus corresponds to the square of the total energy of the system.

With the definitions (4.8) of C_{st} and (4.9) of E^2 substituted in Eq.(3.6) we get a Poincaré invariant equation for our problem, as C_{st} , given in terms of Jacobi coordinates and momenta, is also invariant under translation in space time, and thus commutes with P_{μ} .

We have then arrived at a procedure for deriving a Poincaré invariant equation for a three particle system with oscillator interactions which, in the center of mass reference frame, can be solved by a simple group theoretical procedure, which leads eventually to algebraic equations of degree 4(2f + 1) for E^2 , that can be solved numerically to give the spectrum of the problem.

References

- M. Moshinsky, "The Dirac Oscillator and the Mass Formula for Baryons" in "Symmetries in Science VI", Ed. Bruno Gruber (Plenum Press, New York, 1993).
- [2] M. Moshinsky and G. Loyola, Foundations of Physics, 23, 197 (1993).
- [3] A. González García, G. Loyola, M. Moshinsky, Rev. Mex. Fís. 40, 12 (1994).
- [4] M. Moshinsky, "The Harmonic Oscillator in Modern Physics: From Atoms to Quarks" (Gordon & Breach, New York 1969). p. 44.
- [5] M. Moshinsky, Rev. Mod. Phys. 34, 813 (1962).

N95-22992

COVARIANT HARMONIC OSCILLATORS AND COUPLED HARMONIC OSCILLATORS

1995116575

D. Han

National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Goddard Space Flight Center, Code 910.1, Greenbelt, Maryland 20771

Y. S. Kim

Department of Physics, University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland 20742

Marilyn E. Noz

Department of Radiology, New York University, New York, New York 10016

Abstract

It is shown that the system of two coupled harmonic oscillators shares the basic symmetry properties with the covariant harmonic oscillator formalism which provides a concise description of the basic features of relativistic hadronic features observed in high-energy laboratories. It is shown also that the coupled oscillator system has the SL(4,r) symmetry in classical mechanics, while the present formulation of quantum mechanics can accommodate only the Sp(4,r) portion of the SL(4,r) symmetry. The possible role of the SL(4,r) symmetry in quantum mechanics is discussed.

1 Introduction

The covariant harmonic oscillator formalism developed by the present authors has been shown to be effective in explaining the basic phenomenological features of relativistic extended hadrons observed in high-energy laboratories. In particular, the formalism shows that the quark model and Feynman's parton picture are two different manifestations of one relativistic entity. In addition, the formalism constitutes a representation of Wigner's little group for a massive particle with internal space-time structure [1].

Since the classical mechanics of two coupled harmonic oscillators is discussed in Goldstein's text book [2], there is a tendency to believe that this oscillator problem is completely understood and that nothing new can be learned from it. We disagree. In this paper, we show that this coupled oscillator system can serve as an analog computer for the above-mentioned covariant oscillator formalism.

From the mathematical point of view, the standard approach is to construct a suitable representation of the symmetry group after writing down its generators. The first symmetry group in the present case is Sp(4,r) with ten generators [3, 4, 5]. The second symmetry group is SL(4,r)which contains a number of Sp(4)-like subgroups. In constructing these groups, we shall note that each oscillator has its own Sp(2) symmetry, and that the coupling of the two oscillator also has a Sp(2)-like symmetry. It was pointed out that these three Sp(2) groups can be combined into one Sp(4) group.

Since Sp(4) is locally isomorphic to the deSitter group O(3,2), it can explain the Lorentz transformation properties, particularly that of the covariant harmonic oscillator formalism. In this paper, we concentrate on the issue of a lack of information on one oscillator affecting the uncertainty and the entropy of the other oscillator.

2 Covariant Harmonic Oscillators

The covariant harmonic oscillator formalism has been discussed exhaustively in the literature, and it is not necessary to give another full-fledged treatment in the present paper. Instead, we shall concentrate on the issue of entropy in this paper. The entropy is a measure of our ignorance and is computed from the density matrix [6, 7]. The density matrix is needed when the experimental procedure does not analyze all relevant variables to the maximum extent consistent with quantum mechanics. The purpose of the present note is to discuss a concrete example of the entropy arising from our ignorance in relativistic quantum mechanics.

Let us consider a bound state of two particles. For convenience, we shall call the bound state the hadron, and call its constituents quarks. Then there is a Bohr-like radius measuring the spacelike separation between the quarks. There is also a time-like separation between the quarks, and this variable becomes mixed with the longitudinal spatial separation as the hadron moves with a relativistic speed.

However, there are at present no quantum measurement theories to deal with the abovementioned time-like separation. We shall study in the present paper how this ignorance is translated into the entropy. Within the framework of the covariant harmonic oscillator formalism [1], it will be shown that the entropy increases as the hadron gains its speed. The entropy defined in this way is a more fundamental quantity than the hadronic temperature [4]. It is independent of the question of whether the temperature can be defined [8].

Let us consider a hadron consisting of two quarks. If the space-time positions of two quarks are specified by x_a and x_b respectively, the system can be described by the variables [9]

$$X = (x_a + x_b)/2, \qquad x = (x_a - x_b)/2\sqrt{2}.$$
 (1)

The four-vector X specifies where the hadron is located in space and time, while the variable x measures the space-time separation between the quarks. In the convention of Feynman *et al* [9], the internal motion of the quarks bound by a harmonic oscillator potential of unit strength can be described by the Lorentz-invariant equation

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\{ x_{\mu}^2 - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_{\mu}^2} \right\} \psi(x) = \lambda \psi(x).$$
(2)

We use here the space-favored metric: $x^{\mu} = (x, y, z, t)$.

It is possible to construct a representation of the Poincaré group from the solutions of the above differential equation [1]. If the hadron is at rest, the solution should take the form

$$\psi(x,y,z,t) = \psi(x,y,z) \left(\frac{1}{\pi}\right)^{1/4} \exp\left(-t^2/2\right),\tag{3}$$

where $\psi(x, y, z)$ is the wave function for the three-dimensional oscillator with appropriate angular momentum quantum numbers. There are no excitations along the t direction. Indeed, the above wave function constitutes a representation of Wigner's O(3)-like little group for a massive particle [1].

Since the three-dimensional oscillator differential equation is separable in both spherical and Cartesian coordinate systems, $\psi(x, y, z)$ consists of Hermite polynomials of x, y, and z. If the Lorentz boost is made along the z direction, the x and y coordinates are not affected, and can be dropped from the wave function. The wave function of interest can be written as

$$\psi^{n}(z,t) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi}\right)^{1/4} \exp\left(-t^{2}/2\right) \psi_{n}(z), \tag{4}$$

with

$$\psi^{n}(z) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi n! 2^{n}}\right)^{1/2} H_{n}(z) \exp(-z^{2}/2), \tag{5}$$

where $\psi^n(z)$ is for the *n*-th excited oscillator state. The full wave function $\psi^n(z, t)$ is

$$\psi_0^n(z,t) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi n! 2^n}\right)^{1/2} H_n(z) \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\left(z^2 + t^2\right)\right\}.$$
(6)

The subscript 0 means that the wave function is for the hadron at rest. The above expression is not Lorentz-invariant, and its localization undergoes a Lorentz squeeze as the hadron moves along the z direction [1].

It is convenient to use the light-cone variables to describe Lorentz boosts. The light-cone coordinate variables are

$$u = (z+t)/\sqrt{2}, \qquad v = (z-t)/\sqrt{2}.$$
 (7)

In terms of these variables, the Lorentz boost along the z direction,

$$\begin{pmatrix} z'\\t' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\eta & \sinh\eta\\ \sinh\eta & \cosh\eta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z\\t \end{pmatrix},$$
(8)

takes the simple form

$$u' = e^{\eta}u, \qquad v' = e^{-\eta}v, \tag{9}$$

where η is the boost parameter and is $\tanh^{-1}(v/c)$. The wave function of Eq.(6) can be written as

$$\psi_0^n(z,t) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi n! 2^n}\right)^{1/2} H_n\left((u+v)/\sqrt{2}\right) \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(u^2+v^2)\right\}.$$
(10)

If the system is boosted, the wave function becomes

$$\psi_{\eta}^{n}(z,t) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi n! 2^{n}}\right)^{1/2} H_{n}\left((e^{-\eta}u + e^{\eta}v)/\sqrt{2}\right) \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\left(e^{-2\eta}u^{2} + e^{2\eta}v^{2}\right)\right\}.$$
 (11)

As was discussed in the literature for several different purposes, this wave function can be expanded as [1]

$$\psi_{\eta}^{n}(z,t) = (1/\cosh\eta)^{n+1} \sum_{k} \left(\frac{(n+k)!}{n!k!}\right)^{1/2} (\tanh\eta)^{k} \psi_{n+k}(z) \psi_{n}(t).$$
(12)

In both Eqs. (10) and (11), the localization property of the wave function in the uv plane is determined by the Gaussian factor, and it is sufficient to study the ground state only for the essential feature of the boundary condition. Eq.(10) and Eq.(11) then respectively become

$$\psi_0^n(z,t) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(u^2 + v^2)\right\}.$$
(13)

If the system is boosted, the wave function becomes

$$\psi_{\eta}(z,t) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\left(e^{-2\eta}u^2 + e^{2\eta}v^2\right)\right\}.$$
(14)

We note here that the transition from Eq.(13) to Eq.(14) is a squeeze trassformation. The wave function of Eq.(13) is distributed within a circular region in the uv plane, and thus in the zt plane. On the other hand, the wave function of Eq.(14) is distributed in an elliptic region. This ellipse is a "squeezed" circle with the same area as the circle. This Lorentz-squeezed wave function can be expande as

$$\psi_{\eta}(z,t) = \frac{1}{\cosh \eta} \sum_{k} (\tanh \eta)^{k} \psi_{k}(z) \psi_{k}(t).$$
⁽¹⁵⁾

From this wave function, we can construct the pure-state density matrix

$$\rho_{\eta}(z,t;z',t') = \psi_{\eta}(z,t)\psi_{\eta}(z',t'),$$
(16)

which satisfies the condition $\rho^2 = \rho$:

$$\rho_{\eta}(z,t;z',t') = \int \rho_{\eta}(z,t;z'',t'')\rho_{\eta}(z'',t'';z',t')dz''dt''.$$
(17)

However, there are at present no measurement theories which accommodate the time-separation variable t. Thus, we can take the trace of the ρ matrix with respect to the t variable. Then the resulting density matrix is

$$\rho_{\eta}(z, z') = \int \psi_{\eta}(z, t) \{\psi_{\eta}(z', t)\}^{*} dt$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{\cosh \eta}\right)^{2} \sum_{k} (\tanh \eta)^{2k} \psi_{k}(z) \psi_{k}^{*}(z').$$
(18)

The trace of this density matrix is one, but the trace of ρ^2 is less than one, as

$$Tr(\rho^{2}) = \int \rho_{\eta}(z, z')\rho_{\eta}(z', z)dz'dz$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{\cosh \eta}\right)^{4} \sum_{k} (\tanh \eta)^{4k},$$
(19)

which is less than one. This is due to the fact that we do not know how to deal with the time-like separation in the present formulation of quantum mechanics. Our knowledge is less than complete.

The standard way to measure this ignorance is to calculate the entropy defined as [6, 7]

$$S = -Tr\left(\rho\ln(\rho)\right).$$

If we pretend to know the distribution along the time-like direction and use the pure-state density matrix given in Eq.(16), then the entropy is zero. However, if we do not know how to deal with the distribution along t, then we should use the density matrix of Eq.(18) to calculate the entropy, and the result is

$$S \neq 2\left\{ (\cosh \eta)^2 \ln(\cosh \eta) - (\sinh \eta)^2 \ln(\sinh \eta) \right\}.$$
 (20)

In terms of the velocity v of the hadron,

$$S = -\ln[1 - (v/c)^2] - \frac{(v/c)^2 \ln(v/c)^2}{1 - (v/c)^2}.$$
(21)

We can also calculate the density matrix using the Gaussian form of the wave function given in Eq.(17), and the result is

$$\rho(z,z') = \left(\frac{1}{\pi\cosh 2\eta}\right)^{1/2} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{4}\left[(z+z')^2/\cosh 2\eta + (z-z')^2\cosh 2\eta\right]\right\},\tag{22}$$

This expression also leads to the entropy given in Eq.(20)

The diagonal elements of the above density matrix is

$$\rho(z,z) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi \cosh 2\eta}\right)^{1/2} \exp\left(-z^2/\cosh 2\eta\right).$$
(23)

The width of the distribution becomes $(\cosh \eta)^{1/2}$, and becomes wide-spread as the hadronic speed increases. Likewise, the momentum distribution becomes wide-spread. This simultaneous increase in the momentum and position distribution widths is called the parton phenomenon in high-energy physics. The position-momentum uncertainty becomes $\cosh \eta$. This increase in uncertainty is due to our ignorance about the physical but unmeasurable time-separation variable.

The use of an unmeasurable variable as a "shadow" coordinate is not new in physics and is of current interest [10, 11, 12, 13]. Feynman's book on statistical mechanics contains the following paragraph [14].

When we solve a quantum-mechanical problem, what we really do is divide the universe into two parts - the system in which we are interested and the rest of the universe. We then usually act as if the system in which we are interested comprised the entire universe. To motivate the use of density matrices, let us see what happens when we include the part of the universe outside the system.

In the present paper, we have identified Feynman's rest of the universe as the time-separation coordinate in a relativistic two-body problem. Our ignorance about this coordinate leads to a density matrix for a non-pure state, and consequently to an increase of entropy. It is interesting to note that the density matrix of Eq.(22) becomes that of the harmonic oscillator in a thermal equilibrium state if $(\tanh \eta)^2$ is identified as the Boltzmann factor [15].

We have thus far studied the properties of covariant harmonic oscillators where the longitudinal and time-like coordinates undergo squeeze transformations. The word "squeeze" is relatively new in physics. However, squeeze transformations are almost everywhere in physics. In the rest of this paper, we shall discuss the role of squeeze transformations in the system of two coupled harmonic oscillators. We shall see that the problem of covariant harmonic oscillators with two variables is the same as that of two coupled harmonic oscillators.

3 Linear Canonical and Non-Canonical Transformations in Classical Mechanics

For a dynamical system consisting of two pairs of canonical variables x_1, p_1 and x_2, p_2 , we can introduce the four-dimensional coordinate system:

$$(\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3, \eta_4) = (x_1, x_2, p_1, p_2).$$
(24)

Then the transformation of the variables from η_i to ξ_i is canonical if

$$MJ\tilde{M} = J,\tag{25}$$

where

$$M_{ij} = rac{\partial}{\partial \eta_j} \xi_i$$

and

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

For linear canonical transformations, we can work with the group of four-by-four real matrices satisfying the condition of Eq.(25). This group is called the four-dimensional symplectic group or Sp(4). While there are many physical applications of this group, we are interested here in constructing the representations relevant to the study of two coupled harmonic oscillators.

It is more convenient to discuss this group in terms of its generators G, defined as

$$M = \exp\left(-i\alpha G\right),\tag{26}$$

where G represents a set of purely imaginary four-by-four matrices. The symplectic condition of Eq.(25) dictates that G be symmetric and anticommute with J or be antisymmetric and commute with J.

In terms of the Pauli spin matrices and the two-by-two identity matrix, we can construct the following four antisymmetric matrices which commute with J of Eq.(25).

$$J_{1} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{1} \\ -\sigma_{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad J_{2} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$J_{3} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{3} \\ -\sigma_{3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad J_{0} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -I & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(27)

The following six symmetric generators anticommute with J.

$$K_1 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_3 \\ \sigma_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad K_2 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & -I \end{pmatrix}, \qquad K_3 = -\frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_1 \\ \sigma_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$Q_1 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -\sigma_3 & 0\\ 0 & \sigma_3 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Q_2 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I\\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Q_3 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1 & 0\\ 0 & -\sigma_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(28)

These generators satisfy the commutation relations:

$$[J_{i}, J_{j}] = i\epsilon_{ijk}J_{k}, \qquad [J_{i}, K_{j}] = i\epsilon_{ijk}K_{k}, \qquad [K_{i}, K_{j}] = [Q_{i}, Q_{j}] = -i\epsilon_{ijk}J_{k},$$
$$[J_{i}, J_{0}] = 0, \qquad [K_{i}, Q_{j}] = i\delta_{ij}J_{o},$$
$$[J_{i}, Q_{j}] = i\epsilon_{ijk}Q_{k}, \qquad [K_{i}, J_{o}] = iQ_{i}, \qquad [Q_{i}, J_{o}] = -iK_{i}.$$
(29)

The group of homogeneous linear transformations with this closed set of generators is called the symplectic group Sp(4). The J matrices are known to generate rotations while the K and Q matrices generate squeezes [4].

It is often more convenient to study the physics of four-dimensional phase space using the coordinate system

$$(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3, \xi_4) = (x_1, p_1, x_2, p_2).$$
(30)

The transformation from $(\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3, \eta_4)$ is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \xi_1\\ \xi_2\\ \xi_3,\\ \xi_4 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \eta_1\\ \eta_2\\ \eta_3\\ \eta_4 \end{pmatrix},$$
(31)

and the J matrix becomes

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (32)

In this new coordinate system, the rotation generators take the form

$$J_{1} = \frac{-1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{2} \\ \sigma_{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad J_{2} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -I \\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$J_{3} = \frac{-1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad J_{0} = \frac{-1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(33)

The squeeze generators become

$$K_{1} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sigma_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad K_{2} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad K_{3} = -\frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{1} \\ \sigma_{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$Q_{1} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -\sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Q_{2} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Q_{3} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{3} \\ \sigma_{3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(34)

In addition to the ten generators given in Eq.(33) and also in Eq.(34), we can consider the scale transformation in which both the position and momentum of the first coordinate are expanded and those of the second coordinate contracted. The Hamiltonian given in Eq.(46) suggests such a transformation, and the transformation can be generated by

$$S_0 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ 0 & -I \end{pmatrix}.$$
(35)

This matrix generates scale transformations in phase space. The transformation leads to a radial expansion of the phase space of the first coordinate [16] and contracts the phase space of the second coordinate. What is the physical significance of this operation? As we discussed in Sec. 7, the expansion of phase space leads to an increase in uncertainty and entropy. Mathematically speaking, the contraction of the second coordinate should cause a decrease in uncertainty and entropy. Can this happen? The answer is clearly No, because it will violate the uncertainty principle. This question will be addressed in future publications.

In the meantime, let us study what happens when the matrix S_0 is introduced into the set of matrices given in Eq.(33) and Eq.(34). It commutes with J_0, J_3, K_1, K_2, Q_1 , and Q_2 . However, its commutators with the rest of the matrices produce four more generators:

$$[S_0, J_1] = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\sigma_2 \\ \sigma_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad [S_0, J_2] = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$[S_0, K_3] = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_1 \\ -\sigma_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad [S_0, Q_3] = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\sigma_3 \\ \sigma_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(36)

If we take into account the above five generators in addition to the ten generators of Sp(4), there are fifteen generators. They form the closed set of commutation relations for the the group SL(4,r). This SL(4,r) symmetry of the coupled oscillator system may have interesting physical implications.

4 SL(4,r) Formulation of Two Coupled Oscillators

Let us consider a system of two coupled harmonic oscillators. The Hamiltonian for this system is

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{1}{m_1} p_1^2 + \frac{1}{m_2} p_2^2 + A' x_1^2 + B' x_2^2 + C' x_1 x_2 \right\}.$$
 (37)

where

$$A' > 0, \qquad B' > 0, \qquad 4A'B' - C'^2 > 0.$$
 (38)

By making scale changes of x_1 and x_2 to $(m_1/m_2)^{1/4}x_1$ and $(m_2/m_1)^{1/4}x_2$ respectively, it is possible to make a canonical transformation of the above Hamiltonian to the form [17, 18]

$$H = \frac{1}{2m} \left\{ p_1^2 + p_2^2 \right\} + \frac{1}{2} \left\{ Ax_1^2 + Bx_2^2 + Cx_1x_2 \right\},$$
(39)

with $m = (m_1 m_2)^{1/2}$. We can decouple this Hamiltonian by making the coordinate transformation:

$$\begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\alpha/2) & -\sin(\alpha/2) \\ \sin(\alpha/2) & \cos(\alpha/2) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (40)

Under this rotation, the kinetic energy portion of the Hamiltonian in Eq.(39) remains invariant. Thus we can achieve the decoupling by diagonalizing the potential energy. Indeed, the system becomes diagonal if the angle α becomes

$$\tan \alpha = \frac{C}{B-A}.$$
(41)

This diagonalization procedure is well known

We now introduce the new parameters K and η defined as

$$K = \sqrt{AB - C^2/4}, \qquad \exp\left(-2\eta\right) = \frac{A + B + \sqrt{(A - B)^2 + C^2}}{\sqrt{4AB - C^2}},\tag{42}$$

in addition to the rotation angle α . In terms of this new set of variables, A, B and C take the form

$$A = K \left(e^{2\eta} \cos^2 \frac{\alpha}{2} + e^{-2\eta} \sin^2 \frac{\alpha}{2} \right),$$

$$B = K \left(e^{2\eta} \sin^2 \frac{\alpha}{2} + e^{-2\eta} \cos^2 \frac{\alpha}{2} \right),$$

$$A = K \left(e^{-2\eta} - e^{2\eta} \right) \sin \alpha.$$
(43)

the Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H = \frac{1}{2m} \left\{ q_1^2 + q_2^2 \right\} + \frac{K}{2} \left\{ e^{z\eta} y_1^2 + e^{-2\eta} y_2^2 \right\}, \tag{44}$$

where y_1 and y_2 are defined in Eq.(40), and

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_1 \\ q_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\alpha/2) & -\sin(\alpha/2) \\ \sin(\alpha/2) & \cos(\alpha/2) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p_1 \\ p_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(45)

This form will be our starting point. The above rotation together with that of Eq.(40) is generated by J_0 .

If we measure the coordinate variable in units of $(mK)^{1/4}$, and use $(mK)^{-1/4}$ for the momentum variables, the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H = \frac{\omega}{2} e^{\eta} \left(e^{-\eta} q_1^2 + e^{\eta} y_1^2 \right) + \frac{\omega}{2} e^{-\eta} \left(e^{\eta} q_2^2 + e^{-\eta} y_2^2 \right), \tag{46}$$

where $\omega = \sqrt{K/m}$. If $\eta = 0$, the system becomes decoupled, and the Hamiltonian becomes

$$H = \frac{\omega}{2} \left(p_1^2 + x_1^2 \right) + \frac{\omega}{2} \left(p_2^2 + x_2^2 \right).$$
(47)

In Sec. 8, we will be dealing with the problem of what happens when no observations are made on the second coordinate. If the system is decoupled, as the above Hamiltonian indicates, the physics in the first coordinate is solely dictated by the Hamiltonian

$$H_1 = \frac{\omega}{2} \left(p_1^2 + x_1^2 \right).$$
 (48)

It is important to note that the Hamiltonian of Eq.(47) cannot be obtained from Eq.(46) by canonical transformation. For this reason, the Hamiltonian of the form

$$H' = \frac{\omega}{2} \left(e^{-\eta} q_1^2 + e^{\eta} y_1^2 \right) + \frac{\omega}{2} \left(e^{\eta} q_2^2 + e^{-\eta} y_2^2 \right)$$
(49)

may play a useful role in our discussion. This Hamiltonian can be transformed into the decoupled form of Eq.(47) through a canonical transformation.

5 Quantum Mechanics of Coupled Oscillators

It is remarkable that both the Hamiltonian H of Eq.(46) and H' of Eq.(49) lead to the same Schrödinger wave function. If y_1 and y_2 are measured in units of $(mK)^{1/4}$, the ground-state wave function for this oscillator system is

$$\psi_0(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(e^{\eta}y_1^2 + e^{-\eta}y_2^2)\right\}.$$
(50)

The wave function is separable in the y_1 and y_2 variables. However, for the variables x_1 and x_2 , the story is quite different. If we write this wave function in terms of x_1 and x_2 , then

$$\psi(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2} \left[e^{\eta} (x_1 \cos\frac{\alpha}{2} - x_2 \sin\frac{\alpha}{2})^2 + e^{-\eta} (x_1 \sin\frac{\alpha}{2} + x_2 \cos\frac{\alpha}{2})^2\right]\right\}.$$
(51)

If $\eta = 0$, this wave function becomes

$$\psi_0(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(x_1^2 + x_2^2)\right\}.$$
(52)

For other values of η , the wave function of Eq.(51) can be obtained from the above expression by a unitary transformation.

$$\sum_{m_1 m_2} A_{m_1 m_2}(\alpha, \eta) \psi_{m_1}(x_1) \psi_{m_2}(x_2), \tag{53}$$

where $\psi_m(x)$ is the mth excited state wave function. The coefficients $A_{m_1m_2}(\eta)$ satisfy the unitarity condition

$$\sum_{m_1m_2} |A_{m_1m_2}(\alpha,\eta)|^2 = 1.$$
(54)

It is possible to carry out a similar expansion in the case of excited states [1].

As for unitary transformations applicable to wave functions, let us go back the generators of canonical transformations in classical mechanics. As was stated before, they are also applicable to the Wigner phase-space distribution function. The canonical transformation of the Wigner function is translated into a unitary transformation of the Schrödinger wave function. There are therefore ten generators of unitary transformations applicable to Schrödinger wave functions [4, 3].

The Wigner phase-space picture is often more convenient for studying the problems of coupled harmonic oscillators. Unitary transformations in the Schrödinger picture can be achieved through canonical transformations in phase space. It has been known that canonical transformations are uncertainty-preserving transformations. They are also entropy-preserving transformations [5]. Are there then non-canonical transformations in quantum mechanics?

In the present case of coupled harmonic oscillators, we assume that we are not able to measure the x_2 coordinate. It is often more convenient to use the Wigner phase-space distribution function to study the density matrix, especially when we want to study the uncertainty products in detail [18, 14]. For two coordinate variables, the Wigner function is defined as [18]

$$W(x_1, x_2; p_1, p_2) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi}\right)^2 \int \exp\left\{-2i(p_1y_1 + p_2y_2)\right\}$$
$$\times \psi^*(x_1 + y_1, x_2 + y_2)\psi(x_1 - y_1, x_2 - y_2)dy_1dy_2.$$
(55)

The Wigner function corresponding to the oscillator wave function of Eq.(51) is

$$W(x_1, x_2; p_1, p_2) = \left(\frac{1}{\pi}\right)^2 \exp\left\{-e^{\eta}(x_1 \cos\frac{\alpha}{2} - x_2 \sin\frac{\alpha}{2})^2 - e^{-\eta}(x_1 \sin\frac{\alpha}{2} + x_2 \cos\frac{\alpha}{2})^2 - e^{-\eta}(p_1 \cos\frac{\alpha}{2} - p_2 \sin\frac{\alpha}{2})^2 - e^{\eta}(p_1 \sin\frac{\alpha}{2} + p_2 \cos\frac{\alpha}{2})^2\right\}.$$
(56)

If we do not make observations in the x_2p_2 coordinates, the Wigner function becomes

$$W(x_1, p_1) = \int W(x_1, x_2; p_1, p_2) dx_2 dp_2.$$
(57)

The evaluation of the integral leads to

$$W(x_1, p_1) = \left\{ \frac{1}{\pi^2 (1 + \sinh^2 \eta \sin^2 \alpha)} \right\}^{1/2} \times \exp\left\{ -\left(\frac{x_1^2}{\cosh \eta - \sin \eta \cos \alpha} + \frac{p_1^2}{\cosh \eta + \sin \eta \cos \alpha} \right) \right\}.$$
 (58)

This Wigner function gives an elliptic distribution in the phase space of x_1 and p_1 . This distribution gives the uncertainty product of

$$(\Delta x)^{2} (\Delta p)^{2} = \frac{1}{4} (1 + \sinh^{2} \eta \sin^{2} \alpha).$$
(59)

This expression becomes 1/4 if the oscillator system becomes uncoupled with $\alpha = 0$. Because x_1 is coupled with x_2 , our ignorance about the x_2 coordinate, which in this case acts as Feynman's rest of the universe, increases the uncertainty in the x_1 world which, in Feynman's words, is the system in which we are interested.

In the Wigner phase-space picture, the uncertainty is measured in terms of the area in phase space where the Wigner function is sufficiently different from zero. According to the Wigner function for a thermally excited oscillator state, the temperature and entropy are also determined by the degree of the spread of the Wigner function phase space.

References

[1] Y. S. Kim and M. E. Noz, Theory and Applications of the Poincaré Group (Reidel, Dordrecht, 1986).

- [2] H. Goldstein, Classical Mechanics, Second Edition (Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, 1980).
- [3] P. A. M. Dirac, J. Math. Phys. 4, 901 (1963).
- [4] D. Han, Y. S. Kim, and M. E. Noz, Phys. Rev. A 41, 6233 (1990).
- [5] D. Han, Y. S. Kim, M. E. Noz, and L. Yeh, J. Math. Phys. 34 5493 (1993).
- [6] J. von Neumann, Mathematical Foundation of Quantum Mechanics (Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1955).
- [7] E. P. Wigner and M. M. Yanase, Proc. National Academy of Sciences (U.S.A.) 49, 910 (1963).
- [8] Y. S. Kim and E. P. Wigner, Phys. Lett. A 147, 343 (1990).
- [9] R. P. Feynman, M. Kislinger, and F. Ravndal, Phys. Rev. D 3, 2706 (1971).
- [10] A. L. Fetter and J. D. Walecka, Quantum Theory of Many Particle Systems (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1971); M. Tinkham, Introduction to Superconductivity (Krieger, Malabar, Florida, 1975).
- [11] H. Umezawa, H. Matsumoto, and M. Tachiki, Thermo Field Dynamics and Condensed States (North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1982).
- [12] B. Yurke and M. Potasek, Phys. Rev. A 36, 3464 (1987).
- [13] A. K. Ekert and P. L. Knight, Am. J. Phys. 57, 692 (1989). For an earlier paper, see S. M. Barnett and P. L. Knight, J. Opt. Soc. of Amer. B 2 467 (1985).
- [14] R. P. Feynman, Statistical Mechanics (Benjamin/Cummings, Reading, MA, 1972).
- [15] D. Han, Y. S. Kim, and M. E. Noz, Phys. Lett. A 144, 111 (1990).
- [16] Y. S. Kim and M. Li, Phys. Lett. A 139 445 (1989).
- [17] P. K. Aravind, Am. J. Phys. 57, 309 (1989).
- [18] Y. S. Kim and M. E. Noz, Phase Space Picture of Quantum Mechanics (World Scientific, Singapore, 1991).
1995116.576 N95-22993

COHERENT STATES FOR THE RELATIVISTIC HARMONIC OSCILLATOR

ZP

V. Aldaya

Instituto de Física Teórico y Computacional Carlos I, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Granada, Campus de Fuentenueva, Granada 18002, Spain IFIC, Centro Mixto Universidad de Valencia-CSIC, Burjasot 46100-Valencia, Spain.

J. Guerrero

Departamento de Física Teórica y del Cosmos and Instituto de Física Teórica y Computacional Carlos I, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Granada,Campus de Fuentenueva,Granada 18002, Spain

Abstract

Recently we have obtained, on the basis of a group approach to quantization, a Bargmann-Fock-like realization of the Relativistic Harmonic Oscillator as well as a generalized Bargmann transform relating Fock wave functions $\langle z|n \rangle$ and a set of relativistic Hermite polynomials $H_n^N(x)$, $(N = mc^2/\hbar\omega)$. Nevertheless, the relativistic creation and annihilation operators satisfy typical relativistic commutation relations $[\hat{z}, \hat{z}^{\dagger}] \approx$ Energy (an SL(2, R) algebra). Here we find higher-order polarization operators on the SL(2, R) group, providing canonical creation and annihilation operators satisfying $[\hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}] = \hat{1}$, the eigenstates of which are "true" coherent states.

1 Group Quantization and the Relativistic Harmonic Oscillator (RHO) in the Bargmann-Fock-like realization.

The quantization of relativistic systems in a manifestly covariant way requires the use of commutation relation of the form $[\hat{x}, \hat{p}] \approx$ Energy, which means a deviation from the canonical rules. If the Hamiltonian, \hat{x} and \hat{p} close a Lie algebra, it is possible to resort to some kind of group quantization method, i.e. some technique of obtaining unitary irreducible representations of a group the Lie algebra of which coincides with the Poisson algebra of the physical system. In the present case there is a Lie algebra, a central extension of SL(2, R) (SO(3, 2) in 3+1 dimensions):

$$[\hat{E}, \hat{x}] = -i\frac{\hbar}{m}\hat{p}, \quad [\hat{E}, \hat{p}] = im\omega^2\hbar\hat{x}, \quad [\hat{x}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar(\hat{1} + \frac{1}{mc^2}\hat{E}), \quad (1)$$

which reproduces the Poincaré algebra under the $\omega \to 0$ limit and the Newton (non-relativistic harmonic oscillator) algebra when $c \to \infty$ and that, therefore, earns to be considered as the algebra of a relativistic harmonic oscillator.

Then, our starting point will be a central pseudo-extension of the group SL(2, R), denoted by $SL(2, R) \tilde{\otimes} U(1)$ [1], whose coboundary is generated by a function which is an integer power of the parameter of the Cartan subgroup. The precise techniques of the group-quantization procedure [2] will be explained on the way.

The $\tilde{G} \equiv SL(2, R) \tilde{\otimes} U(1)$ group law is:

$$z'' = z'\eta^{-2} + z\kappa' + \frac{z}{N(1+\kappa)} (z^* z'\eta^{-2} + z'^* z\eta^2)$$

$$z^{*''} = z'^*\eta^2 + z^*\kappa' + \frac{z^*}{N(1+\kappa)} (zz'^*\eta^2 + z'z^*\eta^{-2})$$

$$\eta'' = \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\kappa''}} \left[\sqrt{\frac{1+\kappa'}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{1+\kappa}{2}} \eta'\eta + \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\kappa'}} \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\kappa}} \left(\frac{z'z^*}{2N} \eta'\eta^* + \frac{z'^*z}{2N} \eta'^* \eta \right) \right] \qquad (2)$$

$$\zeta'' = \zeta' \zeta (\eta''\eta'^{-1}\eta^{-1})^{-2N},$$

where

$$\kappa \equiv \sqrt{1 + \frac{2zz^*}{N}}$$

$$\kappa'' = \kappa' \kappa + \frac{1}{N} \left(z^* z' \eta^{-2} + z'^* z \eta^2 \right) ,$$

and $z \in C$, $\eta \in U(1) \subset SL(2, R)$, $\zeta \in U(1)$ and $N \equiv \frac{mc^2}{\hbar\omega}$. It must be noted that N is quantized (N = 1, 3/2, 2, 5/2, ...) on SL(2, R) but a positive number on the Universal covering group.

The coboundary

$$\Delta \equiv \left(\eta''\eta'^{-1}\eta^{-1}\right)^{-2N} : SL(2,R) \times SL(2,R) \to U(1), \qquad (3)$$

which is generated by

$$\eta^{-2N}: SL(2,R) \to U(1),$$
(4)

realizes a pseudo-extension. We say that Δ is a pseudo-cocycle and realizes a pseudo-extension rather than a trivial cocycle (coboundary) realizing a trivial extension because in the $c \to \infty$ limit, $(\eta''\eta'^{-1}\eta^{-1})^{-2N}$ goes to a true cocycle on the non-relativistic harmonic oscillator (Newton) group (see [3] for a general study of the contraction process under which a true cocycle is generated by a coboundary).

Group quantization uses the (exponential of the) right-invariant vector fields, which act on U(1)-equivariant complex functions on \tilde{G} as ordinary derivatives, to define a group representation (Bohr-Sommerfeld quantization). This representation is reducible, as can be stated by the existence of non-trivial operators (all the left-invariant vector fields) commuting with the representation.

The full quantization is achieved by reducing this representation in a way compatible with the action of right vector fields. The reduced Hilbert space is made of complex functions Ψ on \tilde{G} such that

$$\begin{split} \Psi(\zeta * g) &= \zeta \cdot \Psi(g) \ , \ \zeta \in U(1), g \in G \\ \tilde{X}^L \Psi &= 0 \ , \ \forall \tilde{X}^L \in \mathcal{P} \end{split}$$

where a Polarizarion $\mathcal P$ is a maximal left subalgebra containing the generators in the kernel of Δ and excluding the central generator $\Xi \equiv \tilde{X}_{\zeta}^{L}$ of U(1). The left- and right-invariant vector fields are:

$$\tilde{X}_{z}^{L} = \kappa \frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \frac{iz^{*}}{2N(1+\kappa)} \left(i\eta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \right) - \frac{iz^{*}}{1+\kappa} \Xi$$

$$\tilde{X}_{z^{*}}^{L} = \kappa \frac{\partial}{\partial z^{*}} - \frac{iz}{2N(1+\kappa)} \left(i\eta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \right) + \frac{iz}{1+\kappa} \Xi$$

$$\tilde{X}_{\eta}^{L} = i\eta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} - 2iz \frac{\partial}{\partial z} + 2iz^{*} \frac{\partial}{\partial z^{*}}$$

$$\tilde{X}_{\zeta}^{L} = i\zeta \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta} \equiv \Xi,$$
(5)

$$\tilde{X}_{z}^{R} = \frac{\eta^{-2}}{(1+\kappa)} \left[\frac{(1+\kappa)^{2}}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \frac{z^{*2}}{N} \frac{\partial}{\partial z^{*}} - i \frac{z^{*}}{N} \left(i\eta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \right) + iz^{*} \Xi \right] \\
\tilde{X}_{z^{*}}^{R} = \frac{\eta^{2}}{(1+\kappa)} \left[\frac{(1+\kappa)^{2}}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial z^{*}} + \frac{z^{2}}{N} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} + i \frac{z}{N} \left(i\eta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \right) - iz\Xi \right] \\
\tilde{X}_{\eta}^{R} = i\eta \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \\
\tilde{X}_{\zeta}^{R} = i\zeta \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta} \equiv \Xi.$$
(6)

The operators are

$$\hat{z} \equiv \tilde{X}_{z^*}^R, \quad \hat{z}^{\dagger} \equiv -\tilde{X}_{z}^R, \quad \hat{H} \equiv \frac{i}{2}\tilde{X}_{\eta}^R = \frac{i}{\omega}\tilde{X}_{t}^R = \frac{1}{\hbar\omega}\hat{E}, \quad (7)$$

where $\eta = e^{i\theta}$ and $\theta = \frac{\omega t}{2}$, with the commutation relations

$$\left[\hat{H},\hat{z}\right] = -\hat{z}, \quad \left[\hat{H},\hat{z}^{\dagger}\right] = \hat{z}^{\dagger}, \quad \left[\hat{z},\hat{z}^{\dagger}\right] = \hat{1} + \frac{1}{N}\hat{H}$$
(8)

A polarization is given by $\mathcal{P} = \langle \tilde{X}^L_{\eta}, \tilde{X}^L_z \rangle$, with solutions

$$\Psi = \zeta \sum_{n} e^{-2in\theta} c_n \Phi_n^N(z, z^*)$$

$$\Phi_n^N(z, z^*) \equiv \frac{1}{\pi \sqrt{n!}} \sqrt{\frac{(2N+n-1)!}{(2N-1)!(2N)^n}} \sqrt{\frac{2N-1}{2N}} \left(\frac{1+\kappa}{2}\right)^{-N-n} z^{*n}$$
(9)

which constitute the Fock-Bargmann-like space with the group invariant measure $\frac{dzdz^2}{\kappa}$.

The relativistic Fock space is given by:

$$<0|0>=1, |n>=\frac{(\hat{z}^{\dagger})^{n}|0>}{\sqrt{n!\prod_{s=1}^{n-1}(1+\frac{s}{2N})}},$$
(10)

¹In reality the measure on the whole group is $\frac{dzdz^*d\theta}{\kappa}$ but the time variable (or θ) can be factorized out.

$$\hat{z}|n > = \sqrt{n(1 + \frac{n-1}{2N})}|n-1 > \\
\hat{z}^{\dagger}|n > = \sqrt{(n+1)(1 + \frac{n}{2N})}|n+1 > \\
\hat{H}|n > = n|n >$$
(11)

2 Relativistic coherent states (RCS).

In the group-quantization scheme, the coherent states (generalizing the standard non-relativistic coherent states [4]), as well as the wave functions given above, are defined by mean of infinitesimal relations (differential polarization equations), rather than a finite group action on the vacuum associated with a previously given representation of the group [5,6] (see [7,8,9] for a more general study of overcomplete families of satates non-necessarily associated with groups). They are defined simply as:

$$|z\rangle \equiv \sum_{n} \Phi_{n}^{N^{*}}(z, z^{*})|n\rangle \leftrightarrow \Phi_{n}^{N}(z, z^{*}) = \langle z|n\rangle$$
(12)

The associated (time-independent) wave functions $\langle z'|z \rangle \equiv \Phi_z(z')$ correspond to the choice $c_n \equiv c_n(z) = \Phi_n^N(z, z^*)$ in $\Psi(z')$.

The RCS are identified with the generalized coherent states on the unit complex disk [5] once the change of variables $z_D = \sqrt{\frac{2}{N}} \frac{z}{1+\kappa} \in D$ ($z \in C$), has been made, where D is the unit complex disk.

The expectation values of \hat{z} and \hat{z}^{\dagger} in the coherent states are $\langle \hat{z} \rangle \equiv \frac{\langle z | \hat{z} | z \rangle}{\langle z | z \rangle} = z$ and $\langle \hat{z}^{\dagger} \rangle = z^*$, making the variables $z, z^* \in C$ specially suitable to describe the Bargmann-Fock-like representation. Defining the operators \hat{x} and \hat{p} in the usual way, i.e.

$$\hat{x} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2m\omega}} \left(\hat{z} + \hat{z}^{\dagger} \right) , \qquad \hat{p} = \sqrt{\frac{m\omega\hbar}{2}} \left(\hat{z}^{\dagger} - \hat{z} \right)$$
(13)

we get $\langle \hat{x} \rangle = x$, $\langle \hat{p} \rangle = p$, where x and p are defined in the same way, constituting the phase-space coordinates for Anti-deSitter space-time.

Repeating the group quantization in the new variables we obtain the x-representation in terms of the relativistic Hermite Polynomials [10]. Both representations are related through the Relativistic Bargmann transform [11], the kernel of which is nothing other than the configuration-space wave function of the coherent states $|z\rangle$ defined above:

$$\langle x|z\rangle = \hat{C}^{N} \left(\frac{1+\kappa}{2}\right)^{-N} \alpha^{N} \left[1 + \frac{s_{0}^{2}}{N}\right]^{-N}, \qquad (14)$$

where

$$s_{0} \equiv \sqrt{\frac{m\omega}{\hbar}} x - \frac{\sqrt{2}z\alpha}{1+\kappa}, \quad \alpha \equiv \sqrt{1 + \frac{\omega^{2}x^{2}}{c^{2}}}$$
$$\hat{C}^{N} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left(\frac{m\omega}{\hbar\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \sqrt{\frac{2N-1}{2N}} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(N)}{\sqrt{N}\Gamma(N-\frac{1}{2})}}$$
(15)

In the non-relativistic limit we regain the usual coherent states in configuration space:

$$< x|z>^{N.R.} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left(\frac{m\omega}{\hbar\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} e^{-z^2/2 + \sqrt{2m\omega/\hbar}xz} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\frac{m\omega}{\hbar}x^2 + |z|^2)}$$
 (16)

The uncertainty relations for the operators \hat{x} and \hat{p} are:

$$\Delta \hat{x} \Delta \hat{p} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \sqrt{\kappa^2 + \frac{1}{4N^2} \left[4|z|^4 - (z^2 + z^{*2}) \right]} \ge \frac{1}{2} \hbar \kappa = \frac{1}{2} |\langle \hat{x}, \hat{p} \rangle |$$
(17)

The equality holds for $z = |z|e^{in\pi}$, i.e. $z \in R$, defining the so-called "intelligent states", but only for z = 0 (the vacuum) we reach the absolute minimum (see [12] for the calculations in the unit Disk).

3 Canonical (higher-order) creation and annihilation operators: canonical, relativistic coherent states.

The definition of polarization in group quantization can be generalized so as to admit operators in the left enveloping algebra. This generalization has been already exploited in finding a position operator for the free relativistic particle [13] (as well as in solving anomalous problems [2]). In the present case it also makes sense to look for basic operators satisfying canonical (versus manifestly covariant) commutation relations. Let us then seek a power series in \tilde{X}_z^L and $\tilde{X}_{z^*}^L$,

$$\tilde{X}_{z^{-}}^{L HO} = \tilde{X}_{z^{-}}^{L} + \frac{\alpha}{N} \tilde{X}_{z}^{L} \tilde{X}_{z}^{L} \tilde{X}_{z^{-}}^{L} + \dots
\tilde{X}_{\eta}^{L HO} = \tilde{X}_{\eta}^{L} - \mu \tilde{X}_{z}^{L} \tilde{X}_{z^{-}}^{L} - \frac{\nu}{N} \tilde{X}_{z}^{L} \tilde{X}_{z}^{L} \tilde{X}_{z^{-}}^{L} \tilde{X}_{z^{-}}^{L} + \dots,$$
(18)

such that $\mathcal{P}^{HO} = \langle \tilde{X}_{\eta}^{LHO}, \tilde{X}_{z}^{LHO} \rangle$ contains \tilde{X}_{η}^{L} and excludes \tilde{X}_{ζ}^{L} . The coefficients of the power series are determined by the requirement that \mathcal{P}^{HO} is a polarization and the corresponding right operators define a unitary action on the wave functions Ψ which fortunately are the same as before. More concretely,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{X}_{\eta}^{LHO}, \tilde{X}_{z^{*}}^{LHO} \end{bmatrix} = -2\tilde{X}_{z^{*}}^{LHO}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{X}_{z}^{RHO}, \tilde{X}_{z^{*}}^{RHO} \end{bmatrix} = \hat{1}$$

$$(19)$$

The resulting higher-order (canonical) creation and annihilation operator are:

$$\hat{z}^{HO} \equiv \hat{a} = \hat{z} - \left(\frac{1}{4N} - \frac{3}{32N^2}\right) \hat{z}^{\dagger} \hat{z} \hat{z} + \frac{7}{32N^2} \hat{z}^{\dagger} \hat{z}^{\dagger} \hat{z} \hat{z} \hat{z} + \dots \equiv \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\hat{\kappa}}} \hat{z}$$

$$\hat{z}^{\dagger HO} \equiv \hat{a}^{\dagger} = \hat{z}^{\dagger} \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\hat{\kappa}}}$$
(20)

and the energy operator is:

$$\hat{H}^{HO} = N\left(\hat{\kappa} - 1\right) = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a} \tag{21}$$

where $\hat{\kappa} \equiv \sqrt{1 + \frac{2}{N} \left(\hat{z}^{\dagger} \hat{z} \right)}$ and the operator $\sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\hat{\kappa}}}$ must be considered as functions of the single operator $\left(\hat{z}^{\dagger} \hat{z} \right)$.

The commutation relations,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} = \hat{1} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \hat{H}^{HO}, \hat{a} \end{bmatrix} = -\hat{a} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \hat{H}^{HO}, \hat{a}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} = \hat{a}^{\dagger},$$
 (22)

have the non-relativistic (canonical) form. Their action on the Fock space is:

$$\hat{a}|n > = \sqrt{n}|n-1 >
\hat{a}^{\dagger}|n > = \sqrt{(n+1)}|n+1 >
\hat{H}^{HO}|n > = n|n >,$$
(23)

which reproduces the non-relativistic harmonic oscillator representation, although it must be stressed that the estates $|n\rangle$ are the same relativistic energy eigenstates as before.

3.1 Canonical coherent states.

It seems quite natural to define canonical coherent states $|a\rangle$ as the eigenstates of the canonical annihilation operator, $\hat{a}|a\rangle = a|a\rangle$, with solutions:

$$|a\rangle = e^{-|a|^2/2} \sum_{n} \frac{a^n}{\sqrt{n!}} |n\rangle, \qquad (24)$$

and define a non-relativistic Bargmann-Fock space in the usual way:

J

$$< a|n> = < n|a>^{*} = e^{-|a|^{2}/2} \frac{a^{*n}}{\sqrt{n!}} \equiv \Psi_{n}^{N.R.}(a)$$
 (25)

The connection to the relativistic Bargmann-Fock space is given by

$$\Psi_{a}(z) \equiv \langle z|a \rangle = \sum_{n} \langle z|n \rangle \langle n|a \rangle = \sum_{n} \Psi_{n}(z) \Psi_{n}^{N.R.}(a)^{*}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{2N-1}{2N}} e^{-|a|^{2}/2} \left(\frac{1+\kappa}{2}\right)^{-N} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{n!} \sqrt{\frac{(2N)_{n}}{(2N)^{n}}} \left(\frac{2az^{*}}{1+\kappa}\right)^{n} \qquad (26)$$

$$\approx \frac{1}{\pi} e^{-|a|^{2}/2} e^{-|z|^{2}/2} e^{az^{*}} \left\{1 - \frac{1}{4N} \left[1 - \frac{1}{2} \left(|z|^{2} - az^{*}\right) \left(3|z|^{2} - az^{*}\right)\right] + \dots\right\}$$

The expectation value $\langle a|\hat{z}|a \rangle$ defines a classical function z = z(a) relating the variables a, a^* and z, z^* as follows:

$$\langle a|\hat{z}|a\rangle = a\sum_{n}c_{n} \langle a|\left(\hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}\right)^{n}|a\rangle$$
(27)

where c_n are the coefficients of the power series of $f(u) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{u}{2N}}$. Then we define:

$$z(a) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{|a|^2}{2N}} a$$
 (28)

Note that although $\langle a | (\hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a})^n | a \rangle \neq \langle a | \hat{a}^{\dagger} n \hat{a}^n | a \rangle = |a|^{2n}$, any operator of the form $\hat{F} = \hat{O}\hat{a}^m$ (or $\hat{G} = \hat{a}^{\dagger p}\hat{O}$), where $[\hat{H}^{HO}, \hat{O}] = 0$, defines a classical function F(a) (or G(a)) by the formula:

$$F(a) = a^m \sum_n o_n |a|^{2n} , \quad G(a) = a^{*p} \sum_n o_n |a|^{2n} , \qquad (29)$$

where $\langle a|\hat{O}|a\rangle = \sum_{n} o_{n} \langle a|\left(\hat{H}^{HO}\right)^{n}|a\rangle$. The functions

$$a(z) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\kappa}} z , \quad a^*(z) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\kappa}} z^*$$
 (30)

turn out to be the Darboux coordinates taking the symplectic form $\Omega \equiv \frac{1}{\kappa} dz \wedge dz^*$ to canonical form $\Omega = da \wedge da^*$.

Finally, we define

$$\hat{q} \equiv \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2m\omega}} \left(\hat{a} + \hat{a}^{\dagger} \right)$$

$$\hat{\pi} \equiv \sqrt{\frac{m\omega\hbar}{2}} \left(\hat{a}^{\dagger} - \hat{a} \right)$$
(31)

satisfying

$$[\hat{q},\hat{\pi}] = i\hbar\hat{1} , \qquad (32)$$

and their corresponding classical functions. For these operators we obviously obtain

$$\Delta \hat{q} \Delta \hat{\pi} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \tag{33}$$

on the |a> states.

4 Final Remarks

The construction of the canonical (higher-order) creation and annihilation operators \hat{a}^{\dagger} and \hat{a} in the 1+1-D relativistic harmonic oscillator is a matter of convenience rather than a necessity since a first-order polarization, the manifestly covariant one, $\mathcal{P} = \langle \tilde{X}_{\eta}^{L}, \tilde{X}_{z}^{L} \rangle$ exists. However, the situation become quite different for the relativistic harmonic oscillator with spin, at least from a geometrical point of view. The reason is that the doubly pseudo-extended SO(3,2) (anti-de Sitter) Lie algebra, containing the commutators

$$[\hat{x}_{i}, \hat{p}_{j}] = i\hbar\delta_{ij}(\hat{1} + \frac{1}{mc^{2}}\hat{E})$$
(34)

accounting for the mass, and the commutator

$$[\hat{J}_{+}, \hat{J}_{-}] = 2\left(\hat{J}_{3} + j\hat{1}\right) \tag{35}$$

accounting for the spin, does not admit a consistent way (i.e. compatible with the rest of the symmetry) of defining two sets of first-order conjugated creation-annihilation (hor co-ordinate-momentum) operators. In other words, the system does not admit a (first-order) polarization and therefore the Hilbert space of U(1)-equivariant complex functions on the group can be only partially reduced [14]. The full reduction then requires the introduction of higher-order operators in the polarization, generalizing those introduced here and accounting for proper intrinsic spin operators.

References

- [1] V. Aldaya, J.A.de Azcárraga, J. Bisquert and J.M. Cerveró, J. Phys. A23, 707 (1990)
- [2] V. Aldaya and J.A.de Azcárraga, J. Math. Phys. 23, 1297 (1982); V. Aldaya, J. Bisquert, R. Loll and J. Navarro-Salas, J. Math. Phys. 33, 3087 (1992)
- [3] E.J. Saletan, J. Math. Phys. 2, 1 (1961)
- [4] R.J. Glauber, Phys. Rev. 130, 2529 (1963); 131 2766 (1963)
- [5] A.M. Perelomov, Commun. Math. Phys. 26, 22 (1972)
- [6] A.M. Perelomov, Generalized Coherent States and their Applications, Springer, Berlin (1986)
- [7] J.R. Klauder, J. Math. Phys. 4, 1055 (1963); 5, 177 (1964)
- [8] J.R. Klauder and J. Mac Kenna, J. Math. Phys. 5, 878 (1964)
- [9] J.R. Klauder and E.C.G. Sudarshan, Fundamentals of Quantum Optics, Benjamin, New York (1968)
- [10] V. Aldaya, J. Bisquert and J. Navarro-Salas, Phys. Lett. A156, 351 (1991)
- [11] V. Aldaya and J. Guerrero, J. Phys. A26, L1175 (1993)
- [12] K. Wódkiewicz and J.H. Eberly, J. Opt. Soc. Am. B2, 458 (1985)
- [13] V. Aldaya, J. Bisquert, J. Guerrero and J. Navarro-Salas, J. Phys. A26, 5375 (1993)
- [14] V. Aldaya, J. Bisquert, J. Guerrero and J. Navarro-Salas, Group-theoretical construction of the quantum relativistic harmonic oscillator, UG-FT-34/93

19951165777

N95-22994

ON PSEUDOSUPERSYMMETRIC OSCILLATORS AND REALITY OF RELATIVISTIC ENERGIES FOR VECTOR MESONS

J. BECKERS and N. DEBERGH

Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, Institute of Physics, B.5, University of Liège, B-4000-LIEGE 1 (Belgium)

Abstract

Specific oscillators - hereafter called pseudosupersymmetric oscillators - appear as interesting nonrelativistic concepts in connection with the study of relativistic vector mesons interacting with an external constant magnetic field when the real character of the energy eigenvalues is required as expected. A new pseudosupersymmetric quantum mechanics can then be developed and the corresponding pseudosuper-symmetries can be pointed out.

1. Introduction

There are two old problems which appear when we study the interaction of relativistic vector mesons (spin one particles with nonzero rest mass) with external constant magnetic fields chosen, in particular, as directed along the z-axis, i.e. $\vec{B} = (0,0,B)$. The first one which will be of special interest here is mainly connected to the energy eigenvalue problem subtended by the inclusion of an anomalous moment coupling inside the relativistic equation of motion ensuring that the spin 1-boson has a gyromagnetic ratio value of g = 2. A survey of such a question has recently been presented in the Daicic-Frankel study^[1] where further references can also be found. We will refer to that paper in order to save place here. The <u>second</u> problem is concerned with the fulfilment of the causality principle through the corresponding wave equation

¹ E-mail : Beckers at BLIULG11.

² Chercheur, Institut Interuniversitaire des Sciences Nucléaires, Bruxelles.

describing such an interaction. Its discussion can be referred to another contribution^[2] where the so-called method of characteristics^[3] plays the prominent role. Let us only comment on the fact that our final equation will satisfy all the requirements needed by the causality principle but it will not be discussed here, so that we can polarize our attention mainly on the first problem.

After a short remark pointing out the first difficulty (§2), we want to insist on our understanding of the so-called parasupersymmetric quantum mechanics (PSSQM)^[4,5] for motivating our way of eliminating the above problem (§3) and for studying the new (nonrelativistic) formulation and Hamiltonian that we get in that way (§4). Besides the usual bosons, we are led to the introduction of a new kind of fermions that we call "pseudofermions" (§5) and to new symmetries that we call "pseudosupersymmetries" as it will be clear in the following by comparison with well known supersymmetries^[6] and parasupersymmetries^[4,5].

2. On the reality of (relativistic) energy eigenvalues

By exploiting the remarkable Johnson-Lippmann contribution^[7] developed for spin $\frac{1}{2}$ -particles, it is easy^[1] to decompose the spin 1-formalism in a z-part associated with the so-called H_{//} and, in a (x,y)-part, associated with the so-called H_⊥, the latter being readily studied through 1-dimensional harmonic oscillator characteristics. Then, the energy eigenvalue problem for vector mesons leads to information such that

$$E^2 = 1 + eB(n + \frac{1}{2}) - 2eBs$$
 (2.1)

where e is the charge of the vector meson, n the Landau-level quantum number (n = 0, 1, 2, ...) and s the eigenvalues of the third component of the spin operator $(s = 0, \pm 1)$, when we have chosen $\hbar = 1$, m = 1, c = 1 and defined the angular frequency $\omega = e B$ of the resulting harmonic oscillator. In eq.(2.1), the first term in the righthand side corresponds to the relativistic rest mass term, the second one to the original discussion of H_{\perp} and the third one to the presence of an anomalous magnetic moment coupling^[1]. Such an equation evidently permits

$$E^2 < 0$$
 (2.2)

when eB > 1, n = 0, s = 1, so that we are dealing with the problem of possible complex energy eigenvalues for intense magnetic fields of critical magnitudes.

3. Some observations from PSSQM

PSSQM has been proposed by Rubakov and Spiridonov^[4] and slightly modified by us^[5]. Both approaches consider the superposition of bosons and parafermions^[8] of order 2 and lead to 3-fold degeneracies in the energy spectrum. But, if, in the Rubakov-Spiridonov context^[4], the groundstate is characterized by a negative energy eigenvalue, our groundstate has a null energy eigenvalue^[9]. We have thus pointed out that the relativistic result (2.2) could have a direct connection with the nonrelativistic Rubakov-Spiridonov approach and that, consequently, we could handle the problem by exploiting our approach and its relativistic counterpart excluding results such as those given by eqs.(2.1) and (2.2).

In fact, such a method has recently been developed by one of us^[10] by following strictly our PSSQM-context^[5]. Here, we want, in a certain complementary way, to center our attention on new harmonic oscillatorlike characteristics ensuring the reality ot the energy eigenvalues.

4. To a new nonrelativistic Hamiltonian

We have modified the relativistic formulation of vector mesons interacting with our B-magnetic field in such a way that we get a six-component Klein-Gordon type equation of the form

$$p_0^2 \chi (x) = (1 + \pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2 + p_3^2 + eB - 2eB\Sigma_3) \chi (x)$$
(4.1)

$$\pi_i = p_i - e A_i, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
 (4.2)

$$A_1 = -\frac{1}{2} By, \quad A_2 = \frac{1}{2} Bx,$$
 (4.3)

where

$$\Sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} s_3 & 0 \\ 0 & s_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad s_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.4)

This 6 by 6 formulation leads to a bounded energy spectrum $(E_0 \ge 0)$ with 3-fold degeneracies and admits a <u>nonrelativistic</u> (NR) limit characterized by the Hamiltonian

$$H_{NR} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2 \right) + \frac{e B}{2} \left(1 - 2 s_3 \right).$$
 (4.5)

Such developments solve our (relativistic) problem connected with eqs.(2.1) and (2.2). They also point out a new Hamiltonien (4.5) which, now, has to be visited.

5. From this new relativistic Hamiltonian : the appearance of "pseudofermions"

From supersymmetric^[6] as well as parasupersymmetric^[4,5] considerations, we immediately observe that the Hamiltonian (4.5) is made of two contributions : the first term is a purely bosonic part constructed in terms of <u>even</u> bosonic operators π_1 and π_2 while the second term looks like a purely "fermionic" part constructed in terms of <u>odd</u> "fermionic" operators called hereafter A and B. In fact, we propose to construct new <u>charges</u>

$$Q_1 = A \pi_1 + B \pi_2, \quad Q_2 = -B \pi_1 + A \pi_2,$$
 (5.1)

where

$$A = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1+i \\ 0 & 0 & -1+i \\ 1-i & -1-i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1-i \\ 0 & 0 & 1+i \\ 1+i & 1-i & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.2)

The matrices A and B are Hermitean (so that the charges also are) and have a manifestly odd character. It is straightforward to show that, with i, j = 1, 2, we have

$$Q_i^3 = Q_i H_{NR}, [Q_i, H_{NR}] = 0,$$
 (5.3a)

$$Q_{i}^{2}Q_{j} = Q_{j}Q_{i}^{2} = -Q_{i}Q_{j}Q_{i} = Q_{j}H_{NR}, i \neq j.$$
 (5.3b)

Such a structure is neither a Lie superalgebra^[11], nor a Lie parasuperalgebra^[12]. It is more clearly characterized when we refer to the two charges

$$Q = c(Q_1 - iQ_2), \quad Q^{\dagger} = c(Q_1 + iQ_2), \quad c \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (5.4)

Indeed they lead to the structure relations

$$Q^{2} = 0$$
, $Q^{\dagger 2} = 0$, $[H_{NR}, Q] = [H_{NR}, Q^{\dagger}] = 0$,
 $QQ^{\dagger}Q = 4c^{2}QH_{NR}$, $Q^{\dagger}QQ^{\dagger} = 4c^{2}Q^{\dagger}H_{NR}$,
(5.5)

already obtained by Semenov and Chumakov^[13] as possible ones associated with the discussion of 3-level systems. By searching for the charges (5.4) in terms of annihilation and creation (oscillatorlike) operators, we define

$$Q = \frac{1}{2} (A + iB)(\pi_1 - i\pi_2) = \sqrt{\omega} b a^{\dagger}, \quad Q^{\dagger} = \sqrt{\omega} b^{\dagger} a, \quad (5.6)$$

with

$$a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega}} (\pi_1 + i \pi_2)$$
 (5.7)

as usual. We then get information on our "fermionic" operators b and b[†] such that

$$b^{2} = b^{\dagger 2} = 0$$
, $bb^{\dagger}b = b$, $b^{\dagger}bb^{\dagger} = b^{\dagger}$. (5.8)

These relations mean that the corresponding particles are bosons (see eq.(5.7)) and "a new kind of fermions" (see eq.(5.8)) that we call "pseudofermions". The first equalities in eqs.(5.8) corresponding to nilpotencies show that they are not far to satisfy the Pauli principle but the last equalities say that they are not at all usual fermions. Moreover, we can prove that they are neither parafermions^[8], nor quons^[14], nor orthofermions^[15].

For c = 1 or $\frac{1}{2}$, eqs.(5.4) and (5.5) appear to be compatible with those of PSSQM developed by Rubakov-Spiridonov^[4] or by us^[5], respectively. Moreover, the corresponding structure relations of supersymmetric developments^[6] imply the eqs.(5.5).

These properties suggest that our symmetries (evidently called "pseudosupersymmetries") are, in a certain sense, "between" super- and parasupersymmetries. We have thus the basic ingredients of a new tool that we call "pseudosupersymmetric quantum mechanics" which could be developed in terms of two "pseudopotentials" W_1 and W_2 .

References

- [1] J. Daicic and N.E. Frankel, J.Phys. A26,1397 (1993).
- [2] B. Vijayalakshmi, M. Seetharaman and P.M. Mathews, J.Phys. A12,665 (1979).
- [3] R. Courant and D. Hilbert, *Methods of Mathematical Physics* (J.Wiley & Sons,N.Y., 1962).
- [4] V.A. Rubakov and V.P. Spiridonov, Mod.Phys.Lett. A3,1337 (1988).
- [5] J. Beckers and N. Debergh, Nucl.Phys. B340,767 (1990).
- [6] E. Witten, Nucl.Phys. B188,513 (1981).
- [7] M.H.Johnson and B.A. Lippmann, Phys.Rev. 76,828 (1949).
- [8] Y. Ohnuki and S. Kamefuchi, *Quantum Field Theory and Parastatistics* (University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1982).
- [9] J. Beckers and N. Debergh, Parasupersymmetries and Lie superalgebras, in Proceedings of the 18th International Colloquium on Group Theoretical methods in Physics, MOSKOW 1990, Eds. V.V. Dodonov and V.I. Manko, Lecture Notes in Physics 382, Springer Verlag, Berlin,414 (1991).
- [10] N. Debergh, to be published in J.Phys. A (Letter) (1994).
- [11] V.G. Kac, Adv.Math. 26,8 (1977);
 V. Rittenberg, *Lecture Notes in Physics*, vol.79,3 (1978).
- [12] J. Beckers and N. Debergh, J.Phys. A23,L751S,L1073 (1990).
- [13] V.V. Semenov and S.M. Chumakov, Phys.Lett. B262,451 (1991).
- [14] O.W. Greenberg, Quons, an Interpolation between Bose and Fermi Oscillators, in Proceedings of Workshop on Harmonic Oscillators, NASA Conference Publications 3197 (1993).
- [15] A. Khare, A.K. Mishra and G. Rajasekaran, Int.J.Mod.Phys. A8, 1245 (1993).



-P

1995116578

ON PARASUPERSYMMETRIC OSCILLATORS AND RELATIVISTIC VECTOR MESONS IN CONSTANT MAGNETIC FIELDS

N. DEBERGH and J. BECKERS

Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, Institute of Physics, B.5, University of Liège, B-4000-LIEGE 1 (Belgium)

Abstract

Johnson-Lippmann considerations on oscillators and their connection with the minimal coupling schemes are visited in order to introduce a new Sakata-Taketani equation describing vector mesons in interaction with a constant magnetic field. This new proposal, based on a specific parasupersymmetric oscillatorlike system, is characterized by real energies as opposed to previously pointed out relativistic equations corresponding to this interacting context.

1. Relativistic descriptions of free vector mesons

Free vector mesons can be described through many (well known) equations, f.i.

- the KEMMER equation^[1]

$$(\beta^{\mu} p_{\mu} - 1)\psi = 0$$

where the (10 \times 10) matrices β_{μ} generate the Kemmer algebra

¹ Chercheur, Institut Interuniversitaire des Sciences Nucléaires, Bruxelles.

² E-mail : BECKERS at BLIULG11.

$$\beta_{\mu} \beta_{\nu} \beta_{\lambda} + \beta_{\lambda} \beta_{\nu} \beta_{\mu} = g_{\mu\nu} \beta_{\lambda} + g_{\lambda\nu} \beta_{\mu}.$$

- the SAKATA-TAKETANI equation^[2]

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\varphi = \left[(I \otimes \sigma_2) + \frac{\vec{p}^2}{2}I \otimes (\sigma_2 + i\sigma_1) - iS_jS_jp_jp_l \otimes \sigma_1 \right]\varphi$$
$$= H_{ST}\varphi$$

where the (6×6) matrices are direct products of $D^{(1)}$ and Pauli matrices. Notice that, in the two above equations, we take as units the rest mass, the velocity of light and the Dirac constant. Our choice is also to use the metric tensor

$$G = \{ g^{\mu\nu} | g^{00} = -g^{ii} = 1 \}.$$

The Kemmer equation reduces to the Sakata-Taketani one when one considers the (six) physical components, only. Namely, the Hamiltonian form of the equation (1.1) together with the initial condition write

$$i \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \psi = \left(\left[\beta_0, \beta_j \right] p_j + \beta_0 \right) \psi \equiv H_{\kappa} \psi, \qquad (1.3a)$$

$$\left(H_{\kappa}\beta_{0}-1\right)\psi=0. \tag{1.3b}$$

One can then shows that, through the action of the transformation $S = 1 + \beta_j \beta_0^2 p_j$, the above system becomes

$$(\beta_0^2 - 1)\psi' = 0,$$
 (1.4a)

$$i \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \psi' = H_{ST} \psi'$$
 (1.4b)

$$\psi' = S \psi = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.5)

if

2. Relativistic descriptions for vector mesons interacting with constant magnetic fields

The corresponding equations hold for vector mesons interacting with constant magnetic fields directed along the x_3 -axis, i.e.

- in the KEMMER case [3]

$$\left(\beta^{\mu}\pi_{\mu} - 1 + (1 - \beta_{5}^{2}) \in BS_{3}\right)\psi = 0$$
(2.1)

where

$$\pi_{\mu} = p_{\mu} - e A_{\mu}, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$A_0 = 0$$
, $A_1 = -\frac{B}{2}x_2$, $A_2 = \frac{B}{2}x_1$, $A_3 = 0$, (2.3)

$$\beta_{5} = \frac{i}{4} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \beta^{\mu} \beta^{\nu} \beta^{\rho} \beta^{\sigma}, \quad \varepsilon_{0123} = 1, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$S_3 = i \left[\beta_1, \beta_2 \right]; \qquad (2.5)$$

- in the SAKATA-TAKETANI case [4]

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\varphi = \left[(I \otimes \sigma_2) + \frac{\vec{\pi}^2}{2} I \otimes (\sigma_2 + i\sigma_1) - iS_j S_l \pi_j \pi_l \otimes \sigma_1 + eBS_3 \otimes \sigma_2 \right] \varphi . (2.6)$$

The eigenvalues E corresponding to the physical components write ^[3,4] in both cases

$$E^{2} = 1 + eB(n + \frac{1}{2}) + 2eBS, S = 0, \pm 1, n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$
 (2.7)

if we limit ourselves to the so-called perpendicular part (i.e. in the plane (x_1, x_2)). So, for the particular values n = 0 and S = -1, we obtain

$$E^2 = 1 - e B$$
 (2.8)

which could, for sufficiently large magnetic fields, lead to complex energies. This is an old problem ^[5] and we propose to solve it by investigating a very recent tool : the so-called "parasupersymmetric oscillators"

3. Parasupersymmetry and the corresponding new Sakata-Taketani equation

The nonrelativistic limit corresponding to the interacting Sakata-Taketani or Kemmer Hamiltonians (2.1) and (2.6) is

$$H_{NR} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2 \right) + e B S_3.$$
 (3.1)

Taking

$$\omega = e B, \qquad (3.2a)$$

$$a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2 e B}} (\pi_1 + i \pi_2)$$
 (3.2b)

$$a^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2 e B}} (\pi_1 - i \pi_2),$$
 (3.2c)

we get

$$H_{NR} = \frac{\omega}{2} \{ a, a^{\dagger} \} + \omega S_{3} = \frac{\omega}{2} \{ a, a^{\dagger} \} + \omega \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \}$$
(3.3)

and
$$E_{NR} = \omega \left(n + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \omega \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (3.4)

These are the RUBAKOV-SPIRIDONOV parasupersymmetric Hamiltonian and spectrum for an oscillatorlike interaction^[6]. A specific feature of this parasupersymmetric model is the existence of negative eigenvalues. This evidently leads to complex relativistic energies for sufficiently large magnetic fields and confirms the Tsai results^[5].

We propose here to eliminate this defect by using another parasupersymmetric model : the BECKERS-DEBERGH parasupersymmetric oscillator ^[7] characterized by positive energies, only. More precisely, the BECKERS-DEBERGH spectrum corresponds to

$$E_{NR} = \omega \left(n + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{\omega}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.5)

Thus, the remaining point is to construct a Sakata-Taketani Hamiltonian whose nonrelativistic limit would lead to such a spectrum. We take ^[8]

$$H_{ST} = (I \otimes \sigma_2) + \frac{\pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2}{2} I \otimes (\sigma_2 - i \sigma_1) + \frac{i}{2} (\pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2) S_3^2 \otimes \sigma_1$$

- $(\pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2) \lambda + (\Pi_1^2 + \Pi_2^2) \lambda - \frac{i}{2} (\pi_1 \Pi_1 - \pi_2 \Pi_2) (S_1^2 - S_2^2) \otimes \sigma_1$
- $\frac{i}{2} (\pi_1 \Pi_2 - \pi_2 \Pi_1) \{S_1, S_2\} \otimes \sigma_1 + e B \eta,$ (3.6)

where $\lambda\,,\,\eta\,$ are undetermined and

$$\Pi_{a} = \rho_{a} + e A_{a}, \quad a = 1, 2, \qquad (3.7)$$

In order to solve our problem, we have to impose different conditions like

$$\left\{\lambda, \left(S_{1}^{2}-S_{2}^{2}\right)\otimes\sigma_{1}\right\}=\left\{\lambda, \left\{S_{1}, S_{2}\right\}\otimes\sigma_{1}\right\}=0, \qquad (3.8a)$$

$$-\frac{i}{2}\left\{(S_1^2 - S_2^2) \otimes \sigma_1, \eta\right\} + 2\left\{\{S_1, S_2\} \otimes \sigma_1\right\}\lambda - \frac{i}{2}\left\{S_1, S_2\right\} \otimes \sigma_3 = 0, \quad (3.8b)$$

$$-\frac{i}{2}\{\{S_1, S_2\} \otimes \sigma_1, \eta\} - 2\{(S_1^2 - S_2^2) \otimes \sigma_1\}\lambda + \frac{i}{2}(S_1^2 - S_2^2) \otimes \sigma_3 = 0, \quad (3.8c)$$

in order to the eliminate terms like $(\pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2)^2, \cdots$.

We then obtain

$$\eta = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{i}{4} & a_3 & 0 \\ 0 & a_1 & 0 & -a_3 & -\frac{i}{4} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & a_2 \\ \frac{i}{4} & a_3 & 0 & -a_1 & 0 & 0 \\ -a_3 & \frac{i}{4} & 0 & 0 & -a_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\eta = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 & -2ia_1 & 0 & \alpha_4 & \alpha_3 & 0 \\ 2ia_1 & \alpha_1 & 0 & -\alpha_3 & \alpha_4 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha_5 & 0 & 0 & \alpha_2 \\ 4ia_3 - \alpha_4 & \alpha_3 & 0 & -\alpha_1 & 2ia_1 & 0 \\ -\alpha_3 & 4ia_3 - \alpha_4 & 0 & -2ia_1 & -\alpha_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha_6 & 0 & 0 & -\alpha_5 \end{pmatrix},$$

together with constraints like

$$a_1^2 - a_3^2 = -\frac{1}{16}, \quad a_3 \alpha_3 = a_1 \alpha_1, \quad \cdots$$

Taking now

$$a_1 = 0, \quad a_2 = -\frac{i}{2}, \quad a_3 = \frac{1}{4},$$

 $\alpha_1 = \frac{i}{\omega}\sqrt{3}, \quad \alpha_2 = i, \quad \alpha_3 = 0, \quad \alpha_4 = -\frac{i}{\omega} + \frac{i}{2}, \quad \alpha_5 = \frac{i}{\omega}, \quad \alpha_6 = \frac{i}{\omega},$

we finally have

$$E_{NR} = \omega \left(n' + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \frac{\omega}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \equiv E_{NR}^{B.D.}$$
(3.9a)

$$\mathbf{n}' \equiv \mathbf{n}_1 + \mathbf{n}_2. \tag{3.9b}$$

with

Of course, in these developments, we have exploited Johnson-Lippmann considerations^[9] relating the motion in a constant magnetic field with oscillatorlike interactions and implying in particular that the eigenvalues of the operators $\frac{1}{2}(\pi_1^2 + \pi_2^2)$ and $\frac{1}{2}(\Pi_1^2 + \Pi_2^2)$ are $\omega(n_1 + \frac{1}{2})$ and $\omega(n_2 + \frac{1}{2})$, respectively. As a result, a Sakata-Taketani type Hamiltonian avoiding the complexity of the energies is

$$\begin{aligned} H_{ST} &= (I \otimes \sigma_{2}) + i (I \otimes \sigma_{3}) + i (\sqrt{3} - 1) S_{3}^{2} \otimes \sigma_{3} \\ &+ \frac{i}{2} I \otimes (\sigma_{1} - i \sigma_{2}) + \frac{i}{2} S_{3}^{2} \otimes (\sigma_{1} + i \sigma_{2}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} (\pi_{1}^{2} + \pi_{2}^{2}) (- i S_{3} \otimes \sigma_{1} + i S_{3}^{2} \otimes \sigma_{1} + I \otimes (\sigma_{2} - i \sigma_{1})) \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} (\Pi_{1}^{2} + \Pi_{2}^{2}) (i S_{3} \otimes \sigma_{1} + i S_{3}^{2} \otimes \sigma_{1} + I \otimes (\sigma_{2} - i \sigma_{1})) \\ &- \frac{i}{2} (\pi_{1} \Pi_{1} - \pi_{2} \Pi_{2}) (S_{1}^{2} - S_{2}^{2}) \otimes \sigma_{1} - \frac{i}{2} (\pi_{1} \Pi_{2} + \pi_{2} \Pi_{1}) \{S_{1}, S_{2}\} \otimes \sigma_{1} \\ &+ e B \left(\frac{i}{2} I \otimes (\sigma_{1} + i \sigma_{2}) + \frac{1}{2} S_{3}^{2} \otimes \sigma_{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.10)

References

- [1] N. Kemmer, Proc.Roy.Soc.London, Ser. A173,91 (1939).
- [2] S. Sakata and M. Taketani, Proc. Phys. Math. Soc. Japan 92,757 (1940).
- [3] W.Y. Tsai and A. Yildiz, Phys.Rev. D4,3643 (1971).
- [4] J. Daicic and N.E. Frankel, J.Phys. A26, 1397 (1993).
- [5] W.Y. Tsai, Phys.Rev. **D4**,3652 (1971).
- [6] V.A. Rubakov and V.P. Spiridonov, Mod. Phys. Lett. A3, 1337 (1988).
- [7] J. Beckers and N. Debergh, Nucl. Phys. B340,767 (1990).
- [8] N. Debergh, J.Phys. A27 (1994), to be published.
- [9] M.H. Johnson and B.A. Lippmann, Phys. Rev. 76,828 (1949).

1995116579

Pseudoclassical description of the Dirac Oscillator.

A. Del Sol Mesa

Instituto de Física, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Apartado Postal 20-364, 01000 México D. F. México

R. P. Martínez y Romero

Departamento de Física, Facultad de Ciencias Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Apartado Postal 20-364, 01000 México D. F. México

Abstract

In this paper we discuss the Dirac Oscillator wave equation in terms of a pseudoclassical language, using Grassmann variables to describe the internal degrees of freedom of the oscillator. Regarding the original wave equation as a classical constraint, we use the theory of constrained systems, to develop a reparametrization invariant lagrangian, which is the pseudoclassical equivalent of the quantum case. The consistency of the Hamiltonian formalism and the quantization procedure are also analized.

1. Introduction

As is well known, in the second decade of this century Dirac developed the square root method, to analyze the internal spin degrees of freedom in quantum mechanics. Dirac accomplished his task by means of a Clifford algebra for these degrees. Altought at that time the Grassmann algebras were already known, there existed no classical counterpart available for his approach. In present day point of view, however, we know that this old problem can be formulated using anticommuting, fermionic variables, to reproduce the behavior of the spin degrees of freedom at the classical level. Since the Grassmann variables have no direct physical meaning, the theories formulated with them are usually

327

called pseudoclassical.

One important point of the approach formulated above is that, associated with the anticommuting variables and involving also the rest of the non-Grassmann dynamical variables of the theory, (called bosonic variables), there exist a supersymmetric gauge invariance in the formulation. One of the reasons for this supersymmetry is the fact that any quantum wave equation present in the theory is translated at the classical level as a first class constraint. According to Dirac conjecture, all first class constraints generate gauge transformations, but since in this case the Grassmann and the bosonic variables are mixed up by the gauge transformation they become, in fact, supersymmetric.

This way of reasoning has been analyzed by several authors [1,2,3,4] as a pevious step to quantization. The idea is in some sense based in Dirac's point of view that we should first try to fully understand a problem at a classical level, and only then try to quantize it [5]. One consequence of this procedure is that we can apply it to systems which we don't fully understand, for instance in the case of two body, or more, relativistic wave equations [1]. The interesting point here is that the time evolution of the dynamical variables are just the Euler Lagrange equations, which in principle are known, thus solving the dynamics of the problem, at least at the classical level.

2. The Dirac Oscillator

Let us begin with a simple introduction to the Dirac Oscillator. Some years ago, Moshinsky and Szczepaniak introduced a relativistic wave equation linear in momentum and in position which has an harmonic oscillator spectrum plus a strong spin-orbit coupling term [6]. This equation is obtained by the replacement of the momentum of the particle in the Dirac equation by

$$\mathbf{p} \to \mathbf{p} - im\omega \mathbf{r}\beta, \qquad \qquad 1)$$

where **p** is the momentum, *m* the mass of the particle and *r* is its position, ω is the frequency of the oscillator, and β the Dirac γ^0 matrix. Taking advantage of the frame dependence vector u^{μ} , it is easy to show that the Dirac oscillator equation can be put in

the manifestly covariant form

$$(\theta \cdot P + m\theta_5) \psi = 0, \qquad 2)$$

where

$$P^{\mu} \equiv p^{\mu} - 2im\omega x_{\perp}^{\mu} (\hat{u} \cdot \theta) \theta_5, \qquad \qquad 3.a)$$

and

The operators θ^{μ} and θ_5 , are expressed in terms of the Dirac matrices in the following way

where $\gamma_5 = i\gamma^0\gamma^1\gamma^2\gamma^3$. We use natural units in which $\hbar = c = 1$ and our metric is given by $(\eta_{\mu\nu}) = \text{diag.}(-1,1,1,1)$. We recover the original Dirac Oscillator in the frame in which $\hat{u}^{\mu} = (1,0,0,0)$. The solution, spectrum degeneracy, hidden supersymmetry and other important properties are discussed in [8,9], (and references therein).

3. Pseudoclassical description

Now, the idea is to reformulate the problem in a pseudoclassical language. This is done in a natural way by translating Eq. 2) into a first class constraint

$$\mathcal{J} \equiv \theta \cdot P + m\theta_5 \approx 0, \tag{4}$$

where \approx means weak equality and the dynamical variables become pseudoclassical ones

$$\{\theta^{\mu}, \theta^{\nu}\} = i\eta^{\mu\nu},$$

$$\{\theta_5, \theta_5\} = i.$$

$$5.a)$$

Of course we know that

$$\{x^{\mu}, p^{\nu}\} = \eta^{\mu\nu}.$$
 5.b)

The Poisson braket of the first class constraint \mathcal{J} with itself, is the classical equivalent of the square of the Dirac Oscillator. In this way, thus, we generate another constraint

which could be called the pseudoclassical analogue of the Klein Gordon equation. This new constraint is constructed in such a way to be again a first class, altought secondary, constraint. Of course, if there is any second class constraint we should replace the Poisson braket for the Dirac one, in order to get rid of them.

In our case the superalgebra obeyed by the constraints is given by

$$\{\mathcal{J},\mathcal{J}\} = i\mathcal{H} = i(P^2 + m^2 - 4im\omega\lambda) \approx 0,$$

$$\{\mathcal{J},\mathcal{H}\} = 0,$$

$$\{\mathcal{H},\mathcal{H}\} = 0.$$

$$(\mathcal{J},\mathcal{H}) = 0.$$

In this equation, λ is given by

$$\lambda \equiv (\theta \cdot x_{\perp})\hat{u} \cdot (m\theta - \theta_5 P).$$
⁷

Notice that the first of this constraints is precisely the pseudoclassical Klein Gordon equation. Is in this sense that we say that we translate the square root method into a classical language. We also note from Eq. 7) that \mathcal{J} and \mathcal{H} are first class.

Following the procedure described in Ref. [7], we can construct the Lagrangian of the problem. Since the whole dynamics of the theory is contained in the constraints, the Hamiltonian of the system is a linear combination of them

$$H = N\mathcal{H} + iM\mathcal{J} \equiv 0, \tag{8}$$

where N and M are gauge fixing parameters. This in turn means that the Hamiltonian is weakly zero, implying a reparametrization invariant Lagrangian as a consequence. According to Ref. [7] the whole action is given by

$$S = \int_{\tau_2}^{\tau_1} d\tau \{-m\sqrt{-z^2}[1 - 2i\omega(\theta \cdot x_\perp)(\hat{u} \cdot \theta)] + i/2[\dot{\theta}^{\mu}\theta_{\mu} + \dot{\theta}_5\theta_5] \\ - 2im\omega(\theta \cdot x_\perp)\theta_5(\hat{u} \cdot z) + 2im\omega(z \cdot x_\perp)(\hat{u}\theta)\theta_5 \\ - 2m\omega M(\theta \cdot x_\perp)(\hat{u} \cdot \theta)\theta_5 - imM\theta_5.$$

$$9)$$

Where $z^{\mu} \equiv \dot{x}^{\mu} - iM\theta^{\mu}$.

It is not hard to prove that this action is the correct answer to our problem. From the Hamiltonian formalism, we know that the time evolution of any dynamical variable Fis given by

$$\dot{F} = \{F, H\}.$$

Hence, for the dynamical variables in our case we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x}^{\mu} &= iM\theta^{\mu} + 2NP^{\mu} + 4im\omega N(\theta \cdot x_{\perp}) \theta_{5} u^{\mu} \\ \dot{\theta}^{\mu} &= 4m^{2}\omega N[x_{\perp}^{\mu}(\hat{u} \cdot \theta) - (\theta \cdot x_{\perp}) \hat{u}^{\mu}] + MP^{\mu} \\ \dot{\theta}_{5} &= mM - 2imM\omega(\theta \cdot x_{\perp})(\hat{u} \cdot \theta) - 4m\omega N(x_{\perp} \cdot P)(\hat{u} \cdot \theta) + 4m\omega N(\theta \cdot x_{\perp})(\hat{u} \cdot P), \end{aligned}$$

$$11)$$

which are precisely the Euler-Lagrange equations of the action 9) provided

$$N(\tau) = \frac{\sqrt{-z^2}}{2m} [1 + 2i\omega(\theta \cdot x_\perp)(\hat{u} \cdot \theta)].$$
 12)

This result proves the complete agreement between the Hamiltonian and Lagrangian formalisms, and as a result we are confident that action 9) is the corect answer. What Eq. 12) tells us is that we can specify the gauge by giving a value to $\sqrt{-z^2}$, usually $\sqrt{-z^2} = -1$. In the same way we can construct the supergauge transformations for each dynamical variable F by means of the equations

$$\delta F = \{F, \epsilon^a(\tau)\phi_a\}, \quad \mathbf{a} = 1,2$$
13)

where ϕ_a represent our two constraints, and $\epsilon^a(\tau)$ are two time dependent infinitesimal parameters. The result is too long to be given here, (see reference [7]), the only point we want to remark here is that, as we already mentioned, they express the full dynamics of the theory, as is suggested by the comparison of Eqs. 10) and 13).

4. Conclusions

We note form Eq. 3.a) that the Dirac Oscillator interaction term is θ -dependent. In cases like this, the quantization procedure should be done carefully, since some properties of the Grassmann variables changes radically when quantized. For example, the θ_5 variable has the property that $\theta_5^2 = 0$ at the classical level, but at the quantum level (Eq. 3.c) $\theta_5^2 = -1/2$. Thus if we consider for instance, the Taylor expansion of a θ_5 dependent function, we obtain different results depending wether the quantization is done before or after the series expansion.

In the case of the system studied here, if we put in Eq. 6) the square of P^{μ} given by **3.a**) and proceed to quantize by means of definitions (3.c), we obtain a wrong result. The

central point here, is that we should regard P^{μ} as a basic quantity to quantize. If instead of developing the square of P^{μ} , we first quantize Eq. 6) and regard 3.a) as a quantum operator identity, we obtain a complete compatibility with the Klein Gordon wave equation associated with the Dirac Oscillator. Finally, we would like to remark that our approach could be useful to problems that are not fully understood at the quantum level, but that have θ -dependent interaction terms, such as the afforementioned two body relativistic wave equations and some supergravity theories [7].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was partially suported by grants DGAPA IN 101593 and ESP 100191.

References

- [1] H. Crater and P. Van Alstine. Ann. Phys. N.Y. 148, 57 (1983).
- [2] R. Casalbuoni, Nuovo Cim. A 33, 115 (1976); Nuovo Cim. A 33, 286 (1976).
- [3] C. Teitelboim, Phys. Rev. D 25, 3159 (1982); C.A.P. Galvao and C. Teitelboim,

J. Math. Phys. 21, 1863 (1980).

[4] L.F. Urrutia and J. Zanelli, J. Math. Phys. 31, 2271 (1990).

[5] P.A.M. Dirac, Canad. J. Math. Phys. 2, 129 (1950); Proc. Roy. Soc. Sect. A

246, 326 (1958); Lectures on Quantum Mechanics, Belfer Graduate School of Science, Yeshiva University, N.Y. (1964).

[6] M. Moshinsky and Szczepaniak, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 22, L817 (1989).

[7] A. Del Sol Mesa and R.P. Martínez y Romero Quantization procedure for a rela tivistic Grassmann dependent interaction problem.

[8] M. Moreno and A. Zentella, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 22, L821 (1989).

[9] J. Benítez, R.P. Martínez, A.N. Núñez Yépez and A.L. Salas Brito, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64, 1643 (1990).

1995116580

0.70-172 N95-22997

91

NOTES ON OSCILLATOR-LIKE INTERACTIONS OF VARIOUS SPIN RELATIVISTIC PARTICLES*

Valeri V. Dvoeglazov^{†‡}

Escuela de Física, UAZ, Ciudad Universitaria Antonio Dovalí Jaime s/n, Zacatecas, ZAC., México 98068

Antonio del Sol Mesa[§]

Depto. de Física Teórica, Instituto de Física, UNAM Apartado Postal 20-364, D. F., México 01000

Abstract

The equations for various spin particles with oscillator-like interactions are discussed in this talk. Contents: 1. Comment on "The Klein-Gordon Oscillator"; 2. The Dirac oscillator in quaternion form; 3. The Dirac-Dowker oscillator; 4. The Weinberg oscillator; 5. Note on the two-body Dirac oscillator.

1 Comment on "The Klein-Gordon Oscillator"

In connection with the publications of Moshinsky *et al.*, e. g. [1], the interest in the model with the j = 1/2 Hamiltonian that is linear in both momenta and coordinates has grown recently [2]. Analogous type of interaction has been considered for the case of j = 0 and j = 1 Duffin-Kemmer field [3] and for the case of j = 0 Klein-Gordon field [4].

In the paper [4] the operators \vec{Q} , coordinate, and \vec{P} , momentum, have been represented in $n \otimes n$ matrix form

$$\vec{Q} = \hat{\eta}\vec{q}, \qquad \vec{P} = \hat{\eta}\vec{p}, \tag{1.1}$$

with $\hat{\eta}^2 = 1$. The interaction in the Klein-Gordon equation has been introduced in the following way:

$$\vec{P} \rightarrow \vec{P} - im\hat{\gamma}\hat{\Omega} \cdot \vec{Q},$$
 (1.2)

where for the sake of completeness $\hat{\Omega}$ is chosen by $3 \otimes 3$ matrix with coefficients $\hat{\Omega}_{ij} = \omega_i \delta_{ij}$. The $\hat{\gamma}$ matrix obeys the following anticommutation relations $\{\hat{\gamma}, \hat{\eta}\} = 0, \ \hat{\gamma}^2 = 1$.

The Klein-Gordon equation for $\Psi(\vec{q}, t)$, the wave function which could be expanded in twocomponent form, is then

$$-\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}\Psi(\vec{q},t) = \left(\vec{p}^2 + m^2\vec{q}\cdot\hat{\Omega}^2\cdot\vec{q} + m\hat{\gamma}\ tr\Omega + m^2\right)\Psi(\vec{q},t),\tag{1.3}$$

*The extended version of this talk could be found in the LANL database, HEP-TH/ 9403165.

[†]On leave of absence from Saratov State University, Astrakhanskaya str., 83, Saratov RUSSIA

[‡]Email: valeri@bufa.reduaz.mx, dvoeglazov@main1.jinr.dubna.su

[§]Email: antonio@sysul1.ifisicacu.unam.mx

what gives the energy spectrum [4]

$$E_{(a)N_{i}}^{2} - m^{2} = 2m \left(\omega_{1}N_{1} + \omega_{2}N_{2} + \omega_{3}N_{3}\right), \qquad N_{1}, N_{2}, N_{3} = 0, 1, 2...$$

$$E_{(b)N_{i}}^{2} - m^{2} = 2m \left(\omega_{1}(N_{1} + 1) + \omega_{2}(N_{2} + 1) + \omega_{3}(N_{3} + 1)\right). \qquad (1.4)$$

However, the physical sense of implementing the matrices $\hat{\eta}$ and $\hat{\gamma}$ in [4] is obscure. In this Section we try to attach some physical foundations to this procedure. It is well-known some ways to recast the Klein-Gordon equation in the Hamiltonian form e. g. [5, 6]. First of all, the Klein-Gordon equation could be re-written to the system of two coupled equations [6,p.98]

$$\frac{\partial\Psi}{\partial x^{\alpha}} = \kappa \Xi_{\alpha}, \qquad \frac{\partial\Xi^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} = -\kappa \Psi, \qquad (1.5)$$

where $\kappa = mc/\hbar$ (in the following we use the system where $c = \hbar = 1$). By means of redefining the components they are easy to present in the matrix Hamiltonian form (cf. with [7])

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\begin{pmatrix}\phi\\\chi_1\\\chi_2\\\chi_3\end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix}0 & p_1 & p_2 & p_3\\p_1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\p_2 & 0 & 0 & 0\\p_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + m \begin{pmatrix}1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\0 & -1 & 0 & 0\\0 & 0 & -1 & 0\\0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix}\phi\\\chi_1\\\chi_2\\\chi_3\end{pmatrix}$$
(1.6)

provided that $\phi = i\partial_t \Psi + m\Psi$, $\chi_i = -i\nabla_i \Psi = \vec{p}_i \Psi$. Using matrices $\vec{\alpha}$ and β , corresponding to this case, and introducing interaction analogously [1a] we come to the equation for upper component

$$(E^{2} - m^{2})\phi = \left[\vec{p}^{2} + m^{2}\omega^{2}\vec{r}^{2} - 3m\omega\right]\phi$$
(1.7)

what coincides with Eq. (10a) of ref. [4] in the case $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \omega_3$.

The similar formulation also originated from the Duffin-Kemmer approach. In this case the wave function $\Phi = column(\phi_1, \phi_2, \chi_i)$ is five-dimensional and its components are $\phi_1 = (i\partial_t \Psi + m\Psi)/\sqrt{2}$, $\phi_2 = (i\partial_t \Psi - m\Psi)/\sqrt{2}$, $\chi_i = -i \nabla_i \Psi = \vec{p}_i \Psi$. It satisfies the equation

$$i\frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial t} = \left(\vec{B}\vec{p} + m\beta_0\right)\Phi, \qquad B_{\mu} = [\beta_0, \beta_{\mu}]_{-}$$
(1.8)

(our choice of $5 \otimes 5$ dimension β -matrices corresponds to ref. [3]). As shown there, the substitution $\vec{p} \rightarrow \vec{p} - im\omega\eta_0 \vec{r}$ leads to the equation (1.7) for both ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 . Let us remark, in both the approach based on Eq. (1.6) and the Duffin-Kemmer approach, Eq. (1.8), we have the equation

$$(E^2 - m^2)\chi_i = (p_i - im\omega x^i)(p_j + im\omega x^j)\chi_j$$
(1.9)

for down component, which seems to not be reduced to oscillator-like equation.

Then, Sakata-Taketani approach, e. g. [5], is characterized by the equation which we write in the form:

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Phi = \left\{\frac{\vec{p}(\tau_3 + i\tau_2)\vec{p}}{2m} + m\tau_3\right\}\Phi,\tag{1.10}$$

with τ_i being the Pauli matrices. $\Phi = column(\phi, \chi)$ is the two-component wave function with components which could be written as following: $\phi = (\Psi + \frac{i}{m}\partial_t\Psi)/\sqrt{2}, \ \chi = (\Psi - \frac{i}{m}\partial_t\Psi)/\sqrt{2}.$

From the previous experience we learned that in order to get the oscillator-like equation we need to do substitution with matrix which anticommutes with matrix structure of the momentum part of the equation. In our case the matrix which has this property is τ_1 matrix. Therefore, we do the substitution $\vec{p} \rightarrow \vec{p} - im\omega\tau_1\vec{r}$ and come to

$$E^{2}\xi = \left[\vec{p}^{2} + m^{2}\omega^{2}\vec{r}^{2} - 3m\omega + m^{2}\right]\xi,$$
(1.11)

where $\xi = \phi + \chi$, and to the analogous equation for $\eta = \phi - \chi = \frac{E}{m}(\phi + \chi)$. In the process of calculations we convinced ourselves that the interaction Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2m} \left(\vec{p}^2 + m^2 \omega^2 \vec{x}^2 - 3m\omega \right) (\tau_3 + i\tau_2) + m\tau_3 \tag{1.12}$$

is the same as in [3, formula (3.9)] since $\tau_1(\tau_3 + i\tau_2)\tau_1 = -(\tau_3 + i\tau_2)$ and $(\tau_3 + i\tau_2)\tau_1 = \tau_3 + i\tau_2$.

2 The Dirac oscillator in quaternion form

The quaternion (and conjugated to it) with real coefficient is defined as $q = q_0 + iq_1 + jq_2 + kq_3$, $\bar{q} = q_0 - iq_1 - jq_2 - kq_3$. The basis vectors satisfy the equations $i^2 = j^2 = k^2 = -1$ and ij = -ji = k with cyclic permutations. Considering a two-component quaternionic spinor (or SL(2, H) spinor) one could write the free Dirac equation as following, ref. [8c,d],

$$\Gamma \cdot \partial \Psi - m\tau_3 \Psi k = 0. \tag{2.1}$$

Anticommutation relations for $\tilde{\Gamma}$ are given in [8d,p.222]. In Pauli representation $(i \rightarrow -\sqrt{-1}\tau_1, j \rightarrow -\sqrt{-1}\tau_2 \text{ and } k \rightarrow -\sqrt{-1}\tau_3)$ it goes through to usual Dirac equation and its complex conjugate. As mentioned in [8] it is convenient to diagonalize the matrices entering in Eq. (2.1) using matrix

$$T = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\sqrt{-1} \\ 1 & \sqrt{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.2)

In such a way we come to biquaternionic formulation $(q_i \in \mathbf{C})$:

$$\begin{cases} \bar{\partial}\psi_L + im\bar{\psi}_R^{\dagger} = 0\\ \partial\bar{\psi}_R^{\dagger} + im\psi_L = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

where $\psi_L \equiv \psi p_+$, $\psi_R \equiv \psi p_-$. This decomposition of Ψ into left ideals is carried out by means of the projection operators $p_{\pm} = (b_0 \pm b_3)/2$. New basis is $b_0 \equiv 1, b_1 \equiv \sqrt{-1}i, b_2 \equiv \sqrt{-1}j, b_3 \equiv \sqrt{-1}k$ and $\bar{b}_0 = b_0, \bar{b}_{\alpha} = -b_{\alpha}$. Introducing interaction in the form $\partial_i \rightarrow \partial_i + \tau_3 V_i(\vec{x})$, V is the compensating field for this type of Sp(1,Q) transformations, and taking into account that the vectors of biquaternionic basis anticommute $b_{\alpha}\bar{b}_{\beta} + b_{\beta}\bar{b}_{\alpha} = -2\eta_{\alpha\beta}, \eta_{\alpha\beta} = diag(-1,1,1,1)$, we come to the equations for the left and right spinor-quaternions in the following form:

$$(E^{2} - m^{2})\psi_{L} = \left[(\vec{p}^{2} + k^{2}\vec{x}^{2}) - 3k - 2\epsilon_{ijk}b_{k}x_{i}p_{j} \right]\psi_{L}$$
(2.4)

$$(E^{2} - m^{2})\bar{\psi}_{R}^{\dagger} = \left[(\vec{p}^{2} + k^{2}\vec{x}^{2}) + 3k + 2\epsilon_{ijk}b_{k}x_{i}p_{j} \right] \bar{\psi}_{R}^{\dagger}$$
(2.5)

if we choose $V_i(\vec{x}) = kx_i$. Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5) are the Dirac oscillator equations in the Pauli rep, $b_k \to \tau_k$. Analogous equations for ψ_R and $\bar{\psi}_L^{\dagger}$ could be obtained from (2.3) if one choose the opposite signs at the mass terms.

3 The Dirac-Dowker oscillator

In this Section we start from the equation for any spin given by Dirac [9] in the form written down by Corson, ref. [6,p.154], (here we use Corson's notation)

$$\begin{cases} \partial^{\dot{A}B} v_B(k+\frac{1}{2})\psi(k+\frac{1}{2},l-\frac{1}{2}) - m\left(\frac{2k+1}{2l}\right)^{1/2}v^{\dot{A}}(l)\psi(k,l) = 0\\ \partial_{\dot{A}B}v^{\dot{A}}(l)\psi(k,l) + m\left(\frac{2l}{2k+1}\right)^{1/2}v_B(k+\frac{1}{2})\psi(k+\frac{1}{2},l-\frac{1}{2}) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where v_A and v_A are the rectangular spinor-matrices of 2k rows and 2k + 1 columns (see, e. g., section 17b of ref. [6] for the details). The wave function $\psi(k,l)$ belongs to the (k,l) representation of the homogeneous Lorentz group. The choice l = 1/2 and k = j - 1/2, j is the spin of a particle, permits one to reduce a number of subsidiary conditions. Moreover, the equations (3.1) are shown by Dowker [10] to recast to the matrix form which is similar to the well-known Dirac equation for j = 1/2 particle

$$\begin{cases} \alpha^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\Phi = m\Upsilon \\ \\ \bar{\alpha}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\Upsilon = -m\Phi. \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

The 4*j*- component function Φ could be identified with the wave function in $(j,0) \oplus (j-1,0)$ representation. Then, Υ , which also has 4*j* components, is written down

$$\Upsilon = (-1)^{2j} (2j)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} v_{\dot{A}}(j-\frac{1}{2}) \otimes v^{A}(\frac{1}{2}) \\ u_{\dot{A}}(j) \otimes v^{\dot{A}}(\frac{1}{2}) \end{pmatrix} \psi(j-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}).$$
(3.3)

and it belongs to (j - 1/2, 1/2) representation. The matrices α^{μ} and $\bar{\alpha}^{\mu} = \alpha_{\mu}$ obeys all the algebraic relations of the Pauli matrices $\bar{\alpha}^{(\mu}\alpha^{\nu)} = g^{\mu\nu}$, except for completeness.

Defining $p_{\mu} = -i\partial_{\mu}$ and the analogs of γ - matrices as following:

$$\gamma^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i\bar{\alpha}^{\mu} \\ i\alpha^{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4)

the set of equations (3.2) is written down to the form of the Dirac equation

$$(p_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu} - m)\begin{pmatrix}\Phi\\\Upsilon\end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(3.5)

However, let us not forget that Φ and Υ are 2-spinors only in the case of j = 1/2.

In the case of spin j = 1/2 it is well-known the set of γ - matrices is defined up to the unitary transformation and Eq. (3.5) could be recast to the Hamiltonian form given by Dirac (with α_k and β matrices) by means of the unitary matrix. It is easy to carry out the same procedure $(\alpha^k = S\gamma^0\gamma^kS^{-1} \text{ and } \beta = S\gamma^0S^{-1})$ for γ - matrices, Eq. (3.4), and functions of arbitrary spin $(\Psi = S^{-1}\Phi)$. For our aims it is convenient to chose the unitary matrix as following:

$$S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{4j\otimes 4j} & i\mathbb{1}_{4j\otimes 4j} \\ i\mathbb{1}_{4j\otimes 4j} & \mathbb{1}_{4j\otimes 4j} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.6)

After standard substitution $\vec{p} \rightarrow \vec{p} - im\omega\gamma^0 \vec{r}$ we obtain

$$E\phi = -i \left[\alpha_0(\vec{\alpha}\vec{p}) + im\omega(\vec{\alpha}\vec{r}) \right] v + m\alpha_0\phi, \qquad (3.7)$$

$$Ev = i \left[\alpha_0(\vec{\alpha}\vec{p}) - im\omega(\vec{\alpha}\vec{r}) \right] \phi - m\alpha_0 v.$$
(3.8)

Since it follows from the anticommutation relations that $\alpha_i \alpha_0 = \alpha_0 \alpha_i$ we have the equations which coincide with Eq. (8) of ref. [1a] or Eqs. (3.6) and (3.12) of ref. [1d] except for $\tau_{\mu} \to \alpha_{\mu}$, i. e. their explicit forms,

$$(E^2 - m^2)\phi = \left[\vec{p}^2 + m\omega\vec{r}^2 - 3\alpha_0m\omega - m\omega\alpha_0\alpha^{[i}\bar{\alpha}^{j]}r^i\nabla_j\right]\phi$$
(3.9)

$$(E^2 + m^2)v = \left[\vec{p}^2 + m\omega\vec{r}^2 + 3\alpha_0m\omega + m\omega\alpha_0\alpha^{[i}\bar{\alpha}^{j]}r^i\nabla_j\right]v.$$
(3.10)

Thus, we convinced ourselves that we got the same oscillator-like interaction and the similar spectrum as for the case of j = 1/2 particles in [1a].

4 The Weinberg oscillator

The principal equation of 2(2j + 1)- component approach [11] in the case of spin j = 1 is

$$(\gamma_{\mu\nu}p_{\mu}p_{\nu} + M^2)\Psi^{(j=1)}(x) = 0, \qquad (4.1)$$

with $\gamma_{\alpha\beta}$ being $6 \otimes 6$ covariantly defined matrices. The j = 1 Hamiltonian has been given in refs. [11b,c]:

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{2E^2}{2E^2 - M^2} (\vec{\alpha}\vec{p}) + \beta \left[E - \frac{2E}{2E^2 - M^2} (\vec{\alpha}\vec{p})^2 \right], \tag{4.2}$$

where

$$\vec{\alpha} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \vec{S} & 0\\ 0 & -\vec{S} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \beta \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbb{1}_{3\otimes 3}\\ \mathbb{1}_{3\otimes 3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

 $(S_i \text{ are the spin matrices for a vector particle}).$

In general, the upper and down components of 6- component wave function do not uncouple neither under the interaction $\vec{p} \rightarrow \vec{p} - im\omega\beta\vec{r}$ nor under $\gamma_{5,\mu\nu}u_{\mu}r_{\nu}$. However, if we introduce the Dirac oscillator interaction so that the conditions of the longitudity of $\Psi = column(\phi_i, \chi_i)$ respective to \vec{r} , i. e. $\vec{r} \times \vec{\phi} = 0$, $\vec{r} \times \vec{\chi} = 0$ are fulfilled, we come to the equations more simple

$$(2E^2 - M^2)\xi = E(\vec{S}\vec{p})\eta + \left[(\vec{S}\vec{p}) - k(\vec{S}\vec{r}) \right] (\vec{S}\vec{p})\xi, \qquad (4.3)$$

$$E(\vec{S}\vec{p})\xi = \left[(\vec{S}\vec{p}) + k(\vec{S}\vec{r}) \right] (\vec{S}\vec{p})\eta$$
(4.4)

 $(\xi = \phi - \chi, \eta = \phi + \chi)$, which could be uncoupled to the following form $(k = im\omega)$

$$(\vec{S}\vec{p})(E^{2} - M^{2})(\vec{S}\vec{p})\xi = (\vec{S}\vec{p})\left[\vec{p}^{2} + m\omega^{2}\vec{r}^{2} + 3m\omega + 4m\omega\vec{S}[\vec{r}\times\vec{p}]\right](\vec{S}\vec{p})\xi$$
(4.5)

$$(\vec{S}\vec{p})(E^{2} - M^{2})(\vec{S}\vec{p})\eta = (\vec{S}\vec{p})\left[\vec{p}^{2} + m\omega^{2}\vec{r}^{2} - 3m\omega - 4m\omega\vec{S}[\vec{r}\times\vec{p}]\right](\vec{S}\vec{p})\eta - -im\omega(2E^{2} - M^{2})(\vec{S}\vec{r})(\vec{S}\vec{p})\eta$$
(4.6)

These equations can be considered as the extension of the equations with Dirac oscillator interaction to the j = 1 case, for the components $(\vec{S}\vec{p})\xi$ and $(\vec{S}\vec{p})\eta$. However, remark that one has the additional spin-orbit term acting as earlier at η .

5 Note on the two-body Dirac oscillator

The two-body Dirac Hamiltonian with oscillator-like interaction is given by (see, e. g., ref. [1c])

$$\mathcal{H}\psi = = \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\vec{\alpha}_1 + \vec{\alpha}_2) \cdot \vec{P} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2) \cdot \vec{p} - \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}(\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2) \cdot \vec{r}B + m(\beta_1 + \beta_2)\right]\psi.$$
(5.1)

In the c.m.s. it is possible to equate $\vec{P} = 0$. The matrices are given by the direct products

$$\vec{\alpha}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \vec{\sigma}_1 \\ \vec{\sigma}_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{2\otimes 2} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1}_{2\otimes 2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\alpha}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{2\otimes 2} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{1}_{2\otimes 2} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \vec{\sigma}_2 \\ \vec{\sigma}_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.2}$$

$$B = \beta_1 \otimes \beta_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} & 0\\ 0 & -\mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} & 0\\ 0 & -\mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.3)

$$\Gamma_5 = \gamma_1^5 \otimes \gamma_2^5 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} \\ \mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} \\ \mathbb{1}_{2\otimes 2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.4)

Now we apply the same procedure like that was used for transformation the Bargmann-Wigner equation to the Proca equations. The 16- component wave function of the two-body Dirac equation could be expanded on the complete set of matrices: $(\gamma^{\mu}C)$, $(\sigma^{\mu\nu}C)$ and C, $(\gamma^{5}C)$, and $(\gamma^{5}\gamma^{\mu}C)$. We consider the system multiplied by C, the matrix of charge conjugation, in order to trace for the symmetric properties under oscillator-like potentials. The wave function is decomposed in symmetric and antisymmetric parts using the above-mentioned complete system of matrices:

$$\psi_{\{\alpha\beta\}} = \gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\eta} C_{\eta\beta} A_{\mu} + \sigma^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha\eta} C_{\eta\beta} F_{\mu\nu}$$
(5.5)

$$\psi_{[\alpha\beta]} = C_{\alpha\beta}\phi + \gamma^5_{\alpha\eta}C_{\eta\beta}\tilde{\phi} + \gamma^5_{\alpha\epsilon}\gamma^{\mu}_{\epsilon\eta}C_{\eta\beta}\tilde{A}_{\mu}.$$
(5.6)

In such a way we obtain the set of equations:

$$EA_0 = 0, \quad E\tilde{A}_0 = -2m\tilde{\phi}, \quad E\phi = 2i\sqrt{2}(\vec{p}_i - i\vec{r}^{\,i})F^{i0} \tag{5.7}$$

$$E\phi = -2mA_0 + \sqrt{2\epsilon_{ijk}}(\vec{p}_i + i\vec{r}^*)F^{jk}$$

$$(5.8)$$

$$E\tilde{A}^{i} = -i\sqrt{2\epsilon_{ijk}}(\vec{p}_{j} \mp i\vec{r}^{j})A^{k}$$
(5.9)

$$EA^{i} = 4imF^{0i} + i\sqrt{2}\epsilon_{ijk}(\vec{p}_{j} \pm i\vec{r}^{j})\tilde{A}^{k}$$

$$(5.10)$$

$$EF^{0i} = -2imA^{i} + i\sqrt{2}(\vec{p}_{i} + i\vec{r}^{i})\phi$$
(5.11)

$$EF_{jk} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \epsilon_{ijk} (\vec{p}_i - i\vec{r}^{\,i}) \tilde{\phi} \tag{5.12}$$

Let us mention that for another type of Dirac oscillator-like interaction $\sim (\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2)B\Gamma_5$ the only changes are the sign changes at the term $i\vec{r}$ in Eqs. (5.9) and (5.10) of the above system. The twobody Dirac oscillator equations in the form (5.7)-(5.12) could be uncoupled on the set containing only functions ϕ , $\tilde{\phi}$ and \tilde{A}_{μ} and the another one containing only A_{μ} and $F_{\mu\nu}$:

1)
$$(E^2 - 8m^2)\phi = 4(\vec{p}_i - i\vec{r}^i)(\vec{p}_i + i\vec{r}^i)\phi - \frac{1}{E}\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 16m\epsilon_{ijk}\vec{r}^i\vec{p}_j \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\} \tilde{A}^k$$
(5.13)

$$(E^2 - 4m^2)\tilde{\phi} = 2(\vec{p}_i + \vec{r}^i)(\vec{p}_i - i\vec{r}^i)\tilde{\phi}$$
(5.14)

$$E\tilde{A}_{0} = -2m\tilde{\phi}$$

$$(E^{2} - 8m^{2})\tilde{A}^{i} = 2(\vec{p}_{i} \mp i\vec{r}^{j})(\vec{p}_{i} \pm i\vec{r}^{i})\tilde{A}^{j} - 2(\vec{p}_{i} \mp i\vec{r}^{j})(\vec{p}_{i} \pm i\vec{r}^{i})\tilde{A}^{i} +$$
(5.15)

$$2^{-} - 8m^{-})A^{+} = 2(p_{j} \mp ir^{j})(p_{i} \pm ir^{*})A^{j} - 2(p_{j} \mp ir^{j})(p_{j} \pm ir^{*})A^{i} + 1 \left\{ \left(16m\epsilon_{iik}\vec{r}^{j}\vec{p}_{k} \right) \right\}$$

$$+\overline{E}\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0, k \in I^{*} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\} \phi \tag{5.16}$$
(5.17)

$$EA_0 = 0$$

$$(E^2 - 8m^2)F^{0i} = 4(\vec{p_i} + i\vec{r^{i}})(\vec{p_j} - i\vec{r^{j}})F^{0j} - m$$

$$(5.17)$$

$$-4i\frac{m}{E}(\vec{p}_{j}\pm i\vec{r}^{j})(\vec{p}_{i}\mp i\vec{r}^{i})A^{j}+4i\frac{m}{E}(\vec{p}_{j}\pm i\vec{r}^{j})(\vec{p}_{j}\mp i\vec{r}^{j})A^{i}$$
(5.18)

$$E^{2}A^{i} = 2(\vec{p}_{j} \pm i\vec{r}^{j})(\vec{p}_{i} \mp i\vec{r}^{i})A^{j} - 2(\vec{p}_{j} \pm i\vec{r}^{j})(\vec{p}_{j} \mp i\vec{r}^{j})A^{i} + 4imEF^{0i}$$

$$(E^{2} - 4m^{2})F^{jk} = \epsilon_{ijk}\epsilon_{lmn}(\vec{p}_{i} - i\vec{r}^{i})(\vec{p}_{l} + i\vec{r}^{l})F^{mn}.$$
(5.19)

This fact proves the Dirac oscillator interaction, like the case of introduction of electrodynamic interaction in the Proca or the Bargmann-Wigner equations, does not mix S = 1 and S = 0 states.

Next, the interaction term of the following form:

2)

$$\mathcal{V}^{int} = \frac{1}{r} \frac{dV(r)/dr}{1 - [V(r)]^2} (\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2) B\Gamma_5 \vec{r}$$
(5.20)

has been deduced [12] from the equation of Relativistic Quantum Constraint Dynamics (RQCR) or N- particle Barut equation. In [12] it proved to lead to the Dirac oscillator-like interactions provided that the definite choice of the function V(r). In connection with that let us remark the curious behavior of the another potential V(r) which has been proposed in ref. [13b,c]:

$$V(r) = -g^2 \frac{\coth\left(rm\pi\right)}{4\pi r} = -g^2 \frac{\coth\left(\kappa r\right)}{4\pi r}.$$
(5.21)

It could be deduced from the one-boson exchange quasipotential $V(\vec{p}, \vec{k}; E) = -g^2(p-k)^{-2}$ by means of the transformation into the relativistic configurational representation (RCR) using the complete set of Shapiro plane-wave functions: $\xi(\vec{\Delta}, \vec{r}) = (\Delta_0 - \vec{\Delta}\vec{n}/m)^{-1-irm}$, $\Delta_0 = \sqrt{\vec{\Delta}^2 + m^2}$, $\vec{n} = \vec{r}/|\vec{r}|$.

In the case of the quasipotential (5.21) the interaction term \mathcal{V} , Eq. (5.20), has the different asymptotic behavior in three regions $(g^2/(4\pi) = 1)$. Namely,

$$\mathcal{V}^{int} \simeq \frac{1}{r(r^2 - 1)} (\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2) B \Gamma_5 \vec{r} \simeq$$

$$\simeq \begin{cases} (1/r^3) (\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2) B \Gamma_5 \vec{r}, & \text{if } r >> \frac{1}{\kappa} \text{ and } r > 1 \\ -(1/r) (\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2) B \Gamma_5 \vec{r}, & \text{if } \frac{1}{\kappa} << r < 1, \end{cases}$$
(5.22)

in the infrared region $(r >> \frac{1}{\kappa}$, large distances); and

$$\mathcal{V}^{int} \simeq -2\kappa(\vec{\alpha}_1 - \vec{\alpha}_2)B\Gamma_5 \vec{r}, \quad \text{if} \quad r \ll \frac{1}{\kappa},$$
(5.23)

in the ultraviolet region (small distances). In one of the regions one has the Dirac oscillator-like behavior.

Acknowledgments

We greatly appreciate valuable discussions with Profs. M. Moshinsky and Yu. F. Smirnov. Authors also acknowledge Prof. J. S. Dowker for sending reprints of his articles.

References

- a) M. Moshinsky and A. Szczepaniak, J. Phys. A 22, L817 (1989); b) C. Quesne and M. Moshinsky, J. Phys. A 23, 2263 (1990); c) M. Moshinsky, G. Loyola and C. Villegas, J. Math. Phys. 32, 373 (1991); d) M. Moshinsky and G. Loyola, Found. Phys. 23, 197 (1993);
 e) A. González, G. Loyola and M. Moshinsky, Rev. Mex. Fiz. 40, 12 (1994).
- [2] a) M. Moreno and A. Zentella, J. Phys. A 22, L821 (1989); b) J. Benítez, R. P. Martínez y Romero, H. N. Núñez-Yepez and A. L. Salas-Brito, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64, 1643 (1990); ibid 65, 2085(E) (1990); c) R. Martínez y Romero, M. Moreno and A. Zentella, Phys. Rev. D 43, 2036 (1991); d) V. V. Dixit, T. S. Santhanam and W. D. Thacker, J. Math. Phys. 33, 1114 (1992); e) J. P. Crawford, J. Math. Phys. 34, 4428 (1993).
- [3] N. Debergh, J. Ndimubandi and D. Strivay, Zeitshr. Phys. C 56, 421 (1992).
- [4] S. Bruce and P. Minning, Nuovo Cim. A 106, 711 (1993).
- [5] a) H. Feshbach and F. Villars, Rev. Mod. Phys. 30, 24 (1958); b) A. S. Davydov, Quantum Mechanics. (Addison-Wesley Pub. Co., 1968), section 56, 59.
- [6] E. M. Corson, Introduction to Tensor, Spinors, and Relativistic Wave-Equations. (Hafner Pub. Co. New York, 1953).
- [7] M. D. Kostin, Phys. Lett. A 125, 87 (1987).
- [8] K. Morita, Progr. Theor. Phys. 70, 1648 (1983); ibid 71, 670(E) (1984); ibid 75, 220 (1986); ibid 90, 219 (1993).
- [9] P. A. M. Dirac, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A 155, 447 (1936).
- [10] a) J. S. Dowker, Proc. Phys. Soc. 89, 353 (1966); b) J. S. Dowker and Y. P. Dowker, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A 294, 175 (1966); c) J. S. Dowker, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A 297, 351 (1967); d) J. S. Dowker, Nuovo Cim. Suppl. 5, 734 (1967).
- [11] a) S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. B 133, 1318 (1964); ibid 134, 882 (1964); ibid 181, 1893 (1969);
 b) D. L. Weaver, C. L. Hammer and R. H. Good, jr., Phys. Rev. B 135, 241 (1964); c) P. M. Mathews, Phys. Rev. B 143, 978 (1966).
- [12] M. Moshinsky and A. del Sol, talk at this Workshop.
- [13] a) V. G. Kadyshevsky, Nucl. Phys. B 6, 125 (1968); b) V. G. Kadyshevsky, R. M. Mir-Kasimov and N. B. Skachkov, Sov. J. Part. & Nucl. 2, 69 (1972); c) N. B. Skachkov, Phys. Lett. B 78, 231 (1978).
1995116581

9.P

THE DUFFIN-KEMMER-PETIAU OSCILLATOR

Youcef Nedjadi and Roger Barrett Department of Physics, University of Surrey, Guildford GU2 - 5XH, UK

Abstract

In view of current interest in relativistic spin-one systems and the recent work on the Dirac Oscillator, we introduce the Duffin-Kemmer-Petiau (DKP) equation obtained by using an external potential linear in r. Since, in the non-relativistic limit, the spin 1 representation leads to a harmonic oscillator with a spin-orbit coupling of the Thomas form, we call the equation the DKP oscillator. This oscillator is a relativistic generalisation of the quantum harmonic oscillator for scalar and vector bosons. We show that it conserves total angular momentum and that it is *exactly* solvable. We calculate and discuss the eigenspectrum of the DKP oscillator in the spin 1 representation.

1 The DKP Oscillator

The focus of attention in this paper is to generalise the concept of the quantum harmonic oscillator to relativistic vector bosons.

For a free scalar or vector boson of mass m, the relativistic DKP equation [1] is

$$(c\boldsymbol{\beta}\cdot\mathbf{p} + mc^2)\psi = i\hbar\beta^0\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial t}$$
(1.1)

where the internal variables β^{μ} ($\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$) satisfy the commutation relation

$$\beta^{\mu}\beta^{\nu}\beta^{\lambda} + \beta^{\lambda}\beta^{\nu}\beta^{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu}\beta^{\lambda} + g^{\nu\lambda}\beta^{\mu}.$$
 (1.2)

In the spin 1 representation, the β^{μ} are 10×10 matrices while the dynamical state ψ is a ten-component spinor.

For the external potential which we introduce with the non-minimal substitution

$$\mathbf{p} \longrightarrow \mathbf{p} - im\omega\eta^0 \mathbf{r},\tag{1.3}$$

where ω is the oscillator frequency and $\eta^0 = 2\beta^{0^2} - 1$, the DKP equation for the system is

$$[c\boldsymbol{\beta}\cdot(\mathbf{p}-im\omega\eta^{0}\mathbf{r})+mc^{2}]\psi=i\hbar\beta^{0}\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial t}. \tag{1.4}$$

This external potential, which is of Lorentz tensor type, does not conserve the orbital and spin angular momenta, since

$$[\beta \eta^0 \cdot \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{L}] = -i(\beta \eta^0 \wedge \mathbf{r}) \quad \text{and} \quad [\beta \eta^0 \cdot \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{S}] = i(\beta \eta^0 \wedge \mathbf{r}), \quad (1.5)$$

Ń

but it does conserve the total angular momentum $\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{L} + \mathbf{S}$.

In the spin 1 representation of eq.(4), the dynamical state ψ is chosen as the 10-component spinor

$$\psi(\mathbf{r}) = \begin{pmatrix} i\varphi \\ \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}) \\ \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}) \\ \mathbf{C}(\mathbf{r}) \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{with} \quad \mathbf{A} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} A_1 \\ A_2 \\ A_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{B} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{C} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} C_1 \\ C_2 \\ C_3 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.6)

so that, for stationary states, the equation of motion eq.(4) decomposes into

$$\begin{cases} mc^{2}\varphi = ic\mathbf{p}^{-} \cdot \mathbf{B} \\ mc^{2}\mathbf{A} = E\mathbf{B} - c\mathbf{p}^{+} \wedge \mathbf{C} \\ mc^{2}\mathbf{B} = E\mathbf{A} + ic\mathbf{p}^{+}\varphi \\ mc^{2}\mathbf{C} = -c\mathbf{p}^{-} \wedge \mathbf{A} \end{cases}$$
(1.7)

where $\mathbf{p}^{\pm} = \mathbf{p} \pm im\omega \mathbf{r}$. Since **A** is the 3-component spinor analogous to the Dirac upper component, we seek the wave equation for **A**. It is straightforward to eliminate φ , **B** and **C** in favor of **A** so that one gets

$$(E^{2}-m^{2}c^{4})\mathbf{A} = [c^{2}(\mathbf{p}^{2}+m^{2}\omega^{2}\mathbf{r}^{2})-3\hbar\omega mc^{2}-2\hbar\omega mc^{2}\mathbf{L}\cdot\mathbf{s}]\mathbf{A} - \frac{1}{m^{2}}\mathbf{p}^{+}\{\mathbf{p}^{-}\cdot[\mathbf{p}^{+}\wedge(\mathbf{p}^{-}\wedge\mathbf{A})]\} (1.8)$$

where **L** is the orbital angular momentum and **s** the 3×3 spin one operator. In the non-relativistic limit $\varepsilon \ll mc^2$, the fourth term in eq.(1.8) becomes negligible, since it is of order $1/m^3$, so that the wave equation for **A** can be written

$$\varepsilon \mathbf{A} \simeq \left[\frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{2m} + \frac{1}{2}m\omega^2\mathbf{r}^2 - \frac{3}{2}\hbar\omega - \hbar\omega\mathbf{L}\cdot\mathbf{s}\right]\mathbf{A}$$
(1.9)

which characterises the usual harmonic oscillator in addition to a spin-orbit coupling, absent for scalar DKP bosons, of strength $-\hbar\omega$. Note that the strength of this coupling is half the one obtained from the Dirac oscillator [2].

Since the spin 1 representation of eq.(1.4) leads to the usual three-dimensional (3D) oscillator, in the non-relativistic limit, we refer to the system it describes as the Duffin-Kemmer-Petiau oscillator.

2 Solution to the vector DKP oscillator problem

For the S = 1 central field problem, the general eigenfunction we use takes the form [3]

$$\psi_{JM}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{r} \begin{pmatrix} i\phi_{nJ}(r)Y_{JM}(\Omega) \\ \sum_{L} F_{nJL}(r)\mathbf{Y}_{JL1}^{M}(\Omega) \\ \sum_{L} G_{nJL}(r)\mathbf{Y}_{JL1}^{M}(\Omega) \\ \sum_{L} H_{nJL}(r)\mathbf{Y}_{JL1}^{M}(\Omega) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.1)

Putting ψ_{JM} into eq.(1.4) results in ten coupled radial differential equations which can be decoupled into two sets associated with $(-1)^J$ and $(-1)^{J+1}$ parities. We call the $(-1)^J$ solutions

natural-parity (or magnetic-like) states while we refer to the $(-1)^{J+1}$ solutions as unnaturalparity (or electric-like) states. With the notation

$$R_{nJJ}(r) = R_o$$
, $R_{nJJ\pm 1}(r) = R_{\pm 1}$, $R \equiv F, G, H$ (2.2)

the set associated with $(-1)^J$ parity is

$$EF_o = mc^2 G_o \tag{2.3}$$

$$\hbar c \left(\frac{d}{dr} - \frac{J+1}{r} + \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar} \right) F_o = -\frac{1}{\zeta_J} m c^2 H_1$$
(2.4)

$$\hbar c \left(\frac{d}{dr} + \frac{J}{r} + \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) F_o = -\frac{1}{\alpha_J} m c^2 H_{-1}$$
(2.5)

$$-\zeta_J \left(\frac{d}{dr} + \frac{J+1}{r} - \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) H_1 - \alpha_J \left(\frac{d}{dr} - \frac{J}{r} - \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) H_{-1} = \frac{1}{\hbar c} \left(mc^2 F_o - EG_o\right).$$
(2.6)

For unnatural parity states, the radial differential equations are coupled in the following way :

$$\hbar c \left(\frac{d}{dr} - \frac{J+1}{r} - \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar} \right) H_o = -\frac{1}{\zeta_J} \left(mc^2 F_1 - EG_1 \right)$$
(2.7)

$$\hbar c \left(\frac{d}{dr} + \frac{J}{r} - \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) H_o = -\frac{1}{\alpha_J} \left(mc^2 F_{-1} - EG_{-1}\right)$$
(2.8)

$$-\zeta_J \left(\frac{d}{dr} + \frac{J+1}{r} + \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) F_1 - \alpha_J \left(\frac{d}{dr} - \frac{J}{r} + \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) F_{-1} = \frac{1}{\hbar c} mc^2 H_o$$
(2.9)

$$\hbar c \left(\frac{d}{dr} - \frac{J+1}{r} - \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar} \right) \phi = -\frac{1}{\alpha_J} \left(mc^2 G_1 - EF_1 \right)$$
(2.10)

$$\hbar c \left(\frac{d}{dr} + \frac{J}{r} - \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) \phi = \frac{1}{\zeta_J} \left(mc^2 G_{-1} - EF_{-1}\right)$$
(2.11)

$$-\alpha_J \left(\frac{d}{dr} + \frac{J+1}{r} + \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) G_1 + \zeta_J \left(\frac{d}{dr} - \frac{J}{r} + \frac{m\omega r}{\hbar}\right) G_{-1} = \frac{1}{\hbar c} mc^2 \phi.$$
(2.12)

To obtain the exact solution for the magnetic-like states, we eliminate G_o , H_{\pm} in favor of F_o in eq.(2.6). This yields the eigenvalues [4]

$$\frac{1}{2mc^2}(E_{N,J}^2 - m^2c^4) = (N+1)\hbar\omega$$
(2.13)

with the principal quantum number N = 2n + J (*n* is the radial quantum number). Note that the oscillator levels are equidistant and degenerate; the zero-point energy differs here from the one we found for the scalar DKP bosons.

The exact eigenvalues of the radial equations associated with unnatural-parity states can be shown [4] to be

$$\frac{1}{2mc^2}(E_{\pm}^2 - m^2c^4) = (N + \frac{3}{2})\hbar\omega + J(J+1)\frac{(\hbar\omega)^2}{mc^2} \mp \Delta$$
(2.14)

where

$$\Delta = \hbar\omega \left(J + \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(1 + \frac{a_1}{a_0} \frac{\hbar\omega}{mc^2} + \frac{a_2}{a_0} \left(\frac{\hbar\omega}{mc^2}\right)^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(2.15)

with $a_0 = (2J+1)^2$, $a_1 = 4J(J+1)(2N+3)$ and $a_2 = 4J^2(J+1)^2$ where N, a positive integer, is the principal quantum number.

As shown in eq.(23), the energy of the DKP oscillator in unnatural parity states involves the usual 3-dimensional harmonic oscillator energy, a second term proportional to J(J+1) which appears as some kind of rotational energy and a third energy contribution Δ which is a complicated function of the oscillator frequency, J and N with no obvious physical interpretation.

In the limit where the oscillator frequencies are such that $\hbar\omega \ll mc^2$, keeping only the first-order term in ω in eqs.(2.14-15) leads to

$$\frac{1}{2mc^2}(E_+^2 - m^2 c^4) \equiv \epsilon_{n.r.}^+ \simeq (N - J + 1)\hbar\omega$$
(2.16)

$$\frac{1}{2mc^2}(E_{-}^2 - m^2c^4) \equiv \epsilon_{n.r.} \simeq (N + J + 2)\hbar\omega$$
(2.17)

This is best illustrated in fig.1 which shows, for fixed values of N and J, the variations of the relativistic and non-relativistic eigen-energies with $\hbar\omega/mc^2$.



Figure 1: Variation of the DKP and non-relativistic oscillator energies with ω .

This shows that our solutions have the correct non-relativistic limits since the levels in eqs.(2.16-17) are those of a usual 3D non-relativistic oscillator with a spin-orbit coupling of strength $-\hbar\omega$. In this limit, they could have also been obtained directly from eq.(1.9). Furthermore, taking this limit suggests the interpretation of the E_+ and E_- energies as "spin-orbit partners", E_+ being associated with J = L + 1 and E_- with J = L - 1.

The unnatural parity E_+ levels for $N \leq 9$ are presented in fig.2 alongside the $\epsilon_{n.r.}^+$ and the $(N + \frac{3}{2})\hbar\omega$ levels for reference. For a given value of N - J, all the non-relativistic energy levels (N, J^{π}) (with N - J odd and J < N) are infinitely degenerate. This accidental degeneracy is not present in the exact DKP oscillator E_+ eigenspectrum whose levels are found to cluster in several groups of states belonging to the same N - J oscillator shell.



Figure 2: DKP and non-relativistic spectra associated with J = L + 1 for $N \leq 9$. The dotted lines between the DKP and non-relativistic oscillator levels link states with the same quantum numbers (N, J^{π}) .

The E_{-} eigenspectrum is now presented in fig.3 together with the non-relativistic $\epsilon_{n,r}^{-}$ energy levels for $N \leq 9$.



Figure 3: DKP and non-relativistic spectra associated with J = L - 1 for $N \leq 9$.

While all the non-relativisitic (N, J^{π}) levels associated with the same N + J oscillator shell are degenerate, with a finite degeneracy in this case, their relativistic analogues are not. The

exact DKP oscillator states are found to cluster into bands of states belonging to specific values of N + J.

For a more quantitative analysis of the E_{-} bands of the DKP oscillator spectrum, we plotted in fig.4 the E_{-} energy levels, belonging to the N + J = 49 band for instance, against J(J + 1)for different oscillator frequencies.



Figure 4: Energy levels of the N + J = 49 band as a function of J(J + 1) for different oscillator frequencies.

It is indeed remarkable that the DKP oscillator energies constitute nearly perfect rotational bands. There are deviations from the rotational patterns at low angular momenta. These single particle rotational bands are of the finite type since for N + J fixed they terminate at some J_{max} . The effective rotational moments of inertia are sensitive to the oscillator frequencies since the slopes of the bands are found to vary substantially with increasing ω .



Figure 5: Energy levels of the N+J=23,29,35,41,49 band as a function of J(J+1) for $\hbar\omega=0.2GeV$.

Fig.5 alternately represents the energies of five different N + J bands for a specific oscillator frequency as a function of J(J + 1). The DKP oscillator energies now lie on rotational bands whose slopes hardly change with N + J which implies that the effective rotational moments of inertia are rigid and insensitive to such variations.

Of course, it should be pointed out that these rotational bands are unlike the usual ones where the levels are associated with the same intrinsic motion but different angular momenta. Here the single particle states involve different radial as well as rotational motions. Note that this behaviour is not particularly tied to this DKP oscillator. Buck [5] also found that, when solving the Schrödinger equation for deep, bell-shaped potentials, the levels with a fixed value of $N = 2n + \ell$ (these states are degenerate for a harmonic oscillator) lie on a straight line when plotted against $\ell(\ell+1)$. Geometric arguments in terms of the shapes of the potentials which can give rise to these rotational-like bands have been put forward to explain this behaviour [5][6].

3 Conclusion

We have introduced a new potential in the DKP equation. Since, in the non-relativistic limit, the DKP equation of motion leads to the usual harmonic oscillator with a spin-orbit coupling of the Thomas form, we call the system a DKP oscillator. This oscillator is a relativistic generalisation of the quantum harmonic oscillator for vector bosons. We have shown that it conserves the total angular momentum, that it is exactly soluble and we have computed and discussed its eigen-solutions.

The renewed interest in the Dirac oscillator has generated studies of its group theoretical properties [7] and hidden supersymmetry [8][9] among others. Such investigations of the DKP oscillator would be most useful to gain further insight into the physical meaning of this oscillator.

This study is on the other hand relevant to the work on relativistic equations for two fermions and particularly to those of Krolikowski's type [10]. Since they tend to the DKP equation in the point-like limit of tightly bound-states, exact solutions of the latter may provide useful information about this class of relativistic two-body equations.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank R. C. Johnson for useful discussions. The financial support of SERC through GR/H53648 is gratefully acknowledged.

References

- G. Petiau Acad. R. Belg. Cl. Sci. Mem. Collect. 16 (1936) No. 2, N. Kemmer Proc. R. Soc. 166 (1938) 127, Proc. R. Soc. A 173 (1939) 91, R. J. Duffin Phys. Rev. 54 (1939) 1114
- [2] M. Moshinsky and A. Szczepaniak, Journ. Phys. A 22 (1989) L817
- [3] Y. Nedjadi and R. C. Barrett, Solution of the Central Field Problem for a Duffin-Kemmer-Petiau Vector Boson, PREPRINT CNP-93/19.

- [4] Y. Nedjadi and R. C. Barrett, The Duffin-Kemmer-Petiau Oscillator, to be published.
- [5] B. Buck, J. A. Spiers and A. C. Merchant, Journ. Phys. A 22 (1989) 3477 and references therein.
- [6] N. Rowley Phys. Lett. B 69 (1977) 25 and private communication.
- [7] M. Moshinsky, G. Loyala and C. Villegas, Journ. Math. Phys. 32 (1991) 373
- [8] J. Benitez, R. P. Martinez y Romero, H. N. Nunez-Yepez and A. L. Salas-Brito, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 1643
- [9] M. Moreno, R. Martinez and A. Zentella, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 5 (1990) 949
- [10] Krolikowski, Acta. Phys. Polon. B18 (1987) 111

1995116582

542-71

N95-22999

100

HARMONIC OSCILLATORS AND RESONANCE SERIES GENERATED BY A PERIODIC UNSTABLE CLASSICAL ORBIT

A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky

Institute of Physics, The University of St Petersburg, St Petersburg, 198904 Russia

Abstract

The presence of an unstable periodic classical orbit allows one to introduce the decay time as a purely classical magnitude: inverse of the Lyapunov index which characterizes the orbit instability. The Uncertainty Relation gives the corresponding resonance width which is proportional to the Planck constant. The more elaborate analysis is based on the parabolic equation method where the problem is effectively reduced to the multidimensional harmonic oscillator with the time-dependent frequency. The resonances form series in the complex energy plane which is equidistant in the direction perpendicular to the real axis. The applications of the general approach to various problems in atomic physics are briefly exposed.

1 Introduction

The quantum quasistationary states may be subdivided into three types (although these types are not absolutely independent): (i) the shape resonances which decay by penetration through some potential barrier; (ii) the Feshbach resonances, i.e. the quasibound states of the particle in the field of the excited core, for instance, the doubly excited states of the helium atom; (iii) the resonances related with the unstable periodic classical orbits. The latter type of resonances is probably the less known one. The peculiarities of the density of states, corresponding to the periodic orbit (or cycle), were analyzed by Gutzwiller [1] and by Balian and Bloch [2]. The role of such orbits is a subject of intensive discussion in the current literature.

The connection between the stable periodic classical orbit and the quantum mechanical eigenvalues is obvious from the physical point of view: such trajectories are similar to the effective channels in space along which the wavefunction is concentrated. The pioneer study of the problem by Gutzwiller [1] suffers a number of deficiencies. For instance, the Gutzwiller theory does not give true value for the total amount of quantum numbers labeling the state (in this case it should be equal to the dimensionality of the configurational space). This deficiencies were discussed by Miller [3]. However it seems that the most appropriate method to treat the problem is the parabolic equation approach developed initially in the theory of radio wave propagation (see e.g. the monograph by Babich and Buldyrev [4] and the discussion below in Sec.2). This method provides adequate basis for the description of the eigenfunctions which are localized at the vicinity of the periodic stable orbit.

The case of the unstable periodic classical orbit was not the subject of such a detailed study. In particular Voros [5] showed that the expansion of the density of states over the closed orbits due to Gutzwiller [1] is not convergent and thus has not rigorous mathematical meaning. We do not discuss the problem on such a rigorous level and do not analyze the density of states expansion. Instead of it we consider only the relatively narrow resonances which can be well manifested in the physical observables. The resonances of this type are shown below to be related with the short-period long-living unstable orbits.

The natural characteristics of the classical orbit lifetime is the inverse of the Lyapunov index which is commonly used to describe the orbit instability. Thus in this case the concept of lifetime is introduced exclusively within the framework of classical mechanics without an appeal to the quantum tunneling and the channels interaction as in the case of the resonance types (i) and (ii). Namely this circumstance allows us to single out the third type of resonances in the classification introduced above.

The unstable orbits were discussed by Heller [6] who demonstrated that in the vicinity of the orbits the wavefunctions are enhanced and the 'scars' are formed on them. The explanation is obvious: the classical system stays long in this region. We show that the individual unstable orbit is naturally related with the whole series of resonances and give the simplified description of the wavefunctions. The complex eigenenergies representing the series form an equidistant pattern in the direction of the imaginary energy axis. The basic ideas of the present approach were outlined by the authors some times ago [7]. Here they are developed further and elucidated. Some recent applications to the problems of atomic physics are discussed.

2 Parabolic Equation Method

We start our analysis with the trivial comment. In the classical mechanics the particle with the energy close to the top of the potential barrier stays near the top for a long time. In quantum mechanics one can associate with the barrier top the series of 'eigenstates' with the imaginary energies (see also [8]). Indeed, consider the one- or two-dimensional *parabolic barrier*. In the first case the particle coordinate is x, in the second case the cylindrical radial coordinate is denoted as ρ . The stationary Schrödinger equation (for the particle with unit mass) is written respectively as

$$\left(-\frac{\hbar}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2 x^2\right)\psi = E^{(1)}\psi \tag{1}$$

and

$$\left(-\frac{\hbar}{2}\Delta_{2}^{2}+\mu L_{3}-\frac{1}{2}\alpha^{2}\rho^{2}\right)\psi = E^{(2)}\psi,$$
(2)

where Δ_2 is the two-dimensional Laplace operator, L_3 is the corresponding angular momentum operator, α and μ are the potential parameters. The substitution of new variables $(x', \rho') = (x', \rho')$ $\exp(-i\pi/4)$ transforms the equations (1), (2) into these for the harmonic oscillators. Respectively, the wave functions containing only the outgoing waves in the asymptotes are transformed into the oscillator eigenstates. Thus if the equations (1), (2) are considered with the outgoing wave boundary condition, then the imaginary 'eigenvalues' are obtained:

$$E^{(1)} = -i\alpha\hbar\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad E^{(2)} = \mu\hbar m - i\hbar\alpha\left(2n + |m| + 1\right).$$
(3)

It should be stressed that the corresponding 'eigenstates' form the natural basis set for the description of the time-evolution of the wave packet which is localized initially near the barrier top (e.g., for $\psi(x)|_{t=0} = \exp(-\beta x^2)/(1 + \gamma x^2)$ with some positive parameters β and γ). The imaginary part of the energy generally describes the short-time evolution of the wave packet and is not necessarily related with the true ionization process, i.e. escape to infinitely large distances (this situation is described by the notion *Diabatic Quasistaionary State* (DQS) introduced by the authors, see Ref.[7]).

The method of parabolic equation allows one to apply these simple formulae to the more general problem. Its essence is summarized below.

Consider the vicinity of the unstable orbit. One can introduce the natural local reference system at this region related with the trajectory. Let the system origin move with the particle along the unstable periodic orbit. The transversal coordinate axes q_i (i = 1, 2, 3, ..., N - 1; N is the dimensionality of the system configurational space) are directed normally to the orbit. The longitudinal coordinate s is the distance along the orbit. Let q_i be chosen so that $q_i = 0$ on the orbit. Since our subsequent consideration is confined to the orbit vicinity this definition is quite sufficient to our purposes. In these variables the system Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2M} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial s^2} + H_{tr}(p_i, q_i, s), \tag{4}$$

where M is the effective mass (we treat here the transition to the new curvilinear coordinates in somewhat simplified manner what is unimportant for the subsequent discussion). The transversal motion Hamiltonian H_{tr} contains momenta p_i conjugate to the transversal coordinates q_i . It includes also the periodic parametric dependence on the coordinate s.

In the framework of the parabolic equation method the motion along the longitudinal coordinate s is treated semiclassically. This implies the following representation of the wave function:

$$\psi(q_1, q_2, \cdots q_{n-1}, s) = v_{E_0}^{-1/2} \exp\left(iS_{E_0}(t)/\hbar\right) \varphi\left(q_1, q_2, \cdots q_{n-1}, t\right).$$
(5)

Here S_{E_0} and v_{E_0} are respectively the action $(\int pdq)$ and the velocity for the classical motion along the trajectory for the energy E_0 ($v_{E_0} = M^{-1}dS_{E_0}/ds$). The new 'time' variable t is directly related with the longitudinal coordinate s: $v_{E_0}dt = ds$. Substituting the wave function (5) into the Schrodinger equation $(H - E)\psi = 0$ one obtains (in the lowest order in the Planck constant \hbar) the following equation for the function φ :

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t} = \left(H_{tr}(p_i, q_i, t) - H_{tr}(0, 0, t) - E + E_0\right)\varphi.$$
(6)

The latter equation has the mathematical form of the *non-stationary* (*parabolic*) Schrodinger equation with the *mock* 'time' variable t directly related to the coordinate s. Note that our treatment starts with the *stationary* Schrodinger equation. Therefore the' *true* time does not appear here.

The rigorous formulation of the method based on the asymptotic (semiclassical type) techniques implies that the Hamiltonian of the non-stationary problem should be replaced by its approximation quadratic in the coordinates q_i . These statements present the essence of the parabolic equation method introduced originally by Leontovich and Fock [9] (see also Ref.[10]).

3 Quantization Conditions

The important point for the further development is that the Hamiltonian H_{tr} is periodic in 'time' t since the orbit is periodic. The natural way to treat such a problem is to consider the quasienergetic or Floquet states (see e.g. the review Ref. [11]). The latter is introduced so that after the period T the corresponding wave function acquires the phase factor which contains the quasi energy ϵ :

$$\psi(t+T) = \exp(i\epsilon T)\psi(t). \tag{7}$$

Let now choose the function φ to be the quasi energy state. After the passage over the periodic orbit the total wave function ψ (5) should remain unchanged. This gives the following quantization condition:

$$E - E_0 - \epsilon + S_{E_0}(T)/T = 2\pi n\hbar/T,$$
(8)

where T is the period of the orbit, n is an integer. Note that the parabolic equation method assumes naturally the semiclassical condition for the motion over s-coordinate: $S_{E_0}/\hbar \ge 1$.

Since we assume here the quadratic approximation for the Hamiltonian H_{tr} , then the nonstationary Schrodinger equation (6) describes the (N-1)-dimensional oscillator with the parameters depending on the 'time' t.

The quasi energy spectrum for the time-periodic quadratic (in the coordinates and the conjugated momenta) system was discussed in the monograph by Malkin and Man'ko [12]. Their study is based on the mathematically rigorous analysis by Sugiura [13] and Williamson [14]. Here we give only the list of the statements which seems to be quite appealing.

(i) In the case of quadratic time-dependent Hamiltonian the classical Hamilton equations are linear and coincide with the quantum Heizenberg equations for the momentum and coordinate operators \hat{p} and \hat{q} .

(ii) Let the general solution of the classical equations to be known:

$$(p(t), q(t)) = \Lambda(t)(p(0), q(0)),$$
(9)

where $\Lambda(t)$ is the evolution matrix acting on the array of the system coordinates q and canonically conjugated momenta p. Then the solution of the Heizenberg equations takes the form

$$(\hat{p}(t), \ \hat{q}(t)) = \Lambda(t)(\hat{p}(0), \ \hat{q}(0))$$
(10)

with the same evolution matrix.

(iii) For an arbitrary fixed t_0 one can find the *time-independent* quadratic (in the coordinates and momenta) Hamiltonian $H_{eff}^{(t_0)}$ which generates the same result for the system evolution at the time t as the initial *time-dependent* Hamiltonian. This implies that the exact time-evolution operator can be presented as $\exp(iH_{eff}^{(t_0)}t_0)$.

(iv) The matrix $\Lambda(t)$ which describes the system evolution over its period is called the monodromy matrix. The spectrum of the corresponding operator $H_{eff}^{(T)}$ coincides with the quasi energy spectrum. We should emphasize here that this operator must be considered as a continuous limit $(t \to T)$ of the operator $H_{eff}^{(t)}$. For instance, in the one-dimensional case the phase point in principle can perform several 2π -rotations around the origin which do not influence the monodromy matrix. However this rotations should be taken into account in the construction of the operator $H_{eff}^{(T)}$.

Thus the problem of finding the quasi energies is reduced to the analysis of the spectrum of the monodromy matrix (we assume further that its eigenvalues are non-degenerate). Moreover, the eigenvalues of the monodromy matrix are essentially the exponents of the eigenvalues of some quadratic Hamiltonian. The latter does not necessarily correspond to the real oscillator since the case of the quadratic potential barrier also can be realized. The spectrum of such a barrier was discussed above at the beginning of the Section 2. Taking all these possibilities into account one finds that the following basic types of the eigenvalues sets are feasible (the most general description is given by Williamson [14]):

$$\exp(i\omega T),\tag{11}$$

$$\exp(\pm \alpha T),\tag{12}$$

$$\exp(\pm i\mu T \pm \alpha T). \tag{13}$$

The first one corresponds to the real oscillator with the frequency ω in the normal mode of the Hamiltonian $H_{eff}^{(T)}$ whereas the second and the third cases are related respectively with the parabolic barriers (1) and (2). Note that in (13) four various eigenvalues are contained according to various choice of the signs.

The parameter α in (12) and (13) coincides with the Lyapunov index which characterizes the instability of the classical periodic orbit in the linear approximation for the equations of motion. Indeed, the Lyapunov index is defined by the relation $q_i(T)/q_i(0) = \exp(\alpha T)$. According to the statement (*ii*) it is related with the description of the quantum system.

The eigenstates of the time-evolution operator coincide with those of the operator $H_{eff}^{(T)}$. One has to bear in mind that in the multidimensional system the eigenstates of each type can appear several times. In order to distinguish them we introduce below the lower indexes. The diagonalization of $H_{eff}^{(T)}$ generates the subdivision of the transversal coordinate subspace into the direct sum of the subspaces each of which corresponds to some set of the eigenvalues discussed above. The natural coordinate basis in each subspace is given by the normal coordinates. Depending on the type of the eigenvalue (see above) the quadratic Hamiltonian $H_{eff}^{(T)}$ in each subspace is of the oscillatory type (with some frequency ω_{j_1} , $j_1 = 1, 2, ...N_1$) or corresponds to the quadratic barrier described by Eq. (1) or (2) with the related parameters α_{j_2} ($j_2 = 1, 2, ...N_2$) in the case (1) or the parameters α_{j_3} and μ_{j_3} ($j_3 = 1, 2, ...N_3$) in the case (2). The lower indexes enumerate the eigenvalues. The total amount of the eigenvalues is $N_1 + N_2 + N_3 = N - 1$.

Taking into account the relation (7) we obtain the quasi energy spectrum of the system:

$$\epsilon(\{n\},\{m\}) = \sum_{j_1} \hbar \omega_{j_1} \left(n_{j_2} + \frac{1}{2} \right) - i \sum_{j_2} \hbar \alpha_{j_2} \left(n_{j_2} + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \sum_{j_3} \hbar \left(\omega_{j_3} m_{j_3} - i \alpha_{j_3} \left(2n_{j_3} + |m_{j_3}| + 1 \right) \right)$$
(14)

with some integer n_j $(n_j > 0)$, m_j . The summation is performed over all eigenvalues described above. The eigenfunctions φ are expressed readily as the products of the Hermit functions of the normal coordinates. Let us summarize the meaning of the quantum numbers. The quantum number n quantizes the motion along the periodic orbit. The quantum numbers n_{j_1} quantize the stable vibrational modes of the transversal motion whereas n_{j_2} and n_{j_3} are theirs analogs in the case of unstable transversal modes. The quantum number m_{j_3} are the azimuthal quantum number for the rotations in the plane locally perpendicular to the cycle.

We should emphasize that the total amount of the quantum numbers (including n, see (8)) coincides with the dimensionality of the configuration space. However, since the resonance series lie along the imaginary axis in the complex energy plane, this series is manifested in the experimental observations as one peak. Thus some of the quantum numbers prove to be 'hidden' and the amount of the 'observable' quantum numbers is effectively reduced.

4 Discussion

The formulae (8) and (14) contain the essence of the present paper. They are quite transparent from the physical point of view. Let the orbit energy E_0 be chosen to satisfy the semiclassical quantization condition for the motion along the periodic orbit:

$$S_{E_0} = 2\pi n\hbar. \tag{15}$$

Then from (8) we obtain

$$E = E_0 + \epsilon. \tag{16}$$

Thus the quantization problem is separated: first, the motion over the unstable cycle should be quantized according to Eq.(15) and, second, the motion over the transversal coordinates is quantized giving the quasi energy spectrum (14). The analogous equations were discussed by Miller [3] in the case of stable orbit. They reflects effective separation of variables in the vicinity of the cycle: the quantum number n is large but the other quantum numbers are small being incorporated into the quasi energy spectrum.

These formulae are also in close relation to the Gutzwiller formula for the density of levels in the two-dimensional case:

$$\rho(E) = \frac{T}{2\pi} \operatorname{Im} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sinh(n\alpha T/2)} \exp(inS/\hbar).$$
(17)

This sum can be rearranged similarly to the Miller [3] paper:

$$\rho(E) = \frac{T}{2\pi} \operatorname{Im} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[1 - \exp(-n\alpha T) \right]^{-1} \exp\left[n(iS/\hbar - \alpha T/2) \right] =$$
(18)
$$= \frac{T}{2\pi} \operatorname{Im} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[1 - \exp\left(iS/\hbar - m\alpha \right) \right]^{-1} \exp\left[n(iS/\hbar - 3\alpha T/2) \right].$$

Thus the density of states has the poles at the complex energies given by the equations (8) and (14) (since $S_E = S_{E_0} + (\partial S/\partial E)(E - E_0)$, $\partial S/\partial E = T$). However the expression (17) is not applicable in the complex energy plane. Moreover the expansion of the states density over the

periodic trajectories does not converge [5]. Therefore the proper description of the individual resonance states given in the present paper is essential.

Our principle qualitative conclusion is as follows. Since the unstable closed classical orbit can be characterized by some 'decay time' (namely, the inverse of Lyapunov index), the Uncertainty Relation gives the related resonance width which is linear in the Planck constant \hbar (in contradistinction to the shape resonances where the width is exponentially small). Moreover whole resonance series correspond to the individual orbit with the resonances lying in the complex energy plane equidistantly on the line parallel to the imaginary axis (see formula (14)).

The first point to be stressed is that the quadratic approximation demands localization of the wave function in the vicinity of the orbit whereas the resonance functions constructed above do not satisfy this requirement since they rise exponentially in the case of the quadratic potential barrier. This contradiction is removed if one notices that the complex transformation of the transversal coordinates $q = q' \exp(i\pi/8)$ makes the eigenfunctions decreasing. The close analogy is traced here with the method of the complex rotation of the coordinates. This method of the resonance states calculation proves to be very efficient in the analysis of quite complex atomic systems [15]. The physical meaning of this states follows from theirs role in the description of the initially prepared wave packet (see discussion in the Sec.2).

The formula (14) implies that the quantum numbers n_j are not too large in order to confine the major part of the probability to the applicability domain of the quadratic approximation for the Hamiltonian H_{tr} . Nevertheless it is worth to stress that the resonances of this type generate series in the complex energy plane (in the quadratic approximation the series are equidistant in the direction of the imaginary energy axis). This constitutes the principle difference between the resonances discussed in the present paper and the shape or Feshbach resonances. In particular, this difference is manifested in the shape of the resonance profiles in the physical observables such as the cross sections, transition probabilities etc.

In principle the situation is feasible when the quadratic approximation is not applicable even for the lowest values of n_i ($n_i = 0$). This problem is not important for the general construction of the present theory since in fact its small parameter is the Planck constant (or inverse particle mass). However it can limit applicability of the theory to the concrete systems. If the quadratic approximation is dropped, then the theory is reduced to the description of the quasi energy states of the periodic Hamiltonian with the more general (non-quadratic) dependence on the coordinates. The practical realozation of this approach (see the next Section) gives good results.

5 Some Applications to Atomic Physics

In this Section some recent applications to the atomic physics are briefly discussed. We emphasize some modifications of the general scheme which are necessary in the concrete applications. The states of the atom in the uniform electric field serve in the text books as a typical example of the shape resonances. These resonances have negative energy and decay by the penetration of the potential barrier. The resonances exist also for positive energies where they have different origin being related with the unstable periodic classical trajectory. The electron moves between the atomic nucleus and the turning point against the force exerted on it by the uniform field. The calculations [16], [17] within the present approach demonstrate an excellent agreement with the accurate numerical data both for the resonance positions and widths. For the motion of the electron in the field of two Coulomb centers the unstable classical trajectory also represents an interval of line. The calculations of the resonances were carried in this case by Du *et al* [18].

In the cited examples the resonance width corresponds to the true ionization (transitions to the continuum). An alternative situation appears for the helium atom where Klar [19] have found classical unstable equilibrium configurations (in which the electron-electron and electron-nucleus separations do not vary with time but the system rotates as a whole). Within the present approach these configurations are related [20] with the Rydberg series of broad resonances (doubly excited states) which are interpreted as DQS. Their widths describe not the transitions to the continuum (autoionization) but the interaction of the diabatic configurations.

The equilibrium electron configurations in the helium atom give an example of the correlated motion of the electrons which is not described by the effective central field approximation conventional in the theory of atoms. The description of the electron correlations is one of the fundamental problems in atomic physics.

The other example of the correlated electron motion appears in the study to the two-electron continuum states which are the final states in the electron impact ionization ((e, 2e) process) or double photoionization ((γ , 2e) process) of the atom. In the near-threshold domain the theory of the process was developed by Wannier [21] (see also the review by Read [22]). The physical idea is that the electrons fly apart from the core (with the charge Z) being at equal distances from it, i.e. at the so called Wannier ridge $r_1 = r_2$ ($\vec{r_1}, \vec{r_2}$ are the electron vectors relative to the atomic nucleus). Otherwise one of the electrons is decelerated and is captured into the high lying Rydberg state. Hence sliding off the Wannier ridge leads to the population of the one-electron continuum. For the double escape process this part of the flux is lost. In the framework of the present approach this is described in terms of the effective width and the whole double escape process is presented [23] as the system survival on the Wannier ridge.

Due to the Coulomb electron-electron repulsion the emission of the electrons in the opposite direction has the highest probability, i.e. $\theta_{12} \approx \pi$, where θ_{12} is the angle between $\vec{r_1}, \vec{r_2}$).

It is convenient to use collective hyperspherical coordinates: hyperradius $R = (r_1^2 + r_2^2)^{1/2}$ and hyperangle $\alpha_h = \tan(r_1/r_2)$. The Wannier treatment presumes two basic assumptions:

(i) The vicinity of the Wannier saddle configuration $\vec{r_1} = -\vec{r_2}$ (i.e. $\alpha_h = \frac{1}{4}\pi$), $\theta_{12} = \pi$ is considered with the quadratic approximation in the variables $(\alpha_h - \frac{1}{2}\pi)$ and $(\pi - \theta_{12})$.

(ii) The motion over the hyperradius R is treated semiclassically.

The hyperradius R plays the role of the longitudinal coordinate s of the Sections 2, and $(\alpha_h - \frac{1}{4}\pi)$ and $(\pi - \theta_{12})$ are the transversal coordinates q_i . In the original Wannier theory [21], [22] the processes in the small-R region (inner zone, $R < R_0$) are not considered. They are replaced by some boundary condition on the border R_0 and the system evolution in the outer zone to the free electron motion regime $(R \to \infty)$ is considered. Thus in contradistinction to the previous examples we do not have the *periodic* classical trajectory in this case. The basic trajectory corresponds to the double electron escape and terminates at $R \to \infty$.

The analysis of the *total* double escape cross sections within the present approach was carried out in Ref. [23]. Some special treatment is required to account for the electrons deceleration (as R increases) due to the Coulomb attraction to the residual core. This effect becomes crucial when the energy excess E above the double ionization threshold is small. The postadiabatic scheme was developed which allowed us to reproduce not only the Wannier power threshold law but also the deviations from it for small but finite E.

In addition to the total double escape cross section the final electron distributions over the angles and energies is of great interest as a direct manifestation of the electron correlations. In a good approximation the angular coordinate θ_{12} is separated from the hyperangle α_h . Then the general scheme of the Sections 2 and 3 shows that the angular dependent wave function obeys [24], [25] the non-stationary Schrodinger equation for the harmonic oscillator with the time-dependent frequency (it is worth reiterating that the mock time is simply related with the longitudinal coordinate R). The final $(R \to \infty)$ angular distributions depend crucially on the boundary (or initial) condition imposed on the border of the reaction zone. Although this point is completely obvious in the present formulation via the non-stationary harmonic oscillator (see also Ref. [26]), it was missed by the previous authors [27] who claimed that the Gaussian angular correlation pattern universally appear.

In the present approach the problem of the angular correlations is formulated in terms of the wave packet propagation from R_0 to $R \to \infty$. Some general features of the propagation can be established in the harmonic approximation for the problem under consideration [24], [25]. The more accurate scheme of the calculations drops the harmonic approximation. It incorporates the exact Coulomb interaction between the electrons and also the effective centrifugal potential which appears for the double continuum states with the non-zero orbital momentum L. The quantitative agreement with the experimental data is achieved along this way and a number of new qualitative features of the double escape process are revealed [28] - [30].

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the grant No 93-02-14888 from the Russian Foundation for Fundamental Researches.

References

- [1] M.C.Gutzwiller, J.Math.Phys. 12, 343 (1971).
- [2] R.Balian and C.Bloch, Ann.Phys.(N.Y.) 85, 414 (1974).
- [3] W.H.Miller, J.Chem.Phys. 63, 996 (1975).
- [4] V.M.Babich and V.S.Buldyrev, Short Wave Length Diffraction Theory: Asymptotic Methods (Springer, Berlin, 1991).
- [5] A.Voros, J.Phys.A **21**, 685 (1988).
- [6] E.J.Heller, Phys.Rev.Lett. 53, 1515 (1984).
- [7] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, Zh.Eksp.Teor.Fiz. 95, 1162 (1989) [Sov.Phys. JETP 68, 670 (1989)].
- [8] W.A.Friedman and C.J.Goebel, Ann.Phys. 104, 145 (1977).

- [9] M.Leontovich and V.Fock, Zh.Eksp.Teor.Fiz. 16, 557 (1946); see also V.A.Fock Diffraction, Refraction and Reflection of Radio Waves, Air Force Cambridge Research Center, Air Research and Development Command, 1957.
- [10] J.B.Keller and S.I.Rubinow, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 9, 24; 10, 303 (1960).
- [11] N.L.Manakov, V.D.Ovchinnikov and L.P.Rapoport, Phys.Rep. 141, 319 (1986).
- [12] I.A.Malkin and V.I.Man'ko, Dinamicheskie Simmetrii i Kogerentnye Sostoianiia Kvantovykh Sistem (In Russian: Dynamic Symmetries and Coherent States of Quantum Systems) (Nauka, Moscow, 1979).
- [13] M.Sugiura, J.Math.Soc.Jap. 11, 37 (1959).
- [14] J.Williamson, Am.J.Math. 58, 141, (1936).
- [15] B.R.Junker and C.H.Huang, Phys.Rev.A 18, 313 (1978); J.Nutall, Com.Atomic.Mol.Phys. 9, 15 (1979); Y.K.Ho, Phys.Rep. 99, 1 (1983).
- [16] A.K.Kazansky, V.N.Ostrovsky and D.A.Telnov, J.Phys.B 23, L433 (1990).
- [17] A.K.Kazansky, V.N.Ostrovsky and D.A.Telnov, In Resonance Ionisation Spectroscopy 1990, Ed.J.E.Parks and N.Omenetto, Institute of Physics Conference Series, N^o 114, Institute of Physics, Bristol, 1991, p.97-100.
- [18] M.L.Du, A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, Phys.Rev.A 42, 4381 (1990).
- [19] H.Klar, Phys.Rev.Lett. 57, 66 (1986); Few Body Systems 1, 123 (1986); Z.Phys.D 6, 107 (1987); J.Opt.Soc.Am.B 4, 788 (1987).
- [20] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, Physica Scripta 49, 166 (1994).
- [21] G.H.Wannier, Phys.Rev. 90, 817 (1953).
- [22] F.H.Read, in Electron Impact Ionization, Ed. T.D.Märk, G.H.Dunn, (Springer, 1985), p.1.
- [23] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, J.Phys.B 25, 2121 (1992).
- [24] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, J.Phys.B 26, 2231 (1993).
- [25] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, Phys.Rev.A 48, R871 (1993).
- [26] M.Gailitis and R.Peterkop, J.Phys.B 22, 1231 (1989).
- [27] A.R.P.Rau, J.Phys.B 9, L283 (1976); J.M.Feagin, J.Phys.B 17, 2433 (1984).
- [28] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, J.Phys.B 27, 447 (1994).
- [29] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, Journal de Physique IV (Colloque C6; Suppl.JP II, n° 11) 3, 159 (1993).
- [30] A.K.Kazansky and V.N.Ostrovsky, Phys.Rev.Lett. (1994) (submitted for publication).

1995116583

N95-23000

40

モデアクラ Shannon-Wehrl entropy for cosmological and black-hole squeezing

Haret Rosu Instituto de Física, Universidad de Guanajuato, Apdo Postal E-143, 37150 León, Gto, México

Marco Reyes Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV, Apdo Postal A-740, 07000 México D.F., México

Abstract

We discuss the Shannon-Wehrl entropy within the squeezing vocabulary for the cosmological and black hole particle production.

Models and concepts of quantum optics have been applied to quantum cosmology (cosmological particle production) already in the seventies [1]. More recently Grishchuk and Sidorov [GS] [2] used the formalism of squeezed states to discuss the spectrum of relic gravitons from inflation, the spectrum of primordial density perturbations, and even the Hawking radiation of Schwarzschild black holes. Apparently there is no new physics entailed [3]. However, the squeezing language may well be more effective in characterizing those physical processes which are of basic theoretical interest. Therefore many authors started to use this language in the cosmological context.

Here we apply the Shannon-Wehrl entropy (S_{sw}) [4] to the squeezing approach of [GS] [5].

In quantum optics S_{sw} is known as an important parameter which is employed to distinguish among various types of coherent states, measuring the relative degree of squeezing with respect to pure coherent states for which $S_{sw} = 1$ is minimum [6]. It is defined as follows

$$S_{sw} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 \alpha Q(\alpha) \ln Q(\alpha)$$
(1)

where $Q(\alpha)$ is the Q representation of the density operator satisfying the normalization condition $\frac{1}{\pi}\int d^2\alpha Q(\alpha)=1.$

The calculation of S_{sw} for various types of states is not difficult [7]. Here we quote two results of which we shall make use in the following. For the one-mode squeezed states

$$S_{sw} = 1 + \frac{1}{2}\ln(\sinh^2 r - |\epsilon|^2)$$
(2)

where ϵ is the coherent percent component of the squeezed state. $\epsilon = 0$ means the squeezed vacuum state. For the thermal states the S_{sw} parameter may be written

$$S_{sw} = 1 - \ln(1 - \xi)$$
(3)

where ξ is the inverse of the Boltzmann modal factor $\xi = \exp(-\beta \hbar \omega)$.

Let us pass now to the squeezing approach of [GS]. The main idea is that gravitons created from zero point fluctuations of an initial vacuum cosmological state are at present in an one-mode squeezed quantum state as the result of the parametric amplification due to the interaction with the variable gravitational background. The squeezing coefficient r is a function of the cosmological evolution. Most authors [8] use an expansion in three stages: inflationary (i), radiation-dominated (r), and matter-dominated (m), with the transitions between stages considered in the 'sudden' approximation in which the kinematic effects of the transitions are neglected. Thus the Universe remains in the same quantum state as before transitions [9], and only a redistribution (squeezing) of the quasiparticles takes place. The parametric amplification occurs mainly at the inflationary stage, where the variation of the background is most rapid. The squeezing coefficient can be obtained from the ratios of the dimensionless scale factors at the returning (either at r-stage or m-stage) and exit of a given mode out of the Hubble sphere at the i-stage, as follows

$$\exp r = a(\eta_{ret})/a(\eta_{ex}) \tag{3}$$

According to [GS] r increased from $r \sim 1$ up to $r \sim 100$ for waves with present-day frequencies ranging from $\nu \approx 10^{-8} - 10^{-16}$ Hz, which were amplified at the inflationary stage only. For waves in the range $\nu \approx 10^{-16} - 10^{-18}$ Hz, the squeezing parameter may reach a value of 120 due to the additional amplification at the matter-dominated transition. We see that cosmological squeezing is about two orders of magnitude bigger than ordinary laboratory squeezing. This is indicative of the huge mean number of quasiparticles in every mode. Making use of the numerical values of the cosmological squeezing coefficient we can plot the S_{sw} entropic parameter for the one-mode squeezed graviton states according to Eq.(2).



Fig. 1: Shannon-Wehrl entropy for graviton squeezed states with different coherent components ϵ (full line $\epsilon = 0\%$, slash line $\epsilon = 10\%$, slash-dot line $\epsilon = 20\%$).

The non-zero coherent component we allowed for would correspond to possible deviations of the initial quantum state of gravitons from the vacuum state [10].

In the case of Schwarzschild black holes a two-mode squeezing comes into play for any type of radiation detected at asymptotic infinity. However due to the special causal structure of the black hole spacetime, the asymptotic observations are limited to one mode only. Under such conditions the detected states turn into thermal ones. Actually, Hawking radiation is a distorted blackbody radiation, but we can consider it as an effective thermal one [11]. Therefore we plotted S_{sw} according to Eq.(3), with γ in the effective Boltzmann factor defined by

$$\frac{1}{\exp(\gamma) - 1} = \frac{\Gamma(\omega)}{\exp(\beta_h \hbar \omega) - 1}$$
(4)

where β_h is the horizon inverse temperature parameter, and $\Gamma(\omega)$ is the penetration factor of the curvature and angular momentum barrier around the black hole.



Fig. 2: Shannon-Wehrl entropy for the 'thermal' radiation of a $M = 10^{17}$ g Schwarzschild black hole as a function of the inverse of the effective Bolzmann factor.

We chose the mass of the black hole so that no massive particles are emitted. This would better correspond to the analogy with quantum optics.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported partially by CONACyT Grant No. F246-E9207 to the University of Guanajuato, and by a CONACyT Graduate Fellowship.

References

- Ya.B. Zel'dovich, JETP Lett. 12, 307 (1970); Ya.B. Zel'dovich and A.A. Starobinsky, Sov. Phys. JETP 34, 1159 (1972); B.L. Hu, Ph.D. Thesis, Princeton University, 1972; L. Grishchuk, Sov. Phys. JETP 40, 409 (1975); B.K. Berger, Phys. Rev. D 11, 2770 (1975)
- [2] L.P. Grishchuk and Y.V. Sidorov, Phys. Rev. D 42, 3413 (1990)
- [3] A. Albrecht et al., Imperial College preprint TP/92-93/21 (1992)
- [4] A. Wehrl, Rep. Math. Phys. 16, 353 (1979)
- [5] For more details see: H. Rosu and M. Reyes, IFUG preprint IFUG/94/11

- [6] E.H. Lieb, Commun. Math. Phys. 62, 35 (1978)
- [7] A. Orłowski, Phys. Rev. A 48, 727 (1993)
- [8] M. Gasperini and M. Giovannini, Phys. Rev. D 47, 1519 (1993); for a generalization to an arbitrary sequence of stages see: M.R. Garcia Maia, Phys. Rev. D 48, 647 (1993)
- [9] L.M. Krauss and M. White, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 869 (1992)
- [10] L.P. Grishchuk, Class. Quantum Grav. 10, 2449 (1993)
- [11] J.D. Bekenstein, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70, 3680 (1993)

1995-116584

N95-23001

REAL LASERS AND OTHER DEFORMED OBJECTS¹

Allan I. Solomon

Faculty of Mathematics and Computing, The Open University, Milton Keynes, UK

Heard at the Second Harmonic Oscillator Conference: "There are no harmonic oscillators in Nature." K.B. Wolf "Tell that to the quantum opticians!" M.M. Nieto

Abstract

In this talk we re-examine three important properties of quantum laser systems: (i) Photon counting statistics (ii) Squeezing (iii) Signal-to-Quantum Noise Ratio. None of these phenomena depends on the choice of hamiltonian; indeed, we analyze them initially without restriction to any specific form of the commutation relations.

1 Introduction

Although most of the recent motivation for deforming the bosonic canonical commutation relations has been derived from considerations of theory, in this note we should like to take a different tack. To what extent does the assumption of modified (*deformed*) commutation relations lead to new, even non-intuitive, physical predictions? Ideally, such predictions should not be based on the choice of a specific hamiltonian, due to the additional ambiguity involved in such a choice; unfortunately, this rules out delicate tests involving frequency measurements, some of the most refined of physics. And, initially at any rate, it would be of interest to embark on the analysis without resorting to a specific form of deformed commutation relations, although ultimately any quantitative result will depend on a specific set.

With this minimalist philosophy in mind, let us consider the ingredients necessary for a theory of quantum photons. First of all, we need an operator a which annihilates photons one at a time; and its hermitian conjugate a^{\dagger} which creates them. We also postulate a number operator Nwhich counts photons; $N|n\rangle = n|n\rangle$. The set $\{|n\rangle; n = 0, \ldots, \}$ provides a denumerable basis for the Hilbert space (Fock space). Thus the number operator N satisfies [N, a] = -a, just as for the usual (non-deformed) boson operators. Necessarily, since the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ is defined to have no photons, $N|0\rangle = 0$ and $a|0\rangle = 0$. Clearly the combination $a^{\dagger}a$ does not change the number of photons, so it commutes with N and must be a function of N. We write this function conventionally as [N] (read "box N"). Thus we have

$$a^{\dagger}a = [N].$$

¹Talk presented at the Second Conference on Harmonic Oscillators, Cocoyoc, Mexico, 23-25 March, 1994.

Clearly aa^{\dagger} is also a function of N; from evaluation of

$$a(a^{\dagger}a)|n\rangle = (aa^{\dagger})a|n\rangle \tag{1}$$

this function may easily be seen to be

$$aa^{\dagger} = [N+1]$$

The generalized commutation relations may therefore be written

$$aa^{\dagger} - a^{\dagger}a = [N+1] - [N]$$
 (2)

where [] is some (analytic) function.

For example, the two most commonly used deformations of the canonical commutation relations which have been considered are:

(a) "Maths" Boson:

$$aa^{\dagger} - qa^{\dagger}a = I. \tag{3}$$

This was introduced by Arik and Coon [1], who also described the corresponding q-coherent states. In the commutator form, this may be written as

$$aa^{\dagger} - a^{\dagger}a = q^{N} \tag{4}$$

where q is some real parameter. We refer to this deformed boson as a "Maths" (or M-) boson as the "basic" numbers (*cf.* Equation (15)) and special functions, q-functions, associated with this operator have been investigated in the mathematical literature for over 150 years; see, for example, [2].

(b) "Physics" Boson:

$$aa^{\dagger} - qa^{\dagger}a = q^{-N}. \tag{5}$$

(0)

In the commutator form, this may be written as

$$aa^{\dagger} - a^{\dagger}a = \cosh(2N+1)s/\cosh s \tag{6}$$

where $q = \exp(2s)$.

This deformation was introduced [3, 4] in order to provide a realization of the "quantum groups" [5] (non-cocommutative Hopf algebras) which arise naturally in the solution of certain lattice models [6].

An alternate formulation of Equation 2 is [7]

$$\dot{a}a^{\dagger} - f(N)a^{\dagger}a = 1 \tag{7}$$

with the correspondence [8]

$$[n] = 1 + f(n-1) + f(n-1)f(n-2) + f(n-1)f(n-2)f(n-3) + \dots + f(n-1)f(n-2) \cdots f(2)f(1)$$
(8)

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f(n-1)!}{f(k)!}.$$
(9)

Following the pioneering work of Jackson, we may introduce a generalized calculus related to our general deformation characterized by the analytic function []. We define an operator D_x such that

$$D_x = \frac{1}{x} \left[x \frac{d}{dx} \right]. \tag{10}$$

This acts as a generalized derivative operator, e.g.

$$D_x x^n = [n] x^{n-1}.$$
 (11)

The eigenfunction E(x) of D_x given by

$$E(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{[n]!}.$$
 (12)

is well-defined provided the function [] satisfies appropriate convergence criteria. This plays the role of a generalized exponential function.

A related generalized quantum optics may be described [8], starting with the generalized coherent states $|\lambda\rangle$ defined to satisfy

$$a|\lambda\rangle = \lambda|\lambda\rangle. \tag{13}$$

Since $a E(\lambda a^{\dagger})|0\rangle = \lambda E(\lambda a^{\dagger})|0\rangle$, we can use E(x) to define analogues of coherent states as normalized eigenstates of the generalized annihilation operator.

$$|\lambda\rangle = \{E(|\lambda|^2)\}^{-\frac{1}{2}}E(\lambda a^{\dagger})|0\rangle.$$
(14)

The q-coherent states associated with the special cases of the bosons described by Equation 3 and Equation 5 have been investigated by several authors e.g. [4, 9]. For these two special cases, [n] is given by

$$[n] = \begin{cases} \frac{1-q^n}{1-q} & \text{M-case} \\ \frac{q^n - q^{-n}}{q-q^{-1}} & \text{P-case} \end{cases}$$
(15)

We now consider in turn each of three phenomena in quantum optics from our new generalized viewpoint:

- Photon counting statistics
- Squeezing
- Signal-to-Quantum Noise Ratio.

2 Photon Counting Statistics

The states of an ideal laser are conventionally described by Glauber coherent states [10]. However, real lasers do not strictly adhere to this description; in particular, the photon number statistics of real lasers are not exactly Poissonian [11]. Furthermore, various non-linear interactions give rise to well-defined deviations from the Poissonian distribution [12]. Recently, deformations of the commutation rules of boson operators have been considered as models for physical systems which deviate from the ideal cases [13]. We approach the problem of the "real" laser in this latter phenomenological spirit, and show that indeed a coherent state of the deformed boson (q-coherent state) provides a more accurate model of a non-ideal laser, at least as far as the photon number statistics is concerned.

An *ideal* laser may be described as a normalized eigenstate of the photon annihilation operator a, where a and its hermitian conjugate a^{\dagger} (photon creation operator) satisfy

$$[a,a^{\dagger}] \equiv aa^{\dagger} - a^{\dagger}a = I.$$
⁽¹⁶⁾

The normalized eigenstate satisfying $a|\alpha > = \alpha |\alpha >$ is easily seen to be

$$|\alpha\rangle = \exp(-\frac{|\alpha|^2}{2}) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^n}{\sqrt{n!}} |n\rangle.$$
(17)

The number eigenstates are |n>, and this coherent state gives rise to the Poisson distribution

$$P_n = | < n |\alpha > |^2 = \exp\left(-|\alpha|^2\right) \frac{|\alpha|^{2n}}{n!}.$$
(18)

The factorial moments of this distribution are

$$< n >= |\alpha|^2$$

 $< n(n-1) >= |\alpha|^4$
 $< n(n-1)(n-2) >= |\alpha|^6$

etc., from which the variance is found to be

$$\sigma^2 = < n^2 > - < n >^2 = |\alpha|^2$$

A convenient measure of the deviation of a distribution from the Poisson distribution is the Mandel parameter

$$Q = \frac{\sigma^2}{< n >} - 1 = \frac{< n(n-1) >}{< n >} - < n >$$

which vanishes for the Poisson distribution, is positive for a super-Poissonian distribution, and negative for a sub-Poissonian distribution.

In order to enter into the phenomenological spirit of our approach, and to compare with the experimental data, we need to specify the form of the commutation relations Equation 2; that is, specify a choice of the function []. It is sufficient for our purposes here to compare the distributions arising from the M and P forms Equation 3 and Equation 5 respectively. One can

easily check that the P-type q-Poisson distribution is sub-Poissonian ($Q \leq 0$) for all values of q, reducing to the conventional Poisson distribution for q = 1. On the other hand, the M-type q-Poisson distribution is super-Poissonian for q < 1 and sub-Poissonian for q > 1.

The q-Poissonian q-factorial moments are $\langle [n] \rangle = |\alpha|^2$, $\langle [n][n-1] \rangle = |\alpha|^4$, etc.

To evaluate the average number of photons and the Mandel parameter for the q-Poisson distribution we note that the corresponding factorial moments satisfy

$$< n > = \left. \frac{x}{E_q(x)} \cdot \frac{\partial E_q(x)}{\partial x} \right|_{x=|\alpha|^2}$$

 $< n(n-1) > = \left. \frac{x^2}{E_q(x)} \cdot \frac{\partial^2 E_q(x)}{\partial^2 x} \right|_{x=|\alpha|^2}$

These expressions may be used to provide estimates of the q-Poissonian parameters q and $|\alpha|^2$ corresponding to a distribution which is specified in terms of given values of < n > and Q. The values of q corresponding to given pairs of values of < n > and Q, and the corresponding values of $|\alpha|^2$ were tabulated in reference [14].

For small deviations from a Poissonian distribution we define $q = e^{-s}$ and obtain in the M-case

$$s = \frac{2Q}{\langle n \rangle}$$

which is positive (i.e., q < 1) for a super-Poissonian distribution and negative (q > 1) for a sub-Poissonian distribution. In the P-case we obtain

$$s^{2} = -\frac{3Q}{\langle n \rangle (\langle n \rangle + \frac{3}{2})}$$

so that only the sub-Poissonian distribution (Q < 0) corresponds to a real value of s (and q).

Another useful result is

$$\rho \equiv \lim_{\langle n \rangle \to 0} \frac{Q}{\langle n \rangle} = \begin{cases} \frac{1-q}{1+q} & \text{M-case} \\ \\ \frac{2}{q+q^{-1}} - 1 & \text{P-case} \end{cases}$$
(19)

In the M-case the range of ρ is $-1 < \rho < 1$, corresponding to a sub-Poissonian distribution for $\rho < 0$ and to a super-Poissonian distribution for $\rho > 0$. In the P-case the range of ρ is $-1 < \rho \leq 0$, exhibiting only a sub-Poissonian distribution.

From Equation (19) we obtain

$$q = \begin{cases} \frac{1-\rho}{1+\rho} & \text{M-case} \\ \\ \frac{1}{1+\rho} \pm \sqrt{\frac{1}{(1+\rho)^2} - 1} & \text{P-case} \end{cases}$$
(20)

Using the three highest peaks in the experimental data pertaining to the photon statistics of a He-Ne laser just above threshold [15] we obtain $\frac{P_2^2}{P_1P_3} = \frac{[3]}{[2]} = 1.319$, which in the M-case is a

quadratic equation in q, yielding q = 0.747. Note that the corresponding equation for the P-case can be shown to rule out the P-boson as a model of this system since for all real and positive q the inequality $\frac{[3]}{[2]} \ge \frac{3}{2}$ holds.

If one compares the best fit for the M-boson q-coherent state against the experimental data [15] and the ideal (Glauber) coherent state, one finds that the value of q corresponding to the best fit is 0.749, in very close agreement with the value estimated above using the highest three peaks. It is not surprising that a better fit is obtained with the q-coherent state, due to the extra parameter q. However, certain constraints are satisfied (for example, the convergence criterion for the M-type q-exponential function demands that $(1-q)|\alpha|^2 \leq 1$ and is satisfied here) and, as we have already remarked, the P-boson model is ruled out.

Experimental studies of the photon statistics of a laser at different intensities above the threshold were reported in refs. [16] and [17]. Since super-Poissonian statistics is exhibited, only M-type analysis is warranted. In both cases it is found that for counting times short relative to the intensity correlation time the distributions agree with q-Poissonian statistics, the value of q increasing from a value which could be close to zero at threshold to a value close to unity (Poissonian distribution) for intensities about an order of magnitude higher than the threshold intensity. At twice the threshold intensity values of q ranging between roughly 0.3 and 0.8 were obtained from the different sets of experimental data.

Another set of experimental data, exhibiting a sub-Poissonian distribution, involves the photons emitted by single-atom resonance fluorescence [18]. Using the data for P_0 , P_1 , P_2 we obtained in Reference [14] $q_M = 2.44$ or $q_P = 3.12$. This is in agreement with the estimate for q_M obtained using Equation (20) and the data reported in [18], $< n >= 6.23 \cdot 10^{-3}$ and $Q = -2.52 \cdot 10^{-3}$, from which $q_M = 2.36$.

The examples of this section illustrate cases from quantum optics where a more accurate model of a physical system may be obtained by use of quantum group ideas.

3 Squeezing

The electromagnetic field components x and p are given by

$$x = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(a + a^{\dagger})$$
 and $p = \frac{1}{i\sqrt{2}}(a - a^{\dagger}).$ (21)

As usual, we define the variances (Δx) and (Δp) by

$$(\Delta x)^2 = \langle x^2 \rangle - \langle x \rangle^2$$
 and $(\Delta p)^2 = \langle p^2 \rangle - \langle p \rangle^2$. (22)

In the vacuum state

$$(\Delta x)_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 and $(\Delta p)_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$. (23)

and so

$$(\Delta x)_0 (\Delta p)_0 = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (24)

The commutation relation Equation (16) for a and a^{\dagger} leads to the following uncertainty principle

$$(\Delta x)(\Delta p) \ge \frac{1}{2} |\langle [x,p] \rangle| = \frac{1}{2}.$$
(25)

Thus the vacuum state attains the lower bound for the uncertainty, as do the coherent states.

While it impossible to lower the product $(\Delta x)(\Delta p)$ below the vacuum uncertainty value, it is nevertheless possible to define *squeezed* states [19] for which (at most) one quadrature lies below the vacuum value, i.e.

$$(\Delta x) < (\Delta x)_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 or $(\Delta p) < (\Delta p)_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$. (26)

If we now consider the generalized bosonic operators given by (2), using the same definitions for the field quadratures, x and p, as in (21) we find that, just as in the conventional case, the vacuum uncertainty product $(\Delta x)_0(\Delta p)_0 = \frac{1}{2}$ is a lower bound for all number states.

However, unlike the conventional case, it is not a global lower bound.

Consider the quadrature values in eigenstates of the generalized annihilation operator.

Then

$$\langle x \rangle_{\lambda} = \langle \lambda | \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (a^{\dagger} + a) | \lambda \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\lambda + \bar{\lambda})$$
 (27)

and

$$\langle x^2 \rangle_{\lambda} = \langle \lambda | \frac{1}{2} ((a^{\dagger})^2 + a^2 + a^{\dagger}a + aa^{\dagger}) | \lambda \rangle$$
(28)

$$= \frac{1}{2} \{ (\bar{\lambda} + \lambda)^2 + 1 - \varepsilon_{f,\lambda} |\lambda|^2 \}$$
⁽²⁹⁾

where

$$\varepsilon_{f,\lambda} = 1 - \langle f(N+1) \rangle_{\lambda}. \tag{30}$$

If we choose 0 < f(n) < 1, then it can be shown that $\varepsilon_{f,\lambda}|\lambda|^2 \in (0,1)$ for λ within the radius of convergence of the generalized exponential (12).

Hence

$$(\Delta x)_{\lambda}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \{ 1 - \varepsilon_{f,\lambda} |\lambda|^{2} \}.$$
(31)

Evaluating the variance for the other component, we find that $(\Delta p)_{\lambda}^2 = (\Delta x)_{\lambda}^2$ so

$$(\Delta x)_{\lambda}(\Delta p)_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2} \{1 - \varepsilon_{f,\lambda} |\lambda|^2\} < \frac{1}{2}.$$
(32)

However, it can also be shown that

$$\frac{1}{2}\{1-\varepsilon_{f,\lambda}|\lambda|^2\} = \frac{1}{2}|\langle [x,p]\rangle_{\lambda}|$$
(33)

so

$$(\Delta x)_{\lambda}(\Delta p)_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2} |\langle [x, p] \rangle_{\lambda}|$$
(34)

Thus we see that these generalized q-coherent states satisfy a restricted form of the Minimum Uncertainty Property (M.U.P.) of the conventional coherent states. Additionally we see that there is a general noise reduction in both quadratures compared to their vacuum value. In conventional coherent states there is no noise reduction relative to the vacuum value. In conventional squeezed states, there is noise reduction in only one component.

We can apply the preceding analysis to the two usual forms of q-deformed bosons:

(a) 'Physics' q-bosons

First consider the q-bosons of Equation 5. The deformed commutation relation

$$aa^{\dagger} - q a^{\dagger}a = q^{-N}.$$
⁽³⁵⁾

can be rewritten [20] as

$$aa^{\dagger} - f(N)a^{\dagger}a = 1 \tag{36}$$

where $f(N) = \frac{q^{N+2}+1}{q(q^{N}+1)}$.

In this case, for normalizable eigenstates, the function $\varepsilon_{f,\lambda}$ is negative and so simultaneous two-component noise reduction does not take place. This is in agreement with the findings of Katriel and Solomon [21] and Chiu et al [22]. However, it can be shown that ordinary squeezing i.e. noise reduction in one component compared to the vacuum (with a corresponding noise amplification in the other component) does take place [23, 24].

(b) 'Maths' q-bosons

We now consider the q-boson described by Arik and Coon [1]. which is characterised by the deformed commutation relation

$$aa^{\dagger} - q a^{\dagger}a = 1 \tag{37}$$

For $q \in (0,1)$, the Jackson q-exponential $E_q(|\lambda|^2)$ converges, provided

$$\varepsilon_q |\lambda|^2 = (1-q)|\lambda|^2 < 1.$$

Given this condition on λ , we have normalizable q-analogue coherent states satisfying (13) in which

$$(\Delta x)_{\lambda}^{2} = (\Delta p)_{\lambda}^{2} = (\Delta x)_{\lambda} (\Delta p)_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2} \{1 - \varepsilon_{q} |\lambda|^{2}\} < \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (38)

Hence, for this type of q-boson, we do obtain noise reduction in both quadratures with respect to the vacuum value.

4 Signal-to-Quantum Noise Ratio

In a classic paper, Yuen [19] showed that for a radiation field of photons the maximum signal-toquantum noise ratio ρ for fixed energy has the value $4n_s(n_s+1)$, where n_s gives the upper limit on the number of photons in the signal (effectively a maximum power per unit frequency constraint). The only mathematical input to this result consisted of the canonical commutation relations for the photon annihilation operato r a, namely;

$$[a, a^{\dagger}] = 1 \tag{39}$$

with the photon number operator given by $N = a^{\dagger}a$.

The hermitian components x, p of the electromagnetic field corresponding to our generalized photons of Equation 2 (which we now write as a_q^{\dagger}, a_q to distinguish from the conventional ones) satisfy

$$[x_q, p_q] = i([N+1] - [N])$$
(40)

which reduces to the canonical commutation relation [x, p] = i when [N] = N.

We now consider a state, which we write as <,>, although everything which follows applies equally to a general state described by a density function. Introducing the hermitian operators

$$X \equiv x_q - \langle x_q \rangle, \ P \equiv p_q - \langle p_q \rangle,$$

the quantum dispersion (quantum noise) in each of the components is measured by the quantities $(\Delta x_q)^2 \equiv \langle X^2 \rangle$ and $(\Delta p_q)^2 \equiv \langle P^2 \rangle$. The positivity of the number $\langle A(t)A^{\dagger}(t) \rangle$ for all t, where $A(t) \equiv tX + iP$, leads immediately to the modified uncertainty principle

$$(\Delta x_q)^2 (\Delta p_q)^2 \geq \frac{1}{4} < [N+1] - [N] >^2.$$
 (41)

This uncertainty product exceeds the conventional value of $\frac{1}{4}$ in the "Physics" case (5), and in the "Maths" case (3) for $q \ge 1$.

The signal-to-quantum noise ratio

$$\rho_q \equiv < x_q >^2 / (\Delta x_q)^2$$

must be maximized subject to the constraint

$$\langle a_q^{\dagger} a_q \rangle \leq [n_s] \tag{42}$$

where n_s is the maximum number of q-photons for the frequency under consideration, and inequality (41) above. We may rewrite constraint (42) as

$$\langle x_q \rangle^2 + \langle p_q \rangle^2 + (\Delta x_q)^2 + (\Delta p_q)^2 - \langle [N+1] - [N] \rangle \leq 2[n_s]$$
 (43)

where we have substituted

$$< x_q^2 > = < x_q >^2 + (\Delta x_q)^2, \ < p_q^2 > = < p_q >^2 + (\Delta p_q)^2.$$

Consideration of (43) leads us to infer that it is favourable to use all the available energy; that is, $\langle N \rangle = n_s$: and to use it in the x-component alone, so that $\langle p_q \rangle = 0$. The inequality thus becomes the equation

$$\langle x_q \rangle^2 + (\Delta x_q)^2 + (\Delta p_q)^2 = [n_s] + [n_s + 1].$$
 (44)

It is a straightforward exercise in the calculus to show that the ratio ρ_q is maximized, subject to the constraints (41) and (44), at a value

$$\rho_q = 4[n_s][n_s + 1]/([n_s + 1] - [n_s])^2.$$
⁽⁴⁵⁾

Given two types of "photon" described by $[]_1$ and $[']_2$, it is a straightforward exercise in inequalities to show that the corresponding signal-to-quantum noise ratios ρ_1, ρ_2 satisfy

$$\rho_1 \leq \rho_2 \quad \text{if} \quad \frac{[n+1]_1}{[n]_1} \geq \frac{[n+1]_2}{[n]_2}$$

Taking $[n]_2 = n$ ("ordinary" photons) and $[n]_1$ as the q-photons defined by Equations (3) and (5) in turn, we obtain:

$$\rho_{q\leq 1}^M \geq \rho \geq \rho^P \geq \rho_{q\geq 1}^M$$

on comparing with Yuen's result for the conventional case

$$\rho = 4n_s(n_s+1). \tag{46}$$

Therefore states based on the usual q-photons Equation (5), and Equation (3) for $q \ge 1$, (which are the more physical cases satisfying the conventional uncertainty principle) will not lead to an enhanced signal-to-quantum noise ratio over the conventional photon case.

5 Conclusions

In this talk we have given three examples where we are able to model physically observable properties of real photons by means of deformed photons satisfying very general deformations of the canonical commutation relations. The viewpoint we have adopted is the phenomenological one; we do not assume that "real" photons satisfy other than the conventional commutation relations. Rather, we have shown that simple models involving "dressed" photons, satisfying very general constraints, may be invoked to describe observed, and sometimes non-intuitive, phenomena.

This by no means addresses the still open question as to whether deformed commutation relations describe real particles, whatever that means.

References

- [1] M. Arik and D. D. Coon, J. Math. Phys. 17, 524 (1976).
- [2] G. E. Andrews, q-Series: Their development and application in analysis, number theory, combinatorics, physics and computer algebra, Conference Board of Mathematical Sciences No. 66, Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 1986.
- [3] A. J. MacFarlane, J. Phys. A. 22, 4581 (1989).
- [4] L. C. Biedenharn, J. Phys. A. 22, L873 (1989).

- [5] V. G. Drinfeld, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Berkeley, California, USA, 1986. (Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 798 (1987).
- [6] M. Jimbo, Ed., Yang-Baxter Equation in Integrable Systems, World Scientific, Singapore 1990.
- [7] A.I. Solomon and J.L. Birman, Spectrum-generating q-Algebras for Anyons in Symmetries in Science VII, ed. B. Gruber (Plenum, 1994).
- [8] R.J. McDermott and A.I. Solomon, J.Phys.A:Math.Gen.27,L15 (1994)
- [9] J. Katriel and A. I. Solomon, J. Phys. A 24, L1139 (1991).
- [10] J. R. Klauder and B-S Skagerstam, Coherent States, World Scientific, Singapore 1985.
- [11] J. Peřina, Quantum Statistics of Linear and Nonlinear Optical Phenomena, Reidel, Dordrecht 1984.
- [12] M. C. Teich and B. E. A. Saleh, Prog. Opt. 26, 1 (1988).
- [13] D. Bonatsos, E. N. Argyres and P. P. Raychev, J. Phys. A 24, L403 (1991).
- [14] J. Katriel and A.I. Solomon, Non-ideal Lasers and Deformed Photon States, to be published in Phys.Rev.
- [15] A. W. Smith and J. A. Armstrong, Phys. Rev. Lett., 16, 1169 (1966).
- [16] E. Jakeman. C.J. Oliver, E. R. Pike, M. Lax and M. Zwanziger, J. Phys. A. 3, L52 (1970).
- [17] D. Meltzer, W. Davis and L. Mandel, Appl. Phys. Lett. 17, 242 (1970).
- [18] R. Short and L. Mandel, Phys. Rev. Lett. 51, 384 (1983).
- [19] H.P. Yuen, Phys. Rev. A. 13 2226 (1976).
- [20] A.I. Solomon and J.L. Birman, Symmetries in Science VII, ed. B. Gruber, (Plenum Press, N.Y., 1993).
- [21] J. Katriel and A.I. Solomon J. Phys. A. 24 2093 (1991).
- [22] S.H. Chiu, R. Gray and C.A. Nelson Phys. Lett. A. 164 237 (1992).
- [23] V. Buzek J. Mod. Opt. 38 801 (1991).
- [24] E. Celeghini, M. Rasetti, and G. Vitiello Phys. Rev. Lett. 66 2056 (1991).

1995116585

N95-23002

 $5^{\hat{\rho}}$

SUPERSYMMETRIC OSCILLATOR IN OPTICS

Sergey M. Chumakov

Kurt Bernardo Wolf Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Apartado Postal 139-B, 62191, Cuernavaca, Morelos, México

Abstract

We show that the supersymmetric structure (in the sense of supersymmetric quantum mechanics) appears in Helmholtz optics describing light propagation in waveguides. For the case of elliptical waveguides, with the accuracy of paraxial approximation it admits a simple physical interpretation. The supersymmetry connects light beams of different colors. The difference in light frequencies for the supersymmetric beams is determined by the transverse gradient of the refractive index. These beams have the same wavelength in the propagation direction and can form a stable interference pattern.

1 Introduction

There is a correspondence between quantum mechanics and optics in the paraxial regime [1] and in the global one [2]. Consequently, many notions can be transported from one to the other, such as coherent and squeezed states (see, e.g., Ref. [3, 4]). Here we describe an optical system that exhibits supersymmetry in the sense of supersymmetric quantum mechanics (SUSY QM).

Supersymmetry in quantum mechanics connects two Hamiltonians with the same spectrum except for the ground state (unbroken supersymmetry [5], see [6] and references therein.) SUSY has been successfully applied in atomic [7] and nuclear physics [8]. The supersymmetric form of the Dirac equation in an external field [9, 10, 11] presents the Dirac equation as the square root of the Klein-Gordon equation; the kind of supersymmetry we have here is analogous and finds the square root of the Helmholtz equation. The supersymmetric structure of Helmholtz optics describes light propagation in a waveguide and admits a very clear physical interpretation.

We consider optical waveguides along the z-axis, *i.e.*, media that are inhomogeneous only in the x direction. From the wave equation in 2 + 1 dimensions for solutions of time frequency ν we have the Helmholtz equation

$$\left[\partial_z^2 + \partial_x^2 + \nu^2 n^2(x)/c^2\right] f(x,z) = 0.$$
(1)

In Section 2 we present the supersymmetric structure of Eq. (1), in Section 3 a physical reinterpretation, and some concluding remarks in Section 4. Note that until Section 3 we do not use the paraxial approximation.

PHECEDING PAGE BLANK NOT VE THE

2 Supersymmetric structure

We start with a system of two first-order equations for a two-component wave function of the x and z-coordinates,

$$\partial_z \left(\begin{array}{c} \Psi_1 \\ \Psi_2 \end{array} \right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} ik & v_+ \\ v_- & -ik \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \Psi_1 \\ \Psi_2 \end{array} \right), \tag{2}$$

where k is a constant and

$$v_{\pm} \equiv \pm \partial_x + W(x),$$

with an arbitrary function W(x). The second z-derivative involves the square of this 2×2 matrix,

$$\partial_z^2 \left(\begin{array}{c} \Psi_1 \\ \Psi_2 \end{array} \right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} -k^2 + v_+ v_- & 0 \\ 0 & -k^2 + v_- v_+ \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \Psi_1 \\ \Psi_2 \end{array} \right).$$

Therefore we have two different Helmholtz equations for the components:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \partial_{z}^{2} + \partial_{x}^{2} + k^{2} - W_{x} - W^{2} \end{bmatrix} \Psi_{1} = 0,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \partial_{z}^{2} + \partial_{x}^{2} + k^{2} + W_{x} - W^{2} \end{bmatrix} \Psi_{2} = 0.$$
 (3)

where $W_x \equiv dW/dx$. Now, for a given wavenumber κ in z direction that is common to both wavefunctions, we write

$$\Psi_{1,2}(x,z) = \Phi_{1,2}(x)e^{-i\kappa z}.$$
(4)

Equations (3) then become the eigenvalue equations for the components,

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\partial_x^2 - W_x + W^2 \end{bmatrix} \Phi_1 = \begin{bmatrix} k^2 - \kappa^2 \end{bmatrix} \Phi_1,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\partial_x^2 + W_x + W^2 \end{bmatrix} \Phi_2 = \begin{bmatrix} k^2 - \kappa^2 \end{bmatrix} \Phi_2.$$
 (5)

Now we introduce the supersymmetric structure by considering the component Φ_1 as representing the 'boson' and Φ_2 the 'fermion' sectors of the supersymmetric Hamiltonian eigenfunctions. The supercharge operators are

$$Q_{-} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 0 \\ v_{+} & 0 \end{array}\right), \qquad Q_{+} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & v_{-} \\ 0 & 0 \end{array}\right).$$

The supersymmetric Hamiltonian, defined as the anticommutator of the two supercharges, is

$$H_{s} = \{Q_{-}, Q_{+}\} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{-}v_{+} & 0\\ 0 & v_{+}v_{-} \end{pmatrix}, \quad [H_{s}, Q_{\pm}] = 0.$$

The eigenvalue equations for H_s are then

$$v_{-}v_{+}\Phi_{1} = \left(k^{2} - \kappa^{2}\right)\Phi_{1},$$
$$v_{+}v_{-}\Phi_{2} = \left(k^{2} - \kappa^{2}\right)\Phi_{2}.$$

These equations coincide with Eqs. (5). Operators v_-v_+ and v_+v_- have the same spectrum except for the ground state, which has to be a normalizable solution of one of the two equations $v_+\phi_1 = 0$ or $v_-\phi_2 = 0$. Therefore, SUSY connects solutions of Helmholtz equations of two different waveguides with index profiles

$$\nu^2 n^2(x)/c^2 = k^2 \mp W_x - W^2. \tag{6}$$
3 Physical Reinterpretation

We now reinterpret these formulas in another way to describe two different beams in the same waveguide. We choose

$$W(x) = w x. (7)$$

The eigenvalue equations (5) are then two Schrödinger equations for harmonic oscillators with displaced energy levels,

$$\left[-\partial_x^2 + w^2 x^2\right] \Phi_{1,2} = \left(k^2 \mp w - \kappa^2\right) \Phi_{1,2}.$$
 (8)

Meanwhile, seen as Helmholtz equations, Eqs. (8) correspond to

$$\nu^2 n^2(x)/c^2 = k^2 \mp w - w^2 x^2, \tag{9}$$

with the same refractive index n(x). In the absence of material dispersion, n is independent of ν . This is an *elliptic* index-profile waveguide; it approximates the usual parabolic index-profile waveguide in the paraxial regime [12]. The eigenvalues of the operator on the left of (8) are well known to be

$$E_m = w(2m+1), \qquad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (10)

We now find conditions for a supersymmetric pair of Helmholtz solutions propagating in the same waveguide. Into this waveguide $n^2(x) = n_0^2 - n_1^2 x^2$ we inject two light beams with slightly different time frequencies

$$\nu_{1,2}^2 = \nu_0^2 (1 \mp \epsilon).$$

To fulfill Eqs. (9), we substitute $k = n_0 \nu_0/c$, $w = n_1 \nu_0/c$ and find the conditions

$$\epsilon = \frac{n_1}{n_0 k} = \frac{w}{k^2}, \qquad \frac{\nu_2^2 - \nu_1^2}{\nu_0^2} = 2\epsilon.$$
(11)

This determines the frequency shift in terms of the transverse index profile of the waveguide.

From the standard quantum harmonic oscillator solution we know that the Gaussian beam width in x-direction is $\Delta x = (2w)^{-1/2}$. Therefore, the parameter

$$\epsilon = [2k^2(\Delta x)^2]^{-1} \sim (\text{wavelength/beam width})^2$$

should be small. The two light beams with the frequencies $\nu_{1,2}$ obey the Helmholtz equations with

$$\nu_{1,2}^2 n^2(x)/c^2 = k^2 \mp w - w^2 x^2 (1 \mp \epsilon).$$
(12)

When $\epsilon \to 0$, these two Helmholtz equations become a supersymmetric pair that is slightly broken by the term $\epsilon w^2 x^2$.

It is easy to see that SUSY has the same accuracy as the paraxial approximation. Solution of the Helmholtz equation (1) with the term (12) (compare with Eqs. (8)) shows that the z-propagation wavenumbers of the two beams are

$$\kappa_{1,2}^2(m) = k^2 - w[(1 \pm \epsilon)(2m+1) \pm 1], \qquad m = 0, 1, \dots$$

or

$$\frac{\kappa_{1,2}(m)}{k} \simeq 1 - \epsilon \left(m + \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\right) - \frac{\epsilon^2}{2} \left(m + \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \mp \epsilon^2 \left(m + \frac{1}{2}\right) + \cdots$$

The term of order $\epsilon = w/k^2$ exhibits exact SUSY; except for the ground state $\kappa_2(0) = k$, the z-wavenumbers of the two beams coincide

$$\kappa_1(m-1) = \kappa_2(m) + O(\epsilon^2), \qquad m = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(13)

The two terms of order ϵ^2 respectively give a nonlinear correction to the paraxial approximation and break supersymmetry. Therefore, SUSY is exact in the paraxial approximation and is broken beyond this regime.

Thus, supersymmetry (13) connects light beams of different frequencies $\nu_{1,2}^2$ in the same waveguide [cf. Eq. (11)], but having the same wavelength $2\pi/\kappa$ in the propagation direction z [Eq. (4)]. These two beams form a stable interference pattern along the waveguide axis.

4 Conclusions

We have considered the propagation of light in a planar waveguide ruled by the two-dimensional Helmholtz equation. Two Helmholtz equations with different refractive indices (3) form a super-symmetric pair in the sense of SUSY QM.

Supersymmetry also describes the propagation of light beams of *different* colors in the same waveguide when the transversal index profile is elliptic. This profile determines the difference of light frequencies. SUSY is exact in the paraxial approximation, and broken beyond. In the paraxial regime, supersymmetric light beams of different colors have the same wavelength along the axis of the waveguide, giving rise to a stable interference pattern.

5 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Dr. V.V. Semenov (Institute of Spectroscopy, Russian Academy of Sciences, Troitsk) for a useful discussion, and Drs. D.D. Holm (Los Alamos National Laboratory) and V.P. Karassiov (P.N. Lebedev Physics Institute, Moscow) for their interest in this work.

References

- [1] M. Nazarathy and J. Shamir, J. Opt. Soc. Am., 70, 150 (1980).
- [2] V.I. Man'ko and K.B. Wolf, in: Lie Methods in Optics II, Springer Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 352. Ed. by K.B. Wolf (Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, 1989), p. 163.
- [3] E.V. Kurmyshev and K.B. Wolf, Phys. Rev. A, 47, 3365 (1993).
- [4] P.W. Milonni, in: Coherence Phenomena in Atoms and Molecules in Laser fields, Ed. by A.D. Bandrauk and S.C. Wallace (Plenum Press, New York, 1992), p. 45.
- [5] E. Witten, Nucl. Phys. B, 185, 513 (1981).
- [6] Supersymmetry in Physics, Ed. by V.A. Kostelecký and D.K. Campbell (North Holland, Amsterdam, 1985).

- [7] V.A. Kostelecký and M.M. Nieto, Phys. Rev. A, 32, 1293 (1985).
- [8] F. Iachello, Phys. Rev. Lett., 44, 772 (1980); L. Urrutia and E. Hernández, Phys. Rev. Lett., 51, 755 (1983).
- [9] J. Gamboa and J. Zanelly, J. Phys. A, 21, L283 (1988).
- [10] M. Moshinsky and A. Szczepaniak, J. Phys. A, 22, L817 (1989);
 J. Benítez et al, Phys. Rev. Lett., 64, 1643 (1990).
- [11] V.V. Semenov, J. Phys. A, 23, L721 (1990).
- [12] M. Lax, W.H. Louisell and W.B. McKnight, Phys. Rev. A, 11, 1365 (1975); D. Stoler, J. Opt. Soc. Am., 71, 334 (1981).

1995716586



1.7

N95-23003

OSCILLATOR-LIKE COHERENT STATES FOR THE JAYNES-CUMMINGS MODEL

Y. Bérubé-Lauzière, V. Hussin, and L.M. Nieto CRM, Université de Montréal, C.P. 6128, succ. centre ville Montréal (Québec), H3C 3J7, Canada

Abstract

A new way of diagonalizing the Jaynes-Cummings Hamiltonian is proposed, which allows the definition of annihilation operators and coherent states for this model. Mean values and dispersions over these states are computed and interpreted.

1 Introduction

The Jaynes-Cummings (J.C.) model [1], which is extensively used in Quantum Optics, describes, in its simplest version, the interaction of a cavity mode with a two-level system. In the rotating-wave approximation, it may be described by the Hamiltonian [1, 2]

$$H_{\rm JC} = \omega \left(a^{\dagger} a + \frac{1}{2} \right) \sigma_0 + \frac{\omega_0}{2} \sigma_3 + \kappa (a^{\dagger} \sigma_- + a \sigma_+) , \qquad (1)$$

where $\{\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3\}$ are Pauli matrices, σ_0 is the identity, $\sigma_{\pm} = \sigma_1 \pm i\sigma_2$, and a^{\dagger} and a are the photon creation and annihilation operators. Moreover, κ is the coupling constant, ω is the field mode frequency, and ω_0 is the atomic frequency. Let us also introduce the detuning $\Delta = \omega - \omega_0$. The exact solvability of this model is well-known. Working in the Fock space

$$\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_b \otimes \mathcal{F}_f = \left\{ |n, -\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ |n\rangle \end{pmatrix}, \ |n, +\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} |n\rangle \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ n = 0, 1, 2, \ldots \right\},$$
(2)

the energy eigenstates take the form (for n = 0, 1, 2, ...)

$$E_0^-\rangle = |0, -\rangle, \qquad (3)$$

$$|E_{n+1}^{-}\rangle = \frac{1}{R(n+1)} \left(\kappa \sqrt{n+1} |n,+\rangle + \left(\frac{\Delta}{2} + \kappa r(n+1)\right) |n+1,-\rangle \right),\tag{4}$$

$$|E_n^+\rangle = \frac{1}{R(n+1)} \left(\left(\frac{\Delta}{2} + \kappa r(n+1) \right) |n, +\rangle - \kappa \sqrt{n+1} |n+1, -\rangle \right), \tag{5}$$

where

$$r(n) = (\delta + n)^{1/2}, \quad \delta = \left(\frac{\Delta}{2\kappa}\right)^2, \quad R(n) = \left[\left(\frac{\Delta}{2} + \kappa r(n)\right)^2 + \kappa^2 n\right]^{1/2}.$$
 (6)

PRECEDING PAGE BLACK NOT MEANING 381

In the expression of r(n) we have introduced the parameter δ which will be important in the following. The corresponding energy eigenvalues are

$$E_n^- = \omega n + \kappa r(n), \quad E_n^+ = \omega(n+1) - \kappa r(n+1).$$
(7)

The interest of this model, its solvability and its applications have long been discussed. More precisely, dynamical properties have been obtained through the use of states which are initially harmonic oscillator coherent states [3], but that evolve according to the J.C. Hamiltonian [2, 4]. Here, we construct new coherent states which correspond to eigenstates of an annihilation operator for $H_{\rm JC}$. To do that, we have to find first such an annihilation operator through the diagonalization of the Jaynes-Cummings Hamiltonian (1). Second, we use the theoretical approach, based on the direct product of the Weyl-Heisenberg group with SU(2), to evaluate those coherent states. Finally, we exhibit some of their properties. More details can be found in [5].

2 Annihilation operators and coherent states for $H_{\rm sc}$

The diagonalization of $H_{\rm JC}$ is performed by the unitary operator \mathcal{O} , so that

$$H_{d} \equiv \mathcal{O}^{\dagger} H_{\rm JC} \mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega(N+1) - \kappa r(N+1) & 0\\ 0 & \omega N + \kappa r(N) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{8}$$

where $N = a^{\dagger}a$, and the definition of r(N) is given in Eq. (6). This operator \mathcal{O} has the form

$$\mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R(N+1)} \left[\frac{\Delta}{2} + \kappa r(N+1) \right] & \frac{\kappa}{R(N+1)} a \\ -a^{\dagger} \frac{\kappa}{R(N+1)} & \frac{1}{R(N)} \left[\frac{\Delta}{2} + \kappa r(N) \right] \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9)

Clearly, an annihilation operator for H_d is given by $A_d = a \sigma_0$. Since the states depend also on the spin index \pm , we introduce the spinorial annihilation and creation operators:

$$\Sigma_{-d} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Sigma_{+d} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(10)

We then obtain candidates to be annihilation and creation operators for $H_{\rm Jc}$ as:

$$A = \mathcal{O}A_{d}\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}, \quad A^{\dagger} = \mathcal{O}A_{d}^{\dagger}\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}, \quad \Sigma_{\pm} = \mathcal{O}\Sigma_{\pm d}\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}.$$
(11)

For the determination of coherent states, the situation is particularly simple when we work with H_d in (8), since the energy eigenstates are the Fock-space basis vectors (2). The group theoretical approach to coherent states leads us to define

$$|z,\beta\rangle_{d} = T(z,\beta)_{d}|0,-\rangle, \qquad z,\beta \in \mathbf{C},$$
(12)

in terms of the unitary representation of the direct product of the Weyl-Heisenberg group with SU(2)

$$T(z,\beta)_{d} = \exp[zA_{d}^{\dagger} - \bar{z}A_{d} + \beta\Sigma_{+d} - \beta\Sigma_{-d}].$$
⁽¹³⁾

The coherent states for $H_{\rm JC}$ are then given by

$$|z,\beta\rangle = \mathcal{O}|z,\beta\rangle_{d} = T(z,\beta)|E_{0}^{-}\rangle = \mathcal{O}T(z,\beta)_{d}\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}|E_{0}^{-}\rangle.$$
(14)

From the harmonic oscillator coherent states we easily get

$$|z,\beta\rangle_{d} = \cos(\theta/2) \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ |z\rangle \end{pmatrix} + e^{i\phi} \sin(\theta/2) \begin{pmatrix} |z\rangle\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \cos(\theta/2) |z-\rangle_{d} + e^{i\phi} \sin(\theta/2) |z+\rangle_{d}, \quad (15)$$

with $\beta = (\theta/2)e^{i\phi}$, and $|z\rangle$ the normalized state $|z\rangle = e^{-|z|^2/2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (z^n/\sqrt{n!})|n\rangle$. The state $|z,\beta\rangle_d$ is a linear combination of the "fundamental coherent states" $|z+\rangle_d$ and $|z-\rangle_d$, which are both eigenstates of A_d (but not of Σ_{-d}). Similar fundamental coherent states are defined by using such a decomposition of $|z,\beta\rangle$ in (14).

To be complete, we give the time evolution of such states; the one of the general state (15) will be obtained easily by linear combination. We start with the diagonal case, for which the evolution operator is

$$U_{d}(t) = e^{-itH_{d}} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{e}^{it[\omega(N+1)-\kappa r(N+1)]} & 0\\ 0 & \overline{e}^{it[\omega N+\kappa r(N)]} \end{pmatrix},$$
(16)

and we compute $|z, \pm, t\rangle = \mathcal{O}U_d(t)|z, \pm\rangle_d = U_{\rm JC}(t)\mathcal{O}|z, \pm\rangle_d$. More precisely, we get

$$|z, +, t\rangle = e^{-|z|^{2}/2} e^{-i\omega t} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(ze^{-i\omega t})^{n}}{\sqrt{n!}} e^{it\kappa r(n+1)} |E_{n}^{+}\rangle,$$

$$|z, -, t\rangle = e^{-|z|^{2}/2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(ze^{-i\omega t})^{n}}{\sqrt{n!}} e^{-it\kappa r(n)} |E_{n}^{-}\rangle.$$
(17)

These are similar to the states obtained by the evolution of the harmonic oscillator coherent states, except for the supplementary oscillation for each n in the sum. This implies that the coherent state does not evolve in time to another coherent state, unlike to the case of the harmonic oscillator. Moreover, our states (17) are different from those considered in other approaches [2, 4]. Indeed, all these authors deal with the states $|z, \pm\rangle_d$ (or a mixture of them) and their evolution is

$$U_{\rm JC}(t)|z,\pm\rangle_d = e^{-itH_{\rm JC}}|z,\pm\rangle_d.$$
 (18)

3 Relevant physical quantities

Let us recall the introduction of the parameter δ in the expression of r(n) in (6). It will be used as a variable in the following. It contains both the detuning Δ and the coupling parameter κ and leads to the exact resonance case when $\delta = 0$ or to the weak coupling limit when $\delta \to \infty$. The parameter $x = |z|^2$ is also introduced, and will be proved to be a good approximation of the number of photons. We will deal with the function

$$G(\delta, x) = e^{-x} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{n!} r(n+1) = e^{-x} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{n!} \sqrt{\delta + n + 1}.$$
 (19)

Its asymptotic behaviour is $G(\delta, x) \sim \sqrt{x}$, which is independent of δ . The calculations will be done explicitly over the states (17), and for a general state $|z, \beta, t\rangle$. We can use (15) to write

the mean value and dispersion of an operator X. Indeed, defining $\langle X \rangle_{\pm} = \langle z, t, \pm | X | z, t, \pm \rangle$ and $\langle X \rangle_{\pm\mp} = \langle z, t, \pm | X | z, t, \mp \rangle$, the mean value of X over a general coherent state is

$$\langle X \rangle = \frac{1 - \cos\theta}{2} \langle X \rangle_{+} + \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{2} \langle X \rangle_{-} + \frac{\sin\theta}{2} \left(e^{i\phi} \langle X \rangle_{+-} + e^{-i\phi} \langle X \rangle_{-+} \right).$$
(20)

In the case of having $\langle X \rangle_{+-} = \langle X \rangle_{-+} = 0$, the square of the dispersion is simply

$$(\Delta X)^{2} \equiv \langle X^{2} \rangle - \langle X \rangle^{2} = \frac{1 - \cos \theta}{2} (\Delta X)^{2}_{+} + \frac{1 + \cos \theta}{2} (\Delta X)^{2}_{-} + \frac{\sin^{2} \theta}{4} [\langle X \rangle^{1}_{+} - \langle X \rangle_{-}]^{2}.$$
 (21)

Let us now compute the relevant physical magnitudes. The operator $\mathcal{N} = (a^{\dagger}a + 1/2)\sigma_0 + \sigma_3/2$ corresponds to the total number of particles. It is a constant of motion and is invariant under the transformation by \mathcal{O} . We then get

$$\langle \mathcal{N} \rangle_{+} = x + 1, \quad \langle \mathcal{N} \rangle_{-} = x, \quad (\Delta \mathcal{N})^{2}_{+} = (\Delta \mathcal{N})^{2}_{-} = x.$$
 (22)

(Those are known results in connection with the susy harmonic oscillator.)

The evaluation of the mean values of the number of photons $N = a^{\dagger}a$ is less trivial, and gives

$$\langle N \rangle_{+} = x + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\Delta}{4\kappa} e^{-x} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{n}}{n!} \frac{1}{r(n+1)}, \quad \langle N \rangle_{-} = x - \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\Delta}{4\kappa} e^{-x} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{n}}{n!} \frac{1}{r(n)}.$$
 (23)

Comparing with the harmonic oscillator, where $\langle N \rangle = x$, we have a correction due to the interaction. Since κ is usually small, a good approximation to the average number of photons is x. Indeed, the contribution of the terms containing the series is, in this case, approximately 1/2.

We can compute the mean values and dispersions of the energy in the fundamental states and study their behaviour with respect to both x and δ . Since $\langle H_{\rm Jc} \rangle_{+-} = \langle H_{\rm Jc} \rangle_{-+} = 0$, the calculations over the general coherent states through Eqs. (20)–(21) do not give anything new with respect to the results for the fundamental states. Indeed, we can see from (21) that the dispersion attains his minimum over the pure states. The mean values are easily computed and take the simple form

$$\langle H_{\rm JC} \rangle_{+} = \omega \left[(x+1) - \lambda G(\delta, x) \right], \quad \langle H_{\rm JC} \rangle_{-} = \omega \left[x + \lambda G(\delta - 1, x) \right],$$
(24)

while the values of the dispersion are more complicated and present interesting features

$$\left(\Delta H_{\rm JC}\right)_{+}^{2} = \omega^{2} \left[\lambda^{2}(1+\delta) + (1+\lambda^{2})x + 2\lambda x (G(\delta,x) - G(\delta+1,x)) - \lambda^{2} (G(\delta,x))^{2}\right], \qquad (25)$$

$$(\Delta H_{\rm JC})_{-}^{2} = \omega^{2} \left[\lambda^{2} \delta + (1+\lambda^{2}) x - 2\lambda x (G(\delta-1,x) - G(\delta,x)) - \lambda^{2} (G(\delta-1,x))^{2} \right] . \tag{26}$$

We have introduced $\lambda = \kappa/\omega$. When a large number of photons is considered, we can use the asymptotic behaviour of $G(\delta, x)$ to see that

$$\frac{(\Delta H_{\rm JC})_{\pm}}{\langle H_{\rm JC} \rangle_{\pm}} \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{x}} \,, \tag{27}$$

as in the harmonic oscillator case.



Fig. 1. Behaviour of $(\Delta H_{\rm JC})_+^2/\omega^2$ as a function of δ and x for $\lambda = 8$.

If we want to see how the dispersion evolves with respect to a variation of the characteristics of the system δ and λ , we analyse the form of $(\Delta H_{\rm JC})^2_+$, since $(\Delta H_{\rm JC})^2_-$ shows a similar qualitative behaviour. If we fix λ , the typical behaviour of $(\Delta H_{\rm JC})^2_+$ is as in Fig. 1. It can be proved that for fixed values of δ smaller than a certain δ_0 , $(\Delta H_{\rm JC})^2_+$ has a minimum for $x \neq 0$.

The atomic inversion is the last quantity we will consider. Over a general coherent state, we have

$$\langle \sigma_3 \rangle = \frac{1}{2} e^{-x} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{n!} \left[\frac{\Delta}{2\kappa} \left(\frac{1 - \cos\theta}{r(n+1)} - \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{r(n)} \right) + 2\sin\theta \frac{\cos\varphi_n(t)}{r(n+1)} \right],\tag{28}$$

where $\varphi_n(t) = \phi + 2t\kappa r(n+1)$. If we take $\Delta = 0$ and $\theta = -\phi = \pi/2$, we have a temporal behaviour which is similar to the one obtained by Narozhny *et al.* [2] (let us recall that their states are different from ours). It consists of Rabi oscillations, as shown in Fig. 2:

$$\langle \sigma_3 \rangle = \frac{1}{2} e^{-x} \left[-1 + 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{n!} \frac{\sin(2t\kappa\sqrt{n+1})}{\sqrt{n+1}} \right].$$
 (29)

The derivative of this function with respect to t is essentially the value obtained in Ref. [2]. In Fig. 2, we show the graph of our $\langle \sigma_3 \rangle$ for x = 20. It is similar to those obtained in many other papers, and that although the expression of $\langle \sigma_3 \rangle$ is not exactly the same in all the cases.

These results indicate that it is reasonable to analyze the coherent states associated to the J.C. Hamiltonian in the way we are doing, but we do not know for the present if they could be interesting for the experiments.



Fig. 2. Collapses and revivals of the atomic inversion in a general coherent state for x=20 and $\delta=0$.

4 Acknowledgments

Y.B. acknowledges a Master's degree fellowship from NSERC of Canada. The research of V.H. is partially supported by research grants from NSERC of Canada and FCAR du Gouvernement du Québec. L.M.N. thanks the Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia (Spain) for a fellowship, and Dr. D.J. Fernández C. for kind hospitality at CINVESTAV (Mexico).

References

- E.T. Jaynes and F. Cummings, Proc. IEEE 51 (1963) 89; P. Meystre and E.M. Wright, Phys. Rev. A 37 (1988) 2524.
- [2] N.B. Narozhny, J.J. Sanchez-Mondragon and J.H. Eberly, Phys. Rev. A 23 (1981) 236.
- [3] J.R. Klauder and B.S. Skagerstam, Coherent States-Applications in Physics and Mathematical Physics, World Scientific, Singapore (1985); A.M. Perelomov, Generalized Coherent States and their Applications, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1986).
- [4] J. Gea-Banacloche, Optics Comm. 88 (1992) 531; C.C. Gerry and E.E. Hach III, Phys. Lett. A 179 (1993) 1.
- [5] Y. Bérubé-Lauzière, V. Hussin, and L.M. Nieto "Annihilation Operators and Coherent States for the Jaynes-Cummings model", to appear in Phys. Rev. A (1994).

N95-23004

SLIGHTLY ANHARMONIC SYSTEMS IN QUANTUM OPTICS

Andrey B. Klimov

Departamento de Física de la Universidad de Guadalajara Corregidora 500, 44100, Guadalajara, Jal., México

Sergey M. Chumakov

Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Apartado Postal 139-B, 62191, Cuernavaca, Mor., México

Abstract

We consider an arbitrary atomic system (*n*-level atom or many such atoms) interacting with a strong resonant quantum field. The approximate evolution operator for a quantum field case can be produced from the atomic evolution operator in an external classical field by a 'quantization prescription', passing the operator arguments to Wigner *D*-functions. Many important phenomena arising from the quantum nature of the field can be described by such a way.

1 Introduction

The behaviour of atomic systems interacting with a quantized electromagnetic field in a cavity has been studied for a long time. Even the simplest model of a single two-level system interacting with a single field mode in a lossless cavity, the Jaynes-Cummings model (JCM) [1], reveals interesting properties like collapses and revivals of atomic inversion oscillations, trapping states, Schrödinger Cats, etc. [1-3]. They stem from the nonlinear nature of the JCM.

For a linear system, the Hamiltonian is usually a linear function of generators of some representation of a finite-dimensional Lie algebra, and the Evolution operator (EO) belongs to the corresponding Lie group representation. This property is referred as a *Dynamical Symmetry*. The most familiar examples are the Harmonic oscillator and the spin rotation in an external magnetic field. Their dynamical groups are, correspondingly, SU(1,1) and SU(2). Dynamical symmetry results in an equidistant spectrum (or a spectrum consisted of several equidistant parts), coherent states (i.e., nonspreading wave packets) and many other attributes of 'harmonic behaviour' [4, 5].

Real systems are oftenly nonlinear. Interesting phenomena appear, if the nonlinearity is 'weak', i.e., the dynamics is 'almost harmonic' one. For instance, the JCM in the classic field limit is equivalent to the spin-1/2 rotation in the external field, that gives the simplest example of the dynamical symmetry (two-dimensional representation of SU(2)). JCM collapses and revivals appear in the case of a strong quantum field, when the system is slightly nonlinear.

JCM dynamics is very instructive and we may say more about it. The JCM possesses an exact solution and its EO can be found explicitly. It is 2×2 -matrix with coefficients depending

on photon operators, see, e.g. [3]. On the other hand, the number of excitation N is a constant of motion in this model, and its EO can be written as a direct sum of infinitely many 2×2 matrices corresponding to different values of N. Every matrix is similar to the spin-1/2 rotation around x-axis, but different blocks rotate with different frequencies, Ω_N , called quantum Rabi frequencies. The spectrum consists from infinitely many pairs of levels separated by $2\Omega_N$, and anharmonicity results in a nonlinear dependence of quantum Rabi frequency on the excitation number, $\Omega_N = g\sqrt{N}$ (g is a coupling constant). Therefore, the JCM can be considered as an interesting example of a nonlinear system, however possessing the exact dynamical symmetry.

Treating the field classically, we put $\Omega_N \to \overline{\Omega} \sim g\sqrt{\overline{n}}$, using the classical Rabi frequency rather than quantum ones. (Here \overline{n} is the field intensity in units of photon number.) For a strong quantum field with Poisson photon distribution, different Ω_N contribute to dynamics, $\overline{n} - \sqrt{\overline{n}} < N < \overline{n} + \sqrt{\overline{n}}$. The difference in frequencies $g\sqrt{\overline{n} + \Delta n} - g\sqrt{\overline{n} - \Delta n}g \sim \sqrt{\Delta n}/\overline{n} \sim g$ becomes important for times $\sim g^{-1}$. This is just the JCM collapse time. It is in the range of modern experimental possibilities, both for Rydberg atom micromasers and for optical microcavities (see the references in the review [1]). The frequency of revivals is proportional to $g/\sqrt{\overline{n}}$. Thus, it is not surprising, that JCM collapses and revivals can be described in the frame of expansion over the inverse field intensity [3].

Natural generalizations of JCM involve more resonant levels and more atoms. Already a system of many two-level atoms (the Dicke model [6]) does not allow an exact solution. However, for very general class of atomic systems interacting with the quantum field under the Rotating Wave Approximation, the excitation number remains a constant of motion. If one of the field modes contains a lot of photons, we can neglect the other modes and develop a perturbation theory with the inverse excitation number as a small parameter. Precisely, the initial number of photons must be much larger then the maximum possible number of atomic excitations \mathcal{A} . This program has been realized at the level of wave functions for the Dicke model in Refs. [7] and for more general systems in Ref. [8].

Here, we shall find an explicit form of the EO for an arbitrary atomic system interacting with a strong resonant quantum field. The atomic operators for such a system form a finite-dimensional representation of some compact Lie algebra (see, e.g., [9]). For the case of identical atoms, the algebra depends on the number of levels while the representation depends on the number of atoms and symmetry properties of initial atomic state under the atomic permutations. For instance, the case of A identical two-level atoms excited from a symmetric state leads to the (A+1)-dimensional representation of SU(2). The exact EO can be written as a direct sum of finite dimensional-blocks with different excitation numbers. The dimension of blocks for the case N > A is determined by the atomic algebra representation, but the exact Hamiltonian in every block is a nonlinear function of the representation generators (see Eq. (9) below). However, we shall show that the dynamical symmetry can be restored in the zeroth- and the first-order approximations. It means that the evolution operator in every block can be well approximated by the operator from the corresponding Lie group representation. In the Dicke model case this approximate motion is a rotation of the collective atomic pseudospin (of the length A/2) around x-axis. Once again, the rotation frequencies in different blocks depend nonlinearly on the excitation number (see Eq. (10) below). Therefore, our zeroth-order approximation possesses a dynamical symmetry in the same sense as the exact JCM solution. The difference is that the motion in every block is described by the appropriate representation of atomic algebra instead of spinor SU(2) representations for

JCM. Being restricted to JCM case our theory just reproduces its exact solution.

The work is organized as follows. In the next section we shall describe the model. In Sec. 3 the asymptotic evolution operator for an arbitrary atomic system interacting with a strong quantum field is found. It has a matrix form in the atomic basis with coefficients depending on the photon operators. Let us remind, that the evolution operator for the atomic system in an external classical field (*semiclassical EO*) is a matrix of a finite rotation from the atomic group representation. The corresponding matrix elements are calculated by the group representation theory (see, e.g., [10]).

Remarkably, the approximate 'quantum' EO can be obtained from the semiclassical one by a simple 'quantization prescription' (see the text before Eq. (23)), which introduces the operator arguments into the Wigner *D*-functions. Therefore, our results enable to write (without calculations) approximate matrix elements of the quantum evolution operator as far as the ones of the semiclassical EO are known.

We demonstrate the convenience of the form (23) for the EO in Sec. 4, where it is used to reproduce the wave functions found in Ref. [8] and to prove the approximate factorization of the system wave function for special initial conditions. Making use of Eq. (23) drastically simplifies the original proof of factorization [8]. The wave functions of Ref. [8] contain the information about collapses and revivals, trapping states and Schrödinger cats and provide the correct structure of the field quasiprobability distribution for the systems under study. Therefore, the proposed asymptotic form for the EO describes all these phenomena connected with the quantum nature of the field.

2 Description of the model

We shall work with the following Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = \omega(\hat{n} + \hat{h}) + \hat{V}, \quad \hat{V} = g(a\hat{X}_{+} + a^{\dagger}\hat{X}_{-}).$$
 (1)

Here, $a, a^{\dagger}, \hat{n} = a^{\dagger}a$ are the photon annihilation, creation and number operators, describing a cavity quantized field mode with the frequency ω . g is the coupling constant with resonant atoms placed into the cavity, (we consider the exact resonance case for simplicity). \hat{h} is the bare atomic system Hamiltonian determining the configuration of atomic levels, \hat{X}_{\pm} are atomic operators describing transitions between resonant levels and obeying commutation relations

$$[\hat{h}, \hat{X}_{-}] = -\hat{X}_{-}, \quad [\hat{h}, \hat{X}_{+}] = \hat{X}_{+}.$$
 (2)

Hamiltonian (1) with conditions (2) describes quite general atomic system interacting with a resonant mode of quantized field under the Rotating Wave Approximation. The Dicke model corresponds to the particular case when an atomic system consists of A two-level atoms [6]. Then the operators \hat{h} , \hat{X}_{\pm} belong to the (A+1)-dimensional representation of su(2) algebra and obey the additional commutation relation

$$[\hat{X}_{+}, \hat{X}_{-}] = 2\hat{h} \tag{3}$$

The simplest case of the JCM corresponds to the two-dimensional representation of su(2).

We define the basis of the atomic algebra representation as

$$|k,\gamma\rangle_{at}, \quad 0 \le k \le \mathcal{A}, \quad h|k,\gamma\rangle_{at} = (k-C)|k,\gamma\rangle_{at},$$
(4)

where k is a number of excitations in the atomic system, \mathcal{A} is its maximal value, C is a constant corresponding to the bottom energy level of the atomic system (k=0). γ denotes all the other atomic indexes (atomic level populations), which are given by eigenvalues of the operators from the Cartan subalgebra. For example, in the case of su(2) algebra we have the only Cartan operator \hat{h} and there are no additional indexes. Then the maximum possible number of atomic excitations \mathcal{A} is equal to the number of atoms A, and the bottom level of atomic energy is C = A/2. In the presence of additional indexes (say, for three-level atoms) the bare atomic levels may be degenerate and the dimension of the representation is then larger than $\mathcal{A}+1$.

It follows from Eqs. (2) that the excitation number operator commutes with the Hamiltonian

$$\hat{N} = a^+ a + \hat{h}, \quad [\hat{N}, \hat{H}] = 0.$$
 (5)

It is useful to introduce the basis

$$|N,k\rangle = |N-k\rangle_f \otimes |k\rangle_{at}, \quad 0 \le k \le \mathcal{A}, \quad \hat{N}|N,k\rangle = (N-C)|N,k\rangle, \tag{6}$$

where $|n\rangle_f$ is a Fock field states, $|k\rangle_{at}$ is a bare atomic state (4). For a fixed value of N, the Hamiltonian (1) in the basis (6) is a finite dimensional matrix. It's rows and columns are numerated by the indexes k and γ . (In Eq. (6) and below, we omit the index γ .)

We shall explore the field phase operators defined as [11]

$$a^{\dagger} = \exp(-i\hat{\phi})\sqrt{\hat{n}+1}, \quad a = \sqrt{\hat{n}+1}\exp(i\hat{\phi}),$$
$$\exp(-i\hat{\phi})|n\rangle_f = |n+1\rangle_f \quad \exp(i\hat{\phi})|n\rangle_f = |n-1\rangle_f, \quad n > 0.$$
(7)

These phase operators are unitary and provide the correct physical results for large n's. The following commutation relations are valid:

$$f(\hat{n})\exp(-i\hat{\phi}) = \exp(-i\hat{\phi})f(\hat{n}+1), \quad \exp(i\hat{\phi})f(\hat{n}) = f(\hat{n}+1)\exp(i\hat{\phi}), \tag{8}$$

where $f(\hat{n})$ is an arbitrary function of the photon number operator (determined by its Taylor expansion). Eqs. (8) follow from similar relations for the operators a, a^{\dagger} .

3 The Evolution Operator for the strong field case

We consider here the case of initially strong field. Then, the total number of excitations is larger than the maximum possible atomic excitation number, i.e. " $\hat{N} \sim \hat{n} \gg \hat{h}$ ", and we can build a perturbation theory with \hat{N}^{-1} as a small parameter. It is convenient to divide the derivation into subsequent steps.

1. We eliminate a, a^{\dagger} and \hat{n} from the Hamiltonian (1) using Eqs. (7) and the excitation number conservation, $\hat{n} = \hat{N} - \hat{h}$,

$$\hat{V} = g\left(\sqrt{\hat{N} - \hat{h} + 1} \exp(i\hat{\phi})\hat{X}_{+} + \hat{X}_{-}\exp(-i\hat{\phi})\sqrt{\hat{N} - \hat{h} + 1}\right)$$
(9)

2. The square roots in the last equation can be written as series of powers of the operator

$$(\hat{N}+1/2)^{-1} \equiv g^2/\hat{\Omega}^2, \quad \hat{\Omega}(\hat{N}) \equiv g\sqrt{\hat{N}+1/2}.$$
 (10)

We get

$$\hat{V} = \hat{\Omega} \left[\hat{H}_0 + \frac{g^2}{\hat{\Omega}^2} \hat{H}_1 + \ldots \right],$$
(11)

$$\hat{H}_{0} = \exp\left(i\hat{\phi}\right)\hat{X}_{+} + \exp\left(-i\hat{\phi}\right)\hat{X}_{-}, \qquad (12)$$

$$\hat{H}_1 = -1/2\{\hat{h}, \hat{H}_0\}_+, \dots$$
(13)

Here $\{,\}_+$ stands for anticommutator.

Our choice of a small parameter (Eq. (10) rather than \hat{N}^{-1}) is important, since it provides vanishing first order corrections to eigenfrequencies, as it has been shown in Ref. [7]. In fact, the first-order corrections are in such a way included into the zeroth-order ones, that improves the quality of the zeroth-order approximation. According to Eq. (11), the whole time scale is determined by the factor $\hat{\Omega}(\hat{N})$, which plays the role of the Rabi frequency for the problem under study.

3. It is convenient to use the following transformation

$$\hat{Q} = \exp\left[i\hat{\phi}(\hat{h}+C)\right].$$
(14)

This operator is unitary on the states $n > A \ge k$. Acting on the basis vectors it gives

$$\hat{Q}|k\rangle_{at}\otimes|n\rangle_{f}=\exp(i\hat{\phi}k)|k\rangle_{at}\otimes|n\rangle_{f}=|k\rangle_{at}\otimes|n-k\rangle_{f}=|N=n,k\rangle.$$
(15)

Since the operator $\hat{h} + C$ has an integer spectrum, the operator \hat{Q} is a direct sum of different powers of the phase operator.

Directly from the definitions (14),(7) and from the commutators (2),(8) we find

$$f(\hat{n})\hat{Q}^{-1} = \hat{Q}^{-1}f(\hat{n}+\hat{h}+C), \quad \hat{Q}f(\hat{n}) = f(\hat{n}+\hat{h}+C)\hat{Q}, \quad (16)$$

$$\hat{Q}\hat{X}_{+}\hat{Q}^{-1} = \exp(i\hat{\phi})\hat{X}_{+}, \qquad \hat{Q}\hat{X}_{-}\hat{Q}^{-1} = \exp(-i\hat{\phi})\hat{X}_{+}.$$
(17)

4. Here we shall find the zeroth-order EO. (Wave functions in the second order for the Dicke model have been calculated in Ref. [7].) Applying the Q-transformation to the zeroth-order Hamiltonian and using Eqs. (16),(17) we have

$$\hat{V} \approx \hat{\Omega}(\hat{n} + \hat{h}) = \hat{Q}\,\hat{\Omega}(\hat{n} - C)\,\hat{H}_{cl}\hat{Q}^{-1}, \qquad \hat{H}_{cl} \equiv \hat{X}_{+} + \hat{X}_{-}.$$
(18)

Therefore, Q-transformation removes the nondiagonal photon operators from the zeroth-order Hamiltonian. It transforms the operator \hat{H}_0 into the purely atomic operator \hat{H}_{cl} , which has a sense of the atomic system Hamiltonian in an external constant classical field. Moreover, the Q-transformation removes the field operators from the coefficients $\hat{H}_0, \hat{H}_1, \ldots$ in all the orders. Simultaneously, the Q-transformation changes the expansion parameter, $\hat{\Omega}(\hat{N}) \rightarrow \hat{\Omega}(\hat{n}-C)$, transforming it into the function of the photon number operator. Therefore, the Q-transformation separates field and atomic variables in the expansion (11) in such a way, that atomic operators appear in the coefficients and the photon number operator is included into the expansion parameter. Thus, the calculation of high order corrections involve only the atomic operators.

5. Now we can calculate the matrix elements of the EO with the Hamiltonian (18)

$$\exp(-it\hat{V}) \approx \exp\left[-it\hat{\Omega}(\hat{N})\hat{H}_{0}\right] = \hat{Q}\exp\left[-\hat{\Omega}(\hat{n}-C)\hat{H}_{cl}\right]\hat{Q}^{-1}$$
(19)

between the atomic states (they are still operators in the field space). Taking into account the action of the Q-operator on the atomic states, we find

$$a_{t}\langle k|\exp(-it\hat{V})|m\rangle_{at} \approx e^{i\hat{\phi}k} a_{t}\langle k|\exp\left[-it\hat{\Omega}(\hat{n}-C)\hat{H}_{cl}\right]|m\rangle_{at} e^{-i\hat{\phi}m}$$
$$= a_{t}\langle k|\exp\left[-it\hat{\Omega}_{k}\hat{H}_{cl}\right]|m\rangle_{at} \exp(i\hat{\phi}(k-m)),$$
(20)

where we have denoted

$$\hat{\Omega}_{k} \equiv \hat{\Omega}(\hat{n} + k - C) = g\sqrt{\hat{n} + k - C + 1/2}.$$
(21)

Shifting $e^{i\hat{\phi}k}$ to the right in the last line of Eq. (20), we have used the commutator (7).

What profit have we got with Eq. (20)? We have separated the field phase operators, writing them on the right. The operator $\hat{\Omega}_k \hat{H}_{cl}$ contains the only field operator \hat{n} which commutes with all the other ingredients and may be treated as a *Q*-number in the calculation of the exponent. Thus, we can reconstruct the quantum field EO if we know the atomic EO in the external classical field

$$\hat{U}_{cl}(\omega) = \exp(-it\omega\hat{H}_{cl}). \tag{22}$$

The matrix $\hat{U}_{cl}(\omega)$ is the rotation operator from the atomic group representation. It's matrix elements are known from the standard group representation theory. For the Dicke model case, the operator $\hat{H}_{cl} = \hat{X}_{+} + \hat{X}_{-} = 2\hat{S}_{x}$ is just a generator of rotations around x-axis, and the matrix elements of $\exp(-it\omega 2\hat{S}_{x})$ are the usual Wigner *D*-functions.

The quantum EO matrix elements can be produced from the matrix $\hat{U}_{cl}(\omega)$ by the following 'quantization prescription':

(i) to substitute the group parameter ω in the (k, γ) -th row of the matrix $\hat{U}_{cl}(\omega)$ by the operator $\omega \to \hat{\Omega}_k = \sqrt{\hat{n} + k - C + 1/2}$, (here k is the atomic excitation number in the row (k, γ));

(ii) to multiply every matrix element $_{at}\langle k,\gamma|\hat{U}|m,\gamma'\rangle_{at}$ from the right by the power of the phase operator $\exp(i\hat{\phi}(k-m))$.

Writing explicitly in Eq. (20) the additional atomic indexes γ , we have

$$_{at}\langle k,\gamma|\hat{U}|m,\gamma'\rangle_{at} = _{at}\langle k,\gamma|\hat{U}_{cl}(\hat{\Omega}_k)|m,\gamma'\rangle_{at} \exp(i\phi(k-m)).$$
⁽²³⁾

This equation is our principal result. It corresponds to the wave functions found in Ref. [8]. Being restricted to the case of a single two-level atom, it gives the exact JCM EO (see, e.g., [3]). The quantization prescription formulated above can be easily generalized to include detuning [12].

4 The wave function factorization

The most remarkable feature of dynamics with the EO (23) is an approximate wave function factorization for special initial states. Let the field initially be in a coherent state, $|in\rangle_f = |\alpha\rangle$, $\alpha \equiv \sqrt{\overline{n}}e^{i\phi}$, where \overline{n} and ϕ are the initial photon number and the phase of the field. (The number $e^{i\phi}$ may not be confused with the phase operator $\exp(i\hat{\phi})$). The initial atomic state is taken as an eigenstate of the operator

$$\hat{H}_{cl}(\phi) = e^{i\phi}\hat{X}_{+} + e^{-i\phi}\hat{X}_{-} = e^{i\phi\hat{h}}\hat{H}_{cl}e^{-i\phi\hat{h}}, \quad \hat{H}_{cl}(\phi)|\underline{p}(\phi)\rangle_{at} = \lambda_{p}|\underline{p}(\phi)\rangle_{at}, \quad |\underline{p}(\phi)\rangle_{at} = e^{i\phi\hat{h}}|\underline{p}\rangle_{at}.$$

Here, \hat{H}_{cl} is determined by Eq. (18). We shall call λ_p and $|\underline{p}(\phi)\rangle_{at}$ as semiclassical eigenvalues and eigenvectors. The vector $|\underline{p}\rangle_{at}$ is also an eigenvector of the semiclassical evolution operator (22)

$$\hat{U}_{cl}(\omega)|\underline{p}\rangle_{at} = \exp\left(-i\omega\lambda_{p}t\right)|\underline{p}\rangle_{at}.$$
(24)

It is known [13], that coherent states with large photon numbers are approximately eigenstates of the phase operators. More precisely,

$$\exp(ik\phi)|\alpha\rangle = \exp(ik\phi)|\alpha\rangle + O(k/\sqrt{\overline{n}}).$$
(25)

Now we act by the EO (23) to the initial state $|in\rangle = |\alpha\rangle \otimes |\underline{p}\rangle_{at}$. Multiplying the equation from the left by an arbitrary atomic vector $\langle k|_{at}$ and substituting the EO matrix element, Eq. (23) we have

$$a_{t}\langle k | \hat{U} | \alpha \rangle_{f} \otimes |\underline{p}(\phi)\rangle_{at} \approx \sum_{m} e^{i\phi(k-C)} {}_{at}\langle k | \hat{U}_{cl}(\hat{\Omega}_{k}) | m \rangle_{at \ at} \langle m | \underline{p} \rangle_{at} \otimes | \alpha \rangle_{f}$$

$$= {}_{at}\langle k | e^{i\phi(k-C)} e^{-it\lambda_{p}\hat{\Omega}_{k}} | \underline{p} \rangle_{at} \otimes | \alpha \rangle_{f}$$

$$= {}_{at}\langle k | \exp\left(-it\lambda_{p}g\sqrt{\hat{n}+\hat{h}+1/2}\right) | \underline{p}(\phi) \rangle_{at} \otimes | \alpha \rangle_{f}.$$
(26)

Here, in the first line, the phase factor coming from the action of the field phase operator $e^{i\hat{\phi}(k-m)}$ on the coherent state, Eq. (25) cancels the atomic phase factor $_{at}\langle m|\underline{p}(\phi)\rangle = e^{i\phi(m-C)}_{at}\langle m|\underline{p}\rangle_{at}$ to give $e^{i\phi(k-C)}$. In the second line we use the property (24), that is $\hat{U}_{cl}(\hat{\Omega}_k)|\underline{p}\rangle_{at} = e^{-it\lambda_p\hat{\Omega}_k}|\underline{p}\rangle_{at}$. We stress, that the operator-valued group parameter $\hat{\Omega}_k$ depends on the number of the row, so for rows with different k's we must use different semiclassical EO's with different values of the group parameter. Finally, in the last line of Eq. (26) we substitute $e^{i\phi(k-C)}_{at}\langle k|\underline{p}\rangle_{at} = {}_{at}\langle k|\underline{p}(\phi)\rangle_{at}$ and ${}_{at}\langle k|e^{-it\lambda_p\hat{\Omega}_k} = {}_{at}\langle k|\exp(-it\lambda_pg\sqrt{\hat{n}+\hat{h}+1/2})$. Since ${}_{at}\langle k|$ is an arbitrary atomic state, we can write the wave function in the form

$$\hat{U}(t)|in\rangle \approx \exp\left[-it\lambda_p g\sqrt{\hat{n}+\hat{h}+1/2}\right]|in\rangle.$$

Introducing the notation $\overline{\Omega} \equiv g \sqrt{\overline{n} + 1/2}$ we can approximate the square root as

$$\sqrt{\hat{n} + \hat{h} + 1/2} \approx \sqrt{\hat{n} + 1/2} + \frac{\hat{h}}{2\sqrt{\overline{n} + 1/2}} + O\left(\hat{n}^{-3/2}\right), \quad \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hat{n} + 1/2}} \approx \frac{g}{\overline{\Omega}} + O\left(\frac{1}{\overline{n}}\right)$$

and we find the factorized wave function

$$\begin{aligned} |\Psi(t)\rangle &\cong |\Phi_{p}(t)\rangle \otimes |A_{p}(t)\rangle, \\ |\Phi_{p}(t)\rangle &= \exp\left(-itg\lambda_{p}\sqrt{\hat{n}+1/2}\right)|\alpha\rangle_{f}, \\ |A_{p}(t)\rangle &= \exp\left[-itg^{2}\lambda_{p}\hat{h}/(2\overline{\Omega})\right]|\underline{p}\rangle_{at}, \end{aligned}$$
(27)

This wave function has been found by a different way in Ref. [8] and used for the discussion of the trapping states, collapses, revivals and Schrödinger Cat states for the systems under study.

If different semiclassical eigenstates contribute to the initial state, the wave function is a superposition of corresponding factorized states (27). The evolution operator Eq. (23) describes the dynamics from any initial state, such that the initial photon number is much larger then the maximum number of atomic excitations.

5 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank C. Saavedra for useful discussions, and K.B. Wolf and A.L. Rivera for the interest in this work. S. Ch. acknowledges the hospitality of Instituto de Física, Universidad de Guadalajara. This work was partially supported from the project UNAM-DGAPA IN 104293.

References

- [1] P.L. Knight, B.W. Shore, J. Mod. Optics, 40, 1195 (1993).
- [2] N.B. Narozhny, J.J. Sanchez-Mondragon and J.H. Eberly, Phys. Rev. A 23, 236 (1981).
- [3] J. Gea-Banacloche, Phys. Rev.A 44, 5913 (1991); 46, 7307 (1992); 47, 2221 (1993).
- [4] I.A. Malkin and V.I. Man'ko, Dynamical Symmetries and Coherent States of Quantum Systems (Nauka, Moscow, 1979).
- [5] A. Bohm, Y. Ne'eman and A.O. Barut, Dynamical Groups and Spectrum Generating Algebras, (World Scientific, Singapore, 1988).
- [6] R.H. Dicke, Phys. Rev. 93, 99 (1954).
- [7] M. Kozierowski, A.A. Mamedov and S.M. Chumakov, Phys. Rev. A, 42, 1762 (1990); M. Kozierowski, S.M. Chumakov, J. Swiatlowski and A.A. Mamedov, *ibid.*, 46, 7220 (1992).
- [8] S.M. Chumakov, A.B. Klimov and J.J. Sanchez-Mondragon, Phys. Rev. A, 48, June (1994).
- [9] V.P. Karassiov, L.A. Shelepin, P.N. Lebedev Physics Institute Proc., 144, 124 (1982).
- [10] A. Barut, R. Raczka, Theory of Group Representations and Applications (Polish Scientific Publishers, Warszawa, 1977).
- [11] R. Loudon, The quantum theory of light (Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK, 1973), p.141.
- [12] A.B. Klimov and S.M. Chumakov, to pe published.
- [13] P. Carruthers, M.M. Nieto, Phys. Rev. Lett., 14, 387 (1965).



812

COHERENT CONTROL IN SIMPLE QUANTUM SYSTEMS S. V. Prants Pacific Oceanological Institute

Russian Academy of Sciences 690041 Vladivostok, Russia

Abstract

Coherent dynamics of two-, three-, and four-level quantum systems, simultaneously driven by concurrent laser pulses of arbitrary and different by forms. is treated using а nonperturbative group-theoretical approach. The respective evolution matrices are calculated in an explicit form. General aspects of controllability of few-level atoms by using laser fields are treated analytically.

1. INTRODUCTION

We analyze the general aspects of the problem of dynamical coherent control of atomic populations in the framework of semiclassical approach when an external (laser) field is considered as an inexaustible energy reservoir and only the atomic behaviour is considered to be controllable. The natural controllers are strengths, frequencies and phases of the components of a polychromatic laser field driving simultaneously different atomic transitions. An initial atomic state may be also considered as a controller.

The dynamics of any nonstationary quantum system is described by the time evolution equation

 $i \frac{\partial}{\partial t} U(t,0) = H(t) U(t,0), U(0,0) = I, h = 1$ (1) with the Hamiltonian

$$H(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} h_k(t) H_k$$
 (2)

which depends on time explicitely. It is not an easy task to solve the eq.1 analitically even for a two-level system exposed to an arbitrary varying external field. Usualy used adiabatic and weak-field approximations as well as the approximation with slowly varying amplitudes breaks down if we deal with short and/or intense laser pulses. The well-known Floke method is useful only in the case of periodic excitations. The high level of control of atomic populations by using designed laser fields calls for a new nonperturbative technique that should be, on the one hand, rather general to enable one to treat uniformely the atomic dynamics under various excitation conditions, and on the other hand, it should be able to result in explicit solutions of the evolution equation (1).

The group-theoretical technique will be applied to solve this task for two-, three-, and four-level atoms exposed to an arbitrary time-varying polychromatic laser field. It is based on the concept of dynamical symmetry of nonstationary quantum processes [1-3].

After solving the eq.1 for a given model system, the problem of finite control [4] is to find such values of controllers $\{h_j(t), j=1,...,m\}$ that enables us to transform the system from an initial state to the desired final state at the target time T > 0. Such a transition is governed by the equation

$$s(T) \rangle = U(T,0) | s(0) \rangle.$$
(3)

Generally speaking, the solution of this task is not unique. In addition one can put the task of optimal control which is to find such values of controllers that minimizes a given loss functional or maximizes a desired quality criterion [5].

2. GENERAL BACKGROUND

A single atom with N nondegenerate and nonequidistant levels

$$H_0 |s_m\rangle = w_m |s_m\rangle, m = 1, 2, ..., N,$$
 (4)

interacts with amplitude- modulated components of a polychromatic field

$$E = (1/2) \sum_{l>k}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} E_{kl} (t) \exp(i w_{kl} t) + c.c.$$
(5)

by such a way that only one (k, 1)-component of the field E_{k1} is in resonance with the (k, 1)- atomic transition. If one deals with the electric dipole transitions

$$H_{int} = -E(t) d(t)$$
,

then by the parity reasons the energetic matrix $H_0 + H_{int}$ turns out to be tridiagonal. However, we will treat the general case (when all the NCN-1)/2 atomic transitions are driven independently on each other) to be able to include into consideration, if necessary, other interactions that may couple nonadjacent levels. The complex variable $E_{kl}(t)$ measures amplitude, phase, and polarization of the respective component.

Writing the state vector of a N-level atom in the form

$$|s(t)\rangle = \sum_{m=1}^{N} c_m(t) |s_m\rangle \exp(-i w_m t),$$
 (6)

one can obtain from the nonstationary Scrodinger equation the following set of equations for the probability amplitudes in the rotating wave approximation

$$is_{k}(t) = \sum_{k < 1}^{N} h_{k1}(t) s_{1}(t) + c.c., \qquad (7)$$

where

$$h_{k1}(t) = -(1/2) E_{k1}(t) d_{k1}(t).$$
 (8)

The resonant Hamiltonian has the following structure

$$H_{nn}(t) = 0, \quad H_{k1}(t) = h_{k1}(t) = H_{1k}^{*}(t), \quad k \neq 1.$$
 (9)

Finally, the probability of finding our N-level system on level n at time t is expressed in terms of the evolution-matrix elements and the initial populations P_m as follows

$$P_{n}(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{N} |U_{nm}(t)|^{2} P_{m}(0).$$
 (10)

3. COHERENT CONTROL ON THE SU(2) DYNAMICAL GROUP

A quantum system with the SU(2) dynamical symmetry is a fundamental model in the semiclassical theory of field-matter interactions. The hermitean Hamiltonian of such an arbitrarily driven system can be cast in the form

$$H(t) = h_0(t) R_0 + h^*(t) R_- + h(t) R_+$$
 (11)

- - - -

with the generators satisfying the commutation relations

$$[R_+, R_-] = 2R_0, [R_0, R_+, -] = \pm R_+, -,$$
 (12)

where c-number parameters h_0 and h are assumed to be arbitrary analytic functions. Writing the evolution operator in the factorized Wei-Norman form [6]

$$U = \exp(g_0 - i \int_0^t h_0(\tau) d\tau) R_0 \exp(g_R_e) \exp(g_R_e)$$
(13)

one can obtain the governing equation for $g = \exp(g_0/2)$

 \dot{h} $\dot{g} = (\frac{h}{h} + i h_0) \dot{g} + |h|^2 g = 0$, g(0) = 1, $\dot{g}(0) = 0$. (14) Once the eq.14 is solved all the other SU(2) group parameters are found in quadratures [6,2,3] It follows from the unitarity of (13) the simple conservation laws

$$|g|^2 - g_g_+ = 1$$
, $|g|^2 (1 + |g_+|^2) = 1$. (15)
In the two-dimensional representation we get the expression

which is the time-evolution matrix for a two-level system driven by an external field with arbitrary amplitude and frequency modulation. In terms of populations the complete formal solution of the problem of two-level control is given by the formula

$$|g(T)|^2 = [2P_1(0) - 1]^{-1} [P_1(T) + P_1(0) - 1],$$
 (17)

where $P_1(0)$ and $P_1(T)$ are the input and the output values of the first level population, respectively. Since the evolution is unitary one has $P_1(t) + P_2(t) = 1$.

398

4. POPULATION CONTROL OF A RESONANTLY DRIVEN THREE-LEVEL SYSTEM

Let us consider the coherent dynamics of a three-state system with an arbitrary level configuration simultaneously driven in resonance by three lasers with arbitrary and different time dependences of their amplitudes. Choosing the phases in an appropriate way we can write the system Hamiltonian in the matrix form with the following nonvanishing elements

 $H_{12} = H_{21} = h_{12}(t)$, $H_{23} = H_{32} = h_{23}(t)$, $H_{13} = -H_{31} = -ih_{13}(t)$. If we write this matrix in terms of the generators of the standard representation of the SU(2) group, then the time-evolution matrix is simply the three-dimensional representation of this group [7]

$$U^{(1)} = \begin{cases} u^2 & \gamma^2 u v & v^2 \\ -\gamma^2 u v^* & |u|^2 - |v|^2 & \gamma^2 u^* v \\ (v^*)^2 & -\gamma^2 u^* v^* & (u^*)^2 \end{cases}, \quad (18)$$

where $u \equiv g$ and $v^* \equiv -(2ig - h_0 g)/2h$. The governing equation for the driven three-level system is given by

$$g = [(h_{12}-ih_{23})(h_{12}-ih_{23})^{-1} + ih_{13}]g + (1/4)(h_{12}^{2} + h_{23}^{2})g = 0.$$

The complete formal solution of the problem of three-level population control is given by the formula

$$|g(T)|^{2} = \frac{(P_{1}(0) - P_{2}(0))(P_{1}(T) - P_{2}(0)) - (P_{3}(0) - P_{2}(0))(P_{3}(T) - P_{2}(0))}{(P_{1}(0) - P_{3}(0))(P_{1}(0) + P_{3}(0) - 2P_{2}(0))}$$

The useful relation exists between two variables u and v

$$|u(t)|^4 - |v(t)|^4 = [P_1(0) - P_3(0)]^{-1} [P_1(t) - P_3(t)].$$

Using the eqs.10 and (18) we can now easily find simple exact conditions for complete transfer of population from one level to another and for complete return of population to an initial level. Let at t=0 level 1 is fully populated, i.e. $P_1(0)=1$, $P_2(0)=P_3(0)=0$, then the population is transferred completely to the level 3 at time t, i.e. $P_3(t)=1$, $P_1(t)=P_2(t)=0$, if g(t)=0. For the same initial conditions the population returns to the first level at time t, i.e. $P_1(t)=1$, $P_2(t)=P_3(t)=0$, when |g(t)|=1.

5. POPULATION DYNAMICS OF A RESONANTLY DRIVEN FOUR-LEVEL SYSTEM

The resonant Hamiltonian of a four-level system simultaneously driven by six lasers with arbitrary and different time dependences of amplitudes is given by the eq.9 with N=4. If the phases are choosen in such a way that all the Rabi frequencies (8) are purely imagine ones then the four-level Hamiltonian generates the following 4x4-matrix realization of the SO(4) algebra

32 13 21 23 31 12 14 24 34 41 42 43 $R_1 = R_2 = R_3 = -R_1 = -R_2 = -R_3 = J_1 = J_2 = J_3 = -J_1 = -J_2 = -J_3 = 1$, with zero remaining matrix elements and with the following commutation relations

$$[R_{j}, R_{k}] = e_{jk1} R_{1}, [J_{j}, J_{k}] = e_{jk1} R_{1}, [R_{j}, J_{k}] = e_{jk1} J_{1}$$

One can rearrange this basis by such a way to obtain from the matrices R_j and J_k two mutually commuting sets of matrices $A_{0,+,-}$ and $B_{0,+,-}$ with the commutation relations (12). Now we can rewrite our Hamiltonian in the form

$$H(t) = \sum_{m=0, +, -} a_m(t) A_m + b_m(t) B_m,$$
 (19)

where the following short-hand notations are introduced

$$a_{0} \equiv i(h_{12} - h_{34}), \ 2a_{-} \equiv ih_{23} + h_{13} - ih_{14} + h_{24},$$

$$2a_{+} \equiv ih_{23} - h_{13} - ih_{14} - h_{24}, \quad b_{0} \equiv i(h_{12} + h_{34}), \quad (20)$$

$$2b_{-} \equiv ih_{23} + h_{13} + ih_{14} - h_{24}, \quad b_{+} \equiv ih_{23} - h_{13} + ih_{14} + h_{24}.$$

Since H(t) exactly equals to the sum of the two SU(2) Hamiltonians, commuting with each other, we may use all the results obtained for the SU(2) dynamical symmetry. Thus the system posesses SU(2) \oplus SU(2) dynamical symmetry [8] and the evolution operator can be written in the factorized form U = U_g U_f, where

$$U_{g} = \exp (g_{0} A_{0}) \exp (g_{-} A_{-}) \exp (g_{+} A_{+}),$$

$$U_{f} = \exp (f_{0} B_{0}) \exp (f_{-} B_{-}) \exp (f_{+} B_{+})$$
(21)

The governing equations for our four-level system take the form

$$g = a_{+}a_{+}^{-1}g + (1/2)(ia_{0} - ia_{0}a_{+}a_{+}^{-1} + 2a_{-}a_{+} + (1/2)a_{0}^{2})g = 0,$$

 $f = b_{+}b_{+}^{-1}f + (1/2)(ib_{0} - ib_{0}b_{+}b_{+}^{-1} + 2b_{-}b_{+} + (1/2)b_{0}^{2})f = 0,$
with the variables $g \equiv \exp(g_{0}/2)$ and $f \equiv \exp(f_{0}/2)$ respectively.
In an explicit form the evolution matrices are the following

$$U_{g} = g^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} g & Reg & g & Img & Reg & -Img \\ -g & Img & g & Reg & Img & Reg \\ -g & Img & g & Reg & Img & Reg \\ -Img & -Img & g & Reg & -g & Img \\ Img & -Reg & g & Img & g & Reg \end{bmatrix},$$

$$U_{f} = f^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} f \operatorname{Ref} & f \operatorname{Imf} & \operatorname{Ref} & \operatorname{Imf} \\ -f \operatorname{Im} f & f \operatorname{Ref} & \operatorname{Imf} & -\operatorname{Ref} \\ -\operatorname{Imf} & -\operatorname{Imf} & f \operatorname{Ref} & f \operatorname{Imf} \\ -\operatorname{Imf} & \operatorname{Ref} & -f \operatorname{Imf} & f \operatorname{Ref} \end{bmatrix},$$

where $g_{-} = g (2ig - a_0 g)/2a_+$ and $f_{-} = f (2if - b_0 f)/2b_+$.

Let at t = 0 the first level is occupied with probability one, i.e. $P_1(0)=1$, $P_2(0)=P_3(0)=P_4(0)=0$. Then the exact condition for complete transfer of population to the upper level is given by

and the condition for the first level to be completely depleted of population is

Reg Imf - Img Imf -
$$(gf)^{-1}$$
 (Reg_ Ref_ - Img Imf) = 0. (23)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author is grateful to the International Science Foundation for finanial support of his visit to Cocoyoc, Mexico.

REFERENCES

- [1] I.A.Malkin and V.I.Man'ko, Dynamical Symmetries and Coherent States of Quantum Systems (in Russian, Nauka, Moscow, 1979).
- [2] U.Kopvillem and S.V.Prants, Polarization Echoes Cin Russian, Nauka, Moscow, 1985).
- [3] S.V. Prants, J. Phys. A19, 3457 (1986).
- [4] A.G.Butkovskiy and Yu.I.Samoilenko, Control of Quantum Mechanical Processes (in Russian, Nauka, Moscow, 1984).
- [5] S.Shi and H.Rabitz, J.Chem.Phys.92, 364 (1990).
- [6] J.Wei and E.Norman, J.Math.Phys.4, 575 (1963).
- [7] F.T.Hioe, Phys.Rev.A42, 1522 (1990).
- [8] S.V. Prants, J. Sov. Las. Res. 12, 165 (1991).

N95-23006

6P

KRAVCHUK FUNCTIONS FOR THE FINITE OSCILLATOR APPROXIMATION¹

Natig M. Atakishiyev²

Kurt Bernardo Wolf

Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas —Cuernavaca

Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Apartado Postal 139–B 62191 Cuernavaca, Morelos, México

Abstract

Kravchuk orthogonal functions — Kravchuk polynomials multiplied by the square root of the weight function — simplify the inversion algorithm for the analysis of discrete, finite signals in harmonic oscillator components. They can be regarded as the best approximation set. As the number of sampling points increases, the Kravchuk expansion becomes the standard oscillator expansion.

1 Introduction

In a harmonic oscillator environment, such as Fourier optics in a multimodal parabolic index-profile fiber, **sampling on a finite set of discrete observation points** reconstructs the wavefunction through partial wave synthesis. For the harmonic oscillator eigenfunctions, one must invert a nondiagonal matrix with the dimension of the number of data.

We show that Kravchuk orthogonal functions optimize the algorithm for the expansion coefficients, because the matrix is already diagonal.

- Kravchuk functions [1, 2] are solutions of the difference analogue of the Schrödinger equation describing a discrete harmonic oscillator system.
- Kravchuk functions have a well-defined analytical structure *inside* the measurement interval.
- Kravchuk functions become the standard oscillator wavefunctions, as the number of sampling points increases.

This contribution is a résumé of Ref. [3].

¹Work under support from Project UNAM-DGAPA IN 104293.

²Permanent Address: Institute of Physics, Academy of Sciences of Azerbaijan, Baku 370143, Azerbaijan. Visiting Scientist at IIMAS-UNAM/Cuernavaca with Cátedra Patrimonial CONACYT.

2 Harmonic oscillator expansions over a lattice of sampling points

The standard harmonic oscillator eigenfuctions are

$$\psi_n(\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sqrt{\pi}2^n n!}} H_n(\xi) e^{-\xi^2/2}, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

where $H_n(\xi)$ are the Hermite polynomials, $\xi = \sqrt{m\omega/\hbar} x$, *m* is oscillator mass, ω is oscillation frequency, and the position coordinate is *x*. This function set is orthonormal under the $\mathcal{L}^2(\Re)$ inner product:

$$(\psi_m, \psi_n)_{\Re} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\xi \, \psi_m(\xi) \, \psi_n(\xi) = \delta_{m,n} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{when } m = n, \\ 0, & \text{when } m \neq n. \end{cases}$$

Thus, an arbitrary function $f(\xi) \in \mathcal{L}^2(\Re)$ can be approximated in the norm as

$$f(\xi) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n \psi_n(\xi),$$

where the expansion coefficients $\{c_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ are determined by

$$c_n = (\psi_n, f)_{\Re} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\xi \, \psi_n(\xi) \, f(\xi).$$

When the N + 1 values $\{f(\xi_j)\}_{j=0}^N$ of function $f(\xi)$ are sampled on the points

$$\xi_0 = -\frac{1}{2}Nh, \ldots \xi_j = \left(-\frac{1}{2}N+j\right)h, \ldots \xi_N = \frac{1}{2}Nh,$$

then

$$f(\xi_j) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} c_n^{(N)} \psi_n(\xi_j), \quad j = 0, 1, \dots N.$$
(2.1)

The task to determine the N + 1 coefficients $\{c^{(N)}\}_{n=0}^{N}$ is formulated in matrix form as

$$\mathbf{f} = \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{(N)} \, \mathbf{c}^{(N)}$$

where

$$\mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} f(\xi_0) \\ f(\xi_1) \\ \vdots \\ f(\xi_N) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{c}^{(N)} = \begin{pmatrix} c_0^{(N)} \\ c_1^{(N)} \\ \vdots \\ c_N^{(N)} \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\Psi}^{(N)} = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_0(\xi_0) & \psi_0(\xi_1) & \dots & \psi_0(\xi_N) \\ \psi_1(\xi_0) & \psi_1(\xi_1) & \dots & \psi_1(\xi_N) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \psi_N(\xi_0) & \psi_N(\xi_1) & \dots & \psi_N(\xi_N) \end{pmatrix}$$

This is the $N \times N$ matrix that has to be inverted to find the coefficients in (2.1).

3 Kravchuk functions are difference analogs of the oscillator eigenfunctions

Kravchuk polynomials $k_n^{(p)}(x, N)$ are:

- polynomials of degree $0 \le n \le N$,
- in the variable $x \in [0, N]$,
- of the parameter 0 .

These polynomials are related to the binomial distribution of probability theory [4, 5]. They form an orthogonal set

$$\sum_{j=0}^{N} \rho(j) \, k_{m}^{(p)}(j,N) \, k_{n}^{(p)}(j,N) = d_{n}^{2} \delta_{m,n}$$

with respect to a discrete binomial weight function

$$\varrho(x) = C_N^x \, p^x (1-p)^{N-x}.$$

Kravchuk functions are defined as

$$\phi_n^{(p)}(x,N) = d_n^{-1} k_n^{(p)}(Np + x, N) \varrho^{1/2}(x + Np),$$

$$0 \le n \le N, \qquad -Np \le x \le (1-p)N$$

(cf. definition of the Hermite functions in Ref. [6]). They obey the three-term recurrence relation

$$[x - n - p(N - 2n)]k_n^{(p)}(x, N) = (n + 1)k_{n+1}^{(p)}(x, N) + p(1 - p)(N - n + 1)k_{n-1}^{(p)}(x, N),$$

and satisfy the equation

$$\mathbf{H}^{(N)}(x)\,\phi_n^{(p)}(x,N) = (n+\tfrac{1}{2})\phi_n^{(p)}(x,N),$$

with the difference Hamiltonian

$$\mathbf{H}^{(N)}(x) = (1-2p)x + 2p(1-p)N + \frac{1}{2} - \sqrt{p(1-p)}[\alpha(x)\,e^{-\partial_x} + \alpha(x+1)\,e^{\partial_x}],$$

namely

$$[(1-2p)x - n + 2p(1-p)N]\phi_n^{(p)}(x,N) = \sqrt{p(1-p)} [\alpha(x)\phi_n^{(p)}(x-1,N) + \alpha(x+1)\phi_n^{(p)}(x+1,N)].$$

The oscillator equation of motion in the Schrödinger representation [7] is $[H, [H, x]] = (\hbar \omega)^2 x$. The difference analogue of this relation satisfied by this Hamiltonian is [1]

$$[\mathbf{H}^{(N)}(x), [\mathbf{H}^{(N)}(x), x]] = x.$$

Finally, the limit $N \to \infty$ of Kravchuk functions is

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} h^{-1/2} \phi_n^{(p)}(h^{-1}\xi, N) = \psi_n(\xi).$$

The set of Kravchuk functions $\phi_n^{(p)}(x, N)$, $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ forms a basis for irreducible representations of the rotation group SO(3) [8], corresponding to the eigenvalues $\ell = \frac{1}{2}N$ of the invariant Casimir operator; the eigenvalues of generator J_x are the integer $m = n - \frac{1}{2}N = n - \ell$. The representations corresponding to different values of the parameter p turn out to be unitarily equivalent [1], so it is sufficient to consider a set of functions $\phi_n^{(p)}(x, N)$ with some fixed value of this parameter. It is convenient to choose the value $p = \frac{1}{2}$, since these Kravchuk functions have definite parity with respect to reflections of x,

$$\phi_n^{(1/2)}(-x,N) = (-1)^n \phi_n^{(1/2)}(x,N).$$

We thus use henceforth the symmetric Kravchuk functions

$$\phi_n(x,N) = 2^{n-N/2} k_n(x+\frac{1}{2}N,N) \sqrt{\frac{n! (N-n)!}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(N+x+1) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(N-x+1))}}$$

4 Finite approximation by Kravchuk functions

A function $f(\xi)$ that 'lives in a harmonic oscillator environment', of which the values on N + 1 equidistant points ξ_j are known, is meaningfully expanded in symmetric Kravchuk functions as

$$f_{j}(\xi_{j}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \kappa_{n}^{(N)} \phi_{n}(\xi_{j}/h, N), \quad j = 0, 1, \dots N.$$

To find the expansion coefficients $\{\kappa_n^{(N)}\}_{n=0}^N$, we multiply the above equation by $\phi_m(\xi_j/h, N)$ and sum over the sample points ξ_j :

$$\kappa_n^{(N)} = \sqrt{h} \sum_{j=0}^N \phi_n(\xi_j/h, N) f(\xi_j).$$

We thus have only to multiply the sampled values $f(\xi_j)$ by the (numerically calculated) values of the Kravchuk functions at the points $x_j = \xi_j/h$, for n = 0, 1, ..., N, to find the expansion coefficients. No matrix inversion is necessary.

The sum

$$f(\xi, N) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \kappa_n^{(N)} \phi_n(\xi/h, N), \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, N,$$

interpolates the original function defined on discrete points to the interval $[\xi_0, \xi_N]$ and is a finite approximation to the square-integrable function $f(\xi)$. This approximant is finite because for any fixed N it has a finite support $(-h - h^{-1}, h + h^{-1})$ with $h = \sqrt{2/N}$. When N grows, the approximation to $f(\xi)$ becomes better. The time evolution of the approximating function multiplies each $\phi_n(\xi_j, N)$ by the usual time dependence $\exp(-iE_nt/\hbar)$, with the equally spaced energy eigenvalues $E_n = \hbar\omega(n + \frac{1}{2})$.

5 **Position and momentum functions**

The canonical vector basis of **position** functions

$$\mathbf{\Lambda}_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{\Lambda}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \cdots \quad \mathbf{\Lambda}_{N} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

is interpolated to

$$f(\xi_j) = \sum_{k=0}^N f_k^{(N)} \Lambda_k(\xi_j, N) = f_j^{(N)}, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots N.$$

These basis functions can be expanded in terms of Kravchuk functions as

$$\Lambda_k(\xi_j, N) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{h}} \sum_{n=0}^N \lambda_{k,n}^{(N)} \phi_n(\xi_j/h, N), \quad j = 0, 1, \dots N,$$

where the coefficients are

$$\lambda_{k,n}^{(N)} = \sqrt{h} \, \phi_n(\xi_k/h, N)$$

for k = 0, 1, ... [N/2] and continuous ξ . These functions are the localized states of the discrete oscillator.

Momentum basis functions are defined in the same way, because Kravchuk functions are self-reproducing under the discrete Fourier transformation [2], *i.e.*

$$\tilde{\Lambda}_k(\xi,N) = \sum_{n=0}^N i^n \phi_n(\xi_k/h,N) \phi_n(\xi/h,N).$$

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Mesuma K. Atakishiyeva and Guillermo Krötzsch for supporting computation and graphics. One of us (N.M.A.) would like to thank Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas, UNAM (Cuernavaca) for hospitality. This work is partially supported by the DGAPA Project N 104293.

References

- [1] N.M.Atakishiyev and S.K.Suslov, Theor. Math. Phys. 85, 1055 (1991).
- [2] R. Askey, N.M. Atakishiyev, and S.K. Suslov, Proceedings of the XV Workshop on High Energy Physics and Field Theory (Protvino, Russia, 6-10 July 1992), to appear.
- [3] N.M. Atakishiyev and K.B. Wolf, Rev. Mex. Fis. 40, 366 (1994).
- [4] A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, and F. Tricomi, Higher Transcendental Functions, Vol.2 (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1953).

- [5] G. Szegő, Orthogonal Polynomials (Amer. Math. Soc., New York, 1959).
- [6] N. Wiener, The Fourier Integral and Certain of Its Applications (Dover, New York, 1933).
- [7] L.D. Landau and E.M. Lifshitz, Quantum Mechanics: Non-Relativistic Theory (3rd ed., Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1963).
- [8] I.M. Gel'fand, R.A. Minlos, and Z.Ya. Shapiro, Representations of the Rotation and Lorentz Groups and Their Applications (Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1963).

N95-23007

PHASE SPACE ANALYSIS IN ANISOTROPIC OPTICAL SYSTEMS

Ana Leonor Rivera Facultad de Ciencias Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

Sergey M. Chumakov

Kurt Bernardo Wolf Instituto de Investigaciones en Matemáticas Aplicadas y en Sistemas Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Apartado Postal 139-B, 62191, Cuernavaca, Morelos, México

Abstract

From the minimal action principle follow the Hamilton equations of evolution for geometric optical rays in anisotropic media. As in classical mechanics of velocity-dependent potentials, the velocity and the canonical momentum are not parallel, but differ by an anisotropy vector potential, similar to that of linear electromagnetism. Descartes' well known diagram for refraction is generalized and a factorization theorem holds for interfaces between two anisotropic media.

1 Fermat's principle

Fermat's principle states that the light ray joining two points in an optical medium takes the path where it employs an extremal time [1]:

$$\delta \int_{A}^{B} dt = \delta \int_{A}^{B} ds \, n(\vec{q}(s), \dot{\vec{q}}(s)) = 0.$$

Here we denote by ds the length element along the ray \vec{q} , the ray direction by $\dot{\vec{q}} = \frac{d\vec{q}}{ds}$ and by n the refractive index of the medium. The refractive index characterizes the optical medium. Constant n indicates that the medium is homogeneous (invariant under translations) and isotropic (invariant under rotations). In anisotropic media, the refractive index depends also on the direction of the ray [2].

We use one of the Cartesian coordinates of \mathcal{R}^3 as the evolution parameter to describe the evolution of the ray $\vec{q} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{q} \\ z \end{pmatrix}$. Defining $\mathbf{v} = \frac{d\mathbf{q}}{dz}$ with $ds = \frac{dz}{\sqrt{1 - \dot{\mathbf{q}}^2}} = dz\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{v}^2}$ we write Fermat's principle as [3]

$$\delta \int_{z_A}^{z_B} dz \, L(\mathbf{q}(z), z; \mathbf{v}(z)) = 0,$$

with the Lagrangian function $L(\mathbf{q}, z; \mathbf{v}) = \sqrt{1 + \mathbf{v}^2} n(\mathbf{q}, z; \mathbf{v})$.

2 Evolution equations

The Euler-Lagrange equations that follow from the Fermat principle are [4]

$$\frac{d}{dz}\mathbf{p}=\frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{q}},$$

where the canonical momentum is

$$\mathbf{p} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{v}} = \frac{n\mathbf{v}}{\sqrt{1+\mathbf{v}^2}} + \sqrt{1+\mathbf{v}^2} \frac{\partial n}{\partial \mathbf{v}} = n\dot{\mathbf{q}} + \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q}, z, \dot{\mathbf{q}}),$$

and we define the anisotropy vector

$$\mathbf{A} = \sqrt{1 + \mathbf{v}^2} \, \frac{\partial n}{\partial \mathbf{v}} = (1 - \dot{\mathbf{q}} \, \dot{\mathbf{q}}^T) \, \frac{\partial n(\mathbf{q}, z, \dot{\mathbf{q}})}{\partial \dot{\mathbf{q}}}$$

We obtain the Hamilton evolution equations through the Legendre transformation

$$\frac{d\mathbf{q}}{dz} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial \mathbf{p}}, \qquad \frac{d\mathbf{p}}{dz} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \mathbf{q}},$$

with the Hamiltonian function

$$H(\mathbf{q}, z; \mathbf{p}) = \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{v} - L(\mathbf{q}, z; \mathbf{v}) = -\sqrt{n^2 - |\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{A}|^2} + \frac{(\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{A}) \cdot \mathbf{A}}{\sqrt{n^2 - |\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{A}|^2}}$$

In anisotropic media, the three-vectors of ray direction $\dot{\vec{q}}$, momentum \vec{p} , and anisotropy \vec{A} , are thus characterized by:

$$\vec{p} = n\vec{q} + \vec{A}(\vec{q}, \dot{\vec{q}}), \qquad p_z = -H, \qquad |\dot{\vec{q}}| = 1, \qquad |\vec{p} - \vec{A}| = n(\vec{q}, \dot{\vec{q}}),$$

i.e., we have the orthogonal decomposition of momentum \vec{p} into ray direction $\dot{\vec{q}}$ and the anisotropy three-vector

$$\vec{A} = \nabla_{\vec{q}} n \Big|_{|\vec{q}|=1} = (1 - \vec{q} \, \vec{q}^T) \, \frac{\partial n}{\partial \vec{q}} \Big|_{|\vec{q}|=1} = \hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\theta} \, \frac{\partial n}{\partial \theta} + \frac{\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\phi}}{\sin \theta} \, \frac{\partial n}{\partial \phi}$$

The anisotropy vector is orthogonal to the direction of ray propagation \vec{q} .

While $|\vec{q}|$ sweeps over the ray direction sphere S_2 , the vector $\vec{p} - \vec{A}$ draws out a closed surface $n(\vec{q}, \vec{q})$ —the ray surface at the space point \vec{q} , and the three-vector \vec{p} ranges correspondingly over another closed surface that we call the *Descartes ovoid* of the anisotropic medium at \vec{q} .

The Hamilton equations are thus written in manifestly euclidean-covariant form as

$$\frac{d\vec{q}}{dz} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial \vec{p}} = \frac{\vec{p} - \vec{A}}{p_z - A_z}, \qquad \frac{d\vec{p}}{dz} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \vec{q}} = \frac{n}{p_z - A_z} \frac{\partial n}{\partial \vec{q}}$$

From the second equation it follows that $d\vec{p} \times \frac{\partial n}{\partial \vec{q}} = \vec{0}$. As in the isotropic case, we get the Ibn Sahl [5] Snell law of refraction between two anisotropic media [6].

FIGURE 1. Dipole medium: the momentum \vec{p} of a ray is obtained by adding the direction vector $\dot{\vec{q}}$ times n^0 to the dipole vector of the medium \vec{D} . The anisotropy vector \vec{A} ranges over a cardioid-type surface.



3 Dipole anisotropic media

Consider the refractive index with linear dependence on ray direction

$$n(\vec{q}, \vec{q}) = n^{0}(\vec{q}) + D(\vec{q}, \vec{q}),$$

$$D(\vec{q}, \vec{q}) = \sum_{j=x,y,z} D_{j}(\vec{q})\vec{q}_{j} = \vec{D}(\vec{q})^{T}\vec{q}.$$

We call n^0 the monopole part of the medium and \vec{D} its dipole vector. The anisotropy vector is

$$\vec{A}^{(1)} = (1 - \vec{q}\,\vec{q}^T)\vec{D} = \vec{D} - \vec{D}^T(\vec{q}\,)\vec{q} = (\vec{q}\times\vec{D})\times\vec{q}.$$

This vector lies in the plane of $\dot{\vec{q}}$ and \vec{D} , and is orthogonal to the ray direction $\dot{\vec{q}}$. The relation between ray direction and optical momentum is $\vec{p} = n^0 \dot{\vec{q}} + \vec{D}$. While $\dot{\vec{q}} \in S_2$, the Descartes ovoid is a sphere of radius $n^0(\vec{q})$ and center at \vec{D} . (See Figure 1).

4 Quadrupole media

Consider now a refractive index with quadratic dependence on ray direction \vec{q}

$$n(\vec{q}, \vec{q}) = n^{0}(\vec{q}) + Q(\vec{q}, \vec{q}),$$

$$Q(\vec{q}, \vec{q}) = \sum_{j,k=x,y,z} Q_{j,k} \vec{q}_{j} \vec{q}_{k} = \vec{q}^{T} \hat{Q} \vec{q}.$$

We have a \dot{q} -quadratic summand with coefficients $Q_{j,k}$ in a 3×3 optical quadrupole matrix Q that must be symmetric and traceless. It is common to restrict consideration to principal axes; in that frame of reference, $\hat{Q} = \text{diag}(Q_x, Q_y, Q_z)$ and $Q_x + Q_y + Q_z = 0$. Then, the anisotropy and momentum vectors are

$$\vec{A}^{(2)} = 2(1 - \dot{\vec{q}}\,\dot{\vec{q}}^{\,T}\,)\hat{Q}\,\dot{\vec{q}} = 2[\hat{Q}\,\dot{\vec{q}} - Q(\vec{q},\vec{q}\,)\,\dot{\vec{q}}\,],$$
$$\vec{p} = [n(\vec{q},\dot{\vec{q}}\,) + 2(1 - \dot{\vec{q}}\,\dot{\vec{q}}^{\,T}\,)\hat{Q}\,]\dot{\vec{q}} = (n^0 + 2\hat{Q} - \dot{\vec{q}}^{\,T}\,\hat{Q}\,\dot{\vec{q}}\,)\dot{\vec{q}}.$$

In two-dimensional optics, 2×2 symmetric traceless matrices have two independent coefficients that describe the ellipticity and orientation of the figure. When $\dot{\vec{q}}$ ranges over the sphere of directions S_2 , \vec{p} will range over the Descartes ovoid of the quadrupole medium. (See Figure 2).

FIGURE 2. $n^0 \dot{\vec{q}}$ ranges over the sphere (circle in the two dimensions of the figure) of radius n^0 , $n \dot{\vec{q}}$ over the peanut-shaped surface, and the momentum \vec{p} draws a Descartes oval. The thin lines joining points on the circle and on the oval relate the direction of the ray with the corresponding direction of the momentum vector.



5 Free propagation in homogeneous uniaxial media

For the uniaxial quadrupole media we can write the refractive index as

$$n(\dot{\vec{q}}) = n^{0} + (\dot{x}, \dot{y}, \dot{z}) \begin{pmatrix} \nu & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \nu & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -2\nu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \\ \dot{z} \end{pmatrix}$$

where n^0 is the monopole part and ν is a quadrupole anisotropy coefficient.

Putting $\dot{\mathbf{q}}$ in terms of \mathbf{v} , we can write out the components of momentum as

$$\mathbf{p} = (n^0 + 4\nu) \dot{\mathbf{q}} - 3\nu \dot{\mathbf{q}}^2 \dot{\mathbf{q}} = (1 + \mathbf{v}^2)^{-3/2} [(n^0 + 4\nu) + (n^0 + \nu)\mathbf{v}^2]\mathbf{v}$$

For free propagation, the Hamilton equations and their solutions are:

$$rac{d\mathbf{q}}{dz} = \mathbf{v} \Rightarrow \mathbf{q}(z) = \mathbf{q}(0) + z\mathbf{v}, \qquad rac{d\mathbf{p}}{dz} = 0 \Rightarrow \mathbf{p}(z) = \mathbf{p}(0).$$

Although the solutions are apparently independent of the anisotropy of the medium (they are straight lines in space), the anisotropy is expressed through the relation between the ray momentum \mathbf{p} and the ray direction \mathbf{v} . In isotropic media, the momentum vector is n times the direction vector and we can easily invert this particular case to [7]

$$\mathbf{v}=rac{\mathbf{p}}{\sqrt{(n^0)^2-\mathbf{p}^2}}=rac{\mathbf{p}}{p_z}, \qquad |\mathbf{v}|=n^0 an heta \qquad (
u=0).$$

In the more general uniaxial anisotropic case, to find a simple closed inversion, we expand this equation with a Taylor series in $(\mathbf{v}^2)^k \mathbf{v}$ for k = 0, 1, 2, ... and propose a similar expansion of \mathbf{v} in powers of $(\mathbf{p}^2)^k \mathbf{p}$. Equating the series we find the expansion coefficients

$$\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p}) = \frac{1}{n^0 + 4\nu} \mathbf{p} + \frac{\frac{1}{2}n^0 + 5\nu}{(n^0 + 4\nu)^4} \mathbf{p}^2 \mathbf{p} + \frac{\frac{3}{8}(n^0)^2 + \frac{15}{2}n^0\nu + 51\nu^2}{(n^0 + 4\nu)^7} (\mathbf{p}^2)^2 \mathbf{p} \\ + \frac{\frac{5}{16}(n^0)^3 + \frac{75}{8}(n^0)^2\nu + 114n^0\nu^2 + 650\nu^3}{(n^0 + 4\nu)^{10}} (\mathbf{p}^2)^3 \mathbf{p} + \cdots$$
FIGURE 3. Descartes diagram to construct refraction angles between two anisotropic media.



The evolution Hamiltonian is then

$$H(\mathbf{p}) = \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{v} - (n^0 - 2\nu)\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{v}^2} - 3\nu \frac{\mathbf{v}^2}{\sqrt{1 + \mathbf{v}^2}}$$

= $-(n^0 - 2\nu) + \frac{1}{2n^e}\mathbf{p}^2 + \frac{n^0 + 10\nu}{8(n^e)^4}(\mathbf{p}^2)^2 + \frac{3(n^0)^2 + 60n^0\nu + 408\nu^2}{16(n^e)^7}(\mathbf{p}^2)^3$
 $+ \frac{5(n^0)^3 + 150(n^0)^2\nu + 1824n^0\nu^2 + 10400\nu^3}{128(n^e)^{10}}(\mathbf{p}^2)^4 + \cdots,$

where $n^e = n^0 + 4\nu$ plays the role of an effective paraxial refractive index. In the isotropic case (when $\nu = 0$), this is the expansion of $-\sqrt{n^2 - \mathbf{p}^2}$, the well-known optical Hamiltonian for such a media [8].

6 Finite refraction

Let us consider the case when rays cross the flat interface z = 0 between two different aligned uniaxial quadrupole anisotropic media. Let their refractive indices in two half-spaces be $n(\dot{q})$ and $n'(\dot{q})$ with monopole parameters n^0 and $n^{0'}$, and quadrupole anisotropy coefficients ν and ν' , respectively. The refraction law claims that the projection of the momentum vector on the refracting surface is *conserved*, which for our refracting surface gives $\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{p}'$. Generally, the incident and refracted rays are not coplanar with the surface normal. However, in the aligned uniaxial case both refractive indexes are axially symmetric (under rotations around z-axis) and the two anisotropic vectors are coplanar with the suface normal (z-axis). Refraction in our case is thus coplanar.

Using 'ruler, compass and plotter' on the plane Figure 3, we construct the Descartes diagram for the point at the interface joining two 'half Descartes diagrams' and matching the length of the momentum vectors **p** and **p**' on the interface. To find the angle of refraction θ' in terms of the angle of incidence θ , we construct $\dot{\mathbf{q}}'(\dot{\mathbf{q}}; n^0, \nu; n^{0'}, \nu')$ expanded in series of sines, and find

$$\sin\theta' = \frac{n^e}{n^{e'}}\sin\theta + \frac{3}{n^{e'}}\left[\left(\frac{n^e}{n^{e'}}\right)\nu' - \nu\right]\sin^3\theta + \frac{27}{(n^{e'})^2}\left(\frac{n^e}{n^{e'}}\right)^2\nu'\left[\left(\frac{n^e}{n^{e'}}\right)^3\nu' - \nu\right]\sin^5\theta$$

$$-\frac{81}{(n^{e'})^3}\left(\frac{n^e}{n^{e'}}\right)\nu'\left[\left(\frac{n^e}{n^{e'}}\right)^3\nu'-\nu\right]\left[\left(4\frac{n^e}{n^{e'}}\right)^3\nu'-\nu\right]\sin^7\theta+\cdots$$

The first summand is the very well know law of sines (Ibn Sahl-Snell law [5]); it is here also the *paraxial approximation* with the ratio of effective refractive coefficients. The succeding terms are corrections of orders ν^k and $\sin^{2k+1}\theta$ due to anisotropy.

7 The roots of refraction

We consider now the ray transformation due to refraction at a smooth surface $S(\vec{q}) = \zeta(\mathbf{q}) - z = 0$ between two general anisotropic, homogeneous media $n(\dot{\vec{q}})$ and $n'(\dot{\vec{q}})$. The rays in the first and in the second media are given correspondingly by the equations

$$\mathbf{q}(z) = \mathbf{q} + z\mathbf{v}, \quad \mathbf{p}(z) = \mathbf{p}, \quad z < \bar{z},$$

 $\mathbf{q}'(z) = \mathbf{q}' + z\mathbf{v}', \quad \mathbf{p}'(z) = \mathbf{p}', \quad z > \bar{z},$

where we have indicated the point of impact at the refracting surface by bars $\bar{q} = (\bar{q}, \bar{z} = \zeta(\bar{q}))$. We can formally consider the second pair of equations also on the left of the refracting surface, $z < \bar{z}$. It allows to parametrize the rays behind the surface by the coordinate q' and momentum p' on the same screen z = 0; v and v' are the two ray directions on the screen. Thus, the point of impact coordinates can be written in two ways:

$$\mathbf{q}(ar{z}) = \mathbf{q} + \zeta(ar{\mathbf{q}})\mathbf{v} = ar{\mathbf{q}} = \mathbf{q}' + \zeta(ar{\mathbf{q}})\mathbf{v}' = \mathbf{q}'(ar{z}).$$

This is the first root equation of refraction [9]; it is an implicit equation for $\tilde{\mathbf{q}}$.

The second root equation follows from the conservation of the tangential component of momentum and implies the refraction law. If the normal to the surface S is denoted by $\nabla S(\vec{q}) = (\zeta_x, \zeta_y, -1) \equiv (\Sigma(\mathbf{q}), -1)$ then we have $(\vec{p} - \vec{p}') \times \nabla S(\vec{q}) = 0$. As we know, the momentum vector has components $\vec{p} = (p_x, p_y, p_z) = (\mathbf{p}, -H)$. Denoting the Hamiltonians before and after the refracting surface as H and H' we can rewrite the last equation containing the vector product as

$$\mathbf{p} - H(\mathbf{p})\boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\bar{q}) = \bar{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{p}' - H'(\mathbf{p}')\boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\bar{q})$$

This is the second root equation determaning explicitly \bar{p} once \bar{q} has been found.

We have thus determined the root transformation for generic surfaces $S = \zeta(\mathbf{q}) - z = 0$ between homogeneous, anisotropic media. On optical phase space the root transformation is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{n;\zeta} : \mathbf{q} &\mapsto \quad \bar{\mathbf{q}} = \mathbf{q} + \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p})\,\zeta(\bar{\mathbf{q}}), \\ \mathcal{R}_{n;\zeta} : \mathbf{p} &\mapsto \quad \bar{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{p} - H(\mathbf{p})\,\boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\bar{\mathbf{q}}), \end{aligned}$$

where $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{p})$ and $H(\mathbf{p})$ contain the refractive index function $n(\dot{\vec{q}})$. From our construction follows that the refracting surface transformation

$$\mathcal{S}_{n,n';\zeta}:(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{p})\mapsto (\mathbf{q}',\mathbf{p}')$$

thus factorizes into the product of the root transformation in the first medium and the inverse root transformation in the second medium, $S_{n,n';\zeta} = \mathcal{R}_{n;\zeta} (\mathcal{R}_{n';\zeta})^{-1}$. When the surface S is a

FIGURE 4. Refraction at a surface is a map between phase space points (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{p}) and $(\mathbf{q}', \mathbf{p}')$. This transformation visibly factors into transformations back and forth from the point of impact \mathbf{q} on the surface $z = \zeta(\mathbf{q})$.



z = constant plane, the second root transformation is simple free flight by generic z. The root transformation is illustrated in figure 4.

Let us consider explicitly the example of the symmetrical surface under rotations around z-axis

$$\zeta(\mathbf{q}) = \zeta_2 \mathbf{q}^2 + \zeta_4 \mathbf{q}^4 + \cdots.$$

The refraction by such a surface is determined to third aberration order as [9]

$$\mathbf{q}' = \mathbf{q} - \zeta_2 \left(\frac{1}{n^{0'} + 4\nu'} - \frac{1}{n^0} \frac{1}{+4\nu} \right) \mathbf{q}^2 \mathbf{p} + 2\zeta_2^2 \frac{[n^{0'} - 2\nu'] - [n^0 - 2\nu]}{n^{0'} + 4\nu} \mathbf{q}^2 \mathbf{q},$$

$$\mathbf{p}' = \mathbf{p} + 2\zeta_2 ([n^{0'} - 2\nu'] - [n^0 - 2\nu]) \mathbf{q} + \zeta_2 \left(\frac{1}{n^{0'} + 4\nu'} - \frac{1}{n^0 + 4\nu} \right) \mathbf{p}^2 \mathbf{q}$$

$$-4\zeta_2^2 \frac{[n^{0'} - 2\nu'] - [n^0 - 2\nu]}{n^{0'} + 4\nu} \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q} \mathbf{q} - 2\zeta_2^2 \frac{[n^{0'} - 2\nu'] - [n^0 - 2\nu]}{n^{0'} + 4\nu} \mathbf{q}^2 \mathbf{p}$$

$$+4 \left(\zeta_2^3 \frac{([n^{0'} - 2\nu'] - [n^0 - 2\nu])^2}{n^{0'} + 4\nu} - \zeta_4 ([n^{0'} - 2\nu'] - [n^0 - 2\nu]) \right) \mathbf{q}^2 \mathbf{q}.$$

The paraxial part of the transformation is recognizably that of a quadratic surface.

Acknowledgments

This work is under support from project UNAM-DGAPA IN 104293 and A.L. Rivera works under scholarship from DGAPA-UNAM. We would like to thank conversations with Drs. François Leyvraz, Alejandro Frank, Luis Mochán, Valery Karassiov, Darryl D. Holm, and Thomas H. Seligman.

References

- R.P. Feynman, R.B. Leighton and M. Sands, The Feynman Lectures on Physics (Addison-Wesley, Reading, Mass., 1963); A. Mercier, Variational Principles of Physics (Dover, New York, 1963), p. 222; R.K. Luneburg, Mathematical Theory of Optics (California Press, Los Angeles, 1944).
- [2] F.A. Jenkins and H.E. White, Fundamentals of Optics, 4th ed. (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1976).

- [3] M. Born and E. Wolf, Principles of Optics, 6th Ed. (Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1984).
- [4] H. Goldstein, Classical Mechanics, 2nd Ed. (Addison Wesley, Reading, Mass., 1980). L.D. Landau and E.M. Lifshitz, Field Theory (Nauka, Moscow, 1972).
- [5] R. Rashed, "A Pioneer in Anaclastics Ibn Sahl on Burning Mirrors and Lenses." ISIS 81, 464-491 (1990); ib. Géométrie et dioptrique au X^e siècle: Ibn Sahl, al-Qühī, et Ibn al-Hayatham Collection Sciences et Philosophie Arabes, Textes et Études (Les Belles Lettres, Paris, 1993).
- [6] H.A. Buchdahl, An Introduction to Hamiltonian Optics (Cambridge University Press, 1970).
- [7] A.J. Dragt, E. Forest, and K.B. Wolf, Foundations of a Lie algebraic theory of geometrical optics. In: *Lie Methods in Optics*, Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 250 (Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, 1986). Chapter 4, pp. 105–158. Symmetry-adapted clasification of aberrations. *Journal of the Optical Society of America*, A5, 1226–1232 (1988).
- [8] A.J. Dragt, Lie-algebraic theory of geometrical optics and optical aberrations. J. Opt. Soc. Am.72, 372-379 (1982).
- [9] M. Navarro-Saad and K.B. Wolf, Factorization of the phase-space transformation produced by an arbitrary refracting surface. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A3, 340-346 (1986).

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE			Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operation of any others, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.			
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave b	Dlank) 2. REPORT DATE January 1995	3. REPORT TYPE AN Conference	D DATES COVERED e Publication
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE			5. FUNDING NUMBERS
Second International Workshop on Harmonic Oscillators			
6. AUTHOR(S)	C-NAS5-30376		
Daesoo Han and Kurt E	Code 910.1		
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS (ES) 8			8. PEFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER
Goddard Space Flight Center			0500017
Greenbelt, Maryland 20771			95B00017
9. SPONSOBING / MONITORING ADGENCY NAME/S) AND ADDRESS (ES) 10. SE			
			ADGENCY REPORT NUMBER
National Aeronautics ar			
Washington, DC 20546-0001			NASA CP-3286
Han: Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, Maryland; Wolf: Instituto de Investigaciones en Matematicas Aplicadas y en Sistemas, Universidad Nacional Autonoma de Mexico, Cuernavaca, Morelos, Mexico.			
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILI	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE		
Unclassified - Unlimited Subject Category 74			
Availability: NASA CASI (301)621-0390.			
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words)			
The second International Workshop on Harmonic Oscillators was held at the Hotel Hacienda Cocoyoc March 23-			
25, 1994. The Workshop was attended by 67 participants; there were 10 invited lectures, 30 plenary oral presenta-			
tions, 15 posters, and plenty of discussion divided into the five sessions of this volume. The organizing committee			
was asked by the chairmen of several Mexican funding agencies exactly what was meant by harmonic oscillators,			
of mathematical models based on the theory of Lie algebras and groups with any liesting in a name for a family			
of mathematical models based on the theory of Lie algebras and groups, with applications in a growing range of physical theories and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical theories and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical theories and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical theories and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical theories and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical theories and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical theories and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical theory and technologies; molecular stermic nuclear and noticels physical technologies; molecular stermic nuclear stermic nuclear and nuclear stermic nu			
cation theory The Harmonic Oscillators II Workshon was funded and organized through the Cantro Internacional			
de Fisica v Matematicas Anlicadas (CIFMA). The Cuernavaca Center adds to the avisting naturalis initiated by the			
Centro Latino Americano de Fisica, in Brazil and the Centro Internacional de Fisica in Colombia. The First			
Harmonic Oscillators meeting was held at the College Park campus of the University of Maryland (March 25-28			
1992).			
14. SUBJECT TERMS	15. NUMBER OF PAGES		
Harmonic oscillators; Coupled oscillators			442 16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION	19. SECURITY CLASSIFIC	ATION 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	UL
		Unclassificu	

.

.



National Aeronautics and Space Administration Code JTT Washington, D.C. 20546-0001

Official Business Penalty for Private Use, \$300

-----E

_

